Johann Bauersachs Javed Butler Peter Sandner *Editors*

Heart Failure



Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology

Volume 243

Editor-in-Chief J.E. Barrett, Philadelphia

Editorial Board

V. Flockerzi, Homburg M.A. Frohman, Stony Brook, NY P. Geppetti, Florence F.B. Hofmann, München M.C. Michel, Mainz C.P. Page, London W. Rosenthal, Jena K. Wang, Beijing More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/164

Johann Bauersachs • Javed Butler Peter Sandner Editors

Heart Failure



Editors Johann Bauersachs Klinik für Kardiologie und Angiologie Medizinische Hochschule Hannover Hannover, Niedersachsen Germany

Peter Sandner Bayer Aktiengesellschaft Drug Discovery – Cardiovascular Research Heart and Vascular Diseases Wuppertal, Nordrhein Westfalen Germany Javed Butler Heart Institute Stony Brook University Stony Brook, New York USA

ISSN 0171-2004 ISSN 1865-0325 (electronic) Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology ISBN 978-3-319-59658-7 ISBN 978-3-319-59659-4 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59659-4

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017942786

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Heart Failure and Heart Failure Drug Therapy: Preface

Chronic heart failure (HF) remains a worsening global problem and represents the end sequelae of a variety of cardiovascular (CV) diseases. With the worldwide aging of the population and an increasing burden of comorbidities, it is projected that the increasing prevalence of HF will pose an even greater challenge to future healthcare systems than at present. Thus, identifying effective pharmacologic therapies for patients with HF, to reduce the burden of disease and to develop effective preventive strategies, is a call to action for researchers, for the pharmaceutical industry, and health care providers and systems across the world.

HF is broadly categorized as HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), with approximately equal proportions of patients in each category. Morbidity and mortality in patients with HFrEF have improved in recent decades through modulation of the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system (RAAS), β -adrenergic blockade, use of mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRA), and most recently neprilysin inhibition (Packer et al. 2014). Despite these advances, there remains a significant residual risk of further hospitalization and death in patients with HFrEF. Importantly, no clinical trials to date have been successful in demonstrating improved outcomes for patients with HFpEF, and thus no therapies are approved for these patients. Similarly, no specific therapies exist for patients with worsening HF who are hospitalized. Comorbidities play a major role in determining outcomes in patients with HF. Recent data on the use of sodium/glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors in patients with diabetes mellitus, and effects on CV outcomes, especially HF, have raised new possibilities for management of comorbidities in these patients (Zinman et al. 2015).

The focus of this volume of the Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology on HF is to review and highlight the pharmacologic advances made in HF research and to discuss promising targets for future treatments. Besides signaling pathways and pharmacological targets, this handbook will also cover epidemiology and comorbidities, clinical trial design, biomarkers, and current guideline-based therapy, allowing a complete overview of chronic HF. Given the high incidence and prevalence of HF, and the high morbidity and mortality associated with this disease, continuing intensive research and development efforts are essential to address the

unmet needs of these patients. This book, authored by outstanding experts in the field, will summarize existing knowledge and will also describe future treatment approaches, with the hope that this will stimulate further research, ultimately leading to new, effective therapies and improved outcomes in patients with HF.

Hannover, Germany Stony Brook, NY, USA Wuppertal, Germany Johann Bauersachs Javed Butler Peter Sandner

References

Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J et al (2014) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 371(11):993–1004

Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM et al (2015) Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 373(22):2117–2128

Contents

The Three-Decade Long Journey in Heart Failure Drug	1
Kelly S. Lewis, Javed Butler, Johann Bauersachs, and Peter Sandner	1
Epidemiology of Heart Failure Francesco Orso, Gianna Fabbri, and Aldo Pietro Maggioni	15
Comorbidities in Heart Failure	35
Clinical Trial Design, Endpoints, and Regulatory Requirements Giuseppe M.C. Rosano	67
Biomarkers of Heart Failure with Preserved and Reduced Ejection Fraction	79
Michele Senni, Emilia D'Elia, Michele Emdin, and Giuseppe Vergaro	
Heart Failure Guidelines on Pharmacotherapy	109
Part I New and Emerging Targets and Therapies in Heart Failure	
Sacubitril/Valsartan (LCZ696) in Heart Failure	133
Ivabradine	167
Partial Adenosine A1 Agonist in Heart Failure	177
New and Emerging Therapies and Targets: Beta-3 Agonists Lauriane Y.M. Michel and Jean-Luc Balligand	205

Novel sGC Stimulators and sGC Activators for the Treatment of Heart Failure Stefanie Breitenstein, Lothar Roessig, Peter Sandner, and Kelly S. Lewis	225
Cardiac Phosphodiesterases and Their Modulation for Treating Heart Disease Grace E. Kim and David A. Kass	249
Steroidal and Novel Non-steroidal Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists in Heart Failure and Cardiorenal Diseases: Comparison at Bench and Bedside Peter Kolkhof, Frederic Jaisser, So-Young Kim, Gerasimos Filippatos, Christina Nowack, and Bertram Pitt	271
Vasopressin and Vasopressin Antagonists in Heart Failure Julie K. Vishram-Nielsen and Finn Gustafsson	307
Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for the Treatment of Heart Failure Caused by Ischemic or Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy: Immunosuppression and Its Implications Michael J. Lipinski, Dror Luger, and Stephen E. Epstein	329
Platelet-Derived Growth Factor in Heart Failure John Medamana, Richard A. Clark, and Javed Butler	355
Wnt Signaling in Cardiac Remodeling and Heart Failure Vasili Stylianidis, Kevin C.M. Hermans, and W. Matthijs Blankesteijn	371
Gene Therapy in Heart Failure Anthony S. Fargnoli, Michael G. Katz, Charles R. Bridges, and Roger J. Hajjar	395
Noncoding RNAs in Heart Failure	423
Cardiac Myosin Activation with Gene Therapy Produces Sustained Inotropic Effects and May Treat Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction	447
Direct Myosin Activation by Omecamtiv Mecarbil for Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction	465
Mitochondrial Therapies in Heart Failure	491

Anticoagulation Therapy and NOACs in Heart Failure Isac Thomas, Jorge EncisoSilva, Michelle Schlueter, and Barry Greenberg	515
Role of Hyperkalemia in Heart Failure and the Therapeutic Use of Potassium Binders Chaudhry M.S. Sarwar, Aditi A. Bhagat, Stefan D. Anker, and Javed Butler	537
Iron Deficiency Treatment in Patients with Heart Failure Ewa A. Jankowska, Marcin Drozd, and Piotr Ponikowski	561
Index	577

The Three-Decade Long Journey in Heart Failure Drug Development

Kelly S. Lewis, Javed Butler, Johann Bauersachs, and Peter Sandner

Contents

1	Heart Failure: Disease, Definitions and Treatments	2
2	The Global Burden of Heart Failure	2
3	Definitions and Classifications	3
4	Historical Aspects Treatment Guidelines and Pivotal Trials in HFrEF	4
5	HFpEF	8
6	Conclusion	10
Re	ferences	10

Abstract

Heart failure is a global disease with increasing prevalence due to an aging worldwide population with increasing co-morbidities. Despite several therapeutic options available to treat HFrEF, morbidity and mortality remain high. Importantly, no approved therapies are available to treat HFpEF. This paper will briefly summarize the burden of disease, HF classification and definitions and the landmark clinical trials in both HFrEF and HFpEF. Given the increasing incidence and prevalence of HF and the high morbidity and mortality associated

J. Butler

J. Bauersachs

Department of Cardiology and Angiology, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

P. Sandner Department of Cardiology, Global Drug Discovery, Bayer Pharma AG, Wuppertal, Germany

K.S. Lewis (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, Global Medical Affairs, Bayer HealthCare Pharmaceuticals Inc., Whippany, NJ, USA e-mail: kelly.lewis@bayer.com

Department of Medicine, Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_101

with this disease, continued development efforts are essential to address the unmet needs of these patients.

Keywords

Heart failure • Heart failure statistics • Heart failure trials • HFpEF • HFrEF

1 Heart Failure: Disease, Definitions and Treatments

The importance of HF cannot be overemphasized due to its high prevalence, the severity of its clinical manifestations and related poor outcomes, and extraordinarily high societal costs. This paper will briefly summarize the burden of the disease, HF classification, guidelines, and the landmark HF trials to date, in both HFrEF and HFpEF.

2 The Global Burden of Heart Failure

Statistics related to HF are alarming: The global prevalence of HF is estimated to be about 26 million people, with more than one million hospitalizations annually in the USA and Europe (Ambrosy et al. 2014). In the USA alone, there were an estimated 5.7 million patients living with HF in 2012 (Writing Group et al. 2016), with this figure expected to increase by 46% from 2012 to 2030, resulting in more than eight million adults with HF (Writing Group et al. 2016; Heidenreich et al. 2013). In the countries represented by the European Society of Cardiology, there are 15 million patients living with HF (Dickstein et al. 2008; Ponikowski et al. 2014). The disease is more common with increasing age: in the USA, more than 80% of patients are 65 years of age or older (Bui et al. 2011) and the incidence of HF approaches 10 per 1000 population after 65 years of age (Lloyd-Jones et al. 2002). In countries such as Japan with aging populations, the number of patients with HF is predicted to increase considerably (Mosterd and Hoes 2007; Shiba and Shimokawa 2008). In Asia, the increased prevalence of HF has been attributed to the adoption of a Western lifestyle and its associated comorbidities (Sakata and Shimokawa 2013; Sasayama 2008). Additionally, with improved treatment of myocardial infarction and other CV diseases, those surviving CV events are at high risk of developing HF (Ambrosy et al. 2014). In economically developed countries, one in five people are expected to develop HF at some point in their lifetime (Lloyd-Jones et al. 2002).

Heart failure is the leading cause of hospitalization in elderly people in the USA and Europe, representing 1–2% of all hospitalizations (Blecker et al. 2013; Zannad et al. 2009; Braunwald 2013; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2016). In 2012, the total cost of HF in the USA was estimated to be approximately \$40 billion, of which 68% was attributable to direct medical costs; these costs are expected to more than double by 2030 (Heidenreich et al. 2013).

Despite advances in therapy and management, HF remains a deadly disease. Across the globe, 17–45% of patients admitted to the hospital with HF die within 1 year of admission and the majority die within 5 years of admission. In-hospital mortality ranges from 2 to 17% (Maggioni et al. 2013). Survival rates are better for those treated in outpatient clinics, who typically have less severe symptoms than those in the hospital setting (Maggioni et al. 2013; Yancy et al. 2006). Approximately 50% of patients diagnosed with HF will die within 5 years (Go et al. 2013), a statistic worse than for bowel, breast, or prostate cancer (Brenner et al. 2012; Coleman et al. 2011; Siegel et al. 2012).

3 Definitions and Classifications

Several guidelines for the management and treatment of HF have been written in recent years by the European Society of Cardiology (ESC), as well as by the American Heart Association (AHA)/American College of Cardiology (ACC) (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Writing Committee et al. 2013; Yancy et al. 2016). These guidelines define HF as a "'clinical syndrome characterized by typical symptoms (e.g., shortness of breath, ankle swelling, and fatigue) and signs (e.g., elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles, and peripheral edema) caused by a structural and/or functional cardiac abnormality, resulting in decreased cardiac output and/or elevated intra-cardiac pressures at rest or with stress (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Writing Committee et al. 2013; Yancy et al. 2016)."

Generally the left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) determines how HF is categorized, which treatments are given, and what the prognosis may be. Ejection fraction (EF) is considered important in the classification of patients with HF because of differing patient demographics, comorbid conditions, prognoses, and response to therapies, and because most clinical trials selected patients based on EF (Fonarow et al. 2007). Until recently, guidelines for the management of HF divided patients with HF into two categories: those with reduced ejection fraction (EF <40%; HFrEF) and those with preserved ejection fraction (>40%; HFpEF) (Writing Committee et al. 2013). In the present ESC and AHA guidelines, HFrEF is defined as the clinical diagnosis of HF and LVEF <40% (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2016). Patients with HFpEF may not have entirely normal contractility but also do not have a major reduction in systolic function, and therefore the term "preserved ejection fraction" has been used. HFpEF has traditionally been defined as LVEF >40%, although it has been classified as EF from >40% to \geq 55% across study types and by hospitalization status. Clinical studies of patients with HFpEF tended to use thresholds of 40-45%, while community-based studies and registries used more variable thresholds (Vaduganathan et al. 2016). Patients with HFpEF are usually older women with a history of hypertension, and share a similar comorbidity profile with patients with HFrEF (Adams et al. 2005). Hypertension is the most important cause of HFpEF, with a prevalence of 60-89% in patients with HFpEF (Sanderson 2007). Associated CV risk factors such as obesity, coronary artery disease (CAD), diabetes mellitus, atrial fibrillation (AF), chronic kidney disease,

Type of HF	HFrEF	HFmrEF	HFpEF
ESC criteria	• LVEF <40%	• LVEF 40-49%	• LVEF ≥50%
(Ponikowski	• Symptoms ± signs	• Symptoms ± signs	• Symptoms ± signs
et al. 2016)		 Elevated levels of 	 Elevated levels of
		natriuretic peptides;	natriuretic peptides;
		BNP >35 or	BNP >35 or
		NT-proBNP ≥125	NT-proBNP ≥125
		 Relevant structural 	 Relevant structural
		heart disease (LVH	heart disease (LVH
		and/or LAE) or	and/or LAE) or
		diastolic dysfunction	diastolic dysfunction
AHA/	• LVEF ≤40%	• 41–49% ^a	• LVEF ≥50%
ACCFCriteria			
(Writing			
Committee et al.			
2013)			

Table 1 ESC and AHA guideline definitions of heart failure

ACC American College of Cardiology, AHA American Heart Association, BNP B-type Natriuretic Peptide, ESC European Society of Cardiology, HFmrEF heart failure with mid-range ejection fraction, HFpEF heart failure with preserved ejection fraction, HFrEF heart failure with reduced ejection fraction, LAE left atrial enlargement, LVEF left ventricular ejection fraction, LVH left ventricular hypertrophy, NT-proBNP N-terminal-pro-B-type Natriuretic Peptide ^aACC/AHA distinguishes LVEF 41–49% as "HFpEF, borderline (or intermediate)"

and hyperlipidemia are also highly prevalent in patients with HFpEF (Adams et al. 2005; Sanderson 2007).

Recently, the ESC guidelines added a new definition and third class of HF, described as HFmrEF (LVEF 41–49%) (Table 1). The ACC/AHA guidelines call this group borderline (or intermediate) (Writing Committee et al. 2013). Classifying HFmrEF as a separate entity may stimulate research into the underlying characteristics, pathophysiology, and treatment of this group of patients. HF with recovered or improved EF (HFiEF) has recently been proposed as a further new category (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2016). In the valsartan Heart Failure Trial (Val-HeFT), of those patients who had a baseline LVEF of < 35% and a follow-up echocardiographic assessment of EF at 12 months, 9.1% had a 12-month EF that improved to >40%. Recovery of the EF to >40% was associated with better survival than persistently reduced EF (Florea et al. 2016). Classifying HFmrEF and HFiEF as separate entities may stimulate research into the underlying characteristics, pathophysiology, and treatment of these patients and further distinguish whether they are a distinct clinical entity.

4 Historical Aspects Treatment Guidelines and Pivotal Trials in HFrEF

Until the 1980s, treatment for HFrEF was limited to digoxin and diuretics. Although effective for symptoms, there was no evidence of mortality benefits with this treatment regimen, and it was an inadequate option for many patients with advanced symptoms. The evolution of treatment over the past 30 years has been extensive, beginning with the introduction of vasodilator therapy (hydralazine/isosorbide dinitrate combination) in 1986 and culminating in 2015 with the approvals in the USA of ivabradine and LCZ696 (valsartan/sacubitril), an angiotensin-receptor blocker/neprilysin inhibitor combination that reduced CV morbidity and mortality in the PARADIGM-HF trial (Packer et al. 2014). Key trials of therapies for HFrEF and HFpEF are depicted in Figs. 1 and 2.

The main goals of HF treatment are to reduce symptoms, prolong survival, improve quality of life, and prevent disease progression. Before the Veterans Administration Cooperative trial, the first outcomes trial in CV disease in the late 1960s, clinicians based their practice on prior experience, tradition, or observational studies. Prior to 1980, during the "non-pharmacologic era," treatments focused on lifestyle changes such as bed rest, reduced activity, and fluid restriction.

The 1980s marked the beginning of the "pharmacologic era," heralded by the first Vasodilator Heart Failure Trial (V-HeFT) (Cohn et al. 1986). Data from this trial suggested that the combination of hydralazine and isosorbide dinitrate, given in addition to diuretics and digoxin, had a favorable effect on left ventricular function, exercise capacity, and clinical outcomes in patients with HF. The two Vasodilator Heart Failure Trials, V-HFT-I and V-HFT-II were among the first large randomized, placebo controlled trials in CV medicine (Cole et al. 2011). The subsequent V-HeFT-II trial was undertaken to compare isosorbide dinitrate/



Fig. 1 30 years of development efforts in heart failure: Pivotal HFrEF trials



Fig. 2 30 years of development efforts in heart failure: Pivotal HFpEF trials

hydralazine with the angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor, enalapril, and showed that enalapril conferred a survival benefit over isosorbide dinitrate/ hydralazine (Cohn et al. 1991). A post hoc subgroup analysis suggested improved survival with isosorbide dinitrate/hydralazine among black patients (Carson et al. 1999), prompting the subsequently positive A-HeFT trial. The study was terminated early, owing to significantly higher mortality in the placebo group than in the isosorbide dinitrate/hydralazine group (Taylor et al. 2004).

The 1990s was a decade that brought neuro-hormonal interventions to the forefront of treatment pathways. Targeting the renal–angiotensin–aldosterone system (RAAS) provided evidence that ACE inhibitors, angiotensin II-receptor blockers (ARBs), and MRAs alter the natural history of heart failure.

There is considerable evidence to support the use of ACE inhibitors in symptomatic and asymptomatic patients with HFrEF and an EF of <40% (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Writing Committee et al. 2013; Yancy et al. 2016). Randomized trials have shown that therapy with ACE inhibitors leads to symptomatic improvement, reduced hospitalization, and enhanced survival in patients with HFrEF (Cohn et al. 1991; Cleland et al. 1985; Sharpe et al. 1984; Pfeffer et al. 1992; The SOLVD Investigators 1991; The CONSENSUS Trial Study Group 1987; Erhardt et al. 1995). ARBs were developed with the rationale that angiotensin II production continues in the presence of ACE inhibition, and are associated with a lower incidence of cough and angioedema than ACE inhibitors. In trials, long-term therapy with ARBs has been shown to reduce morbidity and mortality, especially in patients who are intolerant to ACE inhibitors (Cohn and Tognoni 2001; Pfeffer

et al. 2003a; Konstam et al. 2009; Pfeffer et al. 2003b). As such, guidelines recommend that initial therapy for patients with symptomatic HFrEF should comprise an ACE inhibitor or an ARB, along with β -blockers and an MRA, unless these drugs are contraindicated or not tolerated (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Writing Committee et al. 2013; Yancy et al. 2016).

In the placebo-controlled Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study (RALES), adding spironolactone to baseline therapy in patients with HFrEF and moderate-tosevere symptoms decreased mortality and the risk of hospitalization for CV events (Pitt et al. 1999). Spironolactone has anti-androgenic and progesterone-like effects, which may cause gynecomastia or impotence in men, and menstrual irregularities in women. To avoid these side effects, eplerenone was developed. In the Eplerenone Post-Acute Myocardial Infarction Heart Failure Efficacy and Survival Study (EPHESUS), eplerenone reduced all-cause mortality and hospitalization for CV events in patients with myocardial infarction complicated by left ventricular systolic dysfunction and HF (Pitt et al. 2001). In the more recent EMPHASIS-HF study, eplerenone when added to standard therapy reduced mortality and hospitalization in patients with HFrEF (New York Heart Association [NYHA] class II) and mild symptoms (Zannad et al. 2011). Consequently, current guidelines recommend the use of an MRA in HFrEF. Recently finerenone, a non-steroidal MRA with a potentially more favorable cardiac-to-renal activity ratio, has shown benefit over eplerenone in a population of patients with HFrEF (Filippatos et al. 2016; Bauersachs et al. 2015).

In angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibition (ARNI) therapy, an ARB is combined with an inhibitor of neprilysin, an enzyme that degrades the natriuretic peptides, bradykinin and adrenomedullin, as well as other vasoactive peptides. In the PARADIGM-HF trial, the ARNI valsartan/sacubitril significantly reduced the composite endpoint of CV death or HF hospitalization by 20%, compared with enalapril, in symptomatic patients with HFrEF tolerating an adequate dose of either ACE inhibitor or ARB. A similar benefit was seen for both all-cause mortality and HF hospitalization (Packer et al. 2015). Sacubitril/valsartan should not be given in combination with an ACE inhibitor as this is associated with an increased risk of angioedema.

Treatment with β -blockers, in addition to ACE inhibitors and digoxin, reduces the risk of death and hospitalization in patients with HF. The Carvedilol Prospective Randomized Cumulative Survival (COPERNICUS) study demonstrated that carvedilol reduced 12-month mortality in patients with severe HF by 38% and the relative risk of death or HF hospitalization by 33%. The favorable effects of carvedilol were apparent even in patients at highest risk (i.e., those with recent or recurrent cardiac decompensation or very depressed cardiac function), who had a 33% decrease in the combined risk of death or hospitalization for a CV reason (95% CI, 14% to 48%, P=0.002) and a 33% decrease in the combined risk of death or hospitalization for heart failure (95% CI, 13% to 49%, P=0.002) when treated with carvedilol (Packer et al. 2002). In the Carvedilol or Metoprolol European Trial (COMET) study, carvedilol (25 mg twice daily) was compared with immediaterelease metoprolol tartrate (50 mg twice daily). Carvedilol was associated with an all-cause mortality of 34%, compared with 40% for metoprolol (Poole-Wilson et al. 2003). Based on these results, short-acting metoprolol tartrate is not recommended for use in the treatment of HF. In the DIG trial, digoxin had no effect on overall mortality in patients receiving diuretics and ACE inhibitors, but it did reduce the overall number of hospitalizations and the combined outcome of death or hospitalization attributable to worsening HF (Digitalis Investigation 1997). As participants in the DIG trial were not systematically treated with β -blockers and MRAs, the results of the ongoing DIGIT HF study (EudraCT DIGIT-HF) comparing the effects of digoxin and placebo in patients with advanced HFrEF on current standard therapy will be of major interest.

Elevated resting heart rate is associated with increased CV morbidity and mortality (Pocock et al. 2006; Lechat et al. 2001), independently of other established CV risk factors. The beneficial effects of β -blockers in HF have been thought to be related in part to heart-rate lowering effects. Ivabradine acts by selective inhibition of the pacemaker I_f channel, which is responsible for the autonomic capacity of the sinoatrial node. I_f channels are up-regulated in atrial tissue of patients with HF. In the SHIFT (Systolic Heart failure treatment with the I (f) inhibitor ivabradine Trial) study, ivabradine significantly reduced the composite primary endpoint of CV death and hospitalization for worsening HF by 18%, driven mainly by a reduction in hospitalization and deaths attributable to HF. CV deaths and all-cause mortality were not significantly reduced with ivabradine (Swedberg et al. 2012).

5 HFpEF

Although many treatments have been tested in HFpEF, all have returned neutral or negative results in randomized clinical trials. Treating the underlying comorbidities is the current mainstay of therapy. Guidelines recommend diuretics to control water retention, and to relieve breathlessness and edema. It is also recommended that hypertension is optimally managed and myocardial ischemia is assessed and treated, and in patients with AF heart rate is controlled.

The nitric oxide (NO) pathway is a key regulator of many physiological processes, and modulates vascular tone and myocardial performance. Numerous lines of evidence indicate that abnormalities in NO–cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) signaling play a central role in limiting exercise capacity in patients with HF. In HFPEF, comorbidities contribute to a systemic inflammatory state, which induces oxidative stress in the coronary microvascular endothelium and reduced myocardial NO bioavailability (Paulus and Tschope 2013). In the NEAT-HF trial, isosorbide mononitrate did not improve daily activity level, 6 min walk distance, dyspnea, quality-of-life scores, or NT-proBNP levels in patients with HFpEF. Indeed, dose-dependent decreases in daily activity levels were seen with isosorbide mononitrate (Redfield et al. 2015). Another means of targeting the NO-cGMP pathway is via phosphodiesterase inhibition. However, in the RELAX trial, the use of sildenafil in patients with HFpEF did not result in any improvement in exercise capacity or clinical status over 24 weeks of treatment (Redfield et al. 2013). Reduced NO levels in HF leads to a decrease in the stimulation of an important enzyme called soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC). A lack of sGC stimulation leads to reduced activity of the NO-sGC-cGMP pathway, causing coronary dysfunction and progressive myocardial damage (Greene et al. 2013). More recently, a novel class of drug has been discovered which modulates cGMP production by targeting and stimulating the sGC enzyme (Gheorghiade et al. 2013). These compounds, sGC stimulators, have a dual mechanism of action: they have the ability both to stimulate sGC directly and independently of NO, and also to increase its sensitivity, thus reactivating the vital cardiovascular NO–sGC–cGMP pathway, even in the presence of the low NO levels seen in patients with HF. These compounds are now being studied in HF to target this critical pathway. A phase III clinical study (VICTORIA) is ongoing to study the once daily sGC stimulator, vericiguat, on outcomes in patients with HFrEF.

Use of β-blockers and RAAS blockers in patients with HFpEF has not produced positive results; there is no evidence from randomized trials of a clinical benefit of ACE inhibitors or ARBs in patients with HFpEF (Yusuf et al. 2003; Massie et al. 2008; Cleland et al. 2006; McKelvie et al. 2010). In the CHARM-PRESERVED trial of candesartan versus placebo in addition to background therapy (except ARBs), CV death did not differ between groups, but fewer patients in the candesartan group were admitted to hospital for HF (Yusuf et al. 2003). In the PEP-CHF study, perindopril did not improve the composite of all-cause mortality and unplanned HF-related hospitalization at 1 year, but did improve exercise capacity and NYHA functional class (Cleland et al. 2006). In the I-PRESERVE trial, treatment with irbesartan did not reduce the risk of death or hospitalization for CV causes in patients with HFpEF, nor did it improve any of the secondary outcomes, including quality of life (Massie et al. 2008). Trials of β -blockers have failed to provide conclusive results in HFpEF. A small-scale trial with carvedilol suggested that long-term therapy could improve diastolic function, with prevention or partial reversal of progressive left ventricular dilatation (Capomolla et al. 2000). Analysis of data from the SENIORS trial reported that nebivolol had similar efficacy in preventing all-cause and CV death in a subgroup of patients with HFpEF compared with those with HFrEF (van Veldhuisen et al. 2009).

Some argue that the findings from the TOPCAT study were inconclusive rather than neutral. Although spironolactone failed to demonstrate a benefit for the primary endpoint of CV death, cardiac arrest, or hospitalization for HF (Pitt et al. 2014), the overall neutral results may have been related to stratification by enrollment criteria and regional variations. Patients enrolled on the basis of hospitalization criteria had a lower event rate than those enrolled on the basis of natriuretic peptide level. In a post hoc analysis, spironolactone significantly reduced the rates of CV death and hospitalization for HF in patients enrolled from the Americas but not in those enrolled from Russia or Georgia (Pfeffer et al. 2015).

As in HFrEF, optimal heart rate is becoming an important target in the management of HFpEF. An analysis of patients with HFpEF in the I-PRESERVE database showed that every 12.4 bpm increase in heart rate was associated with a 13% increase in the risk of a composite of CV death or hospitalization for HF (Bohm et al. 2014). Preliminary and experimental results with ivabradine indicated potential for heart-rate reduction in HFpEF. Ivabradine is currently undergoing further phase 2 testing in HFpEF in the ongoing EDIFY trial (EudraCT 2012).

Taken together, optimal medical therapy in patients with HFrEF modifies the clinical course of the disease. When patients are treated according to current guidelines, annual mortality is much lower than previously. However, in many patients commonly prescribed drug regimens are inadequate and more effort is necessary to achieve optimal medical therapy at evidence-based target doses (Packer 2016).

6 Conclusion

Despite 30 years of clinical research in HF and the approval of many effective therapies for patients with HFrEF, rates of CV events including hospitalizations, emergency department and office visits, the need for acute interventions (e.g., intravenous diuretics), and even death remain unacceptably high. Morbidity and mortality in patients with HFpEF are similar to those in patients with HFrEF, and there are no approved therapies. Understanding the molecular pathophysiology of HFpEF might serve as a key to identifying new pharmacologic targets for this disease. Clearly, additional innovative and more effective therapies that target new pathways are needed in all patients with HF.

References

- Adams KF Jr, Fonarow GC, Emerman CL et al (2005) Characteristics and outcomes of patients hospitalized for heart failure in the United States: rationale, design, and preliminary observations from the first 100,000 cases in the Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE). Am Heart J 149(2):209–216
- Ambrosy AP, Fonarow GC, Butler J et al (2014) The global health and economic burden of hospitalizations for heart failure: lessons learned from hospitalized heart failure registries. J Am Coll Cardiol 63(12):1123–1133
- Bauersachs J, Jaisser F, Toto R (2015) Mineralocorticoid receptor activation and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist treatment in cardiac and renal diseases. Hypertension 65(2):257–263
- Blecker S, Paul M, Taksler G et al (2013) Heart failure-associated hospitalizations in the United States. J Am Coll Cardiol 61(12):1259–1267
- Bohm M, Perez AC, Jhund PS et al (2014) Relationship between heart rate and mortality and morbidity in the irbesartan patients with heart failure and preserved systolic function trial (I-Preserve). Eur J Heart Fail 16(7):778–787
- Braunwald E (2013) Heart failure. JACC Heart Fail 1(1):1-20
- Brenner H, Bouvier AM, Foschi R et al (2012) Progress in colorectal cancer survival in Europe from the late 1980s to the early 21st century: the EUROCARE study. Int J Cancer 131 (7):1649–1658
- Bui AL, Horwich TB, Fonarow GC (2011) Epidemiology and risk profile of heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol 8(1):30–41

- Capomolla S, Febo O, Gnemmi M et al (2000) Beta-blockade therapy in chronic heart failure: diastolic function and mitral regurgitation improvement by carvedilol. Am Heart J 139 (4):596–608
- Carson P, Ziesche S, Johnson G et al (1999) Racial differences in response to therapy for heart failure: analysis of the vasodilator-heart failure trials. Vasodilator-heart failure trial study group. J Card Fail 5(3):178–187
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2016) Available at http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/ahcd. Accessed 17 June 2016
- Cleland JG, Dargie HJ, Ball SG et al (1985) Effects of enalapril in heart failure: a double blind study of effects on exercise performance, renal function, hormones, and metabolic state. British Heart J 54(3):305–312
- Cleland JG, Tendera M, Adamus J et al (2006) The perindopril in elderly people with chronic heart failure (PEP-CHF) study. Eur Heart J 27(19):2338–2345
- Cohn JN, Tognoni G (2001) A randomized trial of the angiotensin-receptor blocker valsartan in chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 345(23):1667–1675
- Cohn JN, Archibald DG, Ziesche S et al (1986) Effect of vasodilator therapy on mortality in chronic congestive heart failure. Results of a veterans administration cooperative study. N Engl J Med 314(24):1547–1552
- Cohn JN, Johnson G, Ziesche S et al (1991) A comparison of enalapril with hydralazine-isosorbide dinitrate in the treatment of chronic congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 325(5):303–310
- Cole RT, Kalogeropoulos AP, Georgiopoulou VV et al (2011) Hydralazine and isosorbide dinitrate in heart failure: historical perspective, mechanisms, and future directions. Circulation 123(21):2414–2422
- Coleman MP, Forman D, Bryant H et al (2011) Cancer survival in Australia, Canada, Denmark, Norway, Sweden, and the UK, 1995–2007 (the International Cancer Benchmarking Partnership): an analysis of population-based cancer registry data. The Lancet 377(9760):127–138
- Dickstein K, Cohen-Solal A, Filippatos G et al (2008) ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the european society of cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). Eur J Heart Fail 10(10):933–989
- Digitalis Investigation G (1997) The effect of digoxin on mortality and morbidity in patients with heart failure. N Engl J Med 336(8):525–533
- Effects of enalapril on mortality in severe congestive heart failure. Results of the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study (CONSENSUS). The CONSENSUS trial study group (1987). N Engl J Med 316 (23):1429–1435.
- Erhardt L, MacLean A, Ilgenfritz J et al (1995) Fosinopril attenuates clinical deterioration and improves exercise tolerance in patients with heart failure. Fosinopril Efficacy/Safety Trial (FEST) study group. Eur Heart J 16(12):1892–1899
- EudraCT (2012) Effect of ivabradine versus placebo on cardiac function, exercise capacity, and neuroendocrine activation in patients with Chronic Heart Failure with preserved left ventricular ejection fraction an 8-month, randomised double-blind, placebo controlled, international, multicentre study
- Filippatos G, Anker SD, Bohm M et al (2016) A randomized controlled study of finerenone vs. eplerenone in patients with worsening chronic heart failure and diabetes mellitus and/or chronic kidney disease. Eur Heart J 37(27):2105–2114
- Florea VG, Rector TS, Anand IS et al (2016) Heart failure with improved ejection fraction: clinical characteristics, correlates of recovery, and survival: results from the valsartan heart failure trial. Circ Heart Fail 9(7)
- Fonarow GC, Stough WG, Abraham WT et al (2007) Characteristics, treatments, and outcomes of patients with preserved systolic function hospitalized for heart failure: a report from the OPTIMIZE-HF registry. J Am Coll Cardiol 50(8):768–777

- Gheorghiade M, Marti CN, Sabbah HN et al (2013) Soluble guanylate cyclase: a potential therapeutic target for heart failure. Heart Fail Rev 18(2):123–134
- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL et al (2013) Heart disease and stroke statistics 2013 update: a report from the American heart association. Circulation 127(1):e6–e245
- Greene SJ, Gheorghiade M, Borlaug BA et al (2013) The cGMP signaling pathway as a therapeutic target in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. J Am Heart Assoc 2(6):e000536
- Heidenreich PA, Albert NM, Allen LA et al (2013) Forecasting the impact of heart failure in the United States: a policy statement from the American heart association. Circ Heart Fail 6 (3):606–619
- Konstam MA, Neaton JD, Dickstein K et al (2009) Effects of high-dose versus low-dose losartan on clinical outcomes in patients with heart failure (HEAAL study): a randomised, double-blind trial. The Lancet 374(9704):1840–1848
- Lechat P, Hulot JS, Escolano S et al (2001) Heart rate and cardiac rhythm relationships with bisoprolol benefit in chronic heart failure in CIBIS II trial. Circulation 103(10):1428–1433
- Lloyd-Jones DM, Larson MG, Leip EP et al (2002) Lifetime risk for developing congestive heart failure: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 106(24):3068–3072
- Maggioni AP, Dahlstrom U, Filippatos G et al (2013) EURObservational research programme: regional differences and 1-year follow-up results of the Heart Failure Pilot Survey (ESC-HF Pilot). Eur J Heart Fail 15(7):808–817
- Massie BM, Carson PE, McMurray JJ et al (2008) Irbesartan in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 359(23):2456–2467
- McKelvie RS, Komajda M, McMurray J et al (2010) Baseline plasma NT-proBNP and clinical characteristics: results from the irbesartan in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction trial. J Card Fail 16(2):128–134
- Mosterd A, Hoes AW (2007) Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart 93(9):1137-1146
- 1991) Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. The SOLVD Investigators. N Engl J Med 325(5):293–302
- Packer M (2016) Heart failure's dark secret: does anyone really care about optimal medical therapy? Circulation 134(9):629-631
- Packer M, Fowler MB, Roecker EB et al (2002) Effect of carvedilol on the morbidity of patients with severe chronic heart failure: results of the carvedilol prospective randomized cumulative survival (COPERNICUS) study. Circulation 106(17):2194–2199
- Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J et al (2014) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 371(11):993–1004
- Packer M, McMurray JJ, Desai AS et al (2015) Angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibition compared with enalapril on the risk of clinical progression in surviving patients with heart failure. Circulation 131(1):54–61
- Paulus WJ, Tschope C (2013) A novel paradigm for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: comorbidities drive myocardial dysfunction and remodeling through coronary microvascular endothelial inflammation. J Am Coll Cardiol 62(4):263–271
- Pfeffer MA, Braunwald E, Moye LA et al (1992) Effect of captopril on mortality and morbidity in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. Results of the survival and ventricular enlargement trial. The SAVE Investigators. N Engl J Med 327(10):669–677
- Pfeffer MA, McMurray JJV, Velazquez EJ et al (2003a) Valsartan, captopril, or both in myocardial infarction complicated by heart failure, left ventricular dysfunction, or both. N Engl J Med 349 (20):1893–1906
- Pfeffer MA, Swedberg K, Granger CB et al (2003b) Effects of candesartan on mortality and morbidity in patients with chronic heart failure: the CHARM-Overall programme. Lancet 362 (9386):759–766
- Pfeffer MA, Claggett B, Assmann SF et al (2015) Regional variation in patients and outcomes in the Treatment of Preserved Cardiac Function Heart Failure With an Aldosterone Antagonist (TOPCAT) Trial. Circulation 131(1):34–42

- Pitt B, Zannad F, Remme WJ et al (1999) The effect of spironolactone on morbidity and mortality in patients with severe heart failure. Randomized aldactone evaluation study investigators. N Engl J Med 341(10):709–717
- Pitt B, Williams G, Remme W et al (2001) The EPHESUS trial: eplerenone in patients with heart failure due to systolic dysfunction complicating acute myocardial infarction. Eplerenone Post-AMI heart failure efficacy and survival study. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther/sponsored by the Int Soc Cardiovasc Pharmacother 15(1):79–87
- Pitt B, Pfeffer MA, Assmann SF et al (2014) Spironolactone for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 370(15):1383–1392
- Pocock SJ, Wang D, Pfeffer MA et al (2006) Predictors of mortality and morbidity in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 27(1):65–75
- Ponikowski P, Anker SD, AlHabib KF et al (2014) Heart failure: preventing disease and death worldwide. ESC Heart Fail 1:4–25, http://www.escardio.org/static_file/Escardio/Subspecialty/ HFA/WHFA-whitepaper-15-May-14.pdf
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD et al (2016) 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 37 (27):2129–2200
- Poole-Wilson PA, Swedberg K, Cleland JG et al (2003) Comparison of carvedilol and metoprolol on clinical outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure in the carvedilol or metoprolol European trial (COMET): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 362(9377):7–13
- Redfield MM, Chen HH, Borlaug BA et al (2013) Effect of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition on exercise capacity and clinical status in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a randomized clinical trial. Jama 309(12):1268–1277
- Redfield MM, Anstrom KJ, Levine JA et al (2015) Isosorbide mononitrate in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 373(24):2314–2324
- Sakata Y, Shimokawa H (2013) Epidemiology of heart failure in Asia. Circ J official J Japn Circ Soc 77(9):2209–2217
- Sanderson JE (2007) Heart failure with a normal ejection fraction. Heart 93(2):155-158
- Sasayama S (2008) Heart disease in Asia. Circulation 118(25):2669-2671
- Sharpe DN, Murphy J, Coxon R et al (1984) Enalapril in patients with chronic heart failure: a placebo-controlled, randomized, double-blind study. Circulation 70(2):271–278
- Shiba N, Shimokawa H (2008) Chronic heart failure in Japan: implications of the CHART studies. Vasc Health Risk manag 4(1):103–113
- Siegel R, DeSantis C, Virgo K et al (2012) Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 62(4):220–241
- Swedberg K, Komajda M, Bohm M et al (2012) Effects on outcomes of heart rate reduction by ivabradine in patients with congestive heart failure: is there an influence of beta-blocker dose?: findings from the SHIFT (Systolic Heart failure treatment with the I(f) inhibitor ivabradine trial) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 59(22):1938–1945
- Taylor AL, Ziesche S, Yancy C et al (2004) Combination of isosorbide dinitrate and hydralazine in blacks with heart failure. N Engl J Med 351(20):2049–2057
- Vaduganathan M, Michel A, Hall K et al (2016) Spectrum of epidemiological and clinical findings in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction stratified by study design: a systematic review. Eur J Heart Fail 18(1):54–65
- van Veldhuisen DJ, Cohen-Solal A, Bohm M et al (2009) Beta-blockade with nebivolol in elderly heart failure patients with impaired and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction: Data from SENIORS (Study of Effects of Nebivolol Intervention on Outcomes and Rehospitalization in Seniors With Heart Failure). J Am Coll Cardiol 53(23):2150–2158
- Writing Committee M, Yancy CW, Jessup M et al (2013) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/ American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. Circulation 128(16):e240–e327

- Writing Group M, Mozaffarian D, EJ B et al (2016) Heart disease and stroke statistics-2016 update: a report from the American heart association. Circulation 133(4):e38–360
- Yancy CW, Lopatin M, Stevenson LW et al (2006) Clinical presentation, management, and in-hospital outcomes of patients admitted with acute decompensated heart failure with preserved systolic function: a report from the Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE) Database. J Am Coll Cardiol 47(1):76–84
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B et al. (2016) 2016 ACC/AHA/HFSA focused update on new pharmacological therapy for Heart Failure: an update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of Heart Failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. Circulation
- Yusuf S, Pfeffer MA, Swedberg K et al (2003) Effects of candesartan in patients with chronic heart failure and preserved left-ventricular ejection fraction: the CHARM-Preserved trial. Lancet 362(9386):777–781
- Zannad F, Agrinier N, Alla F (2009) Heart failure burden and therapy. Europace 11(Suppl 5):v1-v9
- Zannad F, McMurray JJ, Krum H et al (2011) Eplerenone in patients with systolic heart failure and mild symptoms. N Engl J Med 364(1):11–21
- Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM et al (2015) Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 373(22):2117–2128

Epidemiology of Heart Failure

Francesco Orso, Gianna Fabbri, and Aldo Pietro Maggioni

Contents

1	Introduction	16
2	Incidence and Prevalence	16
3	Hospitalizations and Mortality	17
4	Etiology of Heart Failure	20
5	Heart Failure with Different Levels of Ejection Fraction (EF)	21
6	Patients Hospitalized for Acute HF	22
	6.1 IN-HF Outcome Findings	22
	6.2 ESC-HF Pilot Survey	23
	6.3 ESC-HF Long-Term Registry	24
7	Ambulatory Patients with Chronic HF	25
	7.1 IN-HF Outcome Findings	25
	7.2 ESC-HF Pilot and Long-Term Registries	29
8	Conclusions	30
Re	ferences	30

Abstract

Heart failure (HF) is a major public health problem affecting more than 23 million patients worldwide. Incidence and prevalence rates vary significantly according to the source of data, but both increase with advancing age reaching, in the very elderly, prevalence rates that represent a challenge for the organization of medical care systems. Even if evidence-based treatments have improved

F. Orso

Department of Medicine and Geriatrics, Section of Geriatric Medicine and Cardiology, Azienda Ospedaliero-Universitaria Careggi, Florence, Italy

ANMCO Research Center, Via La Marmora 34, 50121 Florence, Italy

G. Fabbri • A.P. Maggioni (⊠) ANMCO Research Center, Via La Marmora 34, 50121 Florence, Italy e-mail: maggioni@anmco.it

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_74

prognosis in some patients with HF, patients with HF still need to be carefully characterized, described, and treated. Hospitalizations for acute HF are frequent and costly accounting for the vast majority of HF-related costs.

Keywords

Epidemiology • Heart failure • Prognosis • Registries

1 Introduction

Heart failure (HF) is a major clinical and public health problem with a prevalence of more than 23 million worldwide, associated with significant mortality, morbidity, and health-care expenditures; direct costs of HF account for almost ~2% of the total health-care budget in many European countries. Significant changes have occurred in the outcomes of patients with HF in the past 20 years mainly due to the development of pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatments that have improved survival in at least a group of patients with HF, specifically those with reduced ejection fraction (EF). Understanding the evolving epidemiology of HF is important in order to target interventions and for health-care planning.

In this chapter HF epidemiology will be discussed from two different and complementary approaches: the first part will describe general epidemiological data of the HF syndrome (e.g., incidence, prevalence, etiology, and outcomes), whereas in the second part, a picture of current cardiology clinical management of HF will be carried out by describing characteristics of patients with HF included in large European registries in patients with HF: the Italian Registry on Heart Failure Outcome (IN-HF Outcome; Tavazzi et al. 2013) and the Heart Failure Registry of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC-EORP-HF Pilot and Long Term) Maggioni et al. 2010; Maggioni et al. 2013a, b).

2 Incidence and Prevalence

In the past decades, the prevalence of HF has grown, particularly in the elderly, and the expression HF epidemic is frequently used to describe this phenomenon. This epidemic is the result of several factors, some of which may be related to the increased incidence (e.g., demographic changes with longer life expectancy in the general population or improved survival in patients with ischemic heart disease) and other to the increased survival due to the use of drugs and devices tested in several successful randomized clinical trials (RCTs) conducted in the past 30 years and able to improve the outcomes of ambulatory patients. Studies report an incidence of HF of 1–4/1,000 person-years (Levy et al. 2002; Roger et al. 2004; McMurray and Stewart 2000; Zarrinkoub et al. 2013). The prevalence has increased over time due to improved survival after diagnosis of HF and aging of the population, accounting for 1–3% in the adult population in developed countries, rising to more than 10% and 30% among people >70 and >85% years of age, respectively (Dunlay and Roger 2014; Mosterd and Hoes 2007). Estimation of the lifetime risk for the development of HF is important for population health planning. Projections show that the prevalence of HF will increase 46% from 2012 to 2030, resulting in >8 million people \geq 18 years of age with HF (Heidenreich et al. 2013). Data regarding incidence and prevalence of HF derives from several studies, the most important of which are reported in Table 1. Notably there are significant differences across studies which might have several explanations:

- Type of studies. It should be noted that epidemiological studies considered were of different nature, some being based on administrative data (Curtis et al. 2008; Yeung et al. 2012; Zarrinkoub et al. 2013; Maggioni et al. 2016) and some others on clinical data derived from population-based observational studies (Levy et al. 2002; Roger et al. 2004; McCullough et al. 2002; Bleumink et al. 2004; Gottdiener et al. 2000).
- Different populations of HF patients. Some studies included patients with selfreported diagnosis of HF, others used hospital discharge diagnosis which could be administrative (ICD, International Classification of Diseases), with potential risk for up-coding of discharge diagnoses due to reimbursement incentives, or clinical.
- Different definitions and different diagnostic criteria of HF, which have changed significantly in the past years, have been used for the diagnosis of HF in these studies. Some studies used guideline diagnostic criteria, whereas others used Gothenburg, Boston, or Framingham diagnostic criteria (Eriksson et al. 1987; Carlson et al. 1985; McKee et al. 1971).

3 Hospitalizations and Mortality

Acute heart failure (AHF) is a complex, heterogeneous, clinical syndrome, often life threatening and requiring hospitalization for urgent therapy (Rosamond et al. 2007; Gheorghiade et al. 2005).

Despite the relevant burden of this clinical condition, therapeutic developments have been scarce in the last couple of decades; for this reason patients with HF remain at substantial risk for recurrent acute exacerbations and death (Fonarow et al. 2005; Abraham et al. 2008; Rudiger et al. 2005). Further, local conditions leading to hospitalization of patients with HF, as well as their in-hospital care, may be hugely different in various countries and can change over time (Maggioni et al. 2013a, b).

In total, there are more than 1 million hospitalizations for HF each year in the USA (Blecker et al. 2013). Heart failure is the leading cause of hospitalization among Medicare beneficiaries in the USA. Patients hospitalized with HF have the highest 30-day readmission rate ($\sim 25\%$) of any diagnosis (Jencks 2009); over half of patients are readmitted within 1 year, and multiple readmissions are common (Chun et al. 2012; Dunlay et al. 2009a). Many of these readmissions are due to

Population (years)	Type of study	Incidence	Prevalence	Mortality
NHANES (2012) (Mozaffarian et al. 2015)	Interview- based survey	-	2.2% (≥20 years)	-
Framingham Heart Study (1950–1999) (Levy et al. 2002)	Population- based observational study	≈5/1,000 person- years	_	At 1-year age adjusted 1950–1969 Men: 30% Women: 28% 1990–1999 Men: 28% Women: 24%
Olmsted County (1979–2000) (Roger et al. 2004)	Population- based observational study	≈3/1,000	_	At 1 year (75 years old) 1979–1984 Men: 30% Women: 20% 1996–2000 Men: 21% Women: 17%
REACH Study (1989–1999) (McCullough et al. 2002)	Population- based observational study	Women: 3.7–4.2/ 1,000 Men: 4.0–3.7/ 1,000	Women: 0.4%-1.4% Men: 0.4%- 1.5%	Per year: 17%
The Rotterdam Study (1989–2000) (Bleumink et al. 2004)	Population- based observational study	Women: 12.5/1,000 person- years Men: 17.6/ 1,000 person- years	1998: 7%	At 1 year: 37%
Cardiovascular Health Study (1990–1996) (Gottdiener et al. 2000)	Population- based observational study	Nonblack: 19/1,000 person- years Black: 19/1,000 person- years Women: 15/1,000 person- years Men: 26/1,000 person- years	-	_

 Table 1
 Incidence, prevalence, and mortality of heart failure (Modified from Roger 2013)

(continued)

Population				
(years)	Type of study	Incidence	Prevalence	Mortality
Medicare beneficiaries (1994; 2003) (Curtis et al. 2008)	Administrative database	1994: 32/1,000/ person- years 2003: 29/1,000 person- years	1994: 9% 2003: 12%	1-year risk adjusted 1994: 29% 2002: 28%
Ontario, Canada (1997–2007) (Yeung et al. 2012)	Administrative database	1997: 4.5/ 1,000 persons 2007: 3.1/ 1,000 persons	_	1-year risk adjusted 1997 Outpatients: 18% Inpatients: 36% 2007 Outpatients: 16% Inpatients: 34%
Sweden (1990–2007) (Zarrinkoub et al. 2013)	Administrative database	2010: 3.1/ 1,000 persons	Crude: 1.8% Adjusted for demographic: 2.2%	Women 3.2/1,000 person-years Men 3.0/1,000 person-years 5-year survival rate was 48%
ARNO (2008–2012) (Maggioni et al. 2016)	Administrative database	-	2.2	28% at 1 year

Table 1 (continued)

non-cardiovascular causes (Maggioni et al. 2016; Carson et al. 2015; Desai et al. 2014).

This vulnerability to a diversity of illnesses may explain why interventions to prevent them should be delivered by a multidisciplinary team. A multidisciplinary strategy of intervention has been demonstrated to be more likely to reduce readmissions, specifically in the HF clinical area (Hansen et al. 2011; Rich et al. 1995).

Furthermore, annual total direct medical costs for patients with HF are \$21 billion and expected to increase to \$53 billion by 2030 (Heidenreich et al. 2013), and hospitalizations account for up to three-quarters of those costs (Dunlay et al. 2011).

Numerous studies have consistently shown that mortality from HF has steadily declined in recent decades (Barasa et al. 2014; Levy et al. 2002; Chen et al. 2011; Yeung et al. 2012), largely reflecting the introduction of medications (e.g., angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers, mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists, beta-blockers, and more recently ARNI) and devices (e.g., implantable defibrillators and biventricular PM) which improve survival in patients with HFrEF (Guidelines ESC 2016). Trends in mortality from the time of initial diagnosis of HF are summarized in Table 1. However, despite these improvements, HF remains associated with poor outcomes. After initial diagnosis of HF, the estimated survival is 72–75% at 1 year and 35–52% at 5 years (Barasa et al. 2014; Levy et al. 2002). Most studies have suggested that women have better survival than men after diagnosis, adjusting for age (Levy et al. 2002; Roger et al. 2004).

Only very few studies examined the cause of death in patients with HF. In Olmsted County, 43% of deaths were due to non-cardiovascular causes, and the proportion was higher in patients with HFpEF (Henkel et al. 2008). In TIME-HF study causes and modes of death were specifically analyzed in elderly patients with HF: cause of death was more often non-cardiovascular in HFpEF patients than in HFrEF patients (33% vs. 16%, P < 0.05), and cardiac mode of death were more frequent in HFrEF patients (75% vs. 56%, P < 0.05), mainly due to more sudden deaths (25% vs. 7%, P < 0.05) Rickenbacher et al. 2012).

4 Etiology of Heart Failure

Several studies have examined the contribution of risk factors to the development of HF (Dunlay et al. 2009b; Folsom et al. 2009; Levy et al. 1996; Loehr et al. 2010; He et al. 2001). Different factors that predispose to HF in the general population have been identified, and, among these, coronary artery disease, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, diabetes, smoking, arrhythmias, and obesity are the most important. These risk factors may coexist and interact with each other in an individual patient; nevertheless, their contribution to the development of HF varies significantly according to the type of HF. Patients with HFpEF are more frequently obese, with a history of hypertension and arrhythmias (particularly atrial fibrillation), whereas patients with HFrEF have more frequently a history of coronary artery disease, diabetes, and smoking (Senni et al. 2014). On the contrary, in the Physicians' Health Study, healthy lifestyle factors (normal weight, not smoking, regular exercise, moderate alcohol intake, consumption of breakfast cereals, and consumption of fruits and vegetables) were related to lower risk of HF (Djoussé et al. 2009).

Interesting and under intensive study is the role of chronic comorbidities that are frequent, particularly in the elderly (Saczynski et al. 2013), and have strong prognostic implications not only by summing their independent prognostic burden but also by limiting the use of evidence-based treatments and conditioning the eligibility for advanced heart failure therapies. Patients with HF are also affected by five or more concomitant chronic conditions in more than 50% of cases (Wong et al. 2011). Particular attention deserves noncardiac comorbidities that are highly prevalent in older patients with HF and strongly associated with adverse clinical

outcomes. The risk of hospitalization and potentially preventable hospitalization strongly increases with the number of chronic conditions (Braunstein et al. 2003), and non-cardiac comorbidities are responsible for almost half of the hospitalizations that characterize and frequently worsen the clinical history of HF patients (Maggioni et al. 2016). Cardiologists and other physicians routinely caring for older patients with HF may improve outcomes in this high-risk population by better recognizing non-cardiovascular conditions in a comprehensive multidisciplinary approach. Furthermore, in HFpEF it is now clear that comorbidities and, to a greater extent, noncardiac comorbidities, are not only responsible for worsening clinical conditions and causing hospitalizations but also have a fundamental pathophysiological role in the evolution of preclinical diastolic dysfunction into of overt HFpEF (Paulus and Tschöpe 2013; Wan et al. 2014).

5 Heart Failure with Different Levels of Ejection Fraction (EF)

Among the several HF classifications that have been proposed, beside the distinction in chronic and acute HF (which comprises both patients with new-onset HF or de novo HF and worsening chronic heart failure), the differentiation more frequently used in clinical practice (because associated with important differences concerning demographics, underlying etiologies, comorbidities, and response to therapies) is based on EF measurement considering HF with preserved EF (HFpEF) vs. reduced EF (HFrEF). The 2016 ESC Guidelines (Ponikowski et al. 2016) have recently defined EF cutoff for HFpEF and for HFrEF as >50% and <40%, respectively. These guidelines have also introduced a third group, midrange (HFmrEF), that includes patients in the range 40–49%, the socalled gray area that seems to have different and still unexplored characteristics compared to patients with HFrEF and HFpEF, and on which epidemiological data is lacking. EF thresholds for the definition of HFpEF have varied significantly according to different study population and therefore it is difficult to give precise data on its prevalence, but several studies suggest that this form of HF accounts for almost 50% of all forms of HF. As previously reported in this chapter, patients with HFpEF are more likely to be older, female, a specific pattern of cardiac and noncardiac comorbidities.

In the second part of this chapter, a picture of current cardiology will be described; clinical management of HF will be carried out by describing characteristics of HF patients included in important European registries: the Italian Registry on Heart Failure Outcome (IN-HF Outcome; Oliva et al. 2012; Tavazzi et al. 2013) and the Heart Failure Registry of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC-HF) (Maggioni et al. 2010; Maggioni et al. 2013a, b).

6 Patients Hospitalized for Acute HF

6.1 IN-HF Outcome Findings

The registry included 5,610 HF patients: 1,855 patients were admitted for acute HF and were classified as new de novo HF in 43.0% of patients and worsening HF in 57.0%.

According to the ESC Guidelines utilized at the time of data collection (Dickstein et al. 2008), the acute HF profiles at entry were classified as acute pulmonary edema in 27.0% of patients, cardiogenic shock in 2.3%, decompensated HF in 43.9%, right failure in 8.8%, and HF in the context of acute coronary syndrome in 12.9%; hypertension was interpreted as the cause of decompensation in 5.1% of the patients.

The mean age was 72 ± 12 (range 21-98) years and 40% were women. Ischemic etiology was significantly higher in the worsening HF group. Comorbidities such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), diabetes, and history of renal failure or atrial fibrillation (AF) were more frequent in worsening HF; in contrast, entry systolic blood pressure (SBP), heart rate, and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) were significantly higher in the de novo HF patients. An implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) and/or cardiac resynchronization therapy (CRT) were present in 13.3% of cases (21.1% in worsening HF compared with 2.9% in de novo HF, p < 0.0001). The large majority of patients had signs of peripheral and/or pulmonary congestion.

Anemia was observed in 38.7% of the patients. Almost 55% showed an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) <60 mL/min/1.73m², and 13.1% of the patients had severe renal dysfunction (eGFR <30 mL/min/1.73m²), mainly in the worsening HF group. When measured, the median values of N-terminal pro brain natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) or brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) were very elevated, and they were similar in the worsening and de novo HF groups. In the de novo group, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP), as a possible index of inflammation, was higher than in the worsening HF patients. Atrial fibrillation was present in one-third of the subjects (31.5%) that had an available ECG (>95%). ECG was defined as normal in only 2.3% of the entire population. When considering echocardiographic parameters, worsening HF patients showed a larger proportion of patients with a severely reduced LVEF (<30%) and with severe mitral regurgitation. In this registry, the median time spent in hospital was 10 days (IQR 7–15); 51.9% of patients (46.5% and 59.1% of those with worsening and de novo HF, respectively, p < 0.0001) were admitted to the intensive coronary care unit (ICCU) for a median time of 4 days (IQR 3-7). Despite (or as consequence of) a greater number of admissions to ICCU, de novo HF patients spent less time in hospital [9 (IQR 6–14) vs. 10 (IQR 7–16) days, p = 0.0001]. The all-cause in-hospital death rate was 6.4% (almost 90% cardiac) and was not different in worsening and de novo HF groups (6.0 vs. 6.9, respectively, p = 0.41). Patients with cardiogenic shock had the highest mortality rate (23.8%), followed by those with acute coronary syndrome (13.0%), while patients with hypertensive HF had the lowest death rate (3.2%).

6.2 ESC-HF Pilot Survey

The ESC-HF Pilot Survey enrolled 5,118 patients from October 2009 to May 2010. Table 2 shows the characteristics of in-hospital patients also compared with those of ambulatory patients with chronic HF. In-hospital patients were generally older than ambulatory patients with chronic HF and were more often female. As expected, comorbidities were more frequent in patients admitted for acute HF, whereas the rate of implanted devices was more common in patients with chronic HF. More than half of the patients with acute HF had an ischemic etiology, confirmed by coronary angiography in 64% of the cases. In patients with chronic HF, an ischemic etiology accounted for just 40% of the cases; angiographic confirmation was available for 85% of the cases. At hospital entry, clinical signs of pulmonary congestion were detected in 62% of the cases, peripheral congestion was detected in 65%, and either pulmonary or peripheral congestion was detected in 82% of the cases. Clinical signs of peripheral hypoperfusion were reported in 8.6% of the patients; 10.5% of admitted patients were described as somnolent or confused. At the ECG performed at hospital entry, AF was diagnosed in 35% of the cases, and a large ORS (>120 ms) was reported in 35.5% of the patients. An echocardiographic examination was performed in 75% of the patients. The median ejection fraction was 38% (IQR

	AHF pts (n. 1892)	CHF pts (n. 3226)
Age (years), mean \pm SD	70 ± 13	67 ± 13
Females, %	37.3	29.7
Ischemic etiology, %	50.7	40.4
Documented by coronary angiography, %	64.0	84.9
SBP (mmHg), mean \pm SD	133 ± 29	125 ± 20
HR (bpm), mean \pm SD	88 ± 24	72 ± 14
Treated hypertension, %	61.8	58.3
Diabetes mellitus, %	35.1	29.0
History of atrial fibrillation, %	43.7	38.6
Chronic kidney dysfunction, %	26.0	18.5
ICD, %	6.0	13.3
CRT-P, %	0.4	1.1
CRT-D, %	2.9	8.7

Table 2 ESC-HF Pilot Registry: comparison between acute and chronic heart failure – baseline characteristics (Maggioni et al. 2010)

AHF acute heart failure, *CHF* chronic heart failure, *SD* standard deviation, *SBP* systolic blood pressure, *HR* heart rate, *ICD* implantable cardioverter, *CRT-P* cardiac resynchronization therapy, *CRT-D* cardiac resynchronization therapy-defibrillator

50.0% In-hospital mortality 40.0% 30.0% 23.8% 20.0% 13.0% 10.0% 6.4% 6.2% 6 1% 1 1% 3.2% 0.0% Total ACS CS PE Hypertension **RV** failure Decomp, HF

Fig. 1 IN-HF Outcome Registry: All-cause in-hospital mortality according to the acute heart failure profile at entry (Tavazzi et al. 2013). ACS acute coronary syndrome, CS cardiogenic shock, *PE* pulmonary edema, *RV* right ventricular, *HF* heart failure

27–52); 39.1% of the patients had a preserved ejection fraction, defined at the time of the study as >40%. A moderate-to-severe mitral regurgitation was diagnosed in 43.4% of the patients.

Anemia, defined as a hemoglobin level inferior to 12 g/dL, was detected in 31.4% of the patients; an eGFR <50 and <30 mL/min/1.73 m² was reported, respectively, in 32.9 and 9.8% of the patients. NT-proBNP and BNP were measured at entry in 489 and 204 patients only, respectively. The median values were 4007 pg/mL (IQR 2043–9487) and 870 pg/mL (IQR 423–1950), documenting the severity of the clinical conditions at hospital admission.

Figure 1 shows the overall rate of in-hospital mortality and that stratified by clinical profiles. Overall, 71 patients died during the hospital stay; the highest mortality rate being observed in patients with cardiogenic shock and the lowest in those with hypertensive HF. The cause of death was cardiovascular in 90.1% of the cases.

6.3 ESC-HF Long-Term Registry

From May 2011 to April 2013, of the 12,785 patients screened for the study, 12,440 gave their informed consent and therefore are part of this analysis (Maggioni et al. 2013a, b). Of these patients, 5,039 (40.5%) were patients hospitalized for acute HF, while 7,401 (59.5%) were ambulatory patients with chronic HF. Patients included in the ESC Long-Term Registry present with baseline characteristics, clinical history, and comorbidities which largely overlap the observations of other European or US registries (Maggioni et al. 2010; Tavazzi et al. 2006; Adams et al. 2005; O'Connor et al. 2005).

Patients hospitalized for acute HF show a more severe clinical profile, as well as a higher rate of comorbidities than patients with chronic HF, showing the substantial similarity of this population of patients with respect to previous reports.

To have a summary of the findings presented so far, Table 3 reports some selected clinical characteristics of the IN-HF Outcome and the ESC-HF Pilot Survey patients compared with subjects enrolled in other US and European registries (Abraham et al. 2008; Nieminem et al. 2006; Adams et al. 2005; Tavazzi et al. 2006; Tavazzi et al. 2013; Maggioni et al. 2010).

The in-hospital all-cause mortality rate of the IN-HF Outcome Registry was slightly lower than reported in a previous Italian survey (6.4% vs. 7.3%) but still higher as compared with the ESC-HF Pilot Survey (Maggioni et al. 2010) and with US registries (4%) reported in Table 3. However, considering the differences in length of stay and the rapid discharge home in US hospitals, some deaths may have occurred some days later. This is supported by the analysis of the 3-month mortality which seems similar in European and US registries (about 13%).

7 Ambulatory Patients with Chronic HF

7.1 IN-HF Outcome Findings

The all-cause mortality rate at 1 year of chronic stable HF patients was 5.9%, relevantly reduced with respect to the mortality rates observed in the previous decades. The rate of death is much higher, as expected, in patients in NYHA classes III–IV than in those in class I–II (14.5% vs. 4.1%, p < 0.0001). Etiology did not seem to have a remarkable impact on outcome. The death rate was higher, but not statistically significant, in patients with ischemic etiology (6.5%) than in those with nonischemic etiology (5.4%) (p = 0.17). Of the 222 patients with chronic HF who died at 1 year, 65.3% of deaths were due to cardiovascular reasons, 16.2% were due to noncardiovascular reasons, and in 18.5% of cases the cause of death remained unknown. Among the cardiovascular causes of death, HF was the most frequent cause (62.1%) followed by arrhythmic deaths (15.2%).

The 1-year admission rate was 22.7%, one-third (8.8%) only was due to HF, and 13.9% was related to other causes, in 8.4% these were CV causes. The proportion of HF hospitalizations was higher in patients with severe HF, while in patients with ischemic etiology, the prevalent cause of hospitalization was cardiovascular but not due to worsening HF. The rate of use of the pharmacological treatments recommended by the current guidelines was high at the entry visit and did not change during the follow-up period.

The IN-HF Outcome study shows two encouraging findings. First, the recommended pharmacological treatments are incorporated in the clinical practice of cardiologists in Italy and maintained over time. Second, the evolutionary nature of chronic HF looks relatively controlled with an annual mortality rate lower than

Table 3 Patient	s' characteristics in pr	evious AHF registries	and in IN-HF outcom	le		
	Adhere $(N = 105,388)$	EHFS II $(N = 3,580)$	Italian S $(N = 2, 807)$	OPTIMIZE-HF	ESC-HF pilot $(N = 1,892)$	IN-HF outcome
	(Adams	(Nieminen	(Tavazzi	(N = 48,612)	(Maggioni	(N = 1,855) (Tavazzi
	et al. 2005	et al. 2006)	et al. 2000)	(Abraham et al. 2008)	et al. 2010)	et al. 2013)
Age (years), mean \pm SD	72.4 ± 14	69.9 ± 12	73 ± 11	73 土 14	70 ± 13	72 ± 12
Females (%)	52	38.7	39.5	51.6	37.3	39.8
Ischemic etiology (%)	65	53.6	46	45.7	50.7	42.3
Medical history						
Hypertension (%)	73	62.5	65.6	70.9	61.8	57.8
Diabetes mellitus (%)	44	32.8	38.4	41.5	35.1	40.4
Renal insufficiency (%)	30	16.8	24.7	19.6	26	32.5
Atrial fibrillation (%)	31	38.7	28.4	30.8	43.7	37.7
Baseline medica	ttions					
ACE-I/ARBs (%)	53	63	72.5	51.3	60	59
Diuretics (%)	70	71	81	65.7	68	64
Beta-blockers (%)	48	43	32	53.1	62	41
Digoxin (%)	28	27	NA	23.4	21	16

26
De novo HF (%)	35	37.1	44	11.7	NA	43
Cardiogenic shock at entry (%)	NA	3.9	7.7	NA	2.3	2.3
Hypertensive AHF at entry (%)	NA	11.4	NA	NA	4.7	5.1
Physical and lab	oratory findings					
SBP (mmHg) (mean ± SD)	144 ± 33	$135 \pm \mathrm{NA}$	141 ± 37	143 ± 33	133 ± 29	134 ± 33
HR (bpm) (mean ± SD)	NA	95±NA	<u>97</u> ±22	8 7 ± 21	88 ± 24	<u>93</u> ±26
Creatinine (mg/mL) (mean±SD)	1.8 ± 1.6	NA	1.7±1	1.8 ± 1.6	NA	1.5 ± 1.0
LVEF (%) (mean \pm SD)	34.4 ±16	38.0±15	37 ± 13	39±18	38±NA	38 ± 14
HFpEF (%) (LVEF cutoff)	46 (>40%)	34.3 (>45%)	34 (>40%)	51.2 (>40%)	36.1 (>40%)	35.0 (>40%)
IV therapy and i	ntervention					
Diuretic (%)	NA	84.4	95.3	NA	84.6	99.0
Vasodilators (%)	21	38.7	51.3	14.3	18.5	29.9
Inotropes (%)	15	29.8	24.6	10.9	10.5	19.4
						(continued)

	Adhere	EHFS II	Italian S		ESC-HF pilot	
	(N = 105, 388)	(N = 3,580)	(N = 2, 807)	OPTIMIZE-HF	(N = 1, 892)	IN-HF outcome
	(Adams	(Nieminen	(Tavazzi	(N = 48, 612)	(Maggioni	(N = 1,855) (Tavazzi
	et al. 2005)	et al. 2006)	et al. 2006)	(Abraham et al. 2008)	et al. 2010)	et al. 2013)
Outcome						
ICU	18.7	50	69	NA	48	51.9
admission						
(%)						
Length of	4.3	9.0	0.0	5.7	NA	10
stay (days)						
In hospital	4.0	9.0	7.3	3.8	3.8	6.4
mortality (%)						

SBP systolic blood pressure, HR heart rate, LVEF left ventricular ejection fraction, ICU intensive care unit

Table 3 (continued)

6% (2/3 for cardiovascular causes) in a population representative of the Western world with a proportion of NYHA III–IV patients of 17.9% and a median age of 71 years. Among the prognostic predictors of mortality, low systolic blood pressure and low body weight are confirmed as alarming signals in chronic HF patients, together with severe mitral regurgitation, anemia, renal dysfunction, and large QRS. High heart rate also emerges as an important marker of risk with a 2% increase in probability of dying within 1 year per one incremental heart beat.

7.2 ESC-HF Pilot and Long-Term Registries

The rate of chronic HF patients with moderate (NYHA class I–II) or severe HF (NYHA class III or IV) was 72% and 28%, respectively, of the total population of ambulatory patients. An ejection fraction value was available in 2,857 patients (89% of outpatients): the median ejection fraction was 36% (IQR 30-46), a preserved ejection fraction was reported in 36.1% of the cases. A hemoglobin level lower than 12 g/dL was reported in 18.8% of cases, an eGFR lower than 60 or lower than 30 mL/min/1.73m² was reported, respectively, in 40.7 and 5.1% of patients. NT-pro BNP or BNP was measured in a minority of cases (747 and 285 patients). Median values were 1387 (IQR 485–3381) and 390 pg/mL (IQR 133–870), respectively.

A blocker of the renin-angiotensin system, a beta-blocker, and an aldosterone blocker were prescribed, respectively, in 89, 87, and 44% of the cases. The combination of a renin-angiotensin system blocker, a beta-blocker, and an aldosterone blocker was prescribed in 35% of patients, while the association of a betablocker, an ACE inhibitor, and an angiotensin receptor blockers was reported in just 3% of the patients. Ramipril and enalapril were the most prescribed ACE inhibitors; the target dose of these drugs was used, respectively, in 38.2 and 46.2% of the cases. With respect to angiotensin receptor blockers, the target dose of candesartan, losartan, and valsartan was reached in 28.0, 19.7, and 16.7% in the cases. The target dosage of carvedilol, bisoprolol, and metoprolol was reached in 37.3, 20.7, and 21.4% of patients, while target dosage of spironolactone, canrenone, or eplerenone was prescribed in 22.2, 61.3, and 32.7% of patients.

The all-cause mortality rate at 1 year of chronic stable HF patients was 7.2%. Patients in NYHA classes III–IV showed a much higher mortality than in those in class I–II (13.5% vs. 4.8%, p < 0.0001). Of the 233 patients with chronic HF who died at 1 year, 54.5% of deaths were due to cardiovascular reasons, 16.3% to non-cardiovascular reasons, and in 29.2% of cases the cause of death remained unknown. Among the cardiac causes of death, sudden death occurred in 40.2% of the cases.

The 1-year admission rate was 31.9%, 24.0% for cardiovascular reasons, and 11.4% for non-cardiovascular reasons. Of all admissions, 41.7% was due to HF.

8 Conclusions

Patients with HF remain a major health-care problem. Prevalence and incidence are still increasing due to the aging of the population and the improvement of care in acute cardiovascular conditions. Regarding patients' outcomes, while some improvement was observed in patients with chronic HFrEF, due to the favorable results of several trials on drugs and devices, no substantial changes were observed in patients with chronic HFpEF, even if the outcomes of these patients are generally more favorable. The risk of early and long-term death of patients hospitalized for acute HF is still unacceptably high, and for this reason, studies on new therapeutic approaches are necessary.

Disclosure Statement The authors have nothing to disclose.

References

- Abraham WT, Fonarow GC, Albert NM et al (2008) OPTIMIZE-HF Investigators and Coordinators. Predictors of in-hospital mortality in patients hospitalized for heart failure: insights from the Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF). J Am Coll Cardiol 52:347–356
- Adams KF, Fonarow GC, Emerman CL et al (2005) ADHERE scientific Advisory Committee Investigators. Characteristics and outcomes of patients hospitalized for heart failure in the United States: rationale, design and preliminary observations from the first 100.000 cases in the Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE). Am Heart J 149:209–216
- Barasa A, Schaufelberger M, Lappas G et al (2014) Heart failure in young adults: 20-year trends in hospitalization, aetiology, and case fatality in Sweden. Eur Heart J 35:25–32
- Blecker S, Paul M, Taksler G et al (2013) Heart failure-associated hospitalizations in the United States. J Am Coll Cardiol 61:1259–1267
- Bleumink GS, Knetsch AM, Sturkenboom MC et al (2004) Quantifying the heart failure epidemic: prevalence, incidence rate, lifetime risk and prognosis of heart failure The Rotterdam Study. Eur Heart J 25:1614–1619
- Braunstein JB, Anderson GF, Gerstenblith G et al (2003) Noncardiac comorbidity increases preventable hospitalizations and mortality among medicare beneficiaries with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 42:1226–1233
- Carlson KJ, Lee DC, Goroll AH et al (1985) An analysis of physicians' reasons for prescribing long-term digitalis therapy in outpatients. J Chronic Dis 38:733–739
- Carson PE, Anand IS, Win S et al (2015) The hospitalization burden and post-hospitalization mortality risk in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: results from the I-PRESERVE Trial (Irbesartan inHeart Failure and Preserved Ejection Fraction). JACC Heart Fail 3:429–441
- Chen J, Normand SL, Wang Y et al (2011) National and regional trends in heart failure hospitalization and mortality rates for Medicare beneficiaries, 1998–2008. JAMA 306:1669–1678
- Chun S, Tu JV, Wijeysundera HC et al (2012) Lifetime analysis of hospitalizations and survival of patients newly admitted with heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 5:414–421
- Curtis LH, Whellan DJ, Hammill BG et al (2008) Incidence and prevalence of heart failure in elderly persons, 1994-2003. Arch Intern Med 168:418–424
- Desai AS, Claggett B, Pfeffer MA et al (2014) Influence of hospitalization for cardiovascular versus noncardiovascular reasons on subsequent mortality in patients with chronic heart failure across the spectrum of ejection fraction. Circ Heart Fail 7:895–902

- Dickstein K, Cohen-Solal A, Filippatos G, ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (CPG) et al (2008) ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2008 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association of the ESC (HFA) and endorsed by the European Society of Intensive Care Medicine (ESICM). Eur J Heart Fail 10:933–989
- Djoussé L, Driver JA, Gaziano JM (2009) Relation between modifiable lifestyle factors and lifetime risk of heart failure. JAMA 302:394–400
- Dunlay SM, Roger VL (2014) Understanding the epidemic of heart failure: past, present, and future. Curr Heart Fail Rep 11:404–415
- Dunlay SM, Redfield MM, Weston SA et al (2009a) Hospitalizations after heart failure diagnosis a community perspective. J Am Coll Cardiol 54:1695–1702
- Dunlay SM, Weston SA, Jacobsen SJ et al (2009b) Risk factors for heart failure: a populationbased case-control study. Am J Med 122:1023–1028
- Dunlay SM, Shah ND, Shi Q et al (2011) Lifetime costs of medical care after heart failure diagnosis. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes 4:68–75
- Eriksson H, Caidahl K, Larsson B et al (1987) Cardiac and pulmonary causes of dyspnoeavalidation of a scoring test for clinical-epidemiological use: the Study of Men Born in 1913. Eur Heart J 8:1007–1014
- Folsom AR, Yamagishi K, Hozawa A et al (2009) Absolute and attributable risks of heart failure incidence in relation to optimal risk factors. Circ Heart Fail 2:11–17
- Fonarow GC, Yancy CW, Heywood JT, ADHERE Scientific Advisory Committee, Study Group, and Investigators (2005) Adherence to heart failure quality of care indicators in US hospitals. Arch Intern Med 165:1469–1477
- Gheorghiade M, Zannad F, Sopko G et al (2005) International Working Group on Acute Heart Failure Syndromes. Acute heart failure syndromes: current state and framework for future research. Circulation 112:3958–3968
- Gottdiener JS, Arnold AM, Aurigemma GP et al (2000) Predictors of congestive heart failure in the elderly: the Cardiovascular Health Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 35:1628–1637
- Hansen LO, Young RS, Hinami K et al (2011) Interventions to reduce30-day rehospitalization: a systematic review. Ann Intern Med 155:520–528
- He J, Ogden LG, Bazzano LA et al (2001) Risk factors for congestive heart failure in US men and women: NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. Arch Intern Med 161:996–1002
- Heidenreich PA, Albert NM, Allen LA et al (2013) Forecasting the impact of heart failure in the United States: a policy statement from the American Heart Association. Circ Heart Fail 6:606–619
- Henkel DM, Redfield MM, Weston SA et al (2008) Death in heart failure: a community perspective. Circ Heart Fail 1:91–97
- Jencks SF, Williams MV, Coleman EA (2009) Rehospitalizations among patients in the Medicare fee-for-service program. N Engl J Med 360:1418–1428
- Levy D, Larson MG, Vasan RS et al (1996) The progression from hypertension to congestive heart failure. JAMA 275:1557–1562
- Levy D, Kenchaiah S, Larson MG et al (2002) Long-term trends in the incidence of and survival with heart failure. N Engl J Med 347:1397–1402
- Loehr LR, Rosamond WD, Poole C et al (2010) The potentially modifiable burden of incident heart failure due to obesity: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Am J Epidemiol 172:781–789
- Maggioni AP, Dahlström U, Filippatos G, Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology (HFA) et al (2010) EURObservational Research Program: The Heart Failure Pilot Survey (ESC-HF Pilot). Eur J Heart Fail 12:1076–1084
- Maggioni AP, Anker S, Dahlström U et al (2013a) Are hospitalized or ambulatory patients with heart failure treated in accordance with European Society of Cardiology guidelines? Evidence

from 12 440 patients of the ESC Heart Failure Long-Term Registry. Eur J Heart Fail 15:1173-1184

- Maggioni AP, Dahlström U, Filippatos G, Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology (HFA) et al (2013b) EURObservational Research Programme: regional differences and 1-year follow-up results of the Heart Failure Pilot Survey (ESC-HF Pilot). Eur J Heart Fail 15:808–817
- Maggioni AP, Orso F, Calabria S et al (2016) The real-world evidence of heart failure: findings from 41 413 patients of the ARNO database. Eur J Heart Fail 18:402–410
- McCullough PA, Philbin EF, Spertus JA, Resource Utilization Among Congestive Heart Failure (REACH) Study et al (2002) Confirmation of a heart failure epidemic: findings from the Resource Utilization Among Congestive Heart Failure (REACH) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 39:60–69
- McKee PA, Castelli WP, McNamara PM et al (1971) The natural history of congestive heart failure: the Framingham study. N Engl J Med 285:1441–1446
- McMurray JJ, Stewart S (2000) Epidemiology, aetiology and prognosis of heart failure. Heart 83:596–602
- Mosterd A, Hoes AW (2007) Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart 93:1137-1146
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee et al (2015) Heart disease and stroke statistics—2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 131:e29–e322
- Nieminem MS, Brutsaert D, Dickstein K et al (2006) EuroHeart Failure Survey II (EHFS II): a survey on hospitalized acute heart failure patients: descriptions of population. Eur Heart J 27:2725–2736
- O'Connor CM, Stough WG, Gallup DS et al (2005) Demographics, clinical characteristics, and outcomes of patients hospitalized for decompensated heart failure: observations from the IMPACT-HF registry. J Card Fail 11:200–205
- Oliva F, Mortara A, Cacciatore G, IN-HF Outcome Investigators et al (2012) Acute heart failure patient profiles, management and in-hospital outcome: results of the Italian Registry on Heart Failure Outcome. Eur J Heart Fail 14:1208–1217
- Paulus WJ, Tschöpe C (2013) A novel paradigm for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: comorbidities drive myocardial dysfunction and remodeling through coronary microvascular endothelial inflammation. J Am Coll Cardiol 62:263–271
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD et al (2016) 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 37:2129–2200
- Rich MW, Beckham V, Wittenberg C et al (1995) A multidisciplinary intervention to prevent the readmission of elderly patients with congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 333:1190–1195
- Rickenbacher P, Pfisterer M, Burkard T et al (2012) Why and how do elderly patients with heart failure die? Insights from the TIME-CHF study. Eur J Heart Fail 14:1218–1229
- Roger V (2013) Epidemiology of heart failure. Circ Res 113:646-659
- Roger VL, Weston SA, Redfield MM et al (2004) Trends in heart failure incidence and survival in a community-based population. JAMA 292:344–350
- Rosamond W, Flegal K, Friday G, American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee et al (2007) Heart disease and stroke statistics—2007 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation 115:e69–e171
- Rudiger A, Harjola VP, Muller A et al (2005) Acute heart failure: clinical presentation, one year mortality and prognostic factors. Eur J Heart Fail 7:662–670
- Saczynski JS, Go AS, Magid DJ et al (2013) Patterns of comorbidity in older adults with heart failure: the Cardiovascular Research Network PRESERVE study. J Am Geriatr Soc 61:26–33

- Senni M, Gavazzi A, Oliva F et al (2014) In-hospital and 1-year outcomes of acute heart failure patients according to presentation (de novo vs. worsening) and ejection fraction. Results from IN-HF Outcome Registry. Int J Cardiol 173:163–169
- Tavazzi L, Maggioni AP, Lucci D, Italian survey on Acute Heart Failure et al (2006) Nationwide survey on acute heart failure in cardiology ward services in Italy. Eur Heart J 27:1207–1215
- Tavazzi L, Senni M, Metra M et al (2013) Multicenter prospective observational study on acute and chronic heart failure: the one-year follow-up results of IN-HF outcome registry. Circ Heart Fail 6:473–481
- Wan SH, Vogel MW, Chen HH (2014) Pre-clinical diastolic dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 63:407–416
- Wong CY, Chaudhry SI, Desai MM et al (2011) Trends in comorbidity, disability, and polypharmacy in heart failure. Am J Med 124:136–143
- Yeung DF, Boom NK, Guo H et al (2012) Trends in the incidence and outcomes of heart failure in Ontario, Canada: 1997 to 2007. CMAJ 184:E765–E773
- Zarrinkoub R, Wettermark B, Wändell P et al (2013) The epidemiology of heart failure, based on data for 2.1 million inhabitants in Sweden. Eur J Heart Fail 15:995–1002

Comorbidities in Heart Failure

Haye H. van der Wal, Vincent M. van Deursen, Peter van der Meer, and Adriaan A. Voors

Contents

1	Intro	duction	36
2	Ane	mia	37
	2.1	Epidemiology	37
	2.2	Pathophysiology	38
	2.3	Treatment	38
	2.4	Conclusion	39
3	Cog	nitive Dysfunction	39
	3.1	Epidemiology	39
	3.2	Pathophysiology	40
	3.3	Conclusion	41
4	Chro	onic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease	41
	4.1	Epidemiology	41
	4.2	Pathophysiology	41
	4.3	Treatment	42
	4.4	Conclusion	42
5	Diabetes Mellitus		42
	5.1	Epidemiology	42
	5.2	Pathophysiology	42
	5.3	Treatment	43
	5.4	Conclusion	45
6	Нур	ercholesterolemia	45
	6.1	Conclusion	46
7	Iron	Deficiency	47

H.H. van der Wal • V.M. van Deursen • P. van der Meer

Department of Cardiology, University Medical Center Groningen, P.O. Box 30.001, 9700 RB Groningen, The Netherlands

A.A. Voors (⊠) Department of Cardiology, University Medical Center Groningen, P.O. Box 30.001, 9700 RB Groningen, The Netherlands Hanzeplein 1, 9713 GZ Groningen, The Netherlands e-mail: a.a.voors@umcg.nl

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_27

	7.1	Epidemiology	47
	7.2	Pathophysiology	47
	7.3	Treatment	48
	7.4	Conclusion	49
8	Pota	ssium Disorders	50
	8.1	Pathophysiology	50
	8.2	Treatment	50
	8.3	Conclusion	51
9	Rena	al Dysfunction	51
	9.1	Epidemiology	51
	9.2	Pathophysiology	52
	9.3	Implications of Renal Dysfunction	52
	9.4	Conclusion	53
10	Sleep	p-Disordered Breathing	53
	10.1	Epidemiology	53
	10.2	Pathophysiology	54
	10.3	Treatment	55
	10.4	Conclusion	58
11	Conc	clusion	58
Refe	erence	28	58

Abstract

Comorbidities frequently accompany chronic heart failure (HF), contributing to increased morbidity and mortality, and an impaired quality of life. We describe the prevalence of several high-impact comorbidities in chronic HF patients and their impact on morbidity and mortality. Furthermore, we try to explain the underlying pathophysiological processes and the complex interaction between chronic HF and specific comorbidities. Although common risk factors are likely to contribute, it is reasonable to believe that factors associated with HF might cause other comorbidities and vice versa. Potential factors are inflammation, neurohormonal activation, and hemodynamic changes.

Keywords

Anemia • Cognitive dysfunction • Comorbidities • Diabetes mellitus • Heart failure • Hematinic deficiencies • Hyperkalemia • Iron deficiency • Renal failure • Sleep apnea • Sleep-disordered breathing

1 Introduction

Comorbidities frequently accompany chronic heart failure (HF), contributing to increased morbidity and mortality, and an impaired quality of life. The detrimental consequences of comorbidities in HF patients have been acknowledged for several years. We describe the prevalence of several high-impact comorbidities in chronic HF patients being higher compared to age-matched controls. We specifically focused on the impact of comorbidities on survival as well as pathophysiologic processes underlying the interaction between HF and comorbidities, which are

complex and remain largely unknown. Although common risk factors are likely to contribute, it is reasonable to believe that factors associated with HF might cause other comorbidities. Potential factors are inflammation, neurohumoral activation, and hemodynamic changes.

Although chronic heart failure (HF) is primarily a cardiac problem, its pathophysiology also has characteristics of systemic and metabolic derangements. By means of a discrepancy between cardiac function and systemic metabolic requirements, virtually every chronic HF patient has at least one comorbidity. For example, van Deursen et al. showed that renal dysfunction, anemia, diabetes mellitus, and COPD are particularly prevalent in chronic HF patients (van Deursen et al. 2014).

In the next part, several high-impact comorbidities will be discussed systematically. For different reasons, these comorbidities are of significant importance. First, comorbidities may lead to worsening of HF symptoms and quality of life (e.g., iron deficiency, anemia, sleep-disordered breathing, renal dysfunction, and cognitive dysfunction). Second, comorbidities might inhibit optimal HF treatment (e.g., contraindication of beta-blocking therapy in patients with asthma or hyperkalemia for uptitration of RAAS inhibitors). Third, some comorbidities might constitute a therapeutic target with possible beneficial effects on HF-related symptoms and health-related quality of life (e.g., iron deficiency and diabetes mellitus). Fourth, HF-targeting therapy and comorbidity-targeting therapy leads to polypharmacy and might interact with each other (e.g., beta-blockers for HF and beta-adrenergic agonists for respiratory diseases). Finally, as many comorbidities are an exclusion criterion in many trials on HF treatment, less data on the safety and efficacy of HF treatment in chronic HF patients with comorbidities is available (Ponikowski et al. 2016). We chose to discuss the following comorbidities as of their high prevalence, significant clinical and prognostic consequences, and novel data on therapeutic strategies: anemia, cognitive dysfunction, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes mellitus, hypercholesterolemia, iron deficiency, potassium disorders, renal dysfunction, and sleep-disordered breathing.

2 Anemia

2.1 Epidemiology

Anemia has been acknowledged as a significant comorbidity during the past decade. The most commonly used definition for the diagnosis of anemia is provided by the World Health Organization criteria (i.e., Hb <13 g/dL in men and <12 g/dL in women). Due to definition differences, prevalence indices vary between 4 and 61% (Tang and Katz 2006; Groenveld et al. 2008). Anemia in chronic HF patients is independently associated with impaired cardiac function, worse clinical state, and increased mortality. Klip et al. recently showed that the association between Hb levels and the risk of new-onset HF in a general Dutch population is U-shaped, indicating that also higher

Hb levels are associated with an increase in HF incidence. Only severe anemia was associated with an increased HF incidence (Klip et al. 2015).

2.2 Pathophysiology

The pathophysiology of anemia in chronic HF is multifactorial in most patients. Iron deficiency (both absolute and functional) is a significant contributor to the development of anemia, with a prevalence of \sim 50% in chronic HF patients. Iron deficiency and its treatment will be discussed in a separate paragraph. Other major etiological factors related to anemia comprise hemodilution due to fluid retention in decompensated HF patients (Westenbrink et al. 2007), renal dysfunction with a consequent decrease in erythropoietin (EPO) synthesis (van der Meer et al. 2005), and bone marrow dysfunction due to endogenous EPO resistance (Westenbrink et al. 2010).

2.3 Treatment

Erythropoiesis-stimulating agents (ESA) have successfully been used for the treatment of anemia in patients with chronic kidney disease and can be used in a selected group of patients after correctable causes of anemia have been addressed (Work Group Membership 2012). ESA therapy for anemic chronic HF patients has been evaluated in several small studies with varying effects on outcome (Silverberg et al. 2000, 2001; van der Meer et al. 2004; van Veldhuisen et al. 2007; Ponikowski et al. 2007). The largest randomized clinical trial assessing ESA therapy in chronic HF patients is the "Reduction of Events by Darbepoetin alfa in Heart Failure" (RED-HF). More than 2000 anemic chronic HFrEF patients received either darbepoetin alfa (ESA) or placebo. Despite a significant increase in hemoglobin levels in the darbepoetin alfa group (median levels 13.0 g/dL [12.4–13.4] versus 11.5 [10.7–12.2]; P < 0.001), more thromboembolic adverse events were observed in the darbepoetin alfa group versus placebo (13.5% versus 10.0%; P = 0.01) (Swedberg et al. 2013).

2.3.1 Future Perspectives

New therapeutic strategies for the treatment of anemia are currently being explored, as ESA therapy seems harmful in chronic HF patients. These strategies comprise EPO receptor targeting agents (gene therapy, fusion proteins, mimetic peptides, and receptor antibodies) and activin traps (involved in the regulation of erythropoiesis) (Bonomini et al. 2015). All agents, except for fusion proteins, have been shown to increase Hb levels. Moreover, sotatercept (activin trap) additionally inhibits hepcidin expression, making this drugs particularly interesting for the treatment of ID in patients with chronic low-grade inflammation, such as in HF (Bonomini et al. 2015; Finberg et al. 2010). On the other hand, mimetic peptides seemed an interesting drug group, until one agent (peginesatide) showed harmful effects in patients with chronic kidney disease and patients with EPO-related pure red cell

aplasia (Macdougall et al. 2013; Affymax and Takeda Announce a Nationwide Voluntary Recall of All Lots of OMONTYS[®] (peginesatide) Injection 2013). The most promising agents so far seem hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF) stabilizers. This drug type is able to upregulate hypoxia-induced pathways, among others EPO, thereby increasing Hb levels (Semenza et al. 1997). Therefore, treatment with HIF stabilizers can be considered as hypoxia mimicking. Attractive advantages of this strategy compared to ESA therapy are oral administration, more stable EPO level increase and possible improvement of iron metabolism (Ganz 2013). Currently, the safety and efficacy of several HIF stabilizers are being evaluated in phase-2 and -3 studies. For example, roxadustat (FG-4592) has been evaluated in 144 anemic end-stage renal disease patients, showing beneficial effects on Hb, cholesterol and hepcidin levels compared to epoetin alfa after a 19-week treatment with roxadustat (Provenzano et al. 2016). Other prominent HIF stabilizers are molidustat and daprodustat (Schmid and Jelkmann 2016). Because of their pleiotropic effects, HIF stabilizers interfere with numerous metabolic pathways (e.g., glucose and lipid metabolism), which might increase the risk of off-target and adverse side effects. Until now, HIF stabilizers have not been evaluated in chronic HF patients, nor have long-term safety and efficacy been addressed. Therefore, there is currently

no place for these agents for the treatment of anemia in chronic HF patients.

2.4 Conclusion

Unfortunately, treatment of anemia using ESA therapy is associated with neutral prognostic consequences and higher risk of adverse thromboembolic events. This therapy is therefore currently not recommended in anemic HF patients. Novel agents are intervening at EPO-regulating pathways, thereby increasing endogenous EPO levels. Whether these promising new agents are safe and effective in chronic HF patients is currently unclear. Until such data are available, current therapy of anemia should focus on the underlying cause of anemia (e.g., ID).

3 Cognitive Dysfunction

3.1 Epidemiology

Up to half of all chronic HF patients have cognitive dysfunction, varying from mild cognitive impairment to vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease, which are generally poorly recognized by physicians (Vogels et al. 2007; Pressler 2008; van den Hurk et al. 2011; Dodson et al. 2013). Unfortunately, a clear definition of cognitive dysfunction is currently lacking, causing a broad range of prevalence indices. Cognitive function is usually assessed using nonspecific questionnaires such as the Mini-Mental State Examination or the Montreal Cognitive Assessment.

3.2 Pathophysiology

Chronic HF seems a strong risk factor for the development of cognitive dysfunction with a correlation between HF severity and the degree of cognitive dysfunction (Cohen and Mather 2007). Important risk factors for the development of cognitive dysfunction in chronic HF patients are atrial fibrillation, obesity, COPD, depression, age, renal failure, and reduced exercise tolerance (Chong et al. 2015). The etiology of cognitive dysfunction in chronic HF is largely unknown, as only few studies have performed systematical cognitive tests in these patients. Several hypotheses for cerebral and cognitive dysfunction have been proposed, including ischemia due to cerebrovascular disease and cardiac thromboembolism (Pullicino et al. 2001). Another hypothesis is cerebral hypoperfusion, as significant regional blood flow abnormalities were observed in chronic HF patients, which might be a risk factor for the development of cognitive dysfunction (Choi et al. 2006; Roher et al. 2012). However, it should be noted that the brain is relatively protected by strongly developed autoregulatory mechanisms. Hypothetically, with further deterioration in cerebral blood flow, autoregulation will eventually fail in patients with severe chronic HF, resulting in the development of cerebral dysfunction. This hypothesis was evaluated in a recent study by Erkelens et al., focusing on symptomatic chronic HF patients. This study included 15 chronic HF patients and 15 healthy controls. All participants underwent full cardiologic examination including LVEF measurement, MRI scanning to assess cerebral blood flow using arterial spin labeling, cerebrovascular function testing focusing on cerebral dynamic autoregulation, and full neuropsychological testing. No difference in global and regional cerebral perfusion was observed between chronic HF patients and healthy controls (44.3 mL/100 g brain tissue/min versus 42.1; P = 0.68), although basilar blood flow was impaired in chronic HF patients (1.95 mL/s versus 2.51 mL/s; P = 0.009). More interestingly, cerebral autoregulation, regional cerebral oxygen saturation, and vasomotor reactivity were significantly reduced in chronic HF patients (all P < 0.05), whereas no differences in overall cognitive function were observed (Erkelens et al. 2016). This mechanism might be comparable to the autoregulatory mechanisms of the kidneys, which are able to maintain glomerular filtration rate over a broad range of systemic arterial pressure (Damman et al. 2007, 2009). In progressive chronic HF, these mechanisms may fail ultimately and renal dysfunction may occur (i.e., cardiorenal syndrome). The study by Erkelens et al. suggests that cerebral autoregulation is already impaired in mild chronic HF. Future studies should focus on cerebral perfusion and autoregulation in more severe chronic HF patients.

As cognitive dysfunction seems severely underdiagnosed in chronic HF patients, systematic screening for this comorbidity is of significant importance to detect this comorbidity. Chronic HF patients with cognitive dysfunction show an increased hospitalization rates, reduced therapy adherence, and physical inactivity, further deteriorating prognosis.

3.3 Conclusion

Cognitive dysfunction varies from mild cognitive impairment to vascular dementia and Alzheimer's disease and this whole spectrum is present in almost half of all chronic HF patients. Cognitive dysfunction is highly underrecognized due to varying presentation and infrequent screening of cognitive function. While cerebrovascular disease and thromboembolic events are obvious etiological factors for the development of cognitive dysfunction, cerebral hypoperfusion has been studied less thoroughly in chronic HF. Recent data suggest that cerebral perfusion is preserved in mild chronic HF, but with already impaired cerebral autoregulation. This mechanism is comparable to the autoregulation of renal perfusion. Whether this mechanism and preservation of cerebral perfusion is also true for more severe HF is currently unclear.

4 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

4.1 Epidemiology

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and HF are likely to occur simultaneously. The diagnosis of the individual diseases is challenging, as both diseases can result in symptoms of obstructive and restrictive pulmonary abnormalities, together with muscular changes (Gosker et al. 2000). Up to 50% of all chronic HF patients have COPD, which is up to seven times higher compared to the general population (van Deursen et al. 2014; Hawkins et al. 2010). Prevalence indices are frequently based on self-reported COPD, whereas spirometry testing would be desirable. Not even half of all HF patients meeting the spirometric criteria of COPD self-reported the presence of COPD, emphasizing the need for more structured screening for this comorbidity. Unfortunately, spirometry testing is not always conclusive in chronic HF patients due to pulmonary congestion, especially in unstable patients, making the diagnosis even more challenging (Hawkins et al. 2009; Brenner et al. 2013; Guder et al. 2014; Iversen et al. 2010).

4.2 Pathophysiology

Due to its high prevalence in chronic HF patients, COPD and HF are likely to have common risk factors. Possible pathophysiological mechanisms are smoking, chronic low-grade inflammation, hypoxia, oxidative stress, systemic inflammation, and sympathetic nerve system dysfunction. Moreover, reduced long volume due to cardiomegaly, pulmonary edema, interstitial fibrosis, and respiratory muscle weakness are also likely pathophysiological and common determinants of both diseases (Hawkins et al. 2013; Wouters 2005; Dimopoulou et al. 1998). Furthermore, HF might be caused or worsened by an increase in pulmonary blood pressure, as observed in patients with COPD (Sabit et al. 2010).

4.3 Treatment

Although beta-blockers are contraindicated for some pulmonary diseases, betablockers can be used in patients with HF and COPD with a preference for selective beta-blockers (e.g., nebivolol, bisoprolol, and metoprolol). The long-term safety and prognostic consequences of inhaled bronchodilators and corticosteroids in HF patients with COPD are currently unclear. While oral corticosteroids may cause sodium and water retention with possible adverse consequences in HF patients, inhaled corticosteroids are not likely to have these consequences (Ponikowski et al. 2016). COPD has significant prognostic consequences in chronic HF patients with a clear and independent prognostic value of spirometry parameters, making the diagnosis of COPD using spirometry even more important (van Deursen et al. 2014; Iversen et al. 2010).

4.4 Conclusion

Chronic HF and COPD are likely to occur simultaneously and have common pathophysiological mechanisms. Prevalence indices vary widely due to suboptimal screening for this comorbidity. Even if adequate spirometric screening is performed, results are not always conclusive in chronic HF patients. Although beta-blockers are relatively contraindicated in some pulmonary diseases, selective beta-blockers can be used in chronic HF patients with COPD. While systemic corticosteroids may cause sodium and water retention and thereby possibly aggravating HF symptoms, inhaled corticosteroids seem safe to use in chronic HF patients.

5 Diabetes Mellitus

5.1 Epidemiology

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is present in up to half of all chronic HF patients (van Deursen et al. 2014; Mentz et al. 2014). There are only small differences in the prevalence of DM between HFpEF and HFrEF patients. Van Deursen et al. report a 28% prevalence for HFpEF and 30% for HFrEF patients, whereas Mentz et al. show slightly higher prevalence indices (45% for HFpEF versus 40% for HFrEF patients) (van Deursen et al. 2014; Mentz et al. 2014).

5.2 Pathophysiology

While chronic HF patients with DM seem to have an increased risk of short-term rehospitalization and short-term mortality (especially in patients with ischemic heart disease), the long-term prognostic consequences of DM are less clear (Sarma et al. 2013; Parissis et al. 2012; MacDonald et al. 2008; De Groote et al.

2004; Harjola et al. 2010; Greenberg et al. 2007). Pathophysiological consequences of DM are mainly based on glycemic dysregulation and comprise mitochondrial dysfunction, (micro)vascular disease, and oxidative stress (Lam 2015; Seferovic and Paulus 2015). It is believed that a bidirectional association exists between DM and HF, as HF also predisposes to the development of DM (Amato et al. 1997; Tenenbaum et al. 2003).

5.3 Treatment

Although numerous traditional and novel drugs are available for the treatment of diabetes mellitus, only few have been evaluated in HF populations. An overview of traditional and novel glucose-lowering agents has recently been provided by van der Wal et al. (2016). In the following paragraphs, we will mention several glucose-lowering agents together with their cardiovascular consequences. While the optimal treatment for diabetic HF patients is currently unclear, only metformin therapy is currently recommended as first-line treatment in recent HF treatment guidelines, as this drug is safe and effective in chronic HF populations (Ponikowski et al. 2016; MacDonald et al. 2010). Thiazolidinediones show increased risk of adverse HF-related events and are contraindicated in chronic HF patients (Komajda et al. 2010). Although observational data show increased risk of HF development compared to other glucose-lowering agents, a randomized clinical trial focusing on insulin therapy in patients with cardiovascular risk factors showed neutral results with respect to cardiovascular mortality and HF hospitalization (Gerstein et al. 2012; Nichols et al. 2005; Karter et al. 2005).

5.3.1 Dipeptidyl Peptidase 4 (DPP-4) Inhibitors

By inhibiting incretin hydrolysis (glucagon-like peptide 1 and gastric inhibitory polypeptide), DPP-4 inhibitors are able to increase endogenous insulin synthesis and decrease glucagon release. DPP-4 inhibitors have not been studied specifically in HF populations and the long-term prognostic consequences of these agents are currently unknown. However, DPP-4 inhibitors and their cardiovascular effects have been evaluated in diabetic subjects with and without established cardiovascular disease. Current data on the cardiovascular effects of DPP-4 inhibitors are conflicting. Recent meta-analyses including randomized clinical trials showed that some DPP-4 inhibitors (saxagliptin) may be related to HF-related events, whereas other DPP-4 inhibitors (vildagliptin, linagliptin, alogliptin, and sitagliptin) showed more neutral results regarding cardiovascular safety (Li et al. 2016; Kongwatcharapong et al. 2016). The uncertainty regarding DPP-4 inhibitor use for the treatment of DM in HF patients makes this drug group less attractive for this patient group.

5.3.2 Glucagon-Like Peptide-1 (GLP-1) Receptor Agonists

GLP-1 receptor agonists stimulate endogenous insulin release, while glucagon secretion is inhibited. Although several GLP-1 receptor agonists are currently

available now, studies on the cardiovascular effects of these agents are scarce. In a large randomized, double blind trial with more than 9,000 diabetic patients and established cardiovascular disease, the cardiovascular effects of the GLP-1 agonist liraglutide were assessed. The primary outcome was the first occurrence of either death from cardiovascular cause, nonfatal myocardial infarction or nonfatal stroke. Patients receiving liraglutide had less cardiovascular events compared to the placebo group (13.0% versus 14.9%; hazard ratio, 0.87; 95% CI, 0.78–0.97; P < 0.001for superiority). Both all-cause death rate and cardiovascular death rate were lower in the liraglutide group, whereas HF rehospitalization rate was not significantly lower (Marso et al. 2016a). The cardiac effects of liraglutide were evaluated very recently in a cohort of stable chronic HFrEF patients with and without diabetes mellitus. In this study, patients (n = 241) were randomized to either liraglutide 1.8 mg once daily or placebo. After 24 months of treatment, no significant change in LVEF between the treatment group and placebo group was observed. However, more importantly, heart rate was significantly higher in the liraglutide group [mean increase, 7 (5–9); P < 0.0001 and more serious cardiac events were observed in patients receiving liraglutide (10% versus 3%; P = 0.04) (Jorsal et al. 2017). Although left ventricular function was not affected by liraglutide, this study raises issues regarding the safety of liraglutide use in chronic HFrEF patients. Other trials on different GLP-1 receptor agonists (i.e., lixisenatide and semaglutide) showed more neutral and noninferior results on cardiovascular outcome (Pfeffer et al. 2015; Marso et al. 2016b). It is however important to note that these studies are designed as noninferiority studies with relatively short follow-up. Due to this design, current studies cannot be used to quantify beneficial cardiovascular consequences of GLP-1 receptor agonists (Chawla and Tandon 2017). Long-term studies focusing on beneficial cardiovascular effects should therefore be conducted before these agents should be used in chronic HF patients.

5.3.3 Sodium-Glucose Cotransporter 2 (SGLT2) Inhibitors

SGLT2 inhibitors promote glucosuria by inhibiting glucose reabsorption in the renal proximal tubules. Besides beneficial effects on serum glucose levels, SGLT2 inhibitors seem to have additional beneficial cardiovascular effects, among others increased diuresis, and blood pressure and weight reduction) (Zinman et al. 2015; Ferrannini et al. 2014). The cardiovascular effects and prognostic consequences of the SGLT2 inhibitor empagliflozin were evaluated recently in >7,000 diabetic patients with established cardiovascular disease in the EMPA-REG trial. Of all patients, 10.1% had HF at baseline. Patients received either empagliflozin (10 or 25 mg once daily) or placebo. The primary endpoint of the study (i.e., composite of cardiovascular death, nonfatal myocardial infarction, or nonfatal stroke) was observed in 10.5% of all patients receiving empagliflozin versus 12.1% in controls (HR, 0.86; 95% CI 0.74–0.99; P for superiority, 0.04) (Zinman et al. 2015). More interestingly, HF hospitalizations and cardiovascular mortality were significantly lower in the empagliflozin group compared to controls (5.7% versus 8.5%; HR, 0.66; 95% CI, 0.55-0.79; P < 0.001). These effects were consistent across patients with and without HF at baseline (Fitchett et al. 2016). Limitations of this study were, among others, the lack of cardiac biomarkers (e.g., NT-proBNP) and LVEF. It is therefore currently not possible to determine the differential impact of empagliflozin on HF-related outcomes in HFrEF and HFpEF patients.

Empagliflozin is the first glucose-lowering agent able to improve HF-related outcome in diabetic patients. Trials on other SGLT2 inhibitors (i.e., dapagliflozin and canagliflozin) are currently ongoing. A recent meta-analysis on the cardiovascular outcomes of SGLT-2 inhibitors included 81 trials with >37,000 patients showed beneficial effects of this drug group on HF-related outcomes (i.e. all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, and heart failure). However, these effects were only observed for empagliflozin, and dapagliflozin was linked to an increased cardiovascular mortality rate (OR, 2.15; 95% CI, 0.92–5.04; P = 0.08) (Saad et al. 2017). In another meta-analysis however, dapagliflozin was not associated with cardiovascular events (Tang et al. 2016). These ambiguous results make it even more important to study the long-term safety and efficacy of SGLT2 inhibitors in diabetic patients. Several large randomized clinical trials on the safety of SGLT2 inhibitors other than empagliflozin are currently conducted, of which the DECLARE-TIMI 58 trial (dapagliflozin versus placebo; NCT01730534) and the CREDENCE trial (canagliflozin versus placebo; NCT02065791), because of pre-specified adjudicated HF-related endpoints (HF rehospitalization).

5.4 Conclusion

While several new glucose-lowering agents have recently become available, metformin remains the first-line treatment in diabetic chronic HF patients. The safety and effectivity of new glucose-lowering agents in chronic HF patients is largely unclear. Thiazolidinediones are associated with worsening HF and HF rehospitalization and should therefore be avoided in chronic HF patients. Both DPP4 inhibitors and GLP1 receptor agonists are not evaluated in chronic HF populations, making these drug groups currently less attractive for these patients. Although the SGLT2 inhibitors empagliflozin seems to have beneficial effects in diabetic chronic HF patients, it is currently unclear whether this is true for other SGTL2 inhibitors. Current ongoing trials will provide effectivity and safety data on these and other new glucose-lowering agents.

6 Hypercholesterolemia

Although hypercholesterolemia is a well-known risk factor for cardiovascular disease, the prevalence of hypercholesterolemia in patients with HF is relatively low. Especially patients with low levels of low-density lipoprotein have a higher risk of death. Nonetheless, statins have several possibly beneficial properties (e.g., inhibition of platelet aggregation, improvement of myocardial remodeling and endothelial function, and anti-inflammatory, antihypertrophic and antifibrotic

effects) (Luo et al. 1999; Zheng et al. 2013; Jain and Ridker 2005; Brili et al. 2012), and are clearly effective in improving prognosis in patients with atherosclerosis. The effects of statins in HF are less clear and two randomized clinical trials assessing the prognostic effects of statins in HFrEF patients did not show any beneficial effects (Kiekshus et al. 2007; Tavazzi et al. 2008). However, in a substudy of one of these trials, repeated HF-hospitalization rate dropped significantly by 15–20% in the rosuvastatin group (Rogers et al. 2014). The association between statin use and clinical outcome of HFrEF and HFpEF patients has recently been elaborated by Alehagen et al. in two unselected propensity score matched cohort studies (21,864 and 9,140 subjects, respectively) (Alehagen et al. 2015a, b). In the HFrEF population, statin use was associated with reduced all-cause and cardiovascular 1-year mortality, and HF hospitalization (HR, 0.81; 95%-CI, 0.76-0.86; HR, 0.80; 95%-CI, 0.75-0.87; HR, 0.92; 95%-CI, 0.86-0.97; all P < 0.005, respectively) (Alehagen et al. 2015b). There was a strong interaction between statin use and the presence of ischemic heart disease (IHD) for all-cause mortality (HR IHD, 0.76; 95%-CI, 0.70–0.82; P < 0.001; HR no IHD, 0.95; 95%-CI, 0.85–1.07; P < 0.430). Comparable effects were observed in the HFpEF population (HR all-cause 1-year mortality, 0.80; 95%-CI, 0.72-0.89; HR cardiovascular death, 0.86; 95%-CI, 0.75–0.98; HR cardiovascular hospitalizations, 0.89; 95%-CI, 0.82–0.96; all P < 0.05) (Alehagen et al. 2015a). No interaction between statin use and IHD was observed in the HFpEF cohort. The proposed mechanism of the beneficial effects of statins in HFpEF is unclear, but may comprise an antiinflammatory effect rather or in addition to a direct effect on atherosclerosis (Alehagen et al. 2015a). These data would definitely warrant a propensity matched meta-analysis or randomized clinical trials with more liberal inclusion, especially focusing on IHD and HFpEF, as the latter has been barely studied in earlier trials (<10% of study population in the GISSI-HF trial) (Tavazzi et al. 2008). Currently, HF guidelines do not recommend initiation of treatment with statins in symptomatic HFrEF patients, as statins have no clear benefits in these patients. Continuation of statin therapy can be considered in HF patients who already receive statins and experience no significant side effects. There are no recommendations for HFpEF patients (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2013). However, in view of the possible beneficial effects of statins in HFpEF patients, statin use should be studied more thoroughly in these patients, especially when cardiovascular risk factors are present (diabetes mellitus, IHD).

6.1 Conclusion

Hypercholesterolemia is an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease. However, the prevalence of hypercholesterolemia is relatively low in chronic HF patients. Although randomized trials on statin therapy in chronic HF did not show any beneficial effects, observational data in unselected patient cohorts showed a reduced mortality risk in HF patients receiving statin therapy, especially in patients with ischemic heart disease. These findings should definitely be studied more thoroughly in patients with HFpEF, as this patient group has barely been studied.

7 Iron Deficiency

7.1 Epidemiology

Iron deficiency (ID) is very prevalent in chronic HF patients. Depending on the definition, ID is present in up to half of all chronic HF patients, even in patients without anemia (Cohen-Solal et al. 2014). Although bone marrow staining on iron is the gold standard for evaluating iron status, the definition of ID is based on circulating markers reflecting iron status (i.e., serum iron, ferritin, and transferrin saturation) (Jankowska et al. 2013a). However, these markers have some significant disadvantages in clinical practice. For example, besides its role as iron storage protein, ferritin is also an acute phase protein. In chronic HF patients, circulating ferritin levels might be higher due to chronic low-grade inflammation. On the other hand, transferrin saturation can be artificially increased due to impaired hepatic transferrin synthesis when cardiac decompensation is present (Jankowska et al. 2013a). As long as more accurate definitions of ID for HF patients are lacking, ID is diagnosed based on the definition used in several randomized clinical trials focusing on intravenous iron therapy in HF patients (i.e., serum ferritin $<100 \ \mu g/L$, or serum ferritin 100–300 μ g/L with transferrin saturation <20%) (Anker et al. 2009; Ponikowski et al. 2015).

7.2 Pathophysiology

Two types of ID can be distinguished: absolute and functional ID. In absolute ID, body iron stores are depleted, thereby impairing hemoglobin synthesis and eventually causing anemia. Common causes of absolute ID are drug interactions, poor dietary iron intake, gastro-intestinal malabsorption, and gastro-intestinal blood loss. Functional ID is characterized by unavailability of iron for cellular processes with sufficient iron stores. In functional ID, iron is trapped inside the reticuloendothelial system, making it unavailable for cellular and metabolic processes. Functional ID is associated with pro-inflammatory cytokines, including hepcidin, which traps iron in the reticuloendothelial system and prohibits dietary iron uptake (Jankowska et al. 2013a). Numerous studies have elaborated on the role of ID (both with and without anemia) in chronic HF patients, showing a strong and independent association between ID and a broad range of prognostic and surrogate endpoints (i.e., exercise tolerance, and health-related quality of life) (Klip et al. 2013; Enjuanes et al. 2014; Jankowska et al. 2010, 2011, 2014; Klip et al. 2014; Comin-Colet et al. 2013). For example, Klip et al. showed that ID is a strong predictor of all-cause mortality in chronic HF patients, independent of anemia, left ventricular function, and HF severity (HR, 1.42; 95% CI 1.14–1.77; P = 0.002) (Klip et al. 2013).

7.3 Treatment

7.3.1 Intravenous Iron Therapy

Intravenous iron therapy for the treatment of ID in chronic HF patients has been evaluated in several randomized clinical trials. Of these, the Ferinject Assessment in Patients with Iron Deficiency and Chronic HF (FAIR-HF) trial was the first to assess whether intravenous iron therapy would lead to improvement of symptoms in these patients. In this study, 459 chronic HF patients were randomly assigned to either ferric carboxymaltose or placebo. Patients receiving intravenous iron had significantly less symptoms, and improvement in NYHA functional class and quality of life. This improvement was independent of baseline Hb levels (Anker et al. 2009). The 1-year effects of intravenous iron therapy were further elaborated in the CONFIRM-HF trial, comprising 304 symptomatic HFrEF patients with ID. Significant improvements in six-minute walking test distance, NYHA functional class, and health-related quality of life were observed in the intravenous iron arm. Although not powered for this endpoint, the risk of HF rehospitalization was significantly reduced in the intravenous iron group (HR, 0.39; 95% CI, 0.19–0.82; P = 0.009). Finally, the results of the Effect of Ferric Carboxymaltose on Exercise Capacity in Patients With Iron Deficiency and Chronic Heart Failure (EFFECT-HF) have been published only very recently. This study enrolled 174 stable, symptomatic chronic HF patients, who randomly received either ferric carboxymaltose or standard care. After 24 weeks, exercise capacity (i.e., change in peak VO₂) improved significantly in patients receiving intravenous iron therapy compared to standard care (Van Veldhuisen et al. 2016).

Although intravenous iron supplementation showed some promising clinical and biochemical improvements in chronic HF patients, larger and longer trials with more clinical endpoints (such as HF hospitalizations) are needed to elaborate on the definite role of intravenous iron in the treatment of ID in chronic HF patients. Until such trials have been performed, intravenous iron therapy should at least be considered in iron-deficient HF patients to improve HF-related symptoms, quality of life, and exercise tolerance (Ponikowski et al. 2016). Whether intravenous iron supplements have also beneficial effects on objective endpoints (i.e., all-cause mortality, cardiovascular-related mortality, HF hospitalizations) is currently unknown. The Intravenous Iron Treatment in Patients with Heart Failure and Iron Deficiency (IRONMAN) trial will hopefully provide more insight in these endpoints (NCT02642562). This randomized, open-label trial aims to enroll 1,300 chronic HF patients, which will receive either iron (III) isomaltoside or standard care. The primary outcome measure of this study is a composite of cardiovascular mortality and HF (re)hospitalization. This study with long-term follow-up (2.5 years) only includes HFrEF patients (i.e., LVEF <45%) and is estimated to be completed in the first quarter of 2021. A second future study will focus on the prognostic consequences (i.e., composite of cardiovascular mortality and HF rehospitalizations) of ferric carboxymaltose in patients admitted for acute HF (Study to Compare Ferric Carboxymaltose With Placebo in Patients With Acute Heart Failure and Iron Deficiency; Affirm-AHF; NCT02937454). This study aims to enroll 1,100 iron-deficient HF patients with an LVEF <50% and iron deficiency, admitted for acute HF. Patients will randomly receive either ferric carboxymaltose or saline. The estimated study completion date is June 2019.

7.3.2 Oral Iron Therapy

Although oral iron therapy is readily available, inexpensive, and does not require in-hospital administration, very little data regarding the clinical and biochemical effects of oral iron therapy in chronic HF are available. Only one clinical trial prospectively assessed the clinical and biochemical effects of oral iron compared to intravenous iron. This study One retrospective study comprising 105 chronic HFrEF patients receiving oral iron therapy showed a significant increase in hemoglobin levels, TSAT and serum ferritin levels after a median treatment duration of 164 days. However, the increase in median serum ferritin level was not clinically relevant (40–72 μ g/L; P < 0.0001) and definitely not comparable to the biochemical effects observed in the intravenous iron trials (Niehaus et al. 2015). Nevertheless, the authors suggested that oral iron supplementation might be useful for the treatment of ID in HFrEF patients. This hypothesis was further tested in the "Oral Iron Repletion Effects on Oxygen UpTake in Heart Failure" (IRONOUT-HF) trial (Lewis et al. 2016). This randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial included 225 iron-deficient HFrEF patients, who randomly received either oral iron polysaccharide (150 mg twice daily) or placebo for 16 weeks. Both clinical and biochemical effects of oral iron therapy were assessed. Iron parameters (serum ferritin levels, TSAT) only marginally increased in patients receiving oral iron. This minor improvement in iron status did not show any effects on the primary study endpoint (exercise capacity, measured as peak oxygen uptake) and health-related quality of life (unpublished data). Very interestingly, high hepcidin levels were correlated to poor repletion effects of oral iron. As chronic HF is frequently accompanied by chronic low-grade inflammation and thereby increased pro-inflammatory cytokine and hepcidin levels (Cohen-Solal et al. 2014; Jankowska et al. 2013b), oral iron therapy might be less attractive compared to intravenous iron therapy in HF patients with high hepcidin levels.

7.4 Conclusion

Iron deficiency is comorbidity of significant importance in chronic HF due to its high prevalence and detrimental prognostic consequences, independent of anemia. Whereas therapy with intravenous iron improves exercise capacity, HF-related symptoms and health-related quality of life, the prognostic consequences of intravenous iron therapy still need to be elucidated. Until such endpoints have been studied, intravenous iron therapy should be considered in symptomatic HFrEF patients with ID. Compared to intravenous iron therapy, oral iron therapy might be less attractive in chronic HF patients.

8 Potassium Disorders

8.1 Pathophysiology

Although data on the prevalence of either hypo- or hyperkalemia are scarce, potassium disorders can have serious consequences in chronic HF patients. Both hypo- and hyperkalemia can have pro-arrhythmogenic effects varying from ventricular fibrillation to asystole. Potassium disorders are associated with the use of HF-targeting drugs (Anker et al. 2015). Thiazide and loop diuretics have the ability to induce hypokalemia, whereas treatment with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor antagonists, and mineralocorticoids (RAAS inhibitors) might cause hyperkalemia, possibly inhibiting optimal uptitration of these drugs. Only a minority of HF patients receive these drugs at their target dose (Epstein et al. 2015; Albert et al. 2009; Maggioni et al. 2013).

8.2 Treatment

Currently, there is no evidence for acute correction of a hyperkalemic state in emergency situations with respect to clinically significant outcomes (Mahoney et al. 2005). However, long-term and chronic lowering of potassium levels might have beneficial effects on RAAS inhibitor uptitration by preventing recurrent hyperkalemia. Two potassium-binding agents (patiromer and sodium zirconium cyclosilicate) have recently become available (Packham et al. 2015; Weir et al. 2015). Both agents have also been evaluated in HF patients.

8.2.1 Patiromer

Patiromer was evaluated in 105 normokalemic chronic HF patients with an indication for spironolactone treatment (PEARL-HF trial). Patients randomly received either patiromer (15 mg twice daily) or placebo. After 28 days of treatment, patients receiving patiromer had significantly lower potassium levels compared to the control group (between group difference, -0.45; P < 0.001). More interestingly, patients in the patiromer group were more likely to receive higher spironolactone doses compared to placebo (uptitration rate from 25 to 50 mg, 91% versus 74%, P = 0.019). In general, patiromer was well tolerated with no serious adverse events (Pitt et al. 2011). These results were comparable to a substudy of the OPAL-HF trial, focusing on 102 HF patients with renal insufficiency and receiving RAASinhibiting therapy. After an initiation phase of 4 weeks, patients were randomized either to continuation of patiromer therapy or to withdrawal (placebo). In this randomized withdrawal phase, recurrent hyperkalemia was observed in 8% of all patients who continued patiromer and in 52% of patients receiving placebo. Again, patiromer was generally well tolerated with only mild-to-moderate gastrointestinal side effects (Pitt et al. 2015).

8.2.2 Sodium Zirconium Cyclosilicate

Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (ZS-9) was evaluated for the treatment of hyperkalemia in 94 HF patients receiving RAAS-inhibiting therapy from the HARMONIZE trial (Kosiborod et al. 2014). All patients received open-label ZS-9 for 48 h, which significantly lowered serum potassium levels (from 5.6 mmol/L; 95% CI, 5.5–5.7; to 4.4 mmol/L; 95% CI, 4.3–4.5). Patients who were normokalemic after 48 of ZS-9 treatment were randomized between ZS-9 (5, 10, or 15 g once daily) or placebo. Patients receiving ZS-9 showed persistent normokalemia more frequently compared to placebo (40% for placebo versus 83, 89, and 92% for different ZS-9 doses), despite continuation of RAAS-inhibiting therapy. Although no treatment-related serious adverse events were observed, edema was more frequently observed in the high-dose ZS-9 group (Anker et al. 2015).

8.3 Conclusion

As hyperkalemia inhibits optimal uptitration of RAAS-inhibiting therapy, longterm and chronic lowering of potassium levels might have beneficial effects on uptitration of these drugs. Recently, two potassium-binding agents have become available, which significantly reduce serum potassium levels and maintain normokalemia. Additionally, patiromer allows HF patients to receive higher spironolactone doses. However, these drugs have only been studied in short-term trials. It is conceivable that potassium-lowering therapy might be used chronically to prevent recurrent hyperkalemia. Although both patiromer and ZS-9 show promising results in chronic HF patients, future trials should assess the long-term effectivity and safety of these two potassium-lowering agents, especially focusing on the uptitration of RAAS-inhibiting therapy in patients receiving these agents and, consequently, the effects on prognosis.

9 Renal Dysfunction

9.1 Epidemiology

Renal dysfunction is the most important comorbidity in chronic HF, both in terms of prevalence and its association with clinical outcome (van Deursen et al. 2014; Ponikowski et al. 2016; Damman et al. 2014). Moreover, chronic HF and renal dysfunction have many risk factors in common (e.g., diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, and hypertension). The strong relationship between chronic HF and renal dysfunction has been called the cardiorenal syndrome (Shlipak and Massie 2004). A meta-analysis by Damman et al. studied more than 1.1 million HF patients with either chronic kidney disease (CKD) or worsening renal function (WRF). CKD was present in almost a third of all patients (32%), whereas WRF was observed in almost a quarter (23%). Both CKD and WRF were independently associated with

all-cause mortality (Damman et al. 2014). The prevalence of renal dysfunction seems similar between HFpEF and HFrEF (van Deursen et al. 2014; Mentz et al. 2014). The current definition of renal dysfunction (or chronic kidney disease) is based on the estimated glomerular filtration rate and/or the presence of albuminuria (i.e., eGFR <60 mL/min/1.73 m²). Worsening renal function is defined by an increase in serum creatinine level of 0.3 mg/dL and/or a 20% drop in eGFR (Ponikowski et al. 2016). It has been recognized that even a slight increase in serum creatinine levels is associated with worse outcome (Damman et al. 2014; Gottlieb et al. 2002).

9.2 Pathophysiology

The development of renal dysfunction in chronic HF patients is multifactorial. The role of reduced renal perfusion and venous congestion has been acknowledged for several decades. Renal function is protected over a wide range of renal blood flow by means of renal autoregulation. However, when renal perfusion drops below a certain level, GFR will eventually decrease despite maximum autoregulatory compensation (Smilde et al. 2009; Ljungman et al. 1990). On the other hand, the role of venous congestion and central venous pressure is more ambiguous, with evidence that both high and low central venous pressure are associated with worsening renal function, independent of renal perfusion (Damman and Testani 2015). Several other factors are associated or related to the cardiorenal syndrome, including neuroendocrine activation, RAAS-inhibiting therapy, chronic low-grade inflammation, and endothelial dysfunction (Damman and Testani 2015).

9.3 Implications of Renal Dysfunction

Unfortunately, no tailored evidence-based therapy is available for chronic HF patients with renal dysfunction. The presence of renal dysfunction can have significant consequences for HF treatment and the clinical status and prognosis of HF patients. For example, renal dysfunction is common when receiving RAAS-inhibiting therapy, which is used in a great majority of chronic HF patients. A recent meta-analysis by Beldhuis et al. demonstrated that in HFpEF patients, RAAS inhibitor-induced renal dysfunction is associated with worse prognosis, in contrast to HFrEF patients (Beldhuis et al. 2017). Discontinuation of RAAS-inhibiting therapy is however not advised, as there is usually a slight reduction in renal function when initiating and uptitrating RAAS inhibitors (Ponikowski et al. 2016). Second, diuretics might be less effective in chronic HF patients with renal dysfunction and higher diuretic doses are usually necessary (Ponikowski et al. 2016). Third, renal dysfunction might predispose to anemia due to insufficient EPO production, thereby increasing morbidity and mortality in HF patients even further (Westenbrink et al. 2007).

9.4 Conclusion

Renal dysfunction is a frequent occurring comorbidity in chronic HF patients with significant prognostic consequences. Important pathophysiological factors in the development of renal dysfunction include renal hypoperfusion and venous congestion. As no tailored evidence-based therapy for renal dysfunction in chronic HF is available, morbidity and mortality in HF patients with renal dysfunction remains significant.

10 Sleep-Disordered Breathing

10.1 Epidemiology

Sleep-disordered breathing (SDB) is one of the most common high-impact comorbidities in patients with chronic HF and is of emerging interest in this patient group. Depending on the definition, up to 70% of all chronic HF patients have SDB, compared to <1% in the general population (Lyons and Bradley 2015; Bradley and Floras 2003a; b; Arzt et al. 2016). The current definition for SDB is based on the number of appears (i.e., complete cessation of breathing for >10 s) and hypopneas (i.e., >30% reduction in respiratory flow for >10 s, including >4% decrease in oxygen saturation) per hour (i.e., apnea-hypopnea index, AHI). Nevertheless, the prevalence depends on the degree of screening, due to overlapping symptoms with HF. In other words, without screening for SDB, clinicians might interpret SDB-related symptoms as being HF-related symptoms, due to the nonspecific clinical signs and symptoms of SDB. The gold standard diagnostic test for SDB is poly(somno)graphy. Due to its limited availability and relatively high costs, screening every chronic HF patient using this test is not feasible and desirable. A clinical risk score for the presence of SDB in chronic HF patients was proposed recently by Parisot et al. By combining age, gender, BMI, and NYHA functional class, this clinical risk score had a sensitivity and specificity of 78.9 and 61.5%, respectively, to predict the presence of SDB in these patients, with only fair discriminating capacity (area under the curve [AUC], 0.737; 95% CI, 0.663–0.810) (Parisot et al. 2015). Using this proposed risk score would imply that a significant number of SDB patients would be missed, and even more patients would be overscreened. Thus, a valid and easy-to-use screening tool is desirable. One such screening device (nasal airflow and pulse oximetry) was assessed in an observational study comprising 90 stable HF patients. Simultaneous standard home-based polysomnography and screening device analysis was performed in each patient. Using an AHI cutoff of 15 events per hour, sensitivity and specificity for the presence of SDB compared to polysomnography were 92.9 and 91.9%, respectively, and an excellent diagnostic accuracy (AUC, 0.94; 95% CI 0.89–1.00) (de Vries et al. 2015).

10.2 Pathophysiology

Each SDB subtype is characterized by its own pathophysiological mechanisms, although the phenotypes share common pathophysiological pathways and can be present simultaneously. For example, both obstructive (OSA) and central (CSA) are characterized by a proinflammatory state and an increased sympathetic tone (Lyons and Bradley 2015). SDB seems highly underdiagnosed in patients with chronic HF, as excessive daytime sleepiness is frequently absent and symptoms of chronic HF often resemble the clinical course of SDB (Javaheri et al. 1998; Oldenburg et al. 2007; Sin et al. 1999). Note that both OSA and CSA are frequently present at the same time (i.e., "mixed" SDB, either with predominantly central or obstructive apneic events).

OSA is caused by a combination of abnormalities in pharyngeal anatomy, pharyngeal function, and ventilatory control during sleep, causing recurrent upper airway collapse, compromised ventilation, oxygen desaturation, and arousal from sleep. Cardiac consequences of OSA comprise a decreased preload and increased afterload, caused by a more negative intrathoracic pressure observed in OSA patients, an increased sympathetic tone and adrenergic activity, intermittent hypoxemia, possibly leading to cardiac myocyte apoptosis and necrosis, and oxidative stress (Lyons and Bradley 2015; Bradley and Floras 2003a). Although OSA is considered a risk factor for both hypertension and cardiovascular disease (including HF), it is likely that OSA and HF have similar risk factors (Lyons and Bradley 2015; Bradley and Floras 2003a; Sin et al. 1999). Although all-cause mortality seems to be twofold increased in chronic HF patients with untreated OSA compared to no or mild OSA, the independent prognostic value of OSA in chronic HF patients is still unclear (Lyons and Bradley 2015).

On the other hand, the pathophysiology of CSA is more complex. CSA may be considered a consequence of chronic HF, by means of a deranged hemodynamic state and an altered respiratory response. In short, chronic HF is characterized by an increase in venous filling pressures due to fluid-retaining. Especially in supine position, this may lead to pulmonary congestion, which triggers a pulmonary irritant receptor reflex (Lyons and Bradley 2015). In most subjects with HF, this leads to chronic hyperventilation and, consequently, to chronic hypocapnia. Additionally, both central and peripheral chemosensitivity is increased in chronic HF, which further worsens chronic hypocapnia (Lyons and Bradley 2015; Bradley and Floras 2003b). Central apneic or hypopneic events will occur when the already low PaCO₂ further drops below the apneic threshold, for example due to trivial arousal from sleep. CSA is frequently characterized by a typical waxing-and-waning breathing pattern (Cheyne-Stokes respiration), which might be considered a protective response to cardiac dysfunction (Naughton 2012). Major risk factors for CSA include HFrEF, presence of atrial fibrillation, older age, and male sex. The clinical diagnosis of CSA in chronic HF patients is challenging, as most patients do not exhibit clear SDB-related symptoms. A very recent prospective, longitudinal community-based study in almost 3,000 male subjects showed that an increased

central apnea index and the presence of Cheyne-Stokes were significant predictors of new-onset HF and risk of decompensated HF (Javaheri et al. 2016).

10.3 Treatment

Currently, there are several pharmacological and non-pharmacological options for treatment of SDB, although non-pharmacological therapy has been studied more extensively. Multiple studies have demonstrated that optimization of HF therapy also significantly improves SDB severity (mainly CSA), including the use of betablockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, aldosterone antagonists, and cardiac resynchronization therapy (Lamba et al. 2011). SDB-specific treatment modalities are discussed in the next paragraphs.

10.3.1 Positive Airway Pressure Therapy

Continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) therapy as a treatment modality for SDB (both OSA and CSA) in chronic HF has been evaluated in several clinical trials, of which the "Canadian Continuous Positive Airway Pressure for Patients with Central Sleep Apnea and Heart Failure" (CANPAP) trial is the largest. This randomized controlled clinical trial included 258 chronic HF patients with a reduced LVEF and severe CSA. Patients were assigned to either CPAP (including standard HF care) or standard HF care alone. After 3 months of treatment, significant improvement was observed with respect to SDB severity (i.e., AHI and oxygen saturation), catecholamine levels, LVEF, and six-minute walking test. CPAP therapy did not affect survival and hospitalization rates (Bradley et al. 2005). Interestingly, heart transplant-free survival improved significantly in patients with adequately suppressed CSA (i.e., AHI < 15 per hour) compared to the control group (hazard ratio [HR], 0.37; 95% CI, 0.14–0.967; P = 0.043). Such improvement was not observed in patients with refractory significant CSA, which was present in half of all patients. Moreover, only in patients responding to treatment, a significant improvement in LV function was observed (Arzt et al. 2007). A recent meta-analysis of PAP therapy in HF patients with SDB showed a significant improvement of BNP levels in the PAP group (standardized mean difference -0.517; 95% CI, -0.764 to -0.270; P < 0.001) (Zhang et al. 2015).

A more recent study evaluated the safety and efficacy of adaptive servoventilation (ASV) in chronic HF patients. This study (Treatment of Sleep-Disordered Breathing with Predominant Central Sleep Apnoea by Adaptive Servo Ventilation in Patients with Heart Failure, SERVE-HF) randomized 1,325 symptomatic chronic HF patients with reduced ejection fraction and moderate CSA (i.e., AHI \geq 15/h with predominantly central events) between ASV therapy including guideline-based HF therapy, or guideline-based HF therapy only. Although the AHI improved drastically after 12 months of treatment (from median 31.2 [IQR 10.3–115.3] to 6.6 [0.0–50.8]), all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality were significantly higher in the actively treated group (HR all-cause mortality, 1.28; 95% CI 1.06–1.55; HR cardiovascular mortality, 1.34; 95% CI 1.09–1.65; all P < 0.01) (Cowie et al. 2015). Therefore, ASV therapy is not recommended in HFrEF patients with CSA (Ponikowski et al. 2016).

10.3.2 Acetazolamide

Acetazolamide is a carbonic anhydrase inhibitor, and also has mild diuretic and respiratory-stimulating properties. By inducing mild acidosis and increasing pCO₂, acetazolamide affects both central and peripheral chemosensitivity to carbon dioxide and oxygen, thereby decreasing the number of central apneic events in subjects with idiopathic CSA (White et al. 1982; DeBacker et al. 1995). Two small studies addressed the role of acetazolamide in the pharmacological treatment of CSA in chronic HF, all showing a significant decrease in central AHI, oxygen desaturation, and improvement in sleep quality and daytime sleepiness (Javaheri 2006; Fontana et al. 2011). The effect of acetazolamide on SDB severity in chronic HF patients will be more elaborated in the Predicting Successful Sleep Apnea Treatment With Acetazolamide in Heart Failure Patients (HF-ACZ) trial (NCT01377987). This randomized, double-blinded cross-over trial aims to enroll 85 subjects including HF patients and healthy controls. Moreover, this study will provide more insight in the mechanism of action of acetazolamide. Researchers hypothesize that acetazolamide will reduce SDB severity, improve markers of HF severity (i.e., echocardiographic parameters, NT-proBNP, troponin I), and that patients with the severest dysregulation will have the most benefit from treatment.

10.3.3 Future Perspectives

A novel and promising new treatment modality, especially for chronic HF patients with CSA, might be phrenic nerve stimulation. This treatment modality consists of a neurostimulation device, providing rhythmical stimulation to the diaphragm using a transvenous phrenic nerve pacing lead (Abraham et al. 2015). Phrenic nerve stimulation restores the normal (nocturnal) breathing pattern without requiring non-invasive ventilation with possible high ventilator pressures. A very recent pilot study by Jagielski et al. evaluated the 1-year efficacy of transvenous phrenic nerve stimulation in 41 patients with moderate-to-severe CSA, of which 78% had HF. After 12 months of treatment, both overall AHI and central apnea index markedly improved (central apnea index from 28.2 ± 15.0 at baseline to 6.0 ± 9.2 after 12 months; P < 0.001). Moreover, a significant improvement in other sleep-related parameters (e.g., oxygen desaturation index, sleep quality, rapid eye movement sleep) and quality of life was observed (Jagielski et al. 2016). Although authors report a relatively low serious adverse event rate, both safety and efficacy of this new and innovative treatment modality should be confirmed in adequately powered randomized controlled trials.

Another non-ventilation treatment modality which might be suitable for HF patients with OSA might be positional therapy. By preventing patients from sleeping in a supine position, positional therapy is able to decrease SDB severity, mainly by reducing obstructive apneic and hypopneic events (van Maanen and de Vries 2014; Jackson et al. 2015). This treatment modality was evaluated recently in a stable symptomatic HF population with significant SDB. SDB severity decreased



Fig. 1 Proposed diagnostic and treatment protocol for sleep-disordered breathing in chronic HF patients. *AHI* apnea-hypopnea index, *CPAP* continuous positive airway pressure, *ENT* otorhinolaryngology, *PSG* polysomnography, *SDB* sleep-disordered breathing. * PSG can be considered in patients with high clinical suspicion of SDB. † A trial of acetazolamide might be considered in refractory CSA patients with HF

considerably, especially in OSA, but also in CSA patients (AHI_{OSA} median [+ interquartile range] from 50.3 [36.9–67.6] to 10.4 [7.0–18.5]; AHI_{CSA} from 47.4 [37.6–56.0] to 19.3 [11.9–33.3]; both P < 0.0001) (Pinna et al. 2015). Given the high prevalence of positional SDB in chronic HF patients, a trial with positional therapy could be considered in these patients, especially in patients with intolerance to CPAP therapy.

10.4 Conclusion

Both OSA and CSA are very prevalent in chronic HF and have serious prognostic consequences in these patients. In general, SDB treatment should be based on the SDB (main) subtype. For CSA, treatment with CPAP seems safe and effective with improvement in LVEF and exercise tolerance in approximately 50% of chronic HF patients. It might even improve survival in responsive patients. Other ventilation modalities should not be used in chronic HF patients until more data on the prognostic consequences of these modalities are available. CPAP should also be used in HF patients with OSA; referral to the otorhinolaryngology department can be considered in these patients. For selected patients with positional OSA and/or intolerance to CPAP, a trial with positional therapy can be considered. As many chronic HF patients with SDB cannot be easily diagnosed based on clinical characteristics, we believe it would be reasonable to screen every chronic HF patient for SDB using a nasal flow meter, either with or without pulse oximetry. Our proposed diagnostic and treatment protocol is depicted in Fig. 1.

11 Conclusion

In this chapter, we discussed several high-impact comorbidities in chronic HF patients, with a focus on epidemiology, pathophysiology, and treatment. We tried to stress the importance of comorbidities in chronic HF patients, as many comorbidities have adverse effects on clinical status and prognosis in these patients. More importantly, some comorbidities even constitute a therapeutic target for the treatment of HF. As many studies on comorbidities in HF focus on HFrEF patients, it is urgently needed to perform studies focusing on this patient group with at least comparable burden of comorbidities and their clinical and prognostic consequences.

References

- Abraham WT, Jagielski D, Oldenburg O, Augostini R, Krueger S, Kolodziej A et al (2015) Phrenic nerve stimulation for the treatment of central sleep apnea. JACC Heart Fail 3(5):360–369
- Affymax and Takeda Announce a Nationwide Voluntary Recall of All Lots of OMONTYS[®] (peginesatide) Injection (2013) https://www.takeda.com/news/2013/20130224_5664.html. Accessed 6 Dec 2015
- Albert NM, Yancy CW, Liang L, Zhao X, Hernandez AF, Peterson ED et al (2009) Use of aldosterone antagonists in heart failure. JAMA 302(15):1658–1665
- Alehagen U, Benson L, Edner M, Dahlstrom U, Lund LH (2015a) Association between use of statins and mortality in patients with heart failure and ejection fraction of ≥50. Circ Heart Fail 8(5):862–870
- Alehagen U, Benson L, Edner M, Dahlstrom U, Lund LH (2015b) Association between use of statins and outcomes in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: prospective propensity score matched cohort study of 21 864 patients in the Swedish Heart Failure Registry. Circ Heart Fail 8(2):252–260

- Amato L, Paolisso G, Cacciatore F, Ferrara N, Ferrara P, Canonico S et al (1997) Congestive heart failure predicts the development of non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus in the elderly. The Osservatorio Geriatrico Regione Campania Group. Diabetes Metab 23(3):213–218
- Anker SD, Comin Colet J, Filippatos G, Willenheimer R, Dickstein K, Drexler H et al (2009) Ferric carboxymaltose in patients with heart failure and iron deficiency. N Engl J Med 361 (25):2436–2448
- Anker SD, Kosiborod M, Zannad F, Pina IL, McCullough PA, Filippatos G et al (2015) Maintenance of serum potassium with sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (ZS-9) in heart failure patients: results from a phase 3 randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Eur J Heart Fail 17 (10):1050–1056
- Arzt M, Floras JS, Logan AG, Kimoff RJ, Series F, Morrison D et al (2007) Suppression of central sleep apnea by continuous positive airway pressure and transplant-free survival in heart failure: a post hoc analysis of the Canadian continuous positive airway pressure for patients with central sleep apnea and heart failure trial (CANPAP). Circulation 115(25):3173–3180
- Arzt M, Woehrle H, Oldenburg O, Graml A, Suling A, Erdmann E et al (2016) Prevalence and predictors of sleep-disordered breathing in patients with stable chronic heart failure: the SchlaHF registry. JACC Heart Fail 4(2):116–125
- Beldhuis IE, Streng KW, Ter Maaten JM, Voors AA, van der Meer P, Rossignol P et al (2017) Renin-angiotensin system inhibition, worsening renal function, and outcome in heart failure patients with reduced and preserved ejection fraction: a meta-analysis of published study data. Circ Heart Fail 10(2): 10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003588
- Bonomini M, Del Vecchio L, Sirolli V, Locatelli F (2015) New treatment approaches for the anemia of CKD. Am J Kidney Dis
- Bradley TD, Floras JS (2003a) Sleep apnea and heart failure: part I: obstructive sleep apnea. Circulation 107(12):1671–1678
- Bradley TD, Floras JS (2003b) Sleep apnea and heart failure: part II: central sleep apnea. Circulation 107(13):1822–1826
- Bradley TD, Logan AG, Kimoff RJ, Series F, Morrison D, Ferguson K et al (2005) Continuous positive airway pressure for central sleep apnea and heart failure. N Engl J Med 353 (19):2025–2033
- Brenner S, Guder G, Berliner D, Deubner N, Frohlich K, Ertl G et al (2013) Airway obstruction in systolic heart failure COPD or congestion? Int J Cardiol 168(3):1910–1916
- Brili S, Tousoulis D, Antonopoulos AS, Antoniades C, Hatzis G, Bakogiannis C et al (2012) Effects of atorvastatin on endothelial function and the expression of proinflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules in young subjects with successfully repaired coarctation of aorta. Heart 98(4):325–329
- Chawla H, Tandon N (2017) Interpreting cardiovascular endpoints in trials of antihyperglycemic drugs. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs
- Choi BR, Kim JS, Yang YJ, Park KM, Lee CW, Kim YH et al (2006) Factors associated with decreased cerebral blood flow in congestive heart failure secondary to idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 97(9):1365–1369
- Chong VH, Singh J, Parry H, Saunders J, Chowdhury F, Mancini DM et al (2015) Management of noncardiac comorbidities in chronic heart failure. Cardiovasc Ther 33(5):300–315
- Cohen MB, Mather PJ (2007) A review of the association between congestive heart failure and cognitive impairment. Am J Geriatr Cardiol 16(3):171–174
- Cohen-Solal A, Leclercq C, Deray G, Lasocki S, Zambrowski JJ, Mebazaa A et al (2014) Iron deficiency: an emerging therapeutic target in heart failure. Heart 100(18):1414–1420
- Comin-Colet J, Enjuanes C, Gonzalez G, Torrens A, Cladellas M, Merono O et al (2013) Iron deficiency is a key determinant of health-related quality of life in patients with chronic heart failure regardless of anaemia status. Eur J Heart Fail 15(10):1164–1172
- Cowie MR, Woehrle H, Wegscheider K, Angermann C, d'Ortho MP, Erdmann E et al (2015) Adaptive servo-ventilation for central sleep apnea in systolic heart failure. N Eng J Med 373 (12):1095–1105

- Damman K, Testani JM (2015) The kidney in heart failure: an update. Eur Heart J 36 (23):1437–1444
- Damman K, Navis G, Smilde TD, Voors AA, van der Bij W, van Veldhuisen DJ et al (2007) Decreased cardiac output, venous congestion and the association with renal impairment in patients with cardiac dysfunction. Eur J Heart Fail 9(9):872–878
- Damman K, van Deursen VM, Navis G, Voors AA, van Veldhuisen DJ, Hillege HL (2009) Increased central venous pressure is associated with impaired renal function and mortality in a broad spectrum of patients with cardiovascular disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 53(7):582–588
- Damman K, Valente MA, Voors AA, O'Connor CM, van Veldhuisen DJ, Hillege HL (2014) Renal impairment, worsening renal function, and outcome in patients with heart failure: an updated meta-analysis. Eur Heart J 35(7):455–469
- De Groote P, Lamblin N, Mouquet F, Plichon D, McFadden E, Van Belle E et al (2004) Impact of diabetes mellitus on long-term survival in patients with congestive heart failure. Eur Heart J 25 (8):656–662
- de Vries GE, van der Wal HH, Kerstjens HA, van Deursen VM, Stegenga B, van Veldhuisen DJ et al (2015) Validity and predictive value of a portable two-channel sleep-screening tool in the identification of sleep apnea in patients with heart failure. J Card Fail 21(10):848–855
- DeBacker WA, Verbraecken J, Willemen M, Wittesaele W, DeCock W, Van deHeyning P (1995) Central apnea index decreases after prolonged treatment with acetazolamide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 151(1):87–91
- Dimopoulou I, Daganou M, Tsintzas OK, Tzelepis GE (1998) Effects of severity of long-standing congestive heart failure on pulmonary function. Respir Med 92(12):1321–1325
- Dodson JA, Truong TT, Towle VR, Kerins G, Chaudhry SI (2013) Cognitive impairment in older adults with heart failure: prevalence, documentation, and impact on outcomes. Am J Med 126 (2):120–126
- Enjuanes C, Klip IT, Bruguera J, Cladellas M, Ponikowski P, Banasiak W et al (2014) Iron deficiency and health-related quality of life in chronic heart failure: results from a multicenter European study. Int J Cardiol 174(2):268–275
- Epstein M, Reaven NL, Funk SE, McGaughey KJ, Oestreicher N, Knispel J (2015) Evaluation of the treatment gap between clinical guidelines and the utilization of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors. Am J Manag Care 21(11 Suppl):S212–S220
- Erkelens CD, van der Wal HH, de Jong BM, Elting JW, Renken R, Gerritsen M et al (2016) Dynamics of cerebral blood flow in patients with mild non-ischaemic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail
- Ferrannini E, Muscelli E, Frascerra S, Baldi S, Mari A, Heise T et al (2014) Metabolic response to sodium-glucose cotransporter 2 inhibition in type 2 diabetic patients. J Clin Invest 124 (2):499–508
- Finberg KE, Whittlesey RL, Fleming MD, Andrews NC (2010) Down-regulation of Bmp/Smad signaling by Tmprss6 is required for maintenance of systemic iron homeostasis. Blood 115 (18):3817–3826
- Fitchett D, Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Hantel S, Salsali A et al (2016) Heart failure outcomes with empagliflozin in patients with type 2 diabetes at high cardiovascular risk: results of the EMPA-REG OUTCOME(R) trial. Eur Heart J 37(19):1526–1534
- Fontana M, Emdin M, Giannoni A, Iudice G, Baruah R, Passino C (2011) Effect of acetazolamide on chemosensitivity, Cheyne-Stokes respiration, and response to effort in patients with heart failure. Am J Cardiol 107(11):1675–1680
- Ganz T (2013) Systemic iron homeostasis. Physiol Rev 93(4):1721-1741
- Gerstein HC, Bosch J, Dagenais GR, Diaz R, Jung H, ORIGIN Trial Investigators et al (2012) Basal insulin and cardiovascular and other outcomes in dysglycemia. N Engl J Med 367 (4):319–328
- Gissi-HF Investigators, Tavazzi L, Maggioni AP, Marchioli R, Barlera S, Franzosi MG et al (2008) Effect of rosuvastatin in patients with chronic heart failure (the GISSI-HF trial): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 372(9645):1231–1239

- Gosker HR, Wouters EF, van der Vusse GJ, Schols AM (2000) Skeletal muscle dysfunction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic heart failure: underlying mechanisms and therapy perspectives. Am J Clin Nutr 71(5):1033–1047
- Gottlieb SS, Abraham W, Butler J, Forman DE, Loh E, Massie BM et al (2002) The prognostic importance of different definitions of worsening renal function in congestive heart failure. J Card Fail 8(3):136–141
- Greenberg BH, Abraham WT, Albert NM, Chiswell K, Clare R, Stough WG et al (2007) Influence of diabetes on characteristics and outcomes in patients hospitalized with heart failure: a report from the Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF). Am Heart J 154(2):277.e1–277.e8
- Groenveld HF, Januzzi JL, Damman K, van Wijngaarden J, Hillege HL, van Veldhuisen DJ et al (2008) Anemia and mortality in heart failure patients a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Coll Cardiol 52(10):818–827
- Guder G, Brenner S, Stork S, Hoes A, Rutten FH (2014) Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in heart failure: accurate diagnosis and treatment. Eur J Heart Fail 16(12):1273–1282
- Harjola VP, Follath F, Nieminen MS, Brutsaert D, Dickstein K, Drexler H et al (2010) Characteristics, outcomes, and predictors of mortality at 3 months and 1 year in patients hospitalized for acute heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 12(3):239–248
- Hawkins NM, Petrie MC, Jhund PS, Chalmers GW, Dunn FG, McMurray JJ (2009) Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: diagnostic pitfalls and epidemiology. Eur J Heart Fail 11(2):130–139
- Hawkins NM, Jhund PS, Simpson CR, Petrie MC, Macdonald MR, Dunn FG et al (2010) Primary care burden and treatment of patients with heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Scotland. Eur J Heart Fail 12(1):17–24
- Hawkins NM, Virani S, Ceconi C (2013) Heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the challenges facing physicians and health services. Eur Heart J 34(36):2795–2803
- Iversen KK, Kjaergaard J, Akkan D, Kober L, Torp-Pedersen C, Hassager C et al (2010) The prognostic importance of lung function in patients admitted with heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 12(7):685–691
- Jackson M, Collins A, Berlowitz D, Howard M, O'Donoghue F, Barnes M (2015) Efficacy of sleep position modification to treat positional obstructive sleep apnea. Sleep Med 16(4):545–552
- Jagielski D, Ponikowski P, Augostini R, Kolodziej A, Khayat R, Abraham WT (2016) Transvenous stimulation of the phrenic nerve for the treatment of central sleep apnoea: 12 months' experience with the remede(R) system. Eur J Heart Fail 18(11):1386–1393
- Jain MK, Ridker PM (2005) Anti-inflammatory effects of statins: clinical evidence and basic mechanisms. Nat Rev Drug Discov 4(12):977–987
- Jankowska EA, Rozentryt P, Witkowska A, Nowak J, Hartmann O, Ponikowska B et al (2010) Iron deficiency: an ominous sign in patients with systolic chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 31 (15):1872–1880
- Jankowska EA, Rozentryt P, Witkowska A, Nowak J, Hartmann O, Ponikowska B et al (2011) Iron deficiency predicts impaired exercise capacity in patients with systolic chronic heart failure. J Card Fail 17(11):899–906
- Jankowska EA, von Haehling S, Anker SD, Macdougall IC, Ponikowski P (2013a) Iron deficiency and heart failure: diagnostic dilemmas and therapeutic perspectives. Eur Heart J 34 (11):816–829
- Jankowska EA, Malyszko J, Ardehali H, Koc-Zorawska E, Banasiak W, von Haehling S et al (2013b) Iron status in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 34(11):827–834
- Jankowska EA, Kasztura M, Sokolski M, Bronisz M, Nawrocka S, Oleskowska-Florek W et al (2014) Iron deficiency defined as depleted iron stores accompanied by unmet cellular iron requirements identifies patients at the highest risk of death after an episode of acute heart failure. Eur Heart J 35(36):2468–2476
- Javaheri S (2006) Acetazolamide improves central sleep apnea in heart failure: a double-blind, prospective study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 173(2):234–237

- Javaheri S, Parker TJ, Liming JD, Corbett WS, Nishiyama H, Wexler L et al (1998) Sleep apnea in 81 ambulatory male patients with stable heart failure. Types and their prevalences, consequences, and presentations. Circulation 97(21):2154–2159
- Javaheri S, Blackwell T, Ancoli-Israel S, Ensrud KE, Stone KL, Redline S et al (2016) Sleepdisordered breathing and incident heart failure in older men. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 193 (5):561–568
- Jorsal A, Kistorp C, Holmager P, Tougaard RS, Nielsen R, Hanselmann A et al (2017) Effect of liraglutide, a glucagon-like peptide-1 analogue, on left ventricular function in stable chronic heart failure patients with and without diabetes (LIVE)-a multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Eur J Heart Fail 19(1):69–77
- Karter AJ, Ahmed AT, Liu J, Moffet HH, Parker MM (2005) Pioglitazone initiation and subsequent hospitalization for congestive heart failure. Diabet Med 22(8):986–993
- Kjekshus J, Apetrei E, Barrios V, Bohm M, Cleland JG, Cornel JH et al (2007) Rosuvastatin in older patients with systolic heart failure. N Engl J Med 357(22):2248–2261
- Klip IT, Comin-Colet J, Voors AA, Ponikowski P, Enjuanes C, Banasiak W et al (2013) Iron deficiency in chronic heart failure: an international pooled analysis. Am Heart J 165 (4):575–582.e3
- Klip IT, Jankowska EA, Enjuanes C, Voors AA, Banasiak W, Bruguera J et al (2014) The additive burden of iron deficiency in the cardiorenal-anaemia axis: scope of a problem and its consequences. Eur J Heart Fail 16(6):655–662
- Klip IT, Postmus D, Voors AA, Brouwers FP, Gansevoort RT, Bakker SJ et al (2015) Hemoglobin levels and new-onset heart failure in the community. Am Heart J 169(1):94–101.e2
- Komajda M, McMurray JJ, Beck-Nielsen H, Gomis R, Hanefeld M, Pocock SJ et al (2010) Heart failure events with rosiglitazone in type 2 diabetes: data from the RECORD clinical trial. Eur Heart J 31(7):824–831
- Kongwatcharapong J, Dilokthornsakul P, Nathisuwan S, Phrommintikul A, Chaiyakunapruk N (2016) Effect of dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors on heart failure: a meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Int J Cardiol 211:88–95
- Kosiborod M, Rasmussen HS, Lavin P, Qunibi WY, Spinowitz B, Packham D et al (2014) Effect of sodium zirconium cyclosilicate on potassium lowering for 28 days among outpatients with hyperkalemia: the HARMONIZE randomized clinical trial. JAMA 312(21):2223–2233
- Lam CS (2015) Diabetic cardiomyopathy: an expression of stage B heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Diab Vasc Dis Res 12(4):234–238
- Lamba J, Simpson CS, Redfearn DP, Michael KA, Fitzpatrick M, Baranchuk A (2011) Cardiac resynchronization therapy for the treatment of sleep apnoea: a meta-analysis. Europace 13 (8):1174–1179
- Lewis GD, Semigran MJ, Givertz MM, Malhotra R, Anstrom KJ, Hernandez AF et al (2016) Oral iron therapy for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: design and rationale for oral iron repletion effects on oxygen uptake in heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 9(5): 10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.000345
- Li L, Li S, Deng K, Liu J, Vandvik PO, Zhao P et al (2016) Dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors and risk of heart failure in type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised and observational studies. BMJ 352:i610
- Ljungman S, Laragh JH, Cody RJ (1990) Role of the kidney in congestive heart failure. Relationship of cardiac index to kidney function. Drugs 39(Suppl 4):10–21. Discussion 22–4
- Luo JD, Zhang WW, Zhang GP, Guan JX, Chen X (1999) Simvastatin inhibits cardiac hypertrophy and angiotensin-converting enzyme activity in rats with aortic stenosis. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 26(11):903–908
- Lyons OD, Bradley TD (2015) Heart failure and sleep apnea. Can J Cardiol 31(7):898-908
- MacDonald MR, Petrie MC, Varyani F, Ostergren J, Michelson EL, Young JB et al (2008) Impact of diabetes on outcomes in patients with low and preserved ejection fraction heart failure: an analysis of the candesartan in heart failure: assessment of reduction in mortality and morbidity (CHARM) programme. Eur Heart J 29(11):1377–1385

- MacDonald MR, Eurich DT, Majumdar SR, Lewsey JD, Bhagra S, Jhund PS et al (2010) Treatment of type 2 diabetes and outcomes in patients with heart failure: a nested casecontrol study from the U.K. general practice research database. Diabetes Care 33 (6):1213–1218
- Macdougall IC, Provenzano R, Sharma A, Spinowitz BS, Schmidt RJ, Pergola PE et al (2013) Peginesatide for anemia in patients with chronic kidney disease not receiving dialysis. N Engl J Med 368(4):320–332
- Maggioni AP, Anker SD, Dahlstrom U, Filippatos G, Ponikowski P, Zannad F et al (2013) Are hospitalized or ambulatory patients with heart failure treated in accordance with European Society of Cardiology guidelines? Evidence from 12,440 patients of the ESC Heart Failure Long-Term Registry. Eur J Heart Fail 15(10):1173–1184
- Mahoney BA, Smith WA, Lo DS, Tsoi K, Tonelli M, Clase CM (2005) Emergency interventions for hyperkalaemia. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2(2):CD003235
- Marso SP, Daniels GH, Brown-Frandsen K, Kristensen P, Mann JF, Nauck MA et al (2016a) Liraglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 375(4):311–322
- Marso SP, Bain SC, Consoli A, Eliaschewitz FG, Jodar E, Leiter LA et al (2016b) Semaglutide and cardiovascular outcomes in patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 375(19):1834–1844
- Mentz RJ, Kelly JP, von Lueder TG, Voors AA, Lam CS, Cowie MR et al (2014) Noncardiac comorbidities in heart failure with reduced versus preserved ejection fraction. J Am Coll Cardiol 64(21):2281–2293
- Naughton MT (2012) Cheyne-Stokes respiration: friend or foe? Thorax 67(4):357-360
- Nichols GA, Koro CE, Gullion CM, Ephross SA, Brown JB (2005) The incidence of congestive heart failure associated with antidiabetic therapies. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 21(1):51–57
- Niehaus ED, Malhotra R, Cocca-Spofford D, Semigran M, Lewis GD (2015) Repletion of iron stores with the use of oral iron supplementation in patients with systolic heart failure. J Card Fail 21(8):694–697
- Oldenburg O, Lamp B, Faber L, Teschler H, Horstkotte D, Topfer V (2007) Sleep-disordered breathing in patients with symptomatic heart failure: a contemporary study of prevalence in and characteristics of 700 patients. Eur J Heart Fail 9(3):251–257
- Packham DK, Rasmussen HS, Lavin PT, El-Shahawy MA, Roger SD, Block G et al (2015) Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate in hyperkalemia. N Engl J Med 372(3):222–231
- Parisot J, Damy T, Gellen B, Covali-Noroc A, Bodez D, Rappeneau S et al (2015) Sleepdisordered breathing in chronic heart failure: development and validation of a clinical screening score. Sleep Med 16(9):1094–1101
- Parissis JT, Rafouli-Stergiou P, Mebazaa A, Ikonomidis I, Bistola V, Nikolaou M et al (2012) Acute heart failure in patients with diabetes mellitus: clinical characteristics and predictors of in-hospital mortality. Int J Cardiol 157(1):108–113
- Pfeffer MA, Claggett B, Diaz R, Dickstein K, Gerstein HC, Kober LV et al (2015a) Lixisenatide in patients with type 2 diabetes and acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 373(23):2247–2257
- Pfeffer MA, Claggett B, Diaz R, Dickstein K, Gerstein HC, Kober LV et al (2015b) Lixisenatide in patients with type 2 diabetes and acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 373(23):2247–2257
- Pinna GD, Robbi E, La Rovere MT, Taurino AE, Bruschi C, Guazzotti G et al (2015) Differential impact of body position on the severity of disordered breathing in heart failure patients with obstructive vs. central sleep apnoea. Eur J Heart Fail 17(12):1302–1309
- Pitt B, Anker SD, Bushinsky DA, Kitzman DW, Zannad F, Huang IZ et al (2011) Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of RLY5016, a polymeric potassium binder, in a double-blind, placebocontrolled study in patients with chronic heart failure (the PEARL-HF) trial. Eur Heart J 32 (7):820–828
- Pitt B, Bakris GL, Bushinsky DA, Garza D, Mayo MR, Stasiv Y et al (2015) Effect of patiromer on reducing serum potassium and preventing recurrent hyperkalaemia in patients with heart failure and chronic kidney disease on RAAS inhibitors. Eur J Heart Fail 17(10):1057–1065
- Ponikowski P, Anker SD, Szachniewicz J, Okonko D, Ledwidge M, Zymlinski R et al (2007) Effect of darbepoetin alfa on exercise tolerance in anemic patients with symptomatic chronic
heart failure: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 49 (7):753-762

- Ponikowski P, van Veldhuisen DJ, Comin-Colet J, Ertl G, Komajda M, Mareev V et al (2015) Beneficial effects of long-term intravenous iron therapy with ferric carboxymaltose in patients with symptomatic heart failure and iron deficiency. Eur Heart J 36(11):657–668
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ et al (2016) 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) developed with the special contribution of the heart failure association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J
- Pressler SJ (2008) Cognitive functioning and chronic heart failure: a review of the literature (2002-July 2007). J Cardiovasc Nurs 23(3):239–249
- Provenzano R, Besarab A, Wright S, Dua S, Zeig S, Nguyen P et al (2016) Roxadustat (FG-4592) versus Epoetin Alfa for anemia in patients receiving maintenance hemodialysis: a phase 2, randomized, 6- to 19-week, open-label, active-comparator, dose-ranging, safety and exploratory efficacy study. Am J Kidney Dis 67(6):912–924
- Pullicino P, Mifsud V, Wong E, Graham S, Ali I, Smajlovic D (2001) Hypoperfusion-related cerebral ischemia and cardiac left ventricular systolic dysfunction. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis 10 (4):178–182
- Rogers JK, Jhund PS, Perez AC, Bohm M, Cleland JG, Gullestad L et al (2014) Effect of rosuvastatin on repeat heart failure hospitalizations: the CORONA trial (controlled Rosuvastatin multinational trial in heart failure). JACC Heart Fail 2(3):289–297
- Roher AE, Debbins JP, Malek-Ahmadi M, Chen K, Pipe JG, Maze S et al (2012) Cerebral blood flow in Alzheimer's disease. Vasc Health Risk Manag 8:599–611
- Saad M, Mahmoud AN, Elgendy IY, Abuzaid A, Barakat AF, Elgendy AY et al (2017) Cardiovascular outcomes with sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors in patients with type II diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of placebo-controlled randomized trials. Int J Cardiol 228:352–358
- Sabit R, Bolton CE, Fraser AG, Edwards JM, Edwards PH, Ionescu AA et al (2010) Sub-clinical left and right ventricular dysfunction in patients with COPD. Respir Med 104(8):1171–1178
- Sarma S, Mentz RJ, Kwasny MJ, Fought AJ, Huffman M, Subacius H et al (2013) Association between diabetes mellitus and post-discharge outcomes in patients hospitalized with heart failure: findings from the EVEREST trial. Eur J Heart Fail 15(2):194–202
- Schmid H, Jelkmann W (2016) Investigational therapies for renal disease-induced anemia. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 25(8):901–916
- Seferovic PM, Paulus WJ (2015) Clinical diabetic cardiomyopathy: a two-faced disease with restrictive and dilated phenotypes. Eur Heart J 36(27):1718–1727. 1727a-1727c
- Semenza GL, Agani F, Booth G, Forsythe J, Iyer N, Jiang BH et al (1997) Structural and functional analysis of hypoxia-inducible factor 1. Kidney Int 51(2):553–555
- Shlipak MG, Massie BM (2004) The clinical challenge of cardiorenal syndrome. Circulation 110 (12):1514–1517
- Silverberg DS, Wexler D, Blum M, Keren G, Sheps D, Leibovitch E et al (2000) The use of subcutaneous erythropoietin and intravenous iron for the treatment of the anemia of severe, resistant congestive heart failure improves cardiac and renal function and functional cardiac class, and markedly reduces hospitalizations. J Am Coll Cardiol 35(7):1737–1744
- Silverberg DS, Wexler D, Sheps D, Blum M, Keren G, Baruch R et al (2001) The effect of correction of mild anemia in severe, resistant congestive heart failure using subcutaneous erythropoietin and intravenous iron: a randomized controlled study. J Am Coll Cardiol 37 (7):1775–1780
- Sin DD, Fitzgerald F, Parker JD, Newton G, Floras JS, Bradley TD (1999) Risk factors for central and obstructive sleep apnea in 450 men and women with congestive heart failure. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160(4):1101–1106

- Smilde TD, Damman K, van der Harst P, Navis G, Westenbrink BD, Voors AA et al (2009) Differential associations between renal function and "modifiable" risk factors in patients with chronic heart failure. Clin Res Cardiol 98(2):121–129
- Swedberg K, Young JB, Anand IS, Cheng S, Desai AS, Diaz R et al (2013) Treatment of anemia with darbepoetin alfa in systolic heart failure. N Engl J Med 368(13):1210–1219
- Tang YD, Katz SD (2006) Anemia in chronic heart failure: prevalence, etiology, clinical correlates, and treatment options. Circulation 113(20):2454–2461
- Tang H, Fang Z, Wang T, Cui W, Zhai S, Song Y (2016) Meta-analysis of effects of sodiumglucose Cotransporter 2 inhibitors on cardiovascular outcomes and all-cause mortality among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Am J Cardiol 118(11):1774–1780
- Tenenbaum A, Motro M, Fisman EZ, Leor J, Freimark D, Boyko V et al (2003) Functional class in patients with heart failure is associated with the development of diabetes. Am J Med 114 (4):271–275
- van den Hurk K, Reijmer YD, van den Berg E, Alssema M, Nijpels G, Kostense PJ et al (2011) Heart failure and cognitive function in the general population: the Hoorn study. Eur J Heart Fail 13(12):1362–1369
- van der Meer P, Voors AA, Lipsic E, van Gilst WH, van Veldhuisen DJ (2004) Erythropoietin in cardiovascular diseases. Eur Heart J 25(4):285–291
- van der Meer P, Lipsic E, Westenbrink BD, van de Wal RM, Schoemaker RG, Vellenga E et al (2005) Levels of hematopoiesis inhibitor N-acetyl-seryl-aspartyl-lysyl-proline partially explain the occurrence of anemia in heart failure. Circulation 112(12):1743–1747
- van der Wal HH, Grote Beverborg N, van Veldhuisen DJ, Voors AA, van der Meer P (2016) Pharmacotherapy for comorbidities in chronic heart failure: a focus on hematinic deficiencies, diabetes mellitus and hyperkalemia. Expert Opin Pharmacother 17(11):1527–1538
- van Deursen VM, Urso R, Laroche C, Damman K, Dahlstrom U, Tavazzi L et al (2014) Co-morbidities in patients with heart failure: an analysis of the European heart failure pilot survey. Eur J Heart Fail 16(1):103–111
- van Maanen JP, de Vries N (2014) Long-term effectiveness and compliance of positional therapy with the sleep position trainer in the treatment of positional obstructive sleep apnea syndrome. Sleep 37(7):1209–1215
- van Veldhuisen DJ, Dickstein K, Cohen-Solal A, Lok DJ, Wasserman SM, Baker N et al (2007) Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the effect of two dosing regimens of darbepoetin alfa in patients with heart failure and anaemia. Eur Heart J 28 (18):2208–2216
- Van Veldhuisen DJ, Ponikowski P, Metra M (eds) (2016) Effect of ferric carboxymaltose on exercise capacity in patients with iron deficiency and chronic heart failure (EFFECT-HF): a randomized controlled study. American Heart Association 2016 Scientific Sessions; 16 Nov 2016; New Orleans
- Vogels RL, Scheltens P, Schroeder-Tanka JM, Weinstein HC (2007) Cognitive impairment in heart failure: a systematic review of the literature. Eur J Heart Fail 9(5):440–449
- Weir MR, Bakris GL, Bushinsky DA, Mayo MR, Garza D, Stasiv Y et al (2015) Patiromer in patients with kidney disease and hyperkalemia receiving RAAS inhibitors. N Engl J Med 372 (3):211–221
- Westenbrink BD, Visser FW, Voors AA, Smilde TD, Lipsic E, Navis G et al (2007) Anaemia in chronic heart failure is not only related to impaired renal perfusion and blunted erythropoietin production, but to fluid retention as well. Eur Heart J 28(2):166–171
- Westenbrink BD, Voors AA, de Boer RA, Schuringa JJ, Klinkenberg T, van der Harst P et al (2010) Bone marrow dysfunction in chronic heart failure patients. Eur J Heart Fail 12 (7):676–684
- White DP, Zwillich CW, Pickett CK, Douglas NJ, Findley LJ, Weil JV (1982) Central sleep apnea. Improvement with acetazolamide therapy. Arch Intern Med 142(10):1816–1819
- Work Group Membership (2012) Kidney Int Suppl (2011) 2(4):281

- Wouters EF (2005) Local and systemic inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Proc Am Thorac Soc 2(1):26–33
- Writing Committee Members, Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr et al (2013) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. Circulation 128(16):e240–e327
- Zhang XB, Yuan YT, Du YP, Jiang XT, Zeng HQ (2015) Efficacy of positive airway pressure on brain natriuretic peptide in patients with heart failure and sleep-disorder breathing: a metaanalysis of randomized controlled trials. Lung 193(2):255–260
- Zheng C, Azcutia V, Aikawa E, Figueiredo JL, Croce K, Sonoki H et al (2013) Statins suppress apolipoprotein CIII-induced vascular endothelial cell activation and monocyte adhesion. Eur Heart J 34(8):615–624
- Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S et al (2015) Empagliflozin, cardiovascular outcomes, and mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 373(22):2117–2128

Clinical Trial Design, Endpoints, and Regulatory Requirements

Giuseppe M.C. Rosano

Contents

1	Efficacy Criteria for Developing Agents for the Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure	70				
2	Primary Endpoints	70				
	2.1 Mortality	70				
3	Heart Failure Hospitalization	71				
4	Composite Endpoints and Recurrent Morbid Events					
5	Worsening Heart Failure Without Hospitalization					
6	Functional Capacity					
7	Hemodynamic Parameters	72				
	7.1 Biomarkers	72				
8	Patient-Reported Outcomes	72				
9	Assessments of Efficacy	73				
10	Survival	73				
11	Hospitalization for Heart Failure	73				
12	Worsening Heart Failure Without Hospitalization	74				
13	Composite Endpoints End Recurrent Morbid Events	74				
14	Assessment of Functional Status	75				
15	Hemodynamic Studies and Studies of Left Ventricular Function	75				
16	Quality of Life	76				
17	Pharmacodynamics/Pharmacokinetics	76				
18	Confirmatory Studies	76				
19	Safety	77				
20	Conclusion	77				
Ref	References					

G.M.C. Rosano (🖂)

Cardiovascular & Cell Sciences Institute, St George's Hospital Medical School, London, UK

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_75

Department of Medical Sciences, IRCCS San Raffaele Roma, Rome, Italy e-mail: giuseppe.rosano@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Abstract

A new therapeutic agent for heart failure can be approved if it improves survival and/or reduces hospitalisations or if it safely improves functional capacity. Therefore its clinical development program must demonstrate clinically relevant improvement in a robust clinical end point and adequate safety to justify regulatory approval and clinical use. Mortality and hospitalisations are now combined with new composite end points in order to improve trial efficiency and adequate assessment of efficacy of newer molecules, biologicals and cell therapies developed for the treatment of heart failure. Newer regulatory practices have been developed in the past few years and they will require design of innovative study designs able to demonstrate a sound clinical benefit alongside with adequate safety profile.

Keywords

Drug-therapy • Drug safety • Heart failure • Prognosis • Regulatory • Therapy

The value of a new therapeutic intervention is dependent upon its effect on mortality, morbidity, and functional capacity. A new therapy can be approved if it improves survival and/or reduce hospitalizations or if it safely improves functional capacity. Therefore, the clinical development program of new therapies must demonstrate clinically relevant improvement in a robust clinical end point to justify regulatory approval and clinical use. Traditional endpoints are now combined with new composite endpoints in order to improve trial efficiency and adequate assessment of efficacy of newer molecules, biologicals, and cell therapies developed for the treatment of heart failure (Anker et al. 2016; Schüssler-Lenz et al. 2016; Pani et al. 2015).

Heart failure encompasses heterogeneous groups of patients with a wide spectrum of symptoms, different causes, and different left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). Within this spectrum, patients may either have heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) or heart failure with a normal or relatively preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF, HFmrEF) (Ponikowski et al. 2015). The distinction between patients with HFrEF from those with HFpEF is important because they represent groups with different underlying pathophysiologic, hemodynamic, and neurohormonal abnormalities, distinctly different clinical characteristics, varying risks for adverse outcomes, and dissimilar efficacy of existing therapies. The identification of patients with HFmrEF is also important, but its real pathophysiological and prognostic relevance is not adequately known (ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines 2016).

Patients may also oscillate between periods of stability, where they are generally well managed as outpatients (i.e., chronic heart failure) and periods of decompensation requiring hospitalization [i.e., hospitalized heart failure (HFH)] (Greene et al. 2014; Butler et al. 2014; Gheorghiade et al. 2013). Available therapies for patients with chronic heart failure do not curb the high mortality and

rehospitalization rates following a hospital discharge for an episode of decompensation. The 90-day mortality of patients discharged after an acute episode of heart failure is approximately 10–15% and reaches 20–35% at 1 year. Clinical trials for the development of new therapeutic agents traditionally include patients who have just been hospitalized (within few days or hours) for heart failure or patients that have been stable for at least few months. Patients who are still hospitalized and waiting for discharge and those who have just been discharged from hospital are not included in clinical trials. Therefore, there is the need to adequately define HFH patients in order to allow their inclusion in heart failure trials.

HFH is frequently included as a co-primary endpoint or as part of a composite primary endpoint in heart failure trials. Despite the clinical relevance of HFH, its use as an endpoint in heart failure trials is controversial since the decision to hospitalize and the threshold for hospitalization are variable across regions of the world and may affect the interpretability and applicability of study results in different regions. Local standards of care (such as length of stay or availability of out-of-hospital treatment resources) may differ substantially by country. Although there is a relatively robust consensus on using heart failure hospitalization as an endpoint in heart failure trials, there is a need to better define this endpoint and to harmonize the definitions for related endpoints. Repeat hospitalizations are a common occurrence in patients with heart failure, but, despite their importance, repeated events are ignored in the majority of clinical trials and "time to first event" analyses are usually preferred. Accounting for repeated events may increase statistical power with smaller sample sizes and better characterize and quantify the occurrence of morbid events throughout the follow-up period particularly in scenarios where mortality is low.

In the past decades, despite promising results of phase II clinical trials based on surrogate endpoints in patients with heart failure, most drugs tested have failed to show efficacy or have even shown detrimental effect on long-term outcomes (Vaduganathan et al. 2013; Zannad et al. 2013). Therefore, in surrogate endpoints, there is a need to identify endpoints that may represent an adequate surrogate for cardiovascular mortality and HFH. Endpoints that may reflect manifestations of disease pathophysiology (e.g., biomarkers or parameters for remodeling) are often applied in earlier phases of drug development. Available biomarkers and changes in left ventricular remodeling, although associated with prognostic benefit, have not been shown to predict the clinical efficacy of drug therapies in heart failure. In the past, significant effects on surrogate endpoints have been associated with unfavorable outcome, and for this reason, there has been the need to request mortality data for approvability of new therapeutic agents for the treatment of heart failure. However, a mortality study in chronic heart failure is time consuming and may significantly delay the approval of effective therapies. Therefore, if a new agent shows a sizeable effect on a relevant clinical trial, this has to be associated with a favorable prognostic trend and absence of safety warning signals in order to obtain to an early approvability.

1 Efficacy Criteria for Developing Agents for the Treatment of Chronic Heart Failure

The primary aims of new agents developed for the treatment of chronic heart failure are to improve survival and prevent hospitalizations. However, functional capacity is also of importance in the treatment of patients with heart failure, but the approval based on these endpoints must take into account that in the past, some treatments effective in improving exercise capacity have also increased mortality.

Efficacy endpoints must be clinically relevant and should be divided into three groups according to their hierarchical relevance. Endpoints of the first group may represent per se a primary endpoint, endpoints of the second group can be used as primary endpoints only if group 1 endpoints are concurrently used as a safety measure in the development program, and endpoints of the third group can be used only as supportive evidence.

Group 1: all-cause mortality, cardiovascular mortality, hospitalization for heart failure, and recurrent morbid events (HFH, worsening heart failure without hospitalization, hospitalization for cardiac causes, cardiovascular mortality)

Group 2: functional capacity

Group 3: hemodynamic changes (e.g., LVEF, left ventricular remodeling), biomarkers, symptoms, and quality of life

Since the effects on functional capacity do not always correlate with prognosis, positive effects on these surrogate endpoints must be supported by favorable effects on mortality and morbidity before or after an initial approval. A positive trend toward a reduction in mortality along with a sound positive clinical effect should be demonstrated.

2 Primary Endpoints

Primary endpoints of studies in patients with chronic heart failure should include all-cause mortality, hospitalization for heart failure and/or the clinical composite endpoint of cardiovascular mortality, hospitalization for heart failure, worsening heart failure without hospitalization, and hospitalization for cardiac causes.

2.1 Mortality

Some drug classes (ACE inhibitors, beta-blockers, mineralocorticoid antagonists, the drugs are If-channel blockers, NEP inhibitors) have shown to improve mortality in patients with chronic heart failure, while other drug classes have increased mortality despite a positive effect on surrogate endpoints (e.g., flosequinan, ibopamine). Therefore, many drugs will require at least a demonstration of a trend toward a mortality benefit. Specifically, if the new investigational agent

belongs to a class that has been shown to be associated with detrimental effects on survival, an adequately designed randomized controlled survival study must be performed.

3 Heart Failure Hospitalization

Hospitalization for heart failure can be included as a co-primary endpoint, as part of a composite primary endpoint or as a secondary endpoint in clinical trials in patients with heart failure. The threshold for hospitalization is highly variable across (and within) regions of the world, and this may affect the interpretability and applicability of study results. Furthermore, since patients with heart failure may be often hospitalized for reasons unrelated to heart failure, objective evidence of cardiovascular decompensation as cause of hospitalization should always be provided. In this case a central adjudication of the events may be necessary.

4 Composite Endpoints and Recurrent Morbid Events

Prespecified composite endpoints may be appropriate for the prognostic assessment of an agent developed for the treatment of heart failure. Primary composite endpoints must include mortality and hospitalization for heart failure and for cardiovascular causes. It may be appropriate to include in the composite endpoint aspects of functional status and validated patient-related outcomes. However, these latter two endpoints must be adequately weighted against mortality and morbidity, and appropriate scientific advice should be sought before trial initiation. Composite endpoints that include mortality and repeat hospitalizations have been used as primary composite endpoints in several studies assessing the effect of new treatments in heart failure.

Most often repeat events are ignored in the majority of studies while their assessment may be useful in shortening and simplifying the studies, especially when low event rates are expected. Several methodologies have been suggested for the assessment of recurrent events in clinical trials. However, the preference of one over the other should be assessed case by case according to the population under study and to the expected mortality and morbidity.

5 Worsening Heart Failure Without Hospitalization

Patients are often managed for worsening heart failure in outpatient settings (e.g., emergency departments, observation units, other outpatient settings). The capture of events of worsening heart failure is warranted since the presence of non-hospitalization events indicates a high-risk population. However, strict criteria should be used to define these events, and clear evidence of decompensation should be obtained. Furthermore, these events should be always centrally adjudicated.

6 Functional Capacity

Exercise capacity is a reliable marker of functional status, and it is a more reliable endpoint than subjective assessment of clinical status. Measurement of maximal oxygen consumption during bicycle or treadmill exercise (MVO2) and supervised 6-minute walking test (6MWT) are both reliable methods for the assessment of functional capacity. However, limitations exist in the applicability of MVO2 tests because of patient adherence (e.g., inability to ride a bicycle, intolerance to the mouthpiece, etc.). The 6MWT correlates better with the effect of the pharmacological agent on daily clinical symptoms and functional capacity (Fishbein et al. 2014). Repeated measurements of exercise capacity throughout a study enable a better repeatability of the results. In frail patients other measures of functional capacity like handgrip test or short physical performance battery (SPPB) may be appropriate.

7 Hemodynamic Parameters

Hemodynamic parameters are not adequate to demonstrate benefit of a new therapeutic agent, but changes in hemodynamic parameters are useful to elucidate the mode of action of a therapeutic agent and should be demonstrated during the clinical development program. A correlation between hemodynamic parameters and clinical and functional status must be shown with the therapeutic agent if the approval is to be granted on the basis of an effect on functional parameters.

7.1 Biomarkers

Apart from heart rate, no biomarker has been shown to be a reliable surrogate for clinical outcomes in patients with heart failure. To this end biomarkers other than heart rate (only for drugs with a specific direct effect on it) cannot be considered as primary endpoints in clinical trials in heart failure. Biomarker data can be used together with hemodynamic data to elucidate the mechanism of action of a new therapeutic agent.

8 Patient-Reported Outcomes

Patient-reported outcomes (PROs) may be used as secondary endpoints in heart failure studies. Any study showing a clinically meaningful effect on PROs must show a trend toward a beneficial effect of the investigational agent on mortality/ morbidity. However, in patients with advanced disease where there is a need for palliative care (end-stage HF, HF cachexia), PROs may be relevant endpoints.

9 Assessments of Efficacy

Some methods available for studying patients with heart failure when investigating the efficacy and the safety of new therapeutic interventions are subject to placebo effects, and therefore the imputable placebo effect should always be assessed in comparative studies.

10 Survival

Although overall mortality should be the preferred mortality endpoint in chronic heart failure studies, both total death and cause-specific death must be quantified. Since non-cardiovascular death is increasing among patients with heart failure, the assessment of cardiovascular death may represent an adequate endpoint if the therapeutic effect on overall mortality is at least neutral. Therefore, it is of importance to demonstrate a directionally similar effect on overall and cardiovascular mortality. Excess in non-cardiovascular mortality could be acceptable if the overall mortality is reduced or unchanged.

Regarding cardiac mortality, it is important to define the mode of cardiac death occurring in the studies, and, therefore, efforts should be made in order to define the specific mode of cardiac death. A central adjudication of the causes of death may be warranted (Seltzer et al. 2015).

The effect of a new pharmacological agent for the treatment of heart failure on mortality can only be assessed definitively in the context of a randomized placeboor treatment-controlled trial in an adequately large number of patients. Survival studies using positive control drug(s) may be acceptable but should be limited to drugs that have consistently shown efficacy on survival.

In all trials the analysis should be conducted according to the "intention-to-treat" principle. Therefore, all patients must be followed up for the whole study duration. Analyses should also consider data gathered during the run-in as well as during the dose-titration periods. This is important also to assess the external validity of the study.

11 Hospitalization for Heart Failure

Evidence of hospitalization for worsening heart failure severe enough to require a therapeutic intervention may be used as endpoint for efficacy. It is well known that a sizeable proportion of hospitalizations labeled as due to heart failure are instead elated to other comorbid causes. Therefore, when assessing hospitalizations for heart failure, it is important to define what is required for a hospitalization to be labeled as due to heart failure. These hospitalizations should be centrally adjudicated.

Hospitalization for heart failure can be defined by the one associated with signs and symptoms of deteriorating clinical conditions along with increased plasma levels of BNP/proBNP and the need for acute treatments for heart failure (e.g., increase in diuretic dose, intravenous diuretics, or intravenous vasodilators/ inotropes). The use of the increase in the need for treatments for heart failure may be not appropriate to define worsening heart failure when therapies with hemodynamic effects are not tested against an appropriate comparator.

12 Worsening Heart Failure Without Hospitalization

Moderate worsening heart failure is often managed in outpatient settings (e.g., emergency departments, observation units, other outpatient settings). In order to define an episode of decompensation as related to worsening heart failure in the outpatient settings, it is required to demonstrate a cardiac cause for the worsening of symptoms. Therefore a chest X-ray along with elevated BNP/proBNP levels and the need of a treatment component to define the event (e.g., the use of intravenous therapies or augmentation of existing therapies) are required (Collins et al. 2013).

13 Composite Endpoints End Recurrent Morbid Events

Mortality, either overall or cardiovascular, can be combined with heart failure hospitalizations in a composite primary endpoint. When cardiovascular mortality is used in the primary endpoint, overall mortality should be assessed as a secondary safety endpoint.

Furthermore, composite hierarchical endpoints can be applied to heart failure studies providing that mortality (overall and cardiovascular) and hospitalizations for heart failure are, respectively, the first two hierarchical endpoints. These endpoints may be followed in order of relevance by measures of functional status (6MWT, MVO2), left ventricular remodeling, and PROs.

Recurrent morbid events are becoming a popular and acceptable endpoint in heart failure trials. They should be assessed with appropriate statistical methods. Usually hospitalizations for heart failure represent the recurrent event to include in the analysis alongside the terminal event. Time-to-recurrent HF-related hospitalizations may therefore be adjusted for correlated terminal CV events (all-cause death, heart transplant, etc.).

The analysis of recurrent events can be performed after study patients have been observed for an adequate follow-up or when an adequate number of adjudicated events have occurred (counting multiple events per subject).

Different statistical methods can be applied to assess recurrent morbid events, among these the marginal approach by joint parametric modeling of repeated in-patient episodes (via a Poisson model) and survival time or by a nonparametric penalized likelihood method for estimating hazard functions.

The "joint frailty method," "days alive and out of hospital," and the "patient journeys" are adequate methods to assess recurrent morbid events. The preference

of one method over the other should be assessed according to the study patients and to the expected rate of deaths and hospitalizations.

14 Assessment of Functional Status

Exercise testing allows objective evaluation of functional capacity and exertional symptoms, such as dyspnea and fatigue in patients with heart failure. Exercise testing should be performed using appropriate protocols specifically designed for the functional assessment of patients with cardiac failure.

Submaximal protocols should specify a priori the reasons for termination of the tests. Naïve patients to exercise protocols (bicycle, treadmill, measurement oxygen consumption) should first be made familiar with the technique before they are included in the trial. In case the familiarization tests are performed in the run-in phase of the study, the variability in exercise capacity between repeated tests should be <5%. Repeated baseline and repeated follow-up testing may reduce variability of the results and increase statistical power.

Because of the variability in the execution and settings of the 6MWT, multicenter studies must use standardized length corridors with appropriate markings for the execution of the test. The test should be supervised by a physical therapist, patients should be asked to walk on their own, and no phrases of encouragement should be told. Patients may be allowed to stop walking if signs or symptoms of significant distress occur during the test, and they should be instructed to resume walking as soon as possible.

15 Hemodynamic Studies and Studies of Left Ventricular Function

Hemodynamic data are valuable in defining dose-response relationships; the value of these measures in evaluating the efficacy of the drug in patients with cardiac failure during long-term treatment is very limited. Therefore, hemodynamic data that may include ventricular dimensions, ejection fraction, and indices of systolic and diastolic functions (e.g., LVedp) should be regarded as supportive only.

The use of these newer techniques used to study the hemodynamic effect of a new agent in heart failure must be validated and justified.

Noninvasive techniques that show inter-operator variability should take into account this variability in the statistical planning. Although centralized readings are usually used in order to reduce the interobserver variability, they add significant costs and most often hamper significantly the recruitment rates.

16 Quality of Life

Almost all the components of the life quality may be influenced by an intervention for heart failure. Various quality-of-life questionnaires are used in practice for the assessment of patients with chronic heart failure. Questionnaires must be fully validated in all the languages of the countries where they are applied in order to be used in a multicenter clinical trial. Evidence of efficacy derived from quality-oflife questionnaires can be used only as supportive evidence of efficacy.

17 Pharmacodynamics/Pharmacokinetics

Pharmacokinetic of new compounds should be adequately assessed before proceeding to phase II studies. Pharmacodynamic studies should assess tolerability and duration of the effect and the action of the new agent on hemodynamic parameters (e.g., stroke volume, PCWP), heart rate, neurohormonal parameters (e.g., sympathetic nervous system), and renal function. Studies on the effect on impulse formation, its conduction, and on the effect of the agent on repolarisation (i.e., QT/QTc intervals) and cardiac rhythm should be performed. If the new agent has a significant effect on cardiac electrophysiology, the potential for pro-arrhythmic effect should be investigated.

Several dosages should be tested, and it would be preferable to select more than one dosage to be tested in confirmatory clinical trials. In phase II studies, patients with degrees of heart failure ranging from mild to severe must be studied.

18 Confirmatory Studies

These studies should be randomized and double blind. If an appropriate blinding of the study cannot be guaranteed, a PROBE design can be accepted. A run-in period of appropriate duration to verify the clinical stability is recommended. A control group on placebo is preferable if it is ethically feasible. When the new agent is proposed as an add-on treatment to an existing therapy, a placebo group is mandatory. Pretrial registries can be appropriate to adequately select sites with adequate patient volumes and quality of care (Harinstein et al. 2015; Pelliccia and Rosano 2015).

Although in principle, one large well-controlled trial of adequate statistical power and unequivocal results may be sufficient to confirm the efficacy of a new drug in practice; this is difficult to achieve in order to demonstrate an adequate external validity. Therefore, for drugs to be developed for the treatment of chronic cardiac failure, it is preferable to plan at least two trials to demonstrate either the superiority of the new agent over a placebo/active comparator or the undeniable equivalence of the new agent to an active comparator. In this case the non-inferiority margins to the active comparator and the imputable placebo effect should be clearly defined.

19 Safety

Patients with chronic heart failure require lifelong treatments. Therefore, the effect of the new agent on adverse effects and drug-to-drug interactions should always be investigated.

Potential adverse effects that are dependent upon the pharmacodynamics mode of action of the drug should be investigated. In general attention should be paid to cardiac rhythm, pro-ischemic effects, hypotension, bradycardia, renal function, and electrolyte homeostasis.

20 Conclusion

Newer regulatory practices will require design of innovative study designs (Rosano et al. 2015). However, the clinical studies to be conducted for the approval of new agents in the treatment of heart failure should show a sound clinical benefit alongside with adequate safety profile. For this reason all intervention studies conducted in heart failure should be reported and published (Capuano et al. 2015).

References

- Anker SD, Schroeder S, Atar D, Bax JJ, Ceconi C, Cowie MR, Crisp A, Dominjon F, Ford I, Ghofrani HA, Gropper S, Hindricks G, Hlatky MA, Holcomb R, Honarpour N, Jukema JW, Kim AM, Kunz M, Lefkowitz M, le Floch C, Landmesser U, McDonagh TA, McMurray JJ, Merkely B, Packer M, Prasad K, Revkin J, Rosano GM, Somaratne R, Stough WG, Voors AA, Ruschitzka F (2016) Traditional and new composite endpoints in heart failure clinical trials: facilitating comprehensive efficacy assessments and improving trial efficiency. Eur J Heart Fail 18(5):482–489
- Butler J, Fonarow GC, Zile MR, Lam CS, Roessig L, Schelbert EB, Shah SJ, Ahmed A, Bonow RO, Cleland JG, Cody RJ, Chioncel O, Collins SP, Dunnmon P, Filippatos G, Lefkowitz MP, Marti CN, McMurray JJ, Misselwitz F, Nodari S, O'Connor C, Pfeffer MA, Pieske B, Pitt B, Rosano G, Sabbah HN, Senni M, Solomon SD, Stockbridge N, Teerlink JR, Georgiopoulou VV, Gheorghiade M (2014) Developing therapies for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: current state and future directions. JACC Heart Fail 2(2):97–112
- Capuano A, Coats AJ, Scavone C, Rossi F, Rosano GM (2015) Disclosure of negative trial results. A call for action. Int J Cardiol 198:47–48
- Collins SP, Pang PS, Fonarow GC, Yancy CW, Bonow RO, Gheorghiade M (2013) Is hospital admission for heart failure really necessary?: the role of the emergency department and observation unit in preventing Hospitalization and reHospitalization. J Am Coll Cardiol 61:121–126
- ESC Committee for Practice Guidelines (2016) ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2016: The task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2016 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail 18(8):891–975
- Fishbein DP, Hellkamp AS, Mark DB et al (2014) Use of the 6-min walk distance to identify variations in treatment benefits from implantable cardioverter-defibrillator and amiodarone: results from the SCD-HeFT (Sudden Cardiac Death in Heart Failure trial). J Am Coll Cardiol 63:2560–2568

- Gheorghiade M, Shah AN, Vaduganathan M, Butler J, Bonow RO, Rosano GM, Taylor S, Kupfer S, Misselwitz F, Sharma A, Fonarow GC (2013) Recognizing hospitalized heart failure as an entity and developing new therapies to improve outcomes: academics', clinicians', industry's, regulators', and payers' perspectives. Heart Fail Clin 9(3):285–290. doi:10.1016/ j.hfc.2013.05.002, v-vi
- Greene SJ, Shah AN, Butler J, Ambrosy AP, Anker SD, Chioncel O, Collins SP, Dinh W, Dunnmon PM, Fonarow GC, Lam CS, Mentz RJ, Pieske B, Roessig L, Rosano GM, Sato N, Vaduganathan M, Gheorghiade M (2014) Designing effective drug and device development programs for hospitalized heart failure: a proposal for pretrial registries. Am Heart J 168 (2):142–149
- Harinstein ME, Butler J, Greene SJ, Fonarow GC, Stockbridge NL, O'Connor CM, Pfeffer MA, Mehra MR, Solomon SD, Yancy CW, Fiuzat M, Mentz RJ, Collins SP, McMurray JJ, Vaduganathan M, Dunnmon PM, Rosano GM, Dinh W, Misselwitz F, Bonow RO, Gheorghiade M (2015) Site selection for heart failure clinical trials in the USA. Heart Fail Rev 20(4):375–383
- Pani L, Pecorelli S, Rosano G, Anker SD, Peracino A, Fregonese L, Prasad K, Rasi G (2015) Steps forward in regulatory pathways for acute and chronic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 17(1):3–8
- Pelliccia F, Rosano GM (2015) Back to the future: the crucial role of clinical registries in the era of randomized controlled trials for identifying the optimal medical therapy of heart failure. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother 1(1):37–38
- Ponikowski P, van Veldhuisen DJ, Comin-Colet J, Ertl G, Komajda M, Mareev V, McDonagh T, Parkhomenko A, Tavazzi L, Levesque V, Mori C, Roubert B, Filippatos G, Ruschitzka F, Anker SD (2015) Beneficial effects of long-term intravenous iron therapy with ferric carboxymaltose in patients with symptomatic heart failure and iron deficiency. Eur Heart J 36(11):657–668. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu385
- Rosano GM, Anker SD, Marrocco W, Coats AJ (2015) Adaptive licensing a way forward in the approval process of new therapeutic agents in Europe. Int J Cardiol 184:568–569
- Schüssler-Lenz M, Beuneu C, Menezes-Ferreira M, Jekerle V, Bartunek J, Chamuleau S, Celis P, Doevendans P, O'Donovan M, Hill J, Hystad M, Jovinge S, Kyselovič J, Lipnik-Stangelj M, Maciulaitis R, Prasad K, Samuel A, Tenhunen O, Tonn T, Rosano G, Zeiher A, Salmikangas P (2016) Cell-based therapies for cardiac repair: a meeting report on scientific observations and European regulatory viewpoints. Eur J Heart Fail 18(2):133–141
- Seltzer JH, Turner JR, Geiger MJ, Rosano G, Mahaffey KW, White WB, Sabol MB, Stockbridge N, Sager PT (2015) Centralized adjudication of cardiovascular endpoints in cardiovascular and noncardiovascular pharmacologic trials: a report from the Cardiac Safety Research Consortium. Am Heart J 169(2):197–204
- Vaduganathan M, Greene SJ, Ambrosy AP, Gheorghiade M, Butler J (2013) The disconnect between phase II and phase III trials of drugs for heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol 10:85–97
- Zannad F, Garcia AA, Anker SD, Armstrong PW, Calvo G, Cleland JG, Cohn JN, Dickstein K, Domanski MJ, Ekman I, Filippatos GS, Gheorghiade M, Hernandez AF, Jaarsma T, Koglin J, Konstam M, Kupfer S, Maggioni AP, Mebazaa A, Metra M, Nowack C, Pieske B, Piña IL, Pocock SJ, Ponikowski P, Rosano G, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Severin T, Solomon S, Stein K, Stockbridge NL, Stough WG, Swedberg K, Tavazzi L, Voors AA, Wasserman SM, Woehrle H, Zalewski A, McMurray JJ (2013) Clinical outcome endpoints in heart failure trials: a European Society of Cardiology Heart Failure Association consensus document. Eur J Heart Fail 15(10):1082–1094

Biomarkers of Heart Failure with Preserved and Reduced Ejection Fraction

Michele Senni, Emilia D'Elia, Michele Emdin, and Giuseppe Vergaro

Contents

1	Introduction 80							
2	narkers of Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction	82						
	2.1	B-type Natriuretic Peptides in Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction						
		(HFrEF): Standing on the Shoulders of Giants	82					
	2.2	B-type Natriuretic Peptide-Guided Therapy	83					
	2.3	Back to the de Bold's "Atrial Natriuretic Factor": MR-proANP	85					
	2.4	Cardiac Troponins	85					
	2.5	Candidate Biomarkers of HFrEF	86					
3	Bion	narkers of Heart Failure with Mid-Range and Preserved Ejection Fraction	93					
	3.1	Natriuretic Peptides	94					
	3.2	Other Biomarkers in HFpEF	95					
4	Conc	clusions	97					
Re	References 98							

Abstract

Biomarkers are increasingly being used in the management of heart failure not only for the purpose of screening, diagnosis, and risk stratification, but also as a guide to evaluate the response to treatment in the individual patient and as an

M. Senni (🖂)

E. D'Elia

CardioVascular Department, Ospedale Papa Giovanni XXIII Hospital, Bergamo, Italy

M. Emdin • G. Vergaro Life Science Institute, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Pisa, Italy

Fondazione Toscana G. Monasterio, Pisa, Italy

Department of Cardiology, Heart Failure and Heart Transplant Unit, Azienda Ospedaliera Papa Giovanni XXIII, Bergamo, Italy

CardioVascular Department, Ospedale Papa Giovanni XXIII Hospital, Bergamo, Italy e-mail: msenni@hpg23.it

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_86

entry criterion and/or a surrogate marker of efficacy in clinical trials testing novel drugs. In this chapter, we review the role of established biomarkers for heart failure management, according to the main classification of HF phenotypes, based on the measurement of left ventricular ejection fraction, including heart failure with reduced (<40%), preserved (\geq 50%), and, as recently proposed, mid-range (40-49%) ejection fraction.

Keywords

Biomarkers • Diagnosis • Heart failure management • Prognosis • Screening

1 Introduction

Early diagnostic and therapeutic interventions counteracting pathophysiological mechanisms of heart failure (HF) progression, such as drugs inhibiting the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) and adrenergic system activation, as well as device implantation in selected patients positively influence its clinical course, impacting on the arrhythmic burden and hemodynamics. Notwithstanding, outcome is still characterized by a high morbidity and mortality. Interest is therefore growing in the optimization of HF management and in the identification and validation of novel therapeutical tools. With these premises, research has focused on the use of biomarkers not only for the purpose of screening, diagnosis, and risk stratification, but also as a guide to the assessment of response to treatment in the individual patient, and finally as an entry criterion and/or a surrogate marker of efficacy in clinical trials testing novel drugs (Braunwald 2008; Braunwald 2013; Emdin et al. 2009).

In 2001, a National Institute of Health working group defined a biomarker as "a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacologic responses to a therapeutic intervention" and identified different classes of biomarkers according to their role and potential utility in disease management. In particular, biomarkers were classified as antecedent biomarkers (i.e., those identifying the risk of developing a disease), screening biomarkers (those able to screen for subclinical disease), diagnostic biomarkers (recognizing clinically overt disease), staging biomarkers (those reflecting disease severity), or prognostic biomarkers (predicting the future course of the disease and response to pharmacological and non-pharmacological approaches) (Biomarkers Definitions Working Group 2001; Vasan 2006).

A number of biomarkers have been proposed for HF management purposes in the last years; nonetheless only a very few of them (namely B-type natriuretic peptides) are routinely used in current clinical practice. Indeed, several characteristics are requested for a circulating biomarker to be of real clinical value, related to (pre)analytical, biological, feasibility, and cost-effectiveness issues. In particular, the *ideal* biomarker for HF management should reflect the cardiovascular response to a specific pathogenic *noxa*; provide early information on

Drug class	BNP	NT-proBNP	PRC	PRA	Ang I	Ang II	Aldosterone	Gal-3	sST2	CRP	GDF-15
Beta- blockers	1 > ↓	1 > ↓	Ŧ	1	Ļ	1	1	=	Ţ	Ţ	↓ ?
ACEi	Ļ	₽	1	1	1	ł	↓/↑	=	Ţ	Ţ	↓ ?
ARB	Ļ	Ť	1	1	1	1	↓/↑	=	↓/=	t	=
MRA	↓	Ŧ	?	1	?	1	↓/↑	=	?	=	=?
DRI	↓	Ŧ	1	Ŧ	↓	1	↓/=	?	?	?	?
ARNI	1	Ţ	1	1	?	1	Ŧ	=	=	=	?

Table 1 Effects of currently recommended and previously proposed drugs for heart failure treatment on circulating levels of biomarkers

Ang angiotensin, ACEi Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, ARB angiotensin receptor blockers, ARNI angiotensin receptor/neprilysin, BNP brain natriuretic peptide, CRP C-reactive protein, DRI direct renin inhibitor, Gal-3 galectin-3, GDF-15 growth differentiation factor 15, MRA mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists, NT-proBNP amino-terminal fragment of proBNP, PRA plasma renin activity, PRC Plasma renin concentration, sST2 soluble suppression of tumorigenicity protein 2

cardiac involvement in preclinical stages (screening in HF stages A-B) and/or guide HF diagnosis when cardiac origin of symptoms is doubtful (HF stage C); be influenced by clinical modification in the disease history; and stratify patients' risk and help in therapeutic decision making (Table 1). Still, novel biomarkers are clearly required to improve risk prediction already offered by existing models, with the mere demonstration of a statistically significant association with a prespecified end-point not being enough (Pencina et al. 2008). Further to c-statistic and receiveroperating-characteristic curve (AUC) measure (Pencina et al. 2010), providing estimate of the discriminative ability of the model (i.e., the capacity to separate subject developing/not developing the outcome), and measures of calibration (indicating how close are predicted and observed risks in different groups of observations, e.g., by means of the Hosmer-Lemeshow test) and of reclassification (indicating the ability of the model to reclassify individuals into a different risk category, e.g., by calculating the net reclassification improvement, NRI) are required to adequately assess the clinical utility of novel biomarkers (McGeechan et al. 2008; Parikh and Vasan 2007).

In this chapter, current evidences on the role of established and candidate biomarkers for HF management are discussed, according to the main classification of HF phenotypes, based on the measurement of left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), including HF with reduced EF (HFrEF, LVEF <40%), HF with preserved EF (HFpEF, LVEF \geq 50%), and the recently proposed category HF with mid-range EF (HFmrEF, LVEF 40–49%) (Ponikowski et al. 2016).

2 Biomarkers of Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction

2.1 B-type Natriuretic Peptides in Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF): Standing on the Shoulders of Giants

Human brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) and the amino-terminal fragment of proBNP (NT-proBNP) are produced in equimolar fashion from the cleavage of their 108-amino acid precursor proBNP by proprotein convertases, such as corin and furin. The biologically active BNP is rapidly degraded *in vivo* by several peptidases, such as dipeptidyl peptidase IV and neutral endopeptidases (NEP, neprilysin) (Clerico and Emdin 2004; Pankow et al. 2007; Vanderheyden et al. 2009). BNP, together with NT-proBNP, is mainly product of ventricular myocytes in response to increased myocardial wall stress due to volume or pressure overload states and plays a major role in HF pathophysiology, given its diuretic, natriuretic, vasodilator, and anti-hypertrophic properties (Motiwala and Januzzi 2013).

Since the beginning of the twenty-first century, several studies have accumulated showing the clinical utility of B-type natriuretic peptide testing, supporting the use of a circulating biomarker to diagnose and assess severity of HF (Januzzi et al. 2005; Maisel et al. 2002; Troughton et al. 2000). At present, BNP and NT-proBNP are routinely used for HF management in a large variety of clinical settings. Strong evidence exists supporting the use of natriuretic peptide testing to diagnose (and rule out) HF in patients presenting with dyspnea. The Breathing Not Properly and the ProBNP Investigation of Dyspnea (PRIDE) trials have shown that BNP and NT-proBNP, respectively, can diagnose HF in patients admitted to the emergency department for breathlessness, with a high accuracy and a significant negative predictive value for levels of BNP <100 ng/L (Januzzi et al. 2005; Maisel et al. 2002). Although with lower cut points, the diagnostic value of natriuretic peptides has been confirmed in ambulatory settings (Wright et al. 2003). Moreover, in a cohort of around 800 patients with chronic HF, they have been shown to be associated with the presence of LV systolic dysfunction (defined as LVEF <40%) with an AUC of 0.803 (95% CI 0.757-0.849) and 0.730 (0.681-0.778) for BNP and NT-proBNP, respectively (Moertl et al. 2009). In stable patients with HFrEF, BNP circulating levels reflect disease severity, and increase with worsening symptoms (NYHA class) (Emdin et al. 2004). The assay of natriuretic peptides is currently recommended for diagnostic purposes by all major scientific societies, including the American College of Cardiology, the American Heart Association, the Heart Failure Society of America, and the European Society of Cardiology (Lindenfeld et al. 2010; Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2013); however, no single diagnostic cutoff exists and natriuretic peptide levels often fall into a "grey zone." Further, both BNP and NT-proBNP are influenced by gender, age, and comorbidities (in particular by renal function); therefore their interpretation must take into account the overall clinical assessment (Passino et al. 2008; van Kimmenade et al. 2008).

In adjunct to diagnostic properties, there is overwhelming evidence that natriuretic peptides hold prognostic value in HFrEF in both acute and chronic settings over other clinical factors. In >19,000 patients with HFrEF form the ADHERE (Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry), admission BNP levels were near-linearly associated with in-hospital mortality, independently from other major clinical and laboratory risk factors (Fonarow et al. 2007). In a systematic review of studies performed in different clinical settings, Doust and colleagues have demonstrated that each 100 ng/L increase in BNP is associated with a relative 35% increase in risk (Doust et al. 2005). NT-proBNP predicts as well both short- and long-term prognosis after hospitalization for acute HF, with values >986 ng/L predicting 1-year death (Januzzi et al. 2006a, b). Although most studies have investigated the prognostic role of admission natriuretic peptide levels, there is evidence that discharge BNP and NT-proBNP, and their change during hospitalization, also predict outcome of patients with HFrEF. Data from the Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF) show that the addition of discharge BNP to a clinical model significantly improved risk classification for 1-year mortality with an NRI of 5.5% (Kociol et al. 2011), thus suggesting that serial natriuretic peptide testing may be useful in predischarge clinical decision making (Januzzi et al. 2012). A post hoc analyses of the Valsartan Heart Failure Trial (Val-HeFT), enrolling patients with chronic symptomatic HF with LVEF <40% and LV diameter in diastole adjusted for body surface area >2.9 cm/m², demonstrated that BNP and NT-proBNP similarly predicted all-cause mortality, while NT-proBNP outperformed BNP for the prediction of mortality and morbidity or hospitalization for HF (Masson et al. 2006). Moreover, experience from the Val-HeFT indicates that changes over time in natriuretic peptides, too, hold a prognostic value in stable HF, envisaging a role for serial BNP and NT-proBNP testing in patient monitoring and in the evaluation of response to therapeutical strategies (Masson et al. 2008; Richards 2008).

2.2 B-type Natriuretic Peptide-Guided Therapy

Circulating levels of B-type natriuretic peptides are influenced by most of the pharmacological and non-pharmacological therapeutical approaches in acute, acutely decompensated, and chronic HF. Indeed, in the acute setting, treatment with furosemide and the inodilator levosimendan decreases BNP (Cohen-Solal et al. 2009; Farmakis et al. 2010; Palazzuoli et al. 2014). Moreover, a reduction >30% from baseline values following levosimendan administration has been associated with an improvement in either short- (31 days) or long-term (180 days) mortality (Cohen-Solal et al. 2009). Other therapeutic strategies acting on hemodynamics and cardiac remodeling have been demonstrated to elicit similar effects on natriuretic peptides in stable HFrEF, including angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (Rosenberg et al. 2008), angiotensin-receptor blockers (Anand et al. 2003), mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (Berry et al. 2007), and, at a lower extent, β -blockers, whose initiation may also cause a transient increase in

BNP and NT-proBNP, which subsequently decrease (Davis et al. 2006; Rosenberg et al. 2008). Evidence for a beneficial effect on natriuretic peptides also exists for other non-pharmacological tools, such as aerobic training and cardiac resynchronization therapy (Fruhwald et al. 2007; Passino et al. 2006). More recently, the first-in-class neprilysin/angiotensin receptor inhibitor sacubitril valsartan (LCZ696) has been proved effective in reducing the risks of death and of hospitalization in patients with HFrEF compared to enalapril in the PARADIGM-HF trial (McMurray et al. 2014). Such beneficial effects are possibly due, at least in part, to the inhibition of BNP degradation exerted by sacubitril, while its precursor and NT-proBNP are virtually resistant to degradation (Semenov and Katrukha 2016), as also supported by the observation that after LCZ696 initiation, circulating levels of NT-proBNP decrease, while BNP slightly increases (Packer et al. 2015). It has been therefore questioned that assessing the clinical significance of BNP in the era of LCZ696 may be challenging and that NT-proBNP may be preferred over BNP for biochemical monitoring of patients with HF, in order to assess its effectiveness on hemodynamic status (Lippi and Sanchis-Gomar 2016).

As discussed before, natriuretic peptides perform well for diagnostic and prognostic purposes and are associated with disease severity and, importantly, their circulating levels change in response to evidence-based therapies for HF. Based on these premises, several studies have tested the (cost)effectiveness of strategies of treatment titration guided by natriuretic peptide circulating levels, the so-called biomarker-guided therapy. In the BATTLESCARED, the first of these studies, 364 HF patients were randomly allocated to therapy guided by NT-proBNP levels (with adjustments in medications and additional follow-up visits triggered by an NT-proBNP level >150 pmol/l) or by intensive clinical management, or according to usual care (Lainchbury et al. 2009). NT-proBNP-guided treatment was associated with a significant reduction in a primary end-point of death and/or readmission with heart failure in younger population (age <75 years), who also presented more often with HFrEF (61% vs. 47% in patients aged >75 years). In the same year results from the TIME-CHF trial, enrolling only patients with LVEF <45%, were published, showing that patients with therapy titration based on NT-proBNP (target: <400 ng/L in patients aged <75 years and <800 ng/L in patients \geq 75 years) had improved 18-month survival free of hospitalizations for HF (Pfisterer et al. 2009). Following these pivotal trials, other studies using either BNP or NT-proBNP have provided mixed outcomes (Kim and Januzzi 2010). Some systematic reviews have addressed the issue of the effects on hard end-points, such as all-cause mortality, demonstrating a benefit from natriuretic peptide-guided therapy (Don-Wauchope and McKelvie 2015), and a meta-analysis by Felker has demonstrated a 30% improvement in survival, without an increase in therapyrelated adverse events (Felker et al. 2009). As a general view, the use of natriuretic peptide to tailor HF therapy is likely to be more effective when lower target values are applied (i.e., <100 ng/L and <1,000 ng/L for BNP and NT-proBNP, respectively) (Januzzi et al. 2011; Jourdain et al. 2007; Troughton et al. 2000). Nonetheless, evidence is still scarce to support a general recommendation and some issues

still need to be addressed, including the most appropriate use of biomarker with this respect (disease management vs. monitoring), the choice of the end-point, and the cost-effectiveness of such a strategy (Pruett et al. 2015).

2.3 Back to the de Bold's "Atrial Natriuretic Factor": MR-proANP

Although B-type natriuretic peptides represent the most widely studied cardiac hormones, both in the experimental and clinical field, atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) was first described in early 1980s, as a substance secreted from atrial granules with endocrine functions, by Adolfo de Bold (de Bold 1981). ANP assay has with time been substituted by assays of B-type natriuretic peptides both for analytical and clinical reasons (Clerico 2006). More recently, the potential clinical applications of the mid-regional pro-atrial natriuretic peptide (MR-proANP), with a longer half-life than ANP, have been tested. Data from the Biomarker in the Acute Heart Failure (BACH) and the PRIDE study have demonstrated a good performance of MR-proANP for diagnostic and prognostic purposes in acute HF, even in addition to NT-proBNP (Maisel et al. 2011a; b, c; Shah et al. 2012). MR-proANP also revealed a significant prognostic value in 1237 patients with chronic HF enrolled in the Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Insufficienza Cardiaca-Heart Failure (GISSI-HF) study (proposed cutoff 278 pmol/L, AUC 0.74, 0.71–0.77), outperforming other established and candidate biomarkers (including copeptin and mid-regional proadrenomedullin, MR-proADM, and C-terminal proendothelin-1) and beyond NT-proBNP and a set of clinical variables (NRI = 0.06) (Masson et al. 2010a).

2.4 Cardiac Troponins

Cardiac troponins are released into the circulation following the disruption of cardiomyocyte membrane due to cardiac injury, namely after cardiac necrosis, and have become the standard of care biomarker for diagnosis of myocardial infarction. Nonetheless, elevation of circulating troponins has been reported also in non-acute settings, including chronic HF, due to mechanisms still to be fully elucidated. possibly involving inflammation, neurohormonal activation, myocardial stretch, hypoxia, and cytotoxicity (Gaggin and Januzzi 2013). With the improvement in troponin assays and the rise of high-sensitivity troponins (hsTn), detectable circulating troponin is now observed in a large proportion of HF patients and several studies have explored its use in clinical practice as an additional biomarker for disease management. In 140 patients with acute HF, TnI was found to be increased in about 1/3 of cases and to independently predict 90-day mortality and readmission. Further, increase in TnI during hospitalization was also associated with a worse outcome (Xue et al. 2011). In the RELAX-AHF trial, hs-TnT was elevated above the 99% upper reference limit in most of the AHF patients. Baseline, peak, and peak change hs-cTnT were associated with worse

outcomes, in particular with 180-day cardiovascular mortality (Felker et al. 2015). In the ADHERE study, patient with TnI elevation had significantly higher in-hospital mortality when treated with intravenous inotropic therapy as compared with intravenous vasodilator therapy (Peacock et al. 2008).

As in acute settings, circulating Tn is associated with prognosis also in chronic HF. In an analysis performed in >4000 patients enrolled in the Val-HeFT, TnT was detectable in about 10% of patients using a conventional assay, while 92% showed detectable Tn when the hsTnT assay was used. In the same cohort, hsTnT was associated with the risk of death and LV remodeling, and improved prognostic discrimination when added to a baseline model including BNP (Latini et al. 2007). The prognostic utility of serial Tn measurement in chronic HF has been investigated in patients from both the Val-HeFT and the GISSI-HF study. In this cohort, although increase in hsTnT over 3 to 4 months was strongly associated with all-cause mortality after adjustment for clinical risk factors, baseline levels, and NT-proBNP, it only modestly improved prognostic discrimination (Masson et al. 2012).

Previous reports show an association between the use of ACEi and beta-blockers with lower circulating Tn levels (Horwich et al. 2003; Masson et al. 2012), thus suggesting that guideline-recommended therapy may mitigate the risk in subsets with elevated Tn. More recently, in the PARADIGM-HF trial, treatment with LCZ696 led to a significant and sustained reduction in hsTnT that was not observed in the enalapril arm (Packer et al. 2015). Still, the issue of a Tn-guided therapy in chronic HF remains to be explored.

2.5 Candidate Biomarkers of HFrEF

Natriuretic peptides represent nowadays a fundamental aid to the clinical management of HF; nonetheless circulating levels of either BNP or NT-proBNP increase following each generic insult to the cardiovascular system. Therefore, while they are highly sensitive in the detection of ongoing damage, they are not able to provide clinically significant information concerning the nature of the *noxa*. The development and progression of the HF syndrome result from a complex interplay between different pathogenic determinants sustaining the ongoing myocardial damage and (mal)adaptive mechanisms. As a consequence, biomarkers providing insights into the extent of activation of specific axes of disease progression may help the clinician in the process of disease (and patient) characterization and of treatment tailoring.

A huge number of biomarkers have been tested or are currently under investigation for HF which may be classified according to he pathophysiological mechanism of damage they are considered to reflect. As previously suggested, biomarkers of sympathetic and RAAS activation, inflammation, fibrosis, and comorbidities can be distinguished (Braunwald 2013; Emdin et al. 2009).

2.5.1 Sympathetic Activation

Activation of the sympathetic, and inhibition of the parasympathetic system, represents one of the first (mal)adaptive mechanisms in disease onset and progression and one of the bases of the neuroendocrine model of HF, given its vasoconstrictive, profibrotic, and arrhythmogenic effects (Leimbach et al. 1986). Circulating norepinephrine increases with disease severity (Emdin et al. 2004), and, in a seminal paper by Cohn, it was the only independent predictor of mortality in 106 patients with moderate to severe HF, although such finding was not confirmed later on in more contemporary series (Cabassi et al. 2013; Cohn et al. 1984). Data from the Val-HeFT have shown that treatment with valsartan can blunt the increase in norepinephrine compared to placebo, while it was not affected by the mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist (MRA) spironolactone (Latini et al. 2002; Rousseau et al. 2002).

Together with catecholamines, chromogranin A is a component of chromaffin granules in the adrenal glands and, although its biological effects on the cardiovascular system remain to be elucidated, it seems to be involved in the regulation of adrenergic system (Tota et al. 2014). Limited evidence exists that circulating chromogranin A is increased in either acute or chronic HF and that may have some prognostic value (Dieplinger et al. 2009a; Røsjø et al. 2010).

2.5.2 Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System Activation

RAAS is a complex endocrine system participated by the kidney, liver, vascular endothelium, and adrenal cortex regulating salt/water homeostasis and vasomotion. Either systemic or tissue RAAS are involved in tissue remodeling after damage, and can promote fibrosis, hypertrophy, and apoptosis. All the effectors of RAAS are increased in chronic HF (Emdin et al. 2004) and RAAS activation is an indirect or direct target of most effective pharmacological treatments in heart failure, such as beta-blockers, inhibitors of angiotensin-converting enzyme, angiotensin receptor blockers, direct renin inhibitors. Circulating biomarkers of RAAS activation are currently available, such as plasma renin activity (PRA), renin, angiotensin II, and aldosterone, although with different feasibility and accuracy, and some of them are well-recognized prognostic factors, even in patients with optimal therapy. Notably, chronic use of drugs acting on RAAS induces, per se, neurohormonal reactivation (Lee et al. 1999; Rousseau et al. 2002).

PRA has been demonstrated to hold an independent prognostic value in a systolic HF cohort on evidence-weighted treatment, with and without significant renal comorbidity (Poletti et al. 2013; Vergaro et al. 2011), thus potentially qualifying as a tool to identify patients with persistent RAAS activation despite adequate neurohormonal antagonism and to select subsets at higher risk for cardio-vascular events. Further, aldosterone was shown to be a predictor of all-cause mortality in \approx 300 patients with HF (most of them with systolic dysfunction), independently from other clinical and biohumoral variable including NT-proBNP (Güder et al. 2007). Specifically, the increase in circulating aldosterone following the initiation of RAAS acting therapy, a phenomenon termed "aldosterone

breakthrough," may hold clinical relevance, given the growing evidence on non-mineralocorticoid receptor-mediated effects of aldosterone. Further, in a small group of patients with systolic HF, increased PRA predicted ACE inhibitor-induced natriuresis (Lim et al. 2000).

The above-mentioned data support the rationale for the use of biomarkers of RAAS activation as a guide for treatment monitoring and tailoring, as well as a rulein variable for trials in HF setting, a role up to now discarded as for the case of trials with the direct renin inhibitor aliskiren.

2.5.3 Inflammation and Immunity

There is growing information on the role of inflammatory cells and pathways during acute cardiovascular injury and in the reparative process that is subsequently activated. Elevation of inflammatory biomarkers, including C-reactive protein (CRP), members of the interleukin family (e.g., IL-1, IL-6, and IL-18), and TNF- α , is a hallmark feature of chronic ischemic and non-ischemic HF, although whether inflammation is causative to disease progression is not yet clear (Mann 2015). Moreover, viral infection is thought to participate in the development of dilated cardiomyopathy, sustaining acute and chronic inflammation (Kühl et al. 1996).

The Val-HeFT study demonstrated a direct correlation between elevated CRP level and HF severity (Anand et al. 2005); further, CRP predicts the risk of death and early readmission in acutely decompensated HF (Lourenço et al. 2010). Antiinflammatory properties have been described for statins and their effect has been tested in HF settings. Data from the CORONA study show that subjects with HF of ischemic etiology and elevated baseline high sensitivity-CRP ($\geq 2 \text{ mg/L}$) exhibited a greater benefit from statin therapy in terms of reduction of the primary end-point of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, and stroke (McMurray et al. 2009), while controversial results come from studies performed on patients with HF of non-ischemic origin (Bleske et al. 2006; Sola et al. 2006).

Some trials have addressed TNF- α elevation in HF, which is associated with worsened prognosis. Two large clinical studies, the Randomized Etanercept North American Strategy to Study Antagonism of Cytokines (RENAISSANCE) and the Research into Etanercept Cytokine Antagonism in Ventricular Dysfunction (RECOVER), were stopped because of lack of clinical benefit, and patients receiving the highest dose had increased adverse cardiac outcomes (Mann et al. 2004). Similar results were observed in the Anti-TNF- α in Congestive Heart Failure (ATTACH) trial, testing humanized neutralizing antibodies (infliximab) instead of the soluble receptor etanercept (Chung et al. 2003). The negative results of such trials may be, at least in part, explained by the inappropriate blockade of "physiological" inflammation that may be required for tissue-reparative processes.

2.5.4 Fibrosis

Galectin-3 In recent years galectin-3 (Gal-3), a soluble β -galactoside-binding lectin, has been found to play an important mechanistic role in the development

of cardiac fibrosis and remodeling and to identify high-risk subsets in HF cohorts, thus qualifying both as a risk marker and a risk factor (de Boer et al. 2009). There is a growing amount of evidence that Gal-3 is essential for migration and phagocytic activity of macrophages. Macrophage-derived Gal-3 may then act on fibroblast proliferation and on collagen synthesis, by increasing collagen I and reversing the collagen I-to-collagen III ratio (Henderson and Sethi 2009). Together with liver and kidney fibrosis, Gal-3 has been strictly linked to the development of cardiac fibrosis, a key determinant of cardiac remodeling and HF progression, possibly by interacting with mechanisms of aldosterone-mediated damage (Vergaro et al. 2016). Further, circulating levels of Gal-3 are associated with biomarkers of extracellular matrix turnover (including PIIINP, TIMP-1, and MMP-2), after adjustment for several clinical variables in a population 106 patients with systolic HF (Lin et al. 2009).

The experimental demonstration of a mechanistic involvement of Gal-3 in fibrotic, inflammatory, and remodeling processes in heart disease led to a novel interest in the potential use of Gal-3 assayed in plasma, as a biomarker, van Kimmenade and colleagues in 2006 first compared NT-proBNP, apelin, and Gal-3 in the management of acute HF patients (van Kimmenade et al. 2006). Out of 599 acutely dyspneic patients, 209 were later diagnosed with HF. Although Gal-3 showed a limited diagnostic accuracy in identifying acute HF, it was the strongest predictor of early events (60-day re-hospitalization for HF or all-cause mortality). Later on, Gal-3 was also demonstrated to predict long-term outcome (4-year mortality) in another cohort of acute HF patients (proposed cutoff: 14.97 ng/mL), independently of echocardiographic indices of cardiac structure and function (LV end-diastolic/ systolic diameter, EF and right ventricular pressure) (Shah et al. 2010). In the following years the prognostic role of Gal-3 in HF settings has been investigated in some substudies from larger clinical trials. Gal-3 levels were determined in 232 NYHA III-IV chronic HF patients enrolled in the Deventer-Alkmaar HF (DEAL-HF) study, who were then followed up for a period of 6.5 years (Lok et al. 2010). Baseline Gal-3 (cutoff: 17.6 ng/ml) predicted all-cause mortality after adjustment for age, gender, creatinine clearance, and NT-proBNP. By dichotomizing the population according to NT-proBNP and Gal-3 levels, the authors also demonstrated an additive prognostic power for Gal-3, since patients with elevation of both biomarkers had a 1.5- to 2-fold higher mortality rate compared to patients in other subgroups. In a larger population of 895 chronic HF patients from the HF-ACTION (Heart Failure: A Controlled Trial Investigating Outcomes of Exercise TraiNing) study with LVEF <35%, Gal-3 lost its univariate prognostic value in predicting the composite outcome of all-cause death or re-hospitalization, when corrected for peak oxygen consumption at cardiopulmonary test or NT-proBNP (Felker et al. 2012).

Despite this wide amount of data confirming its prognostic role in HF, there is still limited information on whether Gal-3 assay may help in adjusting therapeutical strategies. Current knowledge is indeed limited to a benefit from statin therapy in patients with chronic HF of ischemic cause and low Gal-3 level (Gullestad et al. 2012) and to the lack of power in predicting response to mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists or to cardiac resynchronization therapy (Gandhi et al. 2015; Lopez-Andrès et al. 2012).

Recently, measurement of Gal-3 has received a class IIb recommendation in acute decompensated (level of evidence A) and in chronic (level of evidence B) HF for risk stratification purposes in the 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure (Yancy et al. 2013).

sST2 Suppression of tumorigenicity 2 protein (ST2) is a member of the Toll-like/ interleukin-1 receptor superfamily, which is expressed together with its ligand interleukin-33 (IL-33) following myocardial stretch and cardiovascular injury. The IL-33/ST2 interaction exerts positive effects in terms of blunting prohypertrophic and profibrotic signals (Kakkar and Lee 2008; Pascual-Figal and Januzzi 2015; Yancy et al. 2013). Indeed, the transmembrane receptor for IL-33 (ST2 ligand, ST2L) is one of ST2 isoforms. Among others, a soluble isoform of ST2 exists, sST2, arising from a dual-promoter system driving differential mRNA expression. There is evidence that sST2 may act as a decoy receptor competing with ST2L for IL-33 binding. For example, administration of IL-33 to cultured rat neonatal cardiomyocytes inhibited the prohypertrophic signals of angiotensin II or phenylephrine, these effects being reversed by sST2 (Sanada et al. 2007). Reflecting these experimental evidences, serum levels of sST2 have been associated to LV systolic function and remodeling, as well as to a more decompensated hemodynamic profile (Shah et al. 2009). Of interest, sST2 concentration does not appear to be influenced by age, kidney function, or body mass index, unlike natriuretic peptides (Dieplinger et al. 2009b).

sST2 assay has been tested for diagnostic and prognostic purposes in either acute or chronic HF populations. Data from the ProBNP Investigation of Dyspnea in the Emergency Department (PRIDE) study have shown higher sST2 concentration in subjects with acute HF compared to those with dyspnea of non-cardiac origin (Januzzi et al. 2007). In the same cohort, sST2 was reported to be the best predictor of 1-year death, outperforming NT-proBNP (hazard ratios equal to 4.6 and 2.3, respectively) (Januzzi et al. 2010). Interestingly, in a population of acute HF patients, most of them with LV systolic dysfunction, sST2 provided additional prognostic value over NT-proBNP in the prediction of death, even in subset with lower NT-proBNP (Rehman et al. 2008). Fewer studies have explored the prognostic value of sST2 in chronic HF. In a well-treated subset of patients enrolled in the HF-ACTION trial, with LVEF <35%, ST2 was only modestly associated with functional capacity while it was significantly associated with outcomes (death or hospitalization, cardiovascular death or HF hospitalization, and all-cause mortality). In the larger study in chronic HF patients, a post hoc analysis of the Val-HeFT, baseline sST2 levels added significant information to the Cox regression model of first morbid events composed of 23 clinical variables including NT-proBNP and the treatment allocation (Anand et al. 2014). In the same study, sST2 values were also available at 4 and 12 months and patients randomized to the valsartan arm showed a milder increase in sST2 over time compared to those assigned to placebo. Further, sST2 was the only circulating biomarker, in an analysis including also growth differentiation factor-15 (GDF-15) and hs-TnT to add prognostic information to baseline concentration and to predict the occurrence of reverse remodeling when serially tested in chronic systolic HF patients (Gaggin et al. 2014). Based on these data, and on the association of neurohormonal antagonism therapy with lower sST2 concentrations, sST2 is particularly promising as a tool for patient monitoring and therapeutic optimization (Januzzi et al. 2015). Further, as for Gal-3, sST2 measurement has received a class IIb recommendation in acute decompensated (level of evidence A) and in chronic (level of evidence B) HF for risk stratification purposes in the latest American guidelines (Yancy et al. 2013).

2.5.5 Cardiorenal Syndrome

Renal impairment and worsening renal function are very common in HF, and represent a key element in disease pathophysiology, thus constituting an aspect of the clinical spectrum of HF – configuring the so-called cardiorenal syndrome – rather than a mere comorbidity. In this view, the clinical utility of both markers of renal function and of renal damage has been tested in HF patients. Although kidney dysfunction generally reflects a loss of glomerular filtration rate (GFR), it is participated by alteration in renal hemodynamics, sodium and water retention, and glomerular and tubulo-interstitial function. Biomarkers have been proposed (and tested) in HF settings to investigate each of these aspects.

Chronic kidney disease, as assessed by either GFR or serum creatinine, is strongly associated with a worse outcome in HF patients (Dries et al. 2000; Hillege et al. 2000). Worsening renal function is also frequent in HF, sometimes associated with the initiation of RAAS-acting therapy. This phenomenon, termed "pseudo-worsening renal function," is likely to have scarce effects on prognosis and may be associated with beneficial effects of ACE inhibitors in patients with LV systolic dysfunction (Clark et al. 2014; van Veldhuisen et al. 2015). Cystatin C is a small (13 kDa) protein produced by all nucleated cells, filtered and then catabolized by tubular cells, that can be considered an alternative tool to estimate renal function. A prognostic value has been demonstrated for cystatin C in chronic HF population (Damman et al. 2012) but it has never been used as a guide for HF treatment yet.

Albuminuria and proteinuria both reflect loss of integrity and damage to the glomerular membrane. Analyses from >2000 patients with chronic HF enrolled in the GISSI-HF study have shown an increasing mortality rate in subjects with normal albumin excretion, microalbuminuria or albuminuria, even after adjustment for other clinical risk factors (Masson et al. 2010b), with additive prognostic properties over GFR (Damman et al. 2011).

Some markers of tubular damage, including neutrophil-gelatinase-associated lipocalin (NGAL), kidney injury molecule (KIM)-1, and *N*-acetyl β -(d)-glucosaminidase (NAG), have been used for (early) detection of acute kidney injury. NGAL is a siderophore-binding protein expressed by various epithelial cells which is over-expressed in kidney injury and can be dosed in either serum or urine. Serum NGAL may be of help for prediction of acute kidney injury and in

risk stratification in acute HF (Aghel et al. 2010; Maisel et al. 2011b). In patients with chronic HFrEF enrolled in the CORONA study, plasma NGAL did not add significant prognostic information when included in a model with NT-proBNP and GFR (Nymo et al. 2012). Also KIM-1 and NAG are increased in chronic HFrEF and may provide clinical aid in the prediction of worsening renal function in HF, while solid evidences on their prognostic value are still lacking (Jungbauer et al. 2011).

2.5.6 Comorbidities and Cachexia

HF is a systemic syndrome and peripheral organ dysfunction may either contribute to the disease onset and progression or represent a consequence of primitive cardiac abnormalities.

Thyroid hormones are crucial for cardiovascular homeostasis and even subclinical alteration of thyroid function is associated with worsened outcome in HF patients, independently from natriuretic peptides (Passino et al. 2009). Low-triiodothyronine syndrome is a recognized entity in HFrEF but, despite some promising results from animal studies and small-scale supplementation trials, general recommendation is still lacking (Gerdes and Iervasi 2010). Among hematologic conditions, anemia is prevalent in acute and chronic HF and low hemoglobin levels hold significant prognostic value, additive to NT-proBNP (Baggish et al. 2007). Further, ferritin and transferrin saturation assessment is of key importance to identify subgroups of patients with iron deficiency, which is coming up as a therapeutical target in patients with HFrEF, as confirmed in a recent meta-analysis (Qian et al. 2016).

Cachexia and wasting frequently develop in later stages of HF, as a consequence of a complex interplay among (neuro)hormonal, immune, inflammatory dysregulation and anabolic/catabolic imbalance. Ghrelin and adiponectin are peptide hormones involved in energy balance, and are both increased in cachectic chronic HF patients. Some evidence exists that adiponectin predicts mortality in systolic HF and that treatment with the beta-blocker carvedilol decreases circulating levels of adiponectin (Tsutamoto et al. 2007; Yamaji et al. 2009).

2.5.7 Adrenomedullin

Adrenomedullin (ADM) is a peptide hormone acting as a potent vasodilator expressed by all human tissues. Circulating ADM is increased in HF and correlates with disease severity. Nonetheless, ADM is highly unstable and, recently, a novel assay measuring the mid-region of the more stable prohormone (MR-proADM) has been developed, with similar behavior in HF patients (Shah et al. 2012). Prognostic value of ADM has been tested in a cohort of 297 patients with HFrEF of ischemic origin. In this study ADM predicted the risk of mortality and of HF hospitalization independently from other clinical variables (Richards et al. 2001). Interestingly, an interaction with carvedilol therapy was reported in the same paper.

2.5.8 GDF-15

Growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF15) is a member of the TGF-ß cytokine superfamily which is highly expressed during inflammatory stress. GDF circulating

levels are increased in HF patients and correlate with the extent of myocardial fibrosis (Lok et al. 2012). Both baseline and repeated measurements of GDF-15 have additional prognostic value over hsTnT and NT-proBNP in patients with HFrEF (Chan et al. 2016). In an analysis from the Val-HeFT study, an independent, although weak, predictive value of GDF-15 for all-cause mortality was also shown, with GDF-15 levels increasing over time independently from the assignment to the placebo or the valsartan arm (Anand et al. 2010).

2.5.9 Copeptin

Arginine vasopressin (AVP), also known as antidiuretic hormone, is involved in the regulation of free water clearance, plasma osmolality, and vasomotricity. It is known since a long time that circulating AVP is elevated in HF settings (Goldsmith et al. 1983), but its assay is challenging. Copeptin, the c-terminal segment of the precursor of provasopressin, is a reliable surrogate marker for AVP and has been proved to independently predict mortality in acute HF, especially in subsets with hyponatremia (Maisel et al. 2011c). In 195 patients with chronic HFrEF, copeptin predicted 5-year all-cause mortality, although with poor additive prognostic accuracy over NT-proBNP (IDI 9.3%, NRI 8.2%) (Pozsonyi et al. 2015).

2.5.10 miRNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are non-coding RNAs which are involved in different cell processes by repressing messenger RNA translation. miRNAs have been shown to participate in several pathophysiological processes related to heart failure, including cardiac fibrosis and hypertrophy. Several circulating miRNAs have been tested for diagnostic and prognostic purposes either in acute or in chronic HF (Vegter et al. 2016). For example, Tijsen has reported that miR-423-5p is differentially expressed between HF patients, healthy controls, and patients with dyspnea of non-cardiac origin (Tijsen et al. 2010). In a small cohort of patients with chronic HF, miR-126 and miR-508-5p are associated with cardiovascular death in subsets with ischemic and non-ischemic HF, respectively (Qiang et al. 2013). Interestingly, there is experimental evidence that circulating miRNAs fluctuate in response to pharmacological HF treatment (e.g., by ACE inhibitors) and that miRNAs may represent, themselves, a therapeutical target (Vegter et al. 2016).

3 Biomarkers of Heart Failure with Mid-Range and Preserved Ejection Fraction

Among HF patients, a significant proportion exists presenting with preserved or only slightly impaired EF, especially in the elderly population. As mentioned above, these clinical entities have been defined as HFpEF and as HFmrEF in the latest European guidelines for the management of acute and chronic HF. Although specific EF cutoff has been proposed in these recommendations, in previous studies different definitions of "preserved" EF have been considered, ranging from 40 to 55%. There is therefore consistent overlap among HFpEF and HFmrEF; thus we will consider them on a whole in the following section.

Independent from its definition, HFpEF is associated with high rates of morbidity and mortality both in ambulatory and in-hospital settings, comparable to HFrEF (Senni et al. 2014). Nonetheless, while in the last few decades, several pharmacological and non-pharmacological approaches have been validated for HFrEF, up to now no single intervention has been demonstrated to modify the clinical course of HFpEF, possibly due to a consistent phenotypic variability and to the enrolment of heterogeneous population in large clinical trials (Butler et al. 2014). Different pathophysiological mechanisms indeed underlie the development of the clinical syndrome of HFpEF and the role of comorbidities is likely more relevant than in HFrEF. In the effort toward individualization that is therefore required for the management of HFpEF, circulating biomarkers – tracking specific damage pathways – may represent fundamental tools.

3.1 Natriuretic Peptides

As discussed above, natriuretic peptides are the cornerstone biomarkers in HFrEF. Nonetheless, their clinical value has been demonstrated across the whole spectrum of LV systolic function. Although to a lower extent as compared to patients with more severe reduction in EF, both BNP and NT-proBNP are increased and are key elements in the diagnosis of HFpEF. Moreover, their levels increase with more severe cardiac morphological and functional abnormalities (including hypertrophy, fibrosis, and diastolic dysfunction) (Tschope et al. 2005). Still, a clear cutoff does not exist to distinguish HFpEF from HFrEF (Parekh and Maisel 2009; van Veldhuisen et al. 2013). Further, prognostic properties of BNP are maintained independently from the extent of LV dysfunction, since, for a given BNP level, the risk of death and HF hospitalization of patients with HFpEF is as poor as in those with reduced LVEF (van Veldhuisen et al. 2013). The prognostic value of NT-proBNP has also emerged in HFpEF patients (defined as LVEF >45%) from the i-PRESERVE study, showing that baseline (proposed cutoff 339 pg/mL) and changes in NT-proBNP improve the prediction of mortality and HF re-hospitalization (Anand et al. 2011; Jhund et al. 2015).

As for the case of HFrEF, circulating levels of natriuretic peptides are influenced by several cardiac and extra-cardiac conditions (including female sex and advanced age), which is even more important in HFpEF, given the high prevalence of comorbidities. For example, a fivefold increase in NT-proBNP has been reported in subjects with HFpEF and atrial fibrillation, compared to those in sinus rhythm (McKelvie et al. 2010); likewise, renal function has been reported to significantly influence natriuretic peptide concentration (McCullough et al. 2003).

A few studies have specifically explored the effectiveness of a natriuretic peptide-guided therapy in HFpEF. Maeder and colleagues enrolled 123 patients with HF and LVEF >45%, who were randomized to medical therapy titrated to reduce symptoms to NYHA \leq II or also to reduce NT-proBNP below the inclusion

threshold (>400 or >800 ng/L depending on age). Differently from patients with HFrEF, NT-proBNP-guided management tended to worsen 18-month outcomes in HFpEF (Maeder et al. 2013), thus questioning the clinical benefit of such approach, as later confirmed in a recent individual patient meta-analysis (Brunner-La Rocca et al. 2015).

3.2 Other Biomarkers in HFpEF

As mentioned before, HFrEF and HFpEF are likely sustained by a different pathophysiology, thus explaining the variable response to pharmacological and non-pharmacological treatment. Analyses of data from the Trial of Intensified versus standard medical therapy in elderly patients with congestive heart failure (TIME-CHF) have shown a different circulating biomarker profile in patients with LVEF $\leq 40\%$ (n = 458) vs. those with LVEF $\geq 50\%$ (n = 112). After adjustment for other clinical variables accounting for heterogeneity between populations, patients with HFpEF displayed significantly higher levels of sST2, hs-CRP, and cystatin-C. On the other hand, HFrEF patients presented higher NT-proBNP, hs-TnT, and hemoglobin (Sanders-van Wijk et al. 2015). These results suggest that markers of myocardial damage and loading are activated in HFrEF, while elevation of biomarkers of inflammation and fibrosis characterizes HFpEF.

3.2.1 sST2

Among markers of inflammation and fibrosis, sST2 seems to be promising in the clinical management of HFpEF. First data came from a prognostic study showing that sST2, although not correlating with echocardiographic indices of diastolic function, was the only biohumoral marker predicting mortality in 200 patients with dyspnea and normal LV systolic function (Shah et al. 2011). These data have been confirmed in further studies, demonstrating that prognostic value of sST2 in HFpEF was comparable to that in HFrEF, especially in acute settings (Manzano-Fernández et al. 2011).

3.2.2 Gal-3

Gal-3 has also been mechanistically involved in the process of cardiovascular inflammation and fibroblast proliferation and fibrosis, which are thought to be at play in the development of HFpEF. In 2011 de Boer has shown that in HFpEF patients from the Coordinating study evaluating Outcomes of Advising and Counseling in Heart Failure (COACH) (with LVEF >40%), Gal-3 appeared to have a particularly strong predictive value, compared to HFrEF patients (de Boer et al. 2011). Gal-3 also yielded significant reclassification indices in one of the largest biomarker studies in HFpEF so far, conducted in a cohort of 419 HF patients with LVEF >45% (Carrasco-Sánchez et al. 2013). The Aldo-DHF trial explored the effects of spironolactone 25 mg vs. placebo in chronic HFpEF patients. Gal-3 was associated with functional performance and quality of life, and its increase in serial measurements predicted all-cause death or hospitalization independently from

NT-proBNP. However, no specific interaction between treatment arm and Gal-3 levels could be observed (Edelmann et al. 2015).

3.2.3 GDF-15

As previously discussed, GDF-15 is a marker of cell injury and inflammation that has been shown to circulate in higher concentrations in patients with HFpEF compared to controls (Stahrenberg et al. 2010). Diagnostic and prognostic properties have been advocated for GDF-15 in HFpEF. For example, the NT-proBNP/GDF-15 ratio has been shown to properly distinguish between HFpEF and HFrEF (AUC 0.709) (Santhanakrishnan et al. 2012); further, higher GDF-15 is associated with increased risk of death and HF hospitalization in HFpEF patients, providing additional prognostic information over hsTnT and NT-proBNP (Chan et al. 2016). Although not conclusive, these data strongly support a putative role of GDF-15 – both a determinant and marker of risk – as a useful tool for HFpEF management, as well as a possible therapeutical target (Putko et al. 2014a, b).

3.2.4 Inflammatory Biomarkers

Activation of pro-inflammatory pathways is a fundamental element in HFpEF pathophysiology (Paulus 2000). Elevated levels of inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , IL1, IL6, IL8, and CRP, are often observed in HFpEF patient; interestingly, circulating levels of TNF- α receptors (TNFR1 and TNFR2) are associated with the severity of diastolic dysfunction and of symptoms (Putko et al. 2014a, b). Still, scarce evidence on their prognostic role is currently available.

3.2.5 Directions

Other biomarkers have been tested for the management of HFpEF in the past years, yielding different (in some case promising) results. For example, ADM levels have been correlated to diastolic dysfunction (Yu et al. 2001), and MR-proADM, which is also emerging in HFrEF, may help in identifying new-onset HFpEF (Brouwers et al. 2014). Von Willebrand factor has been shown to additive prognostic value over NT-proBNP in 457 patients with HFpEF enrolled in the LUdwigshafen Risk and Cardiovascular Health (LURIC) study (Kleber et al. 2015). In a small study, no significant difference in microRNA levels was identified between HFrEF and HFpEF.

RAAS activation is associated with most of the pathophysiological mechanisms leading to cardiac phenotypes commonly observed in HFpEF, including hypertrophy, apoptosis, and fibrosis; therefore, from a theoretical standpoint, biomarkers of RAAS should provide useful information for disease management and, possibly, for therapeutic optimization. Two trials, Aldo-DHF and TOPCAT, have investigated the effects of spironolactone in HFpEF patients showing no significant effect on outcome, despite a beneficial effect on diastolic function (Edelmann et al. 2013; Pitt et al. 2014). Also LCZ696 has been demonstrated to reduce left atrial volume in HFpEF (Solomon et al. 2012), but its prognostic effect is still under investigation in the phase III PARAGON-HF trial.

4 Conclusions

BNP and NT-proBNP have first demonstrated how biomarkers can dramatically influence the everyday management of HF patients, providing information to the clinician far exceeding initial expectations. Despite recent advances, HF still remains a syndrome with unacceptable morbidity and mortality, possibly reflecting a complex pathophysiology and an extremely heterogeneous presentation which is only partly counterbalanced by a "one-size-fits-all" therapeutic strategy. Novel biomarkers addressing specific disease phenotypes and paths of damage will be of help for treatment tailoring and to move toward a more rational use of drugs and devices in HF. Research has recently focused on the clinical value of Gal-3 and sST2, which are both markers and effectors of cardiovascular damage, but currently, still there is no clear indication for therapeutic driving or optimization based on circulating levels of such biomarkers and, more generally, on a single HF biomarker.

For prognostic purposes, it seems reasonable that the use of multiple markers reflecting the activation of different pathophysiological pathways may more accurately identify high-risk subjects. This hypothesis has been recently tested, for example, in a large cohort of decompensated HF patients who were tested for several (novel) HF biomarkers. Elevation of at least three among MR-proADM, hs-TnT, combined free light chains, hsCRP, and sST2 provided incremental prognostic value when added to a multivariable model including BNP (NRI 32.5%) (Jackson et al. 2016). Nonetheless, the feasibility and the cost-effectiveness of multimarker strategies remain to be elucidated.

During the last years, a growing number of biomarkers have been proposed as potentially useful in HF patients, but no one of them still resembles the characteristics of the "ideal biomarker." A single marker will hardly perform for screening, diagnostic, prognostic, and therapeutic management purposes; therefore, a rational use of biomarkers will likely contemplate different analytes for different purposes. Moreover, the pathophysiological and clinical significance of biomarkers may depend on the presentation, stage, and severity of the disease (e.g., on etiology, presence/extent of LV systolic dysfunction, comorbidities). In this view, one could envisage specific sets of biomarker with different performances in HFpEF, HFmrEF, and HFrEF, especially as concerns prediction of the future course of the disease and of LV adverse/reverse remodeling.

Biomarkers are likely the most promising tools to make a step toward individualized therapy in HF. In the next future, a lot will depend on the quality (even more than on results) of clinical studies aimed at improving current diagnostic and prediction models and of studies using biomarkers to tailor therapeutics.

References

- Aghel A, Shrestha K, Mullens W, Borowski A, Tang WH (2010) Serum neutrophil gelatinaseassociated lipocalin (NGAL) in predicting worsening renal function in acute decompensated heart failure. J Card Fail 16:49–54
- Anand IS, Fisher LD, Chiang YT, Latini R, Masson S, Maggioni AP, Glazer RD, Tognoni G, Cohn JN (2003) Val-HeFT Investigators. Changes in brain natriuretic peptide and norepinephrine over time and mortality and morbidity in the Valsartan Heart Failure Trial (Val-HeFT). Circulation 107:1278–1283
- Anand IS, Latini R, Florea VG, Kuskowski MA, Rector T, Masson S, Signorini S, Mocarelli P, Hester A, Glazer R, Cohn JN, Val-HeFT Investigators (2005) C-reactive protein in heart failure: prognostic value and the effect of valsartan. Circulation 112:1428–1434
- Anand IS, Kempf T, Rector TS, Tapken H, Allhoff T, Jantzen F, Kuskowski M, Cohn JN, Drexler H, Wollert KC (2010) Serial measurement of growth-differentiation factor-15 in heart failure: relation to disease severity and prognosis in the Valsartan Heart Failure Trial. Circulation 122:1387–1395
- Anand IS, Rector TS, Cleland JG et al (2011) Prognostic value of baseline plasma amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and its interactions with irbesartan treatment effects in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction: findings from the I-PRESERVE trial. Circ Heart Fail 4:569–577
- Anand IS, Rector TS, Kuskowski M, Snider J, Cohn JN (2014) Prognostic value of soluble ST2 in the Valsartan Heart Failure Trial. Circ Heart Fail 7:418–426
- Baggish AL, van Kimmenade R, Bayes-Genis A, Davis M, Lainchbury JG, Frampton C, Pinto Y, Richards MA, Januzzi JL (2007) Hemoglobin and N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide: independent and synergistic predictors of mortality in patients with acute heart failure. Results from the International Collaborative of NT-proBNP (ICON) Study. Clin Chim Acta 381:145–150
- Berry C, Murphy NF, De Vito G, Galloway S, Seed A, Fisher C, Sattar N, Vallance P, Hillis WS, McMurray J (2007) Effects of aldosterone receptor blockade in patients with mild-moderate heart failure taking a beta-blocker. Eur J Heart Fail 9:429–434
- Bleske BE, Nicklas JM, Bard RL, Brook RD, Gurbel PA, Bliden KP, Rajagopalan S, Pitt B (2006) Neutral effect on markers of heart failure, inflammation, endothelial activation and function, and vagal tone after high-dose HMG-CoA reductase inhibition in non-diabetic patients with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy and average low-density lipoprotein level. J Am Coll Cardiol 47:338–341
- Braunwald E (2008) Biomarkers in heart failure. N Engl J Med 358:2148-2159
- Braunwald E (2013) Heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 1:1-20
- Brouwers FP, van Gilst WH, Damman K, van den Berg MP, Gansevoort RT, Bakker SJ, Hillege HL, van Veldhuisen DJ, van der Harst P, de Boer RA (2014) Clinical risk stratification optimizes value of biomarkers to predict new-onset heart failure in a community-based cohort. Circ Heart Fail 7:723–731
- Brunner-La Rocca HP, Eurlings L, Richards AM, Januzzi JL, Pfisterer ME, Dahlström U, Pinto YM, Karlström P, Erntell H, Berger R, Persson H, O'Connor CM, Moertl D, Gaggin HK, Frampton CM, Nicholls MG, Troughton RW (2015) Which heart failure patients profit from natriuretic peptide guided therapy? A meta-analysis from individual patient data of randomized trials. Eur J Heart Fail 17:1252–1261
- Butler J, Fonarow GC, Zile MR, Lam CS, Roessig L, Schelbert EB, Shah SJ, Ahmed A, Bonow RO, Cleland JG, Cody RJ, Chioncel O, Collins SP, Dunnmon P, Filippatos G, Lefkowitz MP, Marti CN, McMurray JJ, Misselwitz F, Nodari S, O'Connor C, Pfeffer MA, Pieske B, Pitt B, Rosano G, Sabbah HN, Senni M, Solomon SD, Stockbridge N, Teerlink JR, Georgiopoulou VV, Gheorghiade M (2014) Developing therapies for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: current state and future directions. JACC Heart Fail 2:97–112

- Cabassi A, de Champlain J, Maggiore U, Parenti E, Coghi P, Vicini V, Tedeschi S, Cremaschi E, Binno S, Rocco R, Bonali S, Bianconcini M, Guerra C, Folesani G, Montanari A, Regolisti G, Fiaccadori E (2013) Prealbumin improves death risk prediction of BNP-added Seattle Heart Failure Model: results from a pilot study in elderly chronic heart failure patients. Int J Cardiol 168:3334–3339
- Carrasco-Sánchez FJ, Aramburu-Bodas O, Salamanca-Bautista P, Morales-Rull JL, Galisteo-Almeda L, Páez-Rubio MI, Arias-Jiménez JL, Aguayo-Canela M, Pérez-Calvo JI (2013) Predictive value of serum galectin-3 levels in patients with acute heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Int J Cardiol 169:177–182
- Chan MM, Santhanakrishnan R, Chong JP, Chen Z, Tai BC, Liew OW, Ng TP, Ling LH, Sim D, Leong KT, Yeo PS, Ong HY, Jaufeerally F, Wong RC, Chai P, Low AF, Richards AM, Lam CS (2016) Growth differentiation factor 15 in heart failure with preserved vs reduced ejection fraction. Eur J Heart Fail 18:81–88
- Chung ES, Packer M, Lo KH, Fasanmade AA, Willerson JT (2003) Anti-TNF Therapy Against Congestive Heart Failure Investigators. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot trial of infliximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in patients with moderate-to-severe heart failure: results of the anti-TNF Therapy Against Congestive Heart Failure (ATTACH) trial. Circulation 107:3133–3140
- Clark H, Krum H, Hopper I (2014) Worsening renal function during renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitor initiation and long-term outcomes in patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. Eur J Heart Fail 16:41–48
- Clerico A, Emdin M (2004) Diagnostic accuracy and prognostic relevance of the measurement of cardiac natriuretic peptides: a review. Clin Chem 50:33–50
- Clerico A, Recchia FA, Passino C, Emdin M. Cardiac endocrine function is an essential component of the homeostatic regulation network: physiological and clinical implications (2006) Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 290:H17–29
- Cohen-Solal A, Logeart D, Huang B, Cai D, Nieminen MS, Mebazaa A (2009) Lowered B-type natriuretic peptide in response to levosimendan or dobutamine treatment is associated with improved survival in patients with severe acutely decompensated heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 53:2343–2348
- Cohn JN, Levine TB, Olivari MT, Garberg V, Lura D, Francis GS, Simon AB, Rector T (1984) Plasma norepinephrine as a guide to prognosis in patients with chronic congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 311:819–823
- Damman K, Masson S, Hillege HL, Maggioni AP, Voors AA, Opasich C, van Veldhuisen DJ, Montagna L, Cosmi F, Tognoni G, Tavazzi L, Latini R (2011) Clinical outcome of renal tubular damage in chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 32:2705–2712
- Damman K, van der Harst P, Smilde TD, Voors AA, Navis G, van Veldhuisen DJ, Hillege HL (2012) Use of cystatin C levels in estimating renal function and prognosis in patients with chronic systolic heart failure. Heart 98:319–324
- Davis ME, Richards AM, Nicholls MG, Yandle TG, Frampton CM, Troughton RW (2006) Introduction of metoprolol increases plasma B-type cardiac natriuretic peptides in mild, stable heart failure. Circulation 113:977–985
- de Bold AJ, Borenstein HB, Veress AT, Sonnenberg H (1981) A rapid and potent natriuretic response to intravenous injection of atrial myocardial extract in rats. Life Sci 28:89–94
- de Boer RA, Voors AA, Muntendam P, van Gilst WH, van Veldhuisen DJ (2009) Galectin-3: a novel mediator of heart failure development and progression. Eur J Heart Fail 11:811–817
- de Boer RA, Lok DJ, Jaarsma T et al (2011) Predictive value of plasma galectin-3 levels in heart failure with reduced and preserved ejection fraction. Ann Med 43:60–68
- Dieplinger B, Gegenhuber A, Struck J, Poelz W, Langsteger W, Haltmayer M, Mueller T (2009a) Chromogranin A and C-terminal endothelin-1 precursor fragment add independent prognostic information to amino-terminal proBNP in patients with acute destabilized heart failure. Clin Chim Acta 400:91–96
- Dieplinger B, Januzzi JL Jr, Steinmair M, Gabriel C, Poelz W, Haltmayer M, Mueller T (2009b) Analytical and clinical evaluation of a novel high-sensitivity assay for measurement of soluble ST2 in human plasma--the Presage ST2 assay. Clin Chim Acta 409:33–40
- Don-Wauchope AC, McKelvie RS (2015) Evidence based application of BNP/NT-proBNP testing in heart failure. Clin Biochem 48:236–246
- Doust JA, Pietrzak E, Dobson A, Glasziou P (2005) How well does B-type natriuretic peptide predict death and cardiac events in patients with heart failure: systematic review. BMJ 330:625
- Dries DL, Exner DV, Domanski MJ, Greenberg B, Stevenson LW (2000) The prognostic implications of renal insufficiency in asymptomatic and symptomatic patients with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 35:681–689
- Edelmann F, Wachter R, Schmidt AG, Kraigher-Krainer E, Colantonio C, Kamke W, Duvinage A, Stahrenberg R, Durstewitz K, Löffler M, Düngen HD, Tschöpe C, Herrmann-Lingen C, Halle M, Hasenfuss G, Gelbrich G, Pieske B, Aldo-DHF Investigators (2013) Effect of spironolactone on diastolic function and exercise capacity in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: the Aldo-DHF randomized controlled trial. JAMA 309:781–791
- Edelmann F, Holzendorf V, Wachter R, Nolte K, Schmidt AG, Kraigher-Krainer E, Duvinage A, Unkelbach I, Düngen HD, Tschöpe C, Herrmann-Lingen C, Halle M, Hasenfuss G, Gelbrich G, Stough WG, Pieske BM (2015) Galectin-3 in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: results from the Aldo-DHF trial. Eur J Heart Fail 17:214–223
- Emdin M, Passino C, Prontera C, Iervasi A, Ripoli A, Masini S, Zucchelli GC, Clerico A (2004) Cardiac natriuretic hormones, neuro-hormones, thyroid hormones and cytokines in normal subjects and patients with heart failure. Clin Chem Lab Med 42:627–636
- Emdin M, Vittorini S, Passino C, Clerico A (2009) Old and new biomarkers of heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 11:331–335
- Farmakis D, Parissis JT, Bistola V, Paraskevaidis IA, Iliodromitis EK, Filippatos G, Kremastinos DT (2010) Plasma B-type natriuretic peptide reduction predicts long-term response to levosimendan therapy in acutely decompensated chronic heart failure. Int J Cardiol 139:75–79
- Felker GM, Hasselblad V, Hernandez AF, O'Connor CM (2009) Biomarker-guided therapy in chronic heart failure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am Heart J 158:422–430
- Felker GM, Fiuzat M, Shaw LK, Clare R, Whellan DJ, Bettari L, Shirolkar SC, Donahue M, Kitzman DW, Zannad F, Piña IL, O'Connor CM (2012) Galectin-3 in ambulatory patients with heart failure: results from the HF-ACTION study. Circ Heart Fail 5:72–78
- Felker GM, Mentz RJ, Teerlink JR, Voors AA, Pang PS, Ponikowski P, Greenberg BH, Filippatos G, Davison BA, Cotter G, Prescott MF, Hua TA, Lopez-Pintado S, Severin T, Metra M (2015) Serial high sensitivity cardiac troponin T measurement in acute heart failure: insights from the RELAX-AHF study. Eur J Heart Fail 17:1262–1270
- Fonarow GC, Peacock WF, Phillips CO, Givertz MM, Lopatin M, ADHERE Scientific Advisory Committee and Investigators (2007) Admission B-type natriuretic peptide levels and in-hospital mortality in acute decompensated heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 49:1943–1950
- Fruhwald FM, Fahrleitner-Pammer A, Berger R, Leyva F, Freemantle N, Erdmann E, Gras D, Kappenberger L, Tavazzi L, Daubert JC, Cleland JG (2007) Early and sustained effects of cardiac resynchronization therapy on N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide in patients with moderate to severe heart failure and cardiac dyssynchrony. Eur Heart J 28:1592–1597
- Gaggin HK, Januzzi JL Jr (2013) Biomarkers and diagnostics in heart failure. Biochim Biophys Acta 1832:2442–2450
- Gaggin HK, Szymonifka J, Bhardwaj A, Belcher A, De Berardinis B, Motiwala S, Wang TJ, Januzzi JL Jr (2014) Head-to-head comparison of serial soluble ST2, growth differentiation factor-15, and highly-sensitive troponin T measurements in patients with chronic heart failure. JACC Heart Fail 2:65–72
- Gandhi PU, Motiwala SR, Belcher AM, Gaggin HK, Weiner RB, Baggish AL, Fiuzat M, Brunner-La Rocca HP, Januzzi JL Jr (2015) Galectin-3 and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist use in patients with chronic heart failure due to left ventricular systolic dysfunction. Am Heart J 169:404–411

- Gerdes AM, Iervasi G (2010) Thyroid replacement therapy and heart failure. Circulation 122:385–393
- Goldsmith SR, Francis GS, Cowley AW Jr, Levine TB, Cohn JN (1983) Increased plasma arginine vasopressin levels in patients with congestive heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 1:1385–1390
- Group BDW (2001) Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther 69(89–95)
- Güder G, Bauersachs J, Frantz S, Weismann D, Allolio B, Ertl G, Angermann CE, Störk S (2007) Complementary and incremental mortality risk prediction by cortisol and aldosterone in chronic heart failure. Circulation 115:1754–1761
- Gullestad L, Ueland T, Kjekshus J, Nymo SH, Hulthe J, Muntendam P, Adourian A, Böhm M, van Veldhuisen DJ, Komajda M, Cleland JG, Wikstrand J, McMurray JJ, Aukrust P, on behalf of the CORONA Study Group (2012) Galectin-3 predicts response to statin therapy in the Controlled Rosuvastatin Multinational Trial in Heart Failure (CORONA). Eur Heart J 33:2290–2296
- Henderson NC, Sethi T (2009) The regulation of inflammation by galectin-3. Immunol Rev 230:160–171
- Hillege HL, Girbes AR, de Kam PJ, Boomsma F, De ZD, Charlesworth A, Hampton JR, van Veldhuisen DJ (2000) Renal function, neurohormonal activation, and survival in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation 102:203–210
- Horwich TB, Patel J, MacLellan WR, Fonarow GC (2003) Cardiac troponin I is associated with impaired hemodynamics, progressive left ventricular dysfunction, and increased mortality rates in advanced heart failure. Circulation 108:833–838
- Jackson CE, Haig C, Welsh P, Dalzell JR, Tsorlalis IK, McConnachie A, Preiss D, Anker SD, Sattar N, Petrie MC, Gardner RS, McMurray JJ (2016) The incremental prognostic and clinical value of multiple novel biomarkers in heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail [Epub ahead of print]
- Januzzi JL Jr, Camargo CA, Anwaruddin S et al (2005) The N-terminal Pro-BNP investigation of dyspnea in the emergency department (PRIDE) study. Am J Cardiol 95:948–954
- Januzzi JL, van Kimmenade R, Lainchbury J, Bayes-Genis A, Ordonez-Llanos J, Santalo-Bel M, Pinto YM, Richards M (2006a) NT-proBNP testing for diagnosis and short-term prognosis in acute destabilized heart failure: an international pooled analysis of 1256 patients: the International Collaborative of NT-proBNP Study. Eur Heart J 27:330–337
- Januzzi JL Jr, Sakhuja R, O'donoghue M, Baggish AL, Anwaruddin S, Chae CU, Cameron R, Krauser DG, Tung R, Camargo CA Jr, Lloyd-Jones DM (2006b) Utility of amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide testing for prediction of 1-year mortality in patients with dyspnea treated in the emergency department. Arch Intern Med 166:315–320
- Januzzi JL Jr, Peacock WF, Maisel AS, Chae CU, Jesse RL, Baggish AL, O'Donoghue M, Sakhuja R, Chen AA, van Kimmenade RR, Lewandrowski KB, Lloyd-Jones DM, Wu AH (2007) Measurement of the interleukin family member ST2 in patients with acute dyspnea: results from the PRIDE (Pro-Brain Natriuretic Peptide Investigation of Dyspnea in the Emergency Department) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 50:607–613
- Januzzi JL Jr, Rehman S, Mueller T, van Kimmenade RR, Lloyd-Jones DM (2010) Importance of biomarkers for long-term mortality prediction in acutely dyspneic patients. Clin Chem 56:1814–1821
- Januzzi JL Jr, Rehman SU, Mohammed AA, Bhardwaj A, Barajas L, Barajas J, Kim HN, Baggish AL, Weiner RB, Chen-Tournoux A, Marshall JE, Moore SA, Carlson WD, Lewis GD, Shin J, Sullivan D, Parks K, Wang TJ, Gregory SA, Uthamalingam S, Semigran MJ (2011) Use of amino-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide to guide outpatient therapy of patients with chronic left ventricular systolic dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 58:1881–1889
- Januzzi JL Jr, Maisel AS, Silver M, Xue Y, DeFilippi C (2012) Natriuretic peptide testing for predicting adverse events following heart failure hospitalization. Congest Heart Fail 18(Suppl 1):S9–S13
- Januzzi JL, Pascual-Figal D, Daniels LB (2015) ST2 testing for chronic heart failure therapy monitoring: the International ST2 Consensus Panel. Am J Cardiol 115(7 Suppl):70B–75B

- Jhund PS, Anand IS, Komajda M et al (2015) Changes in N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide levels and outcomes in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: an analysis of the I-Preserve study. Eur J Heart Fail 17:809–817
- Jourdain P, Jondeau G, Funck F, Gueffet P, Le Helloco A, Donal E, Aupetit JF, Aumont MC, Galinier M, Eicher JC, Cohen-Solal A, Juillière Y (2007) Plasma brain natriuretic peptideguided therapy to improve outcome in heart failure: the STARS-BNP Multicenter Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 49:1733–1739
- Jungbauer CG, Birner C, Jung B, Buchner S, Lubnow M, von Bary C, Endemann D, Banas B, Mack M, Boger CA, Riegger G, Luchner A (2011) Kidney injury molecule-1 and N-acetylbeta-D-glucosaminidase in chronic heart failure: possible biomarkers of cardiorenal syndrome. Eur J Heart Fail 13:1104–1110
- Kakkar R, Lee RT (2008) The IL-33/ST2 pathway: therapeutic target and novel biomarker. Nat Rev Drug Discov 7:827–840
- Kim HN, Januzzi JL Jr (2010) Biomarkers in the management of heart failure. Curr Treat Options Cardiovasc Med 12:519–531
- Kleber ME, Koller L, Goliasch G, Sulzgruber P, Scharnagl H, Silbernagel G, Grammer TB, Delgado G, Tomaschitz A, Pilz S, März W, Von NA (2015) Willebrand factor improves risk prediction in addition to N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide in patients referred to coronary angiography and signs and symptoms of heart failure and preserved ejection fraction. Circ Heart Fail 8:25–32
- Kociol RD, Horton JR, Fonarow GC, Reyes EM, Shaw LK, O'Connor CM, Felker GM, Hernandez AF (2011) Admission, discharge, or change in B-type natriuretic peptide and long-term outcomes: data from Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF) linked to Medicare claims. Circ Heart Fail 4:628–636
- Kühl U, Noutsias M, Seeberg B, Schultheiss HP (1996) Immunohistological evidence for a chronic intramyocardial inflammatory process in dilated cardiomyopathy. Heart 75:295–300
- Lainchbury JG, Troughton RW, Strangman KM, Frampton CM, Pilbrow A, Yandle TG, Hamid AK, Nicholls MG, Richards AM (2009) N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide-guided treatment for chronic heart failure: results from the BATTLESCARRED (NT-proBNP-Assisted Treatment To Lessen Serial Cardiac Readmissions and Death) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 55:53–60
- Latini R, Masson S, Anand I, Judd D, Maggioni AP, Chiang YT, Bevilacqua M, Salio M, Cardano P, Dunselman PH, Holwerda NJ, Tognoni G, Cohn JN, Valsartan Heart Failure Trial Investigators (2002) Effects of valsartan on circulating brain natriuretic peptide and norepinephrine in symptomatic chronic heart failure: the Valsartan Heart Failure Trial (Val-HeFT). Circulation 106:2454–2458
- Latini R, Masson S, Anand IS, Missov E, Carlson M, Vago T, Angelici L, Barlera S, Parrinello G, Maggioni AP, Tognoni G, Cohn JN, Val-HeFT Investigators (2007) Prognostic value of very low plasma concentrations of troponin T in patients with stable chronic heart failure. Circulation 116:1242–1249
- Lee AF, MacFadyen RJ, Struthers AD (1999) Neurohormonal reactivation in heart failure patients on chronic ACE inhibitor therapy: a longitudinal study. Eur J Heart Fail 1:401–406
- Leimbach WN, Wallin BG, Victor RG, Alyward PE, Sundlof G, Mark AL (1986) Direct evidence from intraneural recordings for increased central sympathetic outflow in patients with heart failure. Circulation 73:913–919
- Lim PO, MacFadyen RJ, Struthers AD (2000) Is there a role for renin profiling in selecting chronic heart failure patients for ACE inhibitor treatment? Heart 83:257–261
- Lin YH, Lin LY, Wu YW, Chien KL, Lee CM, Hsu RB, Chao CL, Wang SS, Hsein YC, Liao LC, Ho YL, Chen MF (2009) The relationship between serum galectin-3 and serum markers of cardiac extracellular matrix turnover in heart failure patients. Clin Chim Acta 409:96–99
- Lindenfeld J, Albert NM, Boehmer JP, Collins SP, Ezekowitz JA, Givertz MM, Katz SD, Klapholz M, Moser DK, Rogers JG, Starling RC, Stevenson WG, Tang WH, Teerlink JR,

Walsh MN (2010) HFSA 2010 Comprehensive Heart Failure Practice Guideline. J Card Fail 16:e1–e194

- Lippi G, Sanchis-Gomar F (2016) Monitoring B-type natriuretic peptide in patients undergoing therapy with neprilysin inhibitors. An emerging challenge? Int J Cardiol 219:111–114
- Lok DJ, Van Der Meer P, de la Porte PW, Lipsic E, Van Wijngaarden J, Hillege HL, van Veldhuisen DJ (2010) Prognostic value of galectin-3, a novel marker of fibrosis, in patients with chronic heart failure: data from the DEAL-HF study. Clin Res Cardiol 99:323–328
- Lok SI, Winkens B, Goldschmeding R, van Geffen AJ, Nous FM, van Kuik J, van der Weide P, Klöpping C, Kirkels JH, Lahpor JR, Doevendans PA, de Jonge N, de Weger RA (2012) Circulating growth differentiation factor-15 correlates with myocardial fibrosis in patients with non-ischaemic dilated cardiomyopathy and decreases rapidly after left ventricular assist device support. Eur J Heart Fail 14:1249–1256
- Lopez-Andrès N, Rossignol P, Iraqi W, Fay R, Nuée J, Ghio S, Cleland JG, Zannad F, Lacolley P (2012) Association of galectin-3 and fibrosis markers with long-term cardiovascular outcomes in patients with heart failure, left ventricular dysfunction, and dyssynchrony: insights from the CARE-HF (Cardiac Resynchronization in Heart Failure) trial. Eur J Heart Fail 14:74–81
- Lourenço P, Paulo Araújo J, Paulo C, Mascarenhas J, Friões F, Azevedo A, Bettencourt P (2010) Higher C-reactive protein predicts worse prognosis in acute heart failure only in noninfected patients. Clin Cardiol 33:708–714
- Maeder MT, Rickenbacher P, Rickli H, Abbühl H, Gutmann M, Erne P, Vuilliomenet A, Peter M, Pfisterer M, Brunner-La Rocca HP, TIME-CHF Investigators (2013) N-terminal pro brain natriuretic peptide-guided management in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction: findings from the Trial of Intensified versus standard medical therapy in elderly patients with congestive heart failure (TIME-CHF). Eur J Heart Fail 15:1148–1156
- Maisel AS, Krishnaswamy P, Nowak RM, et al., Breathing Not Properly Multinational Study Investigators (2002) Rapid measurement of B-type natriuretic peptide in the emergency diagnosis of heart failure. N Engl J Med 347:161–167
- Maisel A, Mueller C, Nowak RM, Peacock WF, Ponikowski P, Mockel M, Hogan C, Wu AH, Richards M, Clopton P, Filippatos GS, Di Somma S, Anand I, Ng LL, Daniels LB, Neath SX, Christenson R, Potocki M, McCord J, Hartmann O, Morgenthaler NG, Anker SD (2011a) Midregion prohormone adrenomedullin and prognosis in patients presenting with acute dyspnea: results from the BACH (Biomarkers in Acute Heart Failure) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 58:1057–1067
- Maisel AS, Mueller C, Fitzgerald R, Brikhan R, Hiestand BC, Iqbal N, Clopton P, van Veldhuisen DJ (2011b) Prognostic utility of plasma neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin in patients with acute heart failure: the NGAL EvaLuation Along with B-type NaTriuretic Peptide in acutely decompensated heart failure (GALLANT) trial. Eur J Heart Fail 13:846–851
- Maisel A, Xue Y, Shah K, Mueller C, Nowak R, Peacock WF, Ponikowski P, Mockel M, Hogan C, Wu AH, Richards M, Clopton P, Filippatos GS, Di Somma S, Anand IS, Ng L, Daniels LB, Neath SX, Christenson R, Potocki M, McCord J, Terracciano G, Kremastinos D, Hartmann O, von Haehling S, Bergmann A, Morgenthaler NG, Anker SD (2011c) Increased 90-day mortality in patients with acute heart failure with elevated copeptin: secondary results from the Biomarkers in Acute Heart Failure (BACH) study. Circ Heart Fail 4:613–620
- Mann DL (2015) Innate immunity and the failing heart: the cytokine hypothesis revisited. Circ Res 116:1254–1268
- Mann DL, McMurray JJ, Packer M, Swedberg K, Borer JS, Colucci WS, Djian J, Drexler H, Feldman A, Kober L, Krum H, Liu P, Nieminen M, Tavazzi L, van Veldhuisen DJ, Waldenstrom A, Warren M, Westheim A, Zannad F, Fleming T (2004) Targeted anticytokine therapy in patients with chronic heart failure: results of the Randomized Etanercept Worldwide Evaluation (RENEWAL). Circulation 109:1594–1602
- Manzano-Fernández S, Mueller T, Pascual-Figal D, Truong QA, Januzzi JL (2011) Usefulness of soluble concentrations of interleukin family member ST2 as predictor of mortality in patients

with acutely decompensated heart failure relative to left ventricular ejection fraction. Am J Cardiol 107:259-267

- Masson S, Latini R, Anand IS, Vago T, Angelici L, Barlera S, Missov ED, Clerico A, Tognoni G, Cohn JN, Val-HeFT Investigators (2006) Direct comparison of B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and amino-terminal proBNP in a large population of patients with chronic and symptomatic heart failure: the Valsartan Heart Failure (Val-HeFT) data. Clin Chem 52:1528–1538
- Masson S, Latini R, Anand IS, Barlera S, Angelici L, Vago T, Tognoni G, Cohn JN, Val-HeFT Investigators (2008) Prognostic value of changes in N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide in Val-HeFT (Valsartan Heart Failure Trial). J Am Coll Cardiol 52:997–1003
- Masson S, Latini R, Carbonieri E, Moretti L, Rossi MG, Ciricugno S, Milani V, Marchioli R, Struck J, Bergmann A, Maggioni AP, Tognoni G, Tavazzi L, GISSI-HF Investigators (2010a) The predictive value of stable precursor fragments of vasoactive peptides in patients with chronic heart failure: data from the GISSI-heart failure (GISSI-HF) trial. Eur J Heart Fail 12:338–347
- Masson S, Latini R, Milani V, Moretti L, Rossi MG, Carbonieri E, Frisinghelli A, Minneci C, Valisi M, Maggioni AP, Marchioli R, Tognoni G, Tavazzi L, GISSI-HF Investigators (2010b) Prevalence and prognostic value of elevated urinary albumin excretion in patients with chronic heart failure: data from the GISSI-Heart Failure trial. Circ Heart Fail 3:65–72
- Masson S, Anand I, Favero C, Barlera S, Vago T, Bertocchi F, Maggioni AP, Tavazzi L, Tognoni G, Cohn JN, Latini R, Valsartan Heart Failure Trial (Val-HeFT), Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Insufficienza Cardiaca–Heart Failure (GISSI-HF) Investigators (2012) Serial measurement of cardiac troponin T using a highly sensitive assay in patients with chronic heart failure: data from 2 large randomized clinical trials. Circulation 125:280–288
- McCullough PA, Duc P, Omland T, McCord J, Nowak RM, Hollander JE, Herrmann HC, Steg PG, Westheim A, Knudsen CW, Storrow AB, Abraham WT, Lamba S, Wu AH, Perez A, Clopton P, Krishnaswamy P, Kazanegra R, Maisel AS, Breathing Not Properly Multinational Study Investigators (2003) B-type natriuretic peptide and renal function in the diagnosis of heart failure: an analysis from the Breathing Not Properly Multinational Study. Am J Kidney Dis 41:571–579
- McGeechan K, Macaskill P, Irwig L, Liew G, Wong TY (2008) Assessing new biomarkers and predictive models for use in clinical practice: a clinician's guide. Arch Intern Med 168:2304–2310
- McKelvie RS, Komajda M, McMurray J et al (2010) Baseline plasma NT-proBNP and clinical characteristics: results from the irbesartan in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction trial. J Card Fail 16:128–134
- McMurray JJ, Kjekshus J, Gullestad L, Dunselman P, Hjalmarson A, Wedel H, Lindberg M, Waagstein F, Grande P, Hradec J, Kamenský G, Korewicki J, Kuusi T, Mach F, Ranjith N, Wikstrand J, CORONA Study Group (2009) Effects of statin therapy according to plasma highsensitivity C-reactive protein concentration in the Controlled Rosuvastatin Multinational Trial in Heart Failure (CORONA): a retrospective analysis. Circulation 120:2188–2196
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Zile MR, PARADIGM-HF Investigators and Committees (2014) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 371:993–1004
- Moertl D, Berger R, Struck J, Gleiss A, Hammer A, Morgenthaler NG, Bergmann A, Huelsmann M, Pacher R (2009) Comparison of midregional pro-atrial and B-type natriuretic peptides in chronic heart failure: influencing factors, detection of left ventricular systolic dysfunction, and prediction of death. J Am Coll Cardiol 53:1783–1790
- Motiwala SR, Januzzi JL (2013) The role of natriuretic peptides as biomarkers for guiding the management of chronic heart failure. Clin Pharmacol Ther 93:57–67
- Nymo SH, Ueland T, Askevold ET, Flo TH, Kjekshus J, Hulthe J, Wikstrand J, McMurray J, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Gullestad L, Aukrust P, Yndestad A (2012) The association between neutrophil

gelatinase-associated lipocalin and clinical outcome in chronic heart failure: results from CORONA*. J Intern Med 271:436–443

- Packer M, McMurray JJ, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Zile M, Andersen K, Arango JL, Arnold JM, Bělohlávek J, Böhm M, Boytsov S, Burgess LJ, Cabrera W, Calvo C, Chen CH, Dukat A, Duarte YC, Erglis A, Fu M, Gomez E, Gonzàlez-Medina A, Hagège AA, Huang J, Katova T, Kiatchoosakun S, Kim KS, Kozan Ö, Llamas EB, Martinez F, Merkely B, Mendoza I, Mosterd A, Negrusz-Kawecka M, Peuhkurinen K, Ramires FJ, Refsgaard J, Rosenthal A, Senni M, Sibulo AS Jr, Silva-Cardoso J, Squire IB, Starling RC, Teerlink JR, Vanhaecke J, Vinereanu D, Wong RC, PARADIGM-HF Investigators and Coordinators (2015) Angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibition compared with enalapril on the risk of clinical progression in surviving patients with heart failure. Circulation 131:54–61
- Palazzuoli A, Pellegrini M, Ruocco G, Martini G, Franci B, Campagna MS, Gilleman M, Nuti R, McCullough PA, Ronco C (2014) Continuous versus bolus intermittent loop diuretic infusion in acutely decompensated heart failure: a prospective randomized trial. Crit Care 18:R134
- Pankow K, Wang Y, Gembardt F, Krause E, Sun X, Krause G, Schultheiss HP, Siems WE, Walther T (2007) Successive action of meprin A and neprilysin catabolizes B-type natriuretic peptide. Circ Res 101:875–882
- Parekh N, Maisel AS (2009) Utility of B-natriuretic peptide in the evaluation of left ventricular diastolic function and diastolic heart failure. Curr Opin Cardiol 24:155–160
- Parikh NI, Vasan RS (2007) Assessing the clinical utility of biomarkers in medicine. Biomark Med 1:419–436
- Pascual-Figal DA, Januzzi JL (2015) The biology of ST2: the International ST2 Consensus Panel. Am J Cardiol 115:3B–7B
- Passino C, Severino S, Poletti R, Piepoli MF, Mammini C, Clerico A, Gabutti A, Nassi G, Emdin M (2006) Aerobic training decreases B-type natriuretic peptide expression and adrenergic activation in patients with heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 47:1835–1839
- Passino C, Poletti R, Fontana M, Vergaro G, Prontera C, Gabutti A, Giannoni A, Emdin M, Clerico A (2008) Clinical relevance of non-cardiac determinants of natriuretic peptide levels. Clin Chem Lab Med 46:1515–1523
- Passino C, Pingitore A, Landi P, Fontana M, Zyw L, Clerico A, Emdin M, Iervasi G (2009) Prognostic value of combined measurement of brain natriuretic peptide and triiodothyronine in heart failure. J Card Fail 15:35–40
- Paulus WJ (2000) Cytokines and heart failure. Heart Fail Monit 1:50-56
- Peacock WF 4th, De Marco T, Fonarow GC, Diercks D, Wynne J, Apple FS, Wu AH, ADHERE Investigators (2008) Cardiac troponin and outcome in acute heart failure. N Engl J Med 358:2117–2126
- Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB Sr, D'Agostino RB Jr, Vasan RS (2008) Evaluating the added predictive ability of a new marker: from area under the ROC curve to reclassification and beyond. Stat Med 27:157–172
- Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Vasan RS (2010) Statistical methods for assessment of added usefulness of new biomarkers. Clin Chem Lab Med 48:1703–1711
- Pfisterer M, Buser P, Rickli H, Gutmann M, Erne P, Rickenbacher P, Vuillomenet A, Jeker U, Dubach P, Beer H, Yoon SI, Suter T, Osterhues HH, Schieber MM, Hilti P, Schindler R, Brunner-La Rocca HP, TIME-CHF Investigators (2009) BNP-guided vs symptom-guided heart failure therapy: the Trial of Intensified vs Standard Medical Therapy in Elderly Patients With Congestive Heart Failure (TIME-CHF) randomized trial. JAMA 301:383–392
- Pitt B, Pfeffer MA, Assmann SF, Boineau R, Anand IS, Claggett B, Clausell N, Desai AS, Diaz R, Fleg JL, Gordeev I, Harty B, Heitner JF, Kenwood CT, Lewis EF, O'Meara E, Probstfield JL, Shaburishvili T, Shah SJ, Solomon SD, Sweitzer NK, Yang S, McKinlay SM, TOPCAT Investigators (2014) Spironolactone for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 370:1383–1392

- Poletti R, Vergaro G, Zyw L, Prontera C, Passino C, Emdin M (2013) Prognostic value of plasma renin activity in heart failure patients with chronic kidney disease. Int J Cardiol 167:711–715
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ, Falk V, González-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GM, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P, Authors/Task Force Members, Document Reviewers (2016) 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail 18:891–975
- Pozsonyi Z, Förhécz Z, Gombos T, Karádi I, Jánoskuti L, Prohászka Z (2015) Copeptin (C-terminal pro arginine-vasopressin) is an independent long-term prognostic marker in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. Heart Lung Circ 24:359–367
- Pruett AE, Lee AK, Patterson JH, Schwartz TA, Glotzer JM, Adams KF Jr (2015) Evolution of biomarker guided therapy for heart failure: current concepts and trial evidence. Curr Cardiol Rev 11:80–89
- Putko BN, Yogasundaram H, Oudit GY (2014a) The harbinger of mortality in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: do GDF-15 levels reflect tandem, deterministic effects of fibrosis and inflammation? Can J Cardiol 30:264–266
- Putko BN, Wang Z, Lo J, Anderson T, Becher H, Dyck JR, Kassiri Z, Oudit GY, Alberta HEART Investigators (2014b) Circulating levels of tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptor 2 are increased in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction relative to heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: evidence for a divergence in pathophysiology. PLoS One 9, e99495
- Qian C, Wei B, Ding J, Wu H, Wang Y (2016) The efficacy and safety of iron supplementation in patients with heart failure and iron deficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Cardiol 32:151–159
- Qiang L, Hong L, Ningfu W, Huaihong C, Jing W (2013) Expression of miR-126 and miR-508-5p in endothelial progenitor cells is associated with the prognosis of chronic heart failure patients. Int J Cardiol 168:2082–2088
- Rehman SU, Mueller T, Januzzi JL Jr (2008) Characteristics of the novel interleukin family biomarker ST2 in patients with acute heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 52:1458–1465
- Richards AM (2008) Serial measurements of plasma B-type natriuretic peptides: what do they tell us? J Am Coll Cardiol 52:1004–1005
- Richards AM, Doughty R, Nicholls MG, MacMahon S, Sharpe N, Murphy J, Espiner EA, Frampton C, Yandle TG, Australia-New Zealand Heart Failure Group (2001) Plasma N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and adrenomedullin: prognostic utility and prediction of benefit from carvedilol in chronic ischemic left ventricular dysfunction Australia-New Zealand Heart Failure Group. J Am Coll Cardiol 37:1781–1787
- Rosenberg J, Gustafsson F, Remme WJ, Riegger GA, Hildebrandt PR (2008) Effect of betablockade and ACE inhibition on B-type natriuretic peptides in stable patients with systolic heart failure. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 22:305–311
- Røsjø H, Masson S, Latini R, Flyvbjerg A, Milani V, La Rovere MT, Revera M, Mezzani A, Tognoni G, Tavazzi L, Omland T, GISSI-HF Investigators (2010) Prognostic value of chromogranin A in chronic heart failure: data from the GISSI-Heart Failure trial. Eur J Heart Fail 12:549–556
- Rousseau MF, Gurné O, Duprez D, Van Mieghem W, Robert A, Ahn S, Galanti L, Ketelslegers JM, Belgian RALES Investigators (2002) Beneficial neurohormonal profile of spironolactone in severe congestive heart failure: results from the RALES neurohormonal substudy. J Am Coll Cardiol 40:1596–1601
- Sanada S et al (2007) IL-33 and ST2 comprise a critical biomechanically induced and cardioprotective signaling system. J Clin Invest 117:1538–1549
- Sanders-van Wijk S, van Empel V, Davarzani N, Maeder MT, Handschin R, Pfisterer ME, Brunner-La Rocca HP, TIME-CHF Investigators (2015) Circulating biomarkers of distinct

pathophysiological pathways in heart failure with preserved vs reduced left ventricular ejection fraction. Eur J Heart Fail 17:1006–1014

- Santhanakrishnan R, Chong JP, Ng TP, Ling LH, Sim D, Leong KT, Yeo PS, Ong HY, Jaufeerally F, Wong R, Chai P, Low AF, Richards AM, Lam CS (2012) Growth differentiation factor 15, ST2, high-sensitivity troponin T, and N-terminal pro brain natriuretic peptide in heart failure with preserved vs reduced ejection fraction. Eur J Heart Fail 14:1338–1347
- Semenov AG, Katrukha AG (2016) Different susceptibility of B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and BNP precursor (proBNP) to cleavage by neprilysin: the N-terminal part does matter. Clin Chem 62:617–622
- Senni M, Gavazzi A, Oliva F, Mortara A, Urso R, Pozzoli M, Metra M, Lucci D, Gonzini L, Cirrincione V, Montagna L, Di Lenarda A, Maggioni AP, Tavazzi L, IN HF Outcome Investigators (2014) In-hospital and 1-year outcomes of acute heart failure patients according to presentation (de novo vs. worsening) and ejection fraction. Results from IN-HF Outcome Registry. Int J Cardiol 173:163–169
- Shah RV, Chen-Tournoux AA, Picard MH, van Kimmenade RR, Januzzi JL (2009) Serum levels of the interleukin-1 receptor family member ST2, cardiac structure and function, and long-term mortality in patients with acute dyspnea. Circ Heart Fail 2:311–319
- Shah RV, Chen-Tournoux AA, Picard MH, van Kimmenade RR, Januzzi JL (2010) Galectin-3, cardiac structure and function, and long-term mortality in patients with acutely decompensated heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 12:826–832
- Shah KB, Kop WJ, Christenson RH, Diercks DB, Henderson S, Hanson K, Li SY, de Filippi CR (2011) Prognostic utility of ST2 in patients with acute dyspnea and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction. Clin Chem 57:874–882
- Shah RV, Truong QA, Gaggin HK, Pfannkuche J, Hartmann O, Januzzi JL Jr (2012) Mid-regional pro-atrial natriuretic peptide and pro-adrenomedullin testing for the diagnostic and prognostic evaluation of patients with acute dyspnoea. Eur Heart J 33:2197–2205
- Sola S, Mir MQ, Lerakis S, Tandon N, Khan BV (2006) Atorvastatin improves left ventricular systolic function and serum markers of inflammation in nonischemic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 47:332–337
- Solomon SD, Zile M, Pieske B, Voors A, Shah A, Kraigher-Krainer E, Shi V, Bransford T, Takeuchi M, Gong J, Lefkowitz M, Packer M, McMurray JJ, Prospective comparison of ARNI with ARB on Management Of heart failUre with preserved ejectioN fracTion (PARAMOUNT) Investigators (2012) The angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor LCZ696 in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a phase 2 double-blind randomised controlled trial. Lancet 380:1387–1395
- Stahrenberg R, Edelmann F, Mende M, Kockskämper A, Düngen HD, Lüers C, Binder L, Herrmann-Lingen C, Gelbrich G, Hasenfuss G, Pieske B, Wachter R (2010) The novel biomarker growth differentiation factor 15 in heart failure with normal ejection fraction. Eur J Heart Fail 12:1309–1316
- Tijsen AJ, Creemers EE, Moerland PD, de Windt LJ, van der Wal AC, Kok WE, Pinto YM (2010) MiR423-5p as a circulating biomarker for heart failure. Circ Res 106:1035–1039
- Tota B, Angelone T, Cerra MC (2014) The surging role of Chromogranin A in cardiovascular homeostasis. Front Chem 2:64
- Troughton RW, Frampton CM, Yandle TG et al (2000) Treatment of heart failure guided by plasma amino-terminal brain natriuretic peptide (N-BNP) concentrations. Lancet 355:1126–1130
- Tschope C, Kasner M, Westermann D, Gaub R, Poller WC, Schultheiss HP (2005) The role of NTproBNP in the diagnostics of isolated diastolic dysfunction: correlation with echocardiographic and invasive measurements. Eur Heart J 26:2277–2284
- Tsutamoto T, Tanaka T, Sakai H, Ishikawa C, Fujii M, Yamamoto T, Horie M (2007) Total and high molecular weight adiponectin, haemodynamics, and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 28:1723–1730

- van Kimmenade RR, Januzzi JL Jr, Ellinor PT, Sharma UC, Bakker JA, Low AF, Martinez A, Crijns HJ, MacRae CA, Menheere PP, Pinto YM (2006) Utility of amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide, galectin-3, and apelin for the evaluation of patients with acute heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 48:1217–1224
- van Kimmenade RR, Pinto YM, Januzzi JL Jr (2008) Importance and interpretation of intermediate (gray zone) amino-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide concentrations. Am J Cardiol 101:39–42
- van Veldhuisen DJ, Linssen GC, Jaarsma T, van Gilst WH, Hoes AW, Tijssen JG, Paulus WJ, Voors AA, Hillege HL (2013) B-type natriuretic peptide and prognosis in heart failure patients with preserved and reduced ejection fraction. J Am Coll Cardiol 61:1498–1506
- van Veldhuisen DJ, Ruilope LM, Maisel AS, Damman K (2015) Biomarkers of renal injury and function: diagnostic, prognostic and therapeutic implications in heart failure. Eur Heart J pii: ehv588 [Epub ahead of print]
- Vanderheyden M, Bartunek J, Goethals M, Verstreken S, Lambeir AM, De Meester I, Scharpé S (2009) Dipeptidyl-peptidase IV and B-type natriuretic peptide. From bench to bedside. Clin Chem Lab Med 47:248–252
- Vasan RS (2006) Biomarkers of cardiovascular disease: molecular basis and practical considerations. Circulation 113:2335–2362
- Vegter EL, van der Meer P, de Windt LJ, Pinto YM, Voors AA (2016) MicroRNAs in heart failure: from biomarker to target for therapy. Eur J Heart Fail 18:457–468
- Vergaro G, Emdin M, Iervasi A, Zyw L, Gabutti A, Poletti R, Mammini C, Giannoni A, Fontana M, Passino C (2011) Prognostic value of plasma renin activity in heart failure. Am J Cardiol 108:246–251
- Vergaro G, Prud'homme M, Fazal L, Merval R, Passino C, Emdin M, Samuel JL, Cohen Solal A, Delcayre C (2016) Inhibition of galectin-3 pathway prevents isoproterenol-induced left ventricular dysfunction and fibrosis in mice. Hypertension 67:606–612
- Wright SP, Doughty RN, Pearl A, Gamble GD, Whalley GA, Walsh HJ, Gordon G, Bagg W, Oxenham H, Yandle T, Richards M, Sharpe N (2003) Plasma amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and accuracy of heart-failure diagnosis in primary care: a randomized, controlled trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 42:1793–1800
- Xue Y, Clopton P, Peacock WF, Maisel AS (2011) Serial changes in high-sensitive troponin I predict outcome in patients with decompensated heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 13:37–42
- Yamaji M, Tsutamoto T, Tanaka T, Kawahara C, Nishiyama K, Yamamoto T, Fujii M, Horie M (2009) Effect of carvedilol on plasma adiponectin concentration in patients with chronic heart failure. Circ J 73:1067–1073
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Drazner MH, Fonarow GC, Geraci SA, Horwich T, Januzzi JL, Johnson MR, Kasper EK, Levy WC, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, McMurray JJ, Mitchell JE, Peterson PN, Riegel B, Sam F, Stevenson LW, Tang WH, Tsai EJ, Wilkoff BL, American College of Cardiology Foundation, American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (2013) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 62(e147–239)
- Yu CM, Cheung BM, Leung R, Wang Q, Lai WH, Lau CP (2001) Increase in plasma adrenomedullin in patients with heart failure characterized by diastolic dysfunction. Heart 86:155–160

Heart Failure Guidelines on Pharmacotherapy

Lampros Papadimitriou, Carine E. Hamo, and Javed Butler

Contents

1	Intro	duction	110
2	Role of Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone System and Sympathetic System Activity		
	in H	eart Failure	111
3	HFrEF Stage C Pharmacological Therapy		112
	3.1	Beta-Blockers	112
4	ACE	Inhibitors	114
	4.1	Recommendations	114
	4.2	Mechanism of Action	115
	4.3	Adverse Effects	115
5	ARE	3s	116
	5.1	Recommendations	116
	5.2	Mechanism of Action	116
	5.3	Adverse Effects	117
6	ARNIs		117
	6.1	Recommendations	117
	6.2	Mechanism of Action	118
	6.3	Adverse Effects	118
7	Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists		118
	7.1	Recommendations	118
	7.2	Mechanism of Action	119
	7.3	Adverse Effects	119
8	Hydralazine/Nitrates		120
	8.1	Recommendations	120
	8.2	Mechanism of Action	120
	8.3	Adverse Effects	121
9	Ivab	radine	121
	9.1	Recommendations	121
	9.2	Mechanism of Action	121

L. Papadimitriou (🖂) • C.E. Hamo • J. Butler

Division of Cardiology, Stony Brook Medicine, Health Sciences Center T-16, Room 080, Stony Brook, NY 11794, USA

e-mail: lampros.papadimitriou@stonybrookmedicine.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_24

	9.3	Adverse Effects	122
10 Diuretics		tics	122
	10.1	Recommendations	122
	10.2	Mechanism of Action	122
	10.3	Adverse Effects	125
11	Other	Recommended Medications for Treatment of HFrEF Stage C	125
12	HFpE	F Stage C Pharmacological Therapy	125
Disc	losure	s	127
Sup	port		127
Refe	erences	5	128

Abstract

Heart Failure (HF) is a serious emerging Public Health issue mainly in the high-income countries. In the USA, more than 6 million adults are affected. Despite the latest advances in device and pharmacological therapeutics, it still carries a huge burden, partially reflected in the annual healthcare cost of approximately \$30 billion (2012) and the 5 year mortality rate of 50%. In this article, we review the medications, proven to significantly reduce mortality and morbidity in HF patients with structural myocardial disease and past or current symptoms, based on the latest North American HF guidelines. We, finally, perform a brief comparison between the former recommendations and the published 2016 HF guidelines by European Society of Cardiology.

Keywords

Guidelines • Heart failure • HFrEF • Stage C

1 Introduction

Heart Failure (HF) is a global epidemic. The prevalence of HF in the USA has increased from 5.7 million (2009–2012) to 6.5 million (2011–2014), in subjects \geq 20 years old (Benjamin et al. 2017). Despite all of the advances in pharmacologic and device therapy, the 1 and 5 year mortality remains relatively high at approximately 30 and 50%, respectively. The scope of this chapter is to describe the guideline-directed medical treatment (GDMT) for subjects with stage C HF. More specifically we are going to analyze the pharmacological regimens for HF subjects with established myocardial structural disease and current or prior symptomatology, with reduced ejection fraction (EF) of \leq 40% (HFrEF) or preserved EF of \geq 50% (HFpEF). Both types have different pathophysiologic mechanisms and myocardial phenotypes, however, they trigger the same pathophysiologic cascade, initiated by the reduced supply of blood and oxygen to the human body.

HFpEF represents almost 50% of the total HF population, with similar morbidity and mortality rates compared to HFrEF. However, up to date there are no evidence-based therapies shown to benefit survival in HFpEF subjects. Additionally, the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) recently published the latest HF recommendations, where they introduced the novel concept of HF with a middle range EF, between 40 and 49%

(HFmrEF). Due to the recent introduction of the latter, there is scarce evidence regarding treatment, thus we are not going to make particular references to this classification.

Finally, we are going to depict the similarities and differences between the HF guidelines of ESC 2016 (Ponikowski et al. 2016) and the joint recommendations for HF treatment from the American College of Cardiology (ACC), American Heart Association (AHA) (Yancy et al. 2013a), in conjunction with the respective latest focused pharmacologic update of 2016 (Writing Committee M and Acc/Aha Task Force M 2016).

2 Role of Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone System and Sympathetic System Activity in Heart Failure

The detrimental effects of HF on exercise capacity, symptoms, and mortality can be attributed to the overactivation of Renin Angiotensin Aldosterone System (RAAS) and Sympathetic System Activity (SSA). Low cardiac output activates the sympathetic system (SS) by desensitizing the aortic arch and carotid baroreceptors and stimulating the cardiovascular low threshold polymodal receptors and peripheral chemoreceptors (Triposkiadis et al. 2009), resulting in secretion of nor-epinephrine (NE) and epinephrine (EPI) in the cardiovascular system.

The overactivation of RAAS in HF is mediated by renal hypoperfusion and increased SSA. As a result, renin is secreted by the juxtaglomerular cells, catalyzing the transformation of angiotensinogen to angiotensin I and through ACE to angiotensin II. Angiotensin II is the main concluding product of this cascade, which by stimulating specific receptors and the secretion of aldosterone, leads to vasoconstriction, oxidative stress, fibrosis, salt and water retention, and further activation of the SS (Orsborne et al. 2017).

There is ample evidence that agents targeting RAAS and SSA improve mortality, morbidity, and symptomatology in HF. Of these, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACE-I), angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB), beta-blockers (BB), mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRA), and angiotensin receptor/ neprilysin inhibitors (ARNIs) benefit survival.

From the other types of HF medications, which act through other pathways, such as diuretics, antiarrhythmic medications, vasodilators, calcium channel blockers (CCB), and statins, only a novel blocker of the funny channel, ivabradine, and the combination of hydralazine/isosorbide dinitrate improved survival, while the others only improved signs and symptoms.

In this chapter, we are initially going to describe the guideline recommendations and details about the agents that act through the RAAS and SSA pathophysiologic mechanisms, and then the other types of agents, all in subjects with stage C HF.

3 HFrEF Stage C Pharmacological Therapy

3.1 Beta-Blockers

3.1.1 Recommendations

According to the latest 2013 American HF guidelines the use of one of the three BB proven to reduce mortality (bisoprolol, carvedilol, metoprolol succinate) is recommended for all subjects with HFrEF, unless contraindicated, to reduce mortality and morbidity with a class I and level of recommendation A, which is in line with the latest ESC 2016 guidelines.

3.1.2 Mechanism of Action

Bisoprolol, like metoprolol, is a cardioselective BB, which means that it targets only the b1 receptors. It has a half-life of 9–12 h, low plasma binding and is excreted by both the liver and kidneys. The Cardiac Insufficiency Bisoprolol Study II (CIBIS-II) established the use of bisoprolol in HF. This was a multicenter trial of 2,647 patients with an EF \leq 35%, already receiving ACE-I, randomized to bisoprolol vs placebo, with a primary endpoint of all cause mortality. CIBIS-II was stopped early, because it demonstrated that bisoprolol decreased mortality by 34% (hazard ratio (HR): 0.66, 95% confidence interval (CI) 0.54–0.81, p < 0.0001) (CIBIS-II Investigators and Committees 1999). The starting dose of bisoprolol is 1.25 mg, and should be uptitrated to 10 mg, if tolerable.

Sustained-release metoprolol (succinate) and carvedilol are both non-selective blockers of b1, b2 adrenergic receptors, while carvedilol also blocks a1 receptors. In the Effect of Metoprolol CR/XL in Chronic Heart Failure: Metoprolol CR/XL Randomized Intervention Trial in Congestive Heart Failure (MERIT-HF), almost 4,000 subjects, with EF \leq 40% were randomized to metoprolol CR/XL vs placebo. The study was stopped early after a mean follow-up of 1 year, demonstrating a reduction in all cause mortality by 34% (HR: 0.66, 95%, CI 0.53–0.81, p = 0.0009). Metoprolol has a half-life of 3-7 h, low plasma protein binding and is excreted through the liver. In HF, the starting dose could be between 12.5 and 25 mg daily, and uptitrated to a target dose of 200 mg as tolerated. The BB with the most ample evidence supporting the reduction of mortality in HFrEF is carvedilol. In the Effect of Carvedilol on the Morbidity of Patients With Severe Chronic Heart Failure (COPERNICUS) study (Packer et al. 2002) 2,289 subjects with chronic stable HF but with an EF \leq 25% were randomized to carvedilol vs placebo. After a mean follow-up of 10.4 months, it was shown that carvedilol reduced the primary endpoint of all cause mortality by 35% (p = 0.00013). Similarly, carvedilol reduced the combined endpoint of death from cardiovascular (CVD) hospitalization by 27% (p = 0.00002). This effect was consistent across several subgroups, based on ischemic or non-ischemic etiology, age, and gender. In another trial with carvedilol vs placebo in 1,959 patients with EF < 40% post MI, there was an absolute risk reduction of 3.4% for total mortality in the carvedilol subgroup (Dargie 2001).

The three key trials (CIBIS II, MERIT-HF, COPERNICUS) reduced mortality and hospital admissions for HF by 34 and 28–36%, respectively. BB have proven their efficacy in patients with mild, moderate, and severe (NYHA class IV) HF. However, the beneficial effect of BB cannot be applied as a class effect. This is supported by the direct comparison of metoprolol vs carvedilol in 3,029 patients with an EF <30%, with a mean follow-up of 58 months. All cause mortality was significantly lower in the carvedilol vs the metoprolol group (34 vs 40%, respectively), though there was no statistically significant difference between the composite endpoint of mortality and all cause admission (HR: 0.94, 95% CI: 0.86–1.02, p = 0.122) (Poole-Wilson et al. 2003). In this study carvedilol extended survival over metoprolol, however, it should be noted that the short acting metoprolol tartrate was used and not metoprolol succinate, which was used in MERIT-HF.

BB should be started at low doses in stable patients, in addition to an ACE-I or ARB. It should also be noted that the addition of a BB to a small dose of ACE-I or ARB, rather than a single uptitration of the latter is preferred, and that in the presence or recent history of fluid overload, they should not be used without diuretics (Yancy et al. 2013b). During the early stages of use, there should be close monitoring, since hypotension and fluid retention may occur requiring pharmacotherapy adjustments. The final goal is the careful uptitration to the target doses that were effective in the major clinical studies, or the maximum tolerated doses.

3.1.3 Adverse Effects

The main side effects of BB in HF are: (1) allergic reactions to the active/non-active ingredients, (2) fatigue: this symptom could be attributed to decreased availability of oxygen to the muscles, the co-existence of skeletal muscle inflammation, anemia, and mood disorders, (3) bradycardia or advanced heart block: as a direct effect of the *b*-adrenergic receptor blockade, heart rate (HR) will decrease, and some times 2nd or 3rd degree heart block may develop. In those cases the BB should be discontinued, otherwise if there are symptoms of lightheadedness and dizziness a decrease in dose would be of some benefit, (4) hypotension: in the occurrence of hypotensive episodes, the administration of a BB or ACE-I/ARB at different times during the day, and the decrease in the diuretic dose in volume depleted subjects would be the first therapeutic steps, (5) worsening of HF and fluid retention: increase in diuretic dose and/or decrease in the BB dose may be warranted. In general, abrupt withdrawal of BB should be avoided because it can lead to acute decompensation.

Absolute contraindications to the use of BB are: (1) presence of 2nd or 3rd degree heart block (in the absence of a pacemaker), (2) known allergic reaction or other adverse reaction, (3) critical limb ischemia, (4) asthma: this is a relative contraindication, but cardioselective BB (metoprolol, bisoprolol) could be used under close monitoring. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is not a contraindication.

4 ACE Inhibitors

4.1 Recommendations

In the latest 2016 pharmacologic update of the HF guidelines (Writing Committee M and Acc/Aha Task Force M 2016) it is stated that all patients with HFrEF should be prescribed an ACE-I or ARB or ARNI and a BB, if tolerated as a class I level of evidence A, which is in line with the recent ESC HF guidelines.

The use of ACE-I is beneficial for patients with prior or current symptoms to reduce morbidity and mortality. Though not all ACE-I were tested in HF, it appears that there is a class effect. In a large meta-analysis of approximately 7,100 patients participating in clinical trials in HF with various ACE-I, it was shown that ACE-I significantly reduced total mortality (HR: 0.77, 95% CI: 0.67–0.88, p < 0.001) and the combined endpoint of mortality and HF hospitalization (HR: 0.65, 95% CI: 0.57–0.74, p < 0.001) (Garg and Yusuf 1995). The reductions in mortality and the combined endpoint were similar among the various subpopulations based on age, sex, race, etiology, and severity of symptoms.

The key trials, which established the use of ACE-I in HF, were CONSENSUS and SOLVD, both with enalapril. The Results of the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study (CONSENSUS) (The CONSENSUS Trial Study Group 1987) included 253 patients with NYHA class IV HF randomized to placebo vs enalapril with a target daily dose of 20 mg. By the end of the study, enalapril resulted in a 27% reduction in all cause mortality (p = 0.003), and significant improvement in NYHA classification, and heart size. In Studies of Left Ventricular Dysfunction (SOLVD) (The SOLVD Investigators 1991) approximately 2,500 subjects with an EF \leq 35% were randomized to placebo vs enalapril, with a target daily dose of 20 mg. After a mean follow-up of 41 months, it was shown that enalapril significantly reduced total mortality by 16% (p = 0.003) and HF hospitalizations by 26% (p = 0.0001).

Based on these two trials, and others with ACE-I mostly in left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction (MI), it is considered that the mortality and morbidity benefit of ACE-I is a class effect. However, the beneficial effect seems to occur at the higher target doses used in the trials. In Assessment of Treatment with Lisinopril and Survival (ATLAS) (Packer et al. 1999) the use of an average dose of 33.2 ± 5.4 vs 4.5 ± 1.1 mg lisinopril failed to meet the primary endpoint of mortality, in 3,164 patients with an EF \leq 30% and a median follow-up of 45 months. However, the higher doses of lisinopril did reduce the composite secondary endpoint of death or hospitalization by 12% (p = 0.002), and HF hospitalizations by 24% (p = 0.002). Interestingly, another study assessing the effect of a daily dose of 5 vs 10 vs 20 mg enalapril on 1,500 HF subjects with NYHA class II–IV found that there was no difference between the three groups on survival and morbidity (The NETWORK Investigators 1998).

4.2 Mechanism of Action

ACE-I diminish the production of angiotensin II, and produce a subsequent reduction in the levels of aldosterone and catecholamines and an increase in renin, angiotensin I, and bradykinin, by inhibiting its degradation. ACE-I trigger a reduction in cardiac and vascular hypertrophy and extracellular matrix proliferation, and improve ventricular remodeling after an MI. Production of bradykinin and subsequently of nitric oxide (NO) have also been related with the antiatherogenic effects of ACE-I. In the kidneys, they maximize renal blood flow by decreasing renal vascular resistance, thus enhancing sodium and water excretion.

ACE-I should be started at low doses and gradually uptitrated, with a target of the clinical trials' dose if tolerated. Renal function and potassium should be checked within 1–2 weeks from initiation, and periodically thereafter. Abrupt discontinuation is strongly discouraged since it can lead to clinical deterioration.

4.3 Adverse Effects

Specific attention should be given along with close follow-up in patients with baseline hypotension, renal dysfunction, high serum potassium levels, hyponatremia, and diabetes mellitus (DM). History of angioedema or of any other allergic reaction and bilateral renal artery stenosis are absolute contraindications for the use of ACE-I. ACE-I are contraindicated during pregnancy, since they are shown to exert teratogenic effects on fetuses, such as oligohydramnios, renal dysgenesis, pulmonary hypoplasia, and neonatal death.

The main adverse reactions of ACE-I can be attributed to the suppression of angiotensin II and the accumulation of kinin. Hypotension, renal dysfunction, and hyperkalemia can occur not only because of the former, but also because of the increase in kinin and angiotensin I, which have established vasodilatory properties. Potentiation is to blame for the up to 20% rate of ACE-I induced cough and the less frequent angioedema. However, they are well tolerated by almost 90% of HF patients.

The concomitant use of NSAIDs could blunt the vasodilatory effects, while antacids reduce ACE-I availability. The use of low salt substitutes, potassium supplements, potassium sparing diuretics, MRAs, renin inhibitors with ACE-I should be done under close monitoring. When ACE-I induced cough occurs, substitution with an ARB is recommended.

5 ARBs

5.1 Recommendations

Regarding the use of ARBs in HF both sides of the Atlantic are in agreement that ARBs are recommended as class I, in patients with stage C chronic HF who cannot tolerate an ACE-I because of cough or angioedema to reduce morbidity and mortality. Both ESC and American Cardiology Associations hold a class IIb recommendation for the use of ARB in persistently symptomatic subjects with HFrEF, already on ACE-I and BB, but who cannot tolerate an aldosterone antagonist, under close observation in order to reduce morbidity and mortality. The ACC slightly differentiate from the Europeans, since in their 2013 HF guidelines recommend ARB as a class IIa to reduce morbidity and mortality in patients with HFrEF, as first line therapy (alternatives to ACE-I), especially for those already on ARB for other indications (i.e., hypertension) unless contraindicated. Finally, both guidelines do not recommend (class III: harm) the combined use of ACE-I, ARB, and MRA, due to the renal and electrolyte hazards.

5.2 Mechanism of Action

ARBs were developed, due to the belief that many of the adverse reactions of ACE-I could be attributed to the production of bradykinin. ARBs block the angiotensin receptor type I, thus blocking the harmful effects of angiotensin II from the conversion of angiotensin I through converting enzyme or other "escape" pathways. However, the production of kinins, except for the pathogenesis of angioedema and coughing, is believed to exert cardioprotective effects through vasodilating prostaglandins and NO.

The main ARBs that were tested and proved to prolong survival and reduce morbidity in HF are candesartan, valsartan, and losartan. In a study with over 5,000 subjects with HF NYHA class II-IV and an EF <40%, the subgroup randomized to a valsartan target daily dose of 320 mg had the same overall mortality, but lower mortality and morbidity (combined primary endpoint) compared to placebo (HR = 0.87, 95% CI: 0.77-0.97, p = 0.009) (Cohn and Tognoni 2001). The beneficial effect was consistent regardless of age, gender, cause of HF and EF. However, a post hoc analysis revealed that in subjects that were already on ACE-I and BB, the addition of valsartan caused a significant adverse increase in mortality and a trend towards higher rates of the combined endpoint of death, cardiac arrest with resuscitation, HF hospitalization or therapy with intravenous inotropes/vasodilators. The Candesartan in Heart failure Assessment of Reduction in Mortality and morbidity (CHARM) trial with HF patients with EF < 40% showed that subjects randomized to a candesartan daily target dose of 32 mg vs placebo had reduced mortality (covariate adjusted, HR: 0.90, 95% CI: 0.82-0.99, p = 0.032). Interestingly, in a subpart of the study CHARM-added (McMurray et al. 2003) when candesartan was added on top of ACE-I, a significant reduction in the composite primary endpoint of CVD death and HF hospitalization was found (HR: 0.77, 95% CI: 0.67–0.89, p = 0.0004). However, when valsartan was added to captopril inpatients after an acute MI and left ventricular systolic dysfunction (LVSD), survival was not prolonged when compared to the captopril subpopulation (p = 0.73), while there was a substantial increase in adverse events (Pfeffer et al. 2003). Thus the combined use of ARB and ACE-I in HF holds a class IIb recommendation per 2013 ACC HF guidelines.

5.3 Adverse Effects

Prescription strategy is very similar to that of ACE-I with initiation at a low dose and uptitration after careful monitoring of laboratory tests and vital signs. ARBs have the same adverse reactions and contraindications to ACE-I, except for cough. Though ARBs are considered an alternative therapeutic strategy for subjects who experienced angioedema with an ACE-I, there have been reports of ARB induced angioedema, thus extreme caution should be applied to subjects with a suspicious medical history. As mentioned before, the combined use of an ACE-I, ARB, and MRA is contraindicated.

6 ARNIs

6.1 Recommendations

As mentioned earlier, in the 2016 pharmacological update, valsartan/sacubitril received a class I level A recommendation for HFrEF patients with NYHA symptoms II-III. The ACC/AHA recommended replacement with an ARNI for all patients with HFrEF, who tolerated an ACE-I or ARB and had class II-III symptoms with acceptable blood pressure. On the contrary, ESC opted to stay more attached to Prospective Comparison of ARNI with ACE-I to Determine Impact on Global Mortality and Morbidity in Heart Failure (PARADIGM HF) trial inclusion criteria. Thus, they recommend the use of ARNI in HFrEF patients who remain symptomatic despite optimal treatment with an ACE-I, BB, and MRA, with a class IB, but only to those who fulfill the basic inclusion criteria of PARADIGM HF, which was a double blind randomized trial of 8,442 subjects with NYHA class II–IV symptoms and an EF $\leq 40\%$ initially, which later changed to \leq 35%, randomized to a total daily target dose of 400 mg vs placebo. The trial was terminated early, after a median follow-up of 27 months, showing a 20% reduction in the composite endpoint of death from cardiovascular causes and HF hospitalization. Furthermore, valsartan/sacubitril decreased all cause mortality, compared to enalapril by 16% (*p*-value < 0.01). Regarding the safety of this new drug combination, the ACC/AHA issued a class III recommendation, not to use valsartan/ sacubitril because of potential harm (a) concomitantly with an ACE-I, and not to start the ARNI within 36 h from the last dose of the latter and (b) in subjects with a past medical history of angioedema.

6.2 Mechanism of Action

Valsartan/sacubitril is a member of a novel pharmacologic category called ARNI consisting of the ARB valsartan and the neprilysin inhibitor sacubitril. Neprilysin is a membrane metalloendopeptidase involved in the degradation of natriuretic peptide (NP) among several endogenous molecules, expressed in several tissues especially in the kidney. By blocking neprilysin, and subsequently the catabolism of NPs, the plasma levels of Atrial Natriuretic Peptide (ANP) and BNP increase, which serves as a restorative mechanism against the increased atrial and ventricular pressures, respectively, by enhancing systemic and kidney vasodilation and natriuresis, thus decreasing preload, afterload, and the body's sodium and fluid content.

6.3 Adverse Effects

Valsartan/sacubitril should be started (1) at a low dose of 24/26 mg twice daily in patients (a) not already on ACE-I or ARB (b) with severe kidney or/and hepatic dysfunction or (2) at a dose of 49/51 mg. After 2–4 weeks and, after checking for electrolyte/kidney abnormalities, and excluding hypotensive episodes, it can be uptitrated to a target dose of 97/103 mg twice daily.

Since neprilysin is involved in the degradation pathway of beta-amyloid peptides, there have been concerns about a potential interaction with Alzheimer disease and macular degeneration. There were no warning signals in PARADIGM-HF, but there are ongoing studies exploring further the safety profile of valsartan/sacubitril. However, the most common side effects were hypotension, hyperkalemia, renal dysfunction (which could be handled with adjustment of the dose or discontinuation), and dizziness or cough.

Contraindications to its use are hypersensitivity to any of the components, prior history of angioedema, and concomitant use of ACE-I or aliskiren in patients with DM. Valsartan/sacubitril is contraindicated in pregnancy.

7 Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists

7.1 Recommendations

The ACC 2013 HF guidelines recommend the use of MRA as a class I in (1) patients with HFrEF NYHA class II–IV with EF \leq 35%. Specifically the class II patients should also have a recent cardiovascular hospitalization or an elevated BNP (2) all patients after an acute MI who have an EF \leq 40% with symptoms of HF or who have DM in order to reduce morbidity and mortality.

Regarding the contraindications to the use of MRAs, ACC does not recommend its use (class III: harm), because of life threatening hyperkalemia or renal dysfunction, to patients with (a) creatinine levels >2.5 mg/dL in men/ >2.0 mg/dL in women (or estimated glomerular filtration rate (GFR) <30 mL/min/1.73 m²) and/or (b) potassium level >5.0 mmeq/L. The latest 2016 ESC guidelines are based on the same studies, suggesting a staged therapy, recommending as class I the use of MRA in HFrEF subjects who remain symptomatic, though already on ACE-I (or ARB) and a BB.

The recommendation for the prescription of MRA was based on two landmark trials: The Effect of Spironolactone on Morbidity and Mortality in Patients with Severe Heart Failure (RALES) and Eplerenone in Patients with Systolic Heart Failure and Mild Symptoms (EMPASIS-HF). In RALES, patients with severe (NYHA class IV) HF symptoms and EF \leq 35% were randomized to a target dose of spironolactone 25 mg vs placebo. After almost 2 years of follow-up the study was terminated early because the spironolactone group had significantly lower mortality which was the primary endpoint (HR: 0.70, 95% CI: 0.60–0.82, *p* < 0.001) (Pitt et al. 1999). Accordingly, in EMPHASIS-HF, almost 2,800 patients with HFrEF, EF \leq 35%, but milder symptoms (NYHA class II), were randomized to a target daily dose of eplerenone 50 mg vs placebo. The composite primary endpoint of CVD death and HF hospitalization was lower in the eplerenone arm (HR: 0.63, 95% CI: 0.54–0.74, *p* < 0.001) (Zannad et al. 2011).

7.2 Mechanism of Action

The use of MRA in HF was mandated by the finding that aldosterone levels were negatively associated with outcomes. Their beneficial effects in HF could be attributed not only to the additional diuresis caused by the blockage of aldosterone specific receptors in the collecting tubule (excreting sodium and water) but also to the antifibrotic, anti-catecholaminergic, and even vasodilatory properties of "anti-aldosteronism."

The prescription of MRA should be done under close follow-up, especially in patients who are already on ACE-I (or ARB). When subjects meet the aforementioned "renal and electrolyte" criteria, they should be started at a dose of 12.5 or 25 mg for spironolactone and 25 mg for eplerenone. In patients with borderline real function an every-other-day plan can be adopted. Concurrent use of potassium supplements or NSAIDs should be discontinued or diminished.

Potassium levels and renal laboratory tests should be done in 2–3 days and then 1 week after the initiation. The same follow-up plan should be implemented in the cases of combined ACE-I (or ARB) introduction or uptitration. When potassium levels rise (1) >5.5 meq/L a reduction in dose or discontinuation is recommended, (2) >6.0 meq/L discontinuation and immediate medical attention is required.

7.3 Adverse Effects

Beside the allergic reactions, the main side effects MRA consist of electrolyte abnormalities and renal insufficiency. Between the two approved MRAs spironolactone has pronounced antiandrogenic properties, potentially causing gynecomastia, based on its similarity to progesterone and its non-selectiveness to aldosterone, androgen, and glucocorticoid receptors. On the other hand, eplerenone is more selective to the mineralocorticoid receptors, and thus lacks this category of side effect.

8 Hydralazine/Nitrates

8.1 Recommendations

The combination of hydralazine and isosorbide dinitrate is recommended for patients self-described as African American with NYHA class II–IV, under optimal medical treatment with ACE-I and BB, to reduce morbidity and mortality as class I by the 2013 ACC HF guidelines. The ESC is more meticulous in the selection of patients, since hydralazine-isosorbide dinitrate is recommended as a class IIa for self-identified African-American subjects with either an EF \leq 35% or with an EF \leq 45% combined with a dilated left ventricle.

Furthermore while the 2013 American HF guidelines recommend the use of the above combination in subjects who cannot tolerate an ACE-I (or ARB), in order to reduce mortality and morbidity as a class IIb, European guidelines recommend hydralazine-isosorbide dinitrate as a class IIb and only for a reduction in mortality.

The African American Heart Failure Trial (A-HeFT) consisted of 1,050 black subjects randomized to a total daily dose of 225 mg hydralazine and 120 mg of isosorbide dinitrate vs placebo. Participants had HF with NYHA class II–IV symptoms, and had either an EF \leq 35% or EF \leq 45% and a left ventricular diameter >6.5 cm or >2.9 cm/body surface area. The study was terminated early because the group under the active combination drug had a significantly lower mortality (HR: 0.57, p = 0.02) and HF hospitalization (p = 0.001) compared to placebo (Taylor et al. 2004). However, the beneficial effects of this combination cannot be applied to other ethnic groups, even more so after the publication of controversial results in HF. An additional problem with hydralazine-isosorbide dinitrate was that the studies were done during the late 1980s–early 1990s, when the adoption of ACE-I and BB was relatively low, as was the diversity of the study designs.

8.2 Mechanism of Action

Isosorbide dinitrate exerts vasodilatory effects, by providing a source of NO, but has also been found to inhibit platelets aggregation, decrease afterload and preload (by dilating the lower large veins of the human body), and reduce the myocardial oxygen demand. The actual mechanism of action of hydralazine is not completely understood, but is believed to control the release of calcium from the myocardial sarcoplasmatic reticulum, however, its co-administration with isosorbide dinitrate diminishes the development of nitrate tolerance. The starting dose should be 1 tablet of 37.5/20 mg of hydralazine/isosorbide dinitrate, respectively, 3 times daily and it can be increased to 2 tablets 3 times daily. The two active drugs can also be used separately.

8.3 Adverse Effects

Frequent adverse effects are hypotension, headache, dizziness, and gastrointestinal complaints. Additionally, hydralazine hydrochloride has been reported to cause drug induced systemic lupus erythematosus and peripheral neuritis. Absolute contraindication to their use is only the presence of allergic reaction to one of the two ingredients. Regarding pregnancy, hydralazine/isosorbide dinitrate belongs to category C.

9 Ivabradine

9.1 Recommendations

In the recent joint ACC/AHA HF guidelines update, ivabradine was given a class IIa recommendation for symptomatic HFrEF subjects with NYHA class II–III, who are already receiving GDMT, including a BB at maximum tolerated dose and a HR >70 bpm at rest, while in sinus rhythm. In 2016 the ESC HF guidelines gave ivabradine the same level of recommendation IIa. ESC recommends the use of ivabradine (and Valsartan/sacubitril), in HFrEF subjects irrespective of their HF symptoms classification. However, since the relevant landmark trials for ivabradine and Valsartan/sacubitril had a modest representation of advanced HF patients, their American counterparts chose to demarcate the use of these two novel compounds only to patients with HF symptoms NYHA class II–III.

9.2 Mechanism of Action

Ivabradine is a molecule blocking the funny (f) ion channels. The current through this channel is a mixed inward sodium/potassium current, activated in hyperpolarization. Ivabradine decreases the HR by targeting the repetitive activity of the myocardial pacemaker cells, and by delaying diastolic depolarization of the sinoatrial node cells. Their main advantage over the classic BB in managing HR is the lack of negative inotropism of the former (DiFrancesco and Borer 2007).

The results of the Effects on Outcomes of Heart Rate Reduction by Ivabradine in Patients with Congestive Heart Failure: Is There an Influence of Beta-Blocker Dose? (SHIFT) Trial (Swedberg et al. 2010), which came out in 2010, constitute the basis for the updated recommendation. The SHIFT trial was a randomized double blind worldwide study with 6,558 HFrEF subjects and a median follow-up period of 22.9 months. The primary endpoint, a composite of cardiovascular death or HF hospitalization, was met with a HR of 0.82, 95% CI 0.75–0.90, p < 0.0001, by the subgroup of patients who were randomized to a total daily dose of 15 mg

ivabradine (compared to placebo). Death from HF was significantly lower in the ivabradine subgroup (HR = 0.74, 95% CI 0.58–0.94, p = 0.014), however, all cause and cardiovascular mortality did not differ between the treated and placebo subjects.

Ivabradine should be started with a dose of 5 mg twice daily and uptitrated to a target dose of 7.5 mg twice daily if well tolerated, after 2 weeks of vital signs monitoring. In subjects older than 75 years old a starting dose of 2.5 mg may be warranted. If the HR drops less than 50 bpm or if symptoms of bradycardia occur (i.e., dizziness, fatigue) ivabradine can either be downtitrated or stopped. If atrial fibrillation occurs, the medication has to be discontinued.

9.3 Adverse Effects

Ivabradine has a satisfactory safety profile. The most common side effects were bradycardia, hypertension, and atrial fibrillation. Phosphenes, which are a transient enhanced brightness in a restricted area of the visual field, have also been reported and the patient and doctor should be aware of this effect. Contraindications to the use of ivabradine consist of acute decompensation of HF, systolic blood pressure <90 mmHg, severe hepatic impairment, resting HR less than 60 bpm at baseline, pacemaker dependence, bradyarrhythmias, and the co-administration of strong cytochrome CYP3A4 inhibitors. It cannot be used in pregnancy.

10 Diuretics

10.1 Recommendations

Diuretics are the cornerstone of therapy for HF patients who present with fluid overload. Even though, for ethical reasons, there are no randomized trials investigating the mortality benefit of diuretics, the 2013 American guidelines recommend as a class I the use of diuretics in patients with HFrEF, with evidence of fluid retention to improve symptoms. The 2016 European HF guidelines have extended the class I use of diuretics by the same group of patients to improve exercise capacity, while they added a class IIa for the reduction of HF hospitalizations.

10.2 Mechanism of Action

There are several categories of diuretics, acting on different sites of the renal tubule. We are not going to describe the mechanism of action and the specific adverse effects of the various diuretics, since it is not within the scope of this manuscript and they have already been analyzed elsewhere. However, loop diuretics (furosemide, bumetanide, torsemide, and ethacrynic acid) have emerged as the diuretic of choice in HF patients.



Fig. 1 Stage C HFrEF: evidence-based, guideline-directed medical therapy. Reproduced with permission by Yancy et al. (2013a). Abbreviations: *ACEI* angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, *ARB* angiotensin receptor blocker, *HFrEF* Heart Failure with reduced ejection fraction, *Hydral-Nitrates* hydralazine and isosorbide dinitrate, *LOE* level of evidence, and *NYHA* New York Heart Association

The most common loop diuretic is furosemide, but some patients may respond better to another one (i.e., torsemide, bumetanide) because of their better bioavailability. Furosemide in outpatient HF should be started in low doses and should be uptitrated accordingly in order to increase or sustain diuresis and weight reduction. Patients may become unresponsive in the case of development of diuretic resistance, use of NSAIDs, consumption of large amounts of sodium, and a substantial reduction in renal function. In cases of diuretic resistance, an increase in the dose or the addition of thiazide/metolazone, causing sequential blockage of the renal tubule electrolyte receptors could be of some value.



Fig. 2 Therapeutic algorithm for a patient with symptomatic Heart Failure with reduced ejection fraction. Reprinted with permission of Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Cardiology, https://www.escardio.org/Guidelines/Clinical-Practice-Guidelines/Acute-and-Chronic-Heart-Failure. *Green* indicates a class I recommendation; *yellow* indicates a class IIa recommendation. Abbreviations: *ACEI* angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, *ARB* angiotensin receptor blocker, *ARNI* angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, *BNP* B-type natriuretic peptide, *CRT* cardiac resynchronization therapy, *HF* Heart Failure, *HFrEF* Heart Failure with reduced ejection fraction, *H-ISDN* hydralazine and isosorbide dinitrate, *HR* heart rate, *ICD* implantable cardioverter defibrillator, *LBBB* left bundle branch block, *LVAD* left ventricular assist device, *LVEF* left ventricular ejection fraction, *MR* mineralocorticoid receptor, *NT-proBNP* N-terminal pro-B type natriuretic peptide, *NYHA* New York Heart Association, *OMT* optimal medical therapy, *VF* ventricular fibrillation, *VT* ventricular tachycardia. ^aSymptomatic = NYHA class II–IV. ^bHFrEF = LVEF, 40%. ^cIf ACE inhibitor not tolerated/contraindicated, use ARB. ^eWith a hospital admission for HF within the

10.3 Adverse Effects

The main side effects include (1) electrolyte abnormalities, such as hyponatremia, low potassium, and magnesium levels which could be potentially arrhythmogenic, and (2) volume depletion which can lead to hyperuricemia/gout, hypotension, and renal insufficiency.

Diuretics are contraindicated in patients who have had an allergic reaction, or have never had symptoms or signs of congestion.

11 Other Recommended Medications for Treatment of HFrEF Stage C

Finally, (1) digoxin could be considered in order to decrease morbidity/HF hospitalization, in subjects with HFrEF as a class IIa in American guidelines and IIb in the European counterparts.

(2) Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs) could be considered as adjunctive therapy in HFrEF or HFpEF patients with NYHA class II–IV, in order to reduce mortality and CVD hospitalizations as classes IIa and IIb according to the 2013 American and ESC HF guidelines, respectively.

Figures 1 and 2 depict the therapeutic strategy for stage C HFrEF based on 2013 North American and 2016 ESC HF guidelines, respectively.

The recommended starting and maximum doses of the most commonly used medications in HFrEF stage C are shown in Table 1.

12 HFpEF Stage C Pharmacological Therapy

Both 2013 North American and 2016 ESC HF guidelines recommend the use of diuretics in congested patients to relieve symptomatology as a class I.

The 2013 ACC HF guidelines differentiate from their European counterparts by granting a IIb recommendation for the use of ARB in HFpEF, resulting in the decrease of HF hospitalizations.

Up to date there is no pharmacological treatment proven to benefit survival in subjects with current or past symptomatology and HFpEF. All HFpEF trials, with

Fig. 2 (continued) last 6 months or with elevated natriuretic peptides (BNP 250 pg/mL or NTproBNP 500 pg/mL in men and 750 pg/mL in women). ^fWith an elevated plasma natriuretic peptide level (BNP \geq 150 pg/mL or plasma NT-proBNP \geq 600 pg/mL, or if HF hospitalization within recent 12 months plasma BNP \geq 100 pg/mL or plasma NT-proBNP \geq 400 pg/mL). ^gIn doses equivalent to enalapril 10 mg b.i.d. ^hWith a hospital admission for HF within the previous year. ⁱCRT is recommended if QRS \geq 130 ms and LBBB (in sinus rhythm). ^jCRT should/may be considered if QRS \geq 130 ms with non-LBBB (in a sinus rhythm) or for patients in AF provided a strategy to ensure bi-ventricular capture in place (individualized decision)

	Initial daily dose(s) (mg)	Maximum dose(s) (mg)
ACE-I		
Captopril	6.25 TID	50 TID
Enalapril	2.5 BID	10–20 BID
Lisinopril	2.5–5.0 QD	20–35 QD
Ramipril	2.5 QD	10 QD
Trandolapril	0.5 QD	4 QD
Beta-blockers	-	1
Bisoprolol	1.25 QD	10 QD
Carvedilol	3.125 BID	25 BID
Metoprolol succinate (CR/XL)	12.5–25 QD	200 QD
Nebivolol	1.25 QD	10 QD
ARBs		•
Candesartan	4-8 QD	32 QD
Valsartan	40 BID	160 BID
Losartan	50 QD	150 QD
MRAs	1	1
Spironolactone	12.5–25 QD	50–150 QD or BID
Eplerenone	25 QD	50 QD
ARNI		<u> </u>
Sacubitril/valsartan	49/51 BID	97/103 BID
If-channel blocker	1	1
Ivabradine	5 BID	7.5 BID
Loop diuretics	-	-
Furosemide	20-40 QD or BID	600
Bumetanide	0.5–1.0 QD or BID	10
Torsemide	10–20 QD	200
Thiazides		•
Chlorothiazide	250–500 QD or BID	1,000
Chlorothalidone	12.5–25 QD	100
Hydrochlorothiazide	25 QD or BID	200
Metolazone	2.5 QD	20
Indapamide	2.5 QD	5
Potassium sparing diuretics		
Amiloride	2.5 QD	5
Triamterene	50-75 BID	200
Hydralazine hydrochloride and isosorbide dinitrate		F
Fixed dose combination	37.5 mg hydralazine/20 mg isosorbide dinitrate TID	75 mg hydralazine/40 mg isosorbide dinitrate TID
Hydralazine hydrochloride	25–50 mg 3–4 times daily	300 mg daily in divided doses
Isosorbide dinitrate	20-30 mg 3-4 times daily	120 mg in divided doses

Table 1 Medications most commonly used in stage C HFrEF

Abbreviations: ACE-I angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, ARBs angiotensin receptor blockers, ARNI angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor, MRAs mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists, QD once daily, BID twice daily, TID three times daily

BB, ACEI, ARB, MRA, ARNI, demonstrated inconsistent results. The only medication that has shown to decrease mortality, in an elderly population, 36% of which had an EF >35%, thus including HFpEF, was nebivolol.

In this study, 2,128 HF subjects \geq 70 years old were randomized to a target daily dose of 10 mg nebivolol vs placebo. In the nebivolol group there was a significant reduction in the composite endpoint of all cause mortality and cardiovascular readmissions (HR: 0.86, 95% CI 0.74–0.99, p = 0.039) (Flather et al. 2005). However, the subanalysis in subjects with EF >35% showed the same trend, but didn't reach statistical significance. However, due to the design and the results of the former, both guidelines didn't include nebivolol in their official recommendations.

Candesartan, in a population of HF patients with NYHA II–IV and EF>40%, failed to meet the primary endpoint, but statistically reduced the secondary composite endpoint of CVD death and hospitalizations due to HF, MI or stroke (HR: 0.86, 95% CI: 0.75–0.99, p = 0.037), and HF hospitalizations (HR: 0.84, 95% CI: 0.84–1.00, p = 0.047), which was one of the two components of the primary endpoint (Yusuf et al. 2003).

Spironolactone is another medication with some evidence in reducing rehospitalizations in HFpEF. "Treatment of Preserved Cardiac Function Heart Failure with an Aldosterone Antagonist (TOPCAT)" was a randomized double blind clinical study of 1,723 symptomatic patients with EF \geq 45%, to spironolactone vs placebo. The trial, after a mean follow-up of 3.3 years failed to meet the composite primary endpoint of CVD death, aborted cardiac arrest, or HF hospitalization (p = 0.14). However, it was noted that the active group had less HF hospitalizations compared to placebo (HR: 0.83, 95% CI: 0.69–0.99, p = 0.04) (Pitt et al. 2014).

Currently, there is a consensus from both sides of the Atlantic, reflected in the recommendations, that the treatment of HFpEF should be targeting the underlying comorbidities, considered to play a critical role in the increased morbidity and mortality burden, such as hypertension and coronary artery disease.

Disclosures

LP, CEH report no disclosures. JB reports receiving research support from the National Institutes of Health and European Union, and serves as a consultant to Amgen, Astra Zeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Cardiocell, Gilead, Merck, Novartis, Relypsa, Z Pharma.

Support

None.

References

- Benjamin EJ, Blaha MJ, Chiuve SE, Cushman M, Das SR, Deo R, de Ferranti SD, Floyd J, Fornage M, Gillespie C, Isasi CR, Jimenez MC, Jordan LC, Judd SE, Lackland D, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth L, Liu S, Longenecker CT, Mackey RH, Matsushita K, Mozaffarian D, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, Neumar RW, Palaniappan L, Pandey DK, Thiagarajan RR, Reeves MJ, Ritchey M, Rodriguez CJ, Roth GA, Rosamond WD, Sasson C, Towfighi A, Tsao CW, Turner MB, Virani SS, Voeks JH, Willey JZ, Wilkins JT, Wu JH, Alger HM, Wong SS, Muntner P (2017) Heart disease and stroke statistics-2017 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 135(10): e146–e603
- CIBIS-II Investigators and Committees (1999) The cardiac insufficiency bisoprolol study II (CIBIS-II): a randomised trial. Lancet (London, England) 353:9–13
- Cohn JN, Tognoni G (2001) A randomized trial of the angiotensin-receptor blocker valsartan in chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 345:1667–1675
- The CONSENSUS Trial Study Group (1987) Effects of enalapril on mortality in severe congestive heart failure. Results of the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril survival study (CON-SENSUS). N Engl J Med 316:1429–1435
- Dargie HJ (2001) Effect of carvedilol on outcome after myocardial infarction in patients with leftventricular dysfunction: the CAPRICORN randomised trial. Lancet 357(9266):1385–90
- DiFrancesco D, Borer JS (2007) The funny current: cellular basis for the control of heart rate. Drugs 67(Suppl 2):15–24
- Flather MD, Shibata MC, Coats AJ, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Parkhomenko A, Borbola J, Cohen-Solal A, Dumitrascu D, Ferrari R, Lechat P, Soler-Soler J, Tavazzi L, Spinarova L, Toman J, Bohm M, Anker SD, Thompson SG, Poole-Wilson PA (2005) Randomized trial to determine the effect of nebivolol on mortality and cardiovascular hospital admission in elderly patients with heart failure (SENIORS). Eur Heart J 26:215–225
- Garg R, Yusuf S (1995) Overview of randomized trials of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors on mortality and morbidity in patients with heart failure. Collaborative Group on ACE inhibitor trials. JAMA 273:1450–1456
- McMurray JJ, Ostergren J, Swedberg K, Granger CB, Held P, Michelson EL, Olofsson B, Yusuf S, Pfeffer MA (2003) Effects of candesartan in patients with chronic heart failure and reduced left-ventricular systolic function taking angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors: the CHARM-added trial. Lancet (London, England) 362:767–771
- The NETWORK Investigators (1998) Clinical outcome with enalapril in symptomatic chronic heart failure; a dose comparison. Eur Heart J 19:481–489
- Orsborne C, Chaggar PS, Shaw SM, Williams SG (2017) The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in heart failure for the non-specialist: the past, the present and the future. Postgrad Med J 93:29–37
- Packer M, Poole-Wilson PA, Armstrong PW, Cleland JG, Horowitz JD, Massie BM, Ryden L, Thygesen K, Uretsky BF, ATLAS Study Group (1999) Comparative effects of low and high doses of the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, lisinopril, on morbidity and mortality in chronic heart failure. Circulation 100:2312–2318
- Packer M, Fowler MB, Roecker EB, Coats AJ, Katus HA, Krum H, Mohacsi P, Rouleau JL, Tendera M, Staiger C, Holcslaw TL, Amann-Zalan I, DeMets DL (2002) Effect of carvedilol on the morbidity of patients with severe chronic heart failure: results of the carvedilol prospective randomized cumulative survival (COPERNICUS) study. Circulation 106:2194–2199
- Pfeffer MA, McMurray JJ, Velazquez EJ, Rouleau JL, Kober L, Maggioni AP, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Van de Werf F, White H, Leimberger JD, Henis M, Edwards S, Zelenkofske S, Sellers MA, Califf RM (2003) Valsartan, captopril, or both in myocardial infarction complicated by heart failure, left ventricular dysfunction, or both. N Engl J Med 349:1893–1906

- Pitt B, Zannad F, Remme WJ, Cody R, Castaigne A, Perez A, Palensky J, Wittes J, Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study Investigators (1999) The effect of spironolactone on morbidity and mortality in patients with severe heart failure. N Engl J Med 341:709–717
- Pitt B, Pfeffer MA, Assmann SF, Boineau R, Anand IS, Claggett B, Clausell N, Desai AS, Diaz R, Fleg JL, Gordeev I, Harty B, Heitner JF, Kenwood CT, Lewis EF, O'Meara E, Probstfield JL, Shaburishvili T, Shah SJ, Solomon SD, Sweitzer NK, Yang S, McKinlay SM (2014) Spironolactone for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 370:1383–1392
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ, Falk V, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GM, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P (2016) 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail 18:891–975
- Poole-Wilson PA, Swedberg K, Cleland JG et al (2003) Comparison of carvedilol and metoprolol on clinical outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure in the Carvedilol Or Metoprolol European Trial (COMET): randomised controlled trial. Lancet 362(9377):7–13
- The SOLVD Investigators (1991) Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 325:293–302
- Swedberg K, Komajda M, Böhm M, Borer JS, Ford I, Dubost-Brama A, Lerebours G, Tavazzi L (2010) Ivabradine and outcomes in chronic heart failure (SHIFT): a randomised placebocontrolled study. Lancet 376:875–885
- Taylor AL, Ziesche S, Yancy C, Carson P, D'Agostino R Jr, Ferdinand K, Taylor M, Adams K, Sabolinski M, Worcel M, Cohn JN (2004) Combination of isosorbide dinitrate and hydralazine in blacks with heart failure. N Engl J Med 351:2049–2057
- Triposkiadis F, Karayannis G, Giamouzis G, Skoularigis J, Louridas G, Butler J (2009) The sympathetic nervous system in heart failure physiology, pathophysiology, and clinical implications. J Am Coll Cardiol 54:1747–1762
- Writing Committee M, Acc/Aha Task Force M (2016) 2016 ACC/AHA/HFSA focused update on new pharmacological therapy for heart failure: an update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. J Card Fail 22:659–669
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Drazner MH, Fonarow GC, Geraci SA, Horwich T, Januzzi JL, Johnson MR, Kasper EK, Levy WC, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, McMurray JJ, Mitchell JE, Peterson PN, Riegel B, Sam F, Stevenson LW, Tang WH, Tsai EJ, Wilkoff BL (2013a) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 62:e147–e239
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE, Drazner MH, Fonarow GC, Geraci SA, Horwich T, Januzzi JL, Johnson MR, Kasper EK, Levy WC, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, McMurray JJV, Mitchell JE, Peterson PN, Riegel B, Sam F, Stevenson LW, Tang WHW, Tsai EJ, Wilkoff BL (2013b) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines. Circulation 128:e240–e327
- Yusuf S, Pfeffer MA, Swedberg K, Granger CB, Held P, McMurray JJ, Michelson EL, Olofsson B, Ostergren J (2003) Effects of candesartan in patients with chronic heart failure and preserved left-ventricular ejection fraction: the CHARM-preserved trial. Lancet (London, England) 362:777–781
- Zannad F, McMurray JJ, Krum H, van Veldhuisen DJ, Swedberg K, Shi H, Vincent J, Pocock SJ, Pitt B (2011) Eplerenone in patients with systolic heart failure and mild symptoms. N Engl J Med 364:11–21

Sacubitril/Valsartan (LCZ696) in Heart Failure

Yasser Khder, Victor Shi, John J. V. McMurray, and Martin P. Lefkowitz

Contents

1	Introduction 13		136
2	Histo	Historical Background 13	
	2.1	Therapies Targeting the Renin–Angiotensin–Aldosterone System	137
	2.2	Natriuretic Peptides	137
3	Sacu	bitril/Valsartan	141
	3.1	Pharmacokinetics	141
	3.2	Pharmacodynamics	142
	3.3	Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Drug–Drug Interactions	144
4	Over	view of Clinical Trials of Sacubitril/Valsartan in Heart Failure	145
	4.1	PARADIGM-HF	147
	4.2	TITRATION	157
	4.3	PARAMOUNT-HF	157
5	Curr	ent Status of Sacubitril/Valsartan	158
	5.1	Ongoing Outcome Studies	158
Re	References 159		

Abstract

It has been known since the 1990s that long-term morbidity and mortality is improved in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) by treatments that target the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system (RAAS). It has also long been thought that enhancement of the activity of natriuretic

Y. Khder (🖂)

V. Shi • M.P. Lefkowitz

Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, One Health Plaza, East Hanover, NJ 07936-1080, USA

J.J.V. McMurray,

British Heart Foundation Cardiovascular Research Centre, Institute of Cardiovascular and Medical Sciences, University of Glasgow, Glasgow G12 8QQ, UK

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_77

Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research, Postfach, 4002 Basel, Switzerland e-mail: yasser.khder@novartis.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

peptides (NPs) could potentially benefit patients with HFrEF, but multiple attempts to realize this benefit had failed over the years – until 2014, when a large, phase III, randomized, controlled clinical trial (PARADIGM-HF) was completed comparing sacubitril/valsartan with enalapril, a well-established treatment for HFrEF. Sacubitril/valsartan (formerly known as LCZ696) is a first-in-class angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor (ARNI) that simultaneously suppresses RAAS activation through blockade of angiotensin II type 1 receptors and enhances vasoactive peptides including NPs through inhibition of neprilysin, the enzyme responsible for their degradation. In PARADIGM-HF, patients with HFrEF treated with sacubitril/valsartan had 20% less risk for cardiovascular death or hospitalization for heart failure (the primary endpoint), 20% less risk for cardiovascular death, 21% less risk for first hospitalization for heart failure, and 16% less risk for death from any cause, compared with enalapril (all p < 0.001). Concerning tolerability, the sacubitril/valsartan group had higher proportions of patients with hypotension and nonserious angioedema but lower proportions with renal impairment, hyperkalemia, and cough, compared with the enalapril group. The use of sacubitril/valsartan has been endorsed by the latest heart failure treatment guidelines in Europe and the USA. This chapter reviews the discoveries, scientific reasoning, and clinical evidence that led to the development of sacubitril/valsartan, the first novel therapy in a new drug class to improve survival in HFrEF in the last 15 years.

Keywords

HFrEF • Natriuretic peptides • Neprilysin • PARADIGM-HF • Sacubitril/ valsartan

Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
ACEI	Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor
AE	Adverse event
ANP	Atrial natriuretic peptide
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
ARNI	Angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor
AT_1	Angiotensin II type 1
AUC	Area under the plasma concentration curve
bid	Twice daily
BNP	B-type natriuretic peptide
BP	Blood pressure
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate

CI	Confidence interval
$C_{\rm max}$	Maximum plasma concentration
CNP	C-type natriuretic peptide
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CV	Cardiovascular
ED	Emergency department
EF	Ejection fraction
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
EMPHASIS-HF	Eplerenone in Mild Patients Hospitalization and Survival
	Study in Heart Failure
HbA1c	Glycated hemoglobin
HF	Heart failure
HFpEF	Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
HR	Hazard ratio
hsTnT	High sensitivity troponin T
KCCQ	Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MAGGIC	Meta-analysis Global Group in Chronic Heart Failure
MedDRA	Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities
MI	Myocardial infarction
NEP	Neprilysin
NEPI	Neprilysin inhibitor
NNT	Number needed to treat
NP	Natriuretic peptide
NPR	Natriuretic peptide receptor
NT-proBNP	N-terminal pro B-type natriuretic peptide
NYHA	New York Heart Association
OATP	Organic anion transporter protein
PARADIGM-HF	Prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to Determine
	Impact on Global Mortality and Morbidity in Heart Failure
PARAMOUNT	Prospective comparison of ARNI with ARB on Management
	Of heart failUre with preserved ejectioN fraction
PP	Pulse pressure
PRA	Plasma renin activity
PRC	Plasma renin concentration
RAAS	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
SOLVD	Studies of Left Ventricular Dysfunction
$T_{\rm max}$	Time to peak concentration

1 Introduction

Over the past several decades, our understanding of the complex pathophysiology of heart failure (HF) has progressed considerably, leading to the development of new treatments that have significantly reduced morbidity and improved survival in patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) (Katz 2008). There has remained, nonetheless, a high residual burden of morbidity and mortality in these patients, and an even greater burden in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). There has continued to be an urgent need for new therapies that improve clinical outcomes in patients with HF (Mozaffarian et al. 2015).

In 2014, a large (N = 8,442 patients) phase III clinical trial (PARADIGM-HF) provided compelling evidence for improved outcome in patients with HFrEF treated with a new class of therapeutic agent, an orally active angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor (ARNI). In this trial, sacubitril/valsartan (formerly known as LCZ696), a first-in-class ARNI, was compared with enalapril, an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor (ACEI) that has long been established as a treatment that reduces mortality and morbidity in patients with HFrEF (SOLVD 1991). It was found that patients treated with sacubitril/valsartan had significantly fewer deaths from cardiovascular (CV) causes (p < 0.001) and a significantly better outcome (p < 0.001) for the primary endpoint (CV death or hospitalization for HF) compared with those who received enalapril (McMurray et al. 2014b). In a population of randomized patients with HFrEF followed for a median interval of 27 months, the primary outcome occurred in 21.8% of patients treated with sacubitril/valsartan compared with 26.5% of patients treated with enalapril (hazard ratio, HR: 0.80; 95% confidence interval, CI: 0.73–0.87; p < 0.001).

This novel addition to the pharmacological armamentarium for the treatment of HFrEF was the fruition of decades of prior study and learning from unsatisfactory outcomes. The aims of this chapter are to review the discoveries, trials, and scientific reasoning that led to the initial development of sacubitril/valsartan as a novel treatment for HFrEF and the evidence from clinical trials that established its efficacy and safety profile.

2 Historical Background

Prior to the development of sacubitril/valsartan, HF outcomes had been improved primarily through the use of pharmacological interventions that targeted the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) and sympathetic nervous system (SNS) activation, and implantable devices for defibrillation and resynchronization. The pathological roles played by persistent activation of RAAS and SNS had been well-recognized for several decades. Over the same epoch, there developed a substantial body of evidence regarding natriuretic peptide (NP) systems and potential benefits that might derive from interventions that enhanced their activity. Even so, realization of these benefits had remained out of reach for several reasons outlined later in this chapter.

2.1 Therapies Targeting the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System

Understanding the pathological role of RAAS activation in HF advanced significantly in the 1970s when intravenous teprotide, one of the earliest synthetic ACEIs, was shown to reduce renal vasoconstriction, lower arterial pressure in patients with hypertension, and improve disordered hemodynamics in patients with HF. This was followed by the development of the orally active ACEI captopril, and later, enalapril. In a phase III randomized clinical trial (SOLVD-T), enalapril was found to reduce the risk of all-cause mortality by 16% and death or rehospitalization for HF by 26% in patients with HFrEF, compared with placebo (SOLVD 1991). By the mid-1990s, ACEIs were well-established as the standard of care in the management of HF (Cohn 1996; Williams et al. 1995) and hypertension (Unger and Gohlke 1994; Waeber and Brunner 1990).

The demonstrated benefits of treatment with ACEIs spurred the development of a second class of drugs that also suppressed RAAS overactivation but did so by blocking the angiotensin II type 1 (AT_1) receptor (Kang et al. 1994). Interest in angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) derived primarily from tolerability issues associated with ACEIs such as persistent dry cough (Sebastian et al. 1991) and angioedema, a rare but potentially life-threatening adverse event (AE) (Makani et al. 2012). These events are probably a consequence of increased levels of bradykinin and other mediators of inflammation that are metabolized by angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) (Sanchez-Borges and Gonzalez-Aveledo 2010). Because ARBs do not block the degradation of kinins, persistent cough and angioedema are uncommon with their use. Clinical use of ARBs began with losartan as a therapy for hypertension (Carr and Prisant 1996). Subsequent investigations established that treatment with the ARBs valsartan and candesartan significantly improved CV outcomes in patients with HFrEF, although ARBs did not consistently reduce mortality (Baguet et al. 2009; Cohn et al. 2001; McMurray et al. 2003).

2.2 Natriuretic Peptides

2.2.1 Discovery and Biological Roles

In ground-breaking studies performed in the 1970s, de Bold and colleagues described granules in mammalian atrial cardiocytes that contained a protein or polypeptide and hypothesized that atrial tissue had secretory as well as contractile function (de Bold et al. 1978). They showed that infusion of atrial extracts into the rat elicited a >30-fold increase in sodium excretion, a tenfold increase in urine volume, and a reduction in blood pressure (BP) (de Bold et al. 1981). The active



Fig. 1 Physiological effects and clearance mechanisms of natriuretic peptides. *ANP* atrial natriuretic peptide, *BNP* B-type natriuretic peptide, *CNP* C-type natriuretic peptide, *cGMP* cyclic guanosine monophosphate, *GTP* guanosine triphosphate, *NP* natriuretic peptide, *NPR* natriuretic peptide receptor. Adapted from Bayes-Genis et al. (2016) with permission

substance in these atrial extracts was subsequently identified as atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP).

Closely thereafter, two related NPs were isolated from porcine brain: brain or B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and C-type natriuretic peptide (CNP). These were later found to be released predominantly from the ventricles of heart and endothelial cells, respectively (Mukoyama et al. 1991; Sudoh et al. 1988; Sudoh et al. 1990). Subsequently, it was established that ANP and BNP are endocrine hormones released physiologically from cardiomyocytes in response to cardiac stretch and regulate fluid homeostasis and BP (Ogawa and de Bold 2014). Natriuretic Peptides act on target organs via interaction with NP receptors (NPR-A and NPR-B) coupled to cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) signaling pathways. They have a direct dilatory effect on the vascular system that decreases systemic vascular resistance, arterial pressure, and ventricular preload (Fig. 1). In addition, they have diuretic and natriuretic actions that contribute to the regulation of sodium and water balance, blood volume, and arterial pressure. They also suppress sympathetic input to the heart and increase vagal afferent activity, and they have growthsuppressing, antiproliferative, and anti-fibrotic activities that suppress interstitial remodeling in myocardium. Natriuretic peptides thus have multiple actions that protect the CV system from the negative effects of volume and pressure overload (Bayes-Genis et al. 2016; Langenickel and Dole 2012).

Under physiological conditions, NPs are rapidly degraded by enzymatic hydrolysis and deactivated by receptor-mediated clearance via NPR-C (Fig. 1) (Nakao et al. 1986; Potter 2011; Stephenson and Kenny 1987). The enzymatic degradation is primarily mediated by a neutral glycosylated zinc endopeptidase that also degrades other peptides including adrenomedullin, bradykinin, vasoconstrictors
such as angiotensin I and II, endothelin-1, as well as oxytocin, opioid peptides, substance P, gastrin, vasoactive intestinal peptide, apelin, and amyloid beta $(A\beta)$ (Lisy et al. 1998; Liu et al. 2010; McKinnie et al. 2016). This enzyme has been identified by many names, including atriopeptidase, neutral endopeptidase, EC 3.4.24.11, enkephalinase, common acute lymphoblastic leukemia antigen, CD10, but it is commonly known as neprilysin (NEP) (Potter 2011). This enzyme is present in abundance in the renal cortex.

In addition to their physiological roles, NPs also emerged as important biomarkers for use in diagnosis and risk stratification of patients with HF because their levels are substantially elevated in these patients (Daniels and Maisel 2007). It was initially thought that NPs are upregulated in HF, but some recent studies have brought this into question. Circulating levels of mature BNP (BNP1-32) may actually be reduced in patients with HF due to altered processing of proBNP, resulting in the formation of precursors and degradation products of BNP1-32 that cross-react with current clinical assays but are nonetheless less biologically active (Hawkridge et al. 2005; Miller et al. 2011; Niederkofler et al. 2008).

2.2.2 Therapeutic Enhancement of Natriuretic Peptide Activity in Patients with HF

The growth in understanding of the homeostatic function of NPs stimulated the interest in finding interventions that would therapeutically enhance NP activity in patients with HF. An early approach was acute parenteral infusion of recombinant human BNP (nesiritide) in patients hospitalized with acute decompensated HF – a form of therapy that would not be applicable over the long term in patients with chronic HF. Initial results with nesiritide suggested favorable hemodynamic, neurohormonal, and renal actions, along with a reduction in dyspnea in patients with acute HF (Colucci et al. 2000; Publication Committee and for the VMAC Investigators 2002). However, no benefit was observed in reducing death or hospitalization in a large follow-up study (O'Connor et al. 2011). Carperitide is a synthetic form of human ANP that has been widely used in Japan as a treatment for acute HF, although retrospective analysis has challenged the effectiveness of the drug (Matsue et al. 2015). Ularitide – a synthetic form of the human natriuretic peptide urodilatin – failed to meet the primary endpoint in phase III trial in acute HF (Packer et al. 2016).

Inhibition of NEP has long been of interest as an approach to therapeutic intervention. Early studies of the nonselective neprilysin inhibitor (NEPI), thiorphan, investigated its potential as an antinociceptive agent (Roques et al. 1980). The NEPIs acetorphan (later known as racecadotril) and candoxatrilat were found to increase NP levels in the plasma and enhance diuresis (Gros et al. 1989; Northridge et al. 1989). Subsequent study suggested that candoxatrilat had the ability to reduce right atrial pressure and pulmonary capillary wedge pressure in patients with mild HF (Northridge et al. 1992). Similar effects were reported with the NEPI sinorphan (the s-enantiomer of the racemate acetorphan, also known as ecadotril) (Kahn et al. 1990). A number of novel NEPIs (including sacubitril) were synthesized by Ksander and colleagues in the early 1990s and shown in animal

models to have pharmacological actions that could be useful in treating hypertension or HF (Ksander et al. 1995).

Despite these encouraging early observations, subsequent investigations revealed only modest efficacy with NEPIs in patients with hypertension or HF (Ando et al. 1995; Bevan et al. 1992; Cleland and Swedberg 1998). This can possibly be attributed to simultaneous enhancement of physiologically antagonistic neurohumoral systems (RAAS) with NEP inhibition, resulting in increased levels of vasoconstrictor peptides including angiotensin II that neutralize the vasodilatory and natriuretic actions of NPs (Gafford et al. 1983; Richards et al. 1993; Stephenson and Kenny 1987).

2.2.3 Natriuretic Peptide Enhancement Combined with Inhibition of Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme

In the 1990s, investigators began to explore the potential benefits of combining RAAS inhibition with enhancement of NPs as a therapeutic strategy. Seymour and colleagues found that simultaneous administration of the ACEI captopril and the selective NEPIs (SQ 29,072 and SQ 28,603) elicited greater reductions in arterial pressure in rat and dog models of hypertension than that observed with each agent given separately (Seymour et al. 1993; Seymour et al. 1991). This was followed by similar observations in animal studies conducted in monkeys (Seymour et al. 1995), sheep with pacing-induced HF (Rademaker et al. 1998), and in studies in patients with essential hypertension (Favrat et al. 1995). These results provided impetus for the development of orally active dual inhibitors of ACE and NEP, sometimes referred to as "vasopeptidase" inhibitors (Burnett 1999).

Omapatrilat was the most extensively studied vasopeptidase inhibitor (Weber 2001). In the cardiomyopathic hamster, an experimental model of HF, omapatrilat improved hemodynamic function and prolonged survival more than an ACEI alone (Trippodo et al. 1999). Results from an early clinical trial (IMPRESS, N = 573) suggested a favorable trend for omapatrilat for the combined endpoint of death or hospitalization for worsening HF, as well as a greater renal benefit, compared with lisinopril (Rouleau et al. 2000). In the subsequent phase III OVERTURE trial (n = 5,770), omapatrilat 40 mg once daily was non-inferior to the ACEI enalapril 10 mg twice daily in reducing the primary endpoint of all-cause mortality or hospitalization for HF and was superior to enalapril in reducing the secondary endpoint of CV death or CV hospitalization (Packer et al. 2002). A very large trial (OCTAVE, N = 25,302) was also conducted in order to characterize the riskbenefit profile of omapatrilat in patients with hypertension. Compared with enalapril, omapatrilat had significantly greater reduction in systolic and diastolic BP and was associated with less use of adjunctive antihypertensive therapy by the end of trial (p < 0.001 for all comparisons). However, there was a higher incidence of angioedema in omapatrilat-treated patients compared with patients receiving enalapril (2.17 vs. 0.68%, relative risk, 3.17; 95% confidence interval, CI: 2.52-4.12) (Kostis et al. 2004). Further, the angioedema events in the omapatrilat group were of greater severity grade compared with enalapril (p < 0.005). The incidence of angioedema was higher in black patients (5.54 and 1.62%, respectively) and in smokers (3.93 and 0.81%, respectively). The increased incidence of angioedema with omapatrilat may have been due to the simultaneous inhibition of three enzymes (ACE, NEP, and aminopeptidase P) involved in the metabolism of bradykinin and other vasodilator peptides (Gu et al. 2010). In view of these safety concerns and the limited efficacy of omapatrilat with respect to HF endpoints, further development of this drug was halted.

It was postulated that the use of a once-daily dosing regimen may have been a factor in the relatively limited benefit observed in studies of omapatrilat, as there was evidence that this regimen failed to maintain continuous suppression of RAAS and inhibition of NEP throughout dose cycle (Massien et al. 1999; Packer et al. 2002). With regard to risk for angioedema, the experience with omapatrilat emphasized a need to avoid inhibiting ACE and NEP at the same time. Nonetheless, the goal of harnessing the complementary benefits of enhancing NP activity and suppressing RAAS activation while minimizing the risk of adverse events could be achieved in principle, by combining NEP inhibitor with an ARB, rather than an ACEI. These considerations led to the development of sacubitril/valsartan – a first-in-class ARNI – as a novel treatment for HF.

3 Sacubitril/Valsartan

Sacubitril/valsartan is a sodium salt complex of sacubitril (an NEPI prodrug previously known as AHU-377) and valsartan (an ARB) in a 1:1 molar ratio. Following oral administration, sacubitril is rapidly hydrolyzed in vivo by carboxyl esterase 1 to the active NEPI, sacubitrilat (previously known as LBQ657) (Shi et al. 2016). Until recently, sacubitril/valsartan was known as LCZ696 and it was administered in clinical trials in dose formulations of 50, 100, and 200 mg. These same dose formulations are now referred to, respectively, as sacubitril/valsartan 24/26, 49/51, and 97/103 mg.

3.1 Pharmacokinetics

Following oral administration of 200–1,200 mg sacubitril/valsartan, systemic concentrations of sacubitril and valsartan increase rapidly with times to peak concentration (T_{max}) of 0.5–1.1 h and 1.7–2.2 h, respectively (Gu et al. 2010). Sacubitril is rapidly converted to sacubitrilat, the peak concentrations of which appear within 1.9–3.5 h after oral administration. Increases in exposure to sacubitril, sacubitrilat, and valsartan are dose-linear over the dose range of 20–600 mg (Akahori et al. 2016; Han et al. 2016). It is estimated that the oral absolute bioavailability for sacubitril is $\geq 60\%$. The bioavailability of valsartan administered as sacubitril/valsartan is 60% greater than it is when valsartan present in a 200 mg dose of sacubitril/valsartan provides systemic exposure similar to the 160 mg dose of valsartan that is the maximum twice-daily dose approved for

treatment of HF (Gu et al. 2010; Mistry et al. 2006). Food decreases the maximum plasma concentration (C_{max}) and systemic exposure to sacubitril but has little impact on systemic exposure to sacubitrilat. The C_{max} and systemic exposure to valsartan are also decreased by food (Ayalasomayajula et al. 2016b); however, this is not considered clinically relevant, and valsartan is recommended to be administered regardless of meals (PI 2015). Potential drug–drug interactions with sacubitril/valsartan are discussed in a later section.

Following twice-daily dosing, steady-state levels for both sacubitrilat and valsartan are reached in 3 days (Ayalasomayajula et al. 2015). At steady state, there is a 1.6-fold accumulation of sacubitrilat and no significant accumulation of valsartan (PI 2015). Sacubitril, sacubitrilat, and valsartan are highly (94–97%) bound to plasma proteins and undergo substantial distribution to tissues. Average apparent volumes of distribution for sacubitril and valsartan are 103 and 75 L, respectively. Sacubitril, sacubitrilat, and valsartan are eliminated with estimated half-lives of ~1.4, ~11.5, and ~9.9 h, respectively. The primary route of elimination is renal for sacubitrilat (52–68% is eliminated unmetabolized in urine) and hepatic for valsartan (86% is excreted via the feces) (PI 2015).

In elderly (\geq 65 years) healthy subjects, exposure to sacubitrilat and valsartan was 42 and 30% greater, respectively, than in the younger (18–45 years) subjects, presumably due to decreased renal and hepatic function (Gan et al. 2016). However, these increases are not regarded as clinically relevant and the same dose is recommended in both age groups. Sex has no effect on the pharmacokinetics of sacubitrilat or valsartan (Gan et al. 2016). Exposure to sacubitrilat and valsartan was increased by approximately 110 and 132%, respectively in patients with HFrEF, compared with healthy subjects (Kobalava et al. 2016).

Mild-to-severe renal impairment was found to have no impact on the pharmacokinetics of valsartan. However, the $C_{\rm max}$ and exposure to sacubitrilat were significantly increased in these patients (Fig. 2) (Ayalasomayajula et al. 2016c). A lower starting dose of sacubitril/valsartan is thus recommended in patients with severe renal impairment (PI 2015). In patients with mild-to-moderate hepatic impairment, the exposure to sacubitrilat and valsartan was increased (Fig. 2) (Kulmatycki et al. 2014), suggesting the need for a lower starting dose in patients with moderate hepatic impairment (PI 2015). The impact of severe hepatic impairment was not studied as valsartan is not recommended in this population.

3.2 Pharmacodynamics

Sacubitril/valsartan enhances circulating NP levels and this leads to increased plasma and urine cGMP levels (Holmes et al. 1993). Plasma cGMP therefore serves as a useful biomarker of NEP inhibition in healthy subjects and patients. Changes in plasma renin concentration (PRC), plasma renin activity (PRA), and plasma angiotensin II concentration are indicators of pharmacodynamic response to valsartan (Muller et al. 1994) and lowering of blood pressure is a commonly measured pharmacodynamic response to both sacubitrilat and valsartan.



Fig. 2 Pharmacokinetic parameters (AUC and C_{max}) of sacubitrilat and valsartan in special populations. Values for RI (mild, moderate, and severe) and HI (mild and moderate) are relative to normal. *Mild RI (60–89 mL/min per 1.73 m²), moderate RI (30–59 mL/min per 1.73 m²), and severe RI (15–29 mL/min per 1.73 m²); **mild HI (Child–Pugh A scores of 5–6) and moderate HI (Child–Pugh A scores of 7–9) *AUC* area under the plasma concentration curve, *CI* confidence interval, C_{max} maximum plasma concentration, *HI* hepatic impairment, *HR* hazard ratio, *RI* renal impairment

3.2.1 Changes in Plasma Cyclic Guanosine Monophosphate

In healthy subjects given once-daily oral doses of 50–900 mg sacubitril/valsartan for 14 days, all doses significantly increased mean plasma cGMP levels (Gu et al. 2010). All doses provided significantly elevated plasma cGMP levels at 4 h postdose and the levels of plasma cGMP remained significantly elevated at 12 h following 600 and 900 mg doses of sacubitril/valsartan. cGMP levels returned to baseline by 24 h after administration of all doses. The maximum increase in plasma cGMP was 40%, which was observed with the 200 mg dose (Gu et al. 2010).

3.2.2 Biomarkers of Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System Inhibition by AT₁ Receptor Blockade

Once-daily dosing with 50–900 mg sacubitril/valsartan resulted in significant, dosedependent increases in PRC, PRA, and angiotensin II, compared with placebo (Gu et al. 2010), indicating AT_1 receptor blockade. These biomarkers were maximally increased at 4 h postdose and remained elevated at 24 h.

3.2.3 Blood Pressure Lowering by Sacubitril/Valsartan

In a phase II dose-ranging study in patients with mild-to-moderate hypertension, the effects of sacubitril/valsartan and valsartan alone on BP were compared over a range of bioequivalent doses (100 mg sacubitril/valsartan vs. 80 mg valsartan, 200 vs. 160 mg, and 400 vs. 320 mg, respectively) (Ruilope et al. 2010). In this proof-of-concept study, the goal was to determine whether treatment with an ARNI elicits greater reductions in BP than dose-equivalent treatment with an ARB. This was indeed observed: at the doses of 200 and 400 mg sacubitril/valsartan, treatment with the ARNI resulted in significantly greater reductions in mean sitting BP, pulse pressure (PP), and 24-hour mean ambulatory systolic BP and PP than did treatment with equivalent doses of the ARB alone. This study also included an arm in which patients were treated with sacubitril alone and patients in this arm realized less lowering of BP than did patients treated with an equivalent dose of sacubitril/valsartan. The results of this study indicated that treatment with sacubitril/valsartan results in greater BP lowering than treatment of equivalent doses of either valsartan or sacubitril alone.

3.2.4 Selection of Recommended Clinical Dose

The dose of 97/103 mg bid was selected as the target dose for sacubitril/valsartan for the treatment of patients with HFrEF (McMurray et al. 2013). This dose provides an amount of valsartan bioequivalent to the dose of 160 mg bid that has been shown to be efficacious in patients with chronic HF and after myocardial infarction (MI) (Cohn et al. 2001; Pfeffer et al. 2003). In addition, this dose was known to provide nearly 90% maximal inhibition of NEP in healthy subjects (Gu et al. 2010). Twice-daily dosing was chosen in order to elicit sustained inhibition of NEP (as indicated by plasma cGMP data) and minimize potential risk for hypotension that might result if a higher dose were to be given once daily.

3.2.5 Effect of Sacubitril/valsartan on Cardiac Repolarization

Drug-induced delayed cardiac repolarization may lead to increased susceptibility to cardiac arrhythmias (Cubeddu 2009). Sacubitril/valsartan at single therapeutic (194/206 mg) and supratherapeutic (582/618 mg) doses showed no effect on cardiac repolarization in healthy subjects as evidenced by lack of effect on the QTc interval (Langenickel et al. 2016a).

3.3 Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic Drug–Drug Interactions

Sacubitril, sacubitrilat, and valsartan are not significantly metabolized by CYP450 enzymes (Flarakos et al. 2016). Hence, coadministration of drugs that induce or inhibit CYP450 enzymes is not likely to influence the pharmacokinetics of sacubitril/valsartan. Furthermore, CYP450 enzymes are neither induced nor inhibited by the sacubitril, sacubitrilat, or valsartan at clinically relevant concentrations. Therefore, the potential for drug interactions involving sacubitril/valsartan as an inhibitor or inducer of CYP450 enzymes is low. Consistent with this, no clinically relevant pharmacokinetic interactions have been observed upon

coadministration of sacubitril/valsartan and hydrochlorothiazide, warfarin, carvedilol, omeprazole, amlodipine, metformin, or levonorgestrel–ethinyl estradiol (PI 2015). Although sacubitril and digoxin are both P-glycoprotein substrates, no clinically relevant pharmacokinetic drug interaction was observed between sacubitril/valsartan and digoxin (Ayalasomayajula et al. 2015).

In vitro data show that sacubitril inhibits organic anion transporter proteins (OATPs) 1B1, OATP1B3 (Ayalasomayajula et al. 2016a), and OAT3 at clinically relevant concentrations, indicating a potential drug-drug interaction with statins that undergo hepatobiliary elimination through OATP transporters and furosemide, a loop diuretic that is excreted via OAT3 transporter at proximal renal tubule (Niemi 2007). Atorvastatin is an OATP1B1 and OATP1B3 substrate; coadministration with sacubitril/valsartan increased the C_{max} of atorvastatin and its metabolites by two-fold and AUC by <1.3-fold (Ayalasomayajula et al. 2016d). These increases are unlikely to be of clinical significance given that in PARADIGM-HF, coadministration of sacubitril/valsartan with statins did not result in an increased risk for rhabdomyolysis or statin-related muscle toxicity. No interaction was observed when sacubitril/valsartan was coadministered with simvastatin (Ayalasomayajula et al. 2016a). It is hypothesized that interaction of sacubitril/valsartan with atorvastatin but not simvastatin can be attributed to the rapid clearance of sacubitril and the differences in the rates of absorption between simvastatin/simvastatin acid and atorvastatin. Caution is recommended when coadministering sacubitril/valsartan with statins (PI 2015).

Coadministration with sacubitril/valsartan decreased the C_{max} of furosemide by 50%, AUC by 28%, and its urinary excretion by 26% (unpublished data). Sacubitril/valsartan had no impact on mean urinary excretion of potassium, creatinine, and overall urine volume over 24 h. However, it reduced natriuresis by ~30 mmol over 24 h (an effect that was most pronounced in the first 4 h). This decrease in natriuresis is possibly due to the reduction in systemic exposure and urinary excretion of furosemide when coadministered with sacubitril/valsartan (unpublished data). However, these observed changes do not mandate any dosage adjustment of furosemide when coadministered with sacubitril/valsartan (PI 2015).

No clinically relevant pharmacodynamic interaction is observed upon coadministration of sacubitril/valsartan and nitroglycerin (unpublished data). Caution is recommended when administering sildenafil or any other phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitor to patients treated with sacubitril/valsartan. These agents also increase cGMP levels and may have a greater than additive effect on BP when combined with sacubitril/valsartan (unpublished data).

4 Overview of Clinical Trials of Sacubitril/Valsartan in Heart Failure

The efficacy and safety of sacubitril/valsartan has been evaluated in three key clinical trials to date (Table 1). These include PARADIGM-HF, a phase III trial in patients with HFrEF (McMurray et al. 2014b), TITRATION, a phase II study

Stude	Treatmonte	Primary	Study	Van Gadiaaa
Study	Treatments	assessments	population	Key indings
PARAMOUNT (Phase II) N = 301	Sacubitril/ valsartan 97/103 mg bid versus valsartan 160 mg bid	Change in NT-proBNP from baseline to 12 weeks	Symptomatic HFpEF, LVEF ≥45% , NT-proBNP >400 pg/mL	Significant reduction of NT-proBNP at Week 12 with sacubitril/ valsartan vs. valsartan (relative difference of 23% between two groups)
PARADIGM- HF (Phase III) N = 8,442	Sacubitril/ valsartan 97/103 mg bid versus enalapril 10 mg bid	Composite primary outcome of CV death or HF hospitalization	Symptomatic HFrEF, LVEF $\leq 40\%^{a}$, elevated plasma BNP levels (≥ 150 pg/mL), or BNP ≥ 100 pg/mL, if hospitalization for HF within the previous 12 months	Sacubitril/ valsartan superior to enalapril in reducing the risk of CV death or hospitalization for HF (HR 0.80, 95% CI: 0.73-0.87, p < 0.001)
TITRATION (Phase II) N = 538	Sacubitril/ valsartan uptitration regimens (3-week condensed vs. 6-week conservative regimen)	Safety and tolerability	HFrEF, LVEF ≤35%	Overall, 76% of patients achieved and maintained sacubitril/ valsartan 97/103 mg bid (77.8% in condensed regimen and 84.3% in conservative regimen)

 Table 1
 Phase II and III clinical trials of sacubitril/valsartan in HF

bid twice daily, *HFpEF* heart failure with preserved ejection fraction, *HFrEF* heart failure with reduced ejection fraction, *HR* hazard ratio, *LVEF* left ventricular ejection fraction, *NT-proBNP* N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide, *PARADIGM-HF* Prospective comparison of ARNi with ACEi to Determine Impact on Global Mortality and morbidity in Heart Failure, *PARAMOUNT* Prospective comparison of ARNI with ARB on Management Of heart failUre with preserved ejectioN fraction

^aLVEF was later changed to \leq 35% after a protocol amendment

(Senni et al. 2016) in patients with HFrEF, and PARAMOUNT, a phase II study in patients with HFpEF (Solomon et al. 2012).

4.1 PARADIGM-HF

The phase III PARADIGM-HF trial, the largest HF study to date, was designed to test the superiority of sacubitril/valsartan over an ACEI (standard of care) in reducing the risk of mortality and morbidity in patients with HFrEF (McMurray et al. 2013). The typical phase II development stage for sacubitril/valsartan was bypassed based on substantial and reassuring safety experience in hypertension studies, prior experiences with omapatrilat, and the fact that phase II studies often do not predict success in phase III trials (McMurray et al. 2013).

In the PARADIGM-HF trial, enalapril was chosen as an active comparator because of its established mortality and morbidity benefits in patients with HFrEF (CONSENSUS 1987; SOLVD 1991) and because it is the most widely prescribed ACEI (McMurray et al. 2012). The dose of enalapril 10 mg bid was chosen because it was demonstrated to provide a mortality benefit when compared with placebo in the SOLVD-T trial and was used in subsequent HF outcome trials (SOLVD 1991; Cohn et al. 1991; McMurray et al. 2013; Packer et al. 2002).

This randomized, double-blind, active-controlled, event-driven trial enrolled patients aged \geq 18 years with New York Heart Association (NYHA) class II–IV symptoms, an ejection fraction (EF) \leq 40% (later amended to \leq 35%) and a plasma BNP \geq 150 pg/mL (or N-terminal pro B-type brain natriuretic peptide, NT-proBNP \geq 600 pg/mL) or a BNP \geq 100 pg/mL (or NT-proBNP \geq 400 pg/mL), if there was a history of hospitalization for HF within the last 12 months. Patients with an estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) <30 mL/min/1.73 m², serum potassium >5.4 mmol/L, systolic BP <95 mmHg, or history of angioedema were excluded (McMurray et al. 2013).

The trial had a study design with two sequential single-blind run-in periods followed by a randomized, double-blind treatment period. In the first run-in period, patients received enalapril 10 mg bid for 2 weeks. In the second run-in period, patients were administered sacubitril/valsartan for 4–6 weeks, starting at a dose of 49/51 mg bid (formerly referred to as 100 mg bid) and then uptitrated to 97/103 mg bid (formerly 200 mg bid). Patients who were able to tolerate target doses of both treatments were then randomized in a double-blind manner to receive either enalapril 10 mg bid or sacubitril/valsartan 97/103 mg bid. Two 36-hour washout periods were included after each run-in period to minimize the chances of concomitant NEP and ACE inhibition, which could increase the risk of angioedema (McMurray et al. 2013).

The active run-in periods ensured the attainment of target doses of both drugs that was critical to test for superiority of sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril. For example, the enalapril run-in period was designed to ensure that a minimal mean daily dose of 16.6 mg of enalapril was achieved, as that was the average dose attained in the SOLVD-T trial, which demonstrated the mortality benefit of this ACEI over placebo. Further, the active run-in periods provided an opportunity to assess investigator-unblinded short-term safety and tolerability of sacubitril/valsartan. This was particularly important in the absence of prior phase II safety experience with this drug in HFrEF (McMurray et al. 2013).

A total of 8,399 patients were randomized in PARADIGM-HF at 985 sites across 47 countries. Patients had mean age of 64 years. The majority were males and had either NYHA class II (70%) or class III (24%) symptoms of HF. The mean EF was 29%, and most of the patients received optimized background therapy for HF. The patient demographics and baseline disease characteristics were comparable between the sacubitril/valsartan (n=4,187) and enalapril (n=4,212) groups (McMurray et al. 2014b).

The trial was stopped early by the data monitoring committee at the third interim analysis because of statistically compelling evidence for a benefit with sacubitril/valsartan compared with enalapril for both the primary endpoint (time to CV death or HF hospitalization) and time to CV death alone (McMurray et al. 2014b). The median duration of follow-up was 27 months and most patients were able to tolerate the targeted sacubitril/valsartan dose of 97/103 mg bid. Expressed in the terminology used for LCZ696, the mean daily dose at the end of trial was 375 mg. The average enalapril dose was higher in PARADIGM-HF than in the SOLVD-T trial (18.9 mg vs. 16.6 mg) (SOLVD 1991).

4.1.1 Outcomes

Sacubitril/valsartan provided superior benefits over enalapril in reducing the risk of the primary composite endpoint (CV death or HF hospitalization) by 20%, risk of CV death by 20%, risk of first HF hospitalization by 21%, and risk of all-cause mortality by 16% (Fig. 3) (McMurray et al. 2014b). The benefits of sacubitril/ valsartan over enalapril in reducing the risk of primary composite endpoint and CV death were consistent across the 18 prespecified subgroups (McMurray et al. 2014b) except that a nominally significant interaction was observed between NYHA class at randomization and treatment effect on the primary endpoint (p = 0.03, without adjustment for multiple comparisons). No significant interaction was observed between NYHA class and CV death (p = 0.76). Further, the superior outcome benefits observed with sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril were independent of the BP lowering effect of sacubitril/valsartan (McMurray et al. 2014b).

The number of patients needed to treat (NNT) with sacubitril/valsartan in order to prevent one primary endpoint event was 21. The NNT to prevent one death due to CV causes was 32.

There were no significant differences between sacubitril/valsartan- and enalapril-treated patients for new-onset atrial fibrillation (3.1 vs. 3.1%) or decline in renal function, defined as end-stage renal disease or a decrease of \geq 50% in the eGFR from the value at randomization or a decrease in the eGFR of >30 mL/min per 1.73 m², to less than 60 mL/min per 1.73 m² (2.2 vs. 2.6%) (McMurray et al. 2014b).

Ethical considerations would preclude direct comparison of sacubitril/valsartan with placebo in a clinical trial, but a putative placebo analysis has been done for



Fig. 3 Kaplan–Meier curves for key PARADIGM-HF study outcomes (**A**) death from CV causes or first hospitalization for HF; (**B**) first hospitalization for HF; (**C**) death from CV causes; (**D**) death from any cause. *CI* confidence interval, *CV* cardiovascular, *HF* heart failure, *Sac*/*val* sacubitril/valsartan. Source: McMurray et al. (2014b)

PARADIGM-HF using the results of SOLVD-T (ACEI vs. placebo) and CHARM-Alternative (ARB vs. placebo) trials as references. Compared with putative placebos, sacubitril/valsartan showed a significant reduction in risk for the primary endpoint by 43% (SOLVD-T) and 39% (CHARM-Alternative). Similar effects were observed for CV death (34% for SOLVD-T and 32% for CHARM-Alternative), HF hospitalization (49% for SOLVD-T and 46% for CHARM-Alternative), and all-cause mortality (28% for SOLVD-T and 26% for CHARM-Alternative, p < 0.0001 for all comparisons) (McMurray et al. 2015).

4.1.2 Mode of Death

The majority of deaths in the PARADIGM-HF trial were attributed to CV causes (80.9%), of which 45% were due to sudden cardiac death and 27% were due to worsening HF. Sacubitril/valsartan significantly reduced the risk of both sudden cardiac death (HR: 0.80; 95% CI: 0.68–0.94; p = 0.008) and death due to worsening HF (HR: 0.79; 95% CI: 0.64–0.98; p = 0.034) compared with enalapril. Deaths due to other CV causes (including MI and stroke) were infrequent and distributed evenly between treatment groups, as were non-CV deaths (Desai et al. 2015).

4.1.3 Clinical Progression

Nonfatal worsening of symptoms is frequent in HF, necessitating treatment intensification or emergency treatment that may include hospitalization, intensive care, or surgical intervention (Butler et al. 2014). Prevention of worsening of HF and maintaining clinical stability are major goals of HF therapy, in addition to improving survival. In addition to the mortality benefit provided by sacubitril/valsartan in patients with HFrEF, the treatment provided significant improvements with regard to the multiple manifestations of clinical progression commonly observed in surviving patients. These included significant reductions, compared with enalapril, in the numbers of patients requiring treatment intensification, emergency department visits, and hospitalizations (Table 2). Compared with enalapril, sacubitril/valsartan reduced the risk of first hospitalization for any cause by 12%, overall hospitalizations for any cause (regardless of whether they were first or recurrent hospitalizations) by 16%, and overall hospitalizations for HF by 23% (Packer et al. 2015). The reduction in the rate of hospitalization for HF with sacubitril/valsartan was significant at 30 days after randomization (Packer et al. 2015). Sacubitril/ valsartan also significantly reduced the rate of hospital readmissions for any cause within 30 days of discharge (OR, 0.74; 95% CI: 0.56–0.97; p = 0.031) (Desai et al. 2016a).

Irrespective of background therapy, fewer patients treated with sacubitril/valsartan vs. enalapril experienced an expanded composite outcome of death from CV causes, hospitalization for HF, an emergency department visit for HF, or therapy intensification for worsening HF (1,038 vs. 1,275 patients; HR 0.79; 95% CI 0.73–0.86; p < 0.0001) (Okumura et al. 2016b).

Based on survival analysis, it has been estimated that treatment with sacubitril/valsartan compared with enalapril would eventually lead to a gain of 2.1 years of HF-free survival and 1.4 years of overall survival in an average 55-year-old patient (Claggett et al. 2015).

4.1.4 Quality of Life

In the PARADIGM-HF trial, treatment with sacubitril/valsartan was associated with a significantly less deterioration of health-related quality of life than enalapril. Worsening of HF symptoms and physical limitations as measured by the Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire (KCCQ) scores were significantly lower with sacubitril/valsartan compared with enalapril (reduction in KCCQ score from baseline to 8 months: -2.99 in sacubitril/valsartan group vs. -4.63 in enalapril group; between-group difference 1.64 points; p = 0.001) (McMurray et al. 2014b). Fewer patients in the sacubitril/valsartan group had \geq 5-point deterioration in the KCCQ scores compared with enalapril group; the between-group difference for this endpoint was significant at 4, 8, and 12 months after randomization (p = 0.002, p = 0.001 and p = 0.03, respectively). The benefit of sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril in preventing the worsening of KCCQ scores was consistent across the different age groups (Jhund et al. 2015b) and in patients with or without diabetes (Kristensen et al. 2016a).

		Sacubitril/	HR/rate ratio	
Criteria for clinical progression in patients	Enalapril	valsartan	(95% CI);	
with HF	(n = 4,212)	(n=4,187)	<i>p</i> value	
Patients requiring intensification of	604 (14.3)	520 (12.4)	0.84	
outpatient therapy			(0.74-0.94);	
	150 (2.6)	102 (2.4)	p = 0.003	
Patients with ED visit for HF	150 (3.6)	102 (2.4)	(0.52, 0.85)	
			(0.52 - 0.05), n = 0.001	
Total number of stays in intensive care n	879	768	0.82	
	017	,00	$(0.72-0.94)^{a}$:	
			p = 0.005	
Patients receiving IV positive inotropic	229 (5.4)	161 (3.9)	0.69	
drugs			(0.57–0.85);	
			<i>p</i> < 0.001	
Patients requiring cardiac	119 (2.8)	94 (2.3)	0.78	
resynchronization, ventricular assist device			(0.60-1.02);	
implantation, or cardiac transplantation	(59 (15 ()	527 (12.0)	p = 0.07	
Patients hospitalized for HF, n	658 (15.6)	537 (12.8)	(0.79)	
			(0.71 - 0.89), n < 0.001	
Patients hospitalized for CV reason	1 344 (31 9)	1 210 (28 9)	0.88	
		1,210 (2017)	(0.81–0.95);	
			p < 0.001	
Patients hospitalized for any reason	1,827 (43.4)	1,660 (39.7)	0.88	
			(0.82–0.94);	
			<i>p</i> < 0.001	
Total number of hospitalizations for HF	1,079	851	0.77	
			$(0.67 - 0.89)^{\circ};$	
Patients with worsening NVHA functional alas	(>1 class) an	d surviving at	<i>p</i> < 0.001	
A months	$\frac{5}{218}$ (5.5)	186 (A 7)	0.113	
4 months	218 (3.3)	205 (5.4)	0.004	
8 months	200(7.0)	203(3.4)	0.004	
12 monuns 2/1 (7.4) 223 (0.1) 0.023 Detinute with measuring KCCO total summary as an (\$5 point) and point.				
A months	s score (<u>></u> 5 pou	(13) and surviving	$\frac{a}{0.002}$	
4 monuns	1,012 (20.3)	074 (28.2)	0.002	
8 months	1,087 (31.8)	974 (28.2)	0.001	
12 months	1,029 (31.5)	964 (29.0)	0.03	

Table 2 Measures of nonfatal worsening heart failure (clinical progression) in the enalapril and sacubitril/valsartan groups

CV cardiovascular, *ED* emergency department, *HF* heart failure, *HR* hazard ratio, *IV* intravenous, *KCCQ* Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire, *NYHA* New York Heart Association ^aRate ratio estimated from a negative binomial model; ratios without ^a are hazard ratios derived by using the Cox proportional hazards model; Data are presented as n (%) unless indicated

4.1.5 Biomarkers

The biomarkers BNP and NT-proBNP are indicative of cardiac wall stress and are elevated in patients with HF. They are also used as diagnostic and prognostic tools in these patients. Measurements of BNP are subject to error, however, because conventional assay methods do not adequately distinguish between BNP itself and related inactive peptides that may be present at substantial levels in the plasma of patients with HF (Hawkridge et al. 2005; Miller et al. 2011; Niederkofler et al. 2008). Moreover, BNP is a substrate of NEP and, thus, its levels are expected to increase in patients treated with sacubitril/valsartan, given its mechanism of action. In contrast, NT-proBNP (a large N-terminal peptide fragment generated by cleavage of the BNP prohormone) is biologically inert and is not a substrate for NEP (Heeschen et al. 2004). Hence, NT-proBNP can be used an indicator of the cardioprotective effects of sacubitril/valsartan, with a decline in plasma NT-proBNP indicating less cardiac wall stress (Bayes-Genis et al. 2016) whereas, monitoring BNP levels in patients who receive treatment with sacubitril/valsartan would likely be less informative.

In PARADIGM-HF trial, patients in the sacubitril/valsartan arm had significantly lower circulating levels of NT-proBNP after 4 weeks of treatment than patients in the enalapril arm and this difference (p < 0.0001) was sustained over 8 months (Packer et al. 2015). Treatment with sacubitril/valsartan was twice as likely as enalapril to reduce NT-proBNP to <1.000 pg/mL and this reduction was associated with a significantly lower rate of subsequent CV death or HF hospitalization (Zile et al. 2016). In contrast, plasma BNP levels were significantly (p < 0.0001) higher in the sacubitril/valsartan arm than in the enalapril arm at 4 weeks and 8 months, consistent with the mechanism of action of sacubitril/ valsartan. High sensitivity troponin T (hsTnT), a marker of cardiomyocyte injury, was elevated in majority of the patients in both treatment arms at baseline (median hsTnT 0.015 μ g/L). Plasma levels of hsTnT were significantly (p < 0.0001) lower in sacubitril/valsartan arm than in the enalapril arm at 1 and 8 months postrandomization. The proportion of patients having hsTnT levels in the range indicative of myocyte injury (>0.014 µg/L) was also significantly reduced in sacubitril/ valsartan arm (Jhund et al. 2015a).

4.1.6 Additional Subgroup Analyses and Other Analyses

Several additional analyses of the PARADIGM-HF trial were conducted to assess the effects of sacubitril/valsartan across various subgroups (Fig. 4). The benefits of sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril were consistent across all age subgroups assessed (<55, 55–64, 65–74, and \geq 75 years). In addition, sacubitril/valsartan was welltolerated across these age groups; intolerance leading to discontinuation of sacubitril/valsartan was less common even in the most elderly patients (Jhund et al. 2015b). The superiority of sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril was consistently observed across patients with left ventricular ejection fraction from 5 to 42% (Solomon et al. 2016a), baseline systolic BP values from 90 to 189 mmHg (Bohm et al. 2015), glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) levels from normoglycemia (HbA1c < 6.0%) to diabetics (HbA1c \geq 6.5%) (Kristensen et al. 2016a), and across

Subgroup analyses	N		HR (95% CI)	P value for interaction
Age, years		1		0.94
<55	1624 —		0.78 (0.64-0.96)	
55–64	2655 —	_	0.76 (0.65-0.90)	í.
65–74	2557 —	-	0.80 (0.68-0.93)	
≥75 years	1563 —	•	0.86 (0.72-1.04)	í.
SBP, mmHg				0.58
<110	1747 -	•	0.89 (0.74-1.06)	
110-<120	1931 —	•	0.84 (0.70-1.01)	6
120-<130	2059	-	0.73 (0.60-0.87)	6
130-<140	1477 —	-	0.74 (0.59-0.92)	
≥140	1185 —	•	0.81 (0.64-1.01)	0
Dose, % of target dose				0.99
100%		►	0.79 (0.71–0.88)	Ŭ.
50-<100%		⊢ ∣	0.79 (0.67-0.92)	Č.
<50%		→	0.79 (0.58-1.07)	ř.
Glycemic status*				0.13
Diabetes	2907 -	-	0.87 (0.77-0.98)	(
Undiagnosed diabetes	1106 -	-	0.97 (0.77-1.22)	Č.
Pre-diabetes	2103 —	-	0.76 (0.63-0.91)	
Normoglycemia	2158	-	0.68 (0.56-0.83)	
Baseline risk, MAGGIC risk scor	es			-
26–40	1459 —	•	0.84 (0.71-1.00)	
22–25	1842 -	•	0.89 (0.74-1.06)	
19–21	1675 —		0.75 (0.62-0.92)	ğ
16–18	1637 —	-	0.69 (0.56-0.86)	6
4–15	1762 —	▶	0.80 (0.63-1.02)	0
Geographic variations				0.50
Asia-Pacific	1487 —	•	0.85 (0.69-1.04)	6
Latin America	1433 —	-	0.71 (0.56-0.88)	i.
Central/Eastern Europe/Russia	2762 -	⊢	0.78 (0.67-0.91)	
Western Europe	1680 —	•	0.88 (0.71-1.08)	
North America	602 —	-	0.67 (0.50-0.90)	
			Г	
	0.5	1	1.5	
	Favors sacubitril/valsar	tan Favors e	nalapril	

Fig. 4 Additional subgroup and other analyses in PARADIGM-HF trial. *Glycemic status: Patients without a previous diagnosis of diabetes mellitus were divided into three categories according to the hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels: normal, <6.0% (<42 mmol/mol); prediabetes mellitus, 6.0-6.4% (42-47 mmol/mol); and undiagnosed diabetes mellitus, $\geq 6.5\%$ (≥ 48 mmol/mol). Patients with a previous diagnosis of diabetes mellitus (irrespective of HbA1c level) were considered to have diabetes mellitus. *CI* confidence interval, *HR* hazard ratio, *MAGGIC* Meta-analysis Global Group in Chronic Heart Failure, *SBP* systolic blood pressure

a wide range of baseline MAGGIC and EMPHASIS-HF risk scores (Simpson et al. 2015). In addition, the outcomes of comparisons between sacubitril/valsartan and enalapril were similar across different geographic regions despite significant regional differences in the distributions of patients' ages, symptoms, comorbidities, background therapies, and event rates (Kristensen et al. 2016b).

Patients in the PARADIGM-HF were optimally treated with recommended pharmacologic therapies for HF prior to enrolment in the study, including ACEIs or ARBs (100%), β-blockers (93%), mineralocorticoid receptors antagonists (56%), and diuretics (80%) (McMurray et al. 2014b). In addition, post-randomization use of β-blockers, mineralocorticoid receptors antagonists, and diuretics remained consistently high throughout the follow-up period. Rates of use of implantable cardioverter defibrillator and cardiac resynchronization therapy devices were low in PARADIGM-HF (15 and 7%, respectively) but consistent with other recently completed HF trials and with real-world observational studies (McMurray et al. 2014a). Irrespective of background pharmacological therapies, surgical interventions (coronary revascularization), or devices used concomitantly, sacubitril/valsartan was more effective than enalapril in reducing the event rate of the primary composite endpoint and the rate of CV death alone. The benefits of sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril were incremental to those of other therapies. The HRs for the primary endpoint were 0.84 and 0.79, respectively, in patients with and without an implantable cardiac resynchronization device and they were 0.85 and 0.74, respectively, in patients with and without concomitant use of a mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist (Okumura et al. 2016a).

As in all trials, dose reductions of study medications were frequent in PARADIGM-HF; 42 and 43% of patients randomized to sacubitril/valsartan and enalapril, respectively, experienced a down-titration of dose at least once during the study. However, the treatment benefit of sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril following dose reductions was similar (for the primary endpoint event, HR 0.80, 95% CI 0.70–0.93, p < 0.001) to that observed in patients without any dose reductions (HR 0.79, 95% CI 0.71–0.88, p < 0.001). Patients taking lower mean daily doses of sacubitril/valsartan had fewer events of CV death or HF hospitalization than patients taking lower mean doses of enalapril, thus implying that the greater benefits of sacubitril/valsartan compared with enalapril were maintained even in patients who could not tolerate the target doses of sacubitril/valsartan (Vardeny et al. 2016).

In another analysis of PARADIGM-HF trial, the impact of sacubitril/valsartan was assessed in clinically stable patients to determine if an episode of clinical decompensation or instability was required to justify switching patients from an RAAS inhibitor to sacubitril/valsartan. For this analysis, patients were subgrouped by presence or absence of a history of prior hospitalization for HF and the length of time since that hospitalization (\leq 3 months, >3 and \leq 6 months, >6 and \leq 12 months, >12 months, or no history of prior hospitalization for HF). The treatment effect of sacubitril/valsartan did not differ across these subgroups; patients who were clinically stable, as shown by a remote HF hospitalization or no prior HF hospitalization, were as likely to benefit from sacubitril/valsartan

therapy as were patients with a recent history of clinical decompensation (Solomon et al. 2016a, b).

Further, post hoc analyses of PARADIGM-HF trial were conducted to assess the effects of sacubitril/valsartan compared with enalapril in patients with prior history of MI or atrial fibrillation (AF). For analysis in patients with or without prior MI, clinical outcomes included primary composite endpoint (CV death or HF hospitalization), a prespecified adjudicated composite of CV death, HF hospitalization, MI, stroke, or resuscitated sudden death and a post hoc coronary composite of CV death, MI, hospitalization for unstable angina, hospitalization for any angina or coronary revascularization. The beneficial effects of sacubitril/valsartan over enalapril were independent of a prior history of MI for all the composite endpoints (p values for interaction 0.99, 0.51, and 0.36 for the primary, prespecified composite, and post hoc coronary composite endpoints, respectively) (Mogensen et al. 2016a). Similarly, a history of AF did not modify the beneficial effects of sacubitril/valsartan compared with enalapril on the risk of either the primary endpoint, HF hospitalization, or all-cause mortality (p value for interaction 0.25–0.95) (Mogensen et al. 2016b).

4.1.7 Safety and Tolerability

Sacubitril/valsartan was generally well-tolerated in PARADIGM-HF (McMurray et al. 2014b). Overall, 19.8% of subjects discontinued the study during the run-in periods, of which 10.5% of patients discontinued during the enalapril run-in phase and 9.3% discontinued during the sacubitril/valsartan run-in phase. Nearly two thirds of these discontinuations were due to AEs and abnormal laboratory tests; hypotension, hyperkalemia, and renal dysfunction were the AEs most often responsible for withdrawal during the run-in periods (Desai et al. 2016b). During the double-blind period, the incidence of serious AEs was lower in the sacubitril/valsartan arm than in the enalapril arm (46.1 vs. 50.7%, respectively). The overall incidence of AEs was similar in both treatment arms but fewer patients discontinued due to an AE in the sacubitril/valsartan arm than in the enalapril arm (10.7 vs. 12.2%).

With regard to protocol-specified AEs of special interest reported in the doubleblind period, there was a higher incidence of hypotension in both the treatment arms. When comparing between the two groups, hypotension and dizziness were more frequent in the sacubitril/valsartan arm while hyperkalemia (serum potassium >6 mmol/L), renal impairment (serum creatinine $\geq 2.5 \text{ mg/dL}$), and cough were more frequent in the enalapril arm. The incidence of symptomatic hypotension was higher in the sacubitril/valsartan arm than in the enalapril arm (14.0 vs. 9.2%; p < 0.001) but the rate of discontinuation due to hypotension-related AEs did not differ significantly between the two treatment arms (0.9 vs. 0.7% for sacubitril/ valsartan vs. enalapril, respectively; p = 0.38) (McMurray et al. 2014b).

The progression of renal dysfunction was slower in the sacubitril/valsartan arm than in the enalapril arm (change in eGFR, -0.11 vs. -0.14 mL/min per 1.73 m²/ month, respectively; p = 0.01). Compared with enalapril, sacubitril/valsartan showed a trend towards reduction in worsening renal function and improved

clinical outcomes in patients with or without chronic kidney disease at baseline (Damman et al. 2015). Within a subset of patients for whom urinary albumin/ creatinine ratios were available at screening and at 1 and 8 months after randomization, sacubitril/valsartan was associated with a modest increase in this ratio compared with enalapril (median difference 0.30 mg/mmol). The increase was observed at 30 days post-randomization and remained stable over 8 months. Despite the increase, sacubitril/valsartan reduced the subsequent occurrence of the primary outcome by 21% compared with enalapril in this cohort, consistent with the reductions seen in the overall population in PARADIGM-HF (Gori et al. 2015).

Given that sacubitril/valsartan inhibits NEP, one of the enzymes involved in the metabolism of bradykinin, special attention was given to the evaluation of angioedema or angioedema-like events in the PARADIGM-HF trial. All suspected cases of angioedema were adjudicated by an independent angioedema adjudication committee (McMurray et al. 2014b). The overall incidence of angioedema events was low in both treatment arms. There were 25 confirmed angioedema events during the run-in periods – 15 during the enalapril run-in period and 10 during the sacubitril/valsartan run-in period. None of the events resulted in death or a need for mechanical ventilation.

During the double-blind period, angioedema was confirmed by blinded adjudication in 19 patients (0.45%) in the sacubitril/valsartan arm and in 10 patients (0.24%) in the enalapril arm (p = 0.13) (McMurray et al. 2014b). In neither treatment arm did any patient have an airway compromised or require mechanical airway protection because of angioedema. Angioedema led to the study drug discontinuation in 7 patients (0.17%) and 4 patients (0.09%) in sacubitril/valsartan and enalapril arms, respectively. The incidence of confirmed angioedema events was higher in black patients than others, irrespective of treatment arm. Angioedema was reported in 5 of 213 and 1 of 214 black patients in the sacubitril/valsartan and enalapril arms, respectively, and in 14 of 3,990 and 9 of 4,015 nonblack patients, respectively. However, none of these events were severe.

Given that NEP is one of many enzymes involved in the clearance of A β , there is a theoretical risk of accumulation of A β peptides in patients treated with sacubitril/ valsartan (Liu et al. 2010). In a 14-day study in healthy subjects randomized to receive sacubitril/valsartan 194/206 mg once daily (n = 21) or placebo (n = 22), sacubitril/valsartan did not result in changes in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) levels of aggregable A β isoforms (1–42 and 1–40) compared with placebo, despite achieving CSF concentrations of sacubitrilat sufficient to inhibit NEP. Though sacubitril/ valsartan was associated with a 42% increase in soluble CSF A β 1–38 levels, its clinical relevance is currently unknown (Langenickel et al. 2016b). Furthermore, a post hoc analysis using Standardized Medical Dictionary for Regulatory Activities (MedDRA) Queries with "broad" and "narrow" preferred terms for dementiarelated events found no significant difference in the incidence of these events between the sacubitril/valsartan and enalapril arms (broad search: HR, 1.01, 95% CI: 0.75–1.37; narrow search: HR, 0.73, 95% CI: 0.33–1.59) (Cannon et al. 2016).

4.2 TITRATION

TITRATION was a 12-week, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallelgroup study that compared the safety and tolerability of uptitrating to a target dose of sacubitril/valsartan 97/103 mg bid (formerly 200 mg bid) over intervals of 3 and 6 weeks (Senni et al. 2016). It included a broader range of patients than PARADIGM-HF, the goal being to include a population more representative of daily clinical practice. Hospitalized and ambulatory patients were both included. There were no exclusions based on NT-proBNP level or histories of prior treatment with ACEIs or ARBs. Patients were further stratified according to the dose of ACEI/ARB at screening: low-dose RAAS stratum (patients who had been receiving a total daily dose of \leq 10 mg enalapril or equivalent at screening, this group included ACEI/ARB naïve patients) and high-dose RAAS stratum (patients who were receiving >10 mg/day enalapril or equivalent at screening).

Treatments began with a short, open-label run-in period of 5 days during which patients received sacubitril/valsartan 24/26 mg bid. This was followed by doubleblind randomization into either a "condensed" 3-week uptitration arm or a "conservative" 6-week uptitration arm. In both arms, patients were followed up for 11 weeks post-randomization.

The incidences of hypotension and renal dysfunction were comparable with the two regimens but there was a numerically higher incidence of hyperkalemia with the "condensed" regimen (7.7%) than with the "conservative" regimen (4.4%). Irrespective of uptitration regimen, hypotension, renal dysfunction, and hyperkalemia were more common in low-dose RAS stratum than in high-dose RAS stratum (Senni et al. 2016).

The majority of patients in the study achieved and maintained the target dose of sacubitril/valsartan 97/103 mg bid over the 12-week study duration regardless of baseline ACEI/ARB exposure (70.3% overall and 76.2% if discontinuations due to non-AE reasons were excluded). Among patients in the low-dose stratum, the proportion able to achieve and maintain a dose of 97/103 mg bid sacubitril/valsartan was greater with the conservative regimen than with the condensed regimen (84.9 vs. 73.6%). This was mainly due to lower incidences of hypotension, hyperkalemia, and renal dysfunction in patients in the conservative regimen. The proportions of patients who achieved and maintained the targeted dose in the high-dose stratum was similar irrespective of the uptitration regimen (82.6% for condensed and 83.8% for conservative) (Senni et al. 2016).

4.3 PARAMOUNT-HF

PARAMOUNT-HF was a phase II multicenter, randomized, double-blind, parallelgroup, and active-controlled proof-of-concept study in which sacubitril/valsartan 97/103 mg bid (formerly 200 mg bid) was compared with valsartan 160 mg bid in patients with HFpEF (N = 301). The primary endpoint was change in NT-proBNP from baseline to 12 weeks and secondary endpoints included change in echocardiographic measures, BP, NYHA class, clinical composite assessment, and KCCQ scores (Solomon et al. 2012).

There was a significantly greater reduction in NT-proBNP from baseline to Week 12 for patients in the sacubitril/valsartan arm, compared with the valsartan arm. The relative difference between the two arms was 23% (ratio for sacubitril/ valsartan to valsartan: 0.77; 95% CI: 0.64–0.92; p = 0.005). The reductions in NT-proBNP continued throughout 36 weeks of observation, although at 36 weeks the difference between the treatment arms was no longer significant. The reduction in NT-proBNP at Week 12 was consistently observed in all prespecified subgroups (defined by age, gender, EF, presence or absence of AF, previous hospital admission for HF, baseline NYHA class, and baseline NT-proBNP) except that within the sacubitril/valsartan treatment arm, patients with diabetes had a greater reduction in NT-proBNP than patients without diabetes (interaction p = 0.02). A post hoc analysis showed that the greater reduction in NT-proBNP observed at Week 12 in the sacubitril/valsartan arm was independent of the extent of BP lowering (Jhund et al. 2014). At Week 36, there was evidence of cardiac reverse remodeling indicated by significantly greater reductions in left atrial volume (p = 0.003) and size (p = 0.034) in the sacubitril/valsartan arm than in the valsartan arm. Patients in the sacubitril/valsartan arm showed significantly greater improvement in NYHA class (p = 0.05) at Week 36 than patients in the valsartan arm, although there was no difference between the arms in KCCQ scores (Solomon et al. 2012). Both treatments were generally well-tolerated and AE profiles were similar in the two treatment arms. There was, however, a higher incidence of serious AEs in the valsartan arm than in the sacubitril/valsartan arm (20 vs. 15%).

5 Current Status of Sacubitril/Valsartan

Sacubitril/valsartan is approved in more than 60 countries worldwide (including the USA and the EU) and is indicated to reduce the risk of CV death and hospitalization for patients with chronic HFrEF (PI 2015). European Society of Cardiology guidelines and a joint statement issued by the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association/Heart Failure Society of America recommend sacubitril/valsartan (Class Ib) for HFrEF in conjunction with evidence-based therapies such as beta-blockers and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2016).

5.1 Ongoing Outcome Studies

Several outcome studies are ongoing to evaluate the efficacy and safety of sacubitril/valsartan in different patient populations. These include PARAGON-HF (Prospective comparison of ARni with Arb Global Outcomes in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction) and PARADISE-MI (Prospective ARni vs. ACE inhibitor trial to DetermIne Superiority in reducing heart failure Events after

Myocardial Infarction). PARAGON-HF is a phase III study undertaken to evaluate the potential benefits of sacubitril/valsartan regarding long-term morbidity and mortality in patients with HFpEF, following up on the promising findings in patients with HFpEF in PARAMOUNT-HF trial (Solomon et al. 2012). PARADISE-MI is a phase III study that will assess the effects of sacubitril/valsartan on outcomes in post-MI patients. In addition, a phase III study, PANORMA-HF, to assess the safety and efficacy of sacubitril/valsartan in children with HFrEF is also underway.

Acknowledgments/Disclosures Y. Khder, M. P. Lefkowitz, and V. Shi are employees of Novartis, the manufacturer of sacubitril/valsartan. The authors thank Roohi Chopra, Sreedevi Boggarapu, and Ronald B. Langdon (all of Novartis) for the writing and editorial support.

References

- Ando S, Rahman MA, Butler GC, Senn BL, Floras JS (1995) Comparison of candoxatril and atrial natriuretic factor in healthy men. Effects on hemodynamics, sympathetic activity, heart rate variability, and endothelin. Hypertension 26(6 Pt 2):1160–1166
- Akahori M, Ayalasomayajula S, Langenickel T, Pal P, Zhou W, Sunkara G (2016) Pharmacokinetics after single ascending dose, food effect, and safety of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696), an angiotensin receptor and neprilysin inhibitor, in healthy Japanese subjects. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet [Epub ahead of print]. doi:10.1007/s13318-016-0354-1
- Ayalasomayajula S, Jordaan P, Pal P et al (2015) Assessment of drug interaction potential between LCZ696, an angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, and digoxin or warfarin. Clin Pharmacol Biopharm 4:147
- Ayalasomayajula S, Han Y, Langenickel T et al (2016a) In vitro and clinical evaluation of OATPmediated drug interaction potential of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696). J Clin Pharm Ther 41 (4):424–431
- Ayalasomayajula S, Langenickel T, Chandra P et al (2016b) Effect of food on the oral bioavailability of the angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) in healthy subjects. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 54(12):1012–1018
- Ayalasomayajula SP, Langenickel TH, Jordaan P et al (2016c) Effect of renal function on the pharmacokinetics of LCZ696 (sacubitril/valsartan), an angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 72(9):1065–1073
- Ayalasomayajula S, Pan W, Han Y et al (2016d) Assessment of drug-drug interaction potential between atorvastatin and LCZ696, A novel angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, in healthy Chinese male subjects. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet [Epub ahead of print]
- Baguet JP, Barone-Rochette G, Neuder Y (2009) Candesartan cilexetil in the treatment of chronic heart failure. Vasc Health Risk Manage 5(1):257–264
- Bayes-Genis A, Morant-Talamante N, Lupon J (2016) Neprilysin and natriuretic peptide regulation in heart failure. Curr Heart Failure Rep 13(4):151–157
- Bevan EG, Connell JM, Doyle J, Carmichael HA, Davies DL, Lorimer AR, McInnes GT (1992) Candoxatril, a neutral endopeptidase inhibitor: efficacy and tolerability in essential hypertension. J Hypertens 10(7):607–613
- Bohm M, Refsgaard J, Ramires F et al (2015) Effect of the angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor LCZ696 compared with enalapril according to systolic blood pressure in PARADIGM-HF [abstract no. P1794]. Eur J Heart Failure 17(Suppl 1):393
- Burnett JC Jr (1999) Vasopeptidase inhibition: a new concept in blood pressure management. J Hypertens Suppl 17(1):S37–S43

- Butler J, Braunwald E, Gheorghiade M (2014) Recognizing worsening chronic heart failure as an entity and an end point in clinical trials. JAMA 312(8):789–790
- Cannon J, Shen L, Jhund P et al (2016) Dementia-related adverse events in PARADIGM-HF and other trials in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. Eur J Heart Failure [Epub ahead of print]. doi:10.1002/ejhf.687.
- Carr AA, Prisant LM (1996) Losartan: first of a new class of angiotensin antagonists for the management of hypertension. J Clin Pharmacol 36(1):3–12
- Claggett B, Packer M, McMurray JJV et al (2015) Estimating the long-term treatment benefits of sacubitril-valsartan. N Engl J Med 373(23):2289–2290
- Cleland JG, Swedberg K (1998) Lack of efficacy of neutral endopeptidase inhibitor ecadotril in heart failure. The international ecadotril multi-centre dose-ranging study investigators. Lancet 351(9116):1657–1658
- Cohn JN (1996) The management of chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 335(7):490-498
- Cohn JN, Tognoni G (2001) A randomized trial of the angiotensin-receptor blocker valsartan in chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 345(23):1667–1675. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa010713
- Cohn JN, Johnson G, Ziesche S et al (1991) A comparison of enalapril with hydralazine-isosorbide dinitrate in the treatment of chronic congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 325(5):303–310
- Colucci WS, Elkayam U, Horton DP et al (2000) Intravenous nesiritide, a natriuretic peptide, in the treatment of decompensated congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 343(4):246–253
- CONSENSUS (1987) Effects of enalapril on mortality in severe congestive heart failure. Results of the Cooperative North Scandinavian Enalapril Survival Study (CONSENSUS). The CON-SENSUS trial study group. N Engl J Med 316(23):1429–1435. doi:10.1056/ NEJM198706043162301
- Cubeddu LX (2009) Iatrogenic QT abnormalities and fatal arrhythmias: mechanisms and clinical significance. Curr Cardiol Rev 5(3):166–176
- Damman K, Andersen K, Belohlavek J et al. (2015) Angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibition and renal function in heart failure: results from PARADIGM-HF [abstract no. 3301]. Eur Heart J 36 (Suppl 1):545
- Daniels LB, Maisel AS (2007) Natriuretic peptides. J Am Coll Cardiol 50(25):2357-2368
- de Bold AJ, Raymond JJ, Bencosme SA (1978) Atrial specific granules of the rat heart: light microscopic staining and histochemical reactions. J Histochem Cytochem 26(12):1094–1102
- de Bold AJ, Borenstein HB, Veress AT, Sonnenberg H (1981) A rapid and potent natriuretic response to intravenous injection of atrial myocardial extract in rats. Life Sci 28(1):89–94
- Desai AS, McMurray JJV, Packer M et al (2015) Effect of the angiotensin-receptor-neprilysin inhibitor LCZ696 compared with enalapril on mode of death in heart failure patients. Eur Heart J 36(30):1990–1997
- Desai A, Claggett B, Packer M et al (2016a) Influence of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) on 30-day readmission after heart failure hospitalization. J Am Coll Cardiol 68(3):241–248
- Desai AS, Solomon S, Claggett B et al (2016b) Factors associated with noncompletion during the run-in period before randomization and influence on the estimated benefit of LCZ696 in the PARADIGM-HF trial. Circ Heart Failure 9(6)
- Favrat B, Burnier M, Nussberger J, Lecomte JM, Brouard R, Waeber B, Brunner HR (1995) Neutral endopeptidase versus angiotensin converting enzyme inhibition in essential hypertension. J Hypertens 13(7):797–804
- Flarakos J, Du Y, Bedman T et al (2016) Disposition and metabolism of [C] Sacubitril/Valsartan (formerly LCZ696) an angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, in healthy subjects. Xenobiotica 46(11):1–15
- Gafford JT, Skidgel RA, Erdos EG, Hersh LB (1983) Human kidney "enkephalinase", a neutral metalloendopeptidase that cleaves active peptides. Biochemistry 22(13):3265–3271
- Gan L, Langenickel T, Petruck J et al (2016) Effects of age and sex on the pharmacokinetics of LCZ696, an angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor. J Clin Pharmacol 56(1):78–86

- Gori M, Senni M, Claggett B et al (2015) Effect of LCZ696 on urinary albumin excretion and relation to outcomes in patients with heart failure [abstract no. 3302]. Eur Heart J 36(Suppl 1):545
- Gros C, Souque A, Schwartz JC, Duchier J, Cournot A, Baumer P, Lecomte JM (1989) Protection of atrial natriuretic factor against degradation: diuretic and natriuretic responses after in vivo inhibition of enkephalinase (EC 3.4.24.11) by acetorphan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86 (19):7580–7584
- Gu J, Noe A, Chandra P et al (2010) Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of LCZ696, a novel dual-acting angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibitor (ARNi). J Clin Pharmacol 50(4):401–414
- Han Y, Ayalasomayajula S, Pan W et al (2016) Pharmacokinetics, safety and tolerability of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) After single-dose administration in healthy Chinese subjects. Eur J Drug Metab Pharmacokinet [Epub ahead of print]. doi:10.1007/s13318-016-0328-3
- Hawkridge AM, Heublein DM, Bergen HR III, Cataliotti A, Burnett JC Jr, Muddiman DC (2005) Quantitative mass spectral evidence for the absence of circulating brain natriuretic peptide (BNP-32) in severe human heart failure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102(48):17442–17447
- Heeschen C, Hamm CW, Mitrovic V, Lantelme NH, White HD (2004) N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide levels for dynamic risk stratification of patients with acute coronary syndromes. Circulation 110(20):3206–3212
- Holmes SJ, Espiner EA, Richards AM, Yandle TG, Frampton C (1993) Renal, endocrine, and hemodynamic effects of human brain natriuretic peptide in normal man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 76(1):91–96
- Jhund PS, Claggett B, Packer M et al (2014) Independence of the blood pressure lowering effect and efficacy of the angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor, LCZ696, in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: an analysis of the PARAMOUNT trial. Eur J Heart Failure 16(6):671–677
- Jhund P, Claggett B, Solomon S et al (2015a) Elevated high sensitivity troponin is associated with poorer outcomes in patients with heart failure and reduced by LCZ696 [abstract no. P214]. Eur Heart J 36(Suppl 1):22
- Jhund PS, Fu M, Bayram E et al (2015b) Efficacy and safety of LCZ696 (sacubitril-valsartan) according to age: insights from PARADIGM-HF. Eur Heart J 36(38):2576–2584
- Kahn JC, Patey M, Dubois-Rande JL et al (1990) Effect of sinorphan on plasma atrial natriuretic factor in congestive heart failure. Lancet 335(8681):118–119
- Kang PM, Landau AJ, Eberhardt RT, Frishman WH (1994) Angiotensin II receptor antagonists: a new approach to blockade of the renin-angiotensin system. Am Heart J 127(5):1388–1401
- Katz AM (2008) The "modern" view of heart failure: how did we get here? Circ Heart Failure 1 (1):63–71
- Kobalava Z, Kotovskaya Y, Averkov O et al (2016) Pharmacodynamic and pharmacokinetic profiles of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction. Cardiovasc Ther 34(4):191–198
- Kostis JB, Packer M, Black HR, Schmieder R, Henry D, Levy E (2004) Omapatrilat and enalapril in patients with hypertension: the omapatrilat cardiovascular treatment vs. enalapril (OCTAVE) trial. Am J Hypertens 17(2):103–111
- Kristensen S, Preiss D, Jhund P et al (2016a) Risk related to pre-diabetes mellitus and diabetes mellitus in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: insights from prospective comparison of ARNI With ACEI to determine impact on global mortality and morbidity in heart failure trial. Circ Heart Failure 9(1), e002560
- Kristensen SL, Martinez F, Jhund PS et al (2016b) Geographic variations in the PARADIGM-HF heart failure trial. Eur Heart J 37(41):3167–3174
- Ksander GM, Ghai RD, deJesus R et al (1995) Dicarboxylic acid dipeptide neutral endopeptidase inhibitors. J Med Chem 38(10):1689–1700
- Kulmatycki KLT, Ng D, Pal P, Zhou W, Rajman I, Rebello S, Sunkara G, Chandra P (2014) Pharmacokinetics of single-dose LCZ696 in subjects with mild and moderate hepatic impairment. Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev 3(Suppl 1):21

- Langenickel TH, Dole WP (2012) Angiotensin receptor-neprilysin inhibition with LCZ696: a novel approach for the treatment of heart failure. Drug Discovery Today Ther Strategies 9(4): e131–e139
- Langenickel TH, Jordaan P, Petruck J et al (2016a) Single therapeutic and supratherapeutic doses of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) do not affect cardiac repolarization. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 72 (8):917–924
- Langenickel TH, Tsubouchi C, Ayalasomayajula S et al (2016b) The effect of LCZ696 (sacubitril/ valsartan) on amyloid-beta concentrations in cerebrospinal fluid in healthy subjects. Br J Clin Pharmacol 81(5):878–890
- Lisy O, Jougasaki M, Schirger JA, Chen HH, Barclay PT, Burnett JC Jr (1998) Neutral endopeptidase inhibition potentiates the natriuretic actions of adrenomedullin. Am J Physiol 275(3 Pt 2):F410–F414
- Liu Y, Studzinski C, Beckett T, Murphy MP, Klein RL, Hersh LB (2010) Circulating neprilysin clears brain amyloid. Mol Cell Neurosci 45(2):101–107
- Makani H, Messerli FH, Romero J, Wever-Pinzon O, Korniyenko A, Berrios RS, Bangalore S (2012) Meta-analysis of randomized trials of angioedema as an adverse event of reninangiotensin system inhibitors. Am J Cardiol 110(3):383–391
- Massien C, Azizi M, Guyene TT, Vesterqvist O, Mangold B, Menard J (1999) Pharmacodynamic effects of dual neutral endopeptidase-angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition versus angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in humans. Clin Pharmacol Ther 65(4):448–459
- Matsue Y, Kagiyama N, Yoshida K et al (2015) Carperitide Is associated with increased in-hospital mortality in acute heart failure: a propensity score-matched analysis. J Card Failure 21(11):859–864
- McKinnie SM Fischer C, Tran KM, Wang W, Mosquera F, Oudit GY, Vederas JC (2016) The metalloprotease neprilysin degrades and inactivates apelin peptides. Chembiochem 17(16):1495–1498
- McMurray JJ, Ostergren J, Swedberg K et al (2003) Effects of candesartan in patients with chronic heart failure and reduced left-ventricular systolic function taking angiotensin-convertingenzyme inhibitors: the CHARM-added trial. Lancet 362(9386):767–771
- McMurray JJ, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD et al (2012) ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: The task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012 of the European society of cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 33(14):1787–1847. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs104
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS et al (2013) Dual angiotensin receptor and neprilysin inhibition as an alternative to angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in patients with chronic systolic heart failure: rationale for and design of the Prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to Determine Impact on Global Mortality and morbidity in Heart Failure trial (PARADIGM-HF). Eur J Heart Failure 15(9):1062–1073
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS et al (2014a) Baseline characteristics and treatment of patients in prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to determine impact on global mortality and morbidity in heart failure trial (PARADIGM-HF). Eur J Heart Failure 16(7):817–825
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS et al (2014b) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 371(11):993–1004
- McMurray J, Packer M, Desai A et al (2015) A putative placebo analysis of the effects of LCZ696 on clinical outcomes in heart failure. Eur Heart J 36(7):434–439
- Miller WL, Phelps MA, Wood CM, Schellenberger U, Van Le A, Perichon R, Jaffe AS (2011) Comparison of mass spectrometry and clinical assay measurements of circulating fragments of B-type natriuretic peptide in patients with chronic heart failure. Circ Heart Failure 4 (3):355–360
- Mistry NB, Westheim AS, Kjeldsen SE (2006) The angiotensin receptor antagonist valsartan: a review of the literature with a focus on clinical trials. Expert Opin Pharmacother 7(5):575–581

- Mogensen U, Jhund P, Kober L et al (2016a) Outcomes in patients with prior myocardial infarction in PARADIGM-HF. Eur Heart J 37(Abstract Supplement):193
- Mogensen U, Swedberg K, Kober L et al (2016b) Outcomes in patients with and without atrial fibrillation in PARADIGM-HF and effect of sacubitril/valsartan according to atrial fibrillation status. Eur Heart J 37(Abstract Supplement):193
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS et al (2015) Heart disease and stroke statistics–2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 131(4):e29–e322
- Mukoyama M, Nakao K, Hosoda K et al (1991) Brain natriuretic peptide as a novel cardiac hormone in humans. Evidence for an exquisite dual natriuretic peptide system, atrial natriuretic peptide and brain natriuretic peptide. J Clin Invest 87(4):1402–1412
- Muller P, Cohen T, de Gasparo M, Sioufi A, Racine-Poon A, Howald H (1994) Angiotensin II receptor blockade with single doses of valsartan in healthy, normotensive subjects. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 47(3):231–245
- Nakao K, Sugawara A, Morii N et al (1986) The pharmacokinetics of alpha-human atrial natriuretic polypeptide in healthy subjects. Eur J Clin Pharmacol 31(1):101–103
- Niederkofler EE, Kiernan UA, O'Rear J et al (2008) Detection of endogenous B-type natriuretic peptide at very low concentrations in patients with heart failure. Circ Heart Failure 1 (4):258–264
- Niemi M (2007) Role of OATP transporters in the disposition of drugs. Pharmacogenomics 8 (7):787–802
- Northridge DB, Jardine AG, Alabaster CT et al (1989) Effects of UK 69 578: a novel atriopeptidase inhibitor. Lancet 2(8663):591–593
- Northridge DB, Jardine A, Henderson E, Dilly SG, Dargie HJ (1992) Increased circulating atrial natriuretic factor concentrations in patients with chronic heart failure after inhibition of neutral endopeptidase: effects on diastolic function. Br Heart J 68(4):387–391
- O'Connor CM, Starling RC, Hernandez AF et al (2011) Effect of nesiritide in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. N Engl J Med 365(1):32–43
- Ogawa T, de Bold AJ (2014) The heart as an endocrine organ. Endocr Connect 3(2):R31-R44
- Okumura N, Jhund PS, Gong J et al (2016a) Effects of sacubitril/valsartan in the PARADIGM-HF trial (prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to determine impact on global mortality and morbidity in heart failure) according to background therapy. Circ Heart Failure 9(9):e003212
- Okumura N, Jhund PS, Gong J et al (2016b) Importance of clinical worsening of heart failure treated in the outpatient setting: evidence from the prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to determine impact on global mortality and morbidity in heart failure trial (PARADIGM-HF). Circulation 133(23):2254–2262
- Packer M, Califf RM, Konstam MA, Krum H, McMurray JJ, Rouleau JL, Swedberg K (2002) Comparison of omapatrilat and enalapril in patients with chronic heart failure: the omapatrilat versus enalapril randomized trial of utility in reducing events (OVERTURE). Circulation 106 (8):920–926
- Packer M, Holcomb R, Abraham WT, Anker S, Dickstein K, Filippatos G et al (2016) Rationale for and design of the TRUE-AHF trial: the effects of ularitide on the short-term clinical course and long-term mortality of patients with acute heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail [Epub ahead of print]. doi:10.1002/ejhf.698
- Packer M, McMurray JJV, Desai AS (2015) Angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibition compared with enalapril on the risk of clinical progression in surviving patients with heart failure. Circulation 131(1):54–61
- Pfeffer MA, McMurray JJ, Velazquez EJ et al (2003) Valsartan, captopril, or both in myocardial infarction complicated by heart failure, left ventricular dysfunction, or both. N Engl J Med 349 (20):1893–1906
- PI (2015) Entresto Prescribing Information. Highlights of prescribing information. US FDA http:// www.pharma.us.novartis.com/product/pi/pdf/entresto.pdf. Accessed 12 Jan 2016
- Ponikowski P, Voors A, Anker S et al (2016) 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute

and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Failure 18(8):891–975

- Potter LR (2011) Natriuretic peptide metabolism, clearance and degradation. FEBS J 278 (11):1808–1817
- Publication Committee, for the VMAC Investigators (2002) Intravenous nesiritide vs nitroglycerin for treatment of decompensated congestive heart failure: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 287(12):1531–1540
- Rademaker MT, Charles CJ, Espiner EA, Nicholls MG, Richards AM, Kosoglou T (1998) Combined neutral endopeptidase and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibition in heart failure: role of natriuretic peptides and angiotensin II. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 31(1):116–125
- Richards AM, Wittert GA, Crozier IG, Espiner EA, Yandle TG, Ikram H, Frampton C (1993) Chronic inhibition of endopeptidase 24.11 in essential hypertension: evidence for enhanced atrial natriuretic peptide and angiotensin II. J Hypertens 11(4):407–416
- Roques BP, Fournie-Zaluski MC, Soroca E, Lecomte JM, Malfroy B, Llorens C, Schwartz JC (1980) The enkephalinase inhibitor thiorphan shows antinociceptive activity in mice. Nature 288(5788):286–288
- Rouleau JL, Pfeffer MA, Stewart DJ et al (2000) Comparison of vasopeptidase inhibitor, omapatrilat, and lisinopril on exercise tolerance and morbidity in patients with heart failure: IMPRESS randomised trial. Lancet 356(9230):615–620
- Ruilope LM, Dukat A, Bohm M, Lacourciere Y, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP (2010) Blood-pressure reduction with LCZ696, a novel dual-acting inhibitor of the angiotensin II receptor and neprilysin: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, active comparator study. Lancet 375(9722):1255–1266
- Sanchez-Borges M, Gonzalez-Aveledo LA (2010) Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and angioedema. Allergy Asthma Immunol Res 2(3):195–198
- Sebastian JL, McKinney WP, Kaufman J, Young MJ (1991) Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors and cough. Prevalence in an outpatient medical clinic population. Chest 99(1):36–39
- Senni M, McMurray JJV, Wachter R et al (2016) Initiating sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) in heart failure: results of TITRATION, a double-blind, randomized comparison of two uptitration regimens. Eur J Heart Failure 18(9):1193–1202
- Seymour AA, Swerdel JN, Abboa-Offei B (1991) Antihypertensive activity during inhibition of neutral endopeptidase and angiotensin converting enzyme. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 17 (3):456–465
- Seymour AA, Asaad MM, Lanoce VM, Fennell SA, Cheung HS, Rogers WL (1993) Inhibition of neutral endopeptidase 3.4.24.11 in conscious dogs with pacing induced heart failure. Cardiovasc Res 27(6):1015–1023
- Seymour AA, Abboa-Offei BE, Smith PL, Mathers PD, Asaad MM, Rogers WL (1995) Potentiation of natriuretic peptides by neutral endopeptidase inhibitors. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 22 (1):63–69
- Shi J, Wang X, Nguyen J, Wu AH, Bleske BE, Zhu HJ (2016) Sacubitril is selectively activated by carboxylesterase 1 (CES1) in the liver and the activation is affected by CES1 genetic variation. Drug Metab Dispos 44(4):554–559
- Simpson J, Jhund PS, Silva Cardoso J et al (2015) Comparing LCZ696 with enalapril according to baseline risk using the MAGGIC and EMPHASIS-HF risk scores: an analysis of mortality and morbidity in PARADIGM-HF. J Am Coll Cardiol 66(19):2059–2071
- Solomon SD, Zile M, Pieske B et al (2012) The angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitor LCZ696 in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a phase 2 double-blind randomised controlled trial. Lancet 380(9851):1387–1395
- Solomon SD, Claggett B, Desai AS et al (2016a) Influence of ejection fraction on outcomes and efficacy of sacubitril/valsartan (LCZ696) in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: the prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to determine impact on global mortality and morbidity in heart failure (PARADIGM-HF) trial. Circ Heart Failure 9(3), e002744

- Solomon SC, Packer M, Desai A, Zile MR, Swedberg K, Rouleau J, Shi V, Lefkowitz M, McMurray JJ (2016b) Efficacy of sacubitril/valsartan relative to a prior decompensation The PARADIGM-HF trial. JACC Heart Failure 4:816. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2016.05.002
- SOLVD (1991) Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 325(5):293–302. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199108013250501
- Stephenson SL, Kenny AJ (1987) The hydrolysis of alpha-human atrial natriuretic peptide by pig kidney microvillar membranes is initiated by endopeptidase-24.11. Biochem J 243(1):183–187
- Sudoh T, Kangawa K, Minamino N, Matsuo H (1988) A new natriuretic peptide in porcine brain. Nature 332(6159):78–81
- Sudoh T, Minamino N, Kangawa K, Matsuo H (1990) C-type natriuretic peptide (CNP): a new member of natriuretic peptide family identified in porcine brain. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 168(2):863–870
- Trippodo NC, Fox M, Monticello TM, Panchal BC, Asaad MM (1999) Vasopeptidase inhibition with omapatrilat improves cardiac geometry and survival in cardiomyopathic hamsters more than does ACE inhibition with captopril. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 34(6):782–790
- Unger T, Gohlke P (1994) Converting enzyme inhibitors in cardiovascular therapy: current status and future potential. Cardiovasc Res 28(2):146–158
- Vardeny O, Claggett B, Packer M et al (2016) Efficacy of sacubitril/valsartan vs. enalapril at lower than target doses in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: the PARADIGM-HF trial. Eur J Heart Failure 18:1228. doi:10.1002/ejhf.580
- Waeber BNJ, Brunner HR (1990) Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors in hypertension. In: Laragh JH, Brenner BM (eds) Hypertension: pathophysiology. Diagnosis and management. Raven Press, New York, pp 2209–2232
- Weber MA (2001) Vasopeptidase inhibitors. Lancet 358(9292):1525–1532. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(01)06584-9
- Williams J, Bristow M, Fowler M et al (1995) Guidelines for the evaluation and management of heart failure. Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines (Committee on Evaluation and Management of Heart Failure). Circulation 92(9):2764–2784
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey Jr DE, Colvin MM et al (2016) 2016 ACC/AHA/ HFSA focused update on new pharmacological therapy for heart failure: an update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. J Card Failure 134(13):e282–e293
- Zile MR, Claggett BL, Prescott M, McMurray JJV, Packer M, Rouleau JL (2016) Prognostic implications of changes in N-Terminal pro-B-Type natriuretic peptide in patients with heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 68(22):2425–2436

Ivabradine

Michel Komajda

Contents

1	The SHIFT trial	168
2	Hospitalizations for Heart Failure and Quality of Life	170
3	Efficacy and Safety of Ivabradine in Populations with Important Comorbidities	171
	3.1 Diabetes	171
	3.2 Patients with Low Systolic Blood Pressure	171
	3.3 Renal Dysfunction	171
	3.4 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease	172
4	Mechanism of Action of Ivabradine in Heart Failure	172
	4.1 Acute/Subacute Haemodynamic Effects	172
	4.2 Chronic Haemodynamic Effects	172
5	Indication	173
6	Contraindications/Non-indications	173
Re	efrences	174

Abstract

Ivabradine is a blocker of the funny current channels in the sinoatrial node cells. This results in pure heart rate reduction when elevated without direct effect on contractility or on the vessels. It was tested in a large outcome clinical trial in stable chronic heart failure (CHF) with low ejection fraction, in sinus rhythm, on a contemporary background therapy including betablockers (SHIFT: Systolic Heart Failure Treatment with the If inhibitor Trial).

The primary composite endpoint (cardiovascular mortality or heart failure hospitalization) was reduced by 18% whereas the first occurrence of heart failure hospitalizations was reduced by 26%. The effect was of greater magnitude in

M. Komajda (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, Institute of Cardiometabolism and Nutrition (ICAN), Pierre and Marie Curie University, Paris VI and Pitié-Salpêtrière Hospital, 47-83 boulevard de l'Hôpital, 75013 Paris, France

e-mail: michel.komajda@psl.aphp.fr

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_55

patients with baseline heart rate \geq 75 beats per minute. Ivabradine improved also the quality of life and induced a reverse remodelling.

The safety was overall good with an increase in (a)symptomatic bradycardia and visual side effects.

The efficacy and tolerability were similar to those observed in the overall trial in subgroups with diabetes mellitus, low systolic blood pressure (SBP), renal dysfunction or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).

Ivabradine is indicated in CHF with systolic dysfunction, in patients in sinus rhythm with a heart rate \geq 75 bpm in combination with standard therapy including betablocker therapy or when betablocker therapy is contraindicated or not tolerated (European Medicine Agency).

Keywords

Cardiovascular mortality • Chronic heart failure • Funny channel • Heart failure • Heart rate • Hospitalizations • Sinoatrial node

1 The SHIFT trial

Ivabradine is a heart rate slowing agent which acts through blockade of the If ("funny current") channels within the sinoatrial node cells (Di Francesco 2006; Vilaine 2006). The drug binds to the inner part of the channel in the pacemaker cells. Blockade of the *f* channels reduces the Na⁺ and K⁺ flow and flattens the spontaneous depolarization slope of the pacemaker cells leading to heart rate reduction. The effect is "use dependent", i.e. the magnitude of the heart rate reduction observed with ivabradine is all the more important as the initial heart rate is high.

Since the pharmacological effect of ivabradine is only related to the blockade of f channels which are located in the sinoatrial node, this drug has no effect on contractility, relaxation, atrioventricular or intraventricular conduction or on the vessels.

Ivabradine was evaluated in heart failure in the SHIFT (Systolic Heart Failure Treatment with the If inhibitor ivabradine Trial) (Swedberg et al. 2010). 6,505 patients with stable symptomatic heart failure with an ejection fraction $\leq 35\%$, in sinus rhythm with a heart rate ≥ 70 bpm who experienced a heart failure hospitalization within 1 year were randomized to ivabradine or matching placebo. Patients had to be treated by guidelines recommended therapy. Ivabradine was started at 5 mg bid and uptitrated to 7.5 mg bid when tolerated.

The primary composite endpoint (cardiovascular mortality or heart failure hospitalization) was significantly reduced by 18% after a median follow-up of 22.9 months (Fig. 1). This beneficial effect was driven mainly by a reduction of heart failure hospitalizations (-26%) whereas, there was a non-significant trend for a reduction in cardiovascular mortality (Table 1). The effect on cardiovascular mortality, heart failure hospitalization or both was of greater magnitude when baseline heart rate was ≥ 75 bpm.



Fig. 1 Mechanism of action of ivabradine in the sino atrial node

	Hazard		
Endpoints	ratio	95% CI	P value
Primary composite endpoint (CV death or hospital	0.82	[0.75; 0.90]	p < 0.0001
admission for worsening HF)			
All-cause mortality	0.90	[0.80; 1.02]	p = 0.092
Death from heart failure	0.74	[0.58; 0.94]	p = 0.014
All-cause hospital admission	0.89	[0.82; 0.96]	p = 0.003
Any CV hospital admission	0.85	[0.78; 0.92]	p = 0.0002
CV death/hospital admission for HF or non-fatal MI	0.82	[0.74; 0.89]	p < 0.0001

Table 1 Effect of ivabradine on outcomes

There was also a favourable effect on all-cause and cardiovascular hospitalizations but no effect on sudden death was observed. Patients enrolled in SHIFT were relatively young, predominantly male (76%) with a mean age of 60 years and the underlying aetiology was ischaemic in 68%. The mean ejection fraction was 29% and most patients were in NYHA class II or III.

The beneficial effect was observed in a well-treated population: 93% of the patients were taking an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor or an angiotensin-II type 1 receptor blocker and 89% were treated by betablockers (56% were receiving at least 50% of the target dose of betablockers recommended by the European Society of Cardiology whereas 26% were at target dose).

The reduction in the occurrence of the primary composite endpoint was consistent in all pre-specified subgroups including sex, age, underlying aetiology, with one exception: the magnitude of the benefit derived from ivabradine was significantly greater in the subgroup with baseline heart rate above the median value (77 bpm in the SHIFT population).

Overall, the tolerability of ivabradine was good. However, symptomatic and asymptomatic bradycardia were reported in 5% and 6% of patients, respectively, in

the ivabradine arm, but led to treatment discontinuation in only 1% of cases for each of these two adverse effects. Visual side effects such as blurring vision or flashes related to blockade of f channels in the retina were uncommon, usually transient and led to treatment discontinuation in only a few cases.

A Holter substudy was performed at baseline and 8 months after randomization to ivabradine or matching placebo (Böhm et al. 2015). At 8 months, patients on ivabradine had more episodes of bradycardia <40 bpm than those on placebo but no episode of severe bradycardia <30 bpm was recorded. The number of pauses >2.5 s was similar in the two groups whereas the number of second or high degree atrioventricular blocks was numerically smaller in ivabradine treated patients. No episode of third degree AV block was observed. Atrial fibrillation was observed in a limited number of patients and was similar in the two groups. This substudy did not confirm the observation of a slight but significant increase in atrial fibrillation in the overall SHIFT population treated by ivabradine. These results suggest that ivabradine on top of betablocker does not induce clinically significant bradycardia or a pro-arrhythmic effect in patients with chronic heart failure (CHF) and low ejection fraction.

2 Hospitalizations for Heart Failure and Quality of Life

Hospitalization for heart failure is lengthy and recurrent and the risk is more important in the early phase after hospitalization named the "vulnerable period" (Abrahamsson et al. 2013). This accounts for 2/3 of the overall costs (Stewart et al. 2002). The effect of ivabradine on recurrent hospitalizations for heart failure was tested in SHIFT (Borer et al. 2012). Ivabradine was associated with a significant 25% reduction in the total number of HF hospitalizations and with a reduced risk for recurrent HF hospitalizations.

Another recent study looked at the risk of early readmission within 90 days in patients who experienced a heart failure hospitalization during the trial. Ivabradine treated patients had a 25–30% relative risk reduction of being rehospitalized for any cause compared to the placebo group (Komajda et al. 2016).

This important finding suggests that patients treated with ivabradine are less likely to be rehospitalized during the vulnerable phase post-discharge.

A pre-specified analysis of health related quality of life (HQoL) was made in # 2,000 patients enrolled in SHIFT. It used the self-reported disease specific Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire (KCCQ) containing an overall summary score (including the social limitation induced by the disease and a clinical summary score) (Green et al. 2000). Ivabradine improved significantly the two dimensions of KCCQ, the clinical summary score and the overall summary score compared to placebo (Erkman et al. 2011).

3 Efficacy and Safety of Ivabradine in Populations with Important Comorbidities

3.1 Diabetes

Diabetes mellitus is a frequent comorbidity in patients with heart failure and the combination is associated with poor outcomes. An analysis compared the efficacy and the tolerability of ivabradine in 1,979 patients enrolled in SHIFT with diabetes mellitus vs patients without diabetes (Komajda et al. 2015).

The effect of ivabradine was similar on the relative risk reduction of the primary composite endpoint (20% and 16%, respectively, in patients with/without diabetes) and the benefit was mainly driven by a reduction in hospitalizations for worsening heart failure. The incidence of serious adverse events was not significantly different between patients with/without diabetes.

3.2 Patients with Low Systolic Blood Pressure

The presence of low systolic blood pressure (SBP) can be challenging for the management of heart failure and especially for the uptitration of recommended medications which lower blood pressure (Angiotensin-Converting Enzyme inhibitors, betablockers and angiotensin-II receptor blockers).

The efficacy and the safety of ivabradine was assessed in the SHIFT population divided by tertiles of baseline SBP: patients with SBP < 115 mmHg; patients with $115 \leq SBP < 130$ mmHg and patients with SBP ≥ 130 mmHg (Komajda et al. 2014).

Ivabradine was associated with a similar relative risk reduction of the composite primary endpoint and its two components in the three SBP groups. There was no evidence of different safety issues in the three blood pressure groups.

This finding is in line with the mechanism of action of the f current inhibitor which does not affect the vascular bed and has therefore no vasodilatory effect. This may have implications for the management of HF with low SBP and elevated heart rate, a condition where uptitration of betablockers is often difficult due to hypotension.

3.3 Renal Dysfunction

Renal dysfunction is a frequent comorbidity in heart failure and is associated with poor outcomes. The efficacy of ivabradine was assessed in patients with low estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR < 60 ml/mn) compared to those with preserved renal function (eGFR \geq 60 ml/mn) (Voors et al. 2014). Ivabradine use was associated with a similar reduction of the primary composite endpoint in patients with and without moderate renal dysfunction at baseline and the tolerability of ivabradine was comparable in the two groups.

Importantly, no differences in changes in renal function over time were found between ivabradine and placebo-treated patients.

3.4 Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) was reported in # 12% of the patients enrolled in SHIFT. They were on average older and had an overall increased risk of death, all-cause and heart failure hospitalization than patients without COPD (Tavazzi et al. 2013).

Ivabradine reduced similarly the relative risk of the primary composite endpoint in COPD and in non-COPD patients. Adverse events were more frequent in COPD patients than in non-COPD patients but were not significantly different in the ivabradine and placebo arms of either group. This suggests that ivabradine is safe and efficient in this subgroup of patients who are difficult to treat with betablockers.

4 Mechanism of Action of Ivabradine in Heart Failure

4.1 Acute/Subacute Haemodynamic Effects

The force/frequency relationship is positive in the normal heart (i.e. force increases proportionally to the increase in heart rate) whereas in the falling myocardium force decreases with heart rate increase (Mulieri et al. 1992; Hasenfuss et al. 1994).

Thus, increasing heart rate in heart failure results in a decrease in cardiac output and an increase in cardiac dimensions. This unfavourable effect can be reverted by ivabradine as shown both in the experimental setting and in patients with advanced heart failure (Mulder et al. 2004; De Ferrari et al. 2008). A recent small size study evaluated the impact of early in hospital administration of ivabradine + betablocker versus betablocker only (Hidalgo et al. 2016). It concluded that the early co-administration is associated with an improvement in functional status and cardiac function. We however lack a large outcome study assessing the potential benefit of early administration of ivabradine during a heart failure decompensation.

4.2 Chronic Haemodynamic Effects

The impact of the pure heart rate lowering effect of ivabradine on cardiac function was assessed in an echocardiographic substudy (Tardif et al. 2011). Treatment with ivabradine reduced significantly left ventricular (LV) end systolic volume index compared to placebo. This reduction was also observed on LV end diastolic index whereas ejection fraction was slightly improved. This study suggests that ivabradine has an anti-remodelling effect which is associated with improved outcomes.

One potential explanation for the beneficial effect of heart rate reduction on cardiac dimensions is the reduction of afterload (Reil et al. 2013). In an echocardiographic substudy, it was observed that after 8 months of treatment, ivabradine induced a significant reduction in effective arterial elastance and improved total arterial elastance compared with placebo. Contractility remained unchanged and ventricular arterial coupling was improved, resulting in a higher stroke volume. This second mechanistic study therefore suggests that pure heart rate reduction with ivabradine unloads the failing left ventricle.

5 Indication

The current indication provided by the European Medicine Agency is "management of chronic heart failure NYHA Class I to IV with systolic dysfunction in patients in sinus rhythm and whose heart rate is ≥ 75 bpm in combination with standard therapy including betablocker therapy or when betablocker therapy is contraindicated or not tolerated".

This drug is also approved by the Food and Drug Administration for the reduction in heart failure hospitalizations from worsening heart failure.

Finally, ivabradine is listed in the latest version of the heart failure guidelines of the European Society of Cardiology as a recommended medication in patients who remain symptomatic despite optimal therapy (including ACE inhibitors, betablockers and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists) are in sinus rhythm and have an increased heart rate \geq 70 bpm (Ponikowski et al. 2016).

6 Contraindications/Non-indications

Some important contraindications/non-indications and drug interactions are listed in Table 2.

Non indications		
Permanent atrial fibrillation		
• Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction		
Acute heart failure		

Table 2 Important contra-indications and interactions

References

- Abrahamsson P, Swedberg K, Borer JS, Böhm M, Kober L, Komajda M, Lloyd SM, Metra M, Tavazzi L, Ford I (2013) Risk following hospitalization in stable chronic systolic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 15(8):885–891
- Böhm M, Borer JS, Camm J, Ford I, Lloyd SM, Komajda M, Tavazzi L, Talajic M, Lainscak M, Reil JC, Ukena C, Swedberg K (2015) Twenty-four-hour heart rate lowering with ivabradine in chronic heart failure: insights from the SHIFT Holter substudy. Eur J Heart Fail 17(5):518–526
- Borer JS, Böhm M, Ford I, Komajda M, Tavazzi L, Sendon JL, Alings M, Lopez-de-Sa E, Swedberg K, on behalf of the SHIFT Investigators (2012) Effect of ivabradine on recurrent hospitalization for worsening heart failure in patients with chronic systolic heart failure: the SHIFT Study. Eur Heart J 33(22):2813–2820
- De Ferrari GM, Mazzuero A, Agnesina L, Bertoletti A, Lettino M, Campana C, Schwartz PJ, Tavazzi L (2008) Favourable effects of heart rate reduction with intravenous administration of ivabradine in patients with advanced heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 10(6):550–555
- Di Francesco D (2006) Funny channels in the control of cardiac rhythm and mode of action of selective blockers. Pharmacol Res 53:399–406
- Erkman I, Chassany O, Komajda M, Böhm M, Borer JS, Ford I, Tavazzi L, Swedberg K (2011) Heart rate reduction with ivabradine and health related quality of life in patients with chronic heart failure: results from the SHIFT study. Eur Heart J 32:2395–2404
- Green CP, Porter CB, Bresnahan DR, Spertus JA (2000) Development and evaluation of the Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire: a new health status measure for heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 35:1245–1255
- Hasenfuss G, Holubarsch C, Hermann HP, Astheimer K, Pieske B, Just H (1994) Influence of the force-frequency relationship on haemodynamics and left ventricular function in patients with non-failing hearts and in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J 15:164–170
- Hidalgo FJ, Auguita M, Castillo JC, Rodriguez S, Pardo L, Duran E, Sanchez J, Ferreiro C, Pan M, Mesa D, Delgado M, Ruiz M (2016) Effect of early treatment with ivabradine combined with beta-blockers versus beta-blockers alone in patients hospitalised with heart failure and reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (ETHIC-AHF): a randomised study. Int J Cardiol. doi:10. 1016/j.ijcard.2016.04.136
- Komajda M, Böhm M, Borer JS, Ford I, Robertson M, Manolis AJ, Tavazzi L, Swedberg K, on behalf of the SHIFT Investigators (2014) Efficacy and safety of ivabradine in patients with chronic systolic heart failure according to blood pressure level in SHIFT. Eur J Heart Fail 16 (7):810–816
- Komajda M, Tavazzi L, Francq BG, Böhm M, Borer JS, Ford I, Swedberg K, on behalf of the SHIFT trial (2015) Efficacy and safety of ivabradine in patients with chronic systolic heart failure and diabetes: an analysis from the SHIFT trial. Eur J Heart Fail 17(12):1294–1301
- Komajda M, Tavazzi L, Swedberg K, Böhm M, Borer JS, Moyne A, Ford I, on behalf of the SHIFT Investigators (2016) Chronic exposure to ivabradine reduces readmissions in the vulnerable phase after hospitalization for worsening systolic heart failure: a post-hoc analysis of SHIFT. Eur J Heart Fail. doi:10–1002/ejhf.582
- Mulder P, Barbier S, Chagraoui A, Richard V, Henry JP, Lallemand F, Renet S, Lerebours G, Mahlberg-Gaudin F, Thuillez G (2004) Long-term heart rate reduction induced by the selective I(f) current inhibitor ivabradine improves left ventricular function and intrinsic myocardial structure in congestive heart failure. Circulation 109(13):1674–1679
- Mulieri LA, Hasenfuss G, Leavitt B, Allen PD, Alpert NR (1992) Altered myocardial forcefrequency relation in human heart failure. Circulation 85(5):1743–1750
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ, Falk V, González-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GM, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P, Authors/Task Force Members; Document Reviewers (2016) 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment

of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J. pii: ehw128. [Epub ahead of print]

- Reil JC, Tardif JC, Ford I, Lloyd SM, O'Meara E, Komajda M, Borer JS, Tavazzi L, Swedberg K, Böhm M (2013) Selective heart rate reduction with ivabradine unloads the left ventricle in heart failure patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 62:1977–1985
- Stewart S, Jenkins A, Buchan S, McGuire A, Capewell S, McMurray JJ (2002) The current cost of heart failure to the National Health Service in the UK. Eur J Heart Fail 4:361–371
- Swedberg K, Komajda M, Böhm M, Borer JS, Ford I, Dubost-Brama A, Lerebours G, Tavazzi L, on behalf of the SHIFT Investigators (2010) Ivabradine and outcomes in chronic heart failure (SHIFT): a randomized placebo controlled study. Lancet 376:875–885
- Tardif JC, O'Meara E, Komajda M, Böhm M, Borer JS, Ford I, Tavazzi L, Swedberg K, on behalf of the SHIFT Investigators (2011) Effects of selective heart rate reduction with ivabradine on left ventricular remodeling and function: results from the SHIFT echocardiography substudy. Eur Heart J 32:2507–2515
- Tavazzi L, Swedberg K, Komajda M, Böhm M, Borer JS, Lainscak M, Robertson M, Ford I, on behalf of the SHIFT Investigators (2013) Clinical profiles and outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an efficacy and safety analysis of SHIFT study. Int J Cardiol 170(2):182–188
- Vilaine JP (2006) The discovery of the selective I(f) current inhibitor ivabradine. A new therapeutic approach to ischemic heart disease. Pharmacol Res 53:424–434
- Voors AA, van Veldhuisen DJ, Robertson M, Ford I, Borer JS, Böhm M, Komajda M, Swedberg K, Tavazzi L, on behalf of the SHIFT Investigators (2014) The effect of heart rate reduction with ivabradine on renal function in patients with chronic heart failure: an analysis from SHIFT. Eur J Heart Fail 16:426–434
Partial Adenosine A1 Agonist in Heart Failure

Wilfried Dinh, Barbara Albrecht-Küpper, Mihai Gheorghiade, Adriaan A. Voors, Michael van der Laan, and Hani N. Sabbah

Contents

1 Adenosine A1 Receptor Physiology			179
	1.1	Limitations of Full Adenosine Receptor Agonists as a Therapeutic Option	180
	1.2	Partial Adenosine A1 Receptor Agonists	181

W. Dinh (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, HELIOS Clinic Wuppertal, University Hospital Witten/Herdecke, Wuppertal, Germany

Drug Discovery, Clinical Sciences, Experimental Medicine, Bayer Pharma AG, Wuppertal, Germany

e-mail: Wilfried.dinh@bayer.com

B. Albrecht-Küpper

Drug Discovery, Department of Heart Diseases, Bayer Pharma AG Research Center, Wuppertal, Germany

Department of Medicinal Chemistry, Bayer Pharma AG Research Center, Wuppertal, Germany e-mail: barbara.albrecht@bayer.com

M. Gheorghiade Center for Cardiovascular Innovation, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, 201 East Huron, Galter 3-150, Chicago, IL 60601, USA e-mail: mgheorgh@nm.org

A.A. Voors Department of Cardiology, University Medical Center Groningen, University of Groningen, Groningen, The Netherlands e-mail: a.a.voors@umcg.nl

M. van der Laan Bayer Pharma AG, Wuppertal, Germany e-mail: michael.vanderlaan@bayer.com

H.N. Sabbah Division of Cardiovascular Medicine, Department of Medicine, Henry Ford Hospital, Detroit, MI, USA e-mail: HSABBAH1@hfhs.org

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016 J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), *Heart Failure*, Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_83

	1.3	Pharmacology of Adenosine A1 Receptor Agonists	183			
2	Selective A1R Agonists: Preclinical and Clinical Evidence in Cardiovascular Disorders					
	and Clinical Implications					
	2.1	Intravenous Antiarrhythmic Agents for the Treatment of Supraventricular				
		Tachycardia	184			
	2.2	Angina Pectoris	184			
	2.3	Antilipolytic Effects on Free Fatty Acids	184			
	2.4	Preconditioning and Cardioprotection	186			
	2.5	Heart Failure	188			
3	Rationale for Partial Adenosine A1 Receptor Agonism for Heart Failure Treatment		190			
	3.1	Mitochondrial Function	191			
	3.2	Cardiac Energetics and Substrate Utilization	191			
	3.3	Adrenergic Over-Activation	192			
	3.4	Calcium Handling	193			
	3.5	Comorbidities of HF	194			
	3.6	Insulin Resistance and Diabetes	196			
	3.7	Coronary Artery Disease and Microvascular Dysfunction	196			
	3.8	Renal Dysfunction	196			
	3.9	Muscular Deconditioning	197			
4	Sum	mary and Future Directions	198			
Re	eferences 1					

Abstract

Adenosine exerts a variety of physiological effects by binding to cell surface Gprotein-coupled receptor subtypes, namely, A1, A2a, A2b, and A3. The central physiological role of adenosine is to preclude tissue injury and promote repair in response to stress. In the heart, adenosine acts as a cytoprotective modulator, linking cardiac function to metabolic demand predominantly via activation of adenosine A1 receptors (A1Rs), which leads to inhibition of adenylate cyclase activity, modulation of protein kinase C, and opening of ATP-sensitive potassium channels. Activation of myocardial adenosine A1Rs has been shown to modulate a variety of pathologies associated with ischemic cardiac injury, including arrhythmogenesis, coronary and ventricular dysfunction, apoptosis, mitochondrial dysfunction, and ventricular remodeling. Partial A1R agonists are agents that are likely to elicit favorable pharmacological responses in heart failure (HF) without giving rise to the undesirable cardiac and extra-cardiac effects observed with full A1R agonism. Preclinical data have shown that partial adenosine A1R agonists protect and improve cardiac function at doses that do not result in undesirable effects on heart rate, atrioventricular conduction, and blood pressure, suggesting that these compounds may constitute a valuable new therapy for chronic HF. Neladenoson bialanate (BAY1067197) is the first oral partial and highly selective A1R agonist that has entered clinical development for the treatment of HF. This review provides an overview of adenosine A1R-mediated signaling in the heart, summarizes the results from preclinical and clinical studies of partial A1R agonists in HF, and discusses the potential benefits of these drugs in the clinical setting.

Keywords

Adenosine • Adenosine A1 receptor • Adenylate cyclase • Heart failure • Neladenoson

Abbreviations

A1R	A1 receptor
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AV	Atrioventricular
CAD	Coronary artery disease
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
FFA	Free fatty acid
GLUT	Glucose transporter
HF	Heart failure
HFpEF	Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
IS	Infarct size
K _{ATP}	ATP-sensitive potassium channel
LV	Left ventricular
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MPTP	Mitochondrial permeability transition pore
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SERCA2a	Sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase 2a
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
TAL	Medullary thick ascending limb
TG	Triglyceride
UPC	Uncoupling protein

1 Adenosine A1 Receptor Physiology

Adenosine is a purine nucleoside that acts as a cytoprotective modulator in response to stress to an organ or tissue (Fredholm et al. 2001; Jacobson et al. 1992). It is present in almost every cell of the body, and its cytoplasmic concentration is tightly regulated. The synthesis and facilitated diffusion of adenosine from cells via nucleoside transporters are increased mainly in response to unfavorable metabolic states, such as tissue hypoxia and stress. The concentration of adenosine in the extracellular compartment is the consequence of many biological processes, including extracellular adenosine production, exogenous and endogenous transport, and formation from intracellular sources. The cellular effects of adenosine are mediated by four subtypes of G-protein-coupled adenosine plasma membrane receptors (A1, A2a, A2b, and A3). The A1 and A3 receptors are Gi-protein coupled and inhibit the production of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), whereas the A2a and A2b subtypes are coupled to Gs or Go to stimulate adenylate cyclase; the A2b subtype is also coupled to Gq. In the heart, adenosine-induced protective and regenerative effects are mediated predominately by adenosine A1 receptors (A1Rs) (Mustafa et al. 2009). This review will focus on the A1R and its potential as a therapeutic target for heart failure (HF).

The A1R is the most conserved adenosine receptor subtype among species (Fredholm et al. 2001), and it is widely expressed throughout the body in adipose tissue, brain (especially excitatory nerves), kidney, and heart (Dixon et al. 1996). In the heart, A1Rs are expressed in cardiomyocytes (Hussain and Mustafa 1995), in both supraventricular tissue (atria) and ventricles (Hussain and Mustafa 1995; Musser et al. 1993).

Activation of A1R has minimal effects on adenylate cyclase activity in the absence of stimulation by catecholamines. However, in the presence of catecholamines (e.g., when the sympathetic nervous system is activated and cAMP is elevated), activation of A1Rs results in notable inhibition of adenylate cyclase (Bott-Flugel et al. 2011). Modulation of cAMP levels influences calcium handling and L-type calcium channel opening (Mustafa et al. 2009). In addition to inhibition of adenylate cyclase, adenosine A1R activation leads to stimulation of phospholipase C and modulation of mitochondrial adenosine triphosphate (ATP)-sensitive potassium channels (K_{ATP}) and pertussis-toxin-sensitive potassium channels (Krappi and pertussis-toxin-sensitive potassium channels (Kirsch et al. 1990; Xiang et al. 2010). Collectively, via these processes, A1R activation affords protection of the failing myocardium by limiting the triggering of cell death and injury (Fig. 1).

1.1 Limitations of Full Adenosine Receptor Agonists as a Therapeutic Option

A1Rs mediate multiple pharmacological effects due to their widespread distribution and diverse function in different organs and tissues. The primary limitations of full A1R agonists in HF, while offering potential therapeutic benefits, are related to undesirable cardiac effects including negative inotropic, chronotropic, and dromotropic effects that cause bradycardia and higher-degree atrioventricular (AV) block. Furthermore, A1R activation by a full agonist may lead to extracardiac effects, including reduction of excitatory neurotransmitter release and locomotor activity in the central nervous system and antidiuretic effects caused by vasoconstriction of renal afferent arterioles (Stone et al. 2009). Receptor desensitization is also a potential problem when considering the chronic use of full A1



Fig. 1 Adenosine A1 receptor signaling pathways in the failing heart. *AC* adenylate cyclase, *AMP* adenosine monophosphate, *cAMP* cyclic adenosine monophosphate, *ATP* adenosine triphosphate, K_{ATP} ATP-dependent potassium channel, *MPTP* mitochondrial permeability transition pore, *PKA* protein kinase A, *PKC* protein kinase C, *PLC* phospholipase C, *PLD* phospholipase D, *SR* sarcoplasmic reticulum

receptor agonists (Roman et al. 2008), a phenomenon also evident with chronic administration of β -adrenergic agonists.

1.2 Partial Adenosine A1 Receptor Agonists

To overcome the limitations associated with the use of full A1R agonists, efforts were recently focused on designing compounds with better tissue specificity and selectivity. In this context, partial A1R agonists have been developed, which are likely to elicit only the therapeutic effects in the target tissues without giving rise to undesirable effects.

A <u>partial</u> adenosine A1 receptor agonist is a lower efficacy ligand compared with a full agonist, which elicits a submaximal response of the signaling cascade because it can only occupy certain activity states of receptors (Fig. 2).



A partial A1R agonist is expected to result in a robust pharmacological response only in tissues with a relatively high receptor reserve, whereas a full agonist may elicit a robust signal in all tissues expressing A1Rs. A partial receptor agonist is also less effective than a full agonist in evoking a response in a tissue with low amplification of the signal transduction pathway. For these reasons, tissue selectivity is more likely to be achieved with a partial agonist than with a full agonist. In HF, for example, partial A1R agonists are likely to be useful for achieving high selectivity for the heart, leading to beneficial effects such as improvement of cardiac energetics and function, cardioprotection, and reverse ventricular remodeling. Furthermore, a partial A1R agonist can act as semi-effective agonist or as a weak antagonist, depending on endogenous adenosine concentrations in the organ or tissue, thereby leading to further functional selectivity (Srinivas et al. 1997). When both a full (endogenous) agonist and a partial agonist are competing for the same receptors, the partial agonist acts as a competitive antagonist producing a net decrease in receptor activation. In HF, partial A1R agonists may therefore minimize undesired pharmacological effects and effects in nontarget neurological effects, antidiuretic effects, AV tissues (e.g., conduction abnormalities, bradycardia, or hypotension). Finally, a partial A1R agonist is also less likely to induce receptor desensitization compared with full agonists (Parsons and Stiles 1987). Partial A1R agonists are therefore likely to be more suitable for long-term treatment, offering broader dose ranges and higher selectivity toward a therapeutically desired pharmacology.



1.3 Pharmacology of Adenosine A1 Receptor Agonists

Almost all A1R agonists developed are adenosine derivatives; however, adenosinelike A1R agonists often have the drawback of a short half-life and low bioavailability, making them unsuitable for chronic oral therapy. Thus, efforts were recently placed on developing non-adenosine-like partial A1R agonists with pharmacokinetics optimized for oral treatment. A new class of heterocyclic compounds, devoid of the ribose moiety found in adenosine, was identified as highly potent and selective full and partial A1R agonists. Here, we provide chemical and pharmacological data for partial A1R agonists with the example of capadenoson (BAY 68-4986) (Fig. 3). Optimization of partial A1 agonists has been described in detail by Nell and Albrecht-Küpper (2009).

Capadenoson belongs to the dicyanopyridine class of A1R agonists discovered via high throughput screening and hit optimization of the Bayer collection. In addition to being a potent and selective partial A1R agonist, capadenoson also possesses favorable metabolism and pharmacokinetic properties (Nell and Albrecht-Kupper 2009). In phase 2 clinical studies, capadenoson improved total exercise time in patients with stable angina compared with placebo without inducing AV block (Tendera et al. 2012). Capadenoson also showed beneficial effects on left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) in a canine HF model without any effects on blood pressure or heart rate (Sabbah et al. 2013). Thus, capadenoson is an example of a partial A1R agonist with selective pharmacological activity, providing further evidence that partial agonists can achieve desired pharmacological effects while avoiding undesired pharmacological activity (Nell and Albrecht-Kupper 2009; Albrecht-Küpper et al. 2012). However, the low solubility of capadenoson made tablet formulation difficult, therefore a soluble derivative, neladenoson bialanate was developed, which is currently in clinical development for the treatment of HF.

2 Selective A1R Agonists: Preclinical and Clinical Evidence in Cardiovascular Disorders and Clinical Implications

2.1 Intravenous Antiarrhythmic Agents for the Treatment of Supraventricular Tachycardia

With the exception of adenosine, the first A1R agonists to enter clinical development were the intravenous antiarrhythmic agents tecadenoson and selodenoson (Bayes et al. 2003), which were developed for the treatment of paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia (Ellenbogen et al. 2005). By selectively targeting the A1R, tecadenoson was associated with fewer adverse effects such as flushing, dyspnea, chest discomfort, and hypotension compared with adenosine, which is a nonselective agonist of all four adenosine receptors. Both compounds showed a significant reduction in heart rate but resulted in higher-degree AV block at high doses (Peterman and Sanoski 2005). Of note, tecadenoson had no significant effects on blood pressure (Ellenbogen et al. 2005). In a phase 3 clinical trial, there were no reports of worsening pulmonary symptoms following administration of tecadenoson, which may be explained by lack of activity of tecadenoson on the A2b or A3 receptors (Ellenbogen et al. 2005).

2.2 Angina Pectoris

Coronary heart disease is the most significant cause of death in industrial countries and a major risk factor for the development of HF. Myocardial ischemia leads to an imbalance between supply and demand of myocardial oxygen and energy and results primarily from an epicardial coronary artery stenosis most often due to an atherosclerotic plaque. Activation of A1Rs by a partial A1R agonist can result in a reduction in oxygen consumption and improved energy supply by cardioprotective mechanisms, especially during exercise when most angina attacks occur. Evidence for the efficacy of partial A1R agonists in the treatment of angina pectoris was initially demonstrated in a clinical trial with capadenoson. In patients with stable angina, compared with placebo, capadenoson lowered exercise heart rate at comparable maximum workload and improved total exercise time while prolonging the time to ischemia (Tendera et al. 2012).

2.3 Antilipolytic Effects on Free Fatty Acids

Diabetes mellitus is one of the most common diseases worldwide and is associated with considerable morbidity and mortality caused primarily by the development of cardiovascular diseases, including coronary artery disease (CAD) and HF. Type 2 diabetes mellitus is characterized by insulin resistance in peripheral tissues (i.e., liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue). Although the mechanisms that account for insulin resistance are not completely understood, elevated levels of circulating

free fatty acids (FFAs), derived from the hydrolysis of triglycerides (TGs) in adipocytes, are thought to play a role, with several studies demonstrating that an increase in FFA supply promotes insulin resistance and is linked to diabetes (Johnson et al. 1992). Chronically elevated plasma FFA levels lead to increased glucose production in the liver, impaired glucose uptake in skeletal muscle, and decreased pancreatic β -cell insulin secretion (Bajaj and Defronzo 2003; Boden 2001; Boden and Shulman 2002). Activation of the A1R has been shown to suppress lipolysis in adipose tissue, through inhibition of adenylate cyclase and downstream cAMP formation, resulting in a reduction of plasma FFA levels (Heseltine et al. 1995). An increase in FFA supply decreases insulin-mediated glucose metabolism and thus insulin sensitivity, whereas decreased lipolysis promotes insulin resistance (Johnson et al. 1992). Thus, a possible involvement of the A1R in the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus has been postulated. Therefore, reducing FFA availability and tissue utilization by A1R activation is a plausible pharmacological approach for the treatment of insulin resistance.

The therapeutic use of A1R agonists as antilipolytic and antidiabetic agents was investigated in early clinical trials, but their potential use for this indication was limited by the secondary adverse effects of full A1R agonism. Another limitation was the development of treatment tolerance to the antilipolytic effects due to receptor desensitization.

In order to overcome these limitations, partial A1R agonists have been developed (Dhalla et al. 2003, 2007a). One example is CVT-3619, a partial adenosine A1R agonist that has antilipolytic effects at concentrations that are not accompanied by significant cardiovascular effects. Studies have shown that CVT-3619 can lower circulating FFA levels and improve insulin sensitivity (Dhalla et al. 2007a). A study by Shearer et al. has shown that acute administration of CVT-3619 lowers circulating FFA levels and improves cardiac glucose clearance, providing evidence that partial A1R agonists may be a treatment option for the restoration of substrate balance in the insulin-resistant and diabetic heart (Shearer et al. 2009). Excess FFAs can also cause abnormalities of mitochondrial function. including the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), oxygen wastage, and increased mitochondrial and cytosolic calcium (Mjos 1971a, b), all of which may further impair myocardial function in HF (Tuunanen et al. 2006). Furthermore, increased FFA oxidation results in increased oxygen consumption and reduced cardiac energy efficiency. Indeed, observational studies have demonstrated a link between elevated plasma FFA levels and cardiovascular outcomes. In a study by Djoussé et al. including 4,248 patients, increased plasma FFA levels were associated with a high risk of HF development. In patients without HF at baseline, elevated plasma FFA levels were associated with a 12% (95% confidence interval: 6–19%) higher risk of HF than patients with normal FFA levels during a mean follow-up of 10.5 years (Djoussé et al. 2013).

The effects of partial A1R agonists on plasma FFA levels have also been tested in phase 1 clinical trials. The partial A1R agonist GS-9667 reduced plasma FFA levels and was well tolerated in healthy non-obese and obese volunteers (Staehr et al. 2013), further supporting the concept that partial A1R agonist therapy can provide the desired biological responses and avoid undesired physiological effects such as higher-degree AV block.

As insulin resistance and diabetes are epidemics of the twenty-first century, it is highly likely that the increasing prevalence of these metabolic disorders will greatly affect the cardiovascular disease burden in the future. It may be hypothesized that activation of A1Rs may improve insulin resistance and restore the substrate balance in the failing human heart and skeletal muscle. Considering the magnitude of the global problem of diabetes and the strong unmet clinical need in patients with diabetes and HF, this may present an opportunity for treatment in the growing group of patients with HF and diabetes.

2.4 Preconditioning and Cardioprotection

The adenosine A1R has been of great interest to researchers in the field of cardioprotection. Extensive research involving transgenic mice has shown that overexpression of the adenosine A1R is associated with a decrease in ischemic damage to the heart (Mubagwa and Flameng 2001). It was reported that the increased expression of cardiac adenosine A1Rs in transgenic mouse models generated an ischemic-tolerant phenotype characterized by reduced contractile dysfunction, necrosis, and infarct size (IS) and by improved myocardial energetics (Headrick et al. 1998; Matherne et al. 1997). Both full and partial agonists of cardiac adenosine A1Rs have been proven to reduce ischemic damage to the heart. These cardioprotective effects have also been evoked with capadenoson in a model of acute myocardial infarction. Transient occlusion of the left anterior descending artery resulted in the induction of myocardial infarction. In animals receiving placebo, the IS reached $29 \pm 2\%$ of the area at risk (Fig. 4). Pre-ischemic treatment of rats with capadenoson dose dependently and significantly decreased IS by up to 30% (to $21 \pm 3\%$ with a dose of 0.3 mg/kg; Fig. 4) (Albrecht-Küpper et al. 2012). Furthermore, it has been shown that pharmacological preconditioning with a non-adenosine analogue A1R agonist improves cardiac function recovery as well as endothelial function after cardiopulmonary bypass surgery in dogs (Veres et al. 2010). In a study by Yao et al., stimulation of myocardial A1Rs was cardioprotective during repetitive and brief periods of coronary artery occlusion in anesthetized dogs (Yao and Gross 1993). The protective effects of activation of A1Rs are most likely mediated by inhibition of adenylate cyclase and a subsequent reduction in cAMP levels, as well as by activation of protein kinase C, which leads to the opening of mitochondrial KATP channels and a reduction in the opening probability of MPTP and thereby an improvement in mitochondrial function under hypoxic conditions (Xiang et al. 2010).

Emerging evidence has shown that patients with HF are susceptible to progressive myocardial failure because of the accelerated loss of cardiomyocytes. Potential principal mechanisms by which cardiomyocytes may be lost are apoptosis and necrosis. Necrosis is an episodic process by which myocytes undergo loss of membrane integrity and total disruption of cellular function, followed by cell



death and fibrosis. Clinically, the most common cause of necrosis is ischemia. In contrast, apoptosis typically involves smaller numbers of cells, follows a more prolonged time course, and may occur chronically, resulting in a substantial cumulative loss of cells (Mann 1999; Olivetti et al. 1997). CAD is the major cause of HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) in contemporary Western populations (Gheorghiade et al. 2006) and leaves patients at high risk of ongoing ischemic events and subsequent myocardial injury. This is supported by the observation that a significant proportion of patients with HF have detectable troponin levels, a marker of ongoing myocardial injury. It has been shown that cardiac troponin levels are associated with an increased risk of morbidity and mortality in both acute and chronic HF (Motiwala et al. 2015). In patients with HF with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), the reported prevalence of CAD or myocardial ischemia is approximately 50%. Patients with HFpEF and concomitant CAD are at higher risk of all-cause mortality and sudden death compared with those without CAD (Badar et al. 2015; Rusinaru et al. 2014).

During the clinical course of HF, myocyte loss caused by either necrosis or apoptosis may occur via several potential pathological mechanisms. In patients with CAD or decreased coronary reserve, cardiac decompensation may lead to increased myocardial oxygen demand causing flow-limited ischemia and myocyte death. Even in the absence of CAD, the hemodynamic stresses associated with acute decompensation may lead to subendocardial ischemia, microvascular hypoperfusion, and subsequent apoptosis and/or necrosis. During episodes of physical exercise, in patients with HF and CAD, coronary flow cannot be increased to match the oxygen requirements and metabolic needs of the heart, facilitating



Fig. 5 The effects of 12 weeks of treatment with capadenoson (7.5 mg b.i.d.) in a canine heart failure model. *EDV* left ventricular end-diastolic volume, *EF* left ventricular ejection fraction, *ESV* left ventricular end-systolic volume, *NT-proBNP* N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide, *SV* stroke volume. Data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean. *P* values are comparisons between untreated dogs with heart failure and capadenoson-treated dogs with heart failure. Reprinted with permission from Sabbah et al. (2013)

myocardial loss and accelerating myocardial failure and deterioration of cardiac function.

2.5 Heart Failure

To date, there has been only one published preclinical study exploring the impact of partial A1R agonism in HF (Sabbah et al. 2013). In a canine HF model, the partial A1R agonist capadenoson produced a rapid and sustained improvement of LVEF (Fig. 5) and prevented progressive remodeling. In the same animal model, a selective β 1-receptor blocker was also shown to increase LVEF significantly after 3 months of treatment, although to a lesser extent compared with capadenoson (Sabbah et al. 1994). Interestingly, with capadenoson treatment, LVEF increased early (1 week) after initiating treatment, whereas β -blockers reduced left ventricular (LV) systolic function early in the course of therapy owing to negative inotropic properties, before improvement took hold later in the course of therapy. These differences suggest there are additional mechanisms, unique to partial A1R agonism, that partly drive the observed improvement in LV systolic performance. The early improvement of LV systolic function with capadenoson may at least partly be the result of improved myocardial energetics resulting from selective



Fig. 6 Effects on PR interval of a single 50 mg dose of neladenoson bialanate administered together with metaprolol succinate in healthy volunteers who had received pretreatment with metaprolol succinate. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. *MS* metoprolol succinate. Reprinted with permission from Dinh et al. (2016)

activation of the A1R in cardiomyocytes. Capadenoson had no effects on heart rate or systemic blood pressure and did not trigger negative dromotropic effects, AV block, or sedation at any time during the study. There were no detectable increases in creatinine or blood urea nitrogen, indicating that renal function had not deteriorated as a result of partial A1R agonist therapy (Nell and Albrecht-Kupper 2009).

Recently, neladenoson bialanate (BAY 1067197), a novel highly selective oral non-adenosine-like partial A1R agonist, entered clinical development for the treatment of HF. Of particular importance in this clinical development is the potential influence of concomitant use of β -blockers as they have the potential to increase the risk of AV conduction abnormalities with A1R agonist treatment. Two small phase 2a pilot studies evaluating the short-term safety of neladenoson bialanate in patients with HFrEF pretreated with β -blockers have recently completed, and the results are pending (ClinicalTrials.gov identifiers: NCT02040233 and NCT01945606). In a small phase 1 trial in healthy volunteers pretreated with the β -blocker metoprolol succinate, a single 50 mg oral dose of neladenoson bialanate administered together with metaprolol succinate was found to be well tolerated. Notably, no higher-degree AV block, prolongation of the PR interval (Fig. 6), or relevant decreases in heart rate or systemic blood pressure were observed (Dinh et al. 2016).

3 Rationale for Partial Adenosine A1 Receptor Agonism for Heart Failure Treatment

The current treatment paradigm for patients with HFrEF aims to provide systemic blockade of the maladaptive neurohumoral response, notably the enhanced and sustained activation of the sympathetic nervous system and the renin-angiotensinaldosterone system (RAAS). Antagonism of the neurohumoral axis for the treatment of HF is achieved using "hemodynamically active medications" that decrease cardiac workload by reducing heart rate, preload, and afterload often with a reduction of systemic blood pressure. However, the repeated incremental addition of hemodynamically active medications raises tolerability and safety concerns (e.g., hypotension and bradycardia), specifically in patients with HFrEF (Vaduganathan et al. 2015). Indeed, low systolic blood pressure, which may reflect the extent of myocardial reserve, is one of the strongest determinants of outcome in ambulatory and hospitalized patients with HFrEF (Ambrosy et al. 2013). Hypotension, especially in high-risk patients with advanced HF, presents a major hurdle to drug development for HF and may pose an even greater obstacle once sacubitril/ valsartan (EntrestoTM) achieves widespread clinical use. Moreover, upon hospitalization for HF, mortality and the rates of rehospitalization for HF remain high despite optimal use of the standard of care, indicating that there is an unmet clinical need in this patient population. This difficult landscape for HF drug development is particularly troubling considering the complete absence of effective therapy for HFpEF, a condition that affects nearly 40-50% of all patients with chronic HF (Steinberg et al. 2012). Attempts to reproduce the benefits of neurohormonal antagonism in patients with HFpEF have thus far been unsuccessful (Shah et al. 2010).

Given the limitations of current therapies for HF, refocusing attention on the failing heart and on restoring function to viable but nonfunctional cardiac units without significantly influencing blood pressure or heart rate is an alternative approach for the development of novel drugs for the treatment of HF. The primary goal of treating patients with HF is the restoration or protection of cardiac function. Recent studies show that cardiac function can be successfully recovered in patients with HF, even after structural alterations have occurred, suggesting that the damage to the myocardium is reversible (Bello et al. 2003). These observations pave the way for rational therapeutic design based on targeting the cardiomyocyte itself and thus complementing existing therapies that suppress the neurohumoral axis or induce vasodilation. The classes of agents that fit well within this paradigm include those that improve the balance between energy supply and demand (e.g., mitochondrial function), substrate utilization, and intracellular calcium handling, reduce interstitial fibrosis, and improve blood flow through the coronary microcirculation.

3.1 Mitochondrial Function

The past two decades of research have provided convincing evidence that altered energetics and mitochondrial dysfunction play an important role in the progressive deterioration of HF. It is a firmly established concept that the failing heart is "energetically starved," with an inability to generate sufficient ATP commensurate with myocardial energy demands (Neubauer 2007). These abnormalities of mitochondrial function include hyperplasia and reduced organelle size, poor respiration, reduced mitochondrial membrane potential, increased opening of MPTP, and reduced rates of ATP synthesis. The obvious consequence of these abnormalities is a reduction in the availability of cardiomyocyte ATP (energy) in patients with HFrEF and HFpEF (Sabbah et al. 1992, 2013; Neubauer 2007; Bayeva et al. 2013, 2014; Sharov et al. 1998, 2000). In addition, mitochondrial dysfunction is associated with derangements in the electron transport chain and excessive production of ROS (Bayeva et al. 2013). Excessive generation of ROS can exert multiple adverse effects through damage to cellular and subcellular components including those that form part of key signaling pathways, membrane lipid sublayers, and the extracellular matrix (Siwik and Colucci 2004). Mitochondrial uncoupling proteins (UPCs), particularly UCP-2 and UCP-3, are necessary for preserving appropriate mitochondrial membrane potential and regulating the production of ATP and ROS (Bugger et al. 2011; Laskowski and Russell 2008). Thus, restoring the integrity of mitochondrial membranes and optimizing their number and function represent emerging therapeutic targets in the treatment of HF. Studies of the effects of the partial A1R agonist capadenoson in a canine model of HF provide strong evidence that modulation of this pathway is a viable strategy for treating mitochondrial dysfunction in HF (Sabbah et al. 2013). In untreated dogs with HF, expression of UCP-2 and UCP-3 was reduced compared with healthy dogs, whereas in animals with HF that were treated with capadenoson, a near normalization of UCP-2 and UCP-3 protein levels was observed. Likewise, treatment with capadenoson appeared to regulate MPTP. In HF, these pores showed increased opening rates, facilitating increased rates of apoptosis (Sabbah 2000). Preclinical data suggest adenosine agonists are capable of preventing this increased rate of MPTP opening and thus maintaining mitochondrial and cell viability (Xiang et al. 2010). These results are in line with findings from the canine HF model study, where the partial A1R agonist capadenoson normalized expression of citrate synthase, an established marker of intact mitochondria (Sabbah et al. 2013).

3.2 Cardiac Energetics and Substrate Utilization

The demands on the heart in the form of cardiac output are in a constant state of flux to accommodate multiple changing bodily needs such as during rest and exercise. This variable workload necessitates a rapid and efficient source of energy that can meet the demands imposed on the heart. The processes of excitation–contraction coupling consume large amounts of free energy in the form of ATP. The ATP necessary for this must be generated on demand, because ATP cannot be stored. The total cardiac ATP pool is turned over within a minute and thus needs to be replenished rapidly and efficiently (Mootha et al. 1997).

Aside from mitochondrial dysfunction, the failing heart may undergo other maladaptive changes that can adversely influence cardiomyocyte energetics. Under normal resting conditions, approximately 70% of the cardiac energy requirement is met by FFA oxidation and 30% from glucose oxidation. While oxidation of FFAs provides the highest energy yield per molecule of substrate metabolized through β -oxidation, the process is less efficient than glucose with regard to ATP production per molecule of oxygen consumed (Rosano et al. 2008). To generate comparable amounts of ATP, FFA oxidation requires about 15% more oxygen compared with glucose oxidation, indicating a higher energetic efficiency of glucose over FFAs (Abozguia et al. 2009). Specific metabolic changes in HF include a relative increase in cardiac FFA oxidation rates and an uncoupling of glycolysis from glucose oxidation. Increases in the amount of FFA oxidized in relation to carbohydrate oxidation have the potential to decrease cardiac efficiency and can further contribute to impaired heart function. These changes characterize the transition of the failing heart to a fetal metabolic phenotype and gene profile, an adaptation that can further promote HF progression (Staehr et al. 2013; Razeghi et al. 2001; Thum et al. 2007). Animal studies suggest that partial A1R agonists, such as capadenoson, can augment expression of glucose transporter (GLUT)-1 and GLUT-4 to near-normal levels (Sabbah et al. 2013).

Increased plasma levels of FFAs have been observed in patients with HF (Djoussé et al. 2013; Capurso and Capurso 2012), further contributing to insulin resistance, diabetes, and alterations in myocardial substrate utilization. This further shifts toward a greater percentage of cardiac energy being derived from FFA oxidation. As detailed previously, A1R agonists can reduce plasma levels of FFAs (Staehr et al. 2013) and improve insulin resistance (Dhalla et al. 2007b, 2009).

It has also recently been shown that altered myocardial energetics underlie diastolic function abnormalities in HFpEF, especially during exercise (Phan et al. 2009, 2010). Thus, the normalization of myocardial energetics through improvement of mitochondrial function supported by restoring a physiological metabolic profile may represent a novel therapeutic target in patients with HFrEF and HFpEF.

3.3 Adrenergic Over-Activation

Enhanced and sustained sympathetic drive can lead to marked cardiotoxicity. In HF, excessive activation of the sympathetic nervous system leads to systemic vasoconstriction with increasing cardiac workload, sodium and water retention, and ventricular remodeling, all of which contribute to disease progression. Adenosine possesses anti-adrenergic properties via activation of A1Rs that are coupled to Gi proteins, which inhibit adenylate cyclase and reduce cAMP levels in cardiomyocytes. Activation of the A1R may also inhibit norepinephrine release from cardiac presynaptic nerves, as shown with the partial A1R agonist capadenoson (Bott-Flugel et al. 2011), therefore further counteracting catecholaminergic overstimulation. Notably, this study demonstrated that capadenoson modulates noradrenaline release and stress-induced heart rate changes in spontaneously hypertensive rats (a model of high sympathetic tone), but had no effect on heart rate in Wistar rats. Thus, the A1R appears to exert minimal effects on adenylate cyclase activity in the absence of catecholamines, at least in rodents (Shryock and Belardinelli 1997). Thus, partial A1R agonism might offer a unique opportunity to selectively modulate the sympathetic control of cardiac function via presynaptic A1 receptor activation and cAMP inhibition.

These observations suggest that partial A1R agonists in the setting of HF might act, at least in part, to inhibit adenylate cyclase in a similar manner to β -blockers. However, the hemodynamic response to β -blockade differs from that seen with the partial A1R agonist. As described previously, it is well known that in patients with HF, β -blockers reduce heart rate and blood pressure and induce a negative inotropic effect early in the course of therapy before improvement takes place later.

Considering the complementary effects of β -blockers and A1R agonists on adenylate cyclase inhibition, hypothetically, the combination of partial A1R agonists and β -blockers may offer a therapeutic opportunity to counteract sympathetic over-activation more efficiently than existing treatment strategies for HF (that may involve, e.g., a β -blocker, a diuretic, and an angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor), particularly in patients who cannot tolerate high-dose β -blockers. This combination approach of β -blocker and partial A1R agonist will be interesting to watch in the clinic.

In addition, it has been shown that activation of adenosine A1Rs attenuates the phenylephrine-induced hypertrophic response in vivo and counteracts the phenylephrine-induced pro-fibrotic response in preclinical models (Puhl et al. 2016). Furthermore, activation of the A1R reduces α 1-adrenoceptor-induced oxidative stress in vivo. Inhibition of maladaptive ROS production would add to the effects of adenosine A1Rs in mediating cardioprotection.

These results suggest that targeting the adenosine A1R may be an appropriate therapeutic strategy to prevent transition from compensated myocardial hypertrophy to overt HFrEF or HFpEF.

3.4 Calcium Handling

Calcium is critical in both the electrical and mechanical properties of cardiomyocytes. The excitation–contraction coupling process in cardiomyocytes begins with the action potential. The initial depolarization triggered by sodium influx activates the L-type calcium current, which triggers even greater calcium release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) via ryanodine receptors (RyRs) (Bers 2006). This elevates cytosolic calcium, which initiates the contraction process as a result of calcium binding to troponin C. For myocardial relaxation in diastole,

calcium must be transported out of the cytosol, resulting in calcium dissociation from troponin C and detachment of the myofilaments. The calcium decline is mediated by the SR calcium-ATPase 2a (SERCA2a), sodium–calcium exchange, the sarcolemmal calcium-ATPase, and the mitochondrial calcium uniporter. Under normal conditions, SERCA2a is responsible for the removal of 70% of cytosolic calcium during diastole.

In HF, there are significant alterations in how intracellular calcium is regulated. The principal defect of excitation–contraction coupling in HF is a decreased calcium load of the SR, which is caused by reduced SERCA2a activity and a calcium leak of the SR via RyRs (Bers 2006). Furthermore, ventricular relaxation during diastole is an energy-consuming process dependent on ATP hydrolysis, which is required for myosin detachment from actin myofilaments, calcium dissociation from troponin C, as well as calcium reuptake into the SR via SERCA2a. The failing heart is "energetically starved" with ATP levels approximately 30% lower than in the healthy heart. SERCA2a activity and SERCA2a protein expression are also decreased in HF (Sabbah et al. 2013; Hasenfuss et al. 1994). As SERCA2a is the first ATPase in the cardiomyocyte to respond to a decrease in the available free energy, it is reasonable to assume that an energetic deficit as well as reduced SERCA2a activity and expression in the failing heart could contribute to impaired excitation–contraction coupling and impaired relaxation in cardiomyocytes.

In preclinical studies, treatment with the partial adenosine A1R agonist capadenoson prevented the decline in SERCA2a activity (V_{max} , measured as nmol/mg protein) that was observed in the untreated HF control group. Furthermore, treatment with capadenoson resulted in a normalization of SERCA2a affinity (K_a) compared with the untreated HF control group (Fig. 7). The improved ATP synthesis by mitochondria may at least partly account for the increased calcium-ATPase activity (Sabbah et al. 2013). In addition, compared with untreated dogs, treatment with capadenoson was associated with a significant increase of SERCA2a protein expression to near-normal levels (Fig. 8).

3.5 Comorbidities of HF

Common comorbidities such as diabetes, renal insufficiency, CAD, and microvascular dysfunction contribute to the onset and progression of HF and drive LV remodeling and dysfunction. In addition, several studies indicate that non-cardiac factors such as skeletal muscle deconditioning as well as underlying cardiac dysfunction contribute to severe exercise intolerance in HF, which is typically the primary manifestation of chronic stable HF. The potential impact of any novel therapy for HF on these important comorbidities and "peripheral factors" merits consideration during drug development.



Fig. 7 The effects of capadenoson (7.5 mg b.i.d.) in a canine model of heart failure on: (**a**) left ventricular calcium-ATPase (SERCA2a) activity (V_{max}) and (**b**) calcium affinity (K_a). Data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean. * denotes P < 0.05 versus healthy dogs; ** denotes P < 0.05 versus untreated dogs with heart failure. *Healthy* healthy dogs, *HF* dogs with heart failure. Reprinted with permission from Sabbah et al. (2013)



Fig. 8 The effects of capadenoson (7.5 mg b.i.d.) on left ventricular SERCA2a protein levels in a canine model of heart failure. Data are shown as mean \pm standard error of the mean. * denotes P < 0.05 versus healthy dogs; ** denotes P < 0.05 versus untreated dogs with heart failure. SERCA2a, sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase 2a. Reprinted with permission from Sabbah et al. (2013)

3.6 Insulin Resistance and Diabetes

Taking into account existing evidence that adenosine A1R agonists possess antilipolytic properties resulting in potentially beneficial effects on insulin resistance and diabetes, A1R activation may present an opportunity for the concomitant treatment of HF and metabolic abnormalities. However, further studies are needed to determine the efficacy of partial A1R agonists in the long-term treatment of insulin resistance, diabetes, and HF in humans. Further details on the pharmacological mechanisms and published literature on this topic are discussed in the previous chapter.

3.7 Coronary Artery Disease and Microvascular Dysfunction

Given that ischemia causing myocardial necrosis occurs frequently in the failing heart, it is reasonable to assume that partial A1R agonists may protect and potentially improve cardiac function via the anti-ischemic cardioprotective effects of adenosine A1R activation and subsequent reduced cellular injury. For details please refer to the previous chapter.

3.8 Renal Dysfunction

The progression of HF and renal insufficiency is inextricably linked. Renal dysfunction promotes HF by, for example, increasing preload, worsening systemic inflammation and endothelial function, and leading to accumulation of uremic toxins. HF promotes renal dysfunction, for example, as a result of insufficient cardiac output resulting in elevated central venous pressures and reduced renal blood flow, leading to reduced sodium excretion and renal insufficiency.

A full A1R agonist may cause antidiuretic effects by vasoconstriction of renal afferent arterioles and reduction of the glomerular filtration rate (Vallon et al. 2006, 2008). When the macula densa of the kidney senses salt loss, it produces adenosine which causes afferent vasoconstriction through activation of the adenosine A1 receptor in the afferent arteriole. Thus, renal blood flow decreases, and the glomerular filtration rate decreases. The potential effects of adenosine antagonism on the kidney led to large-scale drug development programs with adenosine A1R antagonists, such as rolofylline, that included multiple phase 2 and phase 3 trials. Phase 2 data were generally positive, suggesting rolofylline could be capable of augmenting urine output and glomerular filtration rate in patients with HFrEF and moderate renal insufficiency (Dittrich et al. 2007; Givertz et al. 2007; Vaduganathan et al. 2013). However, the subsequent large phase 3 study did not demonstrate a benefit on symptoms, renal function, mortality, or rehospitalization in patients with HFrEF and moderate renal insufficiency (Massie et al. 2010). Furthermore, higher rates of persistent renal impairment, seizure, and stroke were noted in the rolofylline group (Massie et al. 2010; Teerlink et al. 2012).

The potential effects of adenosine A1R agonists on renal function remain to be established. In a canine HF model, there was no evidence of worsening renal function after treatment with the partial A1R agonist capadenoson (Sabbah et al. 2013). This can partly be explained by the fact that a partial agonist can also act as a weak antagonist if endogenous adenosine levels are high. Thus, a partial agonist may counteract the effects of endogenous adenosine on the afferent arterioles in HF. However, it should be noted that renal function in the canine HF model was normal at treatment initiation, thus, the results may not translate into models of renal failure.

Nevertheless, in addition to its hemodynamic effects on afferent arterioles, the A1R has been shown to be involved in regulating renin release from juxtaglomerular cells. It has been shown that A1R activation tonically inhibits renin secretion and is critical for proper functioning of the intrarenal baroreceptor system (Schweda et al. 2005). In the medullary thick ascending limb (TAL), A1R activation inhibits sodium chloride reabsorption (Beach and Good 1992), which is of relevance as the renal medulla, already in normoxia, has a low partial oxygen pressure. It has been demonstrated that the isolated rat TAL releases adenosine, which is increased significantly during hypoxia. Thus, adenosine released into the renal medulla during hypoxia, for example, in acute or worsening HF, may protect the TAL from ischemic injury by directly inhibiting sodium chloride absorption and reducing transport-related oxygen consumption. These findings support the concept that adenosine acts as a metabolic mediator and may couple energy metabolism (ATP hydrolysis for tubular sodium transport) with the control of renin secretion and glomerular filtration rate. The A1R-mediated effects on the TAL together with the renal medullary vasodilation mediated by adenosine A2 receptors may serve to maintain balance in the renal medulla. This is supported by data from mouse models, in which a transient activation of renal A1R led to acute as well as delayed protective effects against renal ischemia-reperfusion injury (Joo et al. 2007).

In addition, a partial adenosine A1 agonist may act as a semi-quantitative antagonist counteracting the vasoconstriction of the afferent arteriole induced by endogenous adenosine in the setting of acute or exacerbated HF.

3.9 Muscular Deconditioning

Chronic HF is characterized not only by hemodynamic adaptation in the heart and circulation but also by changes in the skeletal muscle, a condition called "muscular deconditioning." In fact, several studies have indicated that reduced exercise tolerance, the primary symptom in HFpEF, is at least partly due to peripheral factors such as skeletal muscle abnormalities, physical deconditioning, and deficient skeletal muscle oxygen extraction (Sabbah 2000). The extent of these changes is related to the severity of HF and disease progression. Furthermore, physical deconditioning per se may be at least partly responsible for some of the neurohumoral adaptation observed in HF, particularly in HFpEF. Changes to skeletal muscle may amplify neurohormonal hyperactivity independently of blood pressure

Table 1 Potential mechanisms of benefit from a (partial) A1 receptor agonist in heart failure

Improve mitochondrial function

· Increase levels of mitochondrial uncoupling proteins

 \bullet Decrease rate of opening of mitochondrial permeability transition pores leading to reduced apoptosis $^{\rm a}$

· Decrease reactive oxygen species production

• Improve efficiency of electron transport chain and ATP production/energy supply

Protection from calcium overload and resultant mitochondrial damage

Energy substrate utilization

• Increase expression of GLUT-1 and GLUT-4

• Decrease levels of fatty acid oxidation and increase energy efficacy

Reverse ventricular remodeling

· Reduce interstitial fibrosis

• Prevent myocyte hypertrophy

· Preserve myocardial capillary density and oxygen diffusion distances

Anti-ischemic and cardioprotective effects

Normalizes SERCA2a expression

· Improved calcium handling and protection from calcium overload

Attenuate mechanical and metabolic responses to excessive adrenergic stimulation

• Decrease catecholamine release and counteracting sympathetic overstimulation

ATP adenosine triphosphate, GLUT glucose transporter, SERCA2a sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium-ATPase 2a

Reprinted and modified with permission from Greene et al. (2016)

^aShown for full A1 receptor agonists (Xiang et al. 2010)

reflex effects. It has been shown that chronic HF causes enzymatic and mitochondrial abnormalities in skeletal muscles (Mootha et al. 1997), which may therefore be potential targets for novel therapeutic strategies. Preclinical data have shown that A1R activation increases the synthesis of nitric oxide by a process initiated by opening of K_{ATP} channels. Adenosine released from skeletal muscle fibers also contributes indirectly to vasodilation by activating A1Rs on muscle fibers leading to opening of K_{ATP} channels and efflux of potassium, which is a vasodilator. Thus, by acting on endothelial A1Rs, adenosine attenuates the vasoconstrictor effects of constant or bursting patterns of sympathetic activity in the skeletal muscle. This limits the extent to which the sympathetic nervous system can reduce oxygen delivery to muscle when it is already compromised by inadequate tissue supply in HF (Rosano et al. 2008; Abozguia et al. 2009)

4 Summary and Future Directions

HF remains a growing public health problem with unacceptably poor long-term outcomes despite the use of guideline-directed medical and device therapies. To date, almost all disease-modifying therapies in HF cause blood pressure lowering either as a therapeutic effect or an unintended consequence of treatment. Continued development of more potent hemodynamically active medications for stepwise addition or replacement of existing therapy carries an inherent risk of poor tolerability and safety, and incremental benefit with the addition of such agents may be difficult or unattainable. It is under this framework in which a partial A1R agonist for HF holds promise. As a potentially hemodynamically neutral therapy, a partial A1R agonist could simultaneously improve cardiomyocyte energetics, cardiac structure, and function and potentially prevent further tissue injury and thereby cardiac function deterioration (Table 1). Although drug development of a partial A1R agonist remains at an early stage, compelling biologic rationale and encouraging preclinical evidence support the continued attention being given to ongoing and future trials with these agents in patients with HF. Partial agonists of adenosine A1Rs may offer a more favorable benefit–risk profile compared with full agonists due to more specific effects on the target tissue and fewer undesired effects on the ubiquitously expressed receptor.

References

- Abozguia K, Shivu GN, Ahmed I et al (2009) The heart metabolism: pathophysiological aspects in ischaemia and heart failure. Curr Pharm Des 15(8):827–835
- Albrecht-Küpper BE, Leineweber K, Nell PG (2012) Partial adenosine A1 receptor agonists for cardiovascular therapies. Purinergic Signal 8(Suppl 1):91–99
- Ambrosy AP, Pang PS, Khan S et al (2013) Clinical course and predictive value of congestion during hospitalization in patients admitted for worsening signs and symptoms of heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: findings from the EVEREST trial. Eur Heart J 34(11):835–843
- Badar AA, Perez-Moreno AC, Hawkins NM et al (2015) Clinical characteristics and outcomes of patients with coronary artery disease and angina: analysis of the irbesartan in patients with heart failure and preserved systolic function trial. Circ Heart Fail 8(4):717–724
- Bajaj M, Defronzo RA (2003) Metabolic and molecular basis of insulin resistance. J Nucl Cardiol 10(3):311–323
- Bayes M, Rabasseda X, Prous JR (2003) Gateways to clinical trials. Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol 25(6):483–506
- Bayeva M, Gheorghiade M, Ardehali H (2013) Mitochondria as a therapeutic target in heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 61(6):599–610
- Bayeva M, Sawicki KT, Butler J et al (2014) Molecular and cellular basis of viable dysfunctional myocardium. Circ Heart Fail 7(4):680–691
- Beach RE, Good DW (1992) Effects of adenosine on ion transport in rat medullary thick ascending limb. Am J Physiol 263(3 Pt 2):F482–F487
- Bello D, Shah DJ, Farah GM et al (2003) Gadolinium cardiovascular magnetic resonance predicts reversible myocardial dysfunction and remodeling in patients with heart failure undergoing beta-blocker therapy. Circulation 108(16):1945–1953
- Bers DM (2006) Altered cardiac myocyte Ca regulation in heart failure. Physiology (Bethesda) 21:380–387
- Boden G (2001) Free fatty acids-the link between obesity and insulin resistance. Endocr Pract 7 (1):44–51
- Boden G, Shulman GI (2002) Free fatty acids in obesity and type 2 diabetes: defining their role in the development of insulin resistance and beta-cell dysfunction. Eur J Clin Invest 32(Suppl 3):14–23

- Bott-Flugel L, Bernshausen A, Schneider H et al (2011) Selective attenuation of norepinephrine release and stress-induced heart rate increase by partial adenosine A1 agonism. PLoS One 6(3): e18048
- Bugger H, Guzman C, Zechner C et al (2011) Uncoupling protein downregulation in doxorubicininduced heart failure improves mitochondrial coupling but increases reactive oxygen species generation. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 67(6):1381–1388
- Capurso C, Capurso A (2012) From excess adiposity to insulin resistance: the role of free fatty acids. Vascul Pharmacol 57(2–4):91–97
- Dhalla AK, Shryock JC, Shreeniwas R et al (2003) Pharmacology and therapeutic applications of A1 adenosine receptor ligands. Curr Top Med Chem 3(4):369–385
- Dhalla AK, Santikul M, Smith M et al (2007a) Antilipolytic activity of a novel partial A1 adenosine receptor agonist devoid of cardiovascular effects: comparison with nicotinic acid. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 321(1):327–333
- Dhalla AK, Wong MY, Voshol PJ et al (2007b) A1 adenosine receptor partial agonist lowers plasma FFA and improves insulin resistance induced by high-fat diet in rodents. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 292(5):E1358–E1363
- Dhalla AK, Chisholm JW, Reaven GM et al (2009) A1 adenosine receptor: role in diabetes and obesity. Handb Exp Pharmacol 193:271–295
- Dinh W, Voors A, Delesen H et al (2016) Safety and tolerability of neladenoson bialanate, a novel oral partial and selective adenosine A1 receptor agonist, in healthy volunteers pretreated with beta-blocker. Paper presented at the ESC HF Congress 2016, Florence
- Dittrich HC, Gupta DK, Hack TC et al (2007) The effect of KW-3902, an adenosine A1 receptor antagonist, on renal function and renal plasma flow in ambulatory patients with heart failure and renal impairment. J Card Fail 13(8):609–617
- Dixon AK, Gubitz AK, Sirinathsinghji DJ et al (1996) Tissue distribution of adenosine receptor mRNAs in the rat. Br J Pharmacol 118(6):1461–1468
- Djoussé L, Benkeser D, Arnold A et al (2013) Plasma free fatty acids and risk of heart failure: the Cardiovascular Health Study. Circ Heart Fail 6(5):964–969
- Ellenbogen KA, O'Neill G, Prystowsky EN et al (2005) Trial to evaluate the management of paroxysmal supraventricular tachycardia during an electrophysiology study with tecadenoson. Circulation 111(24):3202–3208
- Fredholm BB, IJzerman AP, Jacobson KA et al (2001) International Union of Pharmacology. XXV. Nomenclature and classification of adenosine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 53(4):527–552
- Gheorghiade M, Sopko G, De Luca L et al (2006) Navigating the crossroads of coronary artery disease and heart failure. Circulation 114(11):1202–1213
- Givertz MM, Massie BM, Fields TK et al (2007) The effects of KW-3902, an adenosine A1-receptor antagonist, on diuresis and renal function in patients with acute decompensated heart failure and renal impairment or diuretic resistance. J Am Coll Cardiol 50(16):1551–1560
- Greene SJ, Sabbah HN, Butler J et al (2016) Partial adenosine A1 receptor agonism: a potential new therapeutic strategy for heart failure. Heart Fail Rev 21(1):95–102
- Hasenfuss G, Reinecke H, Studer R et al (1994) Relation between myocardial function and expression of sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+)-ATPase in failing and nonfailing human myocardium. Circ Res 75(3):434–442
- Headrick JP, Gauthier NS, Berr SS et al (1998) Transgenic A1 adenosine receptor overexpression markedly improves myocardial energy state during ischemia-reperfusion. J Mol Cell Cardiol 30(5):1059–1064
- Heseltine L, Webster JM, Taylor R (1995) Adenosine effects upon insulin action on lipolysis and glucose transport in human adipocytes. Mol Cell Biochem 144(2):147–151
- Hussain T, Mustafa SJ (1995) Binding of A1 adenosine receptor ligand [3H]8-cyclopentyl-1,3dipropylxanthine in coronary smooth muscle. Circ Res 77(1):194–198
- Jacobson KA, van Galen PJ, Williams M (1992) Adenosine receptors: pharmacology, structureactivity relationships, and therapeutic potential. J Med Chem 35(3):407–422

- Johnson AB, Argyraki M, Thow JC et al (1992) Effect of increased free fatty acid supply on glucose metabolism and skeletal muscle glycogen synthase activity in normal man. Clin Sci (Lond) 82(2):219–226
- Joo JD, Kim M, Horst P et al (2007) Acute and delayed renal protection against renal ischemia and reperfusion injury with A1 adenosine receptors. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 293(6):F1847–F1857
- Kirsch GE, Codina J, Birnbaumer L et al (1990) Coupling of ATP-sensitive K+ channels to A1 receptors by G proteins in rat ventricular myocytes. Am J Physiol 259(3 Pt 2):H820–H826
- Laskowski KR, Russell RR 3rd (2008) Uncoupling proteins in heart failure. Curr Heart Fail Rep 5 (2):75–79
- Mann DL (1999) Mechanisms and models in heart failure: a combinatorial approach. Circulation 100(9):999–1008
- Massie BM, O'Connor CM, Metra M et al (2010) Rolofylline, an adenosine A1-receptor antagonist, in acute heart failure. N Engl J Med 363(15):1419–1428
- Matherne GP, Linden J, Byford AM et al (1997) Transgenic A1 adenosine receptor overexpression increases myocardial resistance to ischemia. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94(12):6541–6546
- Mjos OD (1971a) Effect of free fatty acids on myocardial function and oxygen consumption in intact dogs. J Clin Invest 50(7):1386–1389
- Mjos OD (1971b) Effect of inhibition of lipolysis on myocardial oxygen consumption in the presence of isoproterenol. J Clin Invest 50(9):1869–1873
- Mootha VK, Arai AE, Balaban RS (1997) Maximum oxidative phosphorylation capacity of the mammalian heart. Am J Physiol 272(2 Pt 2):H769–H775
- Motiwala SR, Gaggin HK, Gandhi PU et al (2015) Concentrations of highly sensitive cardiac troponin-I predict poor cardiovascular outcomes and adverse remodeling in chronic heart failure. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 8(3):164–172
- Mubagwa K, Flameng W (2001) Adenosine, adenosine receptors and myocardial protection: an updated overview. Cardiovasc Res 52(1):25–39
- Musser B, Morgan ME, Leid M et al (1993) Species comparison of adenosine and betaadrenoceptors in mammalian atrial and ventricular myocardium. Eur J Pharmacol 246 (2):105–111
- Mustafa SJ, Morrison RR, Teng B et al (2009) Adenosine receptors and the heart: role in regulation of coronary blood flow and cardiac electrophysiology. Handb Exp Pharmacol 193:161–188
- Nell PG, Albrecht-Kupper B (2009) The adenosine A1 receptor and its ligands. Prog Med Chem 47:163–201
- Neubauer S (2007) The failing heart-an engine out of fuel. N Engl J Med 356(11):1140-1151
- Olivetti G, Abbi R, Quaini F et al (1997) Apoptosis in the failing human heart. N Engl J Med 336 (16):1131–1141
- Parsons WJ, Stiles GL (1987) Heterologous desensitization of the inhibitory A1 adenosine receptor-adenylate cyclase system in rat adipocytes. Regulation of both Ns and Ni. J Biol Chem 262(2):841–847
- Peterman C, Sanoski CA (2005) Tecadenoson: a novel, selective A1 adenosine receptor agonist. Cardiol Rev 13(6):315–321
- Phan TT, Abozguia K, Nallur Shivu G et al (2009) Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction is characterized by dynamic impairment of active relaxation and contraction of the left ventricle on exercise and associated with myocardial energy deficiency. J Am Coll Cardiol 54 (5):402–409
- Phan TT, Shivu GN, Abozguia K et al (2010) Impaired heart rate recovery and chronotropic incompetence in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Circ Heart Fail 3 (1):29–34
- Puhl SL, Kazakov A, Muller A et al (2016) Adenosine A1 receptor activation attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and fibrosis in response to alpha1-adrenoceptor stimulation in vivo. Br J Pharmacol 173(1):88–102

- Razeghi P, Young ME, Alcorn JL et al (2001) Metabolic gene expression in fetal and failing human heart. Circulation 104(24):2923–2931
- Roman V, Keijser JN, Luiten PG et al (2008) Repetitive stimulation of adenosine A1 receptors in vivo: changes in receptor numbers, G-proteins and A1 receptor agonist-induced hypothermia. Brain Res 1191:69–74
- Rosano GM, Fini M, Caminiti G et al (2008) Cardiac metabolism in myocardial ischemia. Curr Pharm Des 14(25):2551–2562
- Rusinaru D, Houpe D, Szymanski C et al (2014) Coronary artery disease and 10-year outcome after hospital admission for heart failure with preserved and with reduced ejection fraction. Eur J Heart Fail 16(9):967–976
- Sabbah HN (2000) Apoptotic cell death in heart failure. Cardiovasc Res 45(3):704-712
- Sabbah HN, Sharov V, Riddle JM et al (1992) Mitochondrial abnormalities in myocardium of dogs with chronic heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 24(11):1333–1347
- Sabbah HN, Shimoyama H, Kono T et al (1994) Effects of long-term monotherapy with enalapril, metoprolol, and digoxin on the progression of left ventricular dysfunction and dilation in dogs with reduced ejection fraction. Circulation 89(6):2852–2859
- Sabbah HN, Gupta RC, Kohli S et al (2013) Chronic therapy with a partial adenosine A1-receptor agonist improves left ventricular function and remodeling in dogs with advanced heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 6(3):563–571
- Schweda F, Segerer F, Castrop H et al (2005) Blood pressure-dependent inhibition of Renin secretion requires A1 adenosine receptors. Hypertension 46(4):780–786
- Shah RV, Desai AS, Givertz MM (2010) The effect of renin-angiotensin system inhibitors on mortality and heart failure hospitalization in patients with heart failure and preserved ejection fraction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Card Fail 16(3):260–267
- Sharov VG, Goussev A, Lesch M et al (1998) Abnormal mitochondrial function in myocardium of dogs with chronic heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 30(9):1757–1762
- Sharov VG, Todor AV, Silverman N et al (2000) Abnormal mitochondrial respiration in failed human myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 32(12):2361–2367
- Shearer J, Severson DL, Su L et al (2009) Partial A1 adenosine receptor agonist regulates cardiac substrate utilization in insulin-resistant rats in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 328(1):306–311
- Shryock JC, Belardinelli L (1997) Adenosine and adenosine receptors in the cardiovascular system: biochemistry, physiology, and pharmacology. Am J Cardiol 79(12A):2–10
- Siwik DA, Colucci WS (2004) Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases by cytokines and reactive oxygen/nitrogen species in the myocardium. Heart Fail Rev 9(1):43–51
- Srinivas M, Shryock JC, Dennis DM et al (1997) Differential A1 adenosine receptor reserve for two actions of adenosine on guinea pig atrial myocytes. Mol Pharmacol 52(4):683–691
- Staehr PM, Dhalla AK, Zack J et al (2013) Reduction of free fatty acids, safety, and pharmacokinetics of oral GS-9667, an A(1) adenosine receptor partial agonist. J Clin Pharmacol 53 (4):385–392
- Steinberg BA, Zhao X, Heidenreich PA et al (2012) Trends in patients hospitalized with heart failure and preserved left ventricular ejection fraction: prevalence, therapies, and outcomes. Circulation 126(1):65–75
- Stone TW, Ceruti S, Abbracchio MP (2009) Adenosine receptors and neurological disease: neuroprotection and neurodegeneration. Handb Exp Pharmacol 193:535–587
- Teerlink JR, Iragui VJ, Mohr JP et al (2012) The safety of an adenosine A₁-receptor antagonist, rolofylline, in patients with acute heart failure and renal impairment: findings from PROTECT. Drug Saf 35(3):233–244
- Tendera M, Gaszewska-Zurek E, Parma Z et al (2012) The new oral adenosine A1 receptor agonist capadenoson in male patients with stable angina. Clin Res Cardiol 101(7):585–591
- Thum T, Galuppo P, Wolf C et al (2007) MicroRNAs in the human heart: a clue to fetal gene reprogramming in heart failure. Circulation 116(3):258–267
- Tuunanen H, Engblom E, Naum A et al (2006) Free fatty acid depletion acutely decreases cardiac work and efficiency in cardiomyopathic heart failure. Circulation 114(20):2130–2137

- Vaduganathan M, Greene SJ, Ambrosy AP et al (2013) The disconnect between phase II and phase III trials of drugs for heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol 10(2):85–97
- Vaduganathan M, Butler J, Pitt B et al (2015) Contemporary drug development in heart failure: call for hemodynamically neutral therapies. Circ Heart Fail 8(4):826–831
- Vallon V, Muhlbauer B, Osswald H (2006) Adenosine and kidney function. Physiol Rev 86 (3):901–940
- Vallon V, Miracle C, Thomson S (2008) Adenosine and kidney function: potential implications in patients with heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 10(2):176–187
- Veres G, Radovits T, Otila G et al (2010) Efficacy of the non-adenosine analogue A1 adenosine receptor agonist (BR-4935) on cardiovascular function after cardiopulmonary bypass. Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 58(2):86–92
- Xiang F, Huang YS, Zhang DX et al (2010) Adenosine A1 receptor activation reduces opening of mitochondrial permeability transition pores in hypoxic cardiomyocytes. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 37(3):343–349
- Yao Z, Gross GJ (1993) Glibenclamide antagonizes adenosine A1 receptor-mediated cardioprotection in stunned canine myocardium. Circulation 88(1):235–244

New and Emerging Therapies and Targets: Beta-3 Agonists

Lauriane Y.M. Michel and Jean-Luc Balligand

Contents

1	Cate	cholamines and the Failing Heart	206	
	1.1	Catecholamines Synthesis and Circulation	206	
	1.2	Catecholamines in Heart Failure	207	
2	Beta	-Adrenergic Receptors in the Normal and Failing Heart	207	
	2.1	Beta-Adrenergic Signaling in the Cardiovascular System	207	
	2.2	Beta-Adrenergic Receptors in the Failing Heart	208	
3	The	Beta-3 Adrenergic Receptor	209	
	3.1	Structure of B3AR	209	
	3.2	Coupling of B3AR in Cardiovascular Tissues	210	
	3.3	Signaling of B3AR in Cardiovascular Tissues	211	
4	Beta	-3 Adrenoceptor in the Failing Heart	212	
5	Beta	-3 Adrenergic in Preclinical Model of Cardiac Remodeling	214	
6	Pote	ntial Protective Effect of Beta-3 AR and Clinical Studies	216	
7	Conclusion			
Re	References			

Abstract

While crucial for the acute physiologic response to stress, the adrenergic system may become maladaptive upon prolonged stimulation in the course of development of heart failure. This has been the basis for the development of beta-

L.Y.M. Michel

J.-L. Balligand (🖂)

Pole of Pharmacology and Therapeutics (FATH), Institut de Recherche Experimentale et Clinique (IREC), Université Catholique de Louvain, B1.53.09, 52 Ave. Mounier, 1200 Brussels, Belgium

Pole of Pharmacology and Therapeutics (FATH), Institut de Recherche Experimentale et Clinique (IREC), Université Catholique de Louvain, B1.53.09, 52 Ave. Mounier, 1200 Brussels, Belgium

Department of Medicine, Cliniques Universitaires Saint-Luc, Université Catholique de Louvain, 10 Ave. Hippocrate, 1200, Brussels, Belgium e-mail: jean-luc.balligand@uclouvain.be

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_88

blocking therapies, targeting mainly beta1-2 adrenoreceptors (B1-2AR). The third isotype, B3AR, was more recently identified in cardiac myocytes and endothelial cells from human (and many other animal species), where its distinctive coupling to nitric oxide and antioxidant pathways suggested potential protective properties that were unexploited so far. The observation of beneficial effects of B3AR expression/activation on myocardial remodeling and the availability of specific agonists for clinical use now open the way for directly testing the hypothesis in heart failure patients. We will briefly review the specificities of B3AR signaling in the context of the cardiovascular adrenergic system, the evidence supporting its beneficial effects and outline an ongoing clinical trial using the B3AR agonist, mirabegron in patients with/at risk of developing heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF).

Keywords

Adrenergic receptor • Catecholamines • Heart failure • Hypertrophy • Nitric oxide • Remodeling

1 Catecholamines and the Failing Heart

1.1 Catecholamines Synthesis and Circulation

Catecholamines, secreted in response to the stimulation of the sympathetic division of the autonomous nervous system, greatly impact cardiac function. In short, catecholamines synthesis in the chromaffin cells of the adrenal medulla is under the control of the corticotropin releasing hormone (CRH)-adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH)-cortisol axis. Therefore, the stress sensed and propagated by the CRH-ACTH-cortisol axis triggers the stimulation of norepinephrine synthesis by cortisol and upregulation of PNMT (phenylethanolamine N-methyl transferase) enabling epinephrine synthesis from norepinephrine. Chromaffin cells secrete predominantly epinephrine and to a lesser extent norepinephrine. Exocytotic release of catecholamines is initiated by acetylcholine stimulation of nicotinic Ach receptor that depolarizes the postganglionic chromaffin cells and triggers Ca²⁺-dependent exocytotic release. In the bloodstream, catecholamines have a short half-life of few minutes (Porta et al. 1985) and, therefore, mediate a fast response to external stress by associating with alpha and beta-adrenoceptors expressed at the cell membrane. In this regard, the fight-or-flight response represents a major physiological reaction to severe external threat inducing the centrally driven release of adrenal hormones and activation of peripheral sympathetic nerves leading to an increase in heart rate, contractility, and the mobilization of fuel stores from muscles and fat. Due to the quick action of catecholamines after reaching their target tissues, all responses are activated within seconds with a brief biological action of about 10 s. Importantly, unlike other hormones the adrenal hormones do not have a negative feedback system based on circulating levels, but their effect is limited in time due to catecholamines reuptake, degradation, and adrenergic receptors homologous desensitization.

1.2 Catecholamines in Heart Failure

A complex series of changes occurring in the cardiac sympathetic nervous system of patients suffering from heart failure leads to a pronounced increase in catecholamines release from sympathetic nerves. Additionally, activation of the adrenal glands elevates significantly the circulating catecholamines levels (Mahata et al. 2016). Recent studies showed that the activation of the adrenal medulla and its enhanced release of catecholamines in chronic heart failure result from the increased transsynaptic activation of the chromaffin cells. In such conditions, both metabolism and physiology of the chromaffin cells undergo an important remodeling to accommodate the accrued production of catecholamines, which include an increase in the mitochondrial content and in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and Golgi width (Mahata et al. 2016). Although the initial action of catecholamines is beneficial for the function of the cardiovascular system, the untimely activation of adrenergic receptors by elevated levels of agonists in the failing heart causes tremendous detrimental effects on cardiac physiology. In fact, circulating levels of catecholamines correlate with the degree of cardiac dysfunction (Bristow et al. 1990; Swedberg et al. 1990), a parameter inextricably linked to the physiology of the different members of the beta-adrenergic receptors family.

2 Beta-Adrenergic Receptors in the Normal and Failing Heart

2.1 Beta-Adrenergic Signaling in the Cardiovascular System

The orthosympathetic system is a key regulator of the cardiovascular function through the adrenoreceptors. The multiple roles of the adrenoceptors first arise from the observation that catecholamines can stimulate both vasodilation and vasoconstriction unraveling the diversity in cell response (Longhurst 1990; Saeed et al. 1982). In cardiac tissues, both alpha and beta-adrenoceptors are expressed although the beta-adrenoceptors are highly predominant. Under physiological conditions, beta-adrenoceptors and their signaling pathways regulate both force and rate of myocardial contraction and relaxation, while alpha-adrenoceptors are mostly implicated in the control of vascular tone due to their high density at the plasma membrane of the vascular smooth muscle cells. Among the three types of beta-adrenergic receptors (B1-2AR) are the most extensively studied, due to their early identification (Lefkowitz et al. 1972); they share a common positive inotropic effect, but also mediate vasodilatation in peripheral vessels.

Despite belonging to the same subtypes of receptors, the signaling pathways of the two receptors are far from equivalent and include important differences, highly connected to their implications in the cardiac physiology; one of the most striking example being the marked cardiomyopathy developed in mice with low-level (fivefold) overexpression of B1AR while 100-fold overexpression of B2AR led solely to an increased cardiac contractile force (Ahmet et al. 2004; Patterson et al. 2004). Additionally, in B1AR knockout (KO) mouse models, a loss of inotropic effect is measured and, depending on the genetic background, embryonic lethality is observed (Rohrer et al. 1996; Susulic et al. 1995) while in B2AR KO mice, functional impairments were restricted to the stress of exercise (Chruscinski et al. 1999).

Upon binding of epinephrine to the B1AR, activation of G-alpha-s promotes the increase of intracellular cyclic AMP (cAMP) levels via the stimulation of the adenylyl cyclase (AC) and thus enhances the protein kinase A (PKA) activity promoting the phosphorylation, among others, of phospholamban, troponin I (TnI) and increasing the probability of opening of Ca^{2+} transporters such as $Ca_{v1,2}$, RyR2. Altogether these phosphorylations contribute to enhance cardiac contractility and reduce the duration of contraction, as it is the case during fight-or-flight response. As for B2AR, that comprises 20–25% of beta-ARs, the receptor contributes to both chronotropic and inotropic responses in the heart (Brodde 1991; Xiao et al. 1995) through its capacity to couple to both G-alpha-s and G inhibitory protein G-alpha-i. The switch of signaling pathways is governed by the direct phosphorylation of the receptor by PKA (Daaka et al. 1997). Therefore, B2AR can either participate to the elevation of intracellular cAMP via binding of G-alpha-s or bind G-alpha-i, pathway that in turn activates phospholipase 2 (PLA2), PI3K, and Akt providing an antiapoptotic signal to cardiac myocytes (Chesley et al. 2000; Zhu et al. 2001).

2.2 Beta-Adrenergic Receptors in the Failing Heart

In the failing heart, overstimulation of the orthosympathetic system leads to cardiac cell damage through a sustained activation of B1-2AR. In patients suffering from heart failure, beta-adrenoceptors exhibit a lower sensitivity to catecholamines, mostly linked to a decrease in density of beta-adrenoceptors at the plasma membrane (Bristow et al. 1982). As for the B1AR subtype, this process includes a reduction of the subtype expression and its mRNA abundance by up to 50%, in correlation with the disease diversity (Brodde 1993; Engelhardt et al. 1996; Kiuchi et al. 1993). The remaining B1AR are desensitized through GRKs (e.g., GRK2 or beta-adrenoceptor kinase, BARK), whose expression is increased in the failing human heart (Pitcher et al. 1998). Furthermore a downregulation of G-alphas (Longabaugh et al. 1988) and adenylyl cyclase (Ishikawa et al. 1994) is measured in several animal models. Altogether the loss of response to catecholamines reduces intracellular cAMP levels as it is observed in denervated preparations of human heart (Danielsen et al. 1989). In addition, phosphatase-1 activated in the context of heart failure impacts the phosphorylation status of phospholamban. In its

dephosphorylated state, phospholamban inhibits the apparent affinity of SERCA 2A for Ca^{2+} (Chu et al. 2000; Dash et al. 2001; Rona 1985; Schwinger et al. 1999) which, in turn, causes major myocardial damage and contributes significantly to myocardial dysfunction and remodeling of the failing heart (Bristow 2000).

While B2AR expression levels remain unchanged following cardiac injury, an up to twofold increase of G-alpha-i is observed in early heart failure (Eschenhagen 1993; Feldman et al. 1988; Neumann et al. 1988). These observations are consistent with an activation of the antiapoptotic pathway of B2AR in the failing heart. In addition, in B1AR expressing cardiac cells of B2AR KO mice, the overstimulation of B1AR leads to apoptotic death of cardiomyocytes. Therefore, the coupling of B2AR with G-alpha-i would constitute an attempt to compensate and protect the heart against detrimental effects caused by the overstimulation of beta-adrenergic receptors, including arrhythmias, energy dysbalance, hypertrophy, and apoptosis, through activation of anti-apoptosis pathway and inhibition of the G-alpha-s pathway. Alternatively, the primary beneficial effect of B2AR may come at the cost of compromised contractile support since the pathway disrupts the beta-adrenergic inotropic response and may prevent the heart from meeting its demands, leading to further deterioration of heart failure (He et al. 2005). Nevertheless, the mechanisms of protection afforded by the last identified beta-adrenoreceptor expressed in the heart, the B3AR, are of particular interest to prevent cardiac remodeling. Recent evidence revealed the B3AR as a promising candidate for drug target in the treatment of the failing heart.

3 The Beta-3 Adrenergic Receptor

3.1 Structure of B3AR

Until recently, little was known on the role of the beta-3 adrenoceptor in the cardiovascular system. After its first cloning in 1989 (Emorine et al. 1989), B3AR was originally thought to have a restricted expression to adipocytes in brown and white adipose tissues where it mediates the adrenergic beta-oxidation of fatty acids. B3AR was then detected in the smooth muscle cells of the urinary bladder, where it is implicated in relaxation of the detrusor muscle, thereby improving the filling capacity of the bladder. This led to the development of specific B3AR agonists, one of which (mirabegron) is currently used in the clinic in the treatment of overactive bladder disease (Vij and Drake 2015). As for cardiac tissue, the expression of transcripts of B3AR was first reported as early as 1996 in human biopsies (Gauthier et al. 1996). Thereafter, an antibody with validated specificity for the human B3AR enabled the immunodetection of the receptor in human atrial and ventricular cardiac myocytes as well as in endothelial cells of the small coronary resistance vessels (Massion et al. 2004). The expression of the receptor varies, however, from species to species, with a low expression in mice, but higher in rats, rabbits, and dogs (Gauthier et al. 1999). Importantly, our group observed that B3AR expression is increased in human cardiac tissue from patients suffering from heart failure (Moniotte et al. 2001b) and evidenced for the first time a difference in expression of the three adrenergic isotypes. The upregulation has been since then described also in diabetic hearts by several other groups (Amour et al. 2007; Dincer et al. 2001) and led to growing attention for the receptor and its implications in cardiac physio- and pathophysiology.

The B3AR belongs to the R7G superfamily of G protein coupled receptor and shares multiple structural characteristics with the other beta-adrenergic isotypes, in addition to the 40–50% similarity in primary sequence (Gauthier et al. 2000; Liggett et al. 1993). Similarly to other GPCRs, the beta-receptors contain seven transmembrane domains of about 22-28 residues involved in ligand binding with an intracellular C-terminus and extracellular N-terminus usually glycosylated. The C-terminus region is of great importance in B1-2AR as it contains consensus sequences for PKA and GRK phosphorylations, which are notably absent in B3AR. In addition, a polymorphism at position 64 is observed in 8-10% of Europeans and North Americans for which Trp⁶⁴ is replaced by Arg⁶⁴. Several early studies ruled out a link of this polymorphism with type II diabetes or changes in ligand binding. Interestingly, a reduction in basal and agonist stimulated AC was observed (Candelore et al. 1996; Manning et al. 1996). Furthermore, recent studies suggested an implication in obesity and metabolic syndrome (de Luis et al. 2008; Malik et al. 2011) while an association with increased serum urate and risk of gout was recently suggested (Fatima et al. 2016).

3.2 Coupling of B3AR in Cardiovascular Tissues

Contrary to B1- and B2AR, B3AR is not subjected to short-term homologous desensitization, due to the absence of GRK phosphorylation sites at the C terminal tail of the receptor. Therefore, unlike other beta-isotypes, B3AR is less prone to the progressive loss of coupling and efficacy linked with the recruitment of betaarrestin and the subsequent internalization of the receptor. The absence of agonistinduced desensitization linked with GRK phosphorylation was further demonstrated in the context of cardiac myocytes using chimeric receptors (Liggett et al. 1993). Unlike the B1 isotype, B3AR has a higher affinity for norepinephrine than for epinephrine. The coupling of B3AR to intracellular signaling effectors varies between tissues and cell types. In the vasculature, the expression of B3AR itself is different between vascular beds, the size of vessels, and species. B3AR vasodilating effect is coupled to an increase in cAMP levels in canine pulmonary arteries (Tagava et al. 1999), akin to the classical cAMP/PKA vasorelaxing effect of B2AR observed in vascular smooth muscle cells and suggesting a coupling of B3AR to G-alpha-s. Additionally, activation of the receptor in endothelial cells and the associated endothelium-dependent relaxation measured in aortic and resistance vessels from many animal species is connected to both nitric oxide synthase (NOS) dependent and independent pathways (Dessy and Balligand 2010). In human ventricular biopsies, the B3AR-induced production of NO is sensitive to pertussis toxin, suggesting a coupling to G-alpha-i coupled to NOS-dependent production of cGMP (Gauthier et al. 1999). It is however still unclear whether B3AR can couple to G-alpha-s (and adenylyl cyclase/cAMP) in addition to G-alpha-i in cardiac myocytes, as does B2AR. This ability might well depend on the spatial confinement in specific subcellular compartments of both B3AR and effectors.

3.3 Signaling of B3AR in Cardiovascular Tissues

A major axis of the B3AR signaling pathway in the cardiovascular system is the NOS pathway. In bovine aortic endothelial cells, B3AR can promote eNOS activation through the phosphorylation of Ser¹¹⁷⁹ and the dephosphorylation of the inhibitory phosphoresidues Ser¹¹⁶ and Thr⁴⁹⁷ (Kou and Michel 2007). In a similar manner in neonatal rat cardiac myocytes, B3AR activates nNOS through phosphorylation of Ser¹⁴¹² and dephosphorylation of Ser⁴⁸⁷. Consistently with the human cardiac biopsies, these B3AR-induced posttranslational modifications have been linked to G-alpha-i in rat cardiomyocytes (Watts et al. 2013).

Further investigations in endothelial cells revealed that B3AR signaling to eNOS is dependent on the enzyme's association to Rac1, which also induces endothelial cell migration in vitro (Kou and Michel 2007). In human coronary resistance vessels, we showed that the B3AR-induced relaxation is mediated by both NO- and EDHF-dependent responses (Dessy et al. 2004, 2005; Massion et al. 2004). The definitive identity of EDHF remains unclear; one possible mediator would be extracellular K⁺ driving hyperpolarization through the activation of the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase (Edwards et al. 2010). The recent demonstration that B3AR protects the alpha1 subunit of the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase from inactivation by oxidative S-glutathionylation, thereby maintaining the pump activity in the face of oxidant stress (Karimi Galougahi et al. 2015), as occurring, e.g., in diabetes corroborates the hypothesis of antioxidant effects of B3AR, as also observed by us in a setting of acute ischemia (Sorrentino et al. 2011). In this context, B3AR would contribute to maintain both NO and EDHF vasodilatory responses in disease as well as important paracrine protective signaling (e.g., through NO) to the underlying parenchymal cardiac tissue.

The development of the transgenic mouse model expressing the human B3AR specifically in cardiac myocytes, at levels driving a functional response similar to that observed in human biopsies, has been an important milestone in the study of B3AR signaling pathways in cardiac myocytes. Using this mouse model, we demonstrated the colocalization of B3AR with caveolin3 and eNOS and nNOS in caveolae-enriched membrane fractions, with little change of localization in hyper-trophic and non-failing hearts (Belge et al. 2014). By crossbreeding our cardiac-specific B3AR transgenic mice with another mouse model expressing a cGMP-sensitive FRET sensor, we demonstrated the coupling of the B3AR to cGMP in cardiac myocytes, that was absent in B3AR KO mice (Belge et al. 2014). The inhibition of the signal by the soluble guanylyl cyclase inhibitor, ODQ, pointed to a B3AR/NOS/sGC/cGMP pathway. Downstream cGMP, we found that B3AR activates PKG-dependent signaling that results in the inhibition of hypertrophy (Belge et al. 2014). Among other targets, Titin or TnI phosphorylation would result

in decreased myofilament calcium sensitivity (Kruger et al. 2009) and improved diastolic relaxation that would promote LV filling. The coupling of B3AR to electrical currents in cardiac myocytes may vary in atrial versus ventricular cells. Most studies have examined the regulation of Ica-L, which is increased by B3AR agonists in human atrial cells ex vivo (Skeberdis et al. 2008) whereas the response is less prominent in ventricular cells (Treinys et al. 2014). Caution should be used, though in extrapolating data using high concentration of agonists in vitro with imperfect selectivity (and potential off-target effects on B1-2ARs).

4 Beta-3 Adrenoceptor in the Failing Heart

The physiological implications of B3AR in the cardiovascular system have been firstly examined on isolated cardiac muscle specimens from non-failing hearts with uncontrolled preloading conditions using high doses of agonists, such as BRL37344 (up to 1 μ M) and revealed a decrease of contraction force in unloaded human cardiac biopsies (Gauthier et al. 1996); an effect reproduced in identical models from several mammalian species such as dog and rat (Gauthier et al. 1999; Imbrogno et al. 2015). Contrary to the classical positive inotropic effect observed for B1-2AR in most physiological situations, B3AR has been further confirmed by several groups (Amour et al. 2007; Cheng et al. 2001; Idigo et al. 2012) to act as a countervailing "brake" to prevent adrenergic overactivation (Gauthier et al. 1996; Moniotte et al. 2001a). Despite some variability depending on the species used and the variation in expression levels of B3AR, such negative inotropic action of B3AR has been observed in non-failing cardiac preparations from many species from mammals to teleosts and amphibians (Imbrogno et al. 2015).

 β 3AR is expressed in human myocardial cells and has been found in atrial and ventricular cardiac myocytes as well as in endothelial cells (Dessy et al. 2004; Gauthier et al. 1998, 1996). Ventricular expression may well be implicated in the modulation of cardiac ventricular relaxation, possibly through the activation of NOS (Angelone et al. 2008; Dessy et al. 2004) and the downstream cGMP-PKG pathway. B3AR coupling to eNOS and nNOS could mediate beneficial effects of exercise on the heart (Calvert et al. 2011) as well as myocardial protection in the setting of ischemia/reperfusion in mice (Aragon et al. 2011). Additional cellular work pointed to Akt/NO mediated prevention of mitochondrial permeability transition pore (mPTP) opening as one underlying mechanism (Garcia-Prieto et al. 2014).

The potential negative inotropic effect mediated by B3AR led the scientific community to thoroughly investigate the potential role of B3AR in the context of heart failure. Our group showed that B3AR expression is upregulated in the diseased myocardium following the development of hypertrophy or heart failure (Moniotte et al. 2001a), while being resistant to agonist-induced desensitization (Nantel et al. 1993). Studies performed in vivo in large animals or models of heart failure gave rise to divergent results. Although some conclude that there is a negative inotropic effect (mainly in heart failure models) (Cheng et al. 2001), others do not (Bundgaard et al.

2010; Donckier et al. 2001). The reasons for this discrepancy include the type and dose of agonist used (with high doses of unspecific agonists producing opposing positive inotropic effects) and control for reflex orthosympathetic reaction to intense peripheral vasodilatation (Donckier et al. 2001). One study concluded that, in goat, there is a small negative inotropic effect in healthy animals and an improvement of inotropic parameters in the context of heart failure (Bundgaard et al. 2010). This was attributed to the preservation of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase function in failing cardiac myocytes that would decrease intracellular Na⁺ content. Interestingly, reductions in Na⁺ content and late Na⁺ current were otherwise proposed to improve relaxation, which would be particularly helpful in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) (Maier 2009) in addition to the direct regulation of myocyte EC coupling.

B3AR may regulate cardiac function through paracrine effects from the coronary endothelium as well. As B3AR activates NO- and EDHF-dependent vasorelaxation in human coronary resistance vessels (Dessy et al. 2004), activation of B3ARs in the coronary microvascular endothelium would also induce vasorelaxation (Dessy et al. 2004), thereby promoting myocardial perfusion together with left ventricular relaxation through paracrine NO release. Finally, expression of B3AR in the pulmonary arterial vasculature in some species (Dumas et al. 1998; Tagaya et al. 1999) could contribute to attenuate pulmonary vasoconstriction and reduce pre-capillary pulmonary hypertension. These direct and indirect mechanisms concur to modulate chronic myocardial remodeling.

The coupling of B3AR to the nitric oxide/cyclic GMP pathway results in an effect on contractility antipathetic to classical B1-2AR positive inotropic effects (Gauthier et al. 1998). As ample evidence pointed out, the sustained activation of B1-2AR has adverse effect on cardiac function, due to receptor desensitization/internalization, loss of contractile/frequency reserve, adverse remodeling, calcium overload, and myocyte loss. We reasoned that activation of the functionally antipathetic B3AR would protect against such deleterious effects of chronic adrenergic stimulation. To test this hypothesis, we used the transgenic mouse model mentioned above, with a cardiac myocyte-specific expression of the human B3AR, and submitted these mice and their littermate controls to a number of interventions leading to myocardial stress (i.e., mini-pump or intraperitoneal infusions of isoproterenol or angiotensin II, transaortic constriction (TAC)). We showed that B3AR attenuates cardiac myocyte hypertrophy in response to continuous or repetitive infusion of isoproterenol or angiotensin II (Belge et al. 2014). This was evident from a reduction of morphometric indexes (LV/TL ex vivo, echocardiography in vivo) as well as reduced myocyte transverse area in parallel with reduced re-expression of the fetal gene program typically accompanying hypertrophy. The results uniformly showed protection of the transgenic mice from the development of pathologic remodeling contrary to the WT controls (Belge et al. 2014). Importantly, this was not at the expense of LV function, which remained normal. To precisely analyze the affected signaling in cardiac myocytes, we developed a model of rat neonatal cardiac myocytes with adenoviral expression of the human B3AR (or GFP control) in which we showed a reduction of hypertrophy in response to three different agonists (phenylephrine, endothelin-1, and isoproterenol). Using NOS inhibitors, we observed that the anti-
hypertrophic effect of B3AR was NO-dependent, as NOS inhibition abrogated the protection in vitro and in vivo. Mechanistically, we showed that one of the potential targets of the B3AR was the Nuclear Factor of Activated T-cells (NFAT), the transcriptional activity of which was attenuated upon B3AR expression (Belge et al. 2014). Additionally, B3AR expression also greatly reduced myocardial interstitial fibrosis in response to isoproterenol and angiotensin II infusions, in the absence of changes in myocyte death or apoptosis. As the receptor is exclusively expressed in cardiac myocytes in our transgenic model, this suggested a paracrine signaling by B3AR to neighboring cells. Indeed, we could model this in vitro, using a system where the culture supernatant of B3AR expressing cardiac myocytes was superfused on cardiac fibroblasts cultured separately. Using this system, we observed the antifibrotic effect of B3AR mediated by its antioxidant properties.

5 Beta-3 Adrenergic in Preclinical Model of Cardiac Remodeling

On the basis of our observations in transgenic mice, one can assume that the B3AR upregulation is a protective mechanism in the face of myocardial stress. As the B3AR is typically activated by higher catecholamines concentrations (than B1-2AR), it is possible that this protective pathway is not maximally recruited even in circumstances of pathophysiological adrenergic activation. This would leave a therapeutic margin for an additional activation by a potent and specific B3AR agonist. With this aim, B3AR agonists have been tested in several preclinical models. Consistently with data obtained from transgenic mice models, protective effects of B3AR were reported with preferential B3AR agonists (BRL37344) in mice submitted to TAC, preventing myocardial remodeling with decreased hypertrophy and preserving LV function (Niu et al. 2012). The implication of NOS (i.e., specifically nNOS) in the protection was further supported from the loss of protection in NOS1-KO mice.

In a large animal model of HF such as sheep with chronic rapid pacing, B3AR agonists even produce an improvement of LV function, possibly due to cGMP-dependent preservation of Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase activity (Bundgaard et al. 2010). More recently, the role of B3AR was examined in the protection afforded by B1AR blockade in a dog model of heart failure due to volume overload (mitral regurgitation) (Trappanese et al. 2015). The study showed that metoprolol promoted the upregulation of B3AR expression, and in specific membrane microdomains the interaction and activation of nNOS, followed by downstream cGMP production. This was attributed to protection from oxidation of the soluble guanylyl cyclase under B1AR blockade. Therefore, some of the cardioprotective effects of B1AR blockade may well result from enhanced expression and coupling of B3AR to NO/cGMP in the remodeled heart. The effect of B3AR agonists was recently replicated in a large porcine animal model, in which pre-perfusion of the B3AR agonist, BRL37344, reduced reperfusion damage and improved long-term LV function.

Finally, the B3AR agonist properties of nebivolol conferred superior efficacy over metoprolol in protecting the infarcted mouse heart from adverse remodeling; this was associated with better preserved endothelial-dependent vasodilatation, progenitor cells mobilization, and functional recovery (Sorrentino et al. 2011). Mechanistically, nebivolol exerted a potent inhibition of NADPH oxidase activity and superoxide production that, in endothelial cells, was not sensitive to B1 (or -2) AR blockade, but abrogated by full B1-2-3 blockade, pointing to B3AR activation. Interestingly, we also showed that B3AR agonist properties of nebivolol promote neoangiogenesis (Dessy et al. 2005), which could favor myocardial revascularization.

All these protective effects at the myocardial level are probably reinforced from indirect effects in peripheral cells/tissues, i.e., through coronary vasodilatation via B3AR-induced endothelial-dependent relaxation (see above) as well as paracrine release of NO and its effects to improve LV relaxation. Moreover, the antioxidant effects of B3AR signaling may preserve the endothelium of the microvasculature from oxidative activation and the ensuing recruitment of monocytes initiating subendothelial inflammation at the core of sustained endothelial dysfunction. Whether this will prevent chronic development of vascular atherosclerosis or chronic development of diastolic dysfunction initiating HFpEF (Lim et al. 2015) will have to be tested with long-term interventions.

In summary, using preclinical models, we demonstrated that the activation of B3AR attenuates myocardial hypertrophy and fibrosis in response to neurohormonal or hemodynamic stresses, without compromising LV function (Belge et al. 2014), an effect mediated by the activation of the NOS/cGMP pathway. Furthermore, by preventing the inactivation of the Na⁺-K⁺-ATPase, B3AR participates to decrease intracellular Na⁺ content by maintaining the pump activity in the face of oxidant stress (Bundgaard et al.). Altogether, these results suggest an antioxidant role of B3AR signaling that would contribute to maintain vasodilatory responses in disease as well as important paracrine protective signaling. Therefore, cardiac β 3AR may represent a promising target in the treatment of the failing heart by the use of B3AR agonist. This strategy may be superior to the use of sGC activators/ stimulators because β 3AR agonists will activate the NOS/cGMP pathway in a receptor-regulated way, as opposed to indiscriminate activation in all tissues by the sGC activators/stimulators, which results in hypotension as a limiting side effect; the β 3AR may then be an attractive target to prevent adverse remodeling in the face of chronic adrenergic stimulation, all the more because it is distinctively resistant to homologous desensitization and retains coupling to downstream signaling in the pathologic heart, as demonstrated by us in human diseased myocardium ex vivo (Moniotte et al. 2001a).

6 Potential Protective Effect of Beta-3 AR and Clinical Studies

Highly specific B3AR agonists are needed in order to clinically test the additional beneficial effect of activation of β 3-adrenergic receptors. As for beta-blockers commonly used post-myocardial infarction or in chronic heart failure, such as metoprolol, bisoprolol, and carvedilol, their affinity and inhibitory properties at native human cardiac B3AR have not been thoroughly characterized; however, the comparison of their pharmacologic properties using recombinant human B3AR in cellular heterologous expression systems showed that metoprolol and bisoprolol have a high affinity for B1AR, as expected, with no binding to B3AR, whereas carvedilol nonselectively binds B1- and B2AR, and has 100-fold lower affinity for B3AR; none of the three molecules exhibited significant agonism or inverse agonism at B3AR (Hoffmann et al. 2004).

Recently, a new, specific agonist at human β 3AR, mirabegron, was developed and approved in Europe, the USA, and Japan for the treatment of overactive bladder disease, a urological condition characterized by frequent micturition, where the drug was shown to improve bladder filling through its myorelaxant properties mediated by activation of B3AR in the detrusor muscle (Vij and Drake 2015). Compared with previous preferential agonists, it has superior specificity (for B3AR as opposed to β 1-2AR) with a well-documented bioavailability and little potential for adverse effects resulting from drug interactions. Mirabegron is metabolized by CYP3A4 and is a (weak) inhibitor of CYP2D6 and P-GP; it is also eliminated by urinary excretion. Furthermore, clinical data from the mirabegron clinical studies in overactive bladder disease pointed out no cardiovascular complications in the clinical trial populations. Following mirabegron treatment, an increase of approximately 1 bpm in heart rate and an increase in systolic blood pressure of <1 mmHg were observed which was not associated with increased cardiovascular complications (European Medicines Agency mirabegron EPAR report EMA/706651/2012). Therefore, the recent availability of this new drug offers the possibility to test the potential benefit of mirabegron (vs placebo) as add-on therapy (on top of standard care) to prevent/ delay myocardial remodeling in patients at high risk of developing HFpEF.

To test this postulate, we designed a phase IIb, prospective, placebo-controlled randomized trial testing the effect of mirabegron to prevent or reverse the LV hypertrophic remodeling of patients with structural heart disease (Beta3lvh trial; stage B, AHA; measured by cardiac MRI) who are at risk of developing HFpEF (a frequent complication of cardiac remodeling) (Komajda and Lam 2014). Accordingly, the progression of cardiac hypertrophy and the development of fibrosis are specifically measured in patients at the early stages of the disease, who are at risk of development or worsening of HFpEF; these parameters are quantified by stateof-the-art techniques using cardiac MRI for ventricular hypertrophy and fibrosis, and Doppler echocardiography for diastolic function. Sequential measurements of cardiac fibrosis, exercise tolerance, metabolic parameters as well as specific biomarkers reflective of myocardial remodeling and function are prospectively measured in parallel. Our study is based on a principle of "drug repurposing" for a new cardiovascular indication. This investigator-initiated, academic trial involves 12 European partners with nine clinical recruitment sites and is funded by the European Commission under the Horizon 2020 programme. The study officially started on May 1, 2015 and is expected to end in the spring of 2020 (ISRCTN 65055502).

In addition, in a transdisciplinary endeavor, the effect of mirabegron is measured both on endothelial function (both by digital microtonometry and direct measurement of circulating NO in erythrocytes (Lobysheva et al. 2013)) and on the abundance/ activity of beige/brown fat (measured by ¹⁸FDG-PET combined with CT scan); this is justified from the increasingly recognized paracrine influence of the endothelium on cardiac remodeling and the recent (re)discovery of human beige/brown fat that may influence peripheral and cardiac metabolism. Indeed, although the role of brown fat on thermogenesis and energy expenditure is clearly established in rodent models, the unequivocal identification of residual brown fat in adult humans was only provided recently (Cypess et al. 2009; van Marken Lichtenbelt et al. 2009; Virtanen et al. 2009) and opened new possibilities for the treatment of human diseases with caloric overload, i.e., obesity and metabolic syndrome (Nedergaard and Cannon 2014). Indeed, B3AR expressed in human beige/brown adipocytes mediates adrenergic fatty acids beta-oxidation (Cypess et al. 2015). Therefore, systemic administration of B3AR agonists may confer additional cardiovascular protection by improving the metabolic status, i.e., decreased triglyceridemia, and decreased obesity, with indirect effects on insulin sensitivity and hypertension. Again, small clinical trials with nebivolol (which has ancillary B3AR agonist properties) (Dessy et al. 2005) hint at additional metabolic protective effects compared with "pure" B1AR blockers (Ayers et al. 2012).

7 Conclusion

The unique signaling by B3AR in cardiovascular (and peripheral) tissues explains its protective effects against myocardial remodeling in preclinical models. This translates into reduced myocardial hypertrophy, reduced fibrosis, and preserved coronary perfusion that ultimately should lead to preserved/improved ventricular function, especially in the context of cardiovascular risk factors with increased oxidant stress and endothelial dysfunction. The results of the ongoing Beta3lvh (and possibly other) trials with specific B3AR agonists will tell whether this prediction is verified, which should lead to the addition of this class of drugs to the therapeutic armamentarium for heart failure.

References

Ahmet I, Krawczyk M, Heller P, Moon C, Lakatta EG, Talan MI (2004) Beneficial effects of chronic pharmacological manipulation of beta-adrenoreceptor subtype signaling in rodent dilated ischemic cardiomyopathy. Circulation 110:1083–1090. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000139844.15045.F9

- Amour J, Loyer X, Le Guen M, Mabrouk N, David JS, Camors E, Carusio N, Vivien B, Andriantsitohaina R, Heymes C, Riou B (2007) Altered contractile response due to increased beta3-adrenoceptor stimulation in diabetic cardiomyopathy: the role of nitric oxide synthase 1-derived nitric oxide. Anesthesiology 107:452–460. doi:10.1097/01.anes.0000278909.40408. 24
- Angelone T, Filice E, Quintieri AM, Imbrogno S, Recchia A, Pulera E, Mannarino C, Pellegrino D, Cerra MC (2008) Beta3-adrenoceptors modulate left ventricular relaxation in the rat heart via the NO-cGMP-PKG pathway. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 193:229–239. doi:10.1111/j.1748-1716.2008. 01838.x
- Aragon JP, Condit ME, Bhushan S, Predmore BL, Patel SS, Grinsfelder DB, Gundewar S, Jha S, Calvert JW, Barouch LA, Lavu M, Wright HM, Lefer DJ (2011) Beta3-adrenoreceptor stimulation ameliorates myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury via endothelial nitric oxide synthase and neuronal nitric oxide synthase activation. J Am Coll Cardiol 58:2683–2691. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.09.033
- Ayers K, Byrne LM, DeMatteo A, Brown NJ (2012) Differential effects of nebivolol and metoprolol on insulin sensitivity and plasminogen activator inhibitor in the metabolic syndrome. Hypertension 59:893–898. doi:10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.189589
- Belge C, Hammond J, Dubois-Deruy E, Manoury B, Hamelet J, Beauloye C, Markl A, Pouleur AC, Bertrand L, Esfahani H, Jnaoui K, Gotz KR, Nikolaev VO, Vanderper A, Herijgers P, Lobysheva I, Iaccarino G, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Tavernier G, Langin D, Dessy C, Balligand JL (2014) Enhanced expression of beta3-adrenoceptors in cardiac myocytes attenuates neurohormone-induced hypertrophic remodeling through nitric oxide synthase. Circulation 129:451–462. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.004940
- Bristow MR (2000) Beta-adrenergic receptor blockade in chronic heart failure. Circulation 101:558–569
- Bristow MR, Ginsburg R, Minobe W, Cubicciotti RS, Sageman WS, Lurie K, Billingham ME, Harrison DC, Stinson EB (1982) Decreased catecholamine sensitivity and beta-adrenergicreceptor density in failing human hearts. N Engl J Med 307:205–211. doi:10.1056/ NEJM198207223070401
- Bristow MR, Hershberger RE, Port JD, Gilbert EM, Sandoval A, Rasmussen R, Cates AE, Feldman AM (1990) Beta-adrenergic pathways in nonfailing and failing human ventricular myocardium. Circulation 82:I12–I25
- Brodde OE (1991) Beta 1- and beta 2-adrenoceptors in the human heart: properties, function, and alterations in chronic heart failure. Pharmacol Rev 43:203–242
- Brodde OE (1993) Beta-adrenoceptors in cardiac disease. Pharmacol Ther 60:405-430
- Bundgaard H, Liu CC, Garcia A, Hamilton EJ, Huang Y, Chia KK, Hunyor SN, Figtree GA, Rasmussen HH (2010) Beta(3) adrenergic stimulation of the cardiac Na+-K+ pump by reversal of an inhibitory oxidative modification. Circulation 122:2699–2708. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.110.964619
- Calvert JW, Condit ME, Aragon JP, Nicholson CK, Moody BF, Hood RL, Sindler AL, Gundewar S, Seals DR, Barouch LA, Lefer DJ (2011) Exercise protects against myocardial ischemia-reperfusion injury via stimulation of beta(3)-adrenergic receptors and increased nitric oxide signaling: role of nitrite and nitrosothiols. Circ Res 108:1448–1458. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.111.241117
- Candelore MR, Deng L, Tota LM, Kelly LJ, Cascieri MA, Strader CD (1996) Pharmacological characterization of a recently described human beta 3-adrenergic receptor mutant. Endocrinology 137:2638–2641. doi:10.1210/endo.137.6.8641219
- Cheng HJ, Zhang ZS, Onishi K, Ukai T, Sane DC, Cheng CP (2001) Upregulation of functional beta(3)-adrenergic receptor in the failing canine myocardium. Circ Res 89:599–606
- Chesley A, Lundberg MS, Asai T, Xiao RP, Ohtani S, Lakatta EG, Crow MT (2000) The beta(2)adrenergic receptor delivers an antiapoptotic signal to cardiac myocytes through G(i)dependent coupling to phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase. Circ Res 87:1172–1179

- Chruscinski AJ, Rohrer DK, Schauble E, Desai KH, Bernstein D, Kobilka BK (1999) Targeted disruption of the beta2 adrenergic receptor gene. J Biol Chem 274:16694–16700
- Chu G, Lester JW, Young KB, Luo W, Zhai J, Kranias EG (2000) A single site (Ser16) phosphorylation in phospholamban is sufficient in mediating its maximal cardiac responses to betaagonists. J Biol Chem 275:38938–38943. doi:10.1074/jbc.M004079200
- Cypess AM, Lehman S, Williams G, Tal I, Rodman D, Goldfine AB, Kuo FC, Palmer EL, Tseng YH, Doria A, Kolodny GM, Kahn CR (2009) Identification and importance of brown adipose tissue in adult humans. N Engl J Med 360:1509–1517. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0810780
- Cypess AM, Weiner LS, Roberts-Toler C, Franquet Elia E, Kessler SH, Kahn PA, English J, Chatman K, Trauger SA, Doria A, Kolodny GM (2015) Activation of human brown adipose tissue by a beta3-adrenergic receptor agonist. Cell Metab 21:33–38. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2014. 12.009
- Daaka Y, Luttrell LM, Lefkowitz RJ (1997) Switching of the coupling of the beta2-adrenergic receptor to different G proteins by protein kinase A. Nature 390:88–91. doi:10.1038/36362
- Danielsen W, v der Leyen H, Meyer W, Neumann J, Schmitz W, Scholz H, Starbatty J, Stein B, Doring V, Kalmar P (1989) Basal and isoprenaline-stimulated cAMP content in failing versus nonfailing human cardiac preparations. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 14:171–173
- Dash R, Kadambi V, Schmidt AG, Tepe NM, Biniakiewicz D, Gerst MJ, Canning AM, Abraham WT, Hoit BD, Liggett SB, Lorenz JN, Dorn GW 2nd, Kranias EG (2001) Interactions between phospholamban and beta-adrenergic drive may lead to cardiomyopathy and early mortality. Circulation 103:889–896
- de Luis DA, Aller R, Izaola O, Gonzalez Sagrado M, Conde R (2008) Relation of Trp64Arg polymorphism of beta 3-adrenergic receptor gene to adipocytokines and fat distribution in obese patients. Ann Nutr Metab 52:267–271. doi:10.1159/000144047
- Dessy C, Balligand JL (2010) Beta3-adrenergic receptors in cardiac and vascular tissues emerging concepts and therapeutic perspectives. Adv Pharmacol 59:135–163. doi:10.1016/S1054-3589 (10)59005-7
- Dessy C, Moniotte S, Ghisdal P, Havaux X, Noirhomme P, Balligand JL (2004) Endothelial beta3adrenoceptors mediate vasorelaxation of human coronary microarteries through nitric oxide and endothelium-dependent hyperpolarization. Circulation 110:948–954. doi:10.1161/01.CIR. 0000139331.85766.AF
- Dessy C, Saliez J, Ghisdal P, Daneau G, Lobysheva II, Frerart F, Belge C, Jnaoui K, Noirhomme P, Feron O, Balligand JL (2005) Endothelial beta3-adrenoreceptors mediate nitric oxide-dependent vasorelaxation of coronary microvessels in response to the third-generation beta-blocker nebivolol. Circulation 112:1198–1205. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.104.532960
- Dincer UD, Bidasee KR, Guner S, Tay A, Ozcelikay AT, Altan VM (2001) The effect of diabetes on expression of beta1-, beta2-, and beta3-adrenoreceptors in rat hearts. Diabetes 50:455–461
- Donckier JE, Massart PE, Van Mechelen H, Heyndrickx GR, Gauthier C, Balligand JL (2001) Cardiovascular effects of beta 3-adrenoceptor stimulation in perinephritic hypertension. Eur J Clin Invest 31:681–689
- Dumas M, Dumas JP, Bardou M, Rochette L, Advenier C, Giudicelli JF (1998) Influence of betaadrenoceptor agonists on the pulmonary circulation. Effects of a beta3-adrenoceptor antagonist, SR 59230A. Eur J Pharmacol 348:223–228
- Edwards G, Feletou M, Weston AH (2010) Endothelium-derived hyperpolarising factors and associated pathways: a synopsis. Pflugers Arch 459:863–879. doi:10.1007/s00424-010-0817-1
- Emorine LJ, Marullo S, Briend-Sutren MM, Patey G, Tate K, Delavier-Klutchko C, Strosberg AD (1989) Molecular characterization of the human beta 3-adrenergic receptor. Science 245:1118–1121
- Engelhardt S, Bohm M, Erdmann E, Lohse MJ (1996) Analysis of beta-adrenergic receptor mRNA levels in human ventricular biopsy specimens by quantitative polymerase chain reactions: progressive reduction of beta 1-adrenergic receptor mRNA in heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 27:146–154. doi:10.1016/0735-1097(95)00425-4

- Eschenhagen T (1993) G proteins and the heart. Cell Biol Int 17:723–749. doi:10.1006/cbir.1993. 1135
- Fatima T, Altaf S, Phipps-Green A, Topless R, Flynn TJ, Stamp LK, Dalbeth N, Merriman TR (2016) Association analysis of the beta-3 adrenergic receptor Trp64Arg (rs4994) polymorphism with urate and gout. Rheumatol Int 36:255–261. doi:10.1007/s00296-015-3370-6
- Feldman MD, Alderman JD, Aroesty JM, Royal HD, Ferguson JJ, Owen RM, Grossman W, McKay RG (1988) Depression of systolic and diastolic myocardial reserve during atrial pacing tachycardia in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. J Clin Invest 82:1661–1669. doi:10.1172/ JCI113778
- Garcia-Prieto J, Garcia-Ruiz JM, Sanz-Rosa D, Pun A, Garcia-Alvarez A, Davidson SM, Fernandez-Friera L, Nuno-Ayala M, Fernandez-Jimenez R, Bernal JA, Izquierdo-Garcia JL, Jimenez-Borreguero J, Pizarro G, Ruiz-Cabello J, Macaya C, Fuster V, Yellon DM, Ibanez B (2014) Beta3 adrenergic receptor selective stimulation during ischemia/reperfusion improves cardiac function in translational models through inhibition of mPTP opening in cardiomyocytes. Basic Res Cardiol 109:422. doi:10.1007/s00395-014-0422-0
- Gauthier C, Tavernier G, Charpentier F, Langin D, Le Marec H (1996) Functional beta3adrenoceptor in the human heart. J Clin Invest 98:556–562. doi:10.1172/JCI118823
- Gauthier C, Leblais V, Kobzik L, Trochu JN, Khandoudi N, Bril A, Balligand JL, Le Marec H (1998) The negative inotropic effect of beta3-adrenoceptor stimulation is mediated by activation of a nitric oxide synthase pathway in human ventricle. J Clin Invest 102:1377–1384. doi:10.1172/JCI2191
- Gauthier C, Tavernier G, Trochu JN, Leblais V, Laurent K, Langin D, Escande D, Le Marec H (1999) Interspecies differences in the cardiac negative inotropic effects of beta(3)-adrenoceptor agonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 290:687–693
- Gauthier C, Langin D, Balligand JL (2000) Beta3-adrenoceptors in the cardiovascular system. Trends Pharmacol Sci 21:426–431
- He JQ, Balijepalli RC, Haworth RA, Kamp TJ (2005) Crosstalk of beta-adrenergic receptor subtypes through Gi blunts beta-adrenergic stimulation of L-type Ca2+ channels in canine heart failure. Circ Res 97:566–573. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000181160.31851.05
- Hoffmann C, Leitz MR, Oberdorf-Maass S, Lohse MJ, Klotz KN (2004) Comparative pharmacology of human beta-adrenergic receptor subtypes – characterization of stably transfected receptors in CHO cells. Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol 369:151–159. doi:10.1007/ s00210-003-0860-y
- Idigo WO, Reilly S, Zhang MH, Zhang YH, Jayaram R, Carnicer R, Crabtree MJ, Balligand JL, Casadei B (2012) Regulation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (NOS) S-glutathionylation by neuronal NOS: evidence of a functional interaction between myocardial constitutive NOS isoforms. J Biol Chem 287:43665–43673. doi:10.1074/jbc.M112.412031
- Imbrogno S, Gattuso A, Mazza R, Angelone T, Cerra MC (2015) Beta3-AR and the vertebrate heart: a comparative view. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 214:158–175. doi:10.1111/apha.12493
- Ishikawa Y, Sorota S, Kiuchi K, Shannon RP, Komamura K, Katsushika S, Vatner DE, Vatner SF, Homcy CJ (1994) Downregulation of adenylylcyclase types V and VI mRNA levels in pacinginduced heart failure in dogs. J Clin Invest 93:2224–2229. doi:10.1172/JCI117219
- Karimi Galougahi K, Liu CC, Garcia A, Fry NA, Hamilton EJ, Figtree GA, Rasmussen HH (2015) Beta3-adrenoceptor activation relieves oxidative inhibition of the cardiac Na+-K+ pump in hyperglycemia induced by insulin receptor blockade. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 309:C286– C295. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00071.2015
- Kiuchi K, Shannon RP, Komamura K, Cohen DJ, Bianchi C, Homcy CJ, Vatner SF, Vatner DE (1993) Myocardial beta-adrenergic receptor function during the development of pacinginduced heart failure. J Clin Invest 91:907–914. doi:10.1172/JCI116312
- Komajda M, Lam CS (2014) Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a clinical dilemma. Eur Heart J 35:1022–1032. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu067

- Kou R, Michel T (2007) Epinephrine regulation of the endothelial nitric-oxide synthase: roles of RAC1 and beta3-adrenergic receptors in endothelial NO signaling. J Biol Chem 282:32719–32729. doi:10.1074/jbc.M706815200
- Kruger M, Kotter S, Grutzner A, Lang P, Andresen C, Redfield MM, Butt E, dos Remedios CG, Linke WA (2009) Protein kinase G modulates human myocardial passive stiffness by phosphorylation of the titin springs. Circ Res 104:87–94. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108.184408
- Lefkowitz RJ, Haber E, O'Hara D (1972) Identification of the cardiac beta-adrenergic receptor protein: solubilization and purification by affinity chromatography. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 69:2828–2832
- Liggett SB, Freedman NJ, Schwinn DA, Lefkowitz RJ (1993) Structural basis for receptor subtype-specific regulation revealed by a chimeric beta 3/beta 2-adrenergic receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 90:3665–3669
- Lim SL, Lam CS, Segers VF, Brutsaert DL, De Keulenaer GW (2015) Cardiac endotheliummyocyte interaction: clinical opportunities for new heart failure therapies regardless of ejection fraction. Eur Heart J 36:2050–2060. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv132
- Lobysheva II, Biller P, Gallez B, Beauloye C, Balligand JL (2013) Nitrosylated hemoglobin levels in human venous erythrocytes correlate with vascular endothelial function measured by digital reactive hyperemia. PLoS One 8:e76457. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0076457
- Longabaugh JP, Vatner DE, Vatner SF, Homcy CJ (1988) Decreased stimulatory guanosine triphosphate binding protein in dogs with pressure-overload left ventricular failure. J Clin Invest 81:420–424. doi:10.1172/JCI113335
- Longhurst JC (1990) Coronary arteriolar vasoconstriction in myocardial ischaemia: reflexes, sympathetic nervous system, catecholamines. Eur Heart J 11(Suppl B):43–52
- Mahata SK, Zheng H, Mahata S, Liu X, Patel KP (2016) Effect of heart failure on catecholamine granule morphology and storage in chromaffin cells. J Endocrinol 230:309–323. doi:10.1530/ JOE-16-0146
- Maier LS (2009) A novel mechanism for the treatment of angina, arrhythmias, and diastolic dysfunction: inhibition of late I(Na) using ranolazine. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 54:279–286. doi:10.1097/FJC.0b013e3181a1b9e7
- Malik SG, Saraswati MR, Suastika K, Trimarsanto H, Oktavianthi S, Sudoyo H (2011) Association of beta3-adrenergic receptor (ADRB3) Trp64Arg gene polymorphism with obesity and metabolic syndrome in the Balinese: a pilot study. BMC Res Notes 4:167. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-4-167
- Manning CD, McLaughlin MM, Livi GP, Cieslinski LB, Torphy TJ, Barnette MS (1996) Prolonged beta adrenoceptor stimulation up-regulates cAMP phosphodiesterase activity in human monocytes by increasing mRNA and protein for phosphodiesterases 4A and 4B. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 276:810–818
- Massion PB, Dessy C, Desjardins F, Pelat M, Havaux X, Belge C, Moulin P, Guiot Y, Feron O, Janssens S, Balligand JL (2004) Cardiomyocyte-restricted overexpression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS3) attenuates beta-adrenergic stimulation and reinforces vagal inhibition of cardiac contraction. Circulation 110:2666–2672. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000145608.80855. BC
- Moniotte S, Kobzik L, Feron O, Trochu JN, Gauthier C, Balligand JL (2001a) Upregulation of beta (3)-adrenoceptors and altered contractile response to inotropic amines in human failing myocardium. Circulation 103:1649–1655
- Moniotte S, Vaerman JL, Kockx MM, Larrouy D, Langin D, Noirhomme P, Balligand JL (2001b) Real-time RT-PCR for the detection of beta-adrenoceptor messenger RNAs in small human endomyocardial biopsies. J Mol Cell Cardiol 33:2121–2133. doi:10.1006/jmcc.2001.1475
- Nantel F, Bonin H, Emorine LJ, Zilberfarb V, Strosberg AD, Bouvier M, Marullo S (1993) The human beta 3-adrenergic receptor is resistant to short term agonist-promoted desensitization. Mol Pharmacol 43:548–555
- Nedergaard J, Cannon B (2014) The browning of white adipose tissue: some burning issues. Cell Metab 20:396–407. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2014.07.005

- Neumann J, Schmitz W, Scholz H, von Meyerinck L, Doring V, Kalmar P (1988) Increase in myocardial Gi-proteins in heart failure. Lancet 2:936–937
- Niu X, Watts VL, Cingolani OH, Sivakumaran V, Leyton-Mange JS, Ellis CL, Miller KL, Vandegaer K, Bedja D, Gabrielson KL, Paolocci N, Kass DA, Barouch LA (2012) Cardioprotective effect of beta-3 adrenergic receptor agonism: role of neuronal nitric oxide synthase. J Am Coll Cardiol 59:1979–1987. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2011.12.046
- Patterson AJ, Zhu W, Chow A, Agrawal R, Kosek J, Xiao RP, Kobilka B (2004) Protecting the myocardium: a role for the beta2 adrenergic receptor in the heart. Crit Care Med 32:1041–1048
- Pitcher JA, Freedman NJ, Lefkowitz RJ (1998) G protein-coupled receptor kinases. Annu Rev Biochem 67:653–692. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.67.1.653
- Porta S, Rinner I, Egger G, Rangetiner B, Sadjak A (1985) Enhancement of adrenaline plasma-levels shortens adrenaline half-life. Horm Metab Res 17:264–265. doi:10.1055/s-2007-1013513
- Rohrer DK, Desai KH, Jasper JR, Stevens ME, Regula DP Jr, Barsh GS, Bernstein D, Kobilka BK (1996) Targeted disruption of the mouse beta1-adrenergic receptor gene: developmental and cardiovascular effects. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 93:7375–7380
- Rona G (1985) Catecholamine cardiotoxicity. J Mol Cell Cardiol 17:291-306
- Saeed M, Sommer O, Holtz J, Bassenge E (1982) Alpha-adrenoceptor blockade by phentolamine causes beta-adrenergic vasodilation by increased catecholamine release due to presynaptic alpha-blockade. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 4:44–52
- Schwinger RH, Munch G, Bolck B, Karczewski P, Krause EG, Erdmann E (1999) Reduced Ca(2+)sensitivity of SERCA 2a in failing human myocardium due to reduced serin-16 phospholamban phosphorylation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 31:479–491
- Skeberdis VA, Gendviliene V, Zablockaite D, Treinys R, Macianskiene R, Bogdelis A, Jurevicius J, Fischmeister R (2008) Beta3-adrenergic receptor activation increases human atrial tissue contractility and stimulates the L-type Ca2+ current. J Clin Invest 118:3219–3227. doi:10.1172/ JCI32519
- Sorrentino SA, Doerries C, Manes C, Speer T, Dessy C, Lobysheva I, Mohmand W, Akbar R, Bahlmann F, Besler C, Schaefer A, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Luscher TF, Balligand JL, Drexler H, Landmesser U (2011) Nebivolol exerts beneficial effects on endothelial function, early endothelial progenitor cells, myocardial neovascularization, and left ventricular dysfunction early after myocardial infarction beyond conventional beta1-blockade. J Am Coll Cardiol 57:601–611. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2010.09.037
- Susulic VS, Frederich RC, Lawitts J, Tozzo E, Kahn BB, Harper ME, Himms-Hagen J, Flier JS, Lowell BB (1995) Targeted disruption of the beta 3-adrenergic receptor gene. J Biol Chem 270:29483–29492
- Swedberg K, Eneroth P, Kjekshus J, Wilhelmsen L (1990) Hormones regulating cardiovascular function in patients with severe congestive heart failure and their relation to mortality. CONSENSUS Trial Study Group. Circulation 82:1730–1736
- Tagaya E, Tamaoki J, Takemura H, Isono K, Nagai A (1999) Atypical adrenoceptor-mediated relaxation of canine pulmonary artery through a cyclic adenosine monophosphate-dependent pathway. Lung 177:321–332
- Trappanese DM, Liu Y, McCormick RC, Cannavo A, Nanayakkara G, Baskharoun MM, Jarrett H, Woitek FJ, Tillson DM, Dillon AR, Recchia FA, Balligand JL, Houser SR, Koch WJ, Dell'Italia LJ, Tsai EJ (2015) Chronic beta1-adrenergic blockade enhances myocardial beta3-adrenergic coupling with nitric oxide-cGMP signaling in a canine model of chronic volume overload: new insight into mechanisms of cardiac benefit with selective beta1-blocker therapy. Basic Res Cardiol 110:456. doi:10.1007/s00395-014-0456-3
- Treinys R, Zablockaite D, Gendviliene V, Jurevicius J, Skeberdis VA (2014) Beta(3)-Adrenergic regulation of L-type Ca(2)(+) current and force of contraction in human ventricle. J Membr Biol 247:309–318. doi:10.1007/s00232-014-9635-2
- van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Vanhommerig JW, Smulders NM, Drossaerts JM, Kemerink GJ, Bouvy ND, Schrauwen P, Teule GJ (2009) Cold-activated brown adipose tissue in healthy men. N Engl J Med 360:1500–1508. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0808718

- Vij M, Drake MJ (2015) Clinical use of the beta3 adrenoceptor agonist mirabegron in patients with overactive bladder syndrome. Ther Adv Urol 7:241–248. doi:10.1177/1756287215591763
- Virtanen KA, Lidell ME, Orava J, Heglind M, Westergren R, Niemi T, Taittonen M, Laine J, Savisto NJ, Enerback S, Nuutila P (2009) Functional brown adipose tissue in healthy adults. N Engl J Med 360:1518–1525. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0808949
- Watts VL, Sepulveda FM, Cingolani OH, Ho AS, Niu X, Kim R, Miller KL, Vandegaer K, Bedja D, Gabrielson KL, Rameau G, O'Rourke B, Kass DA, Barouch LA (2013) Anti-hypertrophic and anti-oxidant effect of beta3-adrenergic stimulation in myocytes requires differential neuronal NOS phosphorylation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 62:8–17. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2013.04.025
- Xiao RP, Ji X, Lakatta EG (1995) Functional coupling of the beta 2-adrenoceptor to a pertussis toxin-sensitive G protein in cardiac myocytes. Mol Pharmacol 47:322–329
- Zhu WZ, Zheng M, Koch WJ, Lefkowitz RJ, Kobilka BK, Xiao RP (2001) Dual modulation of cell survival and cell death by beta(2)-adrenergic signaling in adult mouse cardiac myocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98:1607–1612. doi:10.1073/pnas.98.4.1607

Novel sGC Stimulators and sGC Activators for the Treatment of Heart Failure

Stefanie Breitenstein, Lothar Roessig, Peter Sandner, and Kelly S. Lewis

Contents

1	Introduction	227			
2 Physiology and Pathophysiology of NO-sGC-cGMP Signaling in the Cardiovascul					
	System	228			
	2.1 Physiology	228			
	2.2 Pathophysiology	230			
3	Clinical Data of sGC Activators and Stimulators	234			
	3.1 sGC Activators	234			
	3.2 sGC Stimulators	236			
4	Conclusions	241			
Re	References				

Abstract

The burden of heart failure (HF) increases worldwide with an aging population, and there is a high unmet medical need in both, heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). The nitric oxide (NO) pathway is a key regulator in the cardiovascular system and modulates vascular tone and myocardial performance. Disruption of the NO-cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) signaling axis and impaired cGMP formation by endothelial dysfunction could lead to vasotone dysregulation, vascular and ventricular stiffening, fibrosis, and hypertrophy resulting in a decline of heart as well as kidney function. Therefore, the NO-cGMP pathway is a treatment target in heart failure. Exogenous NO donors such as nitrates have long been used for treatment of cardiovascular diseases but turned out to be limited by increased oxidative stress and tolerance. More recently, novel classes of drugs were discovered which enhance cGMP

S. Breitenstein (🖂) • L. Roessig • P. Sandner • K.S. Lewis

Bayer AG, Wuppertal 42069, Germany

e-mail: stefanie.breitenstein@bayer.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_100

production by targeting the NO receptor soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC). These compounds, the so-called sGC stimulators and sGC activators, are able to increase the enzymatic activity of sGC to generate cGMP independently of NO and have been developed to target this important signaling cascade in the cardiovascular system.

This review will focus on the role of sGC in cardiovascular (CV) physiology and disease and the pharmacological potential of sGC stimulators and sGC activators therein. Preclinical data will be reviewed and summarized, and available clinical data with riociguat and vericiguat, novel direct sGC stimulators, will be presented. Vericiguat is currently being studied in a Phase III clinical program for the treatment of heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF).

Keywords

Cardiovascular • Cinaciguat • Cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) • Heart failure (HF) • Nitric oxide (NO) • Riociguat • sGC stimulator • sGC activator • Soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) • Vericiguat

Abbreviations

Atrial natriuretic peptide
Brain natriuretic peptide
Coronary artery disease
Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
Chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension
Cardiovascular
Acute Hemodynamic Effects of Riociguat in Patients With Pulmo-
nary Hypertension Associated With Diastolic Heart Failure
Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
Guanylate cyclase
Guanosine triphosphate
Heart failure
HF with preserved ejection fraction
HF with reduced ejection fraction
Left Ventricular Systolic Dysfunction Associated With Pulmonary
Hypertension Riociguat Trial
Last observation carried forward
Left ventricle
Left ventricular end-diastolic pressure
Left ventricular ejection fraction
Mean pulmonary arterial pressure
Myocardial infarction

NO	Nitric oxide
NP	Natriuretic peptide
PAH	Pulmonary arterial hypertension
PDE	Phosphodiesterase
PDEi	Phosphodiesterase inhibitor
PDE5	Phosphodiesterase type 5
pGC	Particulate guanylate cyclase
PH	Pulmonary hypertension
PH-sLVD	Pulmonary hypertension associated with systolic left ventricular
	dysfunction
QoL	Quality of life
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RV	Right ventricle
sGC	Soluble guanylate cyclase
SOCRATES	Soluble guanylate cyclase stimulator in heart failure study

1 Introduction

Current standard therapies for heart failure (HF) and associated comorbidities have improved outcomes of patients with HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and led to prolonged life expectancy. However, event rates remain unacceptably high once HF events such as hospitalization or need for IV diuretics due to decompensation occur in patients who are receiving standard of care. In HF with preserved EF (HFpEF) currently no approved therapeutic regimen exists but treatment of etiological factors like hypertension or diabetes mellitus is recommended. Since the burden of HF increases worldwide with an aging population, there is still a tremendous medical need for new treatments. New effective treatment strategies are required that provide a mid- and long-term morbidity and mortality benefit and improvement in quality of life (QoL), in addition to short term symptom relief in both HFrEF and HFpEF.

For more than a century, nitrates have been empirically used to treat acute and chronic heart failure, and angina. Nitrates act by setting free nitric oxide (NO), the starting point of a signaling cascade with soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) in a central role and cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) as its second messenger. This evolving knowledge was rewarded in 1998 with the Nobel Prize in physiology or medicine awarded to three dedicated researchers for the discovery of the actual mechanism of action of NO in the body (http://www.nobelprize.org/nobel_prizes/medicine/laureates/1998/illpres/illpres.html). Since then, this pathway turned out to be one of the key regulators of cardiovascular function. This emerging knowledge led to substantial efforts in research and development to target this pathway to treat cardiovascular diseases. Since upstream increase of NO availability by nitrates is limited by tolerance, the requirement of biotransformation of nitrates into active NO donors, and the aggravation of endothelial dysfunction by formation of reactive

oxygen species, downstream therapeutic targets within this pathways were explored. Thus, current treatment strategies focus on inhibition of degradation of cGMP via phosphodiesterases (PDE), mainly PDE type 5 (PDE5) in those tissues where it is expressed, and generation of cGMP by direct, NO independent stimulation of the sGC. To date, preclinical and emerging clinical evidence support that cGMP enhancing therapy and in particular the stimulation of the sGC by novel sGC stimulators may have a beneficial role in the HF treatment strategy of the future. Large outcome trials yet have to confirm this hypothesis.

This review will focus on the role of sGC and the pharmacological enhancement of cGMP generation by sGC in cardiovascular disease and discuss the differential mode of action of novel sGC activators and stimulators. Preclinical and clinical data will be reviewed. In addition, data of the most advanced compound in this indication, vericiguat, which is currently being investigated in a large Phase III clinical outcome trial for patients with HFrEF, will be summarized.

2 Physiology and Pathophysiology of NO-sGC-cGMP Signaling in the Cardiovascular System

2.1 Physiology

The NO-sGC-cGMP pathway is a highly conserved signaling pathway which is indispensable for tissue and organ homeostasis and a key regulator within the cardiovascular system. The cascade starts with the formation of endogenous NO produced by endothelial cells by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS). NOS-derived NO diffuses to the neighboring tissue such as vascular smooth muscle cells or cardiomyocytes. In these cells, NO binds to the cytosolic enzyme sGC which serves as the receptor for NO. Binding of its endogenous ligand NO to the sGC catalyzes the conversion of guanosine triphosphate (GTP) to cGMP.

The cytosolic sGC is a heterodimeric protein which is formed by an α and a β subunit. The α subunit contains the NO-binding heme group, the β subunit the catalytic domain which forms cGMP out of GTP. As a second messenger, cGMP has been shown to activate cGMP dependent protein kinase G (PKG), PDEs as well as cyclic nucleotide-gated ion channels. Overall, cGMP increase and PKG activation results in the decrease of intracellular free calcium resulting in relaxation of vascular smooth muscle cells as one main physiological effect in the cardiovascular system (Fig. 1). The highest expression of sGC, however, is actually found in the heart muscle (Wilkins et al. 2014). In line with the predominant cardiac expression pattern, mice deficient in the alpha 1 subunit of sGC develop diastolic dysfunction with impaired LV relaxation and reduced cardiac output, in addition to increased systemic afterload (Buys et al. 2008). Moreover, it turned out that cGMP has next to this lusitropic also an antiinflammatory role by inhibiting P-selectin expression and leukocyte recruitment (Ahluwalia et al. 2004) as well as antifibrotic activity. cGMP is degraded by PDEs which together with sGC activity and NO availability regulate the NO-dependent cGMP pool in the cell. In addition, cGMP pools are regulated via



Fig. 1 sGC-derived cGMP generation in various cell types couples endothelial NO synthesis to function of organs including the heart and kidneys. cGMP is a second messenger of crucial importance to organ function. Reduced cGMP availability caused by NO deficiency due to endothelial dysfunction can be actively restored by sGC stimulation in smooth muscle cells, cardiomyocytes or fibroblasts, whereas PDE5 inhibition can only inhibit cGMP degradation. Restoration of cGMP signaling has beneficial effects in hearts, blood vessels, and kidneys and could also impact on adipose tissue. *L*-Arg L-Arginin, O_2^- peroxide, *ONOO⁻* peroxynitrite, *TRPC* transient receptor potential channels

natriuretic peptides (NPs) which bind to the membrane bound particulate guanylate cyclase (pGC), although individual subcellular compartmentalization of cytosolic sGC-derived as opposed to subplasmalemmal pGC-derived cGMP pools (Castro et al. 2006; Fischmeister et al. 2006; Nausch et al. 2008; Maurice et al. 2014) has been hypothesized to underlie the different responses to sGC (Su et al. 2005; Murad 1988) versus pGC stimulation (natriuresis). In addition, the NO-sGC-cGMP pathway interacts with other pathways like the prostacyclin-cAMP- or the endothelin-pathway as well as beta-adrenergic signaling (Trappanese et al. 2015; Bice et al. 2014a; Franssen et al. 2016; Belge et al. 2014; Tarone et al. 2014).

Although GCs are also expressed in the endothelium of vessels and the heart, it is important to recognize that the key role of the endothelium in this cascade is to generate NO by activity of the eNOS. The best established role of GCs as the receptor of NO signaling, however, has been characterized in vascular smooth muscle cells as well as in the myocardium, where sGC expression is highest. In vascular smooth muscle cells and cardiac myocytes sGC-derived cGMP production



Fig. 2 Interaction of peripheral, systemic, and pulmonary vascular and capillary endothelium and endocardial and intramyocardial capillary endothelial cells with local tissue cells. Endothelial dysfunction can contribute to pulmonary and systemic arterial hypertension, cardiac and renal dysfunction as well as exercise intolerance. Adapted from Lim et al. (2015)

regulates vasotone, relaxation, and also contractility. NO generation from vascular, endocardial, and intramyocardial capillary endothelial cells stimulates sGC in coronary vessel walls as well as directly in cardiomyocytes (Fig. 2) (Lim et al. 2015; Cawley et al. 2011; Gheorghiade et al. 2013; Zhao et al. 2016; Noireaud and Andriantsitohaina 2014).

2.2 Pathophysiology

2.2.1 Role of the NO-cGMP System in CHF and Comorbidities

The NO-sGC-cGMP signaling pathway plays a major role in protection against myocardial injury, ventricular remodeling, and the cardio-renal syndrome (Gheorghiade et al. 2013). HF is associated with inflammation and oxidative stress which contributes to endothelial, skeletal muscle, and renal dysfunction (Figs. 1 and 3) (Munzel et al. 2015; Tsutsui et al. 2011; Supaporn et al. 1996; Shah et al. 2016; Boerrigter et al. 2009). NO availability as well as functionality of sGC depends on the redox status. Under conditions with oxidative stress, reactive oxygen species (ROS) disrupt the NO-sGC-cGMP signaling cascade on different levels by inactivation of eNOS, NO, and sGC. The result is reduced cGMP availability leading to endothelial dysfunction, vasoconstriction, vascular stiffness and adverse remodeling, and decreased renal and coronary blood flow with increasing impairment of respective organ function (Gheorghiade et al. 2013; Fraccarollo et al. 2014; Buys et al. 2008). In a model of sCG-alpha 1 deficient mice impaired ventricular relaxation was found to be the consequence of reduced cGMP availability (Buys et al. 2008).



Fig. 3 Role of comorbidities resulting in inflammation and oxidative stress in HFpEF and associated organ involvement: Chronic systemic inflammation can affect the function of multiple organs. In the heart, disturbed endothelium-cardiomyocyte signaling can cause collagen deposition and reduced cGMP levels, leading to myocardial stiffening and impaired relaxation. *CRP* C-reactive protein, *IL1RL1* interleukin 1 receptor, type 1, *GDF15* growth differentiation factor 15, $\Delta(A-VO2)_{EX}$ oxygen extraction during exercise, $F_{passive}$ passive force, *ONOO*⁻ peroxynitrite, *TGF-β* tumor growth factor beta, *VCAM* vascular cell adhesion molecule. Adapted from Shah et al. (2016)

Heart failure is a clinical syndrome caused by decreased CO and/or increased intracardiac pressures as a result of structural and/or functional abnormalities. Signs and symptoms like peripheral edema and shortness of breath on exertion or at rest are pathognomonic and can occur with any EF.

HFpEF is associated in many patients with the metabolic syndrome comprising of obesity, diabetes mellitus (DM), arterial hypertension, and COPD setting the stage for a proinflammatory environment. The individual components as well as any combination lead to increased morbidity and mortality in this mostly elderly population (Gerber et al. 2015). Impaired chronotropic reserve and atrial function as well as decreased vasoreactivity of systemic and pulmonary vasculature are also associated with HFpEF (Borlaug 2014).

The giant cardiomyocyte cytoskeletal protein titin modulates passive tension and stiffness, depending on phosphorylation by cGMP dependent PKG as well as phosphatase activity. When titin is phosphorylated, myocardial fibers stretch appropriately in the cardiac cycle and allow ventricular relaxation and diastolic filling as well as recoiling, major determinants of adequate cardiac output (Linke and Hamdani 2014; Stienen 2015; Hamdani et al. 2013). Hypophosphorylation of titin results in increased myocardial stiffness leading to suboptimal cardiac filling and output. In combination with enhanced afterload caused by vasoconstriction and increased vascular stiffness associated with endothelial dysfunction, cardiac failure

results and becomes symptomatic especially in situations with increased demands like exertion (Greene et al. 2013). In cardiomyocytes of HFpEF patients, an even increased stiffness compared to HFrEF patients was seen, which decreased after administration of PKG (van Heerebeek et al. 2012). However, cGMP enhancing therapy with Sildenafil did not result in improvement of clinical status and exercise capacity in a randomized placebo controlled trial in 216 HFpEF patients (Redfield et al. 2013), and also not in another study (Hoendermis et al. 2015). One potential explanation could be low generation of cGMP as substrate for PDE5 inhibition as a result of oxidative stress inactivating the sGC ligand NO. Another potential explanation is lack of PDE5 upregulation in human cardiomyocytes (Shah et al. 2016), opposed to its high expression in the corpus cavernosum. Indeed, even in HFrEF, PDE5 upregulation was reported inconsistently, and high PDE5 expression was not found in HFpEF (van Heerebeek et al. 2012). However, the failure of sildenafil to improve CV function in HFpEF has also been referred to the use of too high doses (Brutsaert and De Keulenaer 2015).

HFrEF is characterized by reduced contractility with insufficient cardiac output and associated with increased pre- and afterload. Cardiac remodeling occurs and further aggravates myocardial dysfunction. cGMP deficiency leads to impaired endothelium-dependent vasotone regulation, resulting in increased afterload and impaired myocardial microcirculation (Fig. 1) (Gheorghiade et al. 2013). cGMP dependent PKG modulates pathological Ca²⁺ signaling involved in myocardial hypertrophy (Hammond and Balligand 2012). In a rat myocardial infarction model, interstitial fibrosis, LV diastolic filling pressure (LVEDP), lung water and right ventricular (RV) hypertrophy were increased, while contractile function was markedly reduced. However, rats treated long term with the sGC activator ataciguat had reduced myocardial fibrosis and remodeling as well as improved systolic and diastolic function (Fraccarollo et al. 2014). In the dose finding SOCRATES REDUCED study, patients with HFrEF and a previous HF decompensation were treated with different doses of the sGC stimulator vericiguat or placebo. Although in the primary analysis of pooled vericiguat arms the trial did not meet the primary endpoint change in NT pro BNP, exploratory analysis showed dose-dependent lowering of NT-proBNP (p < 0.02), a reduction in NT-proBNP in the vericiguat 10 mg target dose arm (p < 0.05), and nominally improved clinical outcomes in the highest vericiguat dose groups (Gheorghiade et al. 2015).

Dysregulation of the NO-cGMP-pathway by inflammation and oxidative stress resulting in endothelial dysfunction also affects the coronary perfusion (Franssen et al. 2016; Paulus and Tschope 2013). In families with several members affected with **coronary artery disease** (CAD), next generation sequencing found mutations encoding for parts of sGC and an sGC stabilizing protein (Erdmann et al. 2013b). Importantly, when expressed in a cell line, coding variants of the sGC gene GUCY1A3 found in young MI patients are associated with compromised cGMP-generating activity. This lack of cGMP generation could be overcome by incubation of cells with the sGC stimulator BAY 41-2272. cGMP formation increased to wildtype level in all but one tested variant with low protein levels (Wobst et al. 2016). Protection against ischemic injury by sGC stimulation was seen in an MI

mouse model treated with riociguat. Treatment with riociguat at reperfusion decreased infarct size and improved LV function compared to placebo treated mice (Methner et al. 2013).

Advanced left heart dysfunction leads to increased left ventricular end-diastolic pressure (LVEDP) which is transmitted backwards into the pulmonary vasculature. In addition to passive backward failure, a vasoreactive component might rarely aggravate the resulting **pulmonary hypertension** (PH). PH in patients with left heart disease as indicator of increased LV filling pressures, however, is common and associated with a poor prognosis (Haddad et al. 2011; Damy et al. 2010). Functional status and presence of PH are correlated, and as many as 33 to 47.5% of HFrEF and up to 83% of HFpEF patients may have secondary PH (Galie et al. 2016). In a mouse model of chronic left heart failure caused by transverse aortic constriction (TAC), mice developed left ventricular hypertrophy and dysfunction and secondary pulmonary hypertension. 6 weeks after TAC, treatment with riociguat and sildenafil given over 2 weeks was investigated in comparison to placebo. Riociguat had a more pronounced effect on vascular remodeling than sildenafil. The treatment with riociguat and sildenafil maintained LV and RV function and decreased PVR and RV pressure, while in placebo treated animals LV and RV function deteriorated. Additionally, although LV hypertrophy was unaltered, collagen content in both LV and RV was reduced in actively treated mice (Pradhan et al. 2016). Despite these promising preclinical findings, the clinical results for the PDE5i came out negative. This could indicate that pulmonary vascular effects of sildenafil may not be sufficient to improve HF in the absence of cardiac effects due to reported lack of PDE5 overexpression and/or insufficient proximal sGC stimulation. In contrast, high sGC expression in the cardiac muscle and enhanced sGC-derived cGMP levels even in the absence of NO indicate promising potential of sGC stimulators. In patients with pulmonary hypertension associated with systolic left ventricular dysfunction (PH-sLVD), reduced PVR and SVR, improved stroke volume and cardiac index as well as improved quality of life (QoL) were seen under treatment with riociguat (Bonderman et al. 2013).

HF and **kidney disease** often coexist and are closely interlinked in the cardiorenal syndrome. Common pathophysiological ground is – among others – oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction (Dubin and Shah 2016; Schinner et al. 2015; von Lueder and Krum 2015). For many reasons, heart failure and renal failure present risk factors for the progression of the respective other condition (Ronco and Di Lullo 2014). Albuminuria has been shown to be associated with LV dysfunction (Katz et al. 2014). In an eNos knockout mouse model of hypertension and diabetic nephropathy, administration of an sGC stimulator on top of an angiotensin receptor blocker resulted in reduced oxidative stress and albuminuria (Ott et al. 2012). Renoprotective effects of sGC stimulators and activators have also been shown in a number of other preclinical models (Stasch et al. 2015). Both an sGC stimulator and an sGC activator improved cardiac hypertrophy and survival in spontaneously hypertensive stroke prone rats (Costell et al. 2012). A high dose of the sGC stimulator reduced microalbuminuria and ameliorated the blood pressure rise more potently than the sGC activator. Since high salt/fat diet did not blunt vasodilation in response to both sGC stimulator and sGC

activator, the authors concluded that reduced NO bioavailability rather than sGC oxidation causes vascular dysfunction (Costell et al. 2012).

Theoretically, cGMP can be pharmacologically targeted on the level of production with exogenous NO-donors, although this approach turned out to be limited by increasing oxidative stress due to peroxynitrite formation, as already described above. In addition, cGMP can also be increased by inhibition of cGMP degradation via phosphodiesterase inhibitors (PDEi), yet this would be limited in the absence of elevated PDE5 expression in relevant target tissue opposed to the established high levels in the corpus cavernosum and pulmonary vasculature. Both pharmacological approaches have additional limitations. The recommended treatment with nitrates in African Americans with symptomatic HFrEF requires combination with hydralazine. PDEis depend on a sufficient endogenous NO-supply and cGMP production which is often impaired in cardiovascular diseases. In patients with HFpEF isosorbide mononitrate reduced physical activity and did not improve quality of life or submaximal exercise capacity (Redfield et al. 2015). Therefore, the identification of NO-independent direct stimulators of the sGC (sGC stimulators) was an important step in the pharmacological modulation of this pathway. The sGC stimulators bind to the heme containing form of sGC independently of NO and stimulate cGMP production. In addition, these compounds also act synergistically with NO. Besides the heme-dependent sGC stimulators, there is a second class of heme-independent sGC modulating compounds, the so-called sGC activators. These compounds activate the sGC in its oxidized and heme-free form which is in itself unable to produce cGMP (Munzel et al. 2015). Both compound classes have been widely profiled in preclinical animal models of cardiovascular, cardiopulmonary, or cardio-renal diseases and may have treatment potential in HF. First clinical data are available and are discussed below.

3 Clinical Data of sGC Activators and Stimulators

3.1 sGC Activators

The sGC activators target the oxidized and heme free form of the sGC, triggering cGMP production even in conditions with oxidative stress. sGC activators work independently of NO but their efficacy has been shown to be additive to endogenous NO (Fig. 1).

3.1.1 Cinaciguat

Cinaciguat is a potent and selective sGC activator which acts on sGC in its oxidized (Fe^{3+}) state and even heme free form independently of NO. The oxidation or absence of the heme moiety increases the effect of cinaciguat on the sGC (Evgenov et al. 2006) causing a significant cGMP increase. These in vitro findings have also nicely been demonstrated in vivo, in mice which express heme-free sGC (apo-sGC mice) and consequently develop hypertension. In these apo-sGC mice, the vasodilatory response to NO is blunted in comparison to WT and administration

of an NOS inhibitor only resulted in increased BP in the WT mice demonstrating the uncoupling of the NO/cGMP pathway. Administration of cinaciguat decreased the BP in both WT and aposGC mice, but significantly more pronounced in the apo-sGC mice (Thoonen et al. 2015). These findings confirm that sGC is present in both forms in vivo, in the reduced, heme containing and in the oxidized, heme free form (Evgenov et al. 2006).

In a mouse model with diabetic cardiomyopathy, diabetic mice had significantly decreased cGMP levels in plasma and myocardium as well as increased levels of PDE5 and PKG. However, PKG activity was markedly reduced. Treatment with cinaciguat lead to normalization of cGMP levels, reduced PDE 5 expression, and improved PKG activity in the DM mice. Myocardial hypertrophy was prevented and fibrosis ameliorated by treatment with cinaciguat, while clinically systolic and diastolic function improved (Matyas et al. 2015).

Treatment with cinaciguat was investigated in patients with acute heart failure. AHF, either de novo or as a result of (gradual) worsening of preexisting HF, often is a life-threatening condition requiring urgent medical care. However, despite short term stabilization and symptom control, mid- and long-term risk for HF rehospitalization and CV death remain high.

The short half-life and chemical properties resulted in an i.v. formulation for continuous application. In a first multinational, double-blind phase II b study patients with acute decompensated heart failure with an LVEF <40% and an elevated pulmonary capillary wedge (PCWP) pressure of >18 mmHg were randomized 2:1 to cinaciguat (starting dose 100 µg/h) or placebo. Patient had to present with worsening dyspnea and volume overload, and systolic blood pressure had to be at least 100 mmHg but less than 180 mmHg. Every 2 h the study drug could be uptitrated or downtitrated depending on BP, HR, and overall tolerability, to a maximum of 600 μ g/h and a minimum of 50 μ g/h. The primary endpoint was change in PCWP after 8 h, secondary endpoints were safety/tolerability as well as dyspnea, among others. After 158 patients in screening and with 139 in the per protocol group, the study was terminated upon recommendation of an independent data monitoring committee (DMC) because of hypotensive events without clear benefit in all dose groups except the 50/100 μ g/h dose group. In the cinaciguat treated group, mean PCWP was significantly reduced from baseline (25.7 mm Hg) to 8 h/last observation carried forward (LOCF) compared with placebo (cinaciguat: -7.7 mmHg; placebo: -3.7 mmHg; difference: 4.0 mmHg). Systemic arterial mean blood pressure, right atrial pressure, mean pulmonary arterial pressure, and systemic and pulmonary vascular resistance decreased significantly while cardiac index significantly increased under active treatment from baseline to 8 h/LOCF compared with placebo. Dyspnea improved comparably in both groups. Hypotension was observed in 51% of cinaciguat and 12% of placebo treated patients, while HR increased by 5 bpm in the cinaciguat group. In total, 48 patients in the cinaciguat group had treatment-emergent hypotensive adverse events. There were more patients with ventricular tachycardia, troponin I increases, and rehospitalizations in the cinaciguat than in the placebo group, mostly at doses of 200 µg/h and higher (Erdmann et al. 2013a).

As a consequence, three further phase II b trials were conducted in the COM-POSE program (COMPOSE 1 and 2 and COMPOSE early). The goal of the COMPOSE program was to investigate the safety and efficacy of different doses of cinaciguat $<200 \mu g/h$, versus placebo starting at different time points for the treatment of patients with AHF. Patients had to present to the hospital with a history of LVEF of <40% and with worsening dyspnea and volume overload, requiring i.v. treatment. The required minimal SBP was at least 120 mmHg, a PCWP >20 mmHg and a CI <2.5 L/min/m². In COMPOSE 1 patients were randomized to fixed doses of 50, 100, or 150 µg/h or placebo, whereas in COMPOSE 2 patients received 10 or 25 µg/h versus placebo over 24-48 h. The primary efficacy endpoint for both studies was change in PCWP from baseline to 8 h or LOCF. In COMPOSE early, patients had to start study drug treatment (fixed doses of 50, 100, or 150 ug/ h or placebo) within 12 h after admission, and the primary efficacy endpoint was change in dyspnea from baseline to 8 h or LOCF. All studies were terminated early upon recommendation of an independent DMC because of hypotensive events (COMPOSE 1 (ITT population n = 12) and early (ITT population n = 62)), and difficult patient recruitment and the risk of inconclusive results in COMPOSE 2 (ITT n = 4). Thus, endpoints were assessed descriptively where applicable. In COMPOSE 1, PCWP, RAP, and BP decreased but CI did not change. In COM-POSE early, dyspnea did not improve in comparison to placebo. There was a higher incidence of hypotensive events in COMPOSE 1 and early (Gheorghiade et al. 2012). It can be concluded that treatment with cinaciguat reduced pre- and afterload by potent vasodilation, very frequently at the cost of hypotension. There was no clear clinical benefit in respect of improvement in dyspnea, endorgan protection or decrease in rehospitalization rates. Although preclinical data suggest that sGC activators could be beneficial, clinical data do currently not support the use in patients with AHF. However, more research with optimized compounds seems to be worthwhile because of the potential of the unique mode of action of the sGC activators to counteract the deleterious sequelae of oxidative stress in cardiovascular disease.

Other NO- and heme-independent activators of soluble guanylate cyclase with clinical data include ataciguat (HMR1766) and the fibrate gemfibrozil (Sharina et al. 2015). A phase Ib study evaluating the safety of ataciguat in patients with moderate calcific aortic valve stenosis has been posted as completed (NCT02049203), and a phase II study evaluating the effects of ataciguat on aortic valve calcification (CAVS) is posted to be ongoing (NCT02481258).

3.2 sGC Stimulators

In contrast to sGC activators, sGC stimulators target the heme-containing non-oxidized form of sGC by binding on the regulatory domain and triggering cGMP production. The sGC stimulators work NO-independently but their efficacy is further enhanced when endogenous NO – even at very low concentrations – is present. The sGC stimulators have shown beneficial effects in a variety of

preclinical models for cardiopulmonary diseases and pulmonary hypertension (Dumitrascu et al. 2006; Weissmann et al. 2014; Lang et al. 2012). In addition, a broad database investigating the preclinical efficacy in cardiovascular diseases is available. The sGC stimulators limited hypertrophy of cardiomyocytes in vitro (Irvine et al. 2012), reduced LV and vascular fibrosis (Masuyama et al. 2006; Masuyama et al. 2009), reduced infarct size (Bice et al. 2014b), preserved ejection fraction after MI (Methner et al. 2013), protected from cardiac and renal damage and increased survival of hypertensive rats (Sharkovska et al. 2010), reduced cardiac hypertrophy and improved renal function in hypertensive rats (Follman et al. submitted). Riociguat and vericiguat are two members of this class of potent and selective sGC stimulators which are studied clinically.

3.2.1 Riociguat

Riociguat is a novel potent sGC stimulator which has been investigated and approved in the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH) and inoperable chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTEPH). In summary, PAH and CTEPH patients treated with riociguat were shown to have a better exercise capacity as measured by 6 MWD, improved hemodynamics (decreased PVR, improved CI) as well as dyspnea, WHO FC, NT-proBNP, and QoL in comparison to patients treated with placebo on top of SoC. The most common adverse events (AEs) were headache, dizziness, indigestion, peripheral edema, nausea, diarrhea, and vomiting (Ghofrani et al. 2013b; Ghofrani et al. 2013a). Treatment effects were sustained for at least 2 years in long-term studies (Rubin et al. 2015; Rubin et al. 2014; Simonneau et al. 2015; Simonneau et al. 2014).

Treatment of PH-sLVD is based on treatment of the underlying disease; however, pulmonary vasodilation in addition seems to be intuitive, especially with increased transpulmonary gradient (TPG), although parallel cardiac and systemic effects would be essential to cope with the resulting increase in pulmonary venous return. Therefore, previous studies with selective pulmonary vasodilators in HF including epoprostenol (Califf et al. 1997) and bosentan (REACH and ENABLE trials) (Mylona and Cleland 1999; Packer et al. 2005; Kalra et al. 2002) were not successful. In contrast with these selective pulmonary vasodilators, riociguat did not demonstrate pulmonary selectivity (Grimminger et al. 2009). Thus, in the randomized, placebo-controlled, double blind LEPHT study, the safety, tolerability as well as PK and PD of riociguat were investigated in patients with PH secondary to systolic LV dysfunction. Two hundred and eleven patients with PH-sLVD characterized by an LVEF $\leq 40\%$ and mean pulmonary arterial pressure $(PAPmean) \ge 25$ mmHg at rest on optimized HF therapy were enrolled. There was no minimum TPG or diastolic pulmonary gradient defined as inclusion criteria. Mean transpulmonary gradient at baseline ranged from 12.6 to 15.3 mm Hg across the treatment groups. Riociguat in doses of 0.5, 1, and 2 mg tid and placebo were administered to 201 patients in a ratio of 2:1:1:2 over 16 weeks. The primary efficacy variable was PAPmean, while secondary efficacy endpoints comprised of LVEF, exercise capacity, quality of life, and other haemodynamic and echocardiographic measurements. Under treatment with riociguat, PAPmean did not decrease significantly, but PVR did, and stroke volume and cardiac index improved markedly without concomitant increase in heart rate. QoL improved as well and riociguat was well tolerated. The most common treatment emergent AEs in the riociguat 2 mg group were GI tract problems like nausea or diarrhea as well as dizziness, hypotension, and edema (Bonderman et al. 2013).

The hemodynamic effects, safety, and PK of riociguat were also investigated in patients with PH and HFpEF in a randomized, placebo-controlled, double blind, single dose study. Patients with an LVEF > 50%, a PAPmean of > 25 mmHg, and a PCWP > 15 mmHg on standard HFpEF treatment received 0.5, 1, or 2 mg riociguat or placebo. The primary efficacy variable was the highest decrease in mPAP from baseline up to 6 h while secondary outcomes comprised of other hemodynamic as well as echocardiographic parameters, safety, and pharmacokinetics. In total, 36 patients were evaluable. There was no significant change in the primary efficacy variable, but 2 mg riociguat significantly increased stroke volume and CI and decreased BP and SVR without concomitant changes in HR, PVR, and PCWP. RVED and LA areas were significantly smaller after 2 mg riociguat as well. Drugrelated serious AEs occurred in three patients on riociguat (2 mg group; one case of decreased CO, three cases of decreased MAP), and in two placebo treated patients (two cases of decreased CO). There were four cases in the riociguat group (one patient on 1 mg, three patients on 2 mg), and one case in the placebo group with a relevant decrease in blood pressure (SBP <80 mmHg or MAP <60 mmHg). One case of pulmonary edema occurred but was considered to be unrelated to study drug (riociguat). The author concluded that single doses of riociguat were well tolerated and that under treatment hemodynamics and echocardiographic parameters changed favorably in patients with PH and HFpEF (Bonderman et al. 2014).

3.2.2 Vericiguat

These first experiences with an sGC stimulator in patients with HF and secondary PH encouraged the continued investigation of this novel drug class in HF at low doses. For further studies in HF, the once daily compound vericiguat was chosen due to its optimized pharmacokinetic profile. Vericiguat was investigated in two phase IIb studies in HFrEF (SOCRATES reduced) and HFpEF (SOCRATES preserved) and is currently moving into phase III for HFrEF.

The phase IIb program SOCRATES comprised of two randomized, placebocontrolled, double blind studies running in parallel in patients with HFrEF (LVEF <45%) and HFpEF (LVEF \geq 45%) and a previous HF decompensation. Patients were required being recently hospitalized or presenting to the ED with worsening CHF as well as elevated (NT pro) BNP levels and needing i.v. diuretics. The goal was to investigate the safety, tolerability, PK, and PD of four different doses (1.25, 2.5, 5, and 10 mg) of Vericiguat or placebo administered once daily over 12 weeks in this population at high risk for rehospitalization or death. The primary efficacy variable in SOCRATES reduced was change in NT pro BNP, and in SOCRATES preserved was change in left atrial (LA) volume after 12 weeks.

SOCRATES Reduced

In this randomized, placebo-controlled, double blind dose finding study, 456 patients with HFrEF (LVEF <45%, elevated (NT pro) BNP levels) were randomized 1:1:1:1:1 to placebo or vericiguat, 1.25, 2.5, 5, and 10 mg once daily. Patients were eligible if they had a recent hospitalization or ED visit because of worsening CHF and the need for i.v. diuretics. A systolic blood pressure of at least 110 mmHg was required, and uptitration for the 5 and 10 mg doses was guided by BP and overall tolerability. The primary efficacy end point of the study was change from baseline in log-transformed NT-proBNP level at 12 weeks. Further endpoints were safety, echocardiographic parameters as well as serum biomarkers. At baseline, patients' NYHA class was approximately split even between I/II and III/IV, the HF etiology was ischemic in about half of the patients, and DM was present in about 50%, CKD in about 40%, and atrial fibrillation was present in about 30% of the patients. Median NT pro BNP at baseline was 3076 pg/ml. Mean LVEF was <30% in all groups, and the majority of patients received guideline recommended HF therapy as required by the protocol. Three hundred and fifty one patients completed treatment with study drug with valid 12-week NT-pro BNP levels. The primary analysis was not significantly different in the pooled vericiguat and placebo groups. The exploratory analysis suggested a dose–response relationship in which higher vericiguat doses were associated with greater reductions in NT-proBNP levels. LVEF improved in the Riociguat 10 mg group by 3.7%, and in the placebo group by 1.5%. Additional clinical exploratory endpoints were all-cause death, CV death, HF hospitalization, or the composite of CV death or HF hospitalization. There were nominally less CV deaths and HF hospitalizations in the 5 and 10 mg vericiguat arms than in all other treatment arms (Table 1 and Fig. 4).

BP and HR were unchanged in the vericiguat groups compared to placebo, and adverse event rates were the same in all treatment groups. SAE rates were highest among placebo treated patients (39.1%). Although there were more hypotensive events (n = 14, 10 symptomatic) and syncope (n = 4) in the highest vericiguat dose

	Vericiguat					
Placebo	1.25 mg	2.5 mg	2.5 to 5 mg	2.5 to 10 mg		
(<i>n</i> = 92)	(<i>n</i> = 91)	(<i>n</i> = 91)	(<i>n</i> = 91)	(<i>n</i> = 91)		
Up to week 12, No. (%)						
3(3.3)	4(4.4)	3(3.3)	3(3.3)	2(2.2)		
3(3.3)	4(4.4)	2(2.2)	2(2.2)	2(2.2)		
16(17.4)	16(17.6)	16(17.6)	9(9.9)	9(9.9)		
18(19.6)	17(18.7)	18(19.8)	11(12.1)	10(11.0)		
End of follow-up (16 wk), No. (%)						
6(6.5)	6(6.6)	5(5.5)	3(3.3)	4(4.4)		
6(6.5)	5(5.5)	4(4.4)	2(2.2)	4(4.4)		
	Placebo (n = 92) (n = 92	VericiguatPlacebo $(n = 92)$ 1.25 mg $(n = 91)$ 3(3.3)4(4.4)3(3.3)4(4.4)16(17.4)16(17.6)18(19.6)17(18.7)vk), No. (%)6(6.5)6(6.5)5(5.5)	VericiguatPlacebo $(n = 92)$ 1.25 mg $(n = 91)$ 2.5 mg $(n = 91)$ 3(3.3)4(4.4)3(3.3)3(3.3)4(4.4)2(2.2)16(17.4)16(17.6)16(17.6)18(19.6)17(18.7)18(19.8)vk), No. (%) (6.5) $6(6.6)$ $5(5.5)$ 6(6.5) $5(5.5)$ $4(4.4)$	VericiguatVericiguatPlacebo $(n = 92)$ 1.25 mg $(n = 91)$ 2.5 mg $(n = 91)$ 2.5 to 5 mg $(n = 91)$ 3(3.3)4(4.4)3(3.3)3(3.3)3(3.3)4(4.4)2(2.2)2(2.2)16(17.4)16(17.6)16(17.6)9(9.9)18(19.6)17(18.7)18(19.8)11(12.1)vk), No. (%) (6.5) 6(6.6)5(5.5)6(6.5)5(5.5)4(4.4)2(2.2)		

Table 1 Occurrence of exploratory clinical endpoints in SOCRATES reduced



Fig. 4 Proportion of patients experiencing the composite of CV death and HF hospitalization from Gheorghiade et al. (2015)

group, 8 of 14 patients experienced hypotension between weeks 0 and 2, when the maximal vericiguat dose per the study titration schedule was 2.5 mg once daily, and the cumulative proportion of patients with treatment-emergent hypotension during the first 2 weeks in the three 2.5 mg starting dose groups was 4.4%, compared with 3.3% in the placebo group. The authors concluded that vericiguat did not change NT-proBNP levels at 12 weeks compared to placebo but was well tolerated. Further clinical trials of vericiguat based on the dose–response relationship are needed to determine the potential role of this drug in the treatment of patients with worsening chronic HF (Gheorghiade et al. 2015; Pieske et al. 2014).

A confirmatory phase III outcome trial in HFrEF patients (**VICTORIA**) has been posted in CT.gov to start in 2016 (A Study of Vericiguat in Participants With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF) (MK-1242-001) (VICTO-RIA) NCT02861534).

The **SOCRATES preserved** phase IIb dose-finding study investigated vericiguat in patients with HFpEF (ejection fraction \geq 45%) in a prospective, randomized, placebo-controlled double-blind design with five parallel dose arms to characterize safety, tolerability, and pharmacologic effects. Patients received vericiguat once daily at 1.25 or 2.5 mg fixed doses, or 5 or 10 mg titrated from a 2.5 mg starting dose, or placebo for 12 weeks. The two primary endpoints were change from baseline in log-transformed N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-ProBNP) and left atrial volume (LAV) at 12 weeks. As key exploratory parameters patient-reported outcomes were collected in the KCCQ and EQ-5D (Pieske et al. 2014)).

4 Conclusions

Despite therapeutic advances there is still a high unmet medical need in the treatment of HF and associated comorbidities. Endothelial dysfunction resulting in reduced NO availability has been identified as a central culprit in cardiovascular disease. The novel direct sGC stimulators stimulate the reduced and heme containing form of sGC independently of NO but also synergistically with NO. Preclinical and emerging clinical evidence support that sGC stimulators are promising candidates to be studied for a potential role in the future HF treatment strategy. Treatment with the sGC stimulator riociguat improved stroke volume and cardiac index and reduced afterload in patients with systolic HF and secondary PH. In patients with HFrEF within 1 month after a HF event, the sGC stimulator vericiguat was well tolerated. While the primary analysis was not significantly different in the pooled vericiguat and placebo groups, there was a dose-dependent decrease in NT-proBNP levels. In addition, vericiguat showed potential to improve LVEF and clinical outcomes. Based on the promising data from this dose finding, safety and PK/PD study in HFrEF a pivotal study has been posted in CT.gov to start in 2016 (A Study of Vericiguat in Participants With Heart Failure With Reduced Ejection Fraction (HFrEF) (MK-1242-001) (VICTORIA) NCT02861534).

Conflict of Interest All authors are employee of Bayer AG / Pharmaceutical Division.

References

- Ahluwalia A, Foster P, Scotland RS, McLean PG, Mathur A, Perretti M, Moncada S, Hobbs AJ (2004) Antiinflammatory activity of soluble guanylate cyclase: cGMP-dependent down-regulation of P-selectin expression and leukocyte recruitment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101 (5):1386–1391. doi:10.1073/pnas.03042641010304264101
- Belge C, Hammond J, Dubois-Deruy E, Manoury B, Hamelet J, Beauloye C, Markl A, Pouleur AC, Bertrand L, Esfahani H, Jnaoui K, Gotz KR, Nikolaev VO, Vanderper A, Herijgers P, Lobysheva I, Iaccarino G, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Tavernier G, Langin D, Dessy C, Balligand JL (2014) Enhanced expression of beta3-adrenoceptors in cardiac myocytes attenuates neurohormone-induced hypertrophic remodeling through nitric oxide synthase. Circulation 129(4):451–462. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.004940CIRCULATIONAHA.113.004940
- Bice JS, Burley DS, Baxter GF (2014a) Novel approaches and opportunities for cardioprotective signaling through 3',5'-cyclic guanosine monophosphate manipulation. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 19(3):269–282. doi:10.1177/10742484135189711074248413518971
- Bice JS, Keim Y, Stasch JP, Baxter GF (2014b) NO-independent stimulation or activation of soluble guanylyl cyclase during early reperfusion limits infarct size. Cardiovasc Res 101(2): 220–228. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvt257cvt257
- Boerrigter G, Lapp H, Burnett JC (2009) Modulation of cGMP in heart failure: a new therapeutic paradigm. Handb Exp Pharmacol 191:485–506. doi:10.1007/978-3-540-68964-5_21
- Bonderman D, Ghio S, Felix SB, Ghofrani HA, Michelakis E, Mitrovic V, Oudiz RJ, Boateng F, Scalise AV, Roessig L, Semigran MJ (2013) Riociguat for patients with pulmonary hypertension caused by systolic left ventricular dysfunction: a phase IIb double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging hemodynamic study. Circulation 128(5):502–511. doi:10. 1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001458CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001458

- Bonderman D, Pretsch I, Steringer-Mascherbauer R, Jansa P, Rosenkranz S, Tufaro C, Bojic A, Lam CS, Frey R, Ochan Kilama M, Unger S, Roessig L, Lang IM (2014) Acute hemodynamic effects of riociguat in patients with pulmonary hypertension associated with diastolic heart failure (DILATE-1): a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, single-dose study. Chest 146(5): 1274–1285. doi:10.1378/chest.14-0106S0012-3692(15)52395-7
- Borlaug BA (2014) The pathophysiology of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Nat Rev Cardiol 11(9):507–515. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2014.83nrcardio.2014.83
- Brutsaert DL, De Keulenaer GW (2015) Letter by Brutsaert and De Keulenaer regarding article, "Effects of Sildenafil on Ventricular and Vascular Function in Heart Failure With Preserved Ejection Fraction". Circ Heart Fail 8(4):839. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115. 002236CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.002236
- Buys ES, Sips P, Vermeersch P, Raher MJ, Rogge E, Ichinose F, Dewerchin M, Bloch KD, Janssens S, Brouckaert P (2008) Gender-specific hypertension and responsiveness to nitric oxide in sGCalpha1 knockout mice. Cardiovasc Res 79(1):179–186. doi:10.1093/cvr/ cvn068cvn068
- Califf RM, Adams KF, McKenna WJ, Gheorghiade M, Uretsky BF, McNulty SE, Darius H, Schulman K, Zannad F, Handberg-Thurmond E, Harrell FE Jr, Wheeler W, Soler-Soler J, Swedberg K (1997) A randomized controlled trial of epoprostenol therapy for severe congestive heart failure: the Flolan International Randomized Survival Trial (FIRST). Am Heart J 134(1): 44–54
- Castro LR, Verde I, Cooper DM, Fischmeister R (2006) Cyclic guanosine monophosphate compartmentation in rat cardiac myocytes. Circulation 113(18):2221–2228. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.105.599241
- Cawley SM, Kolodziej S, Ichinose F, Brouckaert P, Buys ES, Bloch KD (2011) sGC{alpha}1 mediates the negative inotropic effects of NO in cardiac myocytes independent of changes in calcium handling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301(1):H157–H163. doi:10.1152/ajpheart. 01273.2010ajpheart.01273.2010
- Costell MH, Ancellin N, Bernard RE, Zhao S, Upson JJ, Morgan LA, Maniscalco K, Olzinski AR, Ballard VL, Herry K, Grondin P, Dodic N, Mirguet O, Bouillot A, Gellibert F, Coatney RW, Lepore JJ, Jucker BM, Jolivette LJ, Willette RN, Schnackenberg CG, Behm DJ (2012) Comparison of soluble guanylate cyclase stimulators and activators in models of cardiovascular disease associated with oxidative stress. Front Pharmacol 3:128. doi:10.3389/fphar.2012. 00128
- Damy T, Goode KM, Kallvikbacka-Bennett A, Lewinter C, Hobkirk J, Nikitin NP, Dubois-Rande JL, Hittinger L, Clark AL, Cleland JG (2010) Determinants and prognostic value of pulmonary arterial pressure in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 31(18):2280–2290. doi:10. 1093/eurheartj/ehq245ehq245
- Dubin RF, Shah SJ (2016) Soluble guanylate cyclase stimulators: a novel treatment option for heart failure associated with cardiorenal syndromes? Curr Heart Fail Rep 13(3):132–139. doi:10.1007/s11897-016-0290-z10.1007/s11897-016-0290-z
- Dumitrascu R, Weissmann N, Ghofrani HA, Dony E, Beuerlein K, Schmidt H, Stasch JP, Gnoth MJ, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Schermuly RT (2006) Activation of soluble guanylate cyclase reverses experimental pulmonary hypertension and vascular remodeling. Circulation 113(2):286–295. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.581405
- Erdmann E, Semigran MJ, Nieminen MS, Gheorghiade M, Agrawal R, Mitrovic V, Mebazaa A (2013a) Cinaciguat, a soluble guanylate cyclase activator, unloads the heart but also causes hypotension in acute decompensated heart failure. Eur Heart J 34(1):57–67. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehs196ehs196
- Erdmann J, Stark K, Esslinger UB, Rumpf PM, Koesling D, de Wit C, Kaiser FJ, Braunholz D, Medack A, Fischer M, Zimmermann ME, Tennstedt S, Graf E, Eck S, Aherrahrou Z, Nahrstaedt J, Willenborg C, Bruse P, Braenne I, Nothen MM, Hofmann P, Braund PS, Mergia E, Reinhard W, Burgdorf C, Schreiber S, Balmforth AJ, Hall AS, Bertram L, Steinhagen-Thiessen E, Li SC, Marz W, Reilly M, Kathiresan S, McPherson R, Walter U,

Ott J, Samani NJ, Strom TM, Meitinger T, Hengstenberg C, Schunkert H (2013b) Dysfunctional nitric oxide signalling increases risk of myocardial infarction. Nature 504(7480): 432–436. doi:10.1038/nature12722nature12722

- Evgenov OV, Pacher P, Schmidt PM, Hasko G, Schmidt HH, Stasch JP (2006) NO-independent stimulators and activators of soluble guanylate cyclase: discovery and therapeutic potential. Nat Rev Drug Discov 5(9):755–768. doi:10.1038/nrd2038
- Fischmeister R, Castro LR, Abi-Gerges A, Rochais F, Jurevicius J, Leroy J, Vandecasteele G (2006) Compartmentation of cyclic nucleotide signaling in the heart: the role of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases. Circ Res 99(8):816–828. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000246118.98832.04
- Fraccarollo D, Galuppo P, Motschenbacher S, Ruetten H, Schafer A, Bauersachs J (2014) Soluble guanylyl cyclase activation improves progressive cardiac remodeling and failure after myocardial infarction. Cardioprotection over ACE inhibition. Basic Res Cardiol 109 (4):421. doi:10.1007/s00395-014-0421-1
- Franssen C, Chen S, Unger A, Korkmaz HI, De Keulenaer GW, Tschope C, Leite-Moreira AF, Musters R, Niessen HW, Linke WA, Paulus WJ, Hamdani N (2016) Myocardial microvascular inflammatory endothelial activation in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. JACC Heart Fail 4(4):312–324. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2015.10.007S2213-1779(15)00685-X
- Galie N, Humbert M, Vachiery JL, Gibbs S, Lang I, Torbicki A, Simonneau G, Peacock A, Vonk Noordegraaf A, Beghetti M, Ghofrani A, Gomez Sanchez MA, Hansmann G, Klepetko W, Lancellotti P, Matucci M, McDonagh T, Pierard LA, Trindade PT, Zompatori M, Hoeper M, Aboyans V, Vaz Carneiro A, Achenbach S, Agewall S, Allanore Y, Asteggiano R, Paolo Badano L, Albert Barbera J, Bouvaist H, Bueno H, Byrne RA, Carerj S, Castro G, Erol C, Falk V, Funck-Brentano C, Gorenflo M, Granton J, Iung B, Kiely DG, Kirchhof P, Kjellstrom B, Landmesser U, Lekakis J, Lionis C, Lip GY, Orfanos SE, Park MH, Piepoli MF, Ponikowski P, Revel MP, Rigau D, Rosenkranz S, Voller H, Luis Zamorano J (2016) 2015 ESC/ERS guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension: the joint task force for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS): endorsed by: Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC), International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT). Eur Heart J 37(1):67–119. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv317
- Gerber Y, Weston SA, Redfield MM, Chamberlain AM, Manemann SM, Jiang R, Killian JM, Roger VL (2015) A contemporary appraisal of the heart failure epidemic in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 2000 to 2010. JAMA Intern Med 175(6):996–1004. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed. 2015.09242276924
- Gheorghiade M, Greene SJ, Butler J, Filippatos G, Lam CS, Maggioni AP, Ponikowski P, Shah SJ, Solomon SD, Kraigher-Krainer E, Samano ET, Muller K, Roessig L, Pieske B (2015) Effect of vericiguat, a soluble guanylate cyclase stimulator, on natriuretic peptide levels in patients with worsening chronic heart failure and reduced ejection fraction: the SOCRATES-REDUCED randomized trial. JAMA 314(21):2251–2262. doi:10.1001/jama.2015.157342469195
- Gheorghiade M, Greene SJ, Filippatos G, Erdmann E, Ferrari R, Levy PD, Maggioni A, Nowack C, Mebazaa A (2012) Cinaciguat, a soluble guanylate cyclase activator: results from the randomized, controlled, phase IIb COMPOSE programme in acute heart failure syndromes. Eur J Heart Fail 14(9):1056–1066. doi:10.1093/eurjhf/hfs093
- Gheorghiade M, Marti CN, Sabbah HN, Roessig L, Greene SJ, Bohm M, Burnett JC, Campia U, Cleland JG, Collins SP, Fonarow GC, Levy PD, Metra M, Pitt B, Ponikowski P, Sato N, Voors AA, Stasch JP, Butler J (2013) Soluble guanylate cyclase: a potential therapeutic target for heart failure. Heart Fail Rev 18(2):123–134. doi:10.1007/s10741-012-9323-1
- Ghofrani HA, D'Armini AM, Grimminger F, Hoeper MM, Jansa P, Kim NH, Mayer E, Simonneau G, Wilkins MR, Fritsch A, Neuser D, Weimann G, Wang C (2013a) Riociguat for the treatment of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension. N Engl J Med 369(4): 319–329. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1209657

- Ghofrani HA, Galie N, Grimminger F, Grunig E, Humbert M, Jing ZC, Keogh AM, Langleben D, Kilama MO, Fritsch A, Neuser D, Rubin LJ (2013b) Riociguat for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension. N Engl J Med 369(4):330–340. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1209655
- Greene SJ, Gheorghiade M, Borlaug BA, Pieske B, Vaduganathan M, Burnett JC Jr, Roessig L, Stasch JP, Solomon SD, Paulus WJ, Butler J (2013) The cGMP signaling pathway as a therapeutic target in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. J Am Heart Assoc 2(6):e000536. doi:10.1161/JAHA.113.000536jah3384
- Grimminger F, Weimann G, Frey R, Voswinckel R, Thamm M, Bolkow D, Weissmann N, Muck W, Unger S, Wensing G, Schermuly RT, Ghofrani HA (2009) First acute haemodynamic study of soluble guanylate cyclase stimulator riociguat in pulmonary hypertension. Eur Respir J 33(4):785–792. doi:10.1183/09031936.0003980809031936.00039808
- Haddad F, Kudelko K, Mercier O, Vrtovec B, Zamanian RT, de Jesus PV (2011) Pulmonary hypertension associated with left heart disease: characteristics, emerging concepts, and treatment strategies. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 54(2):154–167. doi:10.1016/j.pcad.2011.06.003S0033-0620(11)00132-0
- Hamdani N, Krysiak J, Kreusser MM, Neef S, Dos Remedios CG, Maier LS, Kruger M, Backs J, Linke WA (2013) Crucial role for Ca2(+)/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase-II in regulating diastolic stress of normal and failing hearts via titin phosphorylation. Circ Res 112(4):664–674. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.111.300105CIRCRESAHA.111.300105
- Hammond J, Balligand JL (2012) Nitric oxide synthase and cyclic GMP signaling in cardiac myocytes: from contractility to remodeling. J Mol Cell Cardiol 52(2):330–340. doi:10.1016/j. yjmcc.2011.07.029S0022-2828(11)00317-8
- Hoendermis ES, Liu LC, Hummel YM, van der Meer P, de Boer RA, Berger RM, van Veldhuisen DJ, Voors AA (2015) Effects of sildenafil on invasive haemodynamics and exercise capacity in heart failure patients with preserved ejection fraction and pulmonary hypertension: a randomized controlled trial. Eur Heart J 36(38):2565–2573. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv336ehv336
- Irvine JC, Ganthavee V, Love JE, Alexander AE, Horowitz JD, Stasch JP, Kemp-Harper BK, Ritchie RH (2012) The soluble guanylyl cyclase activator bay 58-2667 selectively limits cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. PLoS One 7(11):e44481. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0044481PONE-D-12-15271
- Kalra PR, Moon JC, Coats AJ (2002) Do results of the ENABLE (Endothelin Antagonist Bosentan for Lowering Cardiac Events in Heart Failure) study spell the end for non-selective endothelin antagonism in heart failure? Int J Cardiol 85(2–3):195–197
- Katz DH, Selvaraj S, Aguilar FG, Martinez EE, Beussink L, Kim KY, Peng J, Sha J, Irvin MR, Eckfeldt JH, Turner ST, Freedman BI, Arnett DK, Shah SJ (2014) Association of low-grade albuminuria with adverse cardiac mechanics: findings from the hypertension genetic epidemiology network (HyperGEN) study. Circulation 129(1):42–50. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA. 113.003429CIRCULATIONAHA.113.003429
- Lang M, Kojonazarov B, Tian X, Kalymbetov A, Weissmann N, Grimminger F, Kretschmer A, Stasch JP, Seeger W, Ghofrani HA, Schermuly RT (2012) The soluble guanylate cyclase stimulator riociguat ameliorates pulmonary hypertension induced by hypoxia and SU5416 in rats. PLoS One 7(8):e43433. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0043433PONE-D-11-14636
- Lim SL, Lam CS, Segers VF, Brutsaert DL, De Keulenaer GW (2015) Cardiac endotheliummyocyte interaction: clinical opportunities for new heart failure therapies regardless of ejection fraction. Eur Heart J 36(31):2050–2060. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv132
- Linke WA, Hamdani N (2014) Gigantic business: titin properties and function through thick and thin. Circ Res 114(6):1052–1068. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.301286CIRCRESAHA. 114.301286
- Masuyama H, Tsuruda T, Kato J, Imamura T, Asada Y, Stasch JP, Kitamura K, Eto T (2006) Soluble guanylate cyclase stimulation on cardiovascular remodeling in angiotensin II-induced hypertensive rats. Hypertension 48(5):972–978. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000241087.12492.47

- Masuyama H, Tsuruda T, Sekita Y, Hatakeyama K, Imamura T, Kato J, Asada Y, Stasch JP, Kitamura K (2009) Pressure-independent effects of pharmacological stimulation of soluble guanylate cyclase on fibrosis in pressure-overloaded rat heart. Hypertens Res 32(7):597–603. doi:10.1038/hr.2009.64hr200964
- Matyas C, Nemeth BT, Olah A, Hidi L, Birtalan E, Kellermayer D, Ruppert M, Korkmaz-Icoz S, Kokeny G, Horvath EM, Szabo G, Merkely B, Radovits T (2015) The soluble guanylate cyclase activator cinaciguat prevents cardiac dysfunction in a rat model of type-1 diabetes mellitus. Cardiovasc Diabetol 14:145. doi:10.1186/s12933-015-0309-x10.1186/s12933-015-0309-x
- Maurice DH, Wilson LS, Rampersad SN, Hubert F, Truong T, Kaczmarek M, Brzezinska P, Freitag SI, Umana MB, Wudwud A (2014) Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases (PDEs): coincidence detectors acting to spatially and temporally integrate cyclic nucleotide and non-cyclic nucleotide signals. Biochem Soc Trans 42(2):250–256. doi:10.1042/ BST20130268BST20130268
- Methner C, Buonincontri G, Hu CH, Vujic A, Kretschmer A, Sawiak S, Carpenter A, Stasch JP, Krieg T (2013) Riociguat reduces infarct size and post-infarct heart failure in mouse hearts: insights from MRI/PET imaging. PLoS One 8(12):e83910. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0083910PONE-D-13-33724
- Munzel T, Gori T, Keaney JF Jr, Maack C, Daiber A (2015) Pathophysiological role of oxidative stress in systolic and diastolic heart failure and its therapeutic implications. Eur Heart J 36(38): 2555–2564. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehv305ehv305
- Murad F (1988) Role of cyclic GMP in the mechanism of action of nitrovasodilators, endotheliumdependent agents and atrial natriuretic peptide. Biochem Soc Trans 16(4):490–492
- Mylona P, Cleland JG (1999) Update of REACH-1 and MERIT-HF clinical trials in heart failure. Cardio.net Editorial Team. Eur J Heart Fail 1(2):197–200
- Nausch LW, Ledoux J, Bonev AD, Nelson MT, Dostmann WR (2008) Differential patterning of cGMP in vascular smooth muscle cells revealed by single GFP-linked biosensors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(1):365–370. doi:10.1073/pnas.07103871050710387105
- Noireaud J, Andriantsitohaina R (2014) Recent insights in the paracrine modulation of cardiomyocyte contractility by cardiac endothelial cells. Biomed Res Int 2014:923805. doi:10.1155/2014/923805
- Ott IM, Alter ML, von Websky K, Kretschmer A, Tsuprykov O, Sharkovska Y, Krause-Relle K, Raila J, Henze A, Stasch JP, Hocher B (2012) Effects of stimulation of soluble guanylate cyclase on diabetic nephropathy in diabetic eNOS knockout mice on top of angiotensin II receptor blockade. PLoS One 7(8):e42623. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0042623PONE-D-12-03106
- Packer M, McMurray J, Massie BM, Caspi A, Charlon V, Cohen-Solal A, Kiowski W, Kostuk W, Krum H, Levine B, Rizzon P, Soler J, Swedberg K, Anderson S, Demets DL (2005) Clinical effects of endothelin receptor antagonism with bosentan in patients with severe chronic heart failure: results of a pilot study. J Card Fail 11(1):12–20
- Paulus WJ, Tschope C (2013) A novel paradigm for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: comorbidities drive myocardial dysfunction and remodeling through coronary microvascular endothelial inflammation. J Am Coll Cardiol 62(4):263–271. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2013.02. 092S0735-1097(13)01890-1
- Pieske B, Butler J, Filippatos G, Lam C, Maggioni AP, Ponikowski P, Shah S, Solomon S, Kraigher-Krainer E, Samano ET, Scalise AV, Muller K, Roessig L, Gheorghiade M (2014) Rationale and design of the SOluble guanylate Cyclase stimulatoR in heArT failurE Studies (SOCRATES). Eur J Heart Fail 16(9):1026–1038. doi:10.1002/ejhf.135
- Pradhan K, Sydykov A, Tian X, Mamazhakypov A, Neupane B, Luitel H, Weissmann N, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Kretschmer A, Stasch JP, Ghofrani HA, Schermuly RT (2016) Soluble guanylate cyclase stimulator riociguat and phosphodiesterase 5 inhibitor sildenafil ameliorate pulmonary hypertension due to left heart disease in mice. Int J Cardiol 216:85–91. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.04.098S0167-5273(16)30789-6
- Redfield MM, Anstrom KJ, Levine JA, Koepp GA, Borlaug BA, Chen HH, LeWinter MM, Joseph SM, Shah SJ, Semigran MJ, Felker GM, Cole RT, Reeves GR, Tedford RJ, Tang WH, McNulty SE,

Velazquez EJ, Shah MR, Braunwald E (2015) Isosorbide mononitrate in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 373(24):2314–2324. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1510774

- Redfield MM, Chen HH, Borlaug BA, Semigran MJ, Lee KL, Lewis G, LeWinter MM, Rouleau JL, Bull DA, Mann DL, Deswal A, Stevenson LW, Givertz MM, Ofili EO, O'Connor CM, Felker GM, Goldsmith SR, Bart BA, McNulty SE, Ibarra JC, Lin G, Oh JK, Patel MR, Kim RJ, Tracy RP, Velazquez EJ, Anstrom KJ, Hernandez AF, Mascette AM, Braunwald E (2013) Effect of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition on exercise capacity and clinical status in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 309(12):1268–1277. doi:10.1001/jama.2013.20241663257
- Ronco C, Di Lullo L (2014) Cardiorenal syndrome. Heart Fail Clin 10(2):251–280. doi:10.1016/j. hfc.2013.12.003S1551-7136(13)00160-8
- Rubin LJ, Galiè N, Grimminger F, Grünig E, Humbert M, Jing Z-C, Keogh A, Langleben D, Fritsch A, Menezes F, Davie N, Ghofrani H-A (2014) Late-breaking abstract: riociguat for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH): 2-year results from the PATENT-2 longterm extension. Eur Respir J 44(Suppl 58):P1803
- Rubin LJ, Galie N, Grimminger F, Grunig E, Humbert M, Jing ZC, Keogh A, Langleben D, Fritsch A, Menezes F, Davie N, Ghofrani HA (2015) Riociguat for the treatment of pulmonary arterial hypertension: a long-term extension study (PATENT-2). Eur Respir J 45 (5):1303–1313. doi:10.1183/09031936.0009061409031936.00090614
- Schinner E, Wetzl V, Schlossmann J (2015) Cyclic nucleotide signalling in kidney fibrosis. Int J Mol Sci 16(2):2320–2351. doi:10.3390/ijms16022320jms16022320
- Shah SJ, Kitzman DW, Borlaug BA, van Heerebeek L, Zile MR, Kass DA, Paulus WJ (2016) Phenotype-specific treatment of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a multiorgan roadmap. Circulation 134(1):73–90. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116. 021884CIRCULATIONAHA.116.021884
- Sharina IG, Sobolevsky M, Papakyriakou A, Rukoyatkina N, Spyroulias GA, Gambaryan S, Martin E (2015) The fibrate gemfibrozil is a NO- and haem-independent activator of soluble guanylyl cyclase: in vitro studies. Br J Pharmacol 172(9):2316–2329. doi:10.1111/bph.13055
- Sharkovska Y, Kalk P, Lawrenz B, Godes M, Hoffmann LS, Wellkisch K, Geschka S, Relle K, Hocher B, Stasch JP (2010) Nitric oxide-independent stimulation of soluble guanylate cyclase reduces organ damage in experimental low-renin and high-renin models. J Hypertens 28(8): 1666–1675. doi:10.1097/HJH.0b013e32833b558c
- Simonneau G, D'Armini AM, Ghofrani H-A, Grimminger F, Hoeper MM, Jansa P, Kim NH, Wang C, Wilkins M, Fritsch A, Davie N, Colorado P, Mayer E (2014) Late-breaking abstract: riociguat for the treatment of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension (CTEPH): 2-year results from the CHEST-2 long-term extension. Eur Respir J 44(Suppl 58)
- Simonneau G, D'Armini AM, Ghofrani HA, Grimminger F, Hoeper MM, Jansa P, Kim NH, Wang C, Wilkins MR, Fritsch A, Davie N, Colorado P, Mayer E (2015) Riociguat for the treatment of chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension: a long-term extension study (CHEST-2). Eur Respir J 45(5):1293–1302. doi:10.1183/09031936.0008711409031936. 00087114
- Stasch JP, Schlossmann J, Hocher B (2015) Renal effects of soluble guanylate cyclase stimulators and activators: a review of the preclinical evidence. Curr Opin Pharmacol 21:95–104. doi:10. 1016/j.coph.2014.12.014S1471-4892(14)00181-7
- Stienen GJ (2015) Pathomechanisms in heart failure: the contractile connection. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 36(1):47–60. doi:10.1007/s10974-014-9395-8
- Su J, Scholz PM, Weiss HR (2005) Differential effects of cGMP produced by soluble and particulate guanylyl cyclase on mouse ventricular myocytes. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 230 (4):242–250
- Supaporn T, Sandberg SM, Borgeson DD, Heublein DM, Luchner A, Wei CM, Dousa TP, Burnett JC Jr (1996) Blunted cGMP response to agonists and enhanced glomerular cyclic 3',5'-nucleotide phosphodiesterase activities in experimental congestive heart failure. Kidney Int 50(5): 1718–1725

- Tarone G, Balligand JL, Bauersachs J, Clerk A, De Windt L, Heymans S, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Hirsch E, Iaccarino G, Knoll R, Leite-Moreira AF, Lourenco AP, Mayr M, Thum T, Tocchetti CG (2014) Targeting myocardial remodelling to develop novel therapies for heart failure: a position paper from the Working Group on Myocardial Function of the European Society of Cardiology. Eur J Heart Fail 16(5):494–508. doi:10.1002/ejhf.62
- Thoonen R, Cauwels A, Decaluwe K, Geschka S, Tainsh RE, Delanghe J, Hochepied T, De Cauwer L, Rogge E, Voet S, Sips P, Karas RH, Bloch KD, Vuylsteke M, Stasch JP, Van de Voorde J, Buys ES, Brouckaert P (2015) Cardiovascular and pharmacological implications of haem-deficient NO-unresponsive soluble guanylate cyclase knock-in mice. Nat Commun 6: 8482. doi:10.1038/ncomms9482ncomms9482
- Trappanese DM, Liu Y, McCormick RC, Cannavo A, Nanayakkara G, Baskharoun MM, Jarrett H, Woitek FJ, Tillson DM, Dillon AR, Recchia FA, Balligand JL, Houser SR, Koch WJ, Dell'Italia LJ, Tsai EJ (2015) Chronic beta1-adrenergic blockade enhances myocardial beta3-adrenergic coupling with nitric oxide-cGMP signaling in a canine model of chronic volume overload: new insight into mechanisms of cardiac benefit with selective beta1-blocker therapy. Basic Res Cardiol 110(1):456. doi:10.1007/s00395-014-0456-3
- Tsutsui H, Kinugawa S, Matsushima S (2011) Oxidative stress and heart failure. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 301(6):H2181–H2190. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00554.2011ajpheart.00554. 2011
- van Heerebeek L, Hamdani N, Falcao-Pires I, Leite-Moreira AF, Begieneman MP, Bronzwaer JG, van der Velden J, Stienen GJ, Laarman GJ, Somsen A, Verheugt FW, Niessen HW, Paulus WJ (2012) Low myocardial protein kinase G activity in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Circulation 126(7):830–839. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.111.076075CIRCULATION AHA.111.076075
- von Lueder TG, Krum H (2015) New medical therapies for heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol 12(12): 730–740. doi:10.1038/nrcardio.2015.137nrcardio.2015.137
- Weissmann N, Lobo B, Pichl A, Parajuli N, Seimetz M, Puig-Pey R, Ferrer E, Peinado VI, Dominguez-Fandos D, Fysikopoulos A, Stasch JP, Ghofrani HA, Coll-Bonfill N, Frey R, Schermuly RT, Garcia-Lucio J, Blanco I, Bednorz M, Tura-Ceide O, Tadele E, Brandes RP, Grimminger J, Klepetko W, Jaksch P, Rodriguez-Roisin R, Seeger W, Grimminger F, Barbera JA (2014) Stimulation of soluble guanylate cyclase prevents cigarette smoke-induced pulmonary hypertension and emphysema. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 189(11):1359–1373. doi:10.1164/ rccm.201311-2037OC
- Wilkins MR, Aldashev AA, Wharton J, Rhodes CJ, Vandrovcova J, Kasperaviciute D, Bhosle SG, Mueller M, Geschka S, Rison S, Kojonazarov B, Morrell NW, Neidhardt I, Surmeli NB, Aitman TJ, Stasch JP, Behrends S, Marletta MA (2014) alpha1-A680T variant in GUCY1A3 as a candidate conferring protection from pulmonary hypertension among Kyrgyz highlanders. Circ Cardiovasc Genet 7(6):920–929. doi:10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.114.000763CIRC GENETICS.114.000763
- Wobst J, von Ameln S, Wolf B, Wierer M, Dang TA, Sager HB, Tennstedt S, Hengstenberg C, Koesling D, Friebe A, Braun SL, Erdmann J, Schunkert H, Kessler T (2016) Stimulators of the soluble guanylyl cyclase: promising functional insights from rare coding atherosclerosisrelated GUCY1A3 variants. Basic Res Cardiol 111(4):51. doi:10.1007/s00395-016-0570-510.1007/s00395-016-0570-5
- Zhao CY, Greenstein JL, Winslow RL (2016) Roles of phosphodiesterases in the regulation of the cardiac cyclic nucleotide cross-talk signaling network. J Mol Cell Cardiol 91:215–227. doi:10. 1016/j.yjmcc.2016.01.004S0022-2828(16)30004-9

Cardiac Phosphodiesterases and Their Modulation for Treating Heart Disease

Grace E. Kim and David A. Kass

Contents

1	Introduction	250			
2	Cyclic Nucleotides: Cardiac Second Messengers with Pleiotropic Effects	251			
3	PDE3 and Dilated Cardiomyopathy	252			
4	PDE5 and Dilated Cardiomyopathy	258			
5	PDE5A and Non-dilated Heart Disease	260			
6 Potential Roles for PDE1, PDE2, and PDE9 in Heart Failure					
	6.1 PDE1	261			
	6.2 PDE2A	262			
	6.3 PDE9A	263			
7	Beyond Single Small-Molecule PDE Suppression	264			
8	Conclusion	264			
Re	References				

Abstract

An important hallmark of cardiac failure is abnormal second messenger signaling due to impaired synthesis and catabolism of cyclic adenosine 3',5'monophosphate (cAMP) and cyclic guanosine 3',5'- monophosphate (cGMP). Their dysregulation, altered intracellular targeting, and blunted responsiveness to stimulating pathways all contribute to pathological remodeling, muscle

G.E. Kim, PhD

D.A. Kass, MD (🖂)

Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Division of Cardiology, Department of Medicine, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA

Department of Pharmacology and Molecular Sciences, Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD, USA e-mail: dkass@jhmi.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_82

dysfunction, reduced cell survival and metabolism, and other abnormalities. Therapeutic enhancement of either cyclic nucleotides can be achieved by stimulating their synthesis and/or by suppressing members of the family of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases (PDEs). The heart expresses seven of the eleven major PDE subtypes – PDE1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 8, and 9. Their differential control over cAMP and cGMP signaling in various cell types, including cardiomyocytes, provides intriguing therapeutic opportunities to counter heart disease. This review examines the roles of these PDEs in the failing and hypertrophied heart and summarizes experimental and clinical data that have explored the utility of targeted PDE inhibition.

Keywords

Cyclic nucleotides • Heart failure • Myocardium • Phosphodiesterases • Protein kinase A • Protein kinase G

1 Introduction

Phosphodiesterases (PDEs) are a superfamily of enzymes that hydrolyze cyclic adenosine 3',5'- monophosphate (cAMP) and cyclic guanosine 3',5'monophosphate (cGMP). Both cyclic nucleotides are synthesized in specific intracellular compartments by corresponding cyclases and are selectively catabolized by members of the PDE superfamily. The resulting localized activation elicits targeted cellular responses to multiple stimuli. Levels of both myocardial cyclic nucleotide synthesis and hydrolysis are altered by physiological and pathological stress and play an important role in diseases such as cardiac failure. Therapies to restore their signaling to improve cardiac function and suppress maladaptive organ and molecular remodeling have been and continue to be pursued. Targeting PDEs is particularly attractive as highly specific and potent small-molecule inhibitors have been developed for many of the enzymes, and their expression in particular cell types and intracellular nanodomain regulation affords targeted influences over cyclic nucleotide signaling. Inhibitors of PDE3 are in clinical use for acute heart failure, PDE4 for psoriasis and chronic obstructive lung disease, and PDE5 for erectile dysfunction and pulmonary hypertension. None are presently approved for chronic heart failure, but several are being studied for such indications. This review describes the role and potential utility of pharmacological targeting of PDEs in the diseased heart, focusing first on those for which clinical data have been generated, followed by those where only preclinical data have been obtained thus far.

2 Cyclic Nucleotides: Cardiac Second Messengers with Pleiotropic Effects

Both cAMP and cGMP modulate a wide range of myocardial properties including contraction and relaxation, diastolic stiffness, heart rate, cell growth and survival, interstitial fibrosis, vascular tone, and endothelial permeability and proliferation. Cyclic AMP is generated by adenylate cyclase (AC type 5 and type 6 in the heart), and it activates one of two cognate proteins: protein kinase A (PKA) or exchange protein directly activated by cAMP (Epac). In the cardiomyocyte, PKA phosphorylates multiple proteins controlling excitation-contraction coupling and sarcomere function. These include troponin I (TnI; Kentish et al. 2001), titin (Yamasaki et al. 2002), myosin binding protein C (Nagayama et al. 2007; Stelzer et al. 2006), phospholamban (MacLennan and Kranias 2003), ryanodine receptor (RvR2) (Reiken et al. 2003), and L-type calcium channel (Verde et al. 1999). Epac is a guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) protein that can activate calciumcalmodulin activated kinase II (CamKII) signaling to alter calcium cycling and gene transcription (Gloerich and Bos 2010). In the cardiomyocyte, both PKA and Epac are engaged by cAMP synthesis coupled to β-adrenergic G-protein-coupled receptor stimulation.

Cyclic GMP is generated by either a soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) activated by nitric oxide or a receptor-bound cyclase (GC-A or GC-B) in the intracellular domain of the natriuretic peptide receptor. The targeted kinase is cGMP-stimulated kinase (cGK1 in the heart, also called PKG-1) that phosphorylates many of the same calcium homeostasis and sarcomere proteins targeted by PKA (e.g., phospholamban, TnI, titin, myosin binding protein C). However, other cGK1 targets oppose neurohormonal stimulation pathways, such as regulator of G-protein signaling 2 and 4 (RGS2, RGS4) that counter Gq- and Gi-receptorcoupled agonism (Takimoto et al. 2009; Tokudome et al. 2008), ion channels like transient receptor potential canonical type 6 (TRPC6) that stimulate calcineurin/ NFAT signaling (Kinoshita et al. 2010; Koitabashi et al. 2010; Nishida et al. 2010), and RhoA which regulates Rho-kinase signaling (Sawada et al. 2001) and myosin light chain phosphatase (Surks et al. 1999). In the myocyte, cGK1 does not stimulate L-type calcium current. Thus, cGK1 generally acts as a myocardial brake that can counter cAMP/PKA stimuli acutely and chronically suppress stress-mediated signaling.

Upon synthesis, local regulation of cyclic nucleotides is exquisitely controlled by members of the PDE superfamily. The 11 family members of PDEs are expressed by nearly 100 isoform variants (Maurice et al. 2014) that differ mainly in their N-terminus regulatory domains. By contrast, their catalytic domains are broadly conserved, with each species having subtle differences to provide cAMP and/or cGMP substrate specificity (Bender and Beavo 2006; Francis et al. 2011). PDEs pose unique opportunities for pharmacological modification of cyclic nucleotide signaling because they are selectively expressed in various cell types. PDEs 1–5, 8, and 9 are expressed in myocardium, with some species-dependent differences in isoform expression, notably in PDE1 (Table 1). PDEs 1, 2, and
Table 1 Specificity and	PDE	Substrate	Regulator
expressed in myocardium	1A ^a	cAMP/cGMP	Calcium/calmodulin activated
expressed in myoeardrain	1B		
	1C ^b		
	2A	cAMP/cGMP	cGMP-activated cAMP hydrolysis
	3A ^c	cAMP/cGMP	cGMP inhibited
	3B		
	5A	cGMP	cGMP activated
	9A	cGMP	None known

^aProminent isoform expressed in mouse and rat ^bProminent isoform in human, dog, rabbit ^cPredominantly expressed myocardial isoform

3 are all dual-substrate esterases, PDE5 and PDE9 are selective for cGMP, and PDE4 and PDE8 are selective for cAMP. Preclinical studies have established a role in cardiac regulation for all of these species, while clinical data related to heart disease only exist for PDE3 and PDE5. Importantly, all of these PDEs are dysregulated in conditions of cardiac failure, infarction, and hypertrophy, often but not always displaying increased expression. This applies to disease in multiple experimental models as well as in humans (Table 2). Furthermore, studies using either selective pharmacological or genetic modulators of these PDEs have revealed their potent impact on disease pathophysiology, supporting therapeutic potential (Table 3).

3 PDE3 and Dilated Cardiomyopathy

The first exploration for a therapeutic role of PDE modulation to treat heart disease evolved with the discovery that PDE3 modulated cAMP and that its inhibition could potentially enhance PKA (and Epac)-dependent signaling in the diseased heart. PDE3 is expressed in two primary isoforms, PDE3A and PDE3B, and both are found in cardiomyocytes. PDE3A is the predominant form (Meacci et al. 1992; Sun et al. 2007), and its three splice variants differ in intracellular compartmentation (Wechsler et al. 2002) as well as regulation by PKA and PKC (Vandeput et al. 2013). These isoforms operate in microdomains. For example, PDE3A localizes to the sarcolemmal membrane, and this allows for regulation of compartmentalized PKA signaling (Leroy et al. 2008; Zaccolo 2009; Zaccolo and Pozzan 2002). While PDE3 can hydrolyze both cAMP and cGMP, it favors cAMP due to a much higher V_{max} for this substrate.

PDE3 inhibition results in increased L-type calcium current (Verde et al. 1999) which stimulates contractility (Weishaar et al. 1987), an effect principally mediated by PDE3A (Sun et al. 2007). PDE3A co-immunoprecipitates with a protein complex containing SERCA2a, phospholamban, and A-kinase anchoring protein 18 (AKAP18) in a PKA phosphorylation-dependent manner (Ahmad et al. 2015). This specifically targets a pool of cAMP to regulate calcium cycling via the

PDE				
family	Change	Species	Cardiomyopathy	References
1A	Increased	Rat	Hypertrophy (aortic constriction)	Yanaka et al. (2003)
		Human	Post-myocardial infarction	Miller et al. (2011)
		Mouse	Hypertrophy (ISO, AII, TAC)	Miller et al. (2009); Miller et al. (2011)
		Rat	Isoproterenol- induced HCM	
2A	Increased	Rat	Hypertrophy (aortic constriction)	Yanaka et al. (2003)
		Human	DCM, ICM, but not in AS	Mehel et al. (2013)
		Dog	Pacing-induced HF	
		Rat	Isoproterenol- induced HCM	
3A	Decreased	Human	DCM	Ding et al. (2005)
		Dog	Pacing-induced HF	Smith et al. (1997)
5A	Increased	Human	DCM, ICM	Pokreisz et al. (2009); Lu et al. (2010); Shan et al. (2012); Nakano et al. (2016)
		Human	RV hypertrophy, DCM, AS	Nagendran et al. (2007); Vandenwijngaert et al. (2013) Shan et al. (2012)
		Mouse	TAC-induced HCM	Lu et al. (2010); Vandenwijngaert et al. (2013)
9A	Increased	Human	DCM, HF, and AS	Lee et al. (2015)
		Mouse	TAC-induced HCM	

Table 2 Pathologic alterations in myocardial PDE expression (in vivo studies)

ISO isoproterenol, *AII* angiotensin II, *TAC* transaortic constriction, *HCM* hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, *DCM* dilated cardiomyopathy, *ICM* ischemic cardiomyopathy, *RV* right ventricle, *AS* aortic stenosis, *HF* heart failure

sarcoplasmic reticulum (Beca et al. 2013). Broad PDE3 inhibition can also stimulate arrhythmias by excessive calcium entry and internal release from the SR coupled to both PKA and Epac2-CamKII activation (Bobin et al. 2016). PDE3 also influences cellular apoptosis as revealed in studies of myocardial infarction. In this condition, PDE3A inhibition can damage the heart by increasing activity of ICER (inducible cAMP early repressor) to suppress Bcl2 expression and promote apoptosis (Ding et al. 2005; Yan et al. 2007). Enhancing PDE3A expression is cardioprotective against ischemia-reperfusion (Oikawa et al. 2013). However, the opposite holds for PDE3B, whose gene deletion is protective against cardiac

PDE family	Intervention	Model/patient/ clinical trial	Outcome	References
1A	Preclinical	1	1	
	IC86340	Pressure overload (TAC) in mouse	Inhibition attenuated TAC-induced hypertrophy	Miller et al. (2009)
	IC86340	Myocardial infarction in mouse	Inhibition reduced collagen deposition and myofibroblast formation	Miller et al. (2011)
2A	Preclinical			
	_	Hypertrophy (stressor: isoprenaline) in rat	PDE2A upregulation; β-AR desensitization	Mehel et al. (2013)
	BAY 60-7550	Pressure overload (TAC) in mouse	Inhibition attenuated hypertrophy and fibrosis	Zoccarato et al. (2015)
3A	Preclinical			
	Genetic deletion	Model/patient/ clinical trialOutcomePressure overload (TAC) in mouseInhibition attenuate TAC-induced hypertrophyMyocardial infarction in mouseInhibition reduced collagen deposition myofibroblast formHypertrophy (stressor: isoprenaline) in ratPDE2A upregulation β-AR desensitizationPDE3A ^{-/-} and 3B ^{-/-} mouseGreater baseline he rate in 3A ^{-/-} with normal contractilityIschemia in PDE3B ^{-/-} mouseProtection against infarctionPDE3A ^{-/-} and BDE3B ^{-/-} PDE3A, but not 3B associates with SERCA2A and phospholamban at t SR to mediate inotr effectsMyocardial infarction in PDE3A1 overexpressing mouseHypertrophic hearts inhibition attenuate beneficial protection against infarction a ajoptosis in overexpressing mouseMild to midd to 	Greater baseline heart rate in $3A^{-/-}$ with normal contractility	Sun et al. (2007)
	Genetic deletion	Ischemia in PDE3B ^{-/-} mouse	Protection against infarction	Chung et al. (2015)
	Milrinone	PDE3A ^{-/-} and PDE3B ^{-/-} mice	PDE3A, but not 3B, associates with SERCA2A and phospholamban at the SR to mediate inotropic effects	Beca et al. (2013)
	Milrinone	Myocardial infarction in PDE3A1 overexpressing mouse	Hypertrophic hearts with β -AR desensitization in transgenic hearts; inhibition attenuated the beneficial protection against infarction and apoptosis in overexpressing mouse	Oikawa et al. (2013)
	Clinical			
	Milrinone	Mild to moderate HF patients in sinus rhythm	Slight improvements in exercise tolerance; increased supraventricular arrhythmias and sinus tachycardia	di Bianco et al. (1989)

 Table 3
 In vivo myocardial effects of pharmacologic or genetic PDE interventions

(continued)

PDE		Model/patient/		
family	Intervention	clinical trial	Outcome	References
PDE3A	Milrinone	PROMISE trial	Long-term treatment did not improve cardiac function; instead increased mortality, hypotension, palpitations, and syncope	Packer et al. (1991)
	Milrinone	OPTIME-CHF	Short-term treatment did not shorten hospitalization or abate symptoms; new arrhythmias and significant hypotension	Cuffe et al. (2002)
	Enoximone	ESSENTIAL trial	Long-term treatment with lowered dose did not improve cardiac function; no increased adverse effects	Metra et al. (2009)
5A	Preclinical			
	Overexpression	Myocyte targeted PDE5A overexpressing mouse	Worsened cardiac hypertrophy and/or chamber dysfunction and dilation from pressure overload or myocardial infarction	Pokreisz et al. (2009); Zhang et al. (2010)
	Sildenafil	TAC-induced HCM in WT, RGS2 KO, GFPdgn TG mouse	Treatment blunted hypertrophy and protected cardiac function in each respective mouse model	Takimoto et al. (2005a); Takimoto et al. (2009); Ranek et al. (2013)
	Sildenafil	DMD mouse model	Treatment ameliorated and reversed depressed cardiac function	Adamo et al. (2010)
	Sildenafil	Hypertensive mongrel dogs	Increase in LV diastolic capacitance; B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) stimulation amplified this effect	Bishu et al. (2011)
	Tadalafil	DMD dog model	One-month treatment slowed cardiac remodeling and dysfunction	Hammers et al. (2016)
	Sildenafil	DMD mouse model	Chronic treatment prevented DMD-associated hypertrophy and cardiac dysfunction	Seo et al. (2014)

Table 3 (continued)

(continued)

PDE		Model/patient/		
family	Intervention	clinical trial	Outcome	References
PDE5A	Clinical	· ·		
	Sildenafil	DCM patients with PH	Three-month treatment enhanced cardiac output and Vo ₂ , improving exercise capacity and quality of life	Lewis et al. (2007)
	Sildenafil	DCM patients	Three-month treatment improved LV function and exercise oscillatory ventilation	Murphy et al. (2011)
	Sildenafil	Patients with LV diastolic dysfunction and PH	Mean pulmonary artery pressure lowered; RV function and LV relaxation improved	Guazzi et al. (2011)
	Sildenafil	T2DM patients with diabetic cardiomyopathy	Mild improvements in cardiac strain and torsion	Giannetta et al. (2012)
	Sildenafil	RELAX trial	Long-term treatment yielded no improvements	Redfield et al. (2013)
	Udenafil	ULTIMATE trial	Exercise capacity and subjective functional capacity improved	Kim et al. (2015)
	Sildenafil	DMD/BMD patients with cardiomyopathy	Six-month treatment worsened cardiac dilation	Leung et al. (2014)
9A	Preclinical			
УА	Genetic deletion	Hypertrophy (stressor: TAC) in PDE9A ^{-/-} mouse	Protection against hypertrophy and fibrosis	Lee et al. (2015)
	PF-04449613	TAC-induced HCM in mouse	Inhibition attenuated cardiac hypertrophy, remodeling, and function	

Table 3 (continued)

TAC transaortic constriction, *KO* knockout, *HCM* hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, *RGS2* regulator of G-protein substrate 2, *GFPdgn* green fluorescent protein degron CL1 (a ubiquitin proteasome substrate), *TG* transgenic, *DMD* Duchenne muscular dystrophy, *BMD* Becker muscular dystrophy, *Vo*₂ maximal oxygen uptake, *LV* left ventricle, *RV* right ventricle, *T2DM* type 2 diabetes mellitus

ischemia/reperfusion injury (Chung et al. 2015). Summary signaling is shown in Fig. 1.

Given the potential for PDE3 inhibition to improve myocardial hemodynamics by enhancing contractility while also dilating veins and arteries to reduce cardiac load, it became the first PDE targeted for inhibition to treat heart failure (HF). While acute responses appeared promising, trials with sustained PDE3 inhibition



Fig. 1 Signaling pathways and their myocardial effects coupling PDE-cAMP modulation with the activation of protein kinase A, Epac, and their downstream effectors. Pathways for which published data have defined a link between a given PDE and specific downstream effects have been color coded: PDE1 in *blue*, PDE2A in *red*, and PDE3A in *green*

increased adverse events and mortality in HF patients (Cuffe et al. 2002; DiBianco et al. 1989; Metra et al. 2009; Packer et al. 1991). DiBianco et al. compared milrinone (10 mg/qid) to the cardiac glycoside digoxin (DiBianco et al. 1989) but found no added benefit over digoxin. In the pivotal 6-month PROMISE study (The Effects of Oral Milrinone on Mortality in Severe Chronic Heart Failure), Packer et al. found no improvement in heart function over placebo (Packer et al. 1991) but rather increased arrhythmia, hypotension, and greater mortality. The subsequent OPTIME-CHF (Outcomes of a Prospective Trial of Intravenous Milrinone for Exacerbations of Chronic Heart Failure) study also reported no clinical benefit over placebo (Cuffe et al. 2002). Despite this, short-term PDE3 inhibition remains in use for acute decompensated HF.

Several conclusions evolved from these studies. One was that doses yielding substantive acute inodilator responses were probably too high to avoid chronic toxicity. Another was that interventions substantively increasing intracellular calcium transients may pose arrhythmogenic risks. As these trials predated the era of broad β -adrenergic blockade use, some hypothesized that PDE3 inhibition might be safe if combined with such therapy. This was tested in the ESSENTIAL trials (Studies of Oral Enoximone Therapy in Advanced HF), examining enoximone combined with background β -blockade (Metra et al. 2009). Unlike the earlier studies, enoximone did not worsen mortality; however, it also did not improve symptoms or exercise capacity.

Despite this history, interest remains in modulating PDE3 (Movsesian et al. 2011). This has evolved in part from recent data that isoform-specific targeting might enhance beneficial effects while avoiding toxicity. For example, PDE3A rather than PDE3B is required to enhance myocyte contractility and calcium cycling (Beca et al. 2013; Sun et al. 2007). However, mice lacking PDE3B also

show protection against ischemic reperfusion, so selective targeting only of the PDE3A isoform would seem undesirable (Chung et al. 2015). However, splice variants PDE3A1 and A2 also differ, with unique phosphorylation responses to PKA and PKC (Vandeput et al. 2013) due to specific protein-protein interactions. Thus, one approach being explored is to express a disrupting peptide to interfere with a specific isoform protein complex to dislocate the PDE from its normal effectors without impacting the other isoform. If successful, this approach might avoid unwanted effects from nonselective inhibitors.

4 PDE5 and Dilated Cardiomyopathy

PDE5A was the first cGMP-selective isotype discovered. Its esterase activity is stimulated both by cGMP binding to regulatory GAF domains in the N-terminus and by cGK1 phosphorylation at S92 (Corbin et al. 2000; Francis et al. 2002; Rybalkin et al. 2003), creating a negative feedback loop. Immunocytochemical evidence has shown that PDE5A localizes to the Z-disk in the cardiomyocyte, but this can become diffuse in mammalian models of hypertrophy and heart failure (Takimoto et al. 2005a; Zhang et al. 2008) and in the absence or suppression of nitric oxide synthase III (Nagayama et al. 2008; Takimoto et al. 2005a). At the Z-disk, it predominately targets cGMP generated by the nitric oxide-soluble guanylyl cyclase (NO-sGC) pathway, having only minimal impact on natriuretic peptide (NP)-stimulated cGMP pools (Fischmeister et al. 2006; Lee et al. 2015; Takimoto et al. 2005a).

PDE5A is expressed at very low levels in the normal myocardium but is upregulated in dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) (Andersen et al. 2012; Shan et al. 2012) and in RV hypertrophy associated with pulmonary hypertension (Nagendran et al. 2007). There remains some controversy regarding PDE5A expression in the human heart, based primarily on differences in immunoblot data (Degen et al. 2015). As gene deletion models – even conditional ones – have not been successful, absolute proof of the role of normal PDE5A in the heart in vivo remains indirect. However, myocyte-specific overexpression models have shown that PDE5A upregulation worsens the consequences of pressure overload (Zhang et al. 2010) and myocardial infarction (Pokreisz et al. 2009) and that subsequent genetic suppression of the same gene is sufficient to reverse pathological hypertrophy/fibrosis induced by pressure overload (Zhang et al. 2010).

In experimental models, PDE5A inhibition stimulates cGK1 activity to suppress multiple cardiac signaling pathways engaged in pathological hypertrophy and HF. This includes blockade of calcineurin/NFAT signaling (Takimoto et al. 2005b), its activation of regulators of G-protein signaling (RGS2/4) to block Gq-activated cascades (e.g., from angiotensin or endothelin-1) (Takimoto et al. 2009), inhibition of transient receptor potential canonical ion channel type 6 (TRPC6) (Seo et al. 2014), improvement of proteasome degradation of misfolded proteins (Ranek et al. 2013), enhanced mitochondrial and consequent cytoprotection against ischemic injury linked to glycogen synthesis kinase $3-\beta$



Fig. 2 Signaling pathways and their myocardial effects coupling PDE-cGMP modulation with cyclic GMP-activated protein kinase (cGK1) and their downstream effects. Pathways that regulate cardiac cGMP signaling. Pathways for which published data has defined a link between a given PDE and specific downstream effects have been color coded: PDE1 in *blue*, PDE2A in *red*, PDE5A in *purple*, and PDE9A in *yellow*

and mitogen-activated kinase ERK1/2 (Das et al. 2008), and other mechanisms. cGK1 activation can also improve diastolic function by phosphorylating titin to increase distensibility (Bishu et al. 2011). Figure 2 summarizes these PDE5A effects on cGMP/cGK1 signaling.

The clinical effects of PDE5A inhibition on dilated HF have been principally studied in patients who also had pulmonary hypertension, as the latter is an approved therapeutic target for PDE5A inhibitors. Lewis et al. (Lewis et al. 2007) tested 12 weeks of sildenafil therapy and found that peak oxygen consumption and cardiac output were enhanced, and coupled to improved exercise capacity and quality of life. Similar results were observed by others (Behling et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2015), including data showing PDE5A inhibition improves LV function and exercise oscillatory ventilation, the latter a clinical index of DCM outcome (Murphy et al. 2011). The extent to which direct myocardial effects underlie benefit from PDE5A inhibition in DCM remains speculative. Systemic arterial vasodilation is minimal, so LV unloading is unlikely, but PDE5A inhibition can dilate small arteries that may enhance skeletal muscle oxygenation (Ghofrani et al. 2004). As of now, no definitive multicenter trial of PDE5A inhibition in DCM has been conducted. A pivotal >2000 patient NIH-sponsored trial (PITCH-HF) was initiated in November 2013, but then terminated 4 months later due principally to budget constraints.

Another form of DCM for which PDE5A inhibition has been studied is Duchenne muscular dystrophy. This disease is caused by missense mutations in the dystrophin gene that results in full disruption of the dystro-sarcoglycan complex essential to normal skeletal and cardiac muscle function and survival. Duchenne patients develop near total loss of skeletal motor function by their early teens, and heart failure generally follows. The dystro-sarcoglycan complex also anchors neuronal NOS at the plasma membrane of skeletal muscle (Brenman et al. 1995), and its absence leads to disrupted NO signaling that is thought to depress microvascular flow leading to ischemia (Kobayashi et al. 2007; Loufrani et al. 2002). The impact on NOS dyslocalization in cardiomyocytes is less clear, though cGMP signaling appears to be depressed and its activation may be therapeutic. Seo et al. (Seo et al. 2014) reported hyperactive mechano-stimulated force, intracellular calcium transients, and associated arrhythmia in myocytes from a DMD mouse model that were all potently suppressed by cGMP activation. This effect was also achieved by chronic PDE5A inhibition that further improved in vivo cardiac function and reduced hypertrophy. The latter data support studies reported from mouse and canine models of DMD (Adamo et al. 2010; Albert et al. 2012).

Human trials have shown that acute PDE5A inhibition improves microvascular flow in skeletal muscle to match contractile stress in Duchenne patients (Nelson et al. 2014). However, when tested in non-ambulatory adults with advanced Duchenne skeletal and cardiac disease, 6 months of sildenafil therapy did not improve heart function (Leung et al. 2014). Furthermore, a recently completed international multicenter trial of tadalafil in ambulatory boys with Duchenne and no cardiac disease also failed to improve motor capacity (Clinical trial NCT01359670). This could indicate that PDE5A is not the right target for improving cGMP signaling but that modulating cGMP synthesis or using other PDE inhibitors might be successful. It may also require some gene correction in addition to any modulation of cGMP signaling to achieve benefits.

5 PDE5A and Non-dilated Heart Disease

About half of all patients with heart failure symptoms have ventricles that do not dilate but rather present with an ejection fraction in the normal range. This is often termed heart failure with a preserved EF (HFpEF), a multifactor syndrome that has proven difficult to treat, with no current specific evidence-based therapy (Shah et al. 2016). While HFpEF implies a central role for heart disease, the reality is more complex as many other organ pathophysiologies contribute, including from the lung, kidney, skeletal muscle, neuroregulatory systems, and adipose tissue. Common comorbidities are type 2 diabetes, obesity, hypertension, cardiac hypertrophy, pulmonary hypertension, inflammatory disease, and renal insufficiency (Shah et al. 2016).

Since cGK1 activation can reduce hypertrophy, fibrosis, and PH, while improving metabolism and potentially renal function, it has been an attractive strategy for treating HFpEF. In patients with LV diastolic dysfunction and PH, chronic sildenafil treatment lowered mean pulmonary artery pressure and improved RV function and LV relaxation (Guazzi et al. 2011). A subsequent study, however, found no benefit on either invasive hemodynamics or exercise performance (Hoendermis et al. 2015). More convincingly, a larger 6-month multicenter trial of the same drug in HFpEF patients also reported no benefits over placebo (Redfield et al. 2013). However, the patient cohort for this study included few subjects with PH, and a majority lacked LV hypertrophy and many did not have diastolic dysfunction. Prior animal data have shown that the influence of PDE5A inhibition to counter pressure overload-induced cardiac disease requires the presence of sufficient maladaptive remodeling so that cGK1 has something useful to suppress (Nagayama et al. 2009). Perhaps more importantly, other studies have found human HFpEF myocardium contains very little cGMP and has low cGK1 activity, neither being attributable to elevated PDE5A activation (van Heerebeek et al. 2012). This makes it less likely that PDE5A inhibition could have much impact.

HFpEF particularly affects older women, and reduced NO signaling consequent to menopause may provide another reason for little impact from PDE5A inhibition. In women, the estrogen receptor couples to NOS-dependent cGMP synthesis via a non-transcriptional signaling pathway (Haynes et al. 2000; Leung et al. 2007). As this NO-derived cGMP is the primary target of PDE5A, its decline postmenopause may limit the efficacy of PDE5A inhibition. Consistent with this hypothesis, Sasaki et al. (Sasaki et al. 2014) found that female mice with G α q overexpression- or pressure overload-induced heart disease responded favorably to PDE5A inhibition, but this benefit was lost if the mice underwent ovariectomy. The efficacy of PDE5A inhibition was restored if exogenous estrogen was subsequently provided. This may have contributed to differences in results from the two hemodynamic studies, with negative data coming from mostly female patients (>75%) (Hoendermis et al. 2015) and positive results from mostly males (Guazzi et al. 2011).

Lastly, PDE5A inhibition has been studied in patients with type 2 diabetes and evidence of ventricular dysfunction but no heart failure symptoms. Chronic sildenafil treatment improved some indexes of LV contraction and morphology (Giannetta et al. 2012). Additional studies in this disease have not yet been reported. Further, whether this relates to myocardial, vascular, or potentially metabolic effects such as improved insulin sensitivity (Ho et al. 2014; Ramirez et al. 2015) from PDE5A inhibition remains unclear.

6 Potential Roles for PDE1, PDE2, and PDE9 in Heart Failure

6.1 PDE1

The PDE1 family is encoded by three genes: *PDE1A*, *PDE1B*, and *PDE1C*. PDE1A is selective for cGMP, whereas PDE1B and PDE1C display balanced substrate selectivity. All three isoforms are expressed in human myocardium (Table 1), with PDE1C the predominant ventricular isoform (Loughney et al. 1996; Lukowski et al. 2010; Miller et al. 2009; Vandeput et al. 2007). By contrast, PDE1A is the predominant isoform in rat and mouse heart (Miller et al. 2009). All three require activation by calcium/calmodulin making them of interest in cardiac stress conditions. In rodents, PDE1A expression is pathologically upregulated in myocytes and fibroblasts in response to Gq-coupled agonists (e.g., angiotensin II) and by myocardial stress such as infarction (Miller et al. 2011), pressure overload,

and chronic isoproterenol infarction (Miller et al. 2009). Broad PDE1 inhibition was effective in vitro in suppressing myocyte hypertrophy and fibroblast activation and in vivo against isoproterenol infusion (Fig. 1). While it is likely PDE1A is engaged in these behaviors, PDE1A knockout mice remain yet to be reported. PDE1C global knockout mice have been generated and studied for their role in the olfactory system (Cygnar and Zhao 2009). Preliminary data from these mice has revealed protection against pressure overload hypertrophy and apoptosis (Knight et al. 2014). The mechanism for the former remains unclear, while the latter appears related to cAMP rather than cGMP signaling. Broad PDE1 inhibitors have already been developed for human use and tested in patients with schizophrenia (Heckman et al. 2015). Cardiovascular studies of the hemodynamic and direct myocardial effects of nonselective PDE1 inhibitors in larger mammals are also ongoing, and clinical studies may follow.

6.2 PDE2A

PDE2A is a dual-substrate enzyme which provides important cyclic nucleotide cross talk as it is activated by cGMP binding to regulatory GAF domains to enhance hydrolysis of cAMP (Martins et al. 1982). PDE2A is encoded by a single gene giving rise to three N-terminal variants (Rosman et al. 1997). PDE2A3 is expressed in human and found in cardiomyocytes and vascular endothelial cells (Sadhu et al. 1999). Zaccolo et al. reported PDE2A modifies myocyte responses to β -adrenergic co-stimulation (Mongillo et al. 2006; Vandecasteele et al. 2001), controlling localized PKA-II at the plasma membrane in a cGMP-regulated manner (Zoccarato et al. 2015). Both NP- and NO-stimulated cGMP pathways are linked to PDE2A activation in quiescent adult and neonatal cardiac myocytes (Fischmeister et al. 2006); however, the physiological role cGMP hydrolysis in vivo remains unclear.

As with most of the other PDEs, PDE2A expression rises in the failing heart. Hypoxia increases PDE2A expression and activity through HIF1 α and TNF- α signaling in cultured human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Chen et al. 2016). Myocardial expression is increased in rat hypertrophy (Mehel et al. 2013; Yanaka et al. 2003) and in canine pacing-induced HF models (Mehel et al. 2013). Similar increases are reported in human ischemic or nonischemic dilated HF, but not in hypertrophy (Mehel et al. 2013). PDE2A overexpression in isolated rat myocytes reduces L-type calcium current and corresponding calcium transients and sarcomere shortening following β -adrenergic stimulation. Chronic upregulation depresses hypertrophy induced by sustained β -adrenergic stimulation (Mehel et al. 2013), suggesting its activation is beneficial.

An alternative view was reported by Zoccarato et al. (Zoccarato et al. 2015), who found PDE2A *inhibition* suppresses norepinephrine-stimulated hypertrophy in the rat. Here, the mechanism was linked to an increase in cAMP-PKA signaling pathway that in turn increased NFAT phosphorylation. This curtailed the nuclear translocation of NFAT and downstream pro-hypertrophic signaling. Both studies

reported regulation of cAMP by PDE2A amplified by cGMP, but their differences may relate to the precise conditions and local signaling linked to the stress trigger and cyclic nucleotide cross talk. For instance, computer modeling (Zhao et al. 2016) predicts PDE2A hydrolyzes increasing amounts of cAMP as β -AR stimulation is enhanced and hydrolyzes more cGMP at low levels of NO stimulation. Differences in cyclic nucleotide regulation, such as relocalization of PDE4 and targeted stimulation of PKA isoform subtypes, are also induced by sustained adrenergic stimuli and could alter net PDE2A responses (Fields et al. 2016). Figure 2 summarizes this signaling.

Therapeutic targeting of PDE2A in the intact myocardium poses further challenges in that its expression in myocytes and vascular endothelial cells may present opposing effects. For example, Chen et al. (Chen et al. 2016) revealed that NPs released after myocardial infarction increase endothelial permeability to amplify the post-injury inflammatory response. This was related to endothelial-specific NP receptor-guanylyl cyclase activation, though not to cGMP-activated cGK1 regulation. Rather, the newly generated cGMP stimulated PDE2A activity, further potentiating the esterase's hypoxia-induced expression; this in turn lowered cAMP to promote endothelial leakiness. Thus, blockers of PDE2A might concomitantly reduce postischemic inflammation via endothelial-targeted activity, while increasing adrenergic-stimulated contractility but also suppressing hypertrophic signaling in the myocyte.

6.3 PDE9A

PDE9A is the most selective for cGMP from all the 11 species (Fisher et al. 1998; Soderling et al. 1998) and has been clinically developed and tested for its potential to treat cognitive disorders such as Alzheimer's and schizophrenia (Duinen et al. 2015). It is expressed most prominently in the brain (though still at low levels) but also in the gut, kidney, and heart. Unlike PDE1, PDE2, or PDE5, there are presently no known mechanisms regulating its hydrolytic activity. The wide range of PDE9A N-terminal splice variants are instead likely to impact subcellular targeting (Wang et al. 2003). Lee et al. reported PDE9A is also upregulated in diseased myocardium, showing protein expression increases in humans, in both dilated HF and HFpEF (Lee et al. 2015). In mice subjected to pressure overload, PDE9A deletion or its pharmacological inhibition led to improved LV function and reduced fibrosis and hypertrophy. Importantly, PDE9A regulation of cGMP is distinct from PDE5A, in that the former selectively hydrolyzes cGMP derived from NP stimulation. This was confirmed in neonatal and adult cardiomyocytes and the intact heart (Fig. 2). While inhibition of each selective PDE was linked to cGK1 activation, the protein targeting of the kinase as well as impact on transcriptional regulators as deduced by non-biased phospho-proteomics was distinct (Lee et al. 2015). These results have potentially significant therapeutic implications as NOS declines in many HF patients (Umar and van der Laarse 2010) and, as mentioned, is compromised in women by the decline in estrogen postmenopause.

Targeting PDE9A inhibition may circumvent obstacles posed by depressed NO-dependent signaling.

7 Beyond Single Small-Molecule PDE Suppression

Advances in biochemical and cloning techniques helped unveil the structural similarities as well as differences among PDE species and facilitated small-molecule design for highly potent and selective inhibitors. Still, our capacity to influence isoform subtypes remains poor, while data increasingly shows how this is central to their intracellular regulation. The concept of protein complex disruption for the cAMP signalosome may be easier to achieve given the existence of A-kinase anchoring proteins (AKAPs) (Esseltine and Scott 2013; Nygren and Scott 2015). These proteins act as coordinators of a cAMP-cyclase, targeted effector kinase, and regulatory PDEs to provide microdomain control. Equivalent proteins for cGMP-kinase signaling have not been found, and this may make it more difficult to target a specific cGK1 pool.

Another issue is whether targeting a single PDE is the optimal approach or whether strategic combinations may prove more effective. For example, both PDE5A and PDE9A regulate cGMP, but the results showing different proximal triggers and shared as well as different downstream effectors might raise the potential for combined efficacy. Synergy between PDE3 and PDE4 inhibition has been reported in myocytes (Mika et al. 2013). A particularly striking example of this synergy was reported in a study of steroid production (Shimizu-Albergine et al. 2012) in testicular Leydig cells, where inhibition of PDE4 or PDE8 alone resulted in modestly elevated testosterone production, but their combination increased this 100-fold.

8 Conclusion

Since their discovery over 50 years ago, the importance of PDEs for fine-tuning localized second messenger signaling has been increasingly recognized. While much structural chemistry and pharmacology is already established, our understanding of subcellular physiology and full therapeutic potential has lagged. Novel approaches beyond single-target small-molecule inhibitors, combining stimulation with hydrolytic suppression, using dual PDE suppression, or disrupting protein complexes to target specific isoforms, may all ultimately change the therapy landscape. New work with several PDEs previously unbeknown for relevance to heart disease has already opened up new territory and opportunities. Thus, while the PDE field has in many ways matured, its impact on human disease remains to be fully leveraged, and exciting times lie ahead.

References

- Adamo CM et al (2010) Sildenafil reverses cardiac dysfunction in the mdx mouse model of Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:19079–19083
- Ahmad F et al (2015) Regulation of sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ ATPase 2 (SERCA2) activity by phosphodiesterase 3A (PDE3A) in human myocardium: phosphorylation-dependent interaction of PDE3A1 with SERCA2. J Biol Chem 290:6763–6776
- Albert CL, Sleeper M, Sweeney HL (2012) Abstract 9504: phosphodiesterase modulation of cardiomyopathy in Murine and Canine models of muscular dystrophy treated with sildenafil and tadalafil. Circulation 126:A9504
- Andersen RO et al (2012) Sgt1 acts via an LKB1/AMPK pathway to establish cortical polarity in larval neuroblasts. Dev Biol 363:258–265
- Beca S et al (2013) Phosphodiesterase type 3A regulates basal myocardial contractility through interacting with sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase type 2a signaling complexes in mouse heart. Circ Res 112:289–297
- Behling A et al (2008) Effects of 5'-phosphodiesterase four-week long inhibition with sildenafil in patients with chronic heart failure: a double-blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial. J Card Fail 14:189–197
- Bender AT, Beavo JA (2006) Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases: molecular regulation to clinical use. Pharmacol Rev 58:488–520
- Bishu K et al (2011) Sildenafil and B-type natriuretic peptide acutely phosphorylate titin and improve diastolic distensibility in vivo. Circulation 124:2882–2891
- Bobin P et al (2016) Calmodulin kinase II inhibition limits the pro-arrhythmic Ca2+ waves induced by cAMP-phosphodiesterase inhibitors. Cardiovasc Res 110:151–161
- Brenman JE et al (1995) Nitric oxide synthase complexed with dystrophin and absent from skeletal muscle sarcolemma in Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Cell 82:743–752
- Chen W et al (2016) Endothelial actions of ANP enhance myocardial inflammatory infiltration in the early phase after acute infarction. Circ Res 119:237–248
- Chung YW et al (2015) Targeted disruption of PDE3B, but not PDE3A, protects murine heart from ischemia/reperfusion injury. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112:E2253–E2262
- Corbin JD et al (2000) Phosphorylation of phosphodiesterase-5 by cyclic nucleotide-dependent protein kinase alters its catalytic and allosteric cGMP-binding activities. Eur J Biochem 267:2760–2767
- Cuffe MS et al (2002) Short-term intravenous milrinone for acute exacerbation of chronic heart failure: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 287:1541–1547
- Cygnar KD, Zhao H (2009) Phosphodiesterase 1C is dispensable for rapid response termination of olfactory sensory neurons. Nat Neurosci 12:454–462
- Das A, Xi L, Kukreja RC (2008) Protein kinase G-dependent cardioprotective mechanism of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition involves phosphorylation of ERK and GSK3beta. J Biol Chem 283:29572–29585

Degen CV et al (2015) The emperor's new clothes: PDE5 and the heart. PLoS One 10, e0118664

- DiBianco R et al (1989) A comparison of oral milrinone, digoxin, and their combination in the treatment of patients with chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 320:677–683
- Ding B et al (2005) Functional role of phosphodiesterase 3 in cardiomyocyte apoptosis: implication in heart failure. Circulation 111:2469–2476
- Duinen MV et al (2015) Treatment of cognitive impairment in schizophrenia: potential value of phosphodiesterase inhibitors in prefrontal dysfunction. Curr Pharm Des 21:3813–3828
- Esseltine JL, Scott JD (2013) AKAP signaling complexes: pointing towards the next generation of therapeutic targets? Trends Pharmacol Sci 34:648–655
- Fields LA, Koschinski A, Zaccolo M (2016) Sustained exposure to catecholamines affects cAMP/ PKA compartmentalised signalling in adult rat ventricular myocytes. Cell Signal 28:725–732
- Fischmeister R et al (2006) Compartmentation of cyclic nucleotide signaling in the heart: the role of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases. Circ Res 99:816–828

- Fisher DA et al (1998) Isolation and characterization of PDE9A, a novel human cGMP-specific phosphodiesterase. J Biol Chem 273:15559–15564
- Francis SH et al (2002) Phosphorylation of isolated human phosphodiesterase-5 regulatory domain induces an apparent conformational change and increases cGMP binding affinity. J Biol Chem 277:47581–47587
- Francis SH, Blount MA, Corbin JD (2011) Mammalian cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases: Molecular mechanisms and physiological functions. Physiol Rev 91:651–690
- Ghofrani HA et al (2004) Differences in hemodynamic and oxygenation responses to three different phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension: a randomized prospective study. J Am Coll Cardiol 44:1488–1496
- Giannetta E et al (2012) Chronic inhibition of cGMP phosphodiesterase 5A improves diabetic cardiomyopathy: a randomized, controlled clinical trial using magnetic resonance imaging with myocardial tagging. Circulation 125:2323–2333
- Gloerich M, Bos JL (2010) Epac: defining a new mechanism for cAMP action. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 50:355–375
- Guazzi M et al (2011) Pulmonary hypertension in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a target of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition in a 1-year study. Circulation 124:164–174
- Hammers DW et al (2016) Tadalafil treatment delays the onset of cardiomyopathy in dystrophindeficient hearts. J Am Heart Assoc 5, e003911
- Haynes MP et al (2000) Membrane estrogen receptor engagement activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase via the PI3-kinase-Akt pathway in human endothelial cells. Circ Res 87:677–682
- Heckman PR, Wouters C, Prickaerts J (2015) Phosphodiesterase inhibitors as a target for cognition enhancement in aging and Alzheimer's disease: a translational overview. Curr Pharm Des 21:317–331
- Ho JE et al (2014) Effect of phosphodiesterase inhibition on insulin resistance in obese individuals. J Am Heart Assoc 3, e001001
- Hoendermis ES et al (2015) Effects of sildenafil on invasive haemodynamics and exercise capacity in heart failure patients with preserved ejection fraction and pulmonary hypertension: a randomized controlled trial. Eur Heart J 36:2565–2573
- Kentish JC et al (2001) Phosphorylation of troponin I by protein kinase A accelerates relaxation and crossbridge cycle kinetics in mouse ventricular muscle. Circ Res 88:1059–1065
- Kim KH et al (2015) PDE 5 inhibition with udenafil improves left ventricular systolic/diastolic functions and exercise capacity in patients with chronic heart failure with reduced ejection fraction; A 12-week, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Am Heart J 169 (813–822), e3
- Kinoshita H et al (2010) Inhibition of TRPC6 channel activity contributes to the antihypertrophic effects of natriuretic peptides-guanylyl cyclase-A signaling in the heart. Circ Res 106:1849–1860
- Knight WE et al (2014) Abstract 25: the role of cAMP-phosphodiesterase 1C signaling in pathological cardiac remodeling and dysfunction. Circ Res 115:A25
- Kobayashi K et al (2007) Relation of spasms and myoclonus to suppression-burst on EEG in epileptic encephalopathy in early infancy. Neuropediatrics 38:244–250
- Koitabashi N et al (2010) Cyclic GMP/PKG-dependent inhibition of TRPC6 channel activity and expression negatively regulates cardiomyocyte NFAT activation Novel mechanism of cardiac stress modulation by PDE5 inhibition. J Mol Cell Cardiol 48:713–724
- Lee DI et al (2015) Phosphodiesterase 9A controls nitric-oxide-independent cGMP and hypertrophic heart disease. Nature 519:472–476
- Leroy J et al (2008) Spatiotemporal dynamics of beta-adrenergic cAMP signals and L-type Ca2+ channel regulation in adult rat ventricular myocytes: role of phosphodiesterases. Circ Res 102:1091–1100
- Leung SW et al (2007) Non-genomic vascular actions of female sex hormones: physiological implications and signalling pathways. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 34:822–826

- Leung DG et al (2014) Sildenafil does not improve cardiomyopathy in Duchenne/Becker muscular dystrophy. Ann Neurol 76:541–549
- Lewis GD et al (2007) Sildenafil improves exercise capacity and quality of life in patients with systolic heart failure and secondary pulmonary hypertension. Circulation 116:1555–1562
- Loufrani L, Levy BI, Henrion D (2002) Defect in microvascular adaptation to chronic changes in blood flow in mice lacking the gene encoding for dystrophin. Circ Res 91:1183–1189
- Loughney K et al (1996) Isolation and characterization of cDNAs corresponding to two human calcium, calmodulin-regulated, 3',5'-cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases. J Biol Chem 271:796–806
- Lu Z et al (2010) Oxidative stress regulates left ventricular PDE5 expression in the failing heart. Circulation 121:1474–83
- Lukowski R et al (2010) Cardiac hypertrophy is not amplified by deletion of cGMP-dependent protein kinase I in cardiomyocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:5646–5651
- MacLennan DH, Kranias EG (2003) Phospholamban: a crucial regulator of cardiac contractility. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 4:566–577
- Martins TJ, Mumby MC, Beavo JA (1982) Purification and characterization of a cyclic GMP-stimulated cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase from bovine tissues. J Biol Chem 257:1973–1979
- Maurice DH et al (2014) Advances in targeting cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 13:290–314
- Meacci E et al (1992) Molecular cloning and expression of human myocardial cGMP-inhibited cAMP phosphodiesterase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:3721–3725
- Mehel H et al (2013) Phosphodiesterase-2 is up-regulated in human failing hearts and blunts betaadrenergic responses in cardiomyocytes. J Am Coll Cardiol 62:1596–1606
- Metra M et al (2009) Effects of low-dose oral enoximone administration on mortality, morbidity, and exercise capacity in patients with advanced heart failure: the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel group ESSENTIAL trials. Eur Heart J 30:3015–3026
- Mika D et al (2013) Differential regulation of cardiac excitation-contraction coupling by cAMP phosphodiesterase subtypes. Cardiovasc Res 100:336–346
- Miller CL et al (2009) Role of Ca2+/calmodulin-stimulated cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 1 in mediating cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. Circ Res 105:956–964
- Miller CL et al (2011) Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 1A: a key regulator of cardiac fibroblast activation and extracellular matrix remodeling in the heart. Basic Res Cardiol 106:1023–1039
- Mongillo M et al (2006) Compartmentalized phosphodiesterase-2 activity blunts beta-adrenergic cardiac inotropy via an NO/cGMP-dependent pathway. Circ Res 98:226–234
- Movsesian M, Wever-Pinzon O, Vandeput F (2011) PDE3 inhibition in dilated cardiomyopathy. Curr Opin Pharmacol 11:707–713
- Murphy RM et al (2011) Exercise oscillatory ventilation in systolic heart failure: an indicator of impaired hemodynamic response to exercise. Circulation 124:1442–1451
- Nagayama T et al (2007) Control of in vivo left ventricular [correction] contraction/relaxation kinetics by myosin binding protein C: protein kinase A phosphorylation dependent and independent regulation. Circulation 116:2399–2408
- Nagayama T et al (2008) Sustained soluble guanylate cyclase stimulation offsets nitric-oxide synthase inhibition to restore acute cardiac modulation by sildenafil. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 326:380–387
- Nagayama T et al (2009) Pressure-overload magnitude-dependence of the anti-hypertrophic efficacy of PDE5A inhibition. J Mol Cell Cardiol 46:560–567
- Nagendran J et al (2007) Phosphodiesterase type 5 is highly expressed in the hypertrophied human right ventricle, and acute inhibition of phosphodiesterase type 5 improves contractility. Circulation 116:238–248
- Nakano SJ et al (2016) Cardiac adenylyl cyclase and phosphodiesterase expression profiles vary by age, disease, and chronic phosphodiesterase inhibitor treatment. J Card Fail

- Nelson MD et al (2014) PDE5 inhibition alleviates functional muscle ischemia in boys with Duchenne muscular dystrophy. Neurology 82:2085–2091
- Nishida M et al (2010) Phosphorylation of TRPC6 channels at Thr69 is required for antihypertrophic effects of phosphodiesterase 5 inhibition. J Biol Chem 285:13244–13253
- Nygren PJ, Scott JD (2015) Therapeutic strategies for anchored kinases and phosphatases: exploiting short linear motifs and intrinsic disorder. Front Pharmacol 6:158
- Oikawa M et al (2013) Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase 3A1 protects the heart against ischemia-reperfusion injury. J Mol Cell Cardiol 64:11–19
- Packer M et al (1991) Effect of oral milrinone on mortality in severe chronic heart failure. The PROMISE Study Research Group. N Engl J Med 325:1468–1475
- Pokreisz P et al (2009) Ventricular phosphodiesterase-5 expression is increased in patients with advanced heart failure and contributes to adverse ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction in mice. Circulation 119:408–416
- Ramirez CE et al (2015) Treatment with Sildenafil Improves Insulin Sensitivity in Prediabetes: a Randomized. Control Trial J Clin Endocrinol Metab 100:4533–4540
- Ranek MJ et al (2013) Protein kinase g positively regulates proteasome-mediated degradation of misfolded proteins. Circulation 128:365–376
- Redfield MM et al (2013) Effect of phosphodiesterase-5 inhibition on exercise capacity and clinical status in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA 309:1268–1277
- Reiken SR et al (2003) PKA phosphorylation of the cardiac calcium release channel (ryanodine receptor) in normal and failing hearts: role of phosphatases and response to isoproterenol. J Biol Chem 278(1):444–453
- Rosman GJ et al (1997) Isolation and characterization of human cDNAs encoding a cGMPstimulated 3',5'-cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase. Gene 191:89–95
- Rybalkin SD et al (2003) PDE5 is converted to an activated state upon cGMP binding to the GAF A domain. EMBO J 22:469–478
- Sadhu K et al (1999) Differential expression of the cyclic GMP-stimulated phosphodiesterase PDE2A in human venous and capillary endothelial cells. J Histochem Cytochem 47:895–906
- Sasaki H et al (2014) PDE5 inhibitor efficacy is estrogen dependent in female heart disease. J Clin Invest 124:2464–2471
- Sawada N et al (2001) cGMP-dependent protein kinase phosphorylates and inactivates RhoA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 280:798–805
- Seo K et al (2014) Hyperactive adverse mechanical stress responses in dystrophic heart are coupled to transient receptor potential canonical 6 and blocked by cGMP-protein kinase G modulation. Circ Res 114:823–832
- Shah SJ et al (2016) Phenotype-specific treatment of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a multiorgan roadmap. Circulation 134:73–90
- Shan X et al (2012) Differential expression of PDE5 in failing and nonfailing human myocardium. Circ Heart Fail 5:79–86
- Shimizu-Albergine M et al (2012) cAMP-specific phosphodiesterases 8A and 8B, essential regulators of Leydig cell steroidogenesis. Mol Pharmacol 81:556–566
- Smith CJ et al (1997) Development of decompensated dilated cardiomyopathy is associated with decreased gene expression and activity of the milrinone-sensitive cAMP phosphodiesterase PDE3A. Circulation 96:3116–23
- Soderling SH, Bayuga SJ, Beavo JA (1998) Identification and characterization of a novel family of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases. J Biol Chem 273:15553–15558
- Stelzer JE, Patel JR, Moss RL (2006) Protein kinase A-mediated acceleration of the stretch activation response in murine skinned myocardium is eliminated by ablation of cMyBP-C. Circ Res 99:884–890
- Sun B et al (2007) Role of phosphodiesterase type 3A and 3B in regulating platelet and cardiac function using subtype-selective knockout mice. Cell Signal 19:1765–1771

- Surks HK et al (1999) Regulation of myosin phosphatase by a specific interaction with cGMPdependent protein kinase Ialpha. Science 286:1583–1587
- Tadalafil and Sildenafil for Duchenne Muscular Dystrophy Clinicaltrials.gov: NCT01359670
- Takimoto E et al (2005a) cGMP catabolism by phosphodiesterase 5A regulates cardiac adrenergic stimulation by NOS3-dependent mechanism. Circ Res 96:100–109
- Takimoto E et al (2005b) Chronic inhibition of cyclic GMP phosphodiesterase 5A prevents and reverses cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Med 11:214–222
- Takimoto E et al (2009) Regulator of G protein signaling 2 mediates cardiac compensation to pressure overload and antihypertrophic effects of PDE5 inhibition in mice. J Clin Invest 119:408–420
- Tokudome T et al (2008) Regulator of G-protein signaling subtype 4 mediates antihypertrophic effect of locally secreted natriuretic peptides in the heart. Circulation 117:2329–2339
- Umar S, van der Laarse A (2010) Nitric oxide and nitric oxide synthase isoforms in the normal, hypertrophic, and failing heart. Mol Cell Biochem 333:191–201
- van Heerebeek L et al (2012) Low myocardial protein kinase G activity in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Circulation 126:830–839
- Vandecasteele G et al (2001) Cyclic GMP regulation of the L-type Ca(2+) channel current in human atrial myocytes. J Physiol 533:329–340
- Vandeput F et al (2007) Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase PDE1C1 in human cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem 282:32749–32757
- Vandeput F et al (2013) Selective regulation of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase PDE3A isoforms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110:19778–19783
- Verde I et al (1999) Characterization of the cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase subtypes involved in the regulation of the L-type Ca2+ current in rat ventricular myocytes. Br J Pharmacol 127:65–74
- Vandenwijngaert S et al (2013) Increased cardiac myocyte PDE5 levels in human and murine pressure overload hypertrophy contribute to adverse LV remodeling. PLoS One 8, e58841
- Wang P et al (2003) Identification and characterization of a new human type 9 cGMP-specific phosphodiesterase splice variant (PDE9A5). Differential tissue distribution and subcellular localization of PDE9A variants. Gene 314:15–27
- Wechsler J et al (2002) Isoforms of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterase PDE3A in cardiac myocytes. J Biol Chem 277:38072–38078
- Weishaar RE et al (1987) Subclasses of cyclic AMP-specific phosphodiesterase in left ventricular muscle and their involvement in regulating myocardial contractility. Circ Res 61:539–547
- Yamasaki R et al (2002) Protein kinase A phosphorylates titin's cardiac-specific N2B domain and reduces passive tension in rat cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 90:1181–1188
- Yan C et al (2007) Activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase 5 reduces cardiac apoptosis and dysfunction via inhibition of a phosphodiesterase 3A/inducible cAMP early repressor feedback loop. Circ Res 100:510–519
- Yanaka N et al (2003) cGMP-phosphodiesterase activity is up-regulated in response to pressure overload of rat ventricles. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 67:973–979
- Zaccolo M (2009) cAMP signal transduction in the heart: understanding spatial control for the development of novel therapeutic strategies. Br J Pharmacol 158:50–60
- Zaccolo M, Pozzan T (2002) Discrete microdomains with high concentration of cAMP in stimulated rat neonatal cardiac myocytes. Science 295:1711–1715
- Zhang M et al (2008) Expression, activity, and pro-hypertrophic effects of PDE5A in cardiac myocytes. Cell Signal 20:2231–2236
- Zhang M et al (2010) Myocardial remodeling is controlled by myocyte-targeted gene regulation of phosphodiesterase type 5. J Am Coll Cardiol 56:2021–2030
- Zhao CY, Greenstein JL, Winslow RL (2016) Roles of phosphodiesterases in the regulation of the cardiac cyclic nucleotide cross-talk signaling network. J Mol Cell Cardiol 91:215–227
- Zoccarato A et al (2015) Cardiac hypertrophy is inhibited by a local pool of cAMP regulated by phosphodiesterase 2. Circ Res 117:707–719

Steroidal and Novel Non-steroidal Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonists in Heart Failure and Cardiorenal Diseases: Comparison at Bench and Bedside

Peter Kolkhof, Frederic Jaisser, So-Young Kim, Gerasimos Filippatos, Christina Nowack, and Bertram Pitt

Contents

1	Intro	oduction	274
2	Path	ophysiology of MR Overactivation	275
	2.1	Aldosterone and MR	275
	2.2	Pharmacology of MR Transgenic Animals	279
3	Phar	macology of MRAs	282
	3.1	Steroidal MRAs and Nomenclature of MRAs	282
	3.2	Novel Non-steroidal MRAs	283
	3.3	Differences Between Steroidal MRAs and Non-steroidal Finerenone	285
4	Impo	ortant Clinical Trials with MRAs	290
	4.1	Spironolactone in HFrEF: RALES	290
	4.2	Eplerenone in HFrEF: EPHESUS and EMPHASIS-HF	290
	4.3	Spironolactone in HFpEF: TOPCAT	291
	4.4	Finerenone in HFrEF and Diabetic Kidney Diseases (DKD)	292
5	Con	clusions and Outlook	297
Re	feren	ces	298

P. Kolkhof (🖂)

Drug Discovery, Cardiology Research, Bayer Pharma AG, Building 500, Aprather Weg 18a, 42096 Wuppertal, Germany e-mail: peter.kolkhof@bayer.com

F. Jaisser

INSERM, UMRS 1138, Team 1, Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, Pierre et Marie Curie University, Paris Descartes University, Paris, France

S.-Y. Kim • C. Nowack Clinical Development, Bayer Pharma AG, 42096 Wuppertal, Germany

G. Filippatos

Department of Cardiology, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, School of Medicine, Attikon University Hospital, Rimini 1, Haidari, Athens 12462, Greece

B. Pitt

University of Michigan Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI, USA

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016 J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), *Heart Failure*,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_76

Abstract

Characterization of mice with cell-specific deletion or overexpression of the mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) shed a new light on its role in health and disease. Pathophysiological MR activation contributes to a plethora of deleterious molecular mechanisms in the development of cardiorenal diseases like chronic kidney disease (CKD) and heart failure (HF). Accordingly, the available steroidal MR antagonists (MRAs) spironolactone (first generation MRA) and eplerenone (second generation MRA) have been shown to be effective in reducing cardiovascular (CV) mortality and morbidity in patients with chronic HF and a reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (HFrEF). However, they remain underutilized, in large part owing to the risk inducing severe adverse events including hyperkalemia and worsening of kidney function, particularly when given on top of inhibitors of the renin angiotensin system (RAS) to patients with concomitant kidney dysfunction. Novel, potent, and selective non-steroidal MRAs (third generation) were identified in drug discovery campaigns and a few entered clinical development recently. One of these is finerenone with different physicochemical, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacological properties in comparison with the steroidal MRAs. Available data from five clinical phase II trials with finerenone in more than 2,000 patients with HF and additional CKD and/or diabetes as well as in patients with diabetic kidney disease demonstrated that neither hyperkalemia nor reductions in kidney function were limiting factors to its use. Moreover, finerenone demonstrated a nominally improved outcome compared to eplerenone in a phase IIb trial with 1,066 patients with HFrEF and concomitant type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) and/or CKD.

Keywords

Chronic kidney disease • Eplerenone • Finerenone • Heart failure • Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists • Spironolactone

Abbreviations

11β-HSD2	11β-Hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2
ACEI(s)	Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor(s)
AGP	Alpha-1 acid glycoprotein
AngII	Angiotensin II
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
BID	Bis in die (twice daily)
BNP	B-type natriuretic peptide
CCB	Calcium channel blocker
CHF	Chronic heart failure

CI	Confidence interval
CKD	Chronic kidney disease
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
CV	Cardiovascular
DHP	Dihydropyridine
DKD	Diabetic kidney disease
DM	Diabetes mellitus
DN	Diabetic nephropathy
DOC	Desoxy-corticosterone
DOCA	Desoxy-corticosterone acetate
ECM	Extracellular matrix
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
ENaC	Epithelial sodium channel
ER	Estrogen receptor
HF	Heart failure
HFpEF	Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
HHF	Hospitalization for heart failure
HR	Hazard ratio
ICAM1	Intercellular cell adhesion molecule 1
Ito	Potassium transient outward current
K ⁺	Potassium
L-NAME	NG-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester
LV	Left ventricular
LVSD	Left ventricular systolic dysfunction
MCP-1	Macrophage chemoattractant protein-1
MR	Mineralocorticoid receptor
MRA	Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist
Na ⁺	Sodium
Nedd4-2	Neural precursor cell expressed developmentally down-regulated protein 4-2
NT-proBNP	N-terminal of prohormone of BNP
OD	Once daily
PAI-1	Protein plasminogen activator inhibitor-1
PICP	Procollagen type I carboxy-terminal peptide
PIIINP	Procollagen type III amino-terminal peptide
PINP	Procollagen type I amino-terminal peptide
RAAS	Renin angiotensin aldosterone system
RAR	Retinoic acid receptor
RAS	Renin angiotensin system
ROMK	Renal outer medullary potassium channel
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RXR	Retinoid X receptor
SERM	Selective ER modulators

Sgk1	Serum glucocorticoid kinase1
SoC	Standard of care
SRC-1	Steroid receptor co-activator-1
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor beta
Tnnt2	Troponin T type 2
UACR	Urinary albumin to creatinine ratio
VCAM1	Vascular cell adhesion molecule 1
VSMC	Vascular smooth muscle cell

1 Introduction

Heart failure (HF) is a chronic, complex, and progressive syndrome characterized by a decline in cardiac output and/or elevated intracardiac filling pressures resulting in typical symptoms (e.g., breathlessness, ankle swelling, and fatigue) and signs (e.g., elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles). Approximately 1-2%of the adult population in developed countries is suffering from HF, with the prevalence rising to $\geq 10\%$ among persons 70 years of age or older (Mosterd and Hoes 2007). HF is the leading cause of hospitalization among adults (McCullough et al. 2002) and despite medical advances in the treatment of chronic HF over the last two decades, mortality remains high (Maggioni et al. 2013). Once hospitalized for HF exacerbation, the rate of mortality and re-admission in early post discharge within 90 days is as high as 8.6% and 29.6%, respectively (O'Connor et al. 2008). The majority of HF patients have a history of cardiovascular (CV) and non-CV comorbidities such as diabetes mellitus (DM) and chronic kidney disease (CKD) (Cleland et al. 2003) which are independent predictors for mortality and morbidity. DM and CKD are also risk factors for the development of hyperkalemia (Johnson et al. 2010) and renal failure, important adverse effects linked to the use of blockers of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) which are standard of care (SoC) among patients with HF.

Aldosterone has a well-documented role in the pathophysiology of CV diseases (Bauersachs et al. 2015; Lother et al. 2015; Jaisser and Farman 2016). HF is characterized by high plasma levels of aldosterone (Swedberg et al. 1990), which in turn are associated with reduced functional capacity (Cicoira et al. 2002) as well as CV mortality or the development of HF in postinfarction patients (Rouleau et al. 1994). Apart from its direct renal effects on sodium retention and potassium excretion, aldosterone exerts several other extra-renal effects that significantly contribute to the pathogenesis of HF. MR overactivation within the heart might cause coronary endothelial dysfunction, myocardial apoptosis, and reactive myocardial fibrosis and thus contribute to cardiac remodeling and its adverse consequences. Accordingly, blockade of MR has proven efficacy in patients with HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF), arterial hypertension, and CKD (Bauersachs et al. 2015; Schwenk et al. 2015). However, current attempts to

block aldosterone's action at the MR by using the available steroidal MRAs spironolactone or eplerenone is a double-edged sword: while these drugs could be a life-saving therapy for patients with HFrEF they may also induce severe hyperkalemia and kidney dysfunction, particularly when given on top of SoC such as angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) or angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs) to "real life" patients typically with variable degrees of concomitant kidney dysfunction. In fact, hyperkalemic episodes were reported in up to 36% among unselected elderly HF outpatients on spironolactone therapy with about 10% developing potential life-threatening hyperkalemia (>6 mmol/L) (Svensson et al. 2004; Dinsdale et al. 2005).

Accordingly, the demand for novel, potent, and selective, non-steroidal MRAs with a reduced risk for developing hyperkalemia initiated drug discovery programs within several pharmaceutical companies aiming for identification of novel non-steroidal MRAs with potentially different pharmacodynamics properties.

Here we review the consequences of extra-renal MR overactivation, important available pharmacological data of steroidal and novel non-steroidal MRAs and key clinical trial results with MRAs being investigated in different HF populations also highlighting differences of steroidal MRAs versus the novel non-steroidal MRA finerenone.

2 Pathophysiology of MR Overactivation

2.1 Aldosterone and MR

Simpson and Tait (1953) identified a substance of much higher potency than any previously known adrenal steroid in affecting electrolyte excretion in adrenal extracts which they designated as "electrocortin." Only a year later, the chemical structure of electrocortin was resolved (Simpson et al. 1954) and the crystalline substance was re-named aldosterone. Aldosterone is synthesized in the *Zona glomerulosa* of the adrenal cortex and its physiological role was long believed to be mainly the regulation of electrolyte homeostasis and control of blood pressure. Synthesis and release of aldosterone are stimulated by low sodium or high potassium levels in the plasma or by direct stimulation via angiotensin II. Aldosterone promotes the retention of sodium and the loss of magnesium and potassium in physiological short term feedback loops. However, chronically elevated aldosterone release participates in the generation of vascular, myocardial, and renal fibrosis, and eventually end-organ damage, dysfunction, and failure (see below).

Aldosterone levels can be inappropriately elevated in patients with HF, despite the use of ACEIs, ARBs, and beta-blockers (Albaghdadi et al. 2011). Long-term RAS blockade with ACEIs and ARBs results in incomplete suppression of serum aldosterone levels, known as the "aldosterone escape" phenomenon (Staessen et al. 1981). Exploratory clinical studies have shown that in adults with CKD exhibiting "aldosterone escape," treatment with MRAs improves kidney outcomes such as proteinuria (Fritsch Neves and Schiffrin 2003). However, even in a randomly selected sample of the general community, elevated plasma aldosterone levels are strongly associated with the metabolic syndrome and CV diseases including CKD (Buglioni et al. 2015). Aldosterone above the normal range is strongly associated with increased incidence of all-cause mortality (Buglioni et al. 2015). However, a recent clinical study has also proven beneficial effects of MRAs in patients with low serum aldosterone levels and the absence of an aldosterone escape phenomenon (Kim et al. 2014). The authors concluded that elevated serum aldosterone levels are probably not the crucial factor for the beneficial effects of MRAs.

The before mentioned actions of aldosterone via its receptor leading to differential gene expression are summarized as "genomic" effects of aldosterone. Besides these actions, the so-called non-genomic effects of aldosterone, e.g., very rapid effects like vasoconstriction have been described. However, almost all of these "non-genomic" effects cannot be blocked directly by the available MRAs spironolactone and eplerenone (Funder 2001).

In addition to its classical renal effects, aldosterone exerts several other extrarenal effects that significantly contribute to the pathogenesis of HF, e.g., inflammation, reactive myocardial fibrosis, and cardiac remodeling processes.

An association of the renal effects of aldosterone and related mineralocorticoids with extra-renal deleterious effects was described already in the 40th of the last century. Reichstein succeeded in purification and synthesis of desoxycorticosterone (DOC), an important precursor of aldosterone and MR agonist, from an extract of beef adrenals (Reichstein and von Euw 1938). Only 2 years later Thorn et al. successfully introduced subcutaneous or intramuscular injections of desoxycorticosterone acetate (DOCA) for regaining sodium and potassium homeostasis in patients with Addison's disease (Thorn et al. 1939). Darrow and Miller (1942) described already in 1942 cardiac lesions of myocardial fibers and their replacement by fibroblasts in rats following prolonged DOCA treatment. In the same year, Selye (1942), the discoverer of the general-adaptation syndrome as the body's response to stress, discovered that DOCA injections induce nephrosclerosis accompanied by cardiac hypertrophy in animals. Later, Selve described fibrinous pericarditis as well as infiltration of basophilic, polymorphonuclear cells into myocardial tissue after prolonged DOCA application to animals in his seminal work "The general adaptation syndrome and the diseases of adaptation" in 1946 (Selve 1946). In fact, he called the mineralocorticoids "prophlogistic" corticoids already in a period when research on aldosterone was basically focussed on the interplay between adrenal glands and renal sodium retention (Selve 1955).

Aldosterone acts via a specific nuclear hormone receptor, MR, which is mainly expressed in the aldosterone target organs, most importantly the heart, kidneys, and vessels. High expression of the MR was documented also in the colon and hypothalamus. From a cellular perspective, MR is expressed besides the renal epithelial cells in vascular smooth muscle cell, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, adipocytes, and immune cells like macrophages. MR belongs to the superfamily of nuclear hormone receptors, which translocate from the cytosol to the nucleus upon ligand binding (Arriza et al. 1987).

The best understood physiological role of MR is probably the regulation of sodium transport across the epithelia of the distal nephron by initiating either a signaling cascade controlling membrane insertion or, if blocked by an antagonist, degradation of the epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) (Fuller and Young 2005). The epithelial sodium transport controlled by MR is in fact the result of a complex interplay of transcriptionally induced target gene products, most importantly the serum glucocorticoid kinase (Sgk1), which deactivates the ubiquitin ligase Nedd4-2 by phosphorylation. Nedd4-2 controls ENaC degradation by the cellular proteasome system. In the presence of aldosterone Nedd4-2 activity is blocked by the transcriptionally induced activity of Sgk1, leading to proper membrane insertion of vesicular ENaC and resulting sodium transport. In contrast, when plasma aldosterone levels are low or MR is blocked by an antagonist vesicular ENaC will ultimately be degraded. The biological half-life of membrane-inserted ENaC is about 3.5 h (Yu et al. 2008). Therefore, major rate-limiting steps in this cascade are the resynthesis of ENaC and of MR.

Besides the regulation of transporthelial sodium transport, physiological activated MR also participates in the regulation of hydrogen and potassium efflux in renal cells. This can occur either passively via an electro-neutral response to the above described MR mediated sodium flux or, with spatial separation from sodium transport actively via direct transcriptional effects on Na⁺/K⁺-ATPase, renal outer medullary potassium channel (ROMK) and K⁺-ATPase (Rogerson and Fuller 2000).

In contrast to the relatively well understood molecular mechanisms driven by aldosterone and MR in renal epithelial cells, the precise mechanisms by which MR stimulates inflammation, fibrosis, and myocardial collagen accumulation are not fully understood yet. Meyer and Nichols (1981) discovered MR expression in cultured smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts from rat aorta. Weber and colleagues later found a pivotal role of aldosterone in the regulation of collagen synthesis within the interstitium and adventitia of intramyocardial coronary arteries (Brilla et al. 1990). Rocha et al. (2002) identified vascular inflammation as a potential mechanism of aldosterone-mediated myocardial injury in rats receiving chronically aldosterone and a sodium load. They found in histopathological analysis of rat hearts severe coronary inflammatory lesions characterized by monocyte/macroinfiltration, elevated cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), macrophage phage chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), and osteopontin mRNA expression (Rocha et al. 2002). It could also be demonstrated that aldosterone induces the transcriptional expression of inflammatory cytokines, most importantly osteopontin-1 (Sugiyama et al. 2005) as well as the prothrombotic protein plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 (PAI-1) (Chun and Pratt 2005). The latter protein is involved in a complex cascade of collagen deposition and degradation processes leading to interstitial fibrosis.

Zannad et al. (2000) examined the relationship between serological markers of collagen turnover and mortality in patients with HF. They found that elevated concentrations of procollagen type III amino-terminal peptide (PIIINP), a biochemical marker of myocardial fibrosis, were associated with an increased risk of death.



Fig. 1 Mode of action/consequences of MR overactivation. Schematic representation of the activities of intracellular MR: MR translocates into the nucleus upon binding of aldosterone or cortisol (but not of cortisone which is generated from cortisol by 11β-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase, type 2 (11β-HSD2) in renal epithelial cells) in the cytoplasm of a target cell. An MR dimer binds to specific DNA elements in regulatory regions of target genes and interacts here with the basic transcriptional machinery including co-regulators as SRC-1. Depending on the overall situation of the intra- and extracellular milieu, MR may drive under physiological conditions transcriptional and according phosphorylation pathways via serum glucocorticoid kinase-1 (SGK1) in renal epithelial cells which enable appropriate sodium retention and potassium efflux (pathway 1). Conditions like elevated aldosterone release, high salt load, or increased generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) may cause an MR overactivation with subsequent expression of pro-inflammatory and fibrotic proteins in the indicated cell types which ultimately lead to cardiovascular damage (pathway 2)

MR blockade significantly decreased procollagen type I amino-terminal peptide (PINP), procollagen type I carboxy-terminal peptide (PICP), and PIIINP (Zannad et al. 2000). These studies support the hypothesis that MR antagonism affects extracellular matrix turnover in humans.

Finally, it's worth mentioning also the recently discovered reciprocal cross-talk between adipose tissue and the adrenal gland which might be the basis of the epidemiological association between elevated aldosterone levels and the metabolic syndrome (for a review, see: Marzolla et al. 2012). A key cell type participating in this association seems to be the adipocyte since MR activation contributes to adipose tissue inflammation.

In summary, MR may drive under physiological conditions transcriptional pathways which enable appropriate sodium retention and potassium efflux (Fig. 1, pathway 1) while pathophysiological conditions like elevated aldosterone

release or aldosterone levels in the normal range combined with high salt load or increased generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) may lead to an MR overactivation with subsequent expression of pro-inflammatory and fibrotic proteins in several different cell types which contribute to CV damage (Fig. 1, pathway 2). We briefly mention also glomerular cells like mesangial cells and podocytes here since they are important target cells for aldosterone which play a key role in several kidney diseases (for a review, see: Bertocchio et al. 2011).

Interestingly, cortisol has a similar affinity for the MR as aldosterone (Arriza et al. 1987). There is growing evidence that cortisol may also contribute to the progression of cardiac damage in HF via MR activation (Güder et al. 2007; Weir et al. 2011). The physiological plasma levels of cortisol are at least 100-fold higher than the respective aldosterone levels (Funder 1994). Under physiological circumstances, cortisol is prevented from binding to MR through conversion to its inactive metabolite, cortisone, via enzymatic activity of 11 β -hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 (11 β -HSD2) which is expressed in epithelial cells (Fig. 1). Because cardiomyocytes lack 11 β -HSD2, cardiac MRs are probably occupied by cortisol in a tonic inhibitory fashion (Edwards et al. 1988; Funder et al. 1988; Funder 2004). However, in the context of tissue damage and generation of ROS, this inhibitory role of cortisol is transformed by the altered intracellular redox state, and cortisol may act as an MR agonist that mimics the physiological and pathophysiological effects of aldosterone (Funder 2004, 2005a; Nagata et al. 2006).

2.2 Pharmacology of MR Transgenic Animals

The MR is expressed in cardiomyocytes (Lombes et al. 1992) as well as in other cardiac cell types such as coronary endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC), fibroblasts and inflammatory cells like macrophages (Jaisser and Farman 2016). To assess the specific role of MR expressed in each cell type, a series of genetically modified mouse models have been generated.

2.2.1 MR in Cardiomyocytes

Overexpression of MR in cardiomyocytes induces major remodeling of cardiac ion channel expression and activity: the potassium transient outward current (Ito) is decreased while the L-type calcium current (I_{Ca}) activity is increased (Ouvrard-Pascaud et al. 2005). This prolongs the duration of the action potential and increases the frequency of early or delayed depolarization that triggers arrhythmic events (Ouvrard-Pascaud et al. 2005; Gómez et al. 2009). The activity of the ryanodine receptor is also impaired (Ouvrard-Pascaud et al. 2005; Gómez et al. 2005; Gómez et al. 2009). This has important consequences in the control of calcium homeostasis, modulation of calcium transients, sarcoplasmic reticulum diastolic leaks and initiating cardiac rhythm disorders (Gómez et al. 2009). This major impact on cardiac electrophysiology promotes arrhythmia: conditional overexpression of the MR in cardiomyocytes is associated with ventricular extrasystoles and increased

sensitivity to triggering ventricular arrhythmias (Ouvrard-Pascaud et al. 2005). Importantly, cardiomyocyte MR overexpression also affected neighboring structure such as coronary vessels: Favre et al. (2011) demonstrated endothelial dysfunction in coronary vessels of MR overexpressing mice. This was related to increased cardiac oxidative stress generated by cardiomyocyte MR overexpression. Importantly, coronary endothelial dysfunction was prevented if mice were treated with the MRA spironolactone (Favre et al. 2011). This probably contributes to the deleterious impact of cardiac MR activation, including arrhythmia, HF, or consequences of MI.

Targeted MR gene inactivation in cardiomyocytes has been achieved by two teams using different cardiomyocyte promoters to drive the Cre recombinase (the different promoters may affect the time- and cell-specific pattern of Cre expression and therefore MR inactivation) (Rickard et al. 2012; Fraccarollo et al. 2011). Studies from Young and colleagues investigated the role of cardiomyocyte MR on the cardiac impact of the DOCA-salt mineralocorticoid challenge (Rickard et al. 2012). They showed that cardiomyocyte MR was required for the primary inflammatory response and the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the heart as well as mineralocorticoid-induced ECM remodeling (Rickard et al. 2012).

However, cardiac function was not assessed in this study. The cardioprotective effects of cardiomyocyte MR deletion upon mineralocorticoid-salt challenge may be related to a decrease of the profibrotic pathway since MR inactivation prevented the upregulation of matrix metalloprotease 2/matrix metalloprotease 9 activity and of the transforming growth factor beta (TGF β)–connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) profibrotic pathway (Rickard et al. 2012). Bienvenu et al. (2015) analyzed the role of cardiomyocyte MR in ex vivo ischemia–reperfusion injury associated with mineralocorticoid-salt challenge. Recovery of left ventricular (LV) developed pressure and rates of contraction and relaxation post ischemia–reperfusion were greater in knockout versus wild-type hearts while the incidence of arrhythmic activity during early reperfusion was significantly higher in wild-type than in knockout hearts (Bienvenu et al. 2015). This was associated with decreased levels of phosphorylated Ca²⁺/calmodulin protein kinase II. These data indicated that cardiomyocyte MR has significant contribution in ischemia–reperfusion-related arrhythmogenesis and systolic dysfunction (Bienvenu et al. 2015).

Fraccarollo et al. (2011) demonstrated that cardiomyocyte-specific MR deficiency improved infarct healing and prevented progressive adverse cardiac remodeling, cardiac hypertrophy of the surviving tissue, and contractile dysfunction in ischemic HF. Early tissue changes after infarct were significantly improved in cardiomyocyte MR-null mice, including increased scar thickness in the infarct zone and increased capillary density in the viable tissue (Fraccarollo et al. 2011). The first week after infarct, marked improvements in LV filling pressures, LV enddiastolic and endsystolic volumes and LV ejection fraction were observed in cardiomyocyte MR-null mice when compared with wild-type mice (Fraccarollo et al. 2011). These data underline the importance of cardiomyocyte MR for onset and development of HF post-infarction, in accordance with the benefit of MR antagonism in respective patient populations (see below). Cardiomyocyte MR deletion was also protective in a transaortic constriction model of pressure overload (Lother et al. 2011), with a higher LV ejection fraction and decreased cardiac dilatation compared with control mice. However, loss of cardiomyocyte MR did not prevent the development of cardiac hypertrophy, fibrosis, or inflammatory response and macrophage infiltration after pressure overload (Lother et al. 2011).

2.2.2 MR in Endothelial Cells

Endothelial-specific MR overexpression induced progressive increase in BP associated with increased response to various vasoconstrictors like AngII, endothelin, or thromboxane (Nguyen Dinh Cat et al. 2010).

The impact of MR expressed in endothelial cells on cardiac structure and function upon mineralocorticoid challenge or high fat diet has been analyzed using mouse models with endothelial-specific MR gene inactivation. Mineralocorticoid challenge was achieved in unilateral nephrectomized mice treated with DOCA together with salt in the drinking water. Endothelial-specific MR inactivadifferent Cre expression tion (achieved with systems) fully blunted mineralocorticoid-induced increase in BP, cardiac hypertrophy, tissue remodeling, interstitial fibrosis, and cardiac macrophage recruitment (Rickard et al. 2014; Jia et al. 2015; Lother et al. 2016). Increased expression of the Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1 (VCAM 1) (Lother et al. 2016) or Intercellular Cell Adhesion Molecule 1 (ICAM 1) (Rickard et al. 2014) by mineralocorticoid treatment was also attenuated as well as various profibrotic and pro-inflammation markers (Rickard et al. 2014; Lother et al. 2016). Interestingly, the protective effect of endothelial MR on cardiac injury upon mineralocorticoid challenge was not observed for kidney injury, suggesting that additional deleterious effects are present in the kidney (Lother et al. 2016). Endothelial MR may also be involved in cardiac comorbidities such as obesity, metabolic syndrome, and diabetes. Female animals fed with high fat diet and high carbohydrate content for 16 weeks developed dietinduced cardiac diastolic dysfunction with prolonged relaxation time, impaired diastolic septal motion, and increased LV filling pressure (Jia et al. 2015). This was associated with cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and tissue remodeling with interstitial fibrosis (Jia et al. 2015). Endothelial-specific MR knockout blunted diastolic dysfunction and improved all above parameters (Jia et al. 2015). This was associated with a decrease in cardiac oxidative stress and macrophage infiltration as well as improvements of insulin signaling (Jia et al. 2015).

2.2.3 MR in Vascular Smooth Muscle Cells (VSMCs)

Gueret and collaborators recently addressed the contribution of VSMC MR in MI (Gueret et al. 2016). VSMC-specific MR deletion has no effect in baseline condition. However, absence of MR expression in VSMC attenuated the impact of MI, improving LV elastance and compliance as well as interstitial fibrosis (Gueret et al. 2016). Importantly, this was associated with an improved coronary reserve in mice, as measured using Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). Deletion of MR in VSMC reduced coronary dysfunction associated with MI: preserved coronary relaxation was associated with less oxidative stress and improved nitric oxide availability. Of note the non-steroidal MRA finerenone demonstrated similar effects (Gueret et al. 2016).

2.2.4 MR in Macrophages

MR is expressed in macrophages and may be activated by glucocorticoid rather than aldosterone, due to the low/absent 11β-HSD2 activity in macrophages. The use of macrophage-specific MR knockout mice revealed a critical role of macrophage MR signaling in mineralocorticoid-salt induced cardiac fibrosis (Rickard et al. 2009). Macrophage recruitment in the heart was not altered but mineralocorticoid induced cardiac fibrosis was reduced. Interestingly, deletion of macrophage MR altered baseline expression of numerous pro-inflammatory genes suggesting a role of MR in normal macrophage function. Usher et al. (2010) reported that MR-deleted macrophages have an M2-type profile associated with alternative macrophage activation, typically associated with anti-inflammatory and tissue repair properties. This may explain the beneficial effect of macrophage MR deletion also in other models of cardiac injury which are not directly related to mineralocorticoid challenge (Bienvenu et al. 2012; Usher et al. 2010). Similar results were obtained in a model of aortic constriction-induced cardiac hypertrophy (Li et al. 2014).

2.2.5 MR in Fibroblasts

Human cardiac fibroblasts express a functional MR and mineralocorticoid stimulation increases expression of profibrotic and pro-inflammatory markers (Tarjus et al. 2015). Fibroblast-specific MR ablation did neither prevent development of cardiac hypertrophy nor fibrosis after pressure overload (Lother et al. 2011).

3 Pharmacology of MRAs

3.1 Steroidal MRAs and Nomenclature of MRAs

It has been recognized early that progesterone is natriuretic in dogs (Thorn and Engel 1938) and men (Landau et al. 1955). Landau and Lugibihl (1958) found that progesterone is an endogenous antagonist of aldosterone. Chemists at Searle succeeded in synthesizing the first anti-mineralocorticoid with high oral bioavail-ability called spironolactone in 1957 (Kagawa et al. 1957) based on the chemical structure of progesterone. Subsequently, spironolactone was launched in 1960 as a diuretic for the management of edematous conditions, primary aldosteronism, and essential hypertension. However, characteristic adverse anti-androgenic and pro-gestational symptoms such as gynecomastia, impotence, and menstrual irregularities were observed already since 1963 due to the unspecific interactions of steroidal spironolactone with the androgen and progesterone receptors (Mann 1963). Realizing the natriuretic benefits of spironolactone, on one hand, and the typical clinical side effects due to its interference with other sex hormones, the demand for a second generation of MRAs (i.e., more specific compounds) for

chronic treatment of CV diseases was raised. Ciba-Geigy succeeded with the synthesis of a 9,11 α -epoxyderivative of spironolactone called eplerenone in 1987 (de Gasparo et al. 1987). In vitro, eplerenone is ~40-fold less potent than spironolactone at MR but exhibits higher selectivity with respect to the other steroid hormone receptors (Garthwaite and McMahon 2004).

Eplerenone exhibited also lower potency and efficacy in the only two published head-to-head clinical trials versus spironolactone among hypertensive patients (Weinberger et al. 2002; Parthasarathy et al. 2011). Weinberger et al. (2002) showed that 100 mg eplerenone given once daily (OD) or 50 mg twice daily (BID) have an efficacy of 50–75% compared to 50 mg spironolactone BID. These results are in line with the second head-to-head trial of Parthasarathy et al. (2011) among patients with hypertension and evidence of primary aldosteronism which demonstrated that the antihypertensive efficacy of spironolactone was significantly greater than that of eplerenone. Recently, Roush et al. (2016) determined the effects of dose doubling, relative potency, and dose equivalence of potassium-sparing diuretics including spironolactone and eplerenone on systolic BP and serum potassium in a meta-analysis. Interestingly, these authors found an eplerenone-spironolactone dose equivalency of 4.5-to-1 among hypertensive patients (Roush et al. (2016).

John Funder suggested in 2005 a nomenclature of so-called third and fourth generations of MRAs: third generation MRAs are basically non-steroidal compounds which combine the potency and efficacy of spironolactone with the selectivity of eplerenone while fourth generation MRAs should be non-steroidal, potent, and selective plus have a "renal-sparing profile" which should avoid hyperkalemia (Funder 2005b). However, as Funder also alluded later, a putative fourth generation MRA should not completely spare renal effects since this would potentially lead to the even more dangerous condition of hypokalemia and sodium retention among patients with aldosteronism (Funder 2009). Sodium release (and concomitant mild potassium retention) as a consequence of renal MRA activity is clearly beneficial and demanded. Therefore, Kolkhof and Borden (2012) suggested that a fourth generation MRA should possess a more pronounced cardiac and/or vascular activity, or in other words a balance shifted more towards a non-renal profile at least in comparison with the available steroidal MRAs.

3.2 Novel Non-steroidal MRAs

Drug discovery campaigns in several pharmaceutical companies have been launched aiming for the identification of non-steroidal MRAs with an improved therapeutic index (i.e., less risk for hyperkalemia). At least five novel non-steroidal MRAs are now in clinical development with a clear focus on the treatment of patients with CKD (Kolkhof et al. 2015). Additional novel compounds were identified in drug discovery campaigns and are in preclinical development (Collin and Jaisser 2014). We refer the interested reader to recent reviews about non-steroidal MRAs for further information on other compounds in earlier stages

(Kolkhof and Borden 2012; Kolkhof et al. 2015; Collin and Jaisser 2014; Piotrowski 2012; Tamargo et al. 2014; Yang and Young 2016) and focus here only on few selected examples.

PF-03882845 was characterized as potent and selective MRA in vitro, which demonstrated a striking reduction of BP and improved renal protection in direct comparison with eplerenone in a preclinical model of salt-induced hypertension and nephropathy (Meyers et al. 2010). Orena et al. (2013) carefully determined the respective plasma drug concentrations of eplerenone and PF-03882845 that were necessary to decrease urinary albumin and to increase serum potassium in a rat CKD model and calculated a therapeutic index, i.e., the ratio of the half maximal effective concentration (EC₅₀) for increasing serum potassium to the respective EC₅₀ for urinary albumin lowering. This ratio was only 1.5-fold for eplerenone but remarkably 84-fold for PF-03882845 and therefore the first published experimental proof for an increased therapeutic index, i.e., a reduced risk for developing hyperkalemia of a non-steroidal MRA versus a steroidal MRA in a relevant preclinical model (Orena et al. 2013). The compound was advanced to clinical phase I in 2009 but discontinued in July 2012 "for strategic reasons."

In 2004, researchers from Bayer reported for the first time that compounds belonging to the chemical class of dihydropyridines (DHPs) can act as MRAs in vitro (Ergueden et al. 2005). An ultrahigh throughput screening of ca. 1,000,000 compounds yielded a single cluster of ca. 100 compounds comprised DHPs. This finding was surprising because DHPs constitute the known class of L-type calcium channel blockers (CCB) as, e.g., nifedipine, nitrendipine, or amlodipine. In the meantime several papers published in scientific journals demonstrate that DHP-based L-type calcium channel blockers do antagonize MR in vitro and in vivo (Dietz et al. 2008; Arhancet et al. 2010a; Kosaka et al. 2010; Matsui et al. 2010). Optimization programs led to potent and specific MRAs without L-type calcium channel activity (Arhancet et al. 2010b; Fagart et al. 2010; Bärfacker et al. 2012).

BR-4628 was one of the first potent and selective DHP-based MRAs (Fagart et al. 2010) with oral bioavailability in preclinical animal models (Kolkhof et al. 2006; Schupp et al. 2011). It was shown to block fibrotic remodeling in cardiac fibroblasts which suggests a potential use for the prevention of atrial fibrillation (Lavall et al. 2014). Furthermore, treatment with non-steroidal BR-4626 provided substantial suppression of mouse crescentic glomerulonephritis without causing hyperkalemia or tubular dysfunction (Ma et al. 2015) in contrast to eplerenone which exhibited signs of tubular dysfunction in the same model (Huang et al. 2014). BR-4628 prevented also from renal oxidative damage, renal dysfunction, and tubular injury induced by ischemia reperfusion in a rodent acute kidney injury model (Barrera-Chimal et al. 2016). In summary, non-steroidal BR-4628 demonstrated efficacy in preclinical models of cardiorenal diseases. Further chemical optimization led to a novel series of heterobicyclic analogues of naphthyridine derivatives which can be considered as conformationally "frozen" bioisosteres of DHP esters such as nitrendipine (Bärfacker et al. 2012). The dihydronaphthyridine finerenone (previous nomenclature BAY 94-8862) was identified as a potent MRA $(IC_{50} 18 \text{ nM})$ with excellent selectivity versus all other steroid hormone receptors. In contrast to BR-4628, finerenone displayed virtually no L-type Ca²⁺ channel affinity (IC₅₀ > 10 μ M) (Bärfacker et al. 2012). Thus, finerenone uniquely combines potency and extraordinary selectivity (at least 500-fold) toward MR. Table 1 summarizes the affinities of the steroidal MRAs, the CCB nitrendipine and the two DHP-based non-steroidal MRAs BR-4628 and finerenone for the steroid hormone receptor family as well for the L-type calcium channel (only DHP-based compounds).

Finerenone has been investigated in different preclinical animal models of chronic hypertensive and ischemic heart and kidney diseases (Kolkhof et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2015; Gueret et al. 2016; Grune et al. 2016). Finerenone treatment prevented DOCA/salt challenged rats from functional and structural heart and kidney damage at dosages which did not reduce systemic BP. Furthermore, finerenone reduced cardiac hypertrophy, pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), and proteinuria more efficiently than eplerenone when directly comparing equinatriuretic doses (Kolkhof et al. 2014). Gueret et al. (2016) investigated finerenone in a chronic MI model in mice induced by coronary artery ligation. Mice treated with finerenone over a period of 2 months had improved LV compliance and elastance when compared with infarcted control mice as well as reduced interstitial fibrosis. Finerenone preserved the coronary reserve assessed by MRI as well as improved the endothelial function of isolated septal coronary arteries (Gueret et al. 2016). In a mouse model of pressure-overload induced HF treatment with finerenone compared in a head-to-head manner with eplerenone resulted in a more pronounced prevention of myocardial hypertrophy (Grune et al. 2016). Very recently it was demonstrated that finerenone improves diastolic function in a preclinical model of type-2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (Mulder et al. 2016). Finerenone decreased proteinuria over the treatment period of 3 months. Finerenone prevented LV diastolic dysfunction and reduced LV hypertrophy as well as LV collagen density. These results would suggest that finerenone might have a benefit for patients with HF and preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) and T2DM.

3.3 Differences Between Steroidal MRAs and Non-steroidal Finerenone

Some important differences between the steroidal MRAs and finerenone with respect to in vitro potency and selectivity, binding mode, pharmacokinetics in humans as well as physicochemical properties and related tissue distribution are summarized in Table 2.

Finerenone was found to combine spironolactone's potency with eplerenone's selectivity in vitro (Bärfacker et al. 2012; Pitt et al. 2012). Besides this superior selectivity and potency profile in comparison with the steroidal MRAs it exhibits mechanistically interesting features. Finerenone was shown not only to block wild-type MR in vitro and in vivo but also the gain-of-function S810L MR mutant

		Steroidal MRA		DHP-based CCB	DHP-based non-ste	coidal MRA
		Spironolactone	Eplerenone	Nitrendipine	BR-4628	Finerenone
Steroid hormone receptor	MR IC ₅₀ (nM)	24	066	2,000	28	18
	GR IC ₅₀ (nM)	2,410	>22,000	25,760	5,470	>10,000
	AR IC ₅₀ (nM)	77	>21,000	10,050	4,441	>10,000
	PR IC ₅₀ (nM)	743 ^a	>31,000	9,730	9,020	>10,000
DHP channel	L-type Ca ²⁺ IC ₅₀ (nM)	n.d.	n.d.	0.26	1,990	>10,000
Data were taken from Fagart e	et al. (2010) and Pitt et al. (2	012)				

 Table 1
 Evolution of dihydropyridine-based non-steroidal MRAs

n.d. not determined ^aEC₅₀ because spironolactone is an agonist at PR

		Spironolactone	Eplerenone	Finerenone
	MRA class	Steroidal	Steroidal	Non-steroidal
Potency and	Potency	High	Low	High
selectivity	Selectivity	Low	Medium	High
Binding mode	Mode of antagonism	Passive	Passive	Bulky
	MR S810L	Partial agonist	Partial agonist	Antagonist
Pharmacokinetics	Metabolites	Multiple, active	No active metabolites	No active metabolites
	Half-life ^a (HV ^b / patients)	Long (>12 h/ ≥24 h)	Medium/short (ca. 3 h/4–6 h)	Short (2.2–2.8 h)
Physicochemical properties and	Lipophilicity (log D)	3.13	3.03	2.40
distribution	Plasma protein binding	High (>90%), mostly CBG and albumin	Low (50%), mostly AGP	High (90%)
	Tissue distribution (kidney/heart) ^c	Higher in kidney (at least sixfold)	Higher in kidney (ca. threefold)	Balanced 1:1

Table 2 Comparison of steroidal MRAs vs. finerenone

Modified and extended from Kolkhof and Borden (2012) ^aHalf-life of active compound/metabolites ^b*HV* healthy volunteers

^cIn rodents

(Amazit et al. 2015), which is responsible for early onset hypertension in men and gestational hypertension in women (Geller et al. 2000). Progesterone and both steroidal MRAs, spironolactone and eplerenone, paradoxically activate the S810L MR mutant (Amazit et al. 2015; Geller et al. 2000) and are therefore contraindicated among patients with this rare disease. This is a remarkable observation since it shows that structurally different MRAs can lead to an altered pharmacology.

Using an automated high-throughput microscopy of MR subcellular distribution Amazit et al. (2015) demonstrated that finerenone delays aldosterone-induced nuclear accumulation of MR more efficiently than spironolactone. Moreover, chromatin immunoprecipitation assays revealed that finerenone and spironolactone differentially affect recruitment of transcriptional cofactors on MR target promoter. While finerenone acts as an inverse agonist, i.e., reducing recruitment even in the absence of aldosterone of the crucial co-activator SRC-1 at the MR target promoter *SCNN1A* gene (which encodes the α -subunit of ENAC), spironolactone acts as a partial agonist, i.e., promoting SRC-1 recruitment but to a lesser extent as aldosterone (Amazit et al. 2015). These results indicate distinct mechanisms of action for both steroidal MRAs as compared to finerenone despite binding into the same ligand binding domain of MR. Spironolactone and eplerenone are so-called passive antagonists which quickly dissociate from the receptor and are unable to stabilize an important helix (H12) in the C-terminal activation function 2 domain of MR. Spironolactone and eplerenone cannot prevent the H12 helix from adopting the agonist conformation, allowing co-activator binding which might explain the reported partial agonistic activity of steroidal MRAs (Cargnelli et al. 2001). In contrast, the DHP-based non-steroidal MRAs BR-4628 and finerenone are "bulky-passive" antagonists (Bärfacker et al. 2012; Amazit et al. 2015). Binding of "bulky" non-steroidal MRAs leads to a protrusion of helix 12 in the C-terminal activating function 2 domain of MR and finally to an unstable receptor-ligand complex which is unable to recruit co-regulators.

Spironolactone is rapidly metabolized into several active metabolites, most importantly 7α -thiomethyl-spironolactone (TMS) and canrenone (which is also marketed as own drug formulation in few countries, e.g., Italy) which have mean half-lives in healthy volunteers of 13.8 h and 16.5 h, respectively (Garthwaite and McMahon 2004; Karim 1978). These half-lives can be even prolonged in patients with cirrhotic ascites up to 58 h (Sungaila et al. 1992). The consequence of the complex metabolism of spironolactone is a relatively slow onset of pharmacodynamics action after the active metabolites have reached steady-state plasma levels (Sica 2005). Therefore, the long half-lives of spironolactone's active metabolites are the basis of its efficacy when applied OD among patients with essential hypertension or HF.

Eplerenone has no active metabolites and a much shorter half-life, namely 4 h in steady state after multiple dose applications of 100 mg (Cook et al. 2003). However, a study in healthy volunteers carefully investigated the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics (i.e., natriuretic) effects of the immediate release formulation of different dosages of eplerenone after fludrocortisone challenge (Thosar et al. 2003). This study revealed a natriuretic action of about 10 h at 50 mg (which is the approved OD dosage in HF) despite the short half-life of only 2.9 h at this dose in healthy subjects. Weinberger et al. (2002) could demonstrate that the BP lowering efficacy of eplerenone in mild to moderate hypertensive patients is more pronounced when given BID in comparison with an OD application. However, in spite of its short half-life, eplerenone in an OD regime provides mortality reduction in HF patients (Pitt et al. 2003; Zannad et al. 2011). Therefore, one might speculate that the underlying pharmacokinetics demands for BP lowering effects (long half-life needed) and cardioprotection (i.e., anti-inflammatory, -hypertrophic and -fibrotic effects) of MRAs are different. Interestingly, the duration of natriuresis and antikaliuresis may also differ since the latter has been observed to persist for several days after discontinuation of spironolactone (Sica 2005). This characteristic is important with respect to the potential of steroidal MRAs to induce hyperkalemia when given on top of an ACEI or ARB especially on the background of reduced kidney function.

Safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics of finerenone were initially investigated in healthy volunteers (Lentini et al. 2016; Heinig et al. 2016). It was found that renal elimination is not a relevant route for finerenone and that renal impairment is unlikely to have a relevant effect on its pharmacokinetics. Glomerular filtration of unbound finerenone was found to be the mechanism for its renal
elimination. The plasma clearance was determined to be 0.473 L/h (7.9 mL/min) (Lentini et al. 2016). Heinig et al. (2016) carefully determined the half-life of finerenone after oral application of a 10 mg immediate release tablet which was found to be 2.2 h in individuals with normal renal function and up to 2.8 h in individuals with severe renal impairment. Renal excretion of finerenone was negligible (0.810%) in healthy individuals and was even reduced in those with renal impairment.

Besides the consequences of the DHP-based non-steroidal structure for the different binding mode within MR, the chemical structure also determines the physicochemical properties. Key physicochemical drug properties like lipophilicity and polarity have a strong impact on plasma protein binding, vascular transport, tissue penetration, and distribution. The steroidal MRAs have a 6-10-fold higher lipophilic character than finerenone while the latter exhibits greater polarity than the steroidal MRAs (Kolkhof et al. 2015). The consequence of the different lipophilicity for tissue distribution has been determined by quantitative wholebody autoradiography following the administration of [¹⁴C]-labeled finerenone (Kolkhof et al. 2014). These studies revealed a balanced distribution of $[^{14}C]$ finerenone into heart and kidney tissues of healthy rats. This tissue distribution pattern is in clear contrast to the respective distribution pattern of spironolactone and eplerenone in rodents. Experiments using radioactively labeled eplerenone demonstrated at least a threefold higher accumulation of the drug equivalent concentration in the kidney compared with heart tissue in rats (Inspra Drug Approval Package 2003). A similar study with radioactively labeled spironolactone revealed high drug concentrations within the kidneys while radioactivity in heart tissue was below the detection limit (Platt and Pauli 1972).

Spironolactone is bound to 94% in human plasma predominantly to albumin (Chien et al. 1976). On the contrary, eplerenone's bound fraction is only 50% (Inspra Drug Approval Package 2003), thus compensating its much lower potency at MR by a higher unbound fraction of bioavailable compound. Eplerenone binds with highest affinity to alpha-1 acid glycoprotein (AGP or orosomucoid, orm-1) (Kolkhof and Borden 2012). Finerenone is bound to 89.4% to human plasma proteins in healthy individuals as well in individuals with severe renal impairment (Heinig et al. 2016).

Finally, the combination of both, a different binding mode and a different tissue distribution might ultimately lead to a differential gene expression in different tissues. Following this hypothesis, Grune et al. (2016) found a differential cardiac gene expression pattern in the hearts of mice treated either with finerenone or eplerenone. Thus, the more pronounced reduction in myocardial hypertrophy observed with finerenone might therefore result from altered myocardial gene regulation compared to eplerenone including differential expression of cardiac Tnnt2 (troponin T type 2) (Grune et al. 2016). The concept of tissue-selective modulation of nuclear co-activators and co-repressors by a steroid receptor based on the chemical structure of the agent has originally been described for the estrogen receptor (ER) on the basis of selective ER modulators (SERMs) (Shang and Brown 2002; Imai et al. 2013) as well as for retinoic acid receptor (RAR) and retinoid X

receptor (RXR) (de Lera et al. 2007). In conclusion, steroidal and non-steroidal MRAs might differentially influence the two principal pathways highlighted in Fig. 1 leading to a differential pharmacology.

4 Important Clinical Trials with MRAs

4.1 Spironolactone in HFrEF: RALES

The publication of the Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study (RALES) trial in 1999 (Pitt et al. 1999) was the cornerstone for the role of MRAs in the treatment of HF. In this study, which was the first large, prospective, randomized mortality trial of an MRA in a HFrEF population, a total of 1,663 patients with New York Heart Association (NYHA) class III–IV and an ejection fraction <35% were randomized to either spironolactone 25 mg OD or placebo. Based on potassium levels, the dose of spironolactone could be increased to 50 mg OD after a treatment of 8 weeks. After 24 months of treatment, the mean daily dose of spironolactone was 26 mg. The overall patient population had a mean age of 65 years, was mainly male and predominantly with ischemic heart disease as major cause for HF. All patients were on loop diuretics, the majority received ACEI and digitalis with an overall low use of beta-blockers (11%). The study was discontinued early after a mean follow-up of 24 months as the primary endpoint – death from any cause – was significantly reduced in the spironolactone group (HR 0.70; 95% CI 0.60–0.82; p < 0.001). This impressive reduction of overall mortality was attributed to both a reduction in mortality from progressive HF and a reduction in sudden cardiac death. Hospitalization for HF (HHF) was also significantly reduced by the treatment with spironolactone (HR 0.65; CI 95% 0.54–0.77; p < 0.001). The incidence of serious hyperkalemia as defined of serum potassium >6 mmol/L was 2% in the spironolactone patients versus 1% in the placebo patients (p = 0.42), respectively.

4.2 Eplerenone in HFrEF: EPHESUS and EMPHASIS-HF

Eplerenone was investigated in patients with acute MI complicated by HF due to impaired LV systolic dysfunction (LVSD) – the Eplerenone Post-Acute Myocardial Infarction Heart Failure Efficacy and Survival Study, EPHESUS (Pitt et al. 2003). A total of 6,642 patients from 37 countries were randomized within 14 days following the acute MI to either eplerenone 25 mg OD or placebo on top of SoC. After 4 weeks of treatment, the dose was increased to 50 mg OD provided serum potassium levels were within the required range. The mean dose-equivalent of study medication was 42.6 mg in the eplerenone group. Patients had a mean of 64 years with the majority of them receiving SoC including ACEIs/ARBs, betablockers, diuretics, and aspirin. After a mean follow-up of 16 months, the primary endpoint, death from any cause or hospitalization for CV events, was significantly reduced by eplerenone (HR 0.87; 95% CI 0.79–0.95; p < 0.002). This reduction was

solely attributed to the prevention of sudden cardiac death. Serious hyperkalemia ($\geq 6 \text{ mmol/L}$) was observed in 5.5% of the eplerenone versus 3.9% of the placebo patients (p = 0.002), respectively.

The Eplerenone in Mild Patients Hospitalization and Survival Study in Heart Failure (EMPHASIS-HF), (Zannad et al. 2011) completed the investigation of steroidal MRAs in the HFrEF spectrum by investigating eplerenone in mild symptomatic HF patients. In this trial, 2,737 patients with NYHA class II, an ejection fraction <35% and a CV hospitalization within the last 6 months were randomized to eplerenone or placebo. Based on baseline estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), patients were starting with eplerenone 25 mg OD or 25 mg every other day (EOD) with a potential up-titration to the next higher dose level after 4 weeks of treatment. Mean dose at 5 months in the eplerenone group was 39.1 mg. Patients had a mean age of 69 years, being mainly male and having an ischemic heart disease as the leading cause for HF. Approximately half of the patients had a previous HHF at baseline. The majority of the patients received SoC including ACEIs/ARBs as well as beta-blockers. This trial was stopped early (median followup 21 months) because of a significant reduction in the primary composite endpoint - death from any cause or HHF - (HR 0.63; 95% CI 0.54–0.74, p < 0.001) for patients being treated with eplerenone. The incidence of severe hyperkalemia (serum potassium >6 mmol/L) was 2.5% versus 1.9% (p = 0.29) for eplerenone versus placebo, respectively.

4.3 Spironolactone in HFpEF: TOPCAT

Around half of the patients who have symptoms and signs of HF have relatively normal or mildly impaired LV ejection fraction and are labeled as HFpEF (Yancy et al. 2006). HFpEF is the predominant form of HF in a more elderly population, more often women are affected and more commonly a history of hypertension and atrial fibrillation is present, while a history of MI is less common when comparing to HFrEF (Owan et al. 2006; Go et al. 2013). Accordingly, the prevalence of HFpEF is expected to increase with an overall aging population. Long-term mortality in HFpEF is similar to HFrEF, with less than 50% 5-year survival in community HFpEF cohorts (Owan et al. 2006; Tribouilloy et al. 2008).

On the background of the aforementioned role of MR overactivation leading to endothelial dysfunction, progressive vascular, renal, and myocardial fibrosis promoting arterial hypertension, ventricular hypertrophy and vascular stiffness contributing to the pathologic alteration in HFpEF, spironolactone was investigated in symptomatic HF patients with an ejection fraction $\geq 45\%$ (Desai et al. 2011). The Treatment of Preserved Cardiac Function Heart Failure with an Aldosterone Antagonist (TOPCAT) trial was an international, prospective, randomized trial conducted in the USA, Canada, Russia, Republic of Georgia, Argentina, and Brazil. A total of 3,445 patients were randomly assigned to receive spironolactone 15 mg OD or placebo (Pitt et al. 2014). Doses of study drugs were increased to a maximum of 45 mg OD during the first 4 months. At month 8, the mean dose of spironolactone

was 25.0 mg. Mean age was 69 years with 52% being female. Approximately 90 and 35% had arterial hypertension and atrial fibrillation in their medical history, approximately 26% of patients a previous MI and 72% of the patients had been hospitalized in the previous year with management of HF as major component. The majority of the patients received diuretics, ACEIs/ARBs, and beta-blockers. After a mean follow-up of 3.3 years, spironolactone missed to show a reduction in the primary composite endpoint of death from CV causes, aborted cardiac arrest, or HHF compared to placebo (HR 0.89; 95% CI 0.77–1.04; p = 0.14). Of the components of the primary outcome, only HHF had a significantly lower incidence in the spironolactone group than in the placebo group (HR0.83; 95% CI 0.69–0.99; p = 0.04). Treatment with spironolactone was associated with a doubling of hyperkalemia rate, i.e. 18.7% vs. 9.1% in the spironolactone and placebo group. respectively, but the occurrence of hyperkalemia was not associated with any death. Interestingly, post hoc analyses demonstrated a ~4-fold difference in the composite event rate between the 1,678 patients randomized from Russia and Georgia compared with the 1,767 enrolled from the Americas as well as greater potassium and creatinine changes and possible clinical benefits with spironolactone in HFpEF patients from the Americas (Pfeffer et al. 2015).

4.4 Finerenone in HFrEF and Diabetic Kidney Diseases (DKD)

To date, finerenone was investigated in five clinical phase II trials in more than 2,000 patients with HF and additional CKD or diabetes as well as in patients with diabetic kidney disease (DKD) (Pitt et al. 2012, 2013, 2015; Filippatos et al. 2016; Sato et al. 2016; Ruilope et al. 2014; Bakris et al. 2015), i.e., in patient populations which are considered to reveal a high benefit from MR blockade on one side but also to be most prone for the development of hyperkalemia when receiving an MRA on top of an ACEI or ARB on the other side. All five phase II studies with finerenone were dose-finding studies investigating doses overall from 1.25 to 20 mg. Three trials (ARTS, ARTS-HF, and ARTS-HF Japan) were conducted head-to-head against with either spironolactone (ARTS) or eplerenone (ARTS-HF and ARTS-HF Japan). Overall the studies demonstrated an optimal benefit-torisk ratio at doses of 10-20 mg finerenone OD. In September 2015, a phase III program comprising of two large outcome studies investigating 10 and 20 mg of finerenone in patients with DKD has been initiated. Therefore, these doses (10 mg [ARTS and ARTS-DN], 20 mg [ARTS-DN] and $10 \rightarrow 20$ mg [ARTS-HF]) were chosen for all following figures in order to enable a condensed juxtaposition of finerenone with the steroidal comparator MRAs with respect to important clinical efficacy and safety parameters.

4.4.1 ARTS

The MinerAlocorticoid-Receptor antagonist Tolerability Study (ARTS) was a Phase IIa, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, multicenter study (Parts A and B), with an additional open-label active comparator for Part B, that investigated the safety and tolerability of finerenone in patients with chronic HF with LVSD and mild (Part A) or moderate (Part B) CKD (Pitt et al. 2012). In Part A, 65 patients were randomized to 1 of 4 treatment groups: finerenone 2.5, 5, and 10 mg, and placebo, all given OD. In Part B, 393 subjects were randomized to 1 of 6 treatment groups: finerenone 2.5 mg OD, 5 mg OD, 10 mg OD, and 5 mg BID, placebo, and spironolactone (25 mg with up-titration to 50 mg OD after 2 weeks if serum potassium was < 4.8 mmol/L; Pitt et al. 2013). All investigated doses of finerenone were safe and well tolerated. Finerenone at doses of 2.5-10 mg OD as well as 5 mg BID led to significantly smaller mean increases in serum potassium concentration (Fig. 2d), and smaller decreases in eGFR, compared to spironolactone leading to a lower number of patients with hyperkalemia, renal failure, or renal impairment when comparing finerenone at a dose of 10 mg versus spironolactone (Fig. 2f). Changes in BP in the finerenone groups were comparable with those seen in patients receiving placebo while spironolactone significantly decreased BP compared with placebo. Mean changes in serum aldosterone was most pronounced for the spironolactone treated group (Fig. 2d). Considering aldosterone synthesis being stimulated dominantly by serum potassium levels, one potential reason for this difference in the treatment groups could be directly related to the magnitude of increase in serum potassium which was more pro-Furthermore, nounced for spironolactone. pharmacokinetics aspects of spironolactone such as the prolonged half-life owing its active metabolites may also have contributed to this observation. Finerenone at a dose of 10 mg OD reduced N-terminal of prohormone of BNP (NT-proBNP), BNP (Fig. 2a, b), and urinary albumin to creatinine ratio (UACR) to a similar extent as spironolactone (Fig. 2c). In summary, the favorable observations in the finerenone groups over spironolactone on the undesired side effects did not occur at the expense of a lower efficacy as demonstrated here by the results on the exploratory marker NT-proBNP, BNP and UACR.

4.4.2 ARTS-HF

Despite the class IA recommendation in international guidelines to use an MRA in all patients with symptomatic HFrEF (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2013), MRAs are still being underutilized, in particular in patients hospitalized due to an acute HF decompensation in which prevalence of CKD or diabetes mellitus (DM) is high and known to further increase the risk of hyperkalemia and/or worsening renal function (Maggioni et al. 2013; Johnson et al. 2010).

The ARTS-HF Study was a randomized, double-blind, comparator-controlled, six parallel group, multicenter phase 2b dose-finding study in a high risk population – at increased risk of post-discharge mortality and morbidity, on the one hand, and, on the other hand, prone to develop hyperkalemia and/or worsening renal function (Pitt et al. 2015). Of 1,286 screened patients, 1,066 patients with HFrEF and concomitant T2DM and/or CKD were randomized within 7 days of emergency presentation to hospital for worsening chronic HF to receive finerenone or eplerenone. The 5 finerenone groups started with 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10, or 15 mg OD. The dose was increased to 5 mg, 10 mg, 15 mg, 20 mg, or 20 mg OD,



Fig. 2 Head-to-head comparison of the 10 mg finerenone dose with spironolactone in ARTS. Juxtaposition of important efficacy and safety parameters of the 10 mg finerenone dose and spironolactone in ARTS: (a) BNP, (b) NT-proBNP, (c) UACR, (d) aldosterone, (e) potassium, and (f) adverse events

respectively on Day 30, and all treatment groups were possibly sham up-titrated on Day 60. Eplerenone was started with 25 mg every other day and was up-titrated to 25 mg OD on Day 30 and to 50 mg OD on Day 60. Patients who could not be up-titrated on Day 30 were up-titrated on Day 60 to the next higher dose level. Up-titration in all treatment groups was performed only if serum potassium was \leq 5.0 mmol/L.

The primary endpoint was the percentage of individuals with a decrease of >30% in plasma NT-proBNP from baseline to Day 90. A key exploratory endpoint was a composite clinical endpoint of death from any cause, CV hospitalizations, or emergency presentation for worsening HF until Day 90. Baseline characteristics were broadly similar across the treatment groups representing a typical HF population with ischemic heart disease (64.4%), arterial hypertension (73.5%), atrial fibrillation (40.9%) and the majority receiving recommended evidence-based therapy for chronic HF (Filippatos et al. 2016). At Day 90, all finerenone dose groups showed a similar proportion of patients who had an NT-proBNP level decrease of >30% compared to the eplerenone group with the highest proportion in the $10 \rightarrow 20$ mg OD group (Fig. 3a). However, the composite clinical endpoint occurred less frequently in all finerenone dose groups except for $2.5 \rightarrow 5$ mg OD. compared with eplerenone. The lowest incidence of events was observed in the $10 \rightarrow 20$ mg OD group, with a nominally improved outcome compared to eplerenone (hazard ratio, HR: 0.56 [95% CI: 0.35-0.90]); similar results were observed for the individual components of death from any cause [HR: 0.13 (95%) CI: 0.02, 1.07)], CV hospitalization [HR: 0.56 (95% CI: 0.34, 0.93)], and emergency presentation to hospital for worsening chronic HF [HR: 0.58 (95% CI: 0.33, 1.02) (Fig. 3d-f). Consistently to the observed effects on NT-proBNP as well as on the aforementioned clinical events, the most pronounced effect in decreasing UACR was seen in the $10 \rightarrow 20$ mg OD group (Fig. 3c).



Fig. 3 Head-to-head comparison of the $10 \rightarrow 20$ mg finerenone dose with eplerenone in ARTS-HF. Juxtaposition of important efficacy and safety parameters of the $10 \rightarrow 20$ mg finerenone dose and eplerenone in ARTS-HF: (a) NT-proBNP, (b) potassium, (c) UACR, (d) CV hospitalization, (e) all-cause death, (f) CV death

All doses of finerenone had a similar safety profile to that of eplerenone. Incidences of treatment-emergent adverse events (TEAEs) were similar between the eplerenone and all finerenone dose groups. Hyperkalemia (serum potassium to \geq 5.6 mmol/L) at any time post-baseline was observed in 44/1,023 subjects (4.3%) overall, with a comparable incidence amongst the treatment groups. Mean change from baseline to Day 90 in serum potassium concentration was greater in the eplerenone group (+0.262 mmol/L) than in each of the finerenone dose groups (+0.119–0.202 mmol/L, Fig. 3b).

4.4.3 ARTS-DN

Diabetes mellitus and CKD are important risk factors for the development of HF. Both risk factors are combined in patients with DKD. Hospitalization for HF (HHF) is one of the most common and prognostically important CV complications in patients with DM; the risk for HHF in patients with DKD is even amplified by the presence of albuminuria and decreased kidney function which independently increase the risk in multivariable analysis (Carr et al. 2005).

Finerenone was investigated in patients with DKD in the ARTS-DN study. ARTS-DN was a double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group, multicenter phase IIb study in patients with T2DM and albuminuria \geq 30 mg/g receiving RAS blockade (Ruilope et al. 2014). Of 1,501 patients screened, 823 were randomized to 7 different doses of finerenone or placebo, all given OD. Addition of finerenone to SoC (i.e., ACEIs/ARBs) resulted in dose dependent, significant reductions in albuminuria at doses of 7.5, 10, 15, and 20 mg after 90 days of treatment. In Fig. 4a reduction of albuminuria under treatment with placebo, 10 and 20 mg of finerenone is displayed. In patients treated with 20 mg of finerenone in particular, the residual effect on albuminuria was most pronounced compared to placebo at 30 days after completion of treatment relative to baseline, which may indicate the start of a structural change rather than a purely hemodynamic induced decrease in albuminuria. Compared to placebo, there was a slight increase of serum potassium over time (Fig. 4b). Hyperkalemia leading to discontinuation was not observed in



Fig. 4 10 and 20 mg finerenone compared to placebo in ARTS-DN. Important efficacy (**a**, UACR) and safety relevant (**b**, potassium) parameters of the 10 and 20 mg finerenone dose in ARTS-DN

the placebo and finerenone 10 mg groups; the incidence was 1.7% in the 20 mg group (Bakris et al. 2015).

In a recent systematic review including eight studies, the incidence of hyperkalemia increased in the combined treatment group necessitating interruption of treatment with steroidal MRAs in up to 17% of cases comparing standard treatment by an ACEI or an ARB with combined treatment by an ACEI/ARB and an MRA in patients with diabetic nephropathy. Therefore, combined treatment by an ACEI/ARB and a steroidal MRA was considered effective in decreasing albuminuria in diabetic nephropathy but it increases the risk of hyperkalemia (Mavrakanas et al. 2014).

A post-hoc analysis of the Reduction in Endpoints in non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus with the Angiotensin II Antagonist Losartan (RENAAL) showed that a reduction of albuminuria within the first 6 months was the only predictor of long-term protection from CV outcome: 18% reduction in CV risk for every 50% reduction in albuminuria and a 27% reduction in HF risk for every 50% reduction in albuminuria (de Zeeuw et al. 2004). In ARTS-DN, 23.9% and 13.6% of patients showed a decrease in UACR from baseline to Day 90 of equal or more than 30% and 50%, respectively, in the placebo group. In the 10 mg and 20 mg finerenone group, 46% and 62.5% of patients showed a decrease in UACR of equal or more than 30%, respectively, and 62.5 and 40.2% a decrease in UACR of equal or more than 50% from baseline to Day 90 (Bakris et al. 2015).

5 Conclusions and Outlook

MRAs are considered as life-saving therapy for patients with HFrEF (Zannad et al. 2012). In three randomized controlled clinical trials, i.e., RALES (Pitt et al. 1999), EPHESUS (Pitt et al. 2003), and EMPHASIS-HF (Zannad et al. 2011) MRAs consistently reduced morbidity and mortality in the investigated HF population. Since the publication of the EMPHASIS-HF results at the latest, MRAs are considered as standard therapy in all symptomatic HFrEF patients, i.e., NYHA functional class II–IV, already receiving an ACEI and beta-blocker. This recommendation is reflected in several updates of national and international guidelines (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2013).

Despite proven benefit in HFrEF patients, the steroidal MRAs have a number of disadvantages which limit their use in clinical practice. The risk of developing hyperkalemia is the main obstacle to moving therapy with MRAs from the randomized clinical trials to everyday clinical practice (Juurlink et al. 2004). Accordingly, the demand for novel, potent, and selective, non-steroidal MRAs with a potential for a reduced risk of developing hyperkalemia initiated drug discovery programs within several pharmaceutical companies. Such novel, non-steroidal MRAs (third generation) were identified and a few entered clinical development recently. Finerenone was identified as DHP-based derivative with different physicochemical, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacological properties in comparison with the steroidal MRAs. Finerenone exhibited an improved therapeutic index in preclinical heart failure animal models when compared to eplerenone

and a nominally improved outcome compared to eplerenone in patients with HFrEF and concomitant T2DM and/or CKD.

Finerenone at daily doses of 10 and 20 mg has currently been investigated in two large outcome trials in patients with DKD (FIGARO-DKD, NCT02545049 and FIDELIO-DKD, NCT02540993). As both trials are placebo-controlled, patients with HFrEF at baseline are excluded from participating in these trials. However, in FIGARO-DKD "HHF" has been selected as component of the primary CV composite endpoint; in FIDELIO-DKD, it is part of the CV composite endpoint which has been chosen as first secondary endpoint.

Because of its unique pharmacodynamic profile based on its non-steroidal structure and the promising safety and efficacy results deduced in five phase 2 studies with more than 2,000 patients, finerenone could beneficially impact CV and renal outcomes in this population as it directly interferes with the underlying disease processes.

References

- Albaghdadi M, Gheorghiade M, Pitt B (2011) Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonism: therapeutic potential in acute heart failure syndromes. Eur Heart J 32:2626–2633
- Amazit L, Le Billan F, Kolkhof P, Lamribet K, Viengchareun S, Fay MR et al (2015) Finerenone impedes aldosterone-dependent nuclear import of the mineralocorticoid receptor and prevents genomic recruitment of steroid receptor coactivator-1. J Biol Chem 290:21876–21889
- Arhancet GB, Woodard SS, Dietz JD, Garland DJ, Wagner GM, Iyanar K et al (2010a) Stereochemical requirements for the mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist activity of dihydropyridines. J Med Chem 53:4300–4304
- Arhancet GB, Woodard SS, Iyanar K, Case BL, Woerndle R, Dietz JD et al (2010b) Discovery of novel cyanodihydropyridines as potent mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists. J Med Chem 53:5970–5978
- Arriza JL, Weinberger C, Cerelli G, Glaser TM, Handelin BL, Housman DE, Evans RM (1987) Cloning of human mineralocorticoid receptor complementary DNA: structural and functional kinship with the glucocorticoid receptor. Science 237:268–275
- Bakris GL, Agarwal R, Chan JC, Cooper ME, Gansevoort RT, Haller H et al (2015) Effect of finerenone on albuminuria in patients with diabetic nephropathy: a randomized clinical trial. Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonist Tolerability Study–Diabetic Nephropathy (ARTS-DN) Study Group. JAMA 314:884–894
- Bärfacker L, Kuhl A, Hillisch A, Grosser R, Figueroa-Pérez S, Heckroth H et al (2012) Discovery of BAY 94-8862: a nonsteroidal antagonist of the mineralocorticoid receptor for the treatment of cardiorenal diseases. ChemMedChem 7:1385–1403
- Barrera-Chimal J, Prince S, Fadel F, El Moghrabi S, Warnock DG, Kolkhof P, Jaisser F (2016) Sulfenic acid modification of endothelin B receptor is responsible for the benefit of a nonsteroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist in renal ischemia. J Am Soc Nephrol 27:398–404
- Bauersachs J, Jaisser F, Toto R (2015) Mineralocorticoid receptor activation and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist treatment in cardiac and renal diseases. Hypertension 65:257–263
- Bertocchio JP, Warnock DG, Jaisser F (2011) Mineralocorticoid receptor activation and blockade: an emerging paradigm in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int 79:1051–1060
- Bienvenu LA, Morgan J, Rickard AJ, Tesch GH, Cranston GA, Fletcher EK et al (2012) Macrophage mineralocorticoid receptor signaling plays a key role in aldosterone-independent cardiac fibrosis. Endocrinology 153:3416–3425

- Bienvenu LA, Reichelt ME, Morgan J, Fletcher EK, Bell JR, Rickard AJ et al (2015) Cardiomyocyte mineralocorticoid receptor activation impairs acute cardiac functional recovery after ischemic insult. Hypertension 66:970–977
- Brilla CG, Pick R, Tan LB, Janicki JS, Weber KT (1990) Remodeling of the rat right and left ventricles in experimental hypertension. Circ Res 67:1355–1364
- Buglioni A, Cannone V, Cataliotti A, Sangaralingham SJ, Heublein DM, Scott CG et al (2015) Circulating aldosterone and natriuretic peptides in the general community: relationship to cardiorenal and metabolic disease. Hypertension 65:45–53
- Cargnelli G, Trevisi L, Debetto P, Luciani S, Bova S (2001) Effects of canrenone on aorta and right ventricle of the rat. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 37:540–547
- Carr AA, Kowey PR, Devereux RB, Brenner BM, Dahlöf B, Ibsen H et al (2005) Hospitalizations for new heart failure among subjects with diabetes mellitus in the RENAAL and LIFE studies. Am J Cardiol 96:1530–1536
- Chien YW, Hofmann LM, Lambert HJ, Tao LC (1976) Binding of spirolactones to human plasma proteins. J Pharm Sci 65:1337–1340
- Chun TY, Pratt JH (2005) Aldosterone increases plasminogen activator inhibitor-1 synthesis in rat cardiomyocytes. Mol Cell Endocrinol 239:55–61
- Cicoira M, Zanolla L, Franceschini L, Rossi A, Golia G, Zeni P et al (2002) Relation of aldosterone "escape" despite angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor administration to impaired exercise capacity in CHF secondary to ischemic or idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Cardiol 89:403–407
- Cleland JG, Swedberg K, Follath F, Komajda M, Cohen-Solal A, Aguilar JC et al; Study Group on Diagnosis of the Working Group on Heart Failure of the European Society of Cardiology (2003) The EuroHeart Failure survey programme – a survey on the quality of care among patients with heart failure in Europe. Part 1: Patient characteristics and diagnosis. Eur Heart J 24:442–463
- Collin M, Jaisser F (2014) Mineralocorticoid receptor modulators: a patent review (2007–2012). Expert Opin Ther Pat 24:177–183
- Cook CS, Berry LM, Bible RH, Hribar JD, Hajdu E, Liu NW (2003) Pharmacokinetics and metabolism of [14C]eplerenone after oral administration to humans. Drug Metab Dispos 31:1448–1455
- Darrow DC, Miller HC (1942) Production of cardiac lesions by repeated injections of desoxycorticosterone acetate. J Clin Invest 21:601–611
- de Gasparo M, Joss U, Ramjoué HP, Whitebread SE, Haenni H, Schenkel L et al (1987) Three new epoxy-spirolactone derivatives: characterization in vivo and in vitro. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 240:650–656
- de Lera AR, Bourguet W, Altucci L, Gronemeyer H (2007) Design of selective nuclear receptor modulators: RAR and RXR as a case study. Nat Rev Drug Discov 6:811–820
- de Zeeuw D, Remuzzi G, Parving HH, Keane WF, Zhang Z, Shahinfar S et al (2004) Albuminuria, a therapeutic target for cardiovascular protection in type 2 diabetic patients with nephropathy. Circulation 110:921–927
- Desai AS, Lewis EF, Li R, Solomon SD, Assmann SF, Boineau R et al (2011) Rationale and design of the treatment of preserved cardiac function heart failure with an aldosterone antagonist trial: a randomized, controlled study of spironolactone in patients with symptomatic heart failure and preserved ejection fraction. Am Heart J 162:966.e10–972.e10
- Dietz JD, Du S, Bolten CW, Payne MA, Xia C, Blinn JR et al (2008) A number of marketed dihydropyridine calcium channel blockers have mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist activity. Hypertension 51:742–748
- Dinsdale C, Wani M, Steward J, O'Mahony MS (2005) Tolerability of spironolactone as adjunctive treatment for heart failure in patients over 75 years of age. Age Ageing 34:395–398
- Edwards CR, Stewart PM, Burt D, Brett L, McIntyre MA, Sutanto WS et al (1988) Localisation of 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase tissue specific protector of the mineralocorticoid receptor. Lancet 2:986–989

- Ergueden JK, Kolkhof P, Sandner P, Kuhl A, Stasch JP, Pook E, Schlemmer KH (2005) Fluorenone 1, 4,-dihydropyridin derivatives, WO/2005/087740. Bayer Healthcare AG, Wuppertal
- Fagart J, Hillisch A, Huyet J, Bärfacker L, Fay M, Pleiss U et al (2010) A new mode of mineralocorticoid receptor antagonism by a potent and selective nonsteroidal molecule. J Biol Chem 285:29932–29940
- Favre J, Gao J, Zhang AD, Remy-Jouet I, Ouvrard-Pascaud A, Dautreaux B et al (2011) Coronary endothelial dysfunction after cardiomyocyte-specific mineralocorticoid receptor overexpression. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 300:H2035–H2043
- Filippatos G, Anker SD, Böhm M, Gheorghiade M, Køber L, Krum H et al (2016) A randomized controlled study of finerenone vs. eplerenone in patients with worsening chronic heart failure and diabetes mellitus and/or chronic kidney disease. Eur Heart J 37:2105–2114, PMID: 27130705
- Fraccarollo D, Berger S, Galuppo P, Kneitz S, Hein L, Schütz G et al (2011) Deletion of cardiomyocyte mineralocorticoid receptor ameliorates adverse remodeling after myocardial infarction. Circulation 123:400–408
- Fritsch Neves M, Schiffrin EL (2003) Aldosterone: a risk factor for vascular disease. Curr Hypertens Rep 5:59-65
- Fuller PJ, Young MJ (2005) Mechanisms of mineralocorticoid action. Hypertension 46:1227-1235
- Funder JW (1994) Enzymes and receptors: challenges and future directions. Steroids 59:164-169
- Funder JW (2001) Non-genomic actions of aldosterone: role in hypertension. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 10:227–230
- Funder JW (2004) Is aldosterone bad for the heart? Trends Endocrinol Metab 15:139-142
- Funder JW (2005a) RALES, EPHESUS and redox. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 93:121-125
- Funder JW (2005b) Mineralocorticoid-receptor blockade, hypertension and heart failure. Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab 1:4–5
- Funder JW (2009) Reconsidering the roles of the mineralocorticoid receptor. Hypertension 53:286–290
- Funder JW, Pearce PT, Smith R, Smith AI (1988) Mineralocorticoid action: target tissue specificity is enzyme, not receptor, mediated. Science 242:583–585
- Garthwaite SM, McMahon EG (2004) The evolution of aldosterone antagonists. Mol Cell Endocrinol 217:27–31
- Geller DS, Farhi A, Pinkerton N, Fradley M, Moritz M, Spitzer A et al (2000) Activating mineralocorticoid receptor mutation in hypertension exacerbated by pregnancy. Science 289:119–123
- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB et al (2013) Heart disease and stroke statistics – 2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 127(1):e6–e245
- Gómez AM, Rueda A, Sainte-Marie Y, Pereira L, Zissimopoulos S, Zhu X et al (2009) Mineralocorticoid modulation of cardiac ryanodine receptor activity is associated with downregulation of FK506-binding proteins. Circulation 119:2179–2187
- Grune J, Benz V, Brix S, Salatzki J, Blumrich A, Höft B et al (2016) Steroidal and nonsteroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists cause differential cardiac gene expression in pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 67:402–411
- Güder G, Bauersachs J, Frantz S, Weismann D, Allolio B, Ertl G et al (2007) Complementary and incremental mortality risk prediction by cortisol and aldosterone in chronic heart failure. Circulation 115:1754–1761
- Gueret A, Harouki N, Favre J, Galmiche G, Nicol L, Henry JP et al (2016) Vascular smooth muscle mineralocorticoid receptor contributes to coronary and left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. Hypertension 67:717–723

- Heinig R, Kimmeskamp-Kirschbaum N, Halabi A, Lentini S (2016) Pharmacokinetics of the novel Non-steroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist finerenone (BAY 94-8862) in individuals with renal impairment. Clin Pharmacol Drug Dev. doi:10.1002/cpdd.263
- Huang LL, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Han Y, Ozols E, Ma FY, Young MJ, Tesch GH (2014) Myeloid mineralocorticoid receptor activation contributes to progressive kidney disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 25:2231–2240
- Imai Y, Youn MY, Inoue K, Takada I, Kouzmenko A, Kato S (2013) Nuclear receptors in bone physiology and diseases. Physiol Rev 93:481–523
- Inspra Drug Approval Package (2003) Pharmacological Review Inspra Drug Approval Package 21-437/S-002, FDA US Food and Drug Administration. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/ drugsatfda_docs/nda/2003/21-437S002_Inspra_Pharmr.pdf
- Jaisser F, Farman N (2016) Emerging roles of the mineralocorticoid receptor in pathology: toward new paradigms in clinical pharmacology. Pharmacol Rev 68:49–75
- Jia G, Habibi J, DeMarco VG, Martinez-Lemus LA, Ma L, Whaley-Connell AT et al (2015) Endothelial mineralocorticoid receptor deletion prevents diet-induced cardiac diastolic dysfunction in females. Hypertension 66:1159–1167
- Johnson ES, Weinstein JR, Thorp ML, Platt RW, Petrik AF, Yang X et al (2010) Predicting the risk of hyperkalemia in patients with chronic kidney disease starting lisinopril. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 19:266–272
- Juurlink DN, Mamdani MM, Lee DS, Kopp A, Austin PC, Laupacis A et al (2004) Rates of hyperkalemia after publication of the randomized aldactone evaluation study. N Engl J Med 351:543–551
- Kagawa CM, Cella JA, Van Arman CG (1957) Action of new steroids in blocking effects of aldosterone and desoxycorticosterone on salt. Science 126:1015–1016
- Karim A (1978) Spironolactone: disposition, metabolism, pharmacodynamics, and bioavailability. Drug Metab Rev 8:151–188
- Kim HY, Bae EH, Ma SK, Kim SW (2014) Effects of spironolactone in combination with angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors or angiotensin receptor blockers in patients with proteinuria. Kidney Blood Press Res 39:573–580
- Kolkhof P, Borden SA (2012) Molecular pharmacology of the mineralocorticoid receptor: prospects for novel therapeutics. Mol Cell Endocrinol 350:310–317
- Kolkhof P, Flamme I, Figueroa-Pérez S, Baerfacker L, Hartmann E, Rinke M, Schäfer S (2006) Cardiac and renal protection by a new mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist in salt-sensitive hypertension [abstract P754]. Eur Heart J 27(Suppl 1):110
- Kolkhof P, Delbeck M, Kretschmer A, Steinke W, Hartmann E, Bärfacker L et al (2014) Finerenone, a novel selective nonsteroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist protects from rat cardiorenal injury. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 64:69–78
- Kolkhof P, Nowack C, Eitner F (2015) Nonsteroidal antagonists of the mineralocorticoid receptor. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 24:417–424
- Kosaka H, Hirayama K, Yoda N, Sasaki K, Kitayama T, Kusaka H, Matsubara M (2010) The L-, N-, and T-type triple calcium channel blocker benidipine acts as an antagonist of mineralocorticoid receptor, a member of nuclear receptor family. Eur J Pharmacol 635:49–55
- Landau RL, Lugibihl K (1958) Inhibition of the sodium-retaining influence of aldosterone by progesterone. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 18:1237–1245
- Landau RL, Bergenstal DM, Lugibihl K, Kascht ME (1955) The metabolic effects of progesterone in man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 15:1194–1215
- Lavall D, Selzer C, Schuster P, Lenski M, Adam O, Schäfers HJ et al (2014) The mineralocorticoid receptor promotes fibrotic remodeling in atrial fibrillation. J Biol Chem 289:6656–6668
- Lentini S, Heinig R, Kimmeskamp-Kirschbaum N, Wensing G (2016) Pharmacokinetics, safety and tolerability of the novel, selective mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist finerenone – results from first-in-man and relative bioavailability studies. Fundam Clin Pharmacol 30:172–184

- Li C, Zhang YY, Frieler RA, Zheng XJ, Zhang WC, Sun XN et al (2014) Myeloid mineralocorticoid receptor deficiency inhibits aortic constriction-induced cardiac hypertrophy in mice. PLoS One 9(10), e110950
- Liu LC, Schutte E, Gansevoort RT, van der Meer P, Voors AA (2015) Finerenone: thirdgeneration mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist for the treatment of heart failure and diabetic kidney disease. Expert Opin Investig Drugs 24:1123–1135
- Lombes M, Oblin ME, Gasc JM, Baulieu EE, Farman N, Bonvalet JP (1992) Immunohistochemical and biochemical evidence for a cardiovascular mineralocorticoid receptor. Circ Res 71:503–510
- Lother A, Berger S, Gilsbach R, Rösner S, Ecke A, Barreto F et al (2011) Ablation of mineralocorticoid receptors in myocytes but not in fibroblasts preserves cardiac function. Hypertension 57:746–754
- Lother A, Moser M, Bode C, Feldman RD, Hein L (2015) Mineralocorticoids in the heart and vasculature: new insights for old hormones. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 55:8.1–8.24
- Lother A, Furst D, Bergemann S, Gilsbach R, Grahammer F, Huber TB et al (2016) Deoxycorticosterone acetate/salt-induced cardiac but not renal injury is mediated by endothelial mineralocorticoid receptors independently from blood pressure. Hypertension 67:130–138
- Ma FY, Han Y, Nikolic-Paterson DJ, Kolkhof P, Tesch GH (2015) Suppression of rapidly progressive mouse glomerulonephritis with the non-steroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist BR-4628. PLoS One 10, e0145666
- Maggioni AP, Dahlström U, Filippatos G, Chioncel O, Crespo Leiro M, Drozdz J et al (2013) EURObservational Research Programme: regional differences and 1-year follow-up results of the Heart Failure Pilot Survey (ESC-HF Pilot). Eur J Heart Fail 15:808–817
- Mann N (1963) Gynecomastia during therapy with spironolactone. JAMA 184:778-780
- Marzolla V, Armani A, Zennaro MC, Cinti F, Mammi C, Fabbri A et al (2012) The role of the mineralocorticoid receptor in adipocyte biology and fat metabolism. Mol Cell Endocrinol 350:281–288
- Matsui T, Takeuchi M, Yamagishi S (2010) Nifedipine, a calcium channel blocker, inhibits inflammatory and fibrogenic gene expressions in advanced glycation end product (AGE)-exposed fibroblasts via mineralocorticoid receptor antagonistic activity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 396:566–570
- Mavrakanas TA, Gariani K, Martin PY (2014) Mineralocorticoid receptor blockade in addition to angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor or angiotensin II receptor blocker treatment: an emerging paradigm in diabetic nephropathy. Eur J Intern Med 25:173–176
- McCullough PA, Philbin EF, Spertus JA, Kaatz S, Sandberg KR, Weaver WD (2002) Resource Utilization Among Congestive Heart Failure (REACH) study. J Am Coll Cardiol 39:60–69
- Meyer WJ, Nichols NR (1981) Mineralocorticoid binding in cultured smooth muscle cells and fibroblasts from rat aorta. J Steroid Biochem 14:1157–1168
- Meyers MJ, Arhancet GB, Hockerman SL, Chen X, Long SA, Mahoney MW et al (2010) Discovery of (3S,3aR)-2-(3-chloro-4-cyanophenyl)-3-cyclopentyl-3,3a,4,5-tetrahydro-2H benzo[g]indazole-7-carboxylic acid (PF-3882845), an orally efficacious mineralocorticoid receptor (MR) antagonist for hypertension and nephropathy. J Med Chem 53:5979–6002
- Mosterd A, Hoes AW (2007) Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart 93:1137-1146
- Mulder P, BarreraChimal J, El Moghrabi S, Kolkhof P, Ouvrard-Pascaud A, Jaisser F (2016) Finerenone improves diastolic function in a preclinical model of type2 diabetes mellitus. Eur Heart J 37(Abstract Supplement):829
- Nagata K, Obata K, Xu J, Ichihara S, Noda A, Kimata H et al (2006) Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonism attenuates cardiac hypertrophy and failure in low-aldosterone hypertensive rats. Hypertension 47:656–664
- Nguyen Dinh Cat A, Griol-Charhbili V, Loufrani L, Labat C, Benjamin L, Farman N et al (2010) The endothelial mineralocorticoid receptor regulates vasoconstrictor tone and blood pressure. FASEB J 24:2454–2463

- O'Connor CM, Abraham WT, Albert NM, Clare R, Gattis Stough W, Gheorghiade M et al (2008) Predictors of mortality after discharge in patients hospitalized with heart failure: an analysis from the Organized Program to Initiate Lifesaving Treatment in Hospitalized Patients with Heart Failure (OPTIMIZE-HF). Am Heart J 156:662–673
- Orena S, Maurer TS, She L, Eudy R, Bernardo V, Dash D et al (2013) PF-03882845, a non-steroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist, prevents renal injury with reduced risk of hyperkalemia in an animal model of nephropathy. Front Pharmacol 4:115
- Ouvrard-Pascaud A, Sainte-Marie Y, Bénitah JP, Perrier R, Soukaseum C, Nguyen Dinh Cat A et al (2005) Conditional mineralocorticoid receptor expression in the heart leads to lifethreatening arrhythmias. Circulation 111:3025–3033
- Owan TE, Hodge DO, Herges RM, Jacobsen SJ, Roger VL, Redfield MM (2006) Trends in prevalence and outcome of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 355 (3):251–259
- Parthasarathy HK, Ménard J, White WB, Young WF Jr, Williams GH, Williams B et al (2011) A double-blind, randomized study comparing the antihypertensive effect of eplerenone and spironolactone in patients with hypertension and evidence of primary aldosteronism. J Hypertens 29:980–990
- Pfeffer MA, Claggett B, Assmann SF, Boineau R, Anand IS, Clausell N et al (2015) Regional variation in patients and outcomes in the Treatment of Preserved Cardiac Function Heart Failure with an Aldosterone Antagonist (TOPCAT) trial. Circulation 131:34–42
- Piotrowski DW (2012) Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists for the treatment of hypertension and diabetic nephropathy. J Med Chem 55:7957–7966
- Pitt B, Zannad F, Remme WJ, Cody R, Castaigne A, Perez A et al (1999) The effect of spironolactone on morbidity and mortality in patients with severe heart failure. Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 341:709–717
- Pitt B, Williams G, Remme W, Martinez F, Lopez-Sendon J, Zannad F et al (2003) Eplerenone, a selective aldosterone blocker, in patients with left ventricular dysfunction after myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 348:1309–1321
- Pitt B, Filippatos G, Gheorghiade M, Kober L, Krum H, Ponikowski P et al (2012) Rationale and design of ARTS: a randomized, double-blind study of BAY 94-8862 in patients with chronic heart failure and mild or moderate chronic kidney disease. Eur J Heart Fail 14:668–6675
- Pitt B, Kober L, Ponikowski P, Gheorghiade M, Filippatos G, Krum H et al (2013) Safety and tolerability of the novel non-steroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist BAY 94-8862 in patients with chronic heart failure and mild or moderate chronic kidney disease: a randomized, double-blind trial. Eur Heart J 34:2453–2463
- Pitt B, Pfeffer MA, Assmann SF, Boineau R, Anand IS, Claggett B et al (2014) TOPCAT Investigators. Spironolactone for heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. N Engl J Med 370:1383–1392
- Pitt B, Anker SD, Böhm M, Gheorghiade M, Køber L, Krum H et al (2015) Rationale and design of MinerAlocorticoid Receptor antagonist Tolerability Study-Heart Failure (ARTS-HF): a randomized study of finerenone versus eplerenone in patients who have worsening chronic heart failure with diabetes and/or chronic kidney disease. Eur J Heart Fail 17:224–232
- Platt D, Pauli H (1972) Studies on organ- and subcellular distribution of [³H]spironolactone in animals [in German]. Arzneimittelforschung 22:1801–1802
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ et al; Authors/Task Force Members; Document Reviewers (2016) 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail. doi:10.1002/ ejhf.592
- Reichstein T, von Euw J (1938) Über Bestandteile der Nebennierenrinde. Isolierung der Substanzen Q (Desoxy-Corticosteron) und R sowie weiterer Stoffe. Helvet Chim Acta 21:1197–1210

- Rickard AJ, Morgan J, Tesch G, Funder JW, Fuller PJ, Young MJ (2009) Deletion of mineralocorticoid receptors from macrophages protects against deoxycorticosterone/salt-induced cardiac fibrosis and increased blood pressure. Hypertension 54:537–543
- Rickard AJ, Morgan J, Bienvenu LA, Fletcher EK, Cranston GA, Shen JZ et al (2012) Cardiomyocyte mineralocorticoid receptors are essential for deoxycorticosterone/saltmediated inflammation and cardiac fibrosis. Hypertension 60:1443–1450
- Rickard AJ, Morgan J, Chrissobolis S, Miller AA, Sobey CG, Young MJ (2014) Endothelial cell mineralocorticoid receptors regulate DOC/salt-mediated cardiac remodeling and vascular reactivity, but not blood pressure. Hypertension 63:1033–1040
- Rocha R, Rudolph AE, Frierdich GE, Nachowiak DA, Kekec BK, Blomme EA et al (2002) Aldosterone induces a vascular inflammatory phenotype in the rat heart. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 283:H1802–H1810
- Rogerson FM, Fuller PJ (2000) Mineralocorticoid action. Steroids 65:61-73
- Rouleau JL, Packer M, Moyé L, de Champlain J, Bichet D, Klein M et al (1994) Prognostic value of neurohumoral activation in patients with an acute myocardial infarction: effect of captopril. J Am Coll Cardiol 24:583–591
- Roush GC, Ernst ME, Kostis JB, Yeasmin S, Sica DA (2016) Dose doubling, relative potency, and dose equivalence of potassium-sparing diuretics affecting blood pressure and serum potassium: systematic review and meta-analyses. J Hypertens 34:11–19
- Ruilope LM, Agarwal R, Chan JC, Cooper ME, Gansevoort RT, Haller H et al (2014) Rationale, design, and baseline characteristics of ARTS-DN: a randomized study to assess the safety and efficacy of finerenone in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and a clinical diagnosis of diabetic nephropathy. Am J Nephrol 40:572–581
- Sato N, Ajioka M, Yamada T, Kato M, Myoishi M, Yamada T et al (2016) ARTS-HF Japan Study Group. A randomized controlled study of finerenone vs. eplerenone in Japanese patients with worsening chronic heart failure and diabetes and/or chronic kidney disease. Circ J 80:1113–1122
- Schupp N, Kolkhof P, Queisser N, G\u00e4rtner S, Schmid U, Kretschmer A et al (2011) Mineralocorticoid receptor-mediated DNA damage in kidneys of DOCA-salt hypertensive rats. FASEB J 25:968–978
- Schwenk MH, Hirsch JS, Bomback AS (2015) Aldosterone blockade in CKD: emphasis on pharmacology. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 22:123–132
- Selye H (1942) Production of nephrosclerosis by overdosage with desoxycorticosterone acetate. Can Med Assoc J 47:515–519
- Selye H (1946) The general adaptation syndrome and the diseases of adaptation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 6:117–230
- Selye H (1955) Anticortisol action of aldosterone. Science 121:368-369
- Shang Y, Brown M (2002) Molecular determinants for the tissue specificity of SERMs. Science 295:2465–2468
- Sica DA (2005) Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of mineralocorticoid blocking agents and their effects on potassium homeostasis. Heart Fail Rev 10:23–29
- Simpson SA, Tait JF (1953) Memoirs of the Society for Endocrinology, No. 2. The determination of adrenal cortical steroids and their metabolites. Dennis Dobson, Ltd., London, p 9
- Simpson SA, Tait JF, Wettstein A, Neher R, v. Euw J, Schindler O, Reichstein T (1954) Constitution of aldosterone, a new mineralocorticoid. Experientia 10:132–133
- Staessen J, Lijnen P, Fagard R, Verschueren LJ, Amery A (1981) Rise in plasma concentration of aldosterone during long-term angiotensin II suppression. J Endocrinol 91:457–465
- Sugiyama T, Yoshimoto T, Hirono Y, Suzuki N, Sakurada M, Tsuchiya K et al (2005) Aldosterone increases osteopontin gene expression in rat endothelial cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 336:163–167
- Sungaila I, Bartle WR, Walker SE, DeAngelis C, Uetrecht J, Pappas C, Vidins E (1992) Spironolactone pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in patients with cirrhotic ascites. Gastroenterology 102:1680–1685

- Svensson M, Gustafsson F, Galatius S, Hildebrandt PR, Atar D (2004) How prevalent is hyperkalemia and renal dysfunction during treatment with spironolactone in patients with congestive heart failure? J Card Fail 10:297–303
- Swedberg K, Eneroth P, Kjekshus J, Wilhelmsen L (1990) Hormones regulating cardiovascular function in patients with severe congestive heart failure and their relation to mortality. CONSENSUS Trial Study Group. Circulation 82:1730–1736
- Tamargo J, Solini A, Ruilope LM (2014) Comparison of agents that affect aldosterone action. Semin Nephrol 34:285–306
- Tarjus A, Martínez-Martínez E, Amador C, Latouche C, El Moghrabi S, Berger T et al (2015) Neutrophil gelatinase-associated lipocalin, a novel mineralocorticoid biotarget, mediates vascular profibrotic effects of mineralocorticoids. Hypertension 66:158–166
- Thorn GW, Engel LL (1938) The effect of sex hormones on the renal excretion of electrolytes. J Exp Med 68:299–312
- Thorn GW, Howard RP, Emerson K (1939) Treatment of Addison's disease with desoxycorticosterone acetate, a synthetic adrenal cortical hormone (preliminary report). J Clin Invest 18:449–467
- Thosar SS, Gokhale RD, Tolbert DS (2003) Immediate Release Eplerenone Compositions, US 6, 558, 707(B1). G.D. Searle & Co., US
- Tribouilloy C, Rusinaru D, Mahjoub H, Souliere V, Levy F, Peltier M et al (2008) Prognosis of heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a 5 year prospective population-based study. Eur Heart J 29(3):339–347
- Usher MG, Duan SZ, Ivaschenko CY, Frieler RA, Berger S, Schutz G et al (2010) Myeloid mineralocorticoid receptor controls macrophage polarization and cardiovascular hypertrophy and remodeling in mice. J Clin Invest 120:3350–3364
- Weinberger MH, Roniker B, Krause SL, Weiss RJ (2002) Eplerenone, a selective aldosterone blocker, in mild-to-moderate hypertension. Am J Hypertens 15:709–716
- Weir RA, Tsorlalis IK, Steedman T, Dargie HJ, Fraser R, McMurray JJ, Connell JM (2011) Aldosterone and cortisol predict medium-term left ventricular remodeling following myocardial infarction. Eur J Heart Fail 13:1305–1313
- Yancy CW, Lopatin M, Stevenson LW, De Marco T, Fonarow GC, Adhere Scientific Advisory Committee and Investigators (2006) Clinical presentation, management, and in-hospital outcomes of patients admitted with acute decompensated heart failure with preserved systolic function: a report from the Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE) Database. J Am Coll Cardiol 47:76–84
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Drazner MH et al (2013) 2013 ACCF/ AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. Circulation 128:e240–e327
- Yang J, Young MJ (2016) Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists-pharmacodynamics and pharmacokinetic differences. Curr Opin Pharmacol 27:78–85
- Yu L, Helms MN, Yue Q, Eaton DC (2008) Single-channel analysis of functional epithelial sodium channel (ENaC) stability at the apical membrane of A6 distal kidney cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol 295:F1519–F1527
- Zannad F, Alla F, Dousset B, Perez A, Pitt B (2000) Limitation of excessive extracellular matrix turnover may contribute to survival benefit of spironolactone therapy in patients with congestive heart failure: insights from the randomized aldactone evaluation study (RALES). Rales Investigators. Circulation 102:2700–2706
- Zannad F, McMurray JJ, Krum H, van Veldhuisen DJ, Swedberg K, Shi H et al (2011) Eplerenone in patients with systolic heart failure and mild symptoms. N Engl J Med 364:11–21
- Zannad F, Gattis Stough W, Rossignol P, Bauersachs J, McMurray JJ, Swedberg K et al (2012) Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: integrating evidence into clinical practice. Eur Heart J 33:2782–2795

Vasopressin and Vasopressin Antagonists in Heart Failure

Julie K. Vishram-Nielsen and Finn Gustafsson

Contents

1	Introduction	309
2	Vasopressin and Copeptin in Heart Failure	310
3	Activators of Vasopressin in Heart Failure	312
4	Vasopressin Antagonists in Heart Failure	313
	4.1 Aquaretic Effects	314
	4.2 Hemodynamic Effects	316
	4.3 The EVEREST Trial	318
5	Conclusions	321
Ar	ppendix: Main Study Characteristics and Results of the Vasopressin Receptor Antagonist	
CÌ	linical Trials	321
Re	eferences	326

Abstract

Despite the introduction of multiple new pharmacological agents over the past three decades in the field of heart failure (HF), overall prognosis remains poor. Hyponatremia is prevalent in HF patients and has been suggested as a contributor to poor response to standard therapy. Elevated levels of arginine vasopressin (AVP), a peptide hormone produced in the hypothalamus, play a role in development of hyponatremia, and AVP and its surrogate, copeptin, are related to changes in osmolality, hemodynamics, neuro-hormones as well as in overall outcome in HF patients. Of current pharmacological interest are the selective and non-selective vasopressin receptor antagonists (VRAs), which inhibit vasoconstriction and cardiac remodeling mediated by the V_{1a} receptors in smooth blood vessels, and water retention (increased urine osmolality and decreased

J.K. Vishram-Nielsen • F. Gustafsson (🖂)

Department of Cardiology, The Heart Centre, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

e-mail: finng@dadlnet.dk

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_28

water excretion) by increasing aquaporin-2 water channels mediated by the V_2 receptors in the renal collecting tubules. The optimal use of VRAs is yet to be determined, especially in patients with congestive HF. Although long-term effects on improvement in mortality have not been shown in the Efficacy of Vasopressin Antagonism in Heart Failure Outcome Study with Tolvaptan (EVEREST) trial, the only long-term outcome trial to date, many short-term studies indicate beneficial aquaretic- and hemodynamic-effects of the VRAs. In contrast to loop diuretics, these new agents tend to increase urine flow and the excretion of electrolyte-free water (so-called aquaresis) in patients with HF, without substantial changes in sodium or potassium excretion. This chapter reviews the role of AVP and copeptin in HF, and the treatment potential of VRAs in HF.

Keywords

Arginine vasopressin • Copeptin • Heart failure • Vasopressin receptor antagonist

Abbreviations

ACTIV	Acute and chronic therapeutic impact of a vasopressin
	2 antagonist
ADHF	Acute decompensated heart failure
AE	Adverse event
AVP	Arginine vasopressin
BNP	B-type natriuretic peptide
BP	Blood pressure
BUN	Blood urea nitrogen
BW	Body weight
CHF	Congestive heart failure
CI	Cardiac index
CIBIS-II	Cardiac insufficiency bisoprolol study II
CO	Cardiac output
CV	Cardiovascular
CVP	Central venous pressure
DILIPO	DILutIonal hyponatremia
ECLIPSE	EffeCt of toLvaptan on hemodynamIc Parameters in Subjects
	with hEart failure
EF	Ejection fraction
eGFR	Estimated glomerular filtration rate
EVEREST	Efficacy of vasopressin antagonism in heart failure outcome
	study with tolvaptan
HF	Heart failure
HR	Heart rate

·	Introvonous
IV KCCO	Intravenous
KCCQ	Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire
LV	Left ventricular
MAP	Mean arterial pressure
METEOR	Multicenter evaluation of tolvaptan effect on remodeling
NE	Norepinephrine
NT-proBNP	N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide
NYHA	New York Heart Association
OD	Once daily
PARADIGM-HF	Prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to determine
	impact on global mortality and morbidity in heart failure
PCWP	Pulmonary capillary wedge pressure
p-Na ⁺	Plasma sodium
PVR	Pulmonary vascular resistance
QOL	Quality of life
RA	Renin activity
RALES	Randomized aldactone evaluation study
RAP	Right atrial pressure
RAS	Renin angiotensin system
SD	Standard deviation
SIADH	Syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone
s-K ⁺	Serum potassium
s-Na ⁺	Serum sodium
SOLVD	Studies of left ventricular dysfunction
SV	Stroke volume
SVR	Systemic vascular resistance
VRA	Vasopressin receptor antagonist
WRF	Worsening renal function

1 Introduction

The prevalence of heart failure (HF) in developed countries has risen and now constitutes approximately 1-2% of adults, and even >10% amongst individuals above 70 years of age (Mosterd and Hoes 2007). At the same time, advancements in pharmacological treatments in HF, with the introduction of angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (SOLVD 1991), beta-blockers (CIBIS-II 1999), mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (Pitt et al. 1999), and the recent introduction of a neprilysin inhibitor (McMurray et al. 2014), have reduced the rates of mortality and hospitalization in patients with HF with reduced ejection fraction (EF).

Despite the multiple new therapeutic options developed over the past three decades, some patients do not respond well to standard HF therapy and the overall prognosis of patients with HF remains poor (Maggioni et al. 2013). As such, there is an on-going need for new therapeutic agents.

Hyponatremia, defined as a plasma sodium (p-Na⁺) concentration <136 mmol/L, is a potent predictor of outcome in HF (Bettari et al. 2012) and has been suggested to contribute to the continued high mortality rates due to its high prevalence up to 20-25% among patients hospitalized with HF (Ghali and Tam 2010; Bettari et al. 2012). For instance, in outpatients with chronic HF, hyponatremia (mean $p-Na^+ = 132.4 \pm 3.2 \text{ mmol/L}$) was a significant independent predictor of hospitalization and death (Balling et al. 2011). The most common type of hyponatremia seen in HF patients is hypervolemic hyponatremia, which is characterized by elevated total body Na⁺ and increased extracellular fluid volume in the presence of low p-Na⁺ (Decaux et al. 2008). The underlying pathophysiology of hyponatremia in HF is incompletely understood, but involves neurohormonal dysregulation with an interplay of increased activity of the reninangiotensin system (RAS), the sympathetic nervous system, and of arginine vasopressin (AVP) (Lilly et al. 1984; Packer et al. 1987), the latter of which is of current pharmacological interest due to the on-going investigations of therapeutic agents targeting the AVP receptors (Goldsmith and Gheorghiade 2005).

AVP is a peptide hormone, produced in the hypothalamus and stored in vesicles at the posterior pituitary for release into the bloodstream in response to changes in serum osmolality and non-osmotic factors such as hemodynamic and neurohormonal stimuli (Goldsmith 1988). The primary functions of AVP are: (1) vasoconstriction and cardiac remodeling through activation of the V_{1a} receptors in smooth blood vessels; (2) increase in adrenocorticotropic hormone and endorphins in response to stress through activation of the V_{1b} receptors in the pituitary corticotrophs; and (3) water retention (increased urine osmolality and decreased water excretion) by increasing aquaporin-2 water channels through activation of the V_2 receptors in the renal collecting tubules (Holmes et al. 2003; Balling and Gustafsson 2016). In addition to hyponatremia, elevated AVP levels affect hemodynamics (Yamane 1968; Goldsmith et al. 1986), and seem to correlate with severity and adverse outcome in HF patients (Szatalowicz et al. 1981; Goldsmith et al. 1983), thus making antagonists of the AVP receptor attractive new therapeutic agents. However, AVP's small size and very short half-life complicate measurements in research. Instead, C-terminal pro-vasopressin, copeptin, which is secreted equimolar to AVP, can be more easily measured, and has been used as a vasopressin surrogate (Morgenthaler et al. 2006).

The aims of this chapter are to review the role of AVP and copeptin in HF, and the treatment potential of AVP receptor antagonists (VRA) in HF.

2 Vasopressin and Copeptin in Heart Failure

AVP activity has been known since 1940 (Robinson and Farr 1940). However, due to the very low AVP concentration in human plasma, research in this field has been challenged. It was not until 1968, when Yamane extended his prior method of experimental diabetes insipidus rats for a bioassay of AVP to human plasma AVP (Yamane 1968), that research in this field progressed. Yamane showed that in 33%

of patients with chronic congestive HF (CHF) and New York Heart Association (NYHA) class III–IV, plasma AVP levels were increased, but normalized after improvement of hemodynamics with digitalis or diuretics. Furthermore, in half of these patients, right HF was correlated with the hemodynamic parameters right ventricular end-diastolic pressure, right atrial pressure (RAP), but not with pulmonary capillary wedge pressure (PCWP). Since then, studies have consistently shown significant relations between elevated AVP and changes in hemodynamics (Creager et al. 1986; Goldsmith et al. 1986), neuro-hormones (Goldsmith et al. 1983), serum osmolality (Creager et al. 1986), and outcome (Szatalowicz et al. 1981; Goldsmith et al. 1983) in HF patients; many of these studies will be reviewed throughout this chapter.

In more recent years, the AVP surrogate copeptin has been proposed as a useful alternative to direct measurement of AVP concentration due to its stable nature (Morgenthaler et al. 2006), and studies have consistently shown its reliability as an outcome predictor over the entire spectrum of HF independent of the current HF markers B-type natriuretic peptide (BNP) and N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) (Stoiser et al. 2006; Neuhold et al. 2008; Balling et al. 2012). For instance, in a long-term observational study Neuhold and colleagues examined the predictive value of copeptin in 786 chronic HF patients with NYHA I-IV and EF $25 \pm 10\%$ (range 5–65%). Compared to BNP and NT-proBNP, copeptin was found to be the most potent single predictor of all-cause mortality in patients with NYHA II and III (both p < 0.0001), whereas in NYHA IV copeptin added additional independent information, but was inferior to serum Na⁺ (s-Na⁺) and especially estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR). Of note, patients with increased levels of copeptin had a worse prognosis. Balling and colleagues further extended these previous findings by showing that the relation between copeptin and outcome is independent of Na⁺ and loop diuretic dose (Balling et al. 2012). A total of 340 chronic HF outpatients with EF < 45% followed for a median of 55 months were divided into three groups according to baseline copeptin tertiles. Those patients in the highest copeptin tertile had significantly more high-risk characteristics such as older age, lower EF, systolic blood pressure (BP), eGFR, and higher NT-proBNP and loop diuretic use. Baseline p-Na⁺ was the same in the three groups. In multivariate models adjusted for confounders, including p-Na⁺, loop diuretic dose, and NT-proBNP, copeptin was a significant predictor of hospitalization or death (hazard ratio 1.4; 95% confidence interval 1.1–1.9; p = 0.019), but did not predict mortality independently of NT-proBNP. In addition, copeptin concentrations did not predict future development of hyponatremia.

Taken together, the evidence suggests that the levels of AVP and its surrogate measure copeptin are increased in HF patients and linked to excess mortality; therefore, this patient group might especially benefit from adjunct therapy with therapeutic agents targeting the AVP receptors.

3 Activators of Vasopressin in Heart Failure

In healthy individuals, vasopressin is predominantly activated by osmotic factors such as small changes in plasma osmolality, resulting in tight regulation of serum osmolality and s-Na⁺ levels (Schrier et al. 1979). Moreover, in contrast to animals such as dogs where small reductions of central venous pressure (CVP) or mean arterial pressure (MAP) readily increase AVP at constant osmolality (Goldsmith 1988), severe hypotension is required in humans before AVP will be released non-osmotically (Goldsmith et al. 1989). However, in HF and left ventricular (LV) dysfunction, non-osmotic mechanisms such as baroreceptor reflexes and neuro-hormones become more prominent (Schrier et al. 1979).

Many previous studies have tried to elucidate the drivers of AVP in HF. For instance, Goldsmith et al. (1983) measured plasma AVP, norepinephrine (NE), renin activity (RA), and numerous hemodynamic parameters in 31 patients with advanced HF and 51 comparably aged normal participants. In a sub-group of 11 patients, the response of AVP to hemodynamic changes induced by nitroprusside infusion and inhibition of RAS with captopril was also studied. The mean (\pm standard error of the mean) AVP levels were significantly higher in the HF patients compared to the normal participants (9.5 \pm 0.89 pg/mL vs. 4.7 \pm 0.66 pg/mL, respectively; p < 0.001). However, the AVP levels did not correlate with any hemodynamic variables, and were increased to the same degree in patients with both low and normal cardiac index (CI). Nor did acute hemodynamic changes induced by nitroprusside or captopril influence AVP levels. Furthermore, AVP correlated neither with s-Na⁺ nor NE, and only modestly with RA (r = 0.53, p < 0.02). The authors postulate that the lack of correlation between AVP and s-Na⁺ in these HF patients indicates a possible disruption of the normal osmotic regulatory mechanism, which in turn could be primary or secondary to abnormalities in the non-osmotic control pathways. Furthermore, the lack of response of AVP to acute decreases in both cardiac filling pressure and MAP may indicate that these reflexes are unimportant modulators of AVP release in patients with CHF. In addition, the fact that AVP levels under basal conditions were not confined to patients with hypotension (all the participants were normotensive) or low CI diminishes the likelihood that these factors play a role in the maintenance of increased AVP in the chronic state.

It is known that nonspecific baroreflex loading maneuvers such as head-down tilt readily suppress stimulated AVP levels in normal humans (Goldsmith 1988). Whether this holds true in patients with CHF was tested by Goldsmith (1992). They hypothesized that increased AVP levels in patients with CHF would not respond normally to baroreflex loading. A total of 12 patients with CHF had AVP levels and osmolality determined in the supine position and after 15 min of 30° head-down-tilt; 8 patients underwent further study after osmotic stimulation with mannitol. AVP levels increased from 3.5 ± 1.0 to 6.5 ± 2.0 pg/mL and did not decrease. There was no significant suppression of AVP during head-down-tilt after mannitol infusion compared with values in a time control period. These results indicate an abnormality in baroreflex suppression of AVP in chronic CHF and suggest that such a defect may contribute to long-term high levels of AVP in this condition.

The relation between hemodynamics and AVP has also been studied by augmentation of the system (Goldsmith et al. 1986). A total of 11 patients with CHF and NYHA II-IV received exogenously administered AVP, increasing plasma AVP from mean (standard deviation, SD) 6.5 ± 2.7 to 63 ± 39 pg/mL at the highest infusion rate. There was a progressive decrease in cardiac output (CO) and stroke volume (SV), with increases in systemic vascular resistance (SVR) and PCWP, but only minimal changes in heart rate (HR) and BP. Changes in CO, SV, and SVR were evident from the first infusion rate, which increased plasma AVP from 6.5 ± 2.7 to 9.9 ± 4.6 pg/mL. Thus, it appears that small increases in AVP are related to modest but significant adverse circulatory effects in CHF patients. A fall in CO, probably as a result of increased afterload, is seen at levels of AVP within the basal range found in CHF.

Taken together, drivers of AVP in HF are not clearly defined. However, previous work indicates that AVP is correlated to severity of HF, neuro-hormonal activation, hemodynamic derangement especially CO, and is not inhibited by normal barore-ceptor stimulation.

4 Vasopressin Antagonists in Heart Failure

The first VRAs were developed as peptides in the 1960s. Although the results were promising in animal models, the VRAs lost their antagonistic effect and became partial agonistic when transferred to humans (Jackson 2006). It was not until the early 1990s that non-peptide VRAs were identified and used successfully in humans (Ohnishi et al. 1993). The VRAs act by directly blocking the activation of AVP receptor subtypes $-V_{1a}$, V_{1b} , and V_2 . To date, the most extensively studied agents are the selective V₂ RAs tolvaptan, satavaptan, lixivaptan, and mozavaptan, and the non-selective V_{1a}/V_2 RA conivaptan (Decaux et al. 2008). Whereas oral tolvaptan is the only VRA marketed in Europe with the indication euvolemic hyponatremia in patients with the syndrome of inappropriate antidiuretic hormone secretion (SIADH), both tolvaptan and intravenous (iv) conivaptan have been approved in the United States and Japan for the treatment of both euvolemic and hypervolemic hyponatremia (Peri 2013; Jovanovich and Berl 2013). However, the optimal use of VRAs has not yet been determined, especially in patients with CHF. The effects of VRAs in patients with HF have been evaluated in mainly short-term clinical studies, while there is only one long-term clinical trial, namely the Efficacy of Vasopressin Antagonism in Heart Failure Outcome Study with Tolvaptan (EVEREST). Although beneficial long-term effects on improvement in mortality have not been shown in the EVEREST trial, many studies indicate beneficial shortterm aquaretic- and hemodynamic-effects of the VRAs. In the following, some of these clinical trials will be reviewed. The main study characteristics and results of these clinical trials are summarized in the Appendix.

4.1 Aquaretic Effects

Loop diuretics are part of the standard HF therapy. However, their use is often associated with hypotension, electrolyte abnormalities, worsening renal function (WRF), and possibly increased mortality (Cooper et al. 1999; Domanski et al. 2003). In contrast to these diuretics, the selective V_2 RAs and the non-selective V_{1a}/V_2 RAs have shown promising results in clinical trials to increase urine flow and the excretion of electrolyte-free water in patients with HF, without substantial changes in sodium or potassium excretion, leading to their designation as aquaretic agents.

Tolvaptan is an oral, once daily (OD), non-peptide V_2 RA without intrinsic agonist properties (Yamamura et al. 1998; Hirano et al. 2000). The compound binds predominantly to the V_2 receptors in the kidney, resulting in increased production of dilute urine.

The short- and intermediate-term effects of tolvaptan were evaluated in HF patients hospitalized with persistent signs and symptoms of systemic congestion despite standard therapy in the Acute and Chronic Therapeutic Impact of a Vasopressin 2 Antagonist (ACTIV) in CHF study (Gheorghiade et al. 2004). A total of 319 patients with NYHA III–IV and EF < 40% were randomized to oral tolvaptan OD of either 30, 60, 90 mg or placebo, in addition to standard therapy including diuretics. One day after randomization, there was a non-dose-dependent reduction in body weight (BW), which was significantly higher in the combined tolvaptan group (median 1.8–2.1 kg; interquartile range 0.5–3.85 kg) compared with placebo (median 0.6 kg; interquartile range 0–1.6 kg; p = 0.008). Consistently, urine volume was significantly higher in the tolvaptan group (mean 4,056.2-4,175.2 mL; SD 2,050.8-2,695.4 mL) compared with placebo (mean 2,296.5 mL; SD 1,134.1 mL; p < 0.05). Both the reduction in BW and the increase in urine volume were maintained throughout the period of hospitalization. By discharge time, significantly fewer patients in the tolvaptan group compared with placebo reported dyspnea. Furthermore, tolvaptan produced an increase in p-Na⁺ in patients with hyponatremia without causing hypokalemia or WRF, and was not associated with changes in HR or BP. Although underpowered and not prospectively designed to evaluate mortality alone, a post-hoc analysis of 60-day mortality showed a trend toward lower mortality in the tolvaptan group when compared with placebo, and with this trend reaching significance in patients with high levels of blood urea nitrogen (BUN) or severe systemic congestion. There were no significant differences in worsening HF at 60 days in the tolvaptan group when compared to placebo.

The first study to examine the effect of tolvaptan monotherapy compared to furosemide and the combination of tolvaptan and furosemide in patients with HF was carried out by Udelson et al. (2011). Symptomatic patients with CHF, NYHA II–III, and EF < 40% discontinued diuretics and received a low Na⁺ diet (2 g/day). After a 2-day run in period, a total of 83 patients were randomized to receive either tolvaptan 30 mg, furosemide 80 mg, the combination of tolvaptan 30 mg and furosemide 80 mg, or placebo, OD for 7 days on top of standard therapy and no fluid restriction. Compared to baseline, on day 8 patients had a decrease in BW of

 1.37 ± 1.61 kg in the tolvaptan group vs. 0.54 ± 1.59 kg in the furosemide group, 1.13 ± 1.49 kg in the combination group, and an increase of 0.72 ± 2.42 kg in the placebo group. Tolvaptan was just as effective as furosemide in decreasing BW. Although the combination therapy decreased BW more on day 2 than did furosemide monotherapy, this effect did not last. Increases in urine volume when compared to baseline were similar between the tolvaptan group and the combination group, and both greater than the furosemide group and placebo. Tolvaptan monotherapy caused an increase in s-Na⁺ within the normal range, and there were no changes in serum potassium (s-K⁺) or BP.

Satavaptan is another orally active and highly selective non-peptide V₂ RA (Serradeil-Le Gal et al. 1996) that corrects hyponatremia in patients with SIADH (Gines et al. 2008) or cirrhosis with ascites (Verbalis 2006). The efficacy and safety of the short- and long-term treatment of satavaptan were investigated in patients with dilutional hyponatremia (s-Na⁺ = 115-132 mmol/L) in the DILutIonal hyPOnatremia (DILIPO) study (Aronson et al. 2011). A total of 118 patients (90 with CHF) were randomized to oral satavaptan OD of either 25 or 50 mg for up to 4 days or placebo, followed by non-comparative open label satavaptan therapy of 25 mg OD (the investigators adjusted the dose to between 12.5 and 25 mg depending on s-Na⁺ levels) for up to 343 days. The response rate (Na⁺ \geq 135 mmol/L or an increase in Na⁺ \geq 5 mmol/L above baseline) was significantly higher with satavaptan 50 mg than with placebo (61.0 vs. 26.8%; p = 0.0035). In patients with CHF, similar trends were seen in response rates for satavaptan. Median times to response were significantly shorter in the treatment groups compared with placebo. S-Na⁺ responses were maintained during the open-label therapy after a temporary study drug discontinuation period. A significant BW reduction was only seen in the satavaptan 25 mg group compared with placebo (1.4 kg, p = 0.032), and this was reproducible in the subgroup with CHF. Higher rates of adverse events (AEs) occurred with satavaptan 50 mg, including rapid correction of hyponatremia. Interestingly, the planned treatment discontinuation period in the present study revealed recurrence of hyponatremia in about 50% of the patients when satavaptan was discontinued, with a prompt increase in Na⁺ levels when satavaptan treatment was re-started.

Conivaptan is a non-selective VRA with strong affinity for both the V_{1a} and V_2 receptors (Tahara et al. 1997). Its pharmacokinetics has been evaluated in patients with euvolemic or hypervolemic hyponatremia with s-Na⁺ \leq 130 mmol/L and with or without CHF (Mao et al. 2009). The study suggests that the pharmacokinetics of conivaptan 20 or 40 mg/day do not differ by volume status or the presence or absence of CHF and that adjustment in conivaptan dosage according to volume status or CHF status is not necessary. Instead, any dosage adjustment from 20 to 40 mg/day should be considered after the first day and only if s-Na⁺ does not rise at the desired rate.

Conivaptan's potential aquaretic benefits in patients with HF were examined by Goldsmith et al. (2008, 2011). In a pilot study evaluating the efficacy and safety of conivaptan in acute decompensated HF (ADHF) patients (Goldsmith et al. 2008), a total of 170 patients with NYHA III–IV and mean (SD) EF = 29.5% (15.6) were

hospitalized for worsening HF and randomly assigned to treatment with conivaptan (20 mg loading dose, followed by two successive 24 h continuous infusions of 40, 80, or 120 mg/day) vs. placebo, on top of standard therapy. The two groups did not differ significantly in patient or clinician assessment of global and respiratory status at 48 h. Conivaptan at each dose increased urine output significantly more than placebo at 24 h, with a difference of 1–1.5 L without inducing electrolyte disturbances.

In another study, the renal effects of conivaptan were compared to furosemide, and the combination of conivaptan plus furosemide in patients with stable chronic HF and on standard medical therapy (Goldsmith et al. 2011). Using a cross-over design, a total of eight male patients with NYHA II–III, EF < 40% received iv furosemide (one-half of the patient's daily outpatient oral dose given as an iv bolus, maximum 80 mg), conivaptan (as a 20 mg iv bolus followed by a continuous infusion at 1.2 mg/h iv for 4 h), or the combination on three different study days at a minimum of 1-week intervals. The study showed no significant effects of conivaptan and furosemide similarly increased urine volumes; the effect of the combination was significantly greater. Furosemide, but not conivaptan, increased urinary Na⁺ excretion, and the combination was significantly greater than after furosemide alone.

The effectiveness of V₂ RAs on volume unloading was investigated in outpatients with HF and volume overload (Ghali et al. 2012). A total of 170 patients with NYHA II–III and EF < 40% (n = 57%) and EF ≥ 40% (n = 43%) were randomized in a 2:1 ratio to either lixivaptan 100 mg OD (n = 111) or placebo (n = 59), on top of standard therapy for 8 weeks. BW decreased significantly with lixivaptan compared to placebo. Orthopnea and dyspnea improved in the lixivaptan group compared to placebo. Furthermore, lixivaptan was well tolerated – thirst and polyuria occurred more frequently compared to placebo.

Taken together, the evidence from these clinical trials suggests that both the selective V_2 RAs and the non-selective V_{1A}/V_2 RAs increase p-Na⁺ and promote aquaresis in patients with HF, without causing adverse changes in electrolytes or renal function. The effects of some of the VRAs appear to be non-dose-dependent and just as effective as loop diuretics but without causing the electrolyte abnormalities and WRF that is seen in the treatment with loop diuretics.

4.2 Hemodynamic Effects

The relation between V1a RAs and hemodynamics was recognized early on (Creager et al. 1986). In 10 men with CHF, NYHA III–IV, and average $EF = 24 \pm 10\%$, it was found that in those with above normal baseline levels of AVP (n = 3) there was a systemic vasodilatory response with a decrease in SVR and an increase in CI after infusion of a V1a RA.

The acute hemodynamic effects of conivaptan (Udelson et al. 2001) and tolvaptan (Udelson et al. 2008) were evaluated in patients with symptomatic

HF. In the first study (Udelson et al. 2001), a total of 142 patients with HF, NYHA III–IV, and $EF \leq 40\%$ were randomized to short-term treatment with conivaptan at a single iv dose (10, 20, or 40 mg) or placebo. Compared to placebo, conivaptan 20 or 40 mg significantly reduced PCWP and RAP 3–6 h after iv administration. Furthermore, conivaptan significantly increased urine output in a dose-dependent manner during the first 4 h after the dose. Changes in CI, SVR, pulmonary vascular resistance (PVR), BP, and HR did not differ between the groups.

In the EffeCt of toLvaptan on hemodynamIc Parameters in Subjects with hEart failure (ECLIPSE) study (Udelson et al. 2008), a total of 181 patients with HF on standard therapy were randomized to tolvaptan 15, 30, 60 mg, or placebo. Compared with placebo, all doses of tolvaptan significantly reduced PCWP and pulmonary artery pressure, and the two lower doses also reduced RAP. There were no significant changes in CI, PVR, and SVR. Furthermore, tolvaptan increased urine output by 3 h in a dose-dependent manner.

The effects of long-term administration of oral tolvaptan on LV dilation and function in patients with HF and systolic dysfunction were examined in the Multicenter Evaluation of Tolvaptan Effect on Remodeling (METEOR) trial (Udelson et al. 2007). A total of 240 stable participants with NYHA II–III and EF $\leq 30\%$ were randomized to long-term treatment of tolvaptan 30 mg OD or placebo, on top of standard background therapy. After one year of tolvaptan, there was a small reduction in LV end-diastolic volume index ($-1.8 \pm 10.7 \text{ mL/m}^2$), although the between group difference was non-significant (p = 0.21). Thus, in a well-treated population of stable HF patients, there was no significant effect of tolvaptan therapy on LV remodeling after one year of therapy.

To differentiate the hemodynamic effects of the selective V₂ RAs from the non-selective V_{1a}/V₂ RAs, Mondritzki et al. (2011) investigated the effects of conivaptan and tolvaptan in an acute HF model produced by rapid right ventricular pacing in Mongrel dogs. After 14 days, the animals were studied under general anesthesia to evaluate their hemodynamic and urine output response to either iv bolus 0.1 mg/kg of conivaptan or tolvaptan. Prior to randomization, the animals received an iv infusion of AVP to keep the levels controlled and with increasing rates. The study showed no significant differences in effect on MAP, the rate (dP/dt_{max}) of LV pressure rise during early systole, CVP, and urine output. CO increased after conivaptan and decreased after tolvaptan. SVR increased after tolvaptan and decreased after convaptan. At the highest AVP dose of 4 mU/kg/min, a significant rise in SVR and a significant reduction in HR and CO could be observed when compared with the baseline state. Thus, it appears that in this acute HF model, conivaptan lowered whereas tolvaptan increased afterload. Therefore, dual blockage in the acute HF setting could be beneficial compared to selective V₂ blockage.

Taken together, the evidence from these clinical trials suggests that filling pressures are reduced with V_2 RAs because of an aquaretic effect. Furthermore, an effect on SVR and CO with V_{1a} RAs – at rest – is only evident when patients or experimental animals have significantly elevated AVP levels and deranged hemodynamics. In the available studies hemodynamics were studied at rest. Whether V_{1a} receptor activation plays an even more important role during exercise is currently being evaluated in human studies.

4.3 The EVEREST Trial

The large-scale event-driven Phase III trial – EVEREST – was designed to explore both the short- and long-term effects of the V₂ RA tolvaptan when added to standard therapy in patients hospitalized with worsening HF and with symptoms of fluid overload. Whereas the short-term Clinical Status Trials (Gheorghiade et al. 2007) investigated inpatient signs and symptoms at day 7 or discharge (if earlier), the long-term Outcome Trial (Konstam et al. 2007) investigated morbidity and mortality during a median follow-up of 9.9 months. A total of 4,133 patients – pooled together from the short-term trials A (n = 2,048) and B (n = 2,085) – and aged ≥ 18 years with NYHA III–IV and EF < 40% were randomized within 48 h of hospital admission to tolvaptan 30 mg OD or placebo on top of standard therapy for a minimum of 60 days.

In the short-term study, the primary endpoint, consisting of a composite of changes in global clinical status based on a 100-point visual analog scale and BW at day 7 or discharge, showed greater improvement in the tolvaptan group compared to placebo (p < 0.001). The mean (SD) reduction in BW was greater with tolvaptan compared to placebo on day 1 (trial A: 1.71 (1.80) vs. 0.99 (1.83) kg; and trial B: 1.82 (2.01) vs. 0.95 (1.85) kg) and day 7 or discharge (trial A: 3.35 (3.27) vs. 2.73 (3.34) kg; and trial B: 3.77 (3.59) vs. 2.79 (3.46) kg); all p < 0.001. In addition, more patients receiving tolvaptan compared to placebo reported significant improvement in dyspnea on day 1 (for trials A and B, both p < 0.001) and a reduction in edema on day 7 or discharge (only for trial B, p = 0.02), whereas improvement in general clinical status did not differ between the groups. Furthermore, at day 1 and discharge, the tolvaptan group exhibited significantly greater corrections in s-Na⁺ in those patients with hyponatremia at baseline (s-Na⁺ < 134 mmol/L). Serious AE frequencies were similar between the groups, and without WRF or hypotension in the tolvaptan group. An overall in-hospital mortality rate of 2.4% and 2.9% was observed in the tolvaptan and placebo groups, respectively.

Despite these positive short-term outcomes, tolvaptan did not affect long-term mortality and re-hospitalization. During follow-up, 537 (25.9%) patients in the tolvaptan group and 543 (26.3%) in the placebo group died from all-causes (hazard ratio 0.98; 95% confidence interval 0.87–1.11; p = 0.68). The composite of cardiovascular (CV) death or hospitalization for HF occurred in 871 (42.0%) patients in the tolvaptan group and 829 (40.2%) in the placebo group (hazard ratio 1.04; 95% confidence interval 0.95–1.14; p = 0.55). Secondary end points of CV mortality, CV death or hospitalization, and worsening HF were not different. The Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire (KCCQ) overall summary score was not improved at outpatient week 1, but BW and s-Na⁺ effects persisted long

after discharge. Tolvaptan caused increased thirst and dry mouth, but frequencies of major adverse events were similar in the two groups.

Taken together, the evidence from these three trials does not justify continuation of tolvaptan beyond the time of improvement in fluid balance and clinical status in patients hospitalized with worsening HF.

4.3.1 Potential Factors Influencing the Long-Term Outcome in EVEREST

Consistent evidence from previous work suggests that hyponatremia is a potent predictor of outcome in HF patients, and that hyponatremia to a large extent is due to excessive secretion of AVP, since blocking the V_2 receptors raises s-Na⁺ by producing aquaresis (Goldsmith 2013). In the EVEREST trial, patients were not stratified by s-Na⁺ in the randomization process, and thus it did not address the potential benefits of tolvaptan among patients with baseline hyponatremia. It was not until six years later that Hauptman and colleagues investigated the short- and long-term impact of treatment with tolvaptan in patients with and without hyponatremia in a post hoc analysis of the EVEREST trial (Hauptman et al. 2013). Of note, patients with hyponatremia had signs of more advanced disease at baseline with greater volume overload, with higher jugular venous pressure, and BUN compared to patients with normonatremia. In the placebo group, patients with hyponatremia (s-Na⁺ < 135 mmol/L; n = 232), compared with those with normonatremia (n = 1,785), had less relief of dyspnea despite receiving higher doses of diuretics (59.2 vs. 69.2% improved dyspnea; p < 0.01) and worse longterm outcomes. In the hyponatremia subgroup from the entire trial cohort (n = 475), tolvaptan was associated with greater likelihood of normalization of s-Na⁺ than placebo (58 vs. 20% for day 1, and 64 vs. 29% at discharge; all p < 0.001), greater weight reduction at day 1 (0.7 kg difference; p < 0.001) and at discharge (0.8 kg difference; p = 0.008), and greater relief of dyspnea (p = 0.03). Among all hyponatremic patients, there was no effect of tolvaptan on long-term outcomes compared with placebo. In patients with pronounced hyponatremia (s-Na⁺ < 130 mmol/L; n = 92), tolvaptan was associated with reduced CV morbidity and mortality after discharge (p = 0.04). Interestingly, these patients also had significantly higher levels of AVP (n = 68; mean AVP 7.26 pg/mL, range 2.8–38) compared to the normonatremic cohort (n = 2,762; mean AVP 5.65 pg/mL, range 2.3–116; p = 0.018). Thus, it appears that hyponatremia is associated with a more unfavorable in-hospital course and remains a potent predictor of outcomes in patients hospitalized with worsening HF. Treatment of these patients with tolvaptan improved several signs and symptoms of HF and may improve outcomes relative to standard of care in those with severe hyponatremia. This, of course, would have to be proven in a dedicated trial.

Selective V_2 antagonism did not improve long-term outcome in the EVEREST patient population. Whether AVP levels independently influence outcome in these patients is important to elucidate, as this information may determine the utility of further investigation with unselective V_{1a}/V_2 RAs in HF. A post hoc analysis of the EVEREST trial was carried out by Lanfeur et al. (2013), where they examined the

association of baseline and follow-up AVP levels with outcome and the effect of tolvaptan in 3,196 patients with valid AVP measurements. Of note, patients with elevated baseline AVP (>8 pg/mL; n = 694) had higher levels of natriuretic peptide and aldosterone, higher HR, and lower EF. Higher AVP was not associated with baseline s-Na⁺ (p = 0.23). In multivariate models adjusted for baseline covariates, elevated AVP levels were independently predictive of all-cause mortality (hazard ratio 1.33; 95% confidence interval 1.13–1.55) and the composite of CV mortality or HF hospitalization (hazard ratio 1.23; 95% confidence interval 1.08-1.39). Baseline AVP level did not help identify a subset of patients in whom tolvaptan was effective (p = 0.52). Interestingly, tolvaptan administration significantly increased the proportion of patients with elevated AVP (p < 0.001), but this had no effect on mortality (hazard ratio 0.95; 95% confidence interval 0.72–1.24). Thus, it appears that AVP levels are of limited importance in predicting the long-term effectiveness of V₂ antagonism in patients hospitalized with worsening HF. In fact, previous work has shown that maximal V₂ signaling occurs at relatively low levels of plasma AVP, whereas V_{1a} effects are dose-dependent (Schrier et al. 2006). Therefore, agents with more balanced inhibition of the V_{1a} and V₂ receptors may be of benefit in a population similar to the one studied in the EVEREST trial and should be evaluated, given the potential vascular and cardiac effects of the V_{1a} receptor.

4.3.2 Considerations for Future Trials

Taken together, a combined V_{1a}/V_2 blockage might be attractive compared to selective V_2 blockage. Based on the available evidence it seems unlikely that unselected, well-treated HF patients will have significant effect on long-term outcome with AVP blockade, and it remains unclear which patients to target in future trials. Logically, patients with activated AVP system should be targeted, but with respect to the V_2 component the EVEREST data suggest that hyponatremia, as a marker of disturbances in the AVP axis, was a better marker for effect than AVP measurements as such. This may not be the case for a V_{1a} RA or combined V_{1a}/V_2 RA. Also, the poor discriminating power of AVP in EVEREST might be related to analytical difficulties with AVP as described above, and it is possible that outcome might have been different if copeptin had been measured instead. To obtain an effect of V_{1a} blockade, patients with greater activation of the AVP system should probably be targeted to achieve an effect on hemodynamics, at least at rest.

Finally, endpoints should be relevant for the population studied. In patients with ADHF, who are often elderly and fragile, symptom relief, quality of life (QOL) and hospital length of stay might be relevant, whereas in patients with CHF survival, hospitalization risk and functional capacity (measured, for instance, by a 6-minute walk test) in addition to QOL appear to be important measures.

5 Conclusions

Hyponatremia is prevalent in HF patients and is considered a contributor to the sustained high mortality rates in these patients. Elevated levels of AVP play a role in hyponatremia and AVP and its surrogate, copeptin, are related to changes in osmolality, hemodynamics, neuro-hormones, as well as in overall outcome in HF patients. Thus, therapeutic agents targeting the AVP receptors, the VRAs, seem attractive. However, the optimal use of these agents has yet to be determined, especially in patients with CHF. Although long-term effects on improvement in mortality have not been shown in the EVEREST trial, many short-term studies indicate beneficial aquaretic- and hemodynamic-effects of the VRAs. In contrast to loop diuretics, these new agents tend to increase urine flow and the excretion of electrolyte-free water (so-called aquaresis) in patients with HF, without substantial changes in sodium or potassium excretion. However, many questions remain unanswered with regard to the potential use of VRAs in HF patients. Future trials should consider the potential efficacy of longer-term treatment with non-selective VRAs, the use of more stable analytical methods such as copeptin, and the use of a relevant target population as well as endpoints.

Appendix: Main Study Characteristics and Results of the Vasopressin Receptor Antagonist Clinical Trials

Study	Design	Treatment	Target receptor	Patient characteristics	Effect on primary (important secondary) endpoints
Creager et al. (1986), $n = 10$	Controlled	iv V1a RA of 0.5 mg administered over 5 min % diuretics 24 h prior to experiment	V _{1A}	Chronic NYHA III-IV average $EF = 24$ $\pm 10\%$ only men	↓ SVR and ↑ CI when baseline AVP was above normal
Udelson et al. (2001), n = 142	Multicenter trial with a baseline inpatient phase, and a randomized, double-blind treatment phase	Single dose iv conivaptan (10, 20, or 40 mg) vs. placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio + standard therapy	V _{1A} /V ₂	Chronic NYHA III-IV EF $\leq 40\%$	↓ PCWP, ↓ RAP and dose-dependent ↑ in urine output in the treatment group vs. placebo no difference in CI, SVR, PVR, BP, HR between the groups
The ACTIV in CHF study (Gheorghiade et al. 2004), n = 319	Multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled, parallel- group, dose-ranging, phase 2 feasibility trial	Oral tolvaptan OD (30, 60, or 90 mg) vs. placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio up to 60 days + standard therapy	V ₂	Acute/chronic NYHA III-IV EF $\leq 40\%$	Day 1+ at discharge: non-dose- dependent \downarrow BW and \uparrow urine volume in the treatment group vs. placebo 60-day mortality: trend toward \downarrow mortality in the treatment group
The EVEREST clinical status trials (Gheorghiade et al. 2007) trial A: $n = 2,048$, trial B: $n = 2,085$	Multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled, phase 3	Oral tolvaptan 30 mg OD vs. placebo in a 1:1 ratio for minimum 60 days + standard therapy	V ₂	Acute NYHA III-IV EF $\leq 40\%$	At day 7/discharge: \downarrow BW, \uparrow Na ⁺ , \downarrow dyspnea, and \downarrow edema in the treatment group vs. placebo general clinical status did not differ between the groups
The EVEREST outcome trial (Konstam et al. 2007), trials A and B: $n = 4,133$	Multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled, phase 3	Oral tolvaptan 30 mg OD vs. placebo in a 1:1 ratio for minimum 60 days + standard therapy	V ₂	Acute NYHA III–IV EF ≤ 40%	No difference in mortality or re-hospitalization between groups KCCQ summary score not improved at outpatient week 1 sustained \downarrow BW and \uparrow Na ⁺ in the treatment group

The METEOR trial (Udelson et al. 2007),	Multicenter, randomized, double-	Oral tolvaptan 30 mg OD vs. placebo in a 1:1 ratio	V ₂	Chronic NYHA II-III	No effect on LV remodeling, although small \downarrow LVEDV index in
n = 240	blind, placebo- controlled	for 1 year + standard therapy		$ ext{EF} \leq 30\%$	the treatment group vs. placebo (no significant between group difference)
					favorable effect of treatment on mortality/HF hospitalization
The ECLIPSE trial	International, multicenter,	Oral tolvaptan 15, 30, or	\mathbf{V}_2	Acute	↓ PCWP, ↓ PAP (all treatment
(Udelson et al. 2008),	randomized, placebo-	60 mg OD vs. placebo in		NYHA II-III	groups), \ RAP (tolvaptan 15 and
n = 181	controlled	a 1:1 ratio		$EF \leq 30\%$	30 mg) vs. placebo
					aose-aependent m urne output no difference in CI. PVR. SVR
					between groups
Goldsmith et al. (2008),	Multicenter, double-blind,	iv loading dose of	V_{1A}/V_2	Acute pulmonary	\uparrow urine output, \downarrow BW in the treatment
n = 170	dose-ranging pilot study	conivaptan 20 mg,		congestion,	group vs. placebo
		followed by two		respiratory symptoms	no difference in worsening HF,
		successive 24 h		NYHA III-IV	respiratory status at 48 hours, or
		continuous infusions of		mean (SD)	electrolyte disturbances between the
		40, 80, or 120 mg/day		EF = 29.5% (15.6)	groups
		vs. placebo in a 1:1:1:1 ratio			
		+ standard therapy			
Mao et al. (2009), $n = 203$	Multicenter, 4-day	iv loading dose over	V _{1A} /V ₂	CHF $(n = 90)$	Conivaptan concentrations: highest
	open-label	30 min of conivaptan		$s-Na^+ \le 130 \text{ mmol/L}$	after 30 min loading dose, declined
		20 mg, followed by a		euvolemic- or	during day 1, and were maintained
		continuous 4-day		hypervolemic-	by the continuous infusion
		infusion of 20 or 40 mg/		hyponatremia	no difference with regard to status of
		day			volume or CHF
Udelson et al. (2011),	Multicenter,	Oral tolvaptan 30 mg,	\mathbf{V}_2	Acute: signs of	Day 8: BW in all treatment groups,
n = 83	randomized, double-	furosemide 80 mg, or		congestion (edema,	and \uparrow urine volume in the two
	blind, placebo-controlled,	tolvaptan		rales)	treatment groups with
	parallel group	30 mg + furosemide		NYHA II–III	tolvaptan vs. placebo
		80 mg vs. placebo in a		$EF \le 40\%$	↑ Na ⁺ within the normal range, no
					(continued)

Study	Design	Treatment	Target receptor	Patient characteristics	Effect on primary (important secondary) endpoints
		1:1:1:1 ratio + standard therapy			change in K ⁺ or BP in the group with tolvaptan
Goldsmith et al. (2011), n = 8	Randomized, cross-over study	Three separate study days separated with a 7-day washout periods: iv furosemide (<80 mg), iv loading dose of conivaptan 20 mg, followed by a continuous infusion at 1.2 mg/h for 4 h, or the combination	V _{1A} /V ₂	Chronic NYHA II–III EF $\leq 23 \pm 7\%$ only men	↑ urine volume in all treatment groups and ↑ urinary Na ⁺ excretion with furosemide therapy (combination > monotherapy) no difference in hemodynamics, neurohormonal levels, renal blood flow, or GFR
The DILIPO study (Aronson et al. 2011), $n = 118$	Multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo- controlled phase; followed by a 1-year open-label non-comparative phase	Oral satavaptan OD (25 or 50 mg) vs. placebo in a 1:1:1 ratio up to 4 days, followed by satavaptan 12.5–25 mg + fluid restriction 1–1.5 L	V ₂	Chronic $(n = 90)$ NYHA III-IV s-Na ⁺ = 115-132 mmol/L	Higher \uparrow in Na ⁺ , \downarrow time to response, and \uparrow BW reduction in the treatment group vs. placebo similar results in the CHF subgroup the increase in Na ⁺ was maintained long-term
Mondritzki et al. (2011), $n = 6$	Randomized, controlled	After iv infusion of AVP to keep its levels controlled, randomization to either conivaptan or tolvaptan, both iv 0.1 mg/kg bolus	V ₂ vs. V _{1A} /V ₂	Mongrel dogs were paced continuously at 220 beats/min after 14 days they underwent acute testing	↑ CO and ↓ SVR with conivaptan ↓ CO and ↑ SVR with tolvaptan no difference in effect on MAP, dP/dt _{max} , CVP, and urine output between the groups

Ghali et al. (2012), $n = 170$	Multicenter,	Oral lixivaptan 100 mg	\mathbf{V}_2	Chronic	Day 1 + weeks 1, 2, 4: \downarrow BW in the
1	randomized, double-	OD vs. placebo in a 2:1		NYHA II–III	treatment group vs. placebo
	blind, placebo-controlled,	ratio for 8 weeks		EF < 40% (n = 57%)	improvement in orthopnea and
	parallel-group, phase 2	+ standard therapy		$EF \ge 40\% \ (n = 43\%)$	dyspnea in the treatment group
iv intravenous. RA recentor an	ntagonist. NYHA New York	c Heart Association. <i>EF</i> eject	tion fracti	on. SVR systemic vasci	lar resistance. CI cardiac index. AVP

resistance, BP blood pressure, HR heart rate, Na⁺ sodium, KCCQ Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire, LV left ventricular, LVEDVLV end-diastolic volume, HF heart failure, SD standard deviation, CHF congestive HF, K⁺ potassium, CO cardiac output, MAP mean arterial pressure, CVP central venous arginine vasopressin, PCWP pulmonary capillary wedge pressure, PAP pulmonary artery pressure, RAP right atrial pressure, PVR pulmonary vascular . rondonor pressure mina 2
References

- Aronson D, Verbalis JG, Mueller M et al (2011) Short- and long-term treatment of dilutional hyponatraemia with satavaptan, a selective arginine vasopressin V₂-receptor antagonist: the DILIPO study. Eur J Heart Fail 13:327–336
- Balling L, Gustafsson F (2016) Copeptin in heart failure. Adv Clin Chem 73:29-64
- Balling L, Schou M, Videbaek L et al (2011) Prevalence and prognostic significance of hyponatraemia in outpatients with chronic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 13:968–973
- Balling L, Kistorp C, Schou M et al (2012) Plasma copeptin levels and prediction of outcome in heart failure outpatients: relation to hyponatremia and loop diuretic doses. J Card Fail 18 (5):351–358
- Bettari L, Fiuzat M, Felker GM et al (2012) Significance of hyponatremia in heart failure. Heart Fail Rev 17:17–26
- CIBIS-II (1999) The cardiac insufficiency bisoprolol study II (CIBIS-II): a randomized trial. CIBIS-II Investigators and Committees. Lancet 353(9146):9–13
- Cooper HA, Dries DL, Davis CE et al (1999) Diuretics and risk of arrhythmic death in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. Circulation 100:1311–1315
- Creager MA, Faxon DP, Cutler SS et al (1986) Contribution of vasopressin to vasoconstriction in patients with congestive heart failure: comparison with the renin-angiotensin system and the sympathetic nervous system. J Am Coll Cardiol 7:758–765
- Decaux G, Soupart A, Vassart G (2008) Non-peptide arginine-vasopressin antagonists: the vaptans. Lancet 371:1624–1632
- Domanski M, Norman J, Pitt B et al (2003) Diuretic use, progressive heart failure and death in patients in the studies of left ventricular dysfunction (SOLVD). J Am Coll Cardiol 42:705–708
- Ghali JK, Tam SW (2010) The critical link of hypervolemia and hyponatremia in heart failure and the potential role of arginine vasopressin antagonists. J Card Fail 16:419–431
- Ghali JK, Orlandi C, Abraham WT (2012) The efficacy and safety of lixivaptan in outpatients with heart failure and volume overload: results of a multi-centre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group study. Eur J Heart Fail 14:642–651
- Gheorghiade M, Gattis WA, O'Conner CM et al (2004) Effects of tolvaptan, a vasopressin antagonist, in patients hospitalized with worsening heart failure: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 291:1963–1971
- Gheorghiade M, Konstam MA, Burnett JC Jr et al (2007) Short-term clinical effects of tolvaptan, an oral vasopressin antagonist, in patients hospitalized for heart failure: the EVEREST clinical status trials. JAMA 297:1332–1343
- Gines P, Wong F, Watson H et al (2008) Effects of satavaptan, a selective vasopressin V (2) receptor antagonist, on ascites and serum sodium in cirrhosis with hyponatremia. A randomized trial. Hepatology 48:204–213
- Goldsmith SR (1988) Baroreflex control of vasopressin secretion in normal humans. In: Cowley AW, Liard J-F, Ausiello DA (eds) Vasopressin: cellular and integrative functions. Raven Press, New York, pp 389–397
- Goldsmith SR (1992) Baroreflex loading maneuvers do not suppress increased plasma arginine vasopressin in patients with congestive heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 19:1180–1184
- Goldsmith SR (2013) Hyponatremia in heart failure: time for a trial. J Card Fail 19(6):398-400
- Goldsmith SR, Gheorghiade M (2005) Vasopressin antagonism in heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 46:1785–1791
- Goldsmith SR, Francis GS, Cowley AW et al (1983) Increased plasma arginine vasopressin levels in patients with congestive heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 1:1385–1390
- Goldsmith SR, Francis GS, Cowley AW et al (1986) Hemodynamic effects of infused arginine vasopressin in congestive heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 8:779–783
- Goldsmith SR, Dodge D, Cowley AW (1989) The effect of moderate hypotension on arginine vasopressin levels in normal humans. Am J Med Sci 298:295–298

- Goldsmith SR, Elkayam U, Haught H et al (2008) Efficacy and safety of the vasopressin V1A/V2receptor antagonist conivaptan in acute decompensated heart failure: a dose-ranging pilot study. J Card Fail 14:641–647
- Goldsmith SR, Gilbertson DT, Mackedanz SA et al (2011) Renal effects of conivaptan, furosemide, and the combination in patients with chronic heart failure. J Card Fail 17:982–989
- Hauptman PJ, Burnett J, Gheorghiade M et al (2013) Clinical course of patients with hyponatremia and decompensated systolic heart failure and the effect of vasopressin receptor antagonism with tolvaptan. J Card Fail 19:390–397
- Hirano T, Yamamura Y, Nakamura S et al (2000) Effects of the V2-receptor antagonist OPC-41061 and the loop diuretic furosemide alone and in combination in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 292:288–294
- Holmes CL, Landry DW, Granton JT (2003) Science review: vasopressin and the cardiovascular system part 1 – receptor physiology. Crit Care 7(6):427–434
- Jackson EK (2006) Vasopressin and other agents affecting the renal conservation of water. In: Brunton L, Lazo JS, Parker KL (eds) Goodman and Gilman's the pharmacological basis of therapeutics, 11th edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, pp 771–778
- Jovanovich AJ, Berl T (2013) Whereas vaptans do and do not fit in the treatment of hyponatremia. Kidney Int 83:563–567
- Konstam MA, Gheorghiade M, Burnett JC Jr et al (2007) Effects of oral tolvaptan in patients hospitalized for worsening heart failure: the EVEREST outcome trial. JAMA 297:1319–1331
- Lanfeur D, Sabbah HN, Goldsmith SR et al (2013) Association of arginine vasopressin levels with outcomes and the effect of V2 blockage in patients hospitalized for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. Insights from the EVEREST trial. Circ Heart Fail 6:47–52
- Lilly LS, Dzau VJ, Williams GH et al (1984) Hyponatremia in congestive heart failure: implications for neurohumoral activation and responses to orthostasis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 59:924–930
- Maggioni AP, Dahlström U, Filippatos G et al (2013) EUR observational research programme: regional differences and 1-year follow-up results of the heart failure pilot survey (ESC-HF Pilot). Eur J Heart Fail 15:808–817
- Mao ZL, Stalker D, Keirns J (2009) Pharmacokinetics of conivaptan hydrochloride, a vasopressin V_{1A}/V_2 -receptor antagonist, in patients with euvolemic or hypervolemic hyponatremia and with or without congestive heart failure from a prospective, 4-day open-label study. Clin Ther 31:1542–1550
- McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS et al (2014) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 371(11):993–1004
- Mondritzki T, Kolkhof P, Sabbah HN et al (2011) Differentiation of arginine vasopressin antagonistic effects by selective V2 versus dual V2/V1a receptor blockage in a preclinical heart failure model. Am J Ther 18:31–37
- Morgenthaler NG, Struck J, Alonso C et al (2006) Assay for the measurement of copeptin, a stable peptide derived from the precursor of vasopressin. Clin Chem 52(1):112–119
- Mosterd A, Hoes AW (2007) Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart 93:1137-1146
- Neuhold S, Huelsmann M, Strunk G et al (2008) Comparison of copeptin, B-type natriuretic peptide, and amino-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 52:266–272
- Ohnishi A, Orita Y, Okahara R et al (1993) Potent aquaretic agent: a novel nonpeptide selective vasopressin 2 antagonist (OPC-31260) in men. J Clin Invest 92:2653–2659
- Packer M, Lee WH, Kessler PD et al (1987) Role of neurohormonal mechanisms in determining survival in patients with severe chronic heart failure. Circulation 75:IV80–IV92
- Peri A (2013) Clinical review: the use of vaptans in clinical endocrinology. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 98:1321–1332
- Pitt B, Zannad F, Remme WJ et al (1999) The effect of spironolactone on morbidity and mortality in patients with severe heart failure. Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 341:709–717

- Robinson FH, Farr LE (1940) The relation between clinical edema and the excretion of an antidiuretic substance in the urine. Ann Intern Med 14:42
- Schrier RW, Berl T, Anderson RJ (1979) Osmotic and nonosmotic control of vasopressin release. Am J Physiol 236:F321–F332
- Schrier RW, Gross P, Gheorghiade M et al (2006) Tolvaptan, a selective oral vasopressin V2-receptor antagonist, for hyponatremia. N Engl J Med 355:2099–2112
- Serradeil-Le Gal C, Lacour C, Valette G et al (1996) Characterization of SR 121463A, a highly potent and selective, orally active vasopressin V2 receptor antagonist. J Clin Invest 98:2729–2738
- SOLVD (1991) Effect of enalapril on survival in patients with reduced left ventricular ejection fractions and congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 325(5):293–302
- Stoiser B, Mörtl D, Hülsmann M et al (2006) Copeptin, a fragment of the vasopressin precursor, as a novel predictor of outcome in heart failure. Eur J Clin Invest 36:771–778
- Szatalowicz VL, Arnold PE, Chaimovitz C et al (1981) Radio-immunoassay of plasma arginine vasopressin in hyponatremic patients with congestive heart failure. N Engl J Med 305:263–266
- Tahara A, Tomura Y, Wada K-I et al (1997) Pharmacological profile of YM087, a novel potent nonpeptide vasopressin V_{1A} and V_2 receptor antagonist, in vitro and in vivo. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 282:301–308
- Udelson JE, Smith WB, Hendrix GH et al (2001) Acute hemodynamic effects of conivaptan, a dual V_{1A} and V_2 vasopressin receptor antagonist, in patients with advanced heart failure. Circulation 104:2417–2423
- Udelson JE, McGrew FA, Flores E et al (2007) Multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled study on the effect of oral tolvaptan on left ventricular dilation and function in patients with heart failure and systolic dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 49:2151–2159
- Udelson JE, Orlandi C, Ouyang J et al (2008) Acute hemodynamic effects of tolvaptan, a vasopressin V₂ receptor blocker, in patients with symptomatic heart failure and systolic dysfunction. J Am Coll Cardiol 52:1540–1545
- Udelson JE, Bilsker M, Hauptman PJ et al (2011) A multi-center, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of tolvaptan monotherapy compared to furosemide and the combination of tolvaptan and furosemide in patients with heart failure and systolic dysfunction. J Card Fail 17:973–981
- Verbalis JG (2006) Whole-body volume regulation and escape from antidiuretics. Am J Med 119: S21–S29
- Yamamura Y, Nakamura S, Itoh S et al (1998) OPC-41061, a highly potent human vasopressin V2-receptor antagonist: pharmacological profile and aquaretic effect by single and multiple oral dosing in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 287:860–867
- Yamane Y (1968) Plasma ADH level in patients with chronic congestive heart failure. Jpn Circ J 32:745–759

Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for the Treatment of Heart Failure Caused by Ischemic or Non-ischemic Cardiomyopathy: Immunosuppression and Its Implications

Michael J. Lipinski, Dror Luger, and Stephen E. Epstein

Contents

1	Introduction	330
2	Why Mesenchymal Stem Cells?	330
3	Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Heart Failure: Evidence from the Clinical Trials	333
4	Autologous vs Allogeneic MSCs	344
5	Potential for Immune Rejection of Allogeneic Cells	345
6	Best Route of Administration for MSCs: Transendocardial, Intracoronary, or	
	Intravenous?	346
7	Anti-Inflammatory Effect of MSCs	347
8	Conclusions	349
Re	ferences	349

Abstract

HF patients with signs and symptoms of worsening heart failure (HF), despite optimal medical therapy, have a poor prognosis. The pathways contributing to HF are multiple, probably accounting, in part, for current treatment approaches not being more effective. Stem cells, particularly mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), have a broad range of activities, making them particularly interesting candidates for a new HF therapeutic. This review presents an overview of the studies examining the efficacy of stem cell studies administered to HF patients, focusing mainly on MSCs. It examines the issues surrounding autologous vs. allogenic stem cells, the results of different routes of administration, and implications deriving from the belief that for stem cells to be effective, they must engraft in the myocardium and exert local effects. Since intravenous administration of stem cells leads to sparse cardiac engraftment, stem cell delivery

M.J. Lipinski (🖂) • D. Luger • S.E. Epstein

e-mail: mjlipinski12@gmail.com

MedStar Heart and Vascular Institute, MedStar Washington Hospital Center, Washington, DC, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_23

strategies have uniformly involved catheter-based delivery systems. This becomes problematic in a disease that will almost certainly require delivery of the therapeutic throughout the course of the disease. Importantly, it appears that a critical contributing cause of the progressive cardiac dysfunction experienced by HF patients is the existence of a persistent inflammatory response. Since MSCs exert potent anti-inflammatory effects through paracrine mechanisms, it is possible that intravenous delivery of MSCs may be therapeutically effective. If this concept is valid, it could lead to a transformational change in stem cell delivery strategies.

Keywords

Allogeneic • Heart failure • Inflammation • Intravenous • Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)

1 Introduction

As our population ages, there is an increasing prevalence of heart failure (HF) (Mozaffarian et al. 2015; Gheorghiade et al. 2006). Unfortunately, despite the advances in medical and device therapies made over the past several decades, HF continues to be a major health challenge, as unacceptably high mortality rates persist. Thus, there remains an important unfulfilled therapeutic niche (Kelkar et al. 2015).

Stem cells, because of their broad range of activities, represent a unique therapeutic approach to treating patients with HF, a condition involving multiple dysfunctional pathways. Despite the rapid application of the use of stem cells to treat patients with HF, beginning in 2001 (Menasche et al. 2001), we are still at the point articulated by Sanganalmath and Bolli in 2013: "Despite this rapid progress, however, many fundamental issues remain to be resolved and, to date, no cell therapy has been conclusively shown to be effective in patients with HF" (Sanganalmath and Bolli 2013).

This review focuses mainly on the use of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in patients with HF who have depressed left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction (EF) consequent to non-ischemic or ischemic cardiomyopathy (NICM or ICM).

2 Why Mesenchymal Stem Cells?

There is a vast literature assessing the efficacy of stem cells, with enormous diversity in cell type, cellular characteristics, mode of harvesting and expanding the cells, and cell culture conditions, each variation leading to differentiation or lineage specification/selection. Among some of the more frequently studied stem cells are the following:

Bone Marrow Mononuclear Cells (BMMNCs) BMMNCs were among the first "stem cells" administered to patients with either AMI or HF. It is of importance to note that the cells harvested from the bone marrow are markedly heterogeneous, with less than 2% of the harvested cells having the characteristics of stem cells (Sanganalmath and Bolli 2013).

Mesenchymal Stem Cells As specified in the position statement of the International Society for Cellular Therapy (Dominici et al. 2006), MSCs are defined as (1) being plastic-adherent when maintained in standard culture conditions, (2) must express CD105, CD 73, and CD90 surface molecules, (3) lack expression of CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b, CD79 α or CD19, and HLA-DR surface molecules, and (4) must differentiate into osteoblasts, adipocytes, and chondroblasts in vitro.

Hematopoietic Stem Cells (HPCs) CD34 and CD133 are traditional markers of HPCs. These cells are purified by culture techniques and are usually obtained from mobilization of stem cells using granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) or similar agent. Blood is then obtained from the patient, followed by isolation and expansion of HPCs.

Cardiosphere-Derived Stem Cells (CDCs) These stem cells are harvested from the heart of patients by endomyocardial biopsy and re-administered to the patient following isolation and expansion (Makkar et al. 2012). To qualify for patient administration, more than 95% of cells have to express CD105, and fewer than 5% can express CD45 (Makkar et al. 2012). The investigators using CDCs have now transitioned to using allogenic CDCs, rather than autologous.

As noted, clinical studies have not as yet demonstrated definitive proof of efficacy of any stem cell types. It is therefore understandable that there is a paucity of data comparing their relative efficacy. One recent preclinical study using a porcine model of chronic myocardial infarction demonstrated that MSCs delivered by transendocardial injection (two injections in the infarct zone and eight injections in the border zone) perform better than BMMNCs at improving LVEF (van der Spoel et al. 2015). Interestingly, swine initially treated with BMMNCs that did not experience an improvement in LVEF received a second series of injections with MSCs; this MSC treatment did improve LVEF (van der Spoel et al. 2015). Thus, MSC injection "rescued" LV function in pigs that did not improve following BMMNC injection. However, the reliability of these results are questionable given of the small number of pigs reported in each of the subgroups (n = 5 or 6).

Similar questionable results were reported by Tao et al (2015). In pigs that experienced an AMI 2 weeks previously, MSCs delivered by intramyocardial injection were superior to BMMNCs in regard to improving regional wall motion and vascular density, but LVEDV, LVESV, and LVEF were not improved by either therapy. Again, this study is limited due to the small number of pigs studied in each group (n = 7 or 8).

Direct comparison between MSC, HPC, and BMMNC therapy is totally lacking in adequately powered clinical trials. For example, we were only able to identify one RCT comparing MSCs, BMMNCs, and placebo. In the TAC-HFT trial (Heldman et al. 2014), Heldman and colleagues compared clinical outcomes by randomizing 19 patients to transendocardial injection of autologous BMMNCs, and 21 patients to control. Both BMMNCs and MSCs improved within group 6 min walk distance and quality of life scores on the Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire (MLHFQ), while there was no improvement in the control group (Heldman et al. 2014). However, there was no significant difference for either cell therapy group compared with control in regard to changes in New York Heart Association (NYHA) HF classification and LV function. There is currently an ongoing randomized controlled trial to compare autologous BMMNCs with allogeneic human umbilical cord-derived MSCs in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy undergoing coronary artery bypass graft surgery (Can et al. 2015). As more RCTs are performed, comparison between different stem cell strategies may become available by pooling through patient-level meta-analysis (Gyongyosi et al. 2016).

However, at present there are no large, well-conducted preclinical or randomized controlled clinical trials that allow reliable efficacy comparisons to be made between MSCs, BMMNCs, HPCs, cardiospheres, or other stem cells in either patients with AMI or in patients with ICM or NICM. Will such a study ever be conducted? Practically, it is economically prohibitive for a company with a commercial interest in a particular stem cell type to initiate the very large randomized multi-armed trial that would be necessary to generate adequately powered comparisons between two or more different stem cell types. Moreover, the risk of such a study for the funding company/companies would be enormous, particularly when considering the very real possibility that it might not be the funding company's stem cell that emerges as efficaciously the best.

It therefore appears that such a study would most appropriately be within the purview of the NIH. But even then, the wisdom of deploying the enormous resources necessary to conduct a properly powered trial is highly questionable, especially since we still don't know which, if any, stem cell will be effective, at what dose, and by what means of administration. Because of these concerns, we believe that a definitive study permitting effectiveness comparisons among the different stem cell types will never be undertaken. Therefore, when more than one stem cell type receives regulatory approval for clinical application, it will fall to each physician to evaluate the outcome data of individual trials for each approved stem cell type and decide which stem cell and associated delivery method holds the greatest potential for clinical benefit.

Because of reasons that will be detailed below, we believe that there are particular characteristics inherent in MSCs that make them especially good candidates for eventual approval for clinical use in patients with AMI, or with ICM or NICM. The following therefore summarizes existing data leading to this conclusion.

3 Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for Heart Failure: Evidence from the Clinical Trials

Much of the dilemma in assessing therapeutic efficacy of stem cells for heart failure arises from the significant heterogeneity seen among the different RCTs. Fisher and colleagues conducted an excellent comprehensive systematic review and metaanalysis of the clinical studies that evaluated different cell therapies for chronic ischemic heart disease and congestive heart failure and assessed the efficacy of these therapies in regard to different clinical endpoints (Fisher et al. 2016). Though the main analysis assessed the efficacy of all cell therapies for the combination of heart failure and chronic ischemic heart disease, the authors conducted multiple sub-analyses that separated the data for better granularity for subgroup comparison. For example, the authors assessed outcomes based on whether patients received BMMNCs, HPCs, or MSCs, route of cell administration, and imaging modality utilized to assess change in LV function (Fisher et al. 2016). For the purposes of this review, we also identified papers reporting results of MSC therapy in patients with NICM.

At the time of their systematic review and meta-analysis (Fisher et al. 2016), only 15 RCTs had been performed assessing cell therapy in heart failure due to ICM. After separating out studies that assessed the role of MSCs in heart failure, we found a paucity of high-quality RCTs. When further attempting to assess the role of MSCs in either ischemic or non-ischemic cardiomyopathy (including our search), the data are even more sparse. Table 1 provides a descriptive summary of all RCTs in patients with heart failure that utilized MSCs.

The first trial assessing MSC therapy in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy was performed in patients undergoing concomitant percutaneous coronary intervention of a chronic total or subtotal occlusion of the left anterior descending artery (Chen et al. 2006). Autologous MSCs or placebo was administered via the lumen of an over-the-wire balloon following treatment of the lesion with placement of a drug-eluting stent. Though LVEF significantly improved at 3 months following intracoronary delivery of autologous MSCs from 26 ± 6 to $37 \pm 9\%$ while there was no significant improvement in the control group, the improvement in LVEF was not sustained (Chen et al. 2006). There was, however, an improvement in NYHA HF classification and a slight increase in the level of METs achieved during exercise treadmill testing. While encouraging, it must be emphasized that the patient cohort was small (22 control patients, 23 treated).

The POSEIDON trial (Hare et al. 2012) was published 6 years later and compared transendocardial injection of autologous MSCs vs allogeneic MSCs for treatment of patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy. Much of the challenge of this study was the inclusion of three different doses of MSCs (20×10^6 vs 100×10^6 vs 200×10^6), leading to small numbers of patients in each arm. Although both groups experienced a slight non-significant improvement in LVEF and LV volumes over time, the study lacked a control arm to determine whether the beneficial trend was related to MSC therapy or was part of the natural history of patients admitted to a well-conducted clinical trial with more careful adherence to medical therapy.

1 trials assessing MSCs in patients with heart failure	Route of administration Outcomes	SCs Control Intracoronary $(n = 23)$'s) injection through $(n = 22)$	the lumen of an Death 2 (SCD) 4 (2 HF, 1 SCD, 1 VF)	over-the-wire METS 5 ± 2 to 7 ± 2 5 ± 3 to 5 ± 3	baseline to baseline to 12 months	NYHA class 2.7 ± 0.8 to 2.9 ± 0.3 to 2.4 ± 0.4	baseline to 1.4 ± 0.7 12 months	LVEF (%) 26 ± 6 23 ± 8	baseline 37 ± 9 25 ± 4	$\begin{array}{c c} 3 \text{ months} \\ 12 \text{ months} \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c c} 30 \pm 4 \\ \end{array} \begin{array}{c c} 30 \pm 5 \\ \end{array}$	SCs Autologous MSCs Transendocardial Allogeneic MSCs Autologous MSCs	10° $(n = 15) 20 \times 10^{\circ}$ injection into ten Serious 1 3	cells $(n = 5)$ LV sites adverse events	$100 \times 100 \times 100$ et ls at 12 months at 12 months	10° $(n = 5) 200 \times 10^{\circ}$ Heart failure 2 4	cells (n = 3) exacerbation	at 12 months	$\Delta 6 \min \text{ walk} + 65.8 + 19.7 (-19.0 \text{ to } 58.3, -19.0 \text{ to } $	(m) at $(27.2-104.5, p = 0.31)$	12 months $p = 0.001$	Δ VO2 Max $-0.6 (-2.7 \text{ to } 1.4, -0.6 (-2.7 to$	$\left[(mL/k_{\sigma}/min) \mid n = 0.39) \right]$	
	omes		h	ş.	ine to onths	IA class	ine to onths	F (%)	ine	onths		sno	rse events	months	t failure	erbation	months	nin walk	ut	onths	D2 Max	kg/min)	5
failure	Outc	ч	Deatl	, MET	basel 12 m	НХN	basel 12 m	LVE	basel	3 mo 12 m	-	n Serio	advei	at 12	Hear	exace	at 12	Δ6 I	(m) a	12 m	Δ V((mL/	
tients with heart	Route of administration	Intracoronary injection throug	the lumen of an	over-the-wire halloon	TIOOTINO						Transendocardia	injection into ter	LV sites										
assessing MSCs in pa		Control									Autologous MSCs	$(n = 15) 20 \times 10^{6}$	cells $(n = 5)$	100×10 Cells	$(n = 5) 200 \times 10^{\circ}$	(c = u) stress							
nized controlled trials	Therapeutic groups	Autologous MSCs $(5 \times 10^6 \text{ MSCs})$									Allogeneic MSCs	$(n = 15) 20 \times 10^{6}$	cells $(n = 5)$	100×10 cells	(n = 5) 200 × 10 ^o ($n = 5$)	cents (c = u) since							
ummary of random	Patient population	. Chronic ischemic	cardiomyopathy	with chronic total or subtotal	occlusion of the	with PCI and	stenting				Chronic	ischemic	cardiomyopathy		%0C>								
Table 1 S	Study	Chen et al. (2006)									Hare et al.	(2012)											

334

ange 42.9% no changened 7.1% worsened 7.1% worsened 33.4) $26.23(20.26-32.20)$ to 33.4) $26.23(23.4-33.66)$ $300.9(251.3-350.5)$ to $300.9(251.3-350.5)$ to $300.9(251.3-350.5)$ to 238.1) $28.53(23.4-3.1)$ 1) $28.53(23.4-3.262.9)$ $213.6(164.3-262.9)$ 216.5 $213.6(164.3-262.9)$ 216.5 $213.6(164.3-262.9)$ 215.5 $213.6(164.3-262.9)$ $213.6(16$)		
ange 42.9% no change ned 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26-32.20) to 33.4) 26.23 (20.25.3.20) to 28.53 (23.4-33.66) 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 238.1) 1) 20.9 (251.3-350.5) to 210.6 (24.3-262.9) 213.6 (164.3-262.9) 216.5 213.6 (164.3-262.9) 216.5 Control (n = 15) cells Control (n = 15) com progressive heart failure ant 20 moths, respectively 20 419 (382-456) to 210 419 (350-458)	-7.5 (-17.5 2.5)	△ MLHFQ score at 6 months			platelet lysate- supplemented high glucose medium		
ange42.9% no changened7.1% worsened 7.1% worsened 33.4)26.23 (20.26-32.20) to 33.4)26.23 (20.25-34.8.1) 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 300.9 (251.3-250.5) to 300.9 (251.3-250.5) to 238.1) 225.7 (178.5-272.9) to 213.6 (164.3-262.9) 216.5) 213.6 (164.3-262.9) 216.5)control ($n = 15$)cells 2 patients died fromomprogressive heart failureand sudden death at 18 andant 20 months, respectively	20-166) 064	(m) at baseline and 6 months			"cardiogenic		
ange 42.9% no change ned 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 33.4) 26.23 28.53 23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 31 to 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 301.9 (251.3–350.5) to 28.53 28.53 23.4–33.66) 235.5–348.1) 1) 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 210.2 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 238.1 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 238.1 225.7 (178.5–272.9) to 213.6 (164.3–262.9) 213.6 216.5 Control (n = 15) to cells Control (n = 15) cells and sudden death at 18 and and sudden death at 18 and ant 20 months, respectively	394 (346-44	6 min walk			marrow aspiration	prior to	
ange 42.9% no changened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 ($20.26-32.20$) to 33.4) 26.23 ($23.4-33.66$) 300.9 ($251.3-350.5$) to 300.9 ($251.3-350.5$) to 300.9 ($251.3-350.5$) to 238.1) $20.36.16.5$ 213.6 ($164.3-262.9$) 216.5 Control ($n = 15$) $cells$ $colls$ $coll$	heart transpla		NOGA XP system		obtained from bone	in the 2 months	
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 33.4) 26.23 23.53 23.4–33.66) 300.9 251.3–350.5) to 300.9 251.3–350.5) to 300.9 251.3–350.5) to 301.0 291.8 235.5–348.1) 225.7 1) 291.8 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 213.6 (164.3–262.9) 213.6 Control (n = 15) ccells 2 control value from oon progressive heart failure	sepsis follow		mapping using the		cells) (MSCs	ischemic event	
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 33.4) 26.23 33.4) 26.23 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 238.1) 201.8 10 291.8 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 238.1) 225.7 213.6 (164.3–262.9) 216.6.5 213.6 cells control (n = 15) c cells 2 patients died from	21 months fr	24 months	electromechanical		$605-1168 \times 10^{6}$	of 15-40%. No	
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 33.4) 26.23 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 3) to 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 1) 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 238.1) 225.7 (178.5–272.9) to 238.1) 225.7 (164.3–262.9) 216.65 213.6 (164.3–262.9) cells control (n = 15) cells	1 died at	SAE at	patient) guided by		cells, range	baseline LVEF	
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 7.1% worsened 28.53 (20.26-32.20) to 28.53 (23.4-33.66) 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 291.8 (235.5-348.1) 1) 201.8 (235.5-348.1) 201.8 (235.5-35.1) 201.8 (235.5-	(n = 21)		18 injections per	sham procedure)	(mean 733×10^6	failure with	(2013)
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26–32.20) to 33.4) 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 3) to 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 3) to 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 1) 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 238.1) 225.7 (178.5–272.9) to 213.6 (164.3–262.9) 213.6 (164.3–262.9)	Autologous		Transendocardial	15 control patients	Autologous	Chronic	Bartunek
ange 42.9% no change ned 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26–32.20) to 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 300.9 (251.3–348.1) 1) 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 1) 221.3 (178.5–272.9) to 213.6 (164.3–262.9)	176 (135.5-2	to 12 months					
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 7.1% worsened 28.53 (23.4–32.20) to 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 300.9 (251.3–348.1) 1) 238.1) 225.7 (178.5–272.9) to	to	(mL) baseline					
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26–32.20) to 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 3 to 291.8 (235.5–348.1) 1)	192 (145.8–2	ESV					
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26-32.20) to 28.53 (23.4-33.66) 300.9 (251.3-350.5) to 300.9 (251.3-348.1)	(200.2–287.1						
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 7.1% worsened 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to 291.8 (235.5–348.1)	243.7	to 12 months					
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26–32.20) to 28.53 (23.4–33.66) 300.9 (251.3–350.5) to	(211 2-309 3	(mL) haseline					
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened .33.4) 26.23 (20.26–32.20) to .28.53 (23.4–33.66)	260.3	EDV					
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26–32.20) to 28.53 (23.4–33.66)	(24.1–34.9)	12 months					
ange 42.9% no change 5ned 7.1% worsened 33.4) 26.23 (20.26–32.20) to	to 29.50	baseline to					
ange 42.9% no change ened 7.1% worsened	27.85 (22.3-	LVEF (%)					
ange 42.9% no change	14.3% worse	12 months					
	57.1% no ch	class at					
oved 50% improved	28.6% impro	Δ ΝΥΗΑ					
		12 months					
34) $p = 0.009$	10.7, p = 0.3	score at					
.1 to $-13(-22.6 \text{ to } -3.3,$	-10.2(-31.	A MLHFQ					

Table 1 (c	sontinued)							
	Patient	Ē		Route of				
Study	population	Therapeutic groups		administration	Outcomes			
		containing TGF-β,			Δ ΝΥΗΑ	30% improved	25% improved	
		BMP-4, Activin A,			class at	65% no change	60.9% no chan	ge
		FGF-2,			6 months	5% worsened	13% worsened	
		cardiotrophin,		*	LVEF (%) at	27.5 (25.5–29.5)	27.8 (25.8–29.8	3) to 28.0
		a-thrombin, and			baseline and	to 34.5	(26.1 - 30.6)	
		utaminopyrimume)			6 months	(32.5 - 36.6)		
		22 patients				(p < 0.0001)		
		therapy 31 natients			Δ ESV	-24.8 (-30.7 to	-8.8 (-16.4 to	-1.2)
		received cell therany			(mL) at	-18.9)		
		ICCEINCE CETI HIGIARY			6 months			
					A EDV	-18 (-25.5 to	-9 (-15.0 to -	-3.6)
					(mL) at	-10.5)		
					6 months			
Heldman	Chronic	Autologous MSCs	Autologous	Transendocardial		Autologous MSCs	Autologous	Placebo
et al.	ischemic	(randomized = 22)	BMMNCs	injection		(n = 19)	BMMNCs	(n = 21)
(2014)	cardiomyopathy	vs placebo ($n = 11$)	(randomized $= 22$)				(n = 19)	
	with LVEF		vs placebo ($n = 10$)		Death at	1	0	1
	<50% ($n = 59$)				12 months			
					SAEs at	6	6	8
					12 months			
					6 min walk	+32.6 (-4.6 to	+16.9	+6.3
					(m) at baseline	69.7, p = 0.12)	(-14.2 to	(-31.4 to
					and 12 months		48.0,	44.0,
							p = 0.30	p = 0.70)

-4.6 (-20.1 to 10.7,) = 0.69) 13.8% mproved 50%	unchanged 5.2% worsened Approx +4.5 approx -3 to 12)) ovement ovement .2,
$\begin{array}{c c} -15.8 \\ -15.8 \\ (-28.6 \text{ to} \\ -3.0, \\ -3.0, \\ p = 0.04) \\ 1 \\ p = 0.04) \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 25.9\% \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 25.3\% \\ 35.3\% \end{array}$	unchanged u 11.8% (worsened v Approx 2 +2.5 -2 to 13.5) -8 to 13.5)	Control $(n = 20)$ $\frac{1}{2}$ Significant impriving Significant impriving -1.3 (-3.0 to 0) p = 0.14) p = 0.07)
-11.6 (-23.7 to 0.5, <i>p</i> = 0.006) 35.3% improved 41.2% unchanged	23.5% worsened 0 (-7.5 to 7.5)	Autologous MSCs (n = 39) 5 5 5 5 5 8 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Δ MLHFQ score at 5 months Δ NYHA class at 12 months	Δ LVEF (%) (at 6 months	DeathHF worseningNYHA ClassNYHA Class δ min walk δ min walk δ months Δ LVEF (%)at 6 months Δ LVESV δ months
		Transendocardial injection (10–15/ patient) with electromyocardial mapping using the NOGA-XP system
		PBS control NOGA injections (randomized = 20, treatment = 20)
		Autologous MSCs (randomized = 40, $(77.5 \pm 67.9 \times 10^{6}$ MSCs)
		Chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy with LVEF ≤45% and had NYHA class II– III
		Mathiasen et al. (2015)

Table 1 (continued)						
Study	Patient population	Therapeutic groups		Route of administration	Outcomes		
					A LVEDV	+8.1 (1.9 to 14.3,	+2.6 (-1.5 to 6.7,
					(mL) at 6 months	p = 0.012)	p = 0.19)
Perin et al (2015)	. Non-ischemic or ischemic	Allogeneic immunoselected	Control with mock mapping/injection	Transendocardial injections (15–20/		Allogeneic MPCs (pooled $n = 45$)	Control $(n = 15)$
	cardiomyopathy	$(STRO-3^+)$	procedures $(n = 15)$	patient)	Procedural	3 (1 with	0
	NYHA class II or III HF with	mesenchymal precursor cells.			events	hypotension,	
	LVEF < 40%	$(25 \times 10^6 \text{ MPCs})$				tamponade, and	
		$n = 15)$ $(75 \times 10^6 \text{ MPCs})$				1 retroperitoneal	
						nematoma	
		n = 15 (150 × 10 ⁶ MPCs			Cardiac death at 36 months	2	3
		n = 15		-	HF	6	8
					exacerbation		
					at 36 months		
				-	6 min walk	401.6 ± 96.4 to	319.3 ± 121.4 to
					(m) at baseline	427 ± 115.1	346.6 ± 121.8
					and 12 months		
					Δ ΝΥΗΑ	55.6% improved	53.4% improved
					class at	40% unchanged	40% unchanged
					12 months	None worsened	None worsened
					∆ MLHFQ	-15.2 ± 19.8	-23.8 ± 14.6
					score at		
					$\Delta LVEF(\%)$	$+1.2 \pm 8.5$	-0.4 ± 8.9
					at 12 months		

338

0.5 ± 14.1 0.4 ± 22.9	utologous MSCs = 16) .3 (-47.8 to 33.3.	= 0.71) = 0.71) ecreased (p = 0.17) = 0.12, worsened = 0.12, worsened	am procedure control = 151) (continue
+2.2 ± 27.3 +3 +6.8 ± 37.4(Allogeneic MSCs At (n = 18) ($n53+37$ (2.0-72.0, $+7$	p = 0.04 $p = 0.04$ $p = 0.04$ $p = 0.04$ $p = 0.002$ $p = 0.002$ $p = 0.002$ $p = 0.004$ $p = 0.004$ $p = 0.004$	AutologousShAutologousShcardiopoietic cells $(n$ $(n = 120)$ 2 14 total 2 4 pericardialeffusionseffusions(tamponade in 3)4 with VT
Δ LVESV (mL) at 12 months Δ LVEDV (mL) at 12 months	SAE at 12 months MACE at 12 months A 6 min walk	 I and at (m) at (m) at 12 months MLHFQ score at 12 months △ NYHA class at class at 12 months △ LVEF (%) at 12 month 	Procedural complications
	Transendocardial injection into ten LV sites		Transendocardial injection (median 19 injections/ patient) guided by electromechanical mapping using the NOGA XP system
	Autologous MSCs $(n = 16) (100 \times 10^{6}$ cells)		Sham control procedure (randomized = 158, procedure = 151)
	Allogeneic MSCs $(n = 18) (100 \times 10^{6}$ cells)		Autologous cardiopoietic cells (mean 733×10^{6} cells, range $605-1168 \times 10^{6}$ cells) (see above for details on cardiopoietic cells)
	Chronic non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy with LVEF <40% and LVEDD	>5.9 cm in men and >5.6 cm in women or LVEDV >125 mL/m ²	Chronic ischemic heart failure with LVEF ≤35% and NYHA class ≥II
	Hare et al. (2017)		Bartunek et al. (2016)

Mesenchymal Stem Cell Therapy for the Treatment of Heart Failure Caused by...

	Patient		Route of			
Study	population	Therapeutic groups	administration	Outcomes		
		(randomized $= 157$,			3 with new LBBB	
		injection = 120)			1 with aortic	
					dissection	
					ATT 1	
					1 access site	
					thrombosis	
				CV mortality	11 (9.2%)	12 (7.9%)
				through		
				39 weeks		
				Patients with	11 (9.2%)	14 (9.3%)
				1 HF		
				Exacerbation		
				Patients with	9 (7.5%)	9 (6%)
				≥2 HF	~	~
				Exacerbations		
				≥ 10 -point	64 (59.3%)	66 (48.5%)
				improvement		
				in MLHFQ		
				No	37 (34.3%)	60 (44.1%)
				meaningful		
				change in		
				MLHFQ		
				≥ 10 -point	7 (6.5%)	10 (7.4%)
				deterioration		
				in MLHFQ		
				≥40 m	50 (46.3%)	40 (30.5%)
				improvement		
				in 6 min walk		

 Table 1 (continued)

	~	N	39 (36.1%)	69 (52.7%)
		neaningful		
	0	hange in		
	9	min walk		
	7.11	≥40 m	19 (17.6%)	22 (16.8%)
	q	leterioration		
		n 6 min walk		
	7 (1	>4% absolute	69 (67.6%)	82 (66.1%)
		mprovement		
		n LVEF		
	4	Vo	28 (27.5%)	33 (26.6%)
	n	neaningful		
	0	thange in		
	Ι	, VEF		
	/ (1	>4% absolute	5 (4.9%)	9 (7.3%)
	ġ	leterioration		
		n LVEF		
	/ 11	>15 mL	51 (50%)	56 (45.2%)
		mprovement		
		n LVESV		
	~	No	33 (32.4%)	36 (29%)
	<u></u>	neaningful		
	<u> </u>	thange in		
	Π	VESV		
	7.1	≥15 mL	18 (17.6%)	32 (25.8%)
	<u>c</u>	leterioration		
		n LVESV		
				(continued)

Table 1 (c	continued)						
	Patient			Route of			
Study	population	Therapeutic groups		administration	Outcomes		
Butler	Non-ischemic	Ischemia-tolerant	Lactated Ringer's	Intravenous		Allogeneic MSCs	Placebo ($n = 12$)
et al.	cardiomyopathy	allogeneic MSCs	control at 1 mL/kg	infusion		(n = 22)	
(2017)	with	grown under chronic		-	All-cause	0	0
	LVEF<40% and	hypoxia $(5\% \text{ O}^2)$ at			death		
	absent late	$1.5 \times 10^{\circ}$ MSCs/kg		-	SAE	0	0
	gadolinium	(crossover study:		-	Δ ΝΥΗΑ	37.5% improved	8.3% improved
	enhancement on	10 patients initially			clace at	1 1	
	CMR	treated with cell			90 days	62.5% unchanged	91.6% unchanged
		12 placebo-treated			Δ 6 min walk	+27.4 (0.3 to 54.5,	-10.8 (-38.7 to 17.0,
		patients received cell			(m) at 90 days	p = 0.05)	p = 0.45)
		therapy after 90 days		-	Δ LVEF (%)	+2.31, p = 0.02	+1.62, p = 0.13
					at 90 days		
					A LVESV	-16.60, p = 0.02	-8.90, p = 0.27
					(mL) at		
					90 days		
					A LVEDV	-17.86, p = 0.04	-10.56, p = 0.22
					(mL) at		
					90 days		

342

This same limitation is also seen in the POSEIDON-DCM trial (Hare et al. 2017) which tested the relative safety and efficacy of transendocardially injected autologous vs. allogeneic MSCs in patients with non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. The total cohort tested was 37 patients. Although greater clinical benefit was reported for patients treated with allogenic vs. autologous MSCs, there was no control group in the study. Thus, we cannot be certain whether an actual improvement occurred in the allogenic vs. the autologous MSC group, or whether a deterioration in function occurred in the autologous MSC group that did not occur in the allogenic group.

The next RCT to compare autologous MSCs with control was the C-CURE trial, which utilized cardiopoietic stem cells (MSCs obtained from bone marrow aspiration treated with "cardiogenic cocktail") delivered by transendocardial injection. Patients with chronic ischemic heart failure treated with cardiopoietic cells experienced a significant increase in LVEF and decrease in LV end-systolic and end-diastolic volumes with a trend toward improved 6 min walk distance and MLHFQ scores (Bartunek et al. 2013). These encouraging findings led to the recently published CHART-1 trial, which again compared cardiopoietic stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection vs sham procedure in patients with chronic ischemic heart failure – but with very different results. This large multinational, multi-center RCT demonstrated no significant benefit from cardiopoietic stem cells compared with control in regard to functional status or LV function (Bartunek et al. 2016). However, there was a trend for benefit in patients with large end-diastolic volumes.

It is important to note that patients in the control arm also underwent a sham procedure, which was absent in many earlier studies. This allowed an assessment of adverse outcomes associated with transendocardial injection of stem cells. Fourteen patients among the 120 that received transendocardial injection of cardiopoietic stem cells experienced significant complications from the procedure, including pericardial effusion with tamponade, ventricular tachyarrhythmias, transient ischemic attack, and vascular complications (Bartunek et al. 2016).

Perin and colleagues (2015) also found no benefit from allogeneic immunoselected (STRO-3⁺) mesenchymal precursor cells when delivered by transendocardial injection. When compared with control, the mesenchymal precursor cells failed to significantly improve functional outcomes such as 6 min walk, MLHFQ scores, and NYHA HF classification; it also failed to improve LVEF or LV volumes (Perin et al. 2015). This study, as with the CHART-1 trial, demonstrated important adverse outcomes from the transendocardial injection technique. Thus, 3 of 45 patients in the cell therapy arm experienced procedure-related complications.

The MS-HF trial of patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy utilized autologous MSCs and demonstrated MSC administration significantly improved LVEF and reduced LV end-systolic volume. Despite these beneficial effects on LVEF and LVESV, MSC injection, puzzlingly, significantly *increased* LV end-diastolic volume (Mathiasen et al. 2015). These disparate changes make it difficult to interpret the effects of MSCs on LV function. A very interesting point emerging from this study relates to "beneficial" changes that can occur just because patients participate

in a carefully conducted clinical trial. Thus, 6 min walk distance and NYHA HF class significantly improved – but improvement was seen in *both* MSC therapy and control arms (Mathiasen et al. 2015). These results emphasize how critical it is for studies to have a control arm. While LV function may improve with cell therapy, patients in randomized controlled trials are optimized on medical therapy and receive closer follow-up, changes that could in themselves lead to improved symptoms and even to improved LV function.

Butler and colleagues recently published a RCT utilizing a crossover design comparing allogeneic MSCs, which were grown under chronic hypoxic conditions $(5\% O_2)$, vs placebo control in patients with NICM (Butler et al. 2017). Importantly, the MSCs were administered intravenously. Because very few intravenously administered MSCs successfully engraft in the heart, any beneficial effects emanating from the MSCs would most likely derive from their paracrine effects. These salutary effects would probably involve, at least partly, paracrine-related anti-inflammatory actions (Kelkar et al. 2015; Eliopoulos et al. 2005) (see below). MSC-treated patients significantly improved 6 min walk distance and Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Clinical summary and functional status scores (Butler et al. 2017). There also was a trend toward improvement in LV function in the MSC-treated patients.

That paracrine-related anti-inflammatory effects contributed to the beneficial effects found is suggested by the finding that patients treated with MSCs had a significant reduction in circulating natural killer (NK) cells at 30 days, and that there was a significant inverse correlation found between NK cells and LVEF. Thus, patients with the greatest reduction in peripheral NK cells experienced the largest increase in LVEF (Butler et al. 2017). The benefits seen in this study with intravenous administration of MSCs raise the question of whether targeted delivery of cells to the heart is necessary, especially given the safety issues identified with this route of administration (Bartunek et al. 2016).

4 Autologous vs Allogeneic MSCs

There has been a major debate in the stem cell literature arising over the use of autologous vs. allogenic cells. Use of autologous cells (cells obtained from the patient being treated) means that the stem cells administered to the patient are "old" and have resided in an environment of serious disease. For example, autologous MSCs in these studies are obtained from patients who are usually in the later decades of life and have heart failure. Several studies have demonstrated that aging, risk factors for coronary artery disease, and heart failure diminish the functional capacity of stem cells (Kubo et al. 2016; Dimmeler and Leri 2008; Walter et al. 2005). Thus, allogeneic MSCs harvested from young healthy volunteers should have greater beneficial effects than autologous cells harvested from patients with heart failure, although there is still some controversy about this conclusion (Golpanian et al. 2015; Lorkeers et al. 2015).

Another consideration relating to the relative advantage of allogeneic MSCs is that use of allogeneic MSCs would eliminate the need for patients to undergo bone marrow aspiration to harvest MSCs. In addition, once a decision is made to administer stem cells to a patient, use of allogeneic MSCs avoids the long delays inherent in administering autologous cells, which entails harvesting cells from the patient, followed by the long process of isolating and expanding the autologous MSC population until a sufficient number of cells are available for injection.

5 Potential for Immune Rejection of Allogeneic Cells

An important issue that must be considered when injecting allogeneic cells into a recipient is whether an immune response to the cells develops that leads to rejection of the cells, thereby obviating any potential for beneficial effects. It has been assumed that MSCs are immunoprivileged and are capable of avoiding immune detection. However, allogeneic MSCs have been shown to induce an immune response that leads to a cytotoxic humoral response (Poncelet et al. 2007; Klyushnenkova et al. 2005), and in the randomized controlled trial by Perin and colleagues (Perin et al. 2015), 5 of 43 patients who received allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cells (STRO-3⁺) developed donor specific HLA reactive antibodies. On other hand, evidence suggests that while human MSCs may initiate an alloreactive T cell response, MSCs actively inhibit T cell proliferation through suppression by production of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Klyushnenkova et al. 2005).

The answer to this conundrum has been addressed by several studies. As reviewed by Ankrum et al. (2014), allogenic MSCs administered to patients, and MSCs administered cross-species (human MSCs administered to mice), do not persist indefinitely. These authors postulated it is likely that an active immunological process is responsible for this limited persistence. Despite this lack of persistence, suggesting that MSCs are not in reality immune privileged, it appears MSCs have the capacity for *relative immune avoidance*, resulting in a delay of rejection. Ankrum and colleagues discussed the results of a study in which the relative persistence of allo-fibroblasts vs. allo-MSCs was compared. The study showed that fibroblasts died by day 10 and MSCs by day 20 - in other words, although the MSCs were not immune privileged, they had some protection against immune rejection (the authors refer to this as "immune-evasive") resulting in longer persistence than the non-MSCs. This concept was also advanced and documented by Galipeau et al. (2005, 2015). These investigators used murine MSCs transfected with the gene expressing erythropoietin as a reporter for assessing persistence of MSC functionality. MSCs were injected subcutaneously in either major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-mismatched allogeneic or matched syngeneic mice. Although expression of erythropoietin (as assayed by measuring hematocrit) lasted longer in the syngeneic mice, the mismatched MSCs still manifested an erythropoietin response for over 30 days.

More recently, we have demonstrated that human MSCs administered intravenously into mice with an AMI and in mice with ischemic cardiomyopathy persist and remain viable for at least 3 weeks (Luger et al. 2017). Most importantly, this time-period was sufficient for the MSCs to improve left ventricular function and to exert immunomodulatory effects. Thus, it appears that although MSCs are not immune privileged and eventually are eliminated from mismatched hosts through immune responses, they still can exert therapeutic actions as long as the relevant activities of the MSCs need only a limited time to produce their effects. Such a mechanism has been referred to as a "hit-and-vanish" or "hit and run" mechanism (Ankrum et al. 2014; Chinnadurai et al. 2015).

6 Best Route of Administration for MSCs: Transendocardial, Intracoronary, or Intravenous?

Until recently, the therapeutic benefit of stem cells was thought to derive from local delivery of stem cells to damaged myocardium that, once delivered, either directly transdifferentiate into functional myocardium or stimulate resident myocardial stem cells to expand and repopulate the heart with functioning healthy myocytes (Sanganalmath and Bolli 2013; Bolli et al. 2011; Malliaras et al. 2014; Yee et al. 2014; Telukuntla et al. 2013). Thus, myocardial retention of a large number of stem cells with regenerative capacity would be required. Since intravenous delivery of stem cells results in very low cellular engraftment in the damaged myocardium (Freyman et al. 2006), catheter or surgical-based intracoronary, transendocardial, or intramyocardial stem cell delivery have been, to date, the dominant delivery strategies utilized (Sanganalmath and Bolli 2013).

While there is a prior small non-randomized study assessing intracoronary vs intramyocardial injection in ICM (Chin et al. 2011), there has been only one prospective randomized controlled trial comparing intracoronary vs. transendocardial delivery of stem cells in patients with NICM (Vrtovec et al. 2013). The investigators administered CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells and compared the effects of the two delivery strategies on myocardial retention and left ventricular function. A total of 40 patients were randomized to the two therapies. Transendocardial delivery of stem cells resulted in better retention and greater improvement in LV function compared with intracoronary delivery in patients with non-ischemic dilated cardiomyopathy (Vrtovec et al. 2013). However, as demonstrated in the CHART-1 RCT, transendocardial injection of cardiopoietic stem cells to patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy is not without risk, as 11.7% of these patients receiving cell therapy had procedural complications (Bartunek et al. 2016).

As noted, and elaborated on below, recent studies suggest that direct delivery of MSCs to the heart may not be necessary, since data now indicate that the intravenous delivery of MSCs may improve outcomes (Butler et al. 2017; Luger et al. 2017). The mechanisms by which this occurs is covered in more detail in the next section. Importantly, however, because it is probable that no therapeutic, including stem cells, will "cure" the disease with a single administration, there is a need for repeated administration of any effective therapeutic to treat HF. This need for repeated administration poses a major practical limitation to catheter or surgerybased delivery strategies for stem cell therapy in patients with HF, an issue that does not exist with intravenous delivery, if this route of administration is shown to be therapeutically effective.

7 Anti-Inflammatory Effect of MSCs

The hypotheses we have explored relating to stem cell therapeutics for cardiovascular disease are predicated on very different paradigms that have informed the design of most clinical studies to date. First, there is a growing body of data suggesting that the presence of a persistent inflammatory response is one of the mechanisms leading to progressive cardiac dysfunction both in patients experiencing AMI and those with NICM or ICM (Kelkar et al. 2015; Westman et al. 2016; Nahrendorf et al. 2015; Orn et al. 2012; Deswal et al. 2001; Wrigley et al. 2011; Briasoulis et al. 2016). Second, compelling evidence now exists demonstrating that adult stem cells neither have the capacity to transdifferentiate into functioning myocytes, nor can they stimulate transdifferentiation of sufficient numbers of resident stem cells to restore clinically important myocardial functionality (Phinney and Prockop 2007; Caplan and Dennis 2006; Peng et al. 2016). Rather, if stem cells do improve myocardial function, strong evidence suggests that any improvement would derive from the cells' capacity to stimulate reparative processes and inhibit pathways leading to progressive myocardial dysfunction via paracrine effects (Kelkar et al. 2015; Westman et al. 2016; Peng et al. 2016).

Importantly, MSCs have long been known to have potent paracrine-related antiinflammatory activities (Kelkar et al. 2015; Phinney and Prockop 2007; Caplan and Dennis 2006; Peng et al. 2016). Consideration of these two concepts together – the causal role of inflammation contributing to progressive cardiac dysfunction, and MSCs having the capacity to secrete potent anti-inflammatory molecules–led to the hypothesis that intravenous administration of MSCs may lead to improved clinical outcomes. It is postulated that MSCs, through a complex array of paracrine-derived activities, exert anti-inflammatory effects and both a systemic and local level within the heart.

As previously mentioned, we have recently demonstrated that human MSCs administered intravenously into mice with ischemic cardiomyopathy significantly improved left ventricular function (Luger et al. 2017). One of the important mechanistic findings was that the intravenously administered MSCs caused potent anti-inflammatory effects. One such effect was a decrease in splenic and cardiac NK cells (Luger et al. 2017). This is of great interest because NK cells are key regulators of both the innate and adaptive immune responses in cardiovascular disease (Ong et al. 2016). That the MSC-induced decrease in NK cells played a causal role in the improved cardiac function produced by intravenous MSC infusion was strongly suggested by the finding that NK cell depletion, independent of MSC effect (achieved by administering an anti-NK cell antibody), significantly reduces

infarct size and improves LV function (Luger et al. 2017) in AMI. Interestingly, MSCs have previously been shown to significantly decrease NK cell activity and suppress inflammation (Sotiropoulou et al. 2006; Spaggiari et al. 2008; Lankester et al. 2010). The finding that MSC-mediated NK cell reduction following intravenous administration of MSCs correlates with improvement in LV function in patients with NICM (Butler et al. 2017) is very provocative and requires further investigation.

Further evidence that intravenous MSC administration exerts important antiinflammatory effects that could lessen inflammation-induced tissue injury was provided by examining the effects of MSCs on neutrophil populations. Neutrophils have a complex role in myocardial infarction and progression to heart failure (Swirski and Nahrendorf 2013; Horckmans et al. 2016). Neutrophils are one of the first cells infiltrating the myocardium following ischemic injury, contributing to tissue damage by releasing matrix-degrading enzymes and reactive oxygen species. In addition, neutrophils appear to be involved in adverse left ventricular remodeling (Carbone et al. 2013). We found intravenously administered MSCs decrease neutrophils in the myocardium following AMI (Luger et al. 2017).

MSCs also alter the balance between peripheral and resident cardiac myeloid cell populations that orchestrate repair following MI and modulate LV remodeling (Ben-Mordechai et al. 2013; Lu et al. 2015). Ismahil and colleagues (Ismahil et al. 2014) demonstrated an increase in splenic size in a murine model of chronic ischemic heart failure accompanied by a marked depletion of splenic proinflammatory monocytes and an increased cardiac monocyte population. Interestingly, splenectomy not only decreased cardiac macrophages and dendritic cells, but also attenuated the adverse LV remodeling. This supports an integral role for the spleen in chronic heart failure. Though the importance of the cardiosplenic axis was confirmed in patients with acute MI (Emami et al. 2015), we are unaware of any published studies examining the cardiosplenic axis in patients with chronic heart failure.

The potential of intravenously administered MSCs as a treatment for NICM was examined by Butler and colleagues (Butler et al. 2017), as detailed above. The results of this study, demonstrating improved clinical outcomes associated with MSC-induced immunomodulatory effects, suggest that the paracrine-related antiinflammatory effects of MSCs may serve as a major pathway by which MSCs improve LV function in patients with cardiomyopathy (Kelkar et al. 2015).

Interestingly, anti-inflammatory treatment with antibodies targeting tumor necrosis factor alpha did not improve outcomes in patients with heart failure (Chung et al. 2003). Other clinical trials targeting inflammation in heart failure have also failed to show clinical benefit (Chung et al. 2003; Deftereos et al. 2014). However, these trials focused on inhibition of inflammation largely through a single mechanism. MSCs secrete numerous growth factors and cytokines influencing a diverse array of pathways, such as those related to multiple inflammatory pathways, adverse LV remodeling, angiogenesis, tissue healing, apoptosis, mitochondrial dysfunction, microvascular dysfunction, and collagen deposition (Kinnaird et al. 2004a, b; Gnecchi et al. 2005, 2008; Takahashi et al. 2006; Malliaras et al. 2012).

Such multi-functional activities provide a rationale for why MSCs might provide a more effective therapeutic strategy than drugs with a more limited range of activities.

8 Conclusions

The use of stem cells to treat patients with HF began over 15 years ago. The broad range of activities stem cells possess is a particularly attractive attribute when considering new therapies for patients with HF, a condition involving multiple dysfunctional pathways. Although there are many trials in which encouraging signals have been published, definitive documentation of efficacy in clinical trials is still lacking. Virtually all previous therapeutic approaches were based on maximizing the delivery of stem cells to the heart, leading to the use of intracoronary, transendocardial, or epicardial delivery strategies. However, the recognition that progressive cardiac dysfunction in patients with HF derives, at least partly, from the existence of a persistent inflammatory response with resultant continued damage to the myocardium, and that MSCs exert potent anti-inflammatory effects through paracrine mechanisms, has stimulated what may be a transformational change in stem cell delivery strategy – intravenous delivery of MSCs. Preclinical studies and one early clinical study suggest intravenous delivery of MSCs results in potent anti-inflammatory effects and, most importantly, that such a delivery approach holds promise for efficacy. The validity of these concepts awaits the results of pivotal clinical trials.

References

- Ankrum JA, Ong JF, Karp JM (2014) Mesenchymal stem cells: immune evasive, not immune privileged. Nat Biotechnol 32(3):252–260
- Bartunek J, Behfar A, Dolatabadi D et al (2013) Cardiopoietic stem cell therapy in heart failure: the C-CURE (cardiopoietic stem cell therapy in heart failure) multicenter randomized trial with lineage-specified biologics. J Am Coll Cardiol 61(23):2329–2338
- Bartunek J, Terzic A, Davison BA et al (2016) Cardiopoietic cell therapy for advanced ischemic heart failure: results at 39 weeks of the prospective, randomized, double blind, sham-controlled CHART-1 clinical trial. Eur Heart J
- Ben-Mordechai T, Holbova R, Landa-Rouben N et al (2013) Macrophage subpopulations are essential for infarct repair with and without stem cell therapy. J Am Coll Cardiol 62 (20):1890–1901
- Bolli R, Chugh AR, D'Amario D et al (2011) Cardiac stem cells in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy (SCIPIO): initial results of a randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 378 (9806):1847–1857
- Briasoulis A, Androulakis E, Christophides T, Tousoulis D (2016) The role of inflammation and cell death in the pathogenesis, progression and treatment of heart failure. Heart Fail Rev 21 (2):169–176
- Butler J, Epstein SE, Greene SJ et al (2017) Intravenous allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic cardiomyopathy: safety and efficacy results of a phase II-a randomized trial. Circ Res 120(2):332–340

- Can A, Ulus AT, Cinar O et al (2015) Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stromal cell transplantation in myocardial ischemia (HUC-HEART trial). A study protocol of a phase 1/2, controlled and randomized trial in combination with coronary artery bypass grafting. Stem Cell Rev 11 (5):752–760
- Caplan AI, Dennis JE (2006) Mesenchymal stem cells as trophic mediators. J Cell Biochem 98 (5):1076–1084
- Carbone F, Nencioni A, Mach F, Vuilleumier N, Montecucco F (2013) Pathophysiological role of neutrophils in acute myocardial infarction. Thromb Haemost 110(3):501–514
- Chen S, Liu Z, Tian N et al (2006) Intracoronary transplantation of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy due to isolated chronic occluded left anterior descending artery. J Invasive Cardiol 18(11):552–556
- Chin SP, Poey AC, Wong CY et al (2011) Intramyocardial and intracoronary autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in chronic severe dilated cardiomyopathy. Cytotherapy 13(7):814–821
- Chinnadurai R, Ng S, Velu V, Galipeau J (2015) Challenges in animal modelling of mesenchymal stromal cell therapy for inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol 21(16):4779–4787
- Chung ES, Packer M, Lo KH, Fasanmade AA, Willerson JT (2003) Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, pilot trial of infliximab, a chimeric monoclonal antibody to tumor necrosis factor-alpha, in patients with moderate-to-severe heart failure: results of the anti-TNF therapy against congestive heart failure (ATTACH) trial. Circulation 107(25):3133–3140
- Deftereos S, Giannopoulos G, Panagopoulou V et al (2014) Anti-inflammatory treatment with colchicine in stable chronic heart failure: a prospective, randomized study. JACC Heart Fail 2 (2):131–137
- Deswal A, Petersen NJ, Feldman AM, Young JB, White BG, Mann DL (2001) Cytokines and cytokine receptors in advanced heart failure: an analysis of the cytokine database from the Vesnarinone trial (VEST). Circulation 103(16):2055–2059
- Dimmeler S, Leri A (2008) Aging and disease as modifiers of efficacy of cell therapy. Circ Res 102 (11):1319–1330
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I et al (2006) Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8(4):315–317
- Eliopoulos N, Stagg J, Lejeune L, Pommey S, Galipeau J (2005) Allogeneic marrow stromal cells are immune rejected by MHC class I- and class II-mismatched recipient mice. Blood 106 (13):4057–4065
- Emami H, Singh P, MacNabb M et al (2015) Splenic metabolic activity predicts risk of future cardiovascular events: demonstration of a cardiosplenic axis in humans. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging 8(2):121–130
- Fisher SA, Doree C, Mathur A, Taggart DP, Martin-Rendon E (2016) Stem cell therapy for chronic ischaemic heart disease and congestive heart failure. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 12: CD007888
- Freyman T, Polin G, Osman H et al (2006) A quantitative, randomized study evaluating three methods of mesenchymal stem cell delivery following myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 27 (9):1114–1122
- Gheorghiade M, Abraham WT, Albert NM et al (2006) Systolic blood pressure at admission, clinical characteristics, and outcomes in patients hospitalized with acute heart failure. JAMA 296(18):2217–2226
- Gnecchi M, He H, Liang OD et al (2005) Paracrine action accounts for marked protection of ischemic heart by Akt-modified mesenchymal stem cells. Nat Med 11(4):367–368
- Gnecchi M, Zhang Z, Ni A, Dzau VJ (2008) Paracrine mechanisms in adult stem cell signaling and therapy. Circ Res 103(11):1204–1219
- Golpanian S, El-Khorazaty J, Mendizabal A et al (2015) Effect of aging on human mesenchymal stem cell therapy in ischemic cardiomyopathy patients. J Am Coll Cardiol 65(2):125–132

- Gyongyosi M, Wojakowski W, Navarese EP, Moye LA (2016) Meta-analyses of human cell-based cardiac regeneration therapies: controversies in meta-analyses results on cardiac cell-based regenerative studies. Circ Res 118(8):1254–1263
- Hare JM, Fishman JE, Gerstenblith G et al (2012) Comparison of allogeneic vs autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells delivered by transendocardial injection in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy: the POSEIDON randomized trial. JAMA 308(22):2369–2379
- Hare JM, DiFede DL, Rieger AC, Florea V, Landin AM, El-Khorazaty J, Khan A, Mushtaq M, Lowery MH, Byrnes JJ, Hendel RC, Cohen MG, Alfonso CE, Valasaki K, Pujol MV, Golpanian S, Ghersin E, Fishman JE, Pattany P, Gomes SA, Delgado C, Miki R, Abuzeid F, Vidro-Casiano M, Premer C, Medina A, Porras V, Hatzistergos KE, Anderson E, Mendizabal A, Mitrani R, Heldman AW (2017) Randomized comparison of allogeneic versus autologous mesenchymal stem cells for nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: POSEIDON-DCM trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 69(5):526–537. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.11.009
- Heldman AW, DiFede DL, Fishman JE et al (2014) Transendocardial mesenchymal stem cells and mononuclear bone marrow cells for ischemic cardiomyopathy: the TAC-HFT randomized trial. JAMA 311(1):62–73
- Horckmans M, Ring L, Duchene J, Santovito D, Schloss MJ, Drechsler M, Weber C, Soehnlein O, Steffens S (2016) Neutrophils orchestrate post-myocardial infarction healing by polarizing macrophages towards a reparative phenotype. Eur Heart J. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw002
- Ismahil MA, Hamid T, Bansal SS, Patel B, Kingery JR, Prabhu SD (2014) Remodeling of the mononuclear phagocyte network underlies chronic inflammation and disease progression in heart failure: critical importance of the cardiosplenic axis. Circ Res 114(2):266–282
- Kelkar AA, Butler J, Schelbert EB et al (2015) Mechanisms Contributing to the Progression of ischemic and nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy: possible modulating effects of paracrine activities of stem cells. J Am Coll Cardiol 66(18):2038–2047
- Kinnaird T, Stabile E, Burnett MS, Epstein SE (2004a) Bone-marrow-derived cells for enhancing collateral development: mechanisms, animal data, and initial clinical experiences. Circ Res 95 (4):354–363
- Kinnaird T, Stabile E, Burnett MS et al (2004b) Marrow-derived stromal cells express genes encoding a broad spectrum of arteriogenic cytokines and promote in vitro and in vivo arteriogenesis through paracrine mechanisms. Circ Res 94(5):678–685
- Klyushnenkova E, Mosca JD, Zernetkina V et al (2005) T cell responses to allogeneic human mesenchymal stem cells: immunogenicity, tolerance, and suppression. J Biomed Sci 12 (1):47–57
- Kubo H, Takamura K, Nagaya N, Ohgushi H (2016) The effect of serum on the proliferation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells from aged donors and donors with/without chronic heart failure. J Tissue Eng Regen Med. doi:10.1002/term.2394
- Lankester AC, Ball LM, Lang P, Handgretinger R (2010) Immunotherapy in the context of hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: the emerging role of natural killer cells and mesenchymal stromal cells. Pediatr Clin North Am 57(1):97–121
- Lorkeers SJ, Eding JE, Vesterinen HM et al (2015) Similar effect of autologous and allogeneic cell therapy for ischemic heart disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of large animal studies. Circ Res 116(1):80–86
- Lu W, Tang Y, Zhang Z et al (2015) Inhibiting the mobilization of Ly6C(high) monocytes after acute myocardial infarction enhances the efficiency of mesenchymal stromal cell transplantation and curbs myocardial remodeling. Am J Transl Res 7(3):587–597
- Luger D, Lipinski MJ, Westman PC, Glover DK, Dimastromatteo J, Frias JC, Albelda MT, Sikora S, Kharazi A, Vertelov G, Waksman R, Epstein SE (2017) Intravenously-delivered mesenchymal stem cells: systemic anti-inflammatory effects improve left ventricular dysfunction in acute myocardial infarction and ischemic cardiomyopathy. Circ Res. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.117.310599

- Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K et al (2012) Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells for heart regeneration after myocardial infarction (CADUCEUS): a prospective, randomised phase 1 trial. Lancet 379(9819):895–904
- Malliaras K, Li TS, Luthringer D et al (2012) Safety and efficacy of allogeneic cell therapy in infarcted rats transplanted with mismatched cardiosphere-derived cells. Circulation 125 (1):100–112
- Malliaras K, Makkar RR, Smith RR et al (2014) Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells after myocardial infarction: evidence of therapeutic regeneration in the final 1-year results of the CADUCEUS trial (Cardiosphere-derived autologous stem cells to reverse ventricular dysfunction). J Am Coll Cardiol 63(2):110–122
- Mathiasen AB, Qayyum AA, Jorgensen E et al (2015) Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cell treatment in patients with severe ischaemic heart failure: a randomized placebocontrolled trial (MSC-HF trial). Eur Heart J 36(27):1744–1753
- Menasche P, Hagege AA, Scorsin M et al (2001) Myoblast transplantation for heart failure. Lancet 357(9252):279–280
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS et al (2015) Heart disease and stroke statistics–2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 131(4):e29–322
- Nahrendorf M, Frantz S, Swirski FK et al (2015) Imaging systemic inflammatory networks in ischemic heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 65(15):1583–1591
- Ong S, Rose NR, Cihakova D (2016) Natural killer cells in inflammatory heart disease. Clin Immunol 175:26–33
- Orn S, Ueland T, Manhenke C et al (2012) Increased interleukin-1beta levels are associated with left ventricular hypertrophy and remodelling following acute ST segment elevation myocardial infarction treated by primary percutaneous coronary intervention. J Intern Med 272 (3):267–276
- Peng Y, Pan W, Ou Y et al (2016) Extracardiac-Lodged mesenchymal stromal cells propel an inflammatory response against myocardial infarction via paracrine effects. Cell Transplant 25 (5):929–935
- Perin EC, Borow KM, Silva GV et al (2015) A phase II dose-escalation study of allogeneic mesenchymal precursor cells in patients with ischemic or nonischemic heart failure. Circ Res 117(6):576–584
- Phinney DG, Prockop DJ (2007) Concise review: mesenchymal stem/multipotent stromal cells: the state of transdifferentiation and modes of tissue repair current views. Stem Cells 25 (11):2896–2902
- Poncelet AJ, Vercruysse J, Saliez A, Gianello P (2007) Although pig allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells are not immunogenic in vitro, intracardiac injection elicits an immune response in vivo. Transplantation 83(6):783–790
- Sanganalmath SK, Bolli R (2013) Cell therapy for heart failure: a comprehensive overview of experimental and clinical studies, current challenges, and future directions. Circ Res 113 (6):810–834
- Sotiropoulou PA, Perez SA, Gritzapis AD, Baxevanis CN, Papamichail M (2006) Interactions between human mesenchymal stem cells and natural killer cells. Stem Cells 24(1):74–85
- Spaggiari GM, Capobianco A, Abdelrazik H, Becchetti F, Mingari MC, Moretta L (2008) Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit natural killer-cell proliferation, cytotoxicity, and cytokine production: role of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase and prostaglandin E2. Blood 111 (3):1327–1333
- Swirski FK, Nahrendorf M (2013) Leukocyte behavior in atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and heart failure. Science 339(6116):161–166
- Takahashi M, Li TS, Suzuki R et al (2006) Cytokines produced by bone marrow cells can contribute to functional improvement of the infarcted heart by protecting cardiomyocytes from ischemic injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 291(2):H886–H893

- Tao B, Cui M, Wang C et al (2015) Percutaneous intramyocardial delivery of mesenchymal stem cells induces superior improvement in regional left ventricular function compared with bone marrow mononuclear cells in porcine myocardial infarcted heart. Theranostics 5(2):196–205
- Telukuntla KS, Suncion VY, Schulman IH, Hare JM (2013) The advancing field of cell-based therapy: insights and lessons from clinical trials. J Am Heart Assoc 2(5):e000338
- van der Spoel TI, Gathier WA, Koudstaal S et al (2015) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells show more benefit on systolic function compared to bone marrow mononuclear cells in a porcine model of chronic myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 8(7):393–403
- Vrtovec B, Poglajen G, Lezaic L et al (2013) Comparison of transendocardial and intracoronary CD34+ cell transplantation in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 128(11 Suppl 1):S42–S49
- Walter DH, Haendeler J, Reinhold J et al (2005) Impaired CXCR4 signaling contributes to the reduced neovascularization capacity of endothelial progenitor cells from patients with coronary artery disease. Circ Res 97(11):1142–1151
- Westman PC, Lipinski MJ, Luger D et al (2016) Inflammation as a driver of adverse left ventricular remodeling after acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol 67(17):2050–2060
- Wrigley BJ, Lip GY, Shantsila E (2011) The role of monocytes and inflammation in the pathophysiology of heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 13(11):1161–1171
- Yee K, Malliaras K, Kanazawa H et al (2014) Allogeneic cardiospheres delivered via percutaneous transendocardial injection increase viable myocardium, decrease scar size, and attenuate cardiac dilatation in porcine ischemic cardiomyopathy. PLoS One 9(12):e113805

Platelet-Derived Growth Factor in Heart Failure

John Medamana, Richard A. Clark, and Javed Butler

Contents

1	Platelet-Derived Growth Factor	357
2	Cardiac Functions of PDGF in the Diseased and Healthy Heart	358
3	Effects of PDGF on Cultured Cardiomyocytes	360
4	Effect of Administration of Exogenous PDGF	361
5	PDGF and Stem Cells	364
6	Conclusion	365
Re	ferences	366

Abstract

Defective vascular and cardiomyocyte function are implicated in the development and progression of both heart failure with reduced and preserved ejection fraction. Any treatment option that augments these myocardial processes may therefore be of significant value. The platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) family is involved in a wide range of growth processes and plays a key role in both regulating angiogenesis and mesenchymal cell development. Thus, PDGF may serve as a potent therapy for heart failure. While numerous animal studies have demonstrated beneficial cardiovascular effects of growth factor therapy, promising laboratory data has not yet translated to effective therapies. In this

J. Medamana

School of Medicine, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794-8165, USA

R.A. Clark (🖂)

e-mail: richard.clark@stonybrookmedicine.edu

J. Butler (⊠) Division of Cardiology, Health Science Center T16-080, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794-8165, USA e-mail: javed.butler@stonybrookmedicine.edu

Department of Dermatology, Health Science Center T16-060, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY 11794-8165, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_80

review, we outline the biological role of PDGF and summarize previous studies that have focused on the cardiovascular effects of normal PDGF signaling, administration of PDGF, and the effects of PDGF on stem cell therapy.

Keywords

Angiogenesis • Animal models of human disease • Basic science research • Growth factors/cytokines • Heart failure • Journal subject code • Myocardial infarction • Stem cells

Abbreviations

Ang-2	Angiopoietin-2
CK-MB	Creatine phosphokinase-myocardial band
FGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
HF	Heart failure
HFpEF	Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction
HSP	Heat shock protein
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein
MEK	Mitogen-activated ERK-activating kinase
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PKC	Protein kinase C
PLC	Phospholipase C
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Heart disease is currently the leading cause of death both in the United States and worldwide (Jemal et al. 2005). In 2011, the estimated cost associated with heart disease was \$215.6 billion (Mozaffarian et al. 2015). Given the aging population and the increasing risk factor profile including obesity and diabetes, both the prevalence of and associated costs for the treatment of heart disease are projected to increase. While great strides have been made in the treatments of myocardial infarction, treatment options for heart failure (HF) have remained limited.

Dysfunction in vascular regulation is implicated in the development and progression of heart failure. In physiological hypertrophy, there exists an appropriate number of capillary beds to sufficiently supply the myocardium; however, in pathological hypertrophy, a decrease in capillary density is observed (Taimeh et al. 2013). It follows that this decrease in capillary density could result in myocardial hypoxia and systolic impairment. Decreased capillary density has also been implicated in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). Autopsy studies have demonstrated that HFpEF patients exhibit a reduction in coronary microvascular density and that this reduction in microvascular density is associated with an increase in myocardial fibrosis (Mohammed et al. 2015). Myocardial hypoxia is also implicated in the development of HFpEF. Cardiac ischemia can result in dysfunctional calcium removal from myocytes, and as a result, diastolic dysfunction and even HFpEF can follow (Gladden et al. 2014). Chest pain in HF patients without coronary disease has been attributed to both decreased coronary perfusion secondary to the myocardial stiffening and a decrease in coronary microvascular density (Gladden et al. 2014). In HFpEF, endothelial progenitor cells displaying an angiogenic phenotype are upregulated (Shantsila and Lip 2016). It has been shown that the potently angiogenic platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) can induce the differentiation of endothelial progenitor cells (Miyata et al. 2005). As dysfunctional myocardial microcirculation is implicated in both systolic heart failure and HFpEF, the induction of myocardial angiogenesis, by angiogenic growth factors like PDGF, may serve to inhibit the development of both heart failure etiologies.

1 Platelet-Derived Growth Factor

The PDGF family is involved in a number of growth processes. During embryogenesis, PDGF plays a key role in vascular development by promoting proliferation and survival of vascular mural cells (Hoch and Soriano 2003). In adults, PDGF has been shown to be both a potent mitogen and survival factor for both fibroblasts and other mesenchymal cells and thus plays a key role in a wide range of processes (Shantsila and Lip 2016).

The PDGF family is made up of four different polypeptide chains: PDGF-A, PDGF-B, PDGF-C, and PDGF-D, which share a common structure. Of the four chains, PDGF-A and PDGF-B have been thoroughly studied, while PDGF-C and PDGF-D have only recently been identified. After being translated, these chains form disulfide-bonded dimers which function as biologically active growth factors. Five dimeric PDGF isoforms have been identified (PDGF-AA, PDGF-AB, PDGF-BB, PDGF-CC, and PDGF-DD) (Fredriksson et al. 2004). PDGFs bind two similar tyrosine kinase receptors, PDGFR- α and PDGFR- β . PDGF-A binding is restricted to PDGFR- α , while PDGF-B is able to bind both PDGFR- α and PDGFR- β . PDGF-C and PDGF-D can bind to both PDGF receptors; however, they have greater affinity for PDGFR- β (Formiga et al. 2012). Binding of PDGF to its receptor results in the activation of several signal transduction pathways which, among other things, function to promote cell survival (Fig. 1).

As PDGF exerts both anti-apoptotic and vasculogenic effects, it represents a novel treatment target for HF. Additionally, various growth factors including PDGF decrease with age, rendering study of PDGF in HF of interest as it is primarily a disease of the elderly.



Fig. 1 The PDGF family of growth factors and receptors. The PDGF family is made up of four different polypeptide chains: PDGF-A, PDGF-B, PDGF-C, and PDGF-D. These chains form disulfide-bonded dimers which function as biologically active growth factors. Five dimeric PDGF isoforms have been identified (PDGF-AA, PDGF-AB, PDGF-BB, PDGF-CC, and PDGF-DD) (Fredriksson et al. 2004). PDGFs bind two similar tyrosine kinase receptors, PDGFR- α and PDGFR- β . PDGF-A binding is restricted to the PDGFR- α , while PDGF-B is able to bind both PDGFR- α and PDGFR- β . PDGF-C and PDGF-C can bind to both PDGF receptors; however, they have greater affinity for PDGFR- β (Formiga et al. 2012). Figure reproduced with permission from Roles of PDGF in animal development Renée V. Hoch, Philippe Soriano Development 2003 130:4769–4784; doi:10.1242/dev.00721

2 Cardiac Functions of PDGF in the Diseased and Healthy Heart

A few studies have investigated the role that PDGF plays either in the healthy or diseased heart. Chong et al. (2013) showed that in the fetal human heart, PDGFR- α were found in greatest numbers in the interstitial cells of the epicardium, endocardium, and myocardium of the atria and ventricles, to a lesser degree on endothelial cells and infrequently on cardiomyocytes. In addition, a subset of cells expressing PDGFR- α also expressed either c-Kit or CD146, which have been recognized as identifiers of cardiac progenitor cells. Chong et al. also investigated the expression of PDGFR- α in the diseased human heart. Expression was similar to the fetal heart;

however, a greater number of cardiomyocytes expressed PDGFR- α (Chong et al. 2013).

Shaddy et al. (1996) investigated the expression of PDGF in biopsies taken from both heart transplants and normal hearts. PDGF staining was observed in 78% of biopsies, from heart transplants, and was markedly increased with high-grade vascular rejection. All samples taken from hearts exhibiting global ischemia exhibited PDGF. In contrast, PDGF expression was only noted in 44% of hearts not exhibiting global ischemia. PDGF staining was found more in the interstitial space than in the vascular space. In contrast, biopsies from non-transplanted hearts did not stain for PDGF; however, they exhibited similar staining for basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF) (Shaddy et al. 1996). Koch et al. (2007) also investigated the expression of PDGF in posttransplant hearts. Biopsies were taken during the first 2 weeks after transplantation. Levels of PDGF increased in the first week after transplantation and then decreased to a lower, albeit elevated level. In addition, PDGF-A was significantly elevated 1 week post-surgery in patients who experienced rejection (Koch et al. 2007).

Koizumi et al. investigated serum levels of PDGF-BB in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarctions, who underwent percutaneous coronary intervention, and found that serum PDGF-BB levels correlated with ischemic time and creatine phosphokinase-myocardial band (CK-MB) (Koizumi et al. 2015).

In addition to human studies, a number of studies have investigated the function of PDGF in the hearts of small animals. Zhao et al. (2011) demonstrated that all four PDGF isoforms are expressed in the normal, un-infarcted rat heart. Following infarction, PDGF-A and PDGF-D increased in the infarcted area, and PDGF-B and PDGF-C expression was decreased in the normal heart surrounding the infarction. PDGF-D expression in the un-infarcted myocardium increased 1 week following infarction and remained elevated for 5 weeks. In addition, PDGFR- α and PDGFR- β expression was increased in the infarcted sections 3 days postinfarction (Zhao et al. 2011). Zymek et al. (2006) used both anti-PDGFR- α and anti-PDGFR- β antibodies to block signaling pathways, activated by PDGF binding its receptor in the infarcted mouse heart. Inhibition of both PDGFR- α and PDGFR- β leads to a decrease in collagen deposition in the infarcted area. In addition, PDGFR- β inhibition leads to defective angiogenesis and increased permeability of the new vasculature. Seven days following infarction, mice undergoing PDGFR- β inhibition exhibited hemorrhagic areas containing erythrocytes (Zymek et al. 2006).

Together, these studies show that some baseline PDGF activity exists in the normal heart, while PDGF levels and its signaling is increased in disease states. Most of these investigators surmised that the increase in endogenously produced PDGF-BB occurs in response to injury to play an important role in cardioprotection.

3 Effects of PDGF on Cultured Cardiomyocytes

A number of studies have investigated the effects of PDGF on cardiomyocytes. Rong et al. (2015) reported that PDGF-BB expression is increased in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes cultured under hypoxic conditions. In order to investigate the effects of PDGF signaling under hypoxic conditions, a lentiviral vector was used to decrease the expression of PDGF-BB. Associated with the decreased PDGF-BB levels, an increase in lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), an increase in apoptotic cells, and a decrease in contractile function were observed (Rong et al. 2015). Taken together, these results show that PDGF signaling plays a role in promoting survival in cultured cardiomyocytes under stress.

Cheng et al. (2007) investigated the effects of growth factors on contractile property and viability of cultured engineered tissue. The engineered cardiac tissue formed three-dimensional constructs that are thought to be more representative of in vivo conditions. This study demonstrated that PDGF increased the contractile amplitude at day 4 of culture and promoted cell survival (Cheng et al. 2007). Vantler et al. (2010) found that PDGF-BB stimulation resulted in improved contractile function of engineered heart tissue and cell survival. The effect of PDGF-BB stimulation was both dose and time dependent. Vantler et al. also demonstrated that PDGF-BB signaling does not induce cardiomyocyte hypertrophy or proliferation and that the anti-apoptotic effects of PDGF-BB signaling are mediated through PI3K-AKT signaling (Vantler et al. 2010).

Edelberg et al. (1998) studied the effects of PDGF on cardiac microvascular communication. Cardiac microvascular endothelial cells were cultured both by themselves and along with cardiomyocytes. Endothelial cells constitutively made PDGF-A, resulting in the formation of PDGF-AA. When the endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes were co-cultured, PDGF-B was made along with PDGF-A, resulting in the formation of PDGF-AB. In addition, PDGF-AB resulted in production of von Willebrand factor, as well as increased endothelial levels of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and Flk-1, both known to play a role in angiogenesis (Edelberg et al. 1998). PDGF-B expression, while present in endothelial cells co-cultured with cardiomyocytes derived from young mice, is absent in endothelial cells co-cultured with cardiomyocytes derived from the hearts of aged mice. Cardiac tissue from aged mice demonstrated impaired survival as compared to cardiac tissue derived from young mice. In addition, inhibition of PDGF-AB or PDGFR- α resulted in a decreased viability of cardiac tissue derived from young mice and the addition of PDGF-AB to cardiac tissue derived from aged mice resulted in neovascularization of the tissue and improved survival (Edelberg et al. 2002).

Genneback et al. (2013) investigated the effects of growth factors on exosomes produced by cultured cardiomyocytes. Up to 47.5% of transcripts found in exosomes were attributed to PDGF-BB stimulation. The transcripts identified in the exosomes have previously been shown to exhibit signals associated with inhibiting hypertrophy and promoting the differentiation of cardiomyocytes from their mesodermal cell precursors (Backs and Olson 2006).

Hyaluronic acid is a key component of the extracellular matrix and is involved in wound healing (Price et al. 2005). Hellman et al. (2010) demonstrated that cardiomyocytes are able to produce hyaluronic acid when stimulated by PDGF-BB. When cardiomyocytes and fibroblasts were cultured together, a greater amount of hyaluronic acid was produced as compared to the amount produced by each cell type alone, suggesting that hyaluronic acid production occurs through a synergistic relationship between fibroblasts and cardiomyocytes (Hellman et al. 2010). As mentioned previously, communication in the heart between cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells induces PDGF-AB production (Edelberg et al. 1998). We would predict that PDGF stimulates even more positive feedback loops among heart cells, and their ECM then is currently recognized.

Takenaka et al. (2004) demonstrated that PDGF-BB stimulation of cardiomyocytes resulted in the phosphorylation of heat shock protein 27 (HSP 27) through the actions of the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase superfamily, P38. It is known that HSP phosphorylation results in a number of wide-ranging downstream effects and that HSPs are produced in cells under stress (de Maio 1999). Liu et al. (2005) demonstrated that PDGF increased cell growth in a timeand dose-dependent manner, that PDGF-BB stimulation resulted in phosphorylation of both PDGFR- β and ERK1/2, and that long-term stimulation by PDGF increased the expression of both PDGFR and ERK1/2. A number of inhibitors were added to the cultured cells to identify participants in the signal transduction pathway of PDGF-BB. It was shown that a mitogen-activated ERK-activating kinase (MEK) inhibitor, a phospholipase C (PLC) inhibitor, and a protein kinase C (PKC) inhibitor decreased $[^{3}H]$ -leucine in cultured cardiomyocytes stimulated by PDGF-BB (Liu et al. 2005). Thus it is clear that both MAP kinases, P38 and ERK1/ 2, play a critical role in the signal transduction pathways of PDGF in cardiomyocyte as has been demonstrated in fibroblasts.

From these studies, we learn that addition of PDGF to cultured cardiomyocytes promotes survival, increases contractile function, reduces apoptosis, and helps to induce signaling pathways associated with healing. Since in vitro studies are intrinsically limited, other studies have investigated the effects of PDGF administration in vivo.

4 Effect of Administration of Exogenous PDGF

Edelberg et al. (2002) showed that administration of PDGF-AB resulted in an increased vascular density in both young and old rats. In addition, pretreatment with PDGF-AB prior to induced infarction resulted in a significant decrease in infarct size (Edelberg et al. 2002). These data show the angiogenic capability of PDGF and that while PDGF-AB expression is deficient in the aged heart, the downstream transduction pathway signaling is still functional. In older rats, pretreatment with PDGF-AB provided cardioprotection with a reduction in infarct size.

PDGF-AB cardioprotection has been shown to result from a synergistic relationship between PDGF-AB and VEGF and Angiopoietin-2 (Ang-2), two downstream members of the PDGF-AB signal transduction pathway. In addition, while PDGF-AB only provided cardioprotection if administered prior to an infarction, a combination of PDGF-AB, VEGF, and Ang-2 was able to offer cardioprotection at the time of an infarct and could potentially translate as a viable therapy (Xaymardan et al. 2004a). In addition to serving a cardioprotective role in myocardial infarctions, administration of the combination of PDGF-AB, VEGF, and Ang-2 was demonstrated to restore TNF- α -associated ischemia preconditioning of ERK1/ 2, a cardioprotective effect, in the hearts of aged rats (Zheng et al. 2006).

These data highlight both the importance of the local environment for influencing growth factor production and the indirect angiogenic properties of PDGF. The decrease of PDGF may play a significant role in the increase of adverse cardiovascular events, in elderly patients. A patent for a potential cardioprotective therapy, combining PDGF-AB, VEGF, and Ang-2, was filed; however, a commercially available therapy has not yet followed.

Affleck et al. (2002) investigated the effects of numerous growth factors on the production of VEGF in rabbit hearts. PDGF-BB induced the greatest increase in myocardial VEGF levels, a decreased expression of VEGF₁₂₁, and an increased expression of both VEGF₁₈₉, VEGF₁₈₃, and VEGF₁₆₄. Interestingly, VEGF₁₂₁ is unable to bind heparin and is more soluble than the other VEGF isoforms (Affleck et al. 2002). As VEGF is known to have potent angiogenic capabilities (Taimeh et al. 2013), once again it is shown that PDGF has indirect angiogenic properties via its ability to induce increased expression of VEGF (see (Edelberg et al. 1998)).

Awada et al. (2015) investigated the delivery of both PDGF and VEGF, via a fibrin gel, as a treatment for infarction. VEGF is needed in the first few days of angiogenesis and is responsible for forming immature, leaky blood vessels (Lee et al. 2000). PDGF is needed later in angiogenesis and causes mural cells to cover the newly made vessels and is responsible for allowing newly formed blood vessels to mature (Betsholtz 2004). The fibrin gel synthesized was able to release VEGF followed by PDGF, and the controlled sequential release resulted in greater angiogenesis. Two weeks following infarction, controlled delivery of VEGF and PDGF resulted in a 60% improvement in cardiac function than the delivery of free growth factors. Additionally, the controlled delivery resulted in greater ventricular wall thickness and less scaring and resulted in the formation of new and stable vasculature and increased cardiomyocyte survival (Awada et al. 2015). Hao et al. (2007) investigated the dual delivery of VEGF and PDGF-BB by means of an alginate hydrogel 7 days after infarction in rats and showed that VEGF and PDGF were both able to be delivered via the hydrogels and that VEGF was released more rapidly than PDGF. Delivery of both growth factors resulted in an increased capillary density in the infarcted myocardium and an increase in the systolic velocity-time integral (Hao et al. 2007). Together, these studies demonstrate that PDGF-BB has a direct, as well as an indirect (Edelberg et al. 1998; Affleck et al. 2002), angiogenic effect.
Cui et al. (2014) investigated using a plasmid to facilitate the transfer of a combination of bFGF and PDGF to treat myocardial infarctions. Dual gene transfer was shown to establish numerous mature blood vessels, improve cardiac function, and reduce fibrosis (Cui et al. 2014). It has been shown that bFGF and PDGF work synergistically to promote the proliferation of endothelial progenitor cells and to increase VEGF release (Sufen et al. 2011); thus, the results may also reflect an induced increase in VEGF signaling. Hao et al. showed that dual transfer of PDGF-BB and bFGF in rats with a 7-day-old myocardial infarction increases both the number of capillaries and arterioles (Hao et al. 2004).

FGF-2 has been shown to stimulate angiogenesis (Schweigerer et al. 1987), while PDGF has been shown to stimulate vascular mural cells (Heldin and Westermark 1999). Thus, stable mature vasculature could be formed by administration of both growth factors. In a porcine heart model, dual delivery of PDGF-BB and FGF-2 resulted in the formation of stable vessels in the infarcted myocardium, improved regional myocardial blood flow, and increased ejection fraction. PDGF-BB signaling alone was not enough to develop mature vasculature; however, the synergistic relationship between PDGF-BB and FGF-2 proved capable of doing so (Lu et al. 2007). Thus, we learn that PDGF-BB can synergize with either FGF-2 or VEGF to elicit angiogenesis.

In another study, an adenovirus vector was delivered into the coronary arteries of rats that had received cardiac allografts and was used for overexpression of PDGF-BB that resulted in an increase in microvascular density and an increase in survival factors Bcl-2 and BMP-7. Inhibition of the PDGF receptor with imatinib mesylate resulted in an increase in ischemia reperfusion injury and chronic rejection (Tuuminen et al. 2016).

Hsieh et al. (2006a, b) demonstrated the efficacy of delivering PDGF to the myocardium via a nanofiber delivery system and that this resulted in PDGFR- β phosphorylation. The use of nanofiber delivery system resulted in sustained improvement of cardiac function. PDGF alone resulted in transient improvement in heart function; however, these effects were not sustained. This illustrates the effects of controlled release (Hsieh et al. 2006a, b).

Kim et al. (2011) administered a combination of PDGF-BB and basic fibroblast growth factor (FGF-2), via self-assembling peptides, on a rat myocardial infarction model and showed that this resulted in a decrease in both infarct size and myocyte apoptosis, an increase in angiogenesis, and increase in cardiac function. The selfassembling peptides allowed for the formation of a three-dimensional scaffold that closely mimics the extracellular matrix and is easily degradable (Kim et al. 2011) (Table 1).

These studies demonstrate that PDGF administration can serve cardioprotective, anti-apoptotic, and angiogenic functions in small animal models. However, it is known that the response to injury and inflammation in small animals does not perfectly model human inflammatory diseases (Seok et al. 2013). In addition, rat or mice heart studies are problematic to directly extrapolate to human hearts, as they often have native collaterals which limit infarction.

Study	Growth factor(s)	Species	Results
Edelberg et al. (2002)	PDGF-AB	Rat	Increased vascular density, administration pre-induced MI resulted in ~50% reduction in infarct size
Affleck et al. (2002)	PDGF-BB	Rabbit	Statistically significant increase of VEGF expression as compared to sham ($P = 0.009$)
Awada et al. (2015)	PDGF + VEGF	Rat	60% improvement in cardiac function as compared to free GF, 68% increase in cardiac function over saline
Hao et al. (2007)	PDGF-BB and VEGF	Rat	Statistically significant increases in blood vessel density and cardiac function
Cui et al. (2014)	bFGF + PDGF- BB	Rat	14% increase in LVEF, 21% in fractional shorting as compared to control
Lu et al. (2007)	FGF-2 and PDGF-BB	Pig	Statistically significant increase in collateral index and overall myocardial function
Tuuminen et al. (2016)	PDGF-BB	Rat	Decreases IRI and causes statistically significant increase in BCL2 mRNA

Table 1 Studies emphasizing the effects of in vivo administration of PDGF

Porcine hearts lack this constitutive collateral circulation, and as such, they are a better model of human heart disease (Lu et al. 2007).

5 PDGF and Stem Cells

Das et al. (2009) investigated the effects of using stem cells to overexpress VEGF and PDGF in a rat myocardial infarction model. A bicistronic vector was used to induce overexpression of VEGF and PDGF in the stem cells. This resulted in a decrease in myocardial infarction size, as well as improved angiogenesis, heart function, and exercise capacity. It was shown that the hematopoietic stem cells traveled to the site of infarction after being injected intravascularly and that stem cell therapy resulted in an increase in connexin 43, an important protein in gap junctions. Importantly, the stem cell therapy did not correspond with expression of any of a number of signaling molecules involved in oncogenesis (Das et al. 2009).

Krausgrill et al. (2009) investigated the effects of PDGF-BB on implanted bone marrow stem cells in a rat myocardial infarction model. Mice were treated with PDGF-BB prior to implantation of stem cells. Administration of PDGF-BB with bone marrow stem cells resulted in a decrease in cell loss. It was postulated that PDGF-BB results in decreased cell loss at later times but reperfusion-associated washout is mainly responsible for cell loss before PDGF-BB is able to have an effect on cell survival (Krausgrill et al. 2009). Xaymardan et al. (2004b) demonstrated that PDGF-AB resulted in a twofold increase in the speed of in vitro cardiomyocyte development from bone marrow stem cells and results in an increase in the number of cardiomyocytes formed; however, the cardiomyocytes formed as disorganized bundles, and heart function improved no more than

Study	Result
Das et al. (2009)	Decrease in MI area and an increase in both heart function and angiogenesis
Xaymardan et al. (2004b)	Twofold increase in the speed of in vitro cardiomyocyte development from bone marrow-derived stem cells
Takahashi et al. (2006)	Bone marrow-derived stem cells produce VEGF, bFGF, PDGF, and IGF-1

Table 2 Studies emphasizing the effects of PDGF on stem cells

administration of either PDGF-AB or bone marrow-derived stem cells alone (Xaymardan et al. 2004b).

Takahashi et al. (2006) investigated the mechanism by which bone marrow stem cells themselves function to improve cardiac function postinfarction and found that growth factors VEGF, bFGF, PDGF, and insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1) were produced by the bone marrow-derived stem cells. Production of these growth factors was increased under hypoxic conditions, and the bone marrow-derived stem cells were shown to improve cardiac function, induce angiogenesis, and inhibit apoptosis (Takahashi et al. 2006). Khattab et al. (2013) investigated the in vitro effects of growth factors on the transdifferentiation of umbilical cord blood-derived stem cells into cardiac myocytes. It was found that a combination of FGF-2 and VEGF promoted differentiation of the stem cells into both endothelial cells and cardiomyocytes. In addition, adding PDGF-BB to the cells committed the endothelial progenitor cells into cardiomyocytes (Khattab et al. 2013) (Table 2).

6 Conclusion

PDGF is involved in the heart's normal response to injury. Administration of PDGF both improves cardiac function and increases angiogenesis in a number of animal models. While there have been numerous promising laboratory studies involving the use of growth factors to prevent heart failure, large placebo-controlled, doubleblind studies have failed to show that the use of growth factors alone is beneficial (Annex and Simons 2005). Given the results of the aforementioned large clinical trials, it seems unlikely that increasing a single growth factor will result in an effective heart failure treatment. Rather, it seems likely that successful future therapies will utilize some combination of angiogenic growth factors, like PDGF, VEGF, and/or FGF, and will be delivered by a system that allows for controlled direct release of the growth factors to the myocardium. Since PDGF has been shown to work synergistically with other growth factors, like bFGF on cardiomyocytes and endothelial cells, an enhancer of these two endogenous growth factors might be particularly advantageous (Lin et al. 2014).

Acknowledgments Funding for this manuscript was provided by a summer research grant from the Department of Dermatology at Stony Brook University Medical Center.

Conflict of Interest JM and JB report no conflict of interest. RC is the co-discoverer of a fibronectin-derived peptide that binds and enhances the activity of PDGF-BB and is the founder of NeoMatrix Therapeutics, which is developing the peptide to prevent burn injury progression, speed healing, and reduce scarring.

References

- Affleck DG, Bull DA, Bailey SH, Albanil A, Connors R, Stringham JC, Karwande SV (2002) PDGF(BB) increases myocardial production of VEGF: shift in VEGF mRNA splice variants after direct injection of bFGF, PDGF(BB), and PDGF(AB). J Surg Res 107:203–209
- Annex BH, Simons M (2005) Growth factor-induced therapeutic angiogenesis in the heart: protein therapy. Cardiovasc Res 65:649–655
- Awada HK, Johnson NR, Wang Y (2015) Sequential delivery of angiogenic growth factors improves revascularization and heart function after myocardial infarction. J Control Release 207:7–17
- Backs J, Olson EN (2006) Control of cardiac growth by histone acetylation/deacetylation. Circ Res 98:15–24
- Betsholtz C (2004) Insight into the physiological functions of PDGF through genetic studies in mice. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15:215–228
- Cheng M, Park H, Engelmayr GC, Moretti M, Freed LE (2007) Effects of regulatory factors on engineered cardiac tissue in vitro. Tissue Eng 13:2709–2719
- Chong JJ, Reinecke H, Iwata M, Torok-Storb B, Stempien-Otero A, Murry CE (2013) Progenitor cells identified by PDGFR-alpha expression in the developing and diseased human heart. Stem Cells Dev 22:1932–1943
- Cui K, Zhou X, Luo J, Feng J, Zheng M, Huang D, Jiang J, Chen X, Wei Y, Li J, Yang L (2014) Dual gene transfer of bFGF and PDGF in a single plasmid for the treatment of myocardial infarction. Exp Ther Med 7:691–696
- Das H, George JC, Joseph M, Das M, Abdulhameed N, Blitz A, Khan M, Sakthivel R, Mao H-Q, Hoit BD, Kuppusamy P, Pompili VJ (2009) Stem cell therapy with overexpressed VEGF and PDGF genes improves cardiac function in a rat infarct model. PLoS One 4:e7325
- de Maio A (1999) Heat shock proteins: facts, thoughts, and dreams. Shock 11:1-12
- Edelberg JM, Aird WC, Wu W, Rayburn H, Mamuya WS, Mercola M, Rosenberg RD (1998) PDGF mediates cardiac microvascular communication. J Clin Invest 102:837–843
- Edelberg JM, Lee SH, Kaur M, Tang L, Feirt NM, McCabe S, Bramwell O, Wong SC, Hong MK (2002) Platelet-derived growth factor-AB limits the extent of myocardial infarction in a rat model: feasibility of restoring impaired angiogenic capacity in the aging heart. Circulation 105:608–613
- Formiga FR, Tamayo E, Simon-Yarza T, Pelacho B, Prosper F, Blanco-Prieto MJ (2012) Angiogenic therapy for cardiac repair based on protein delivery systems. Heart Fail Rev 17:449–473
- Fredriksson L, Li H, Eriksson U (2004) The PDGF family: four gene products form five dimeric isoforms. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15:197–204
- Genneback N, Hellman U, Malm L, Larsson G, Ronquist G, Waldenstrom A, Morner S (2013) Growth factor stimulation of cardiomyocytes induces changes in the transcriptional contents of secreted exosomes. J Extracell Vesicles 2
- Gladden JD, Linke WA, Redfield MM (2014) Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Eur J Physiol 466:1037–1053
- Hao X, Mansson-Broberg A, Gustafsson T, Grinnemo KH, Blomberg P, Siddiqui AJ, Wardell E, Sylven C (2004) Angiogenic effects of dual gene transfer of bFGF and PDGF-BB after myocardial infarction. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 315:1058–1063
- Hao X, Silva EA, Mansson-Broberg A, Grinnemo KH, Siddiqui AJ, Dellgren G, Wardell E, Brodin LA, Mooney DJ, Sylven C (2007) Angiogenic effects of sequential release of VEGF-A165 and PDGF-BB with alginate hydrogels after myocardial infarction. Cardiovasc Res 75:178–185

- Heldin CH, Westermark B (1999) Mechanism of action and in vivo role of platelet-derived growth factor. Physiol Rev 79:1283–1316
- Hellman U, Malm L, Ma L-P, Larsson G, Mörner S, Fu M, Engström-Laurent A, Waldenström A (2010) Growth factor PDGF-BB stimulates cultured cardiomyocytes to synthesize the extracellular matrix component hyaluronan. PLoS One 5:e14393
- Hoch RV, Soriano P (2003) Roles of PDGF in animal development. Development 130:4769-4784
- Hsieh PCH, Davis ME, Gannon J, MacGillivray C, Lee RT (2006a) Controlled delivery of PDGF-BB for myocardial protection using injectable self-assembling peptide nanofibers. J Clin Invest 116:237–248
- Hsieh PC, MacGillivray C, Gannon J, Cruz FU, Lee RT (2006b) Local controlled intramyocardial delivery of platelet-derived growth factor improves postinfarction ventricular function without pulmonary toxicity. Circulation 114:637–644
- Jemal A, Ward E, Hao Y, Thun M (2005) Trends in the leading causes of death in the United States, 1970-2002. JAMA 294:1255–1259
- Khattab RAM, Khorshied MMA, Abdel Shafy SS, El Ansary MS, Moukhtar MS (2013) In vitro transdifferentiation of umbilical cord stem cells into cardiac myocytes: Role of growth factors. Egypt J Crit Care Med 1:43–50
- Kim JH, Jung Y, Kim SH, Sun K, Choi J, Kim HC, Park Y, Kim SH (2011) The enhancement of mature vessel formation and cardiac function in infarcted hearts using dual growth factor delivery with self-assembling peptides. Biomaterials 32:6080–6088
- Koch A, Schmidt CI, Dengler TJ, Remppis A, Sack FU, Schirmacher P, Hagl S, Karck M, Schnabel PA (2007) Differentiated expression patterns of growth factors in routine formalinfixed endomyocardial biopsies in the early postoperative phase after heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 39:554–557
- Koizumi T, Kaneda H, Yamasaki T, Tamaki T, Kikutani T, Muramatsu T, Sano K, Komiyama N, Nishimura S (2015) Impact of platelet-derived growth factor-BB on ischemic myocardial injury after thrombus aspiration for ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol 182:109–111
- Krausgrill B, Vantler M, Burst V, Raths M, Halbach M, Frank K, Schynkowski S, Schenk K, Hescheler J, Rosenkranz S, Muller-Ehmsen J (2009) Influence of cell treatment with PDGF-BB and reperfusion on cardiac persistence of mononuclear and mesenchymal bone marrow cells after transplantation into acute myocardial infarction in rats. Cell Transplant 18:847–853
- Lee RJ, Springer ML, Blanco-Bose WE, Shaw R, Ursell PC, Blau HM (2000) VEGF gene delivery to myocardium: deleterious effects of unregulated expression. Circulation 102:898–901
- Lin F, Zhu J, Tonnesen MG, Taira BR, McClain SA, Singer AJ, Clark RAF (2014) Fibronectin peptides that bind PDGF-BB enhance survival of cells and tissue under stress. J Invest Dermatol 134:1119–1127
- Liu J, Wu LL, Li L, Zhang L, Song ZE (2005) Growth-promoting effect of platelet-derived growth factor on rat cardiac myocytes. Regul Pept 127:11–18
- Lu H, Xu X, Zhang M, Cao R, Bråkenhielm E, Li C, Lin H, Yao G, Sun H, Qi L, Tang M, Dai H, Zhang Y, Su R, Bi Y, Zhang Y, Cao Y (2007) Combinatorial protein therapy of angiogenic and arteriogenic factors remarkably improves collaterogenesis and cardiac function in pigs. Proc Natl Acad Sci 104:12140–12145
- Miyata T, Iizasa H, Sai Y, Fujii J, Terasaki T, Nakashima E (2005) Platelet-derived growth factor-BB (PDGF-BB) induces differentiation of bone marrow endothelial progenitor cell-derived cell line TR-BME2 into mural cells, and changes the phenotype. J Cell Physiol 204:948–955
- Mohammed SF, Hussain S, Mirzoyev SA, Edwards WD, Maleszewski JJ, Redfield MM (2015) Coronary microvascular rarefaction and myocardial fibrosis in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Circulation 131:550–559
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M et al (2015) Heart disease and stroke statistics-2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 131:e29–e332

- Price RD, Myers S, Leigh IM, Navsaria HA (2005) The role of hyaluronic acid in wound healing: assessment of clinical evidence. Am J Clin Dermatol 6:393–402
- Rong R, Wang YC, Hu LQ, He QQ, Zhou XF, Wang TH, Bu PL (2015) Role of endogenous PDGF-BB in cultured cardiomyocytes exposed to hypoxia. Neuropeptides 50:43–49
- Schweigerer L, Neufeld G, Friedman J, Abraham JA, Fiddes JC, Gospodarowicz D (1987) Capillary endothelial cells express basic fibroblast growth factor, a mitogen that promotes their own growth. Nature 325:257–259
- Seok J, Warren HS, Cuenca AG, Mindrinos MN, Baker HV, Xu W, Richards DR, McDonald-Smith GP, Gao H, Hennessy L, Finnerty CC, López CM, Honari S, Moore EE, Minei JP, Cuschieri J, Bankey PE, Johnson JL, Sperry J, Nathens AB, Billiar TR, West MA, Jeschke MG, Klein MB, Gamelli RL, Gibran NS, Brownstein BH, Miller-Graziano C, Calvano SE, Mason PH, Cobb JP, Rahme LG, Lowry SF, Maier RV, Moldawer LL, Herndon DN, Davis RW, Xiao W, Tompkins RG (2013) Inflammation t and host response to injury LSCRP. Genomic responses in mouse models poorly mimic human inflammatory diseases. Proc Natl Acad Sci 110:3507–3512
- Shaddy RE, Hammond EH, Yowell RL (1996) Immunohistochemical analysis of platelet-derived growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor in cardiac biopsy and autopsy specimens of heart transplant patients. Am J Cardiol 77:1210–1215
- Shantsila E, Lip GYH (2016) Endothelial progenitors and blood microparticles: are they relevant to heart failure with preserved ejection fraction? EBioMedicine 4:5–6
- Sufen G, Xianghong Y, Yongxia C, Qian P (2011) bFGF and PDGF-BB have a synergistic effect on the proliferation, migration and VEGF release of endothelial progenitor cells. Cell Biol Int 35:545–551
- Taimeh Z, Loughran J, Birks EJ, Bolli R (2013) Vascular endothelial growth factor in heart failure. Nat Rev Cardiol 10:519–530
- Takahashi M, Li TS, Suzuki R, Kobayashi T, Ito H, Ikeda Y, Matsuzaki M, Hamano K (2006) Cytokines produced by bone marrow cells can contribute to functional improvement of the infarcted heart by protecting cardiomyocytes from ischemic injury. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 291:H886–H893
- Takenaka M, Matsuno H, Ishisaki A, Nakajima K, Hirade K, Takei M, Yasuda E, Akamatsu S, Yoshimi N, Kato K, Kozawa O (2004) Platelet-derived growth factor-BB phosphorylates heat shock protein 27 in cardiac myocytes. J Cell Biochem 91:316–324
- Tuuminen R, Dashkevich A, Keranen MA, Raissadati A, Krebs R, Jokinen JJ, Arnaudova R, Rouvinen E, Yla-Herttuala S, Nykanen AI, Lemstrom KB (2016) Platelet-derived growth factor-B protects rat cardiac allografts from ischemia-reperfusion injury. Transplantation 100:303–313
- Vantler M, Karikkineth BC, Naito H, Tiburcy M, Didie M, Nose M, Rosenkranz S, Zimmermann WH (2010) PDGF-BB protects cardiomyocytes from apoptosis and improves contractile function of engineered heart tissue. J Mol Cell Cardiol 48:1316–1323
- Xaymardan M, Tang L, Zagreda L, Pallante B, Zheng J, Chazen JL, Chin A, Duignan I, Nahirney P, Rafii S, Mikawa T, Edelberg JM (2004a) Platelet-derived growth factor-AB promotes the generation of adult bone marrow-derived cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 94:E39– E45
- Xaymardan M, Zheng J, Duignan I, Chin A, Holm JM, Ballard VLT, Edelberg JM (2004b) Senescent impairment in synergistic cytokine pathways that provide rapid cardioprotection in the rat heart. J Exp Med 199:797–804
- Zhao W, Zhao T, Huang V, Chen Y, Ahokas RA, Sun Y (2011) Platelet-derived growth factor involvement in myocardial remodeling following infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51:830–838
- Zheng J, Chin A, Duignan I, Won KH, Hong MK, Edelberg JM (2006) Growth factor-mediated reversal of senescent dysfunction of ischemia-induced cardioprotection. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 290:H525–H530

Zymek P, Bujak M, Chatila K, Cieslak A, Thakker G, Entman ML, Frangogiannis NG (2006) The role of platelet-derived growth factor signaling in healing myocardial infarcts. J Am Coll Cardiol 48:2315–2323

Wnt Signaling in Cardiac Remodeling and Heart Failure

Vasili Stylianidis, Kevin C.M. Hermans, and W. Matthijs Blankesteijn

Contents

1	Intro	duction	372
	1.1	Discovery of Wnt	372
	1.2	Wnt Receptors and Coreceptors	372
	1.3	Signal Transduction Pathways for Wnt	373
	1.4	Wnt Signaling and Cardiovascular Diseases	374
2	Wnt	Signaling in Cardiac Development	375
3	Wnt	Signaling in Cardiac Hypertrophy	376
	3.1	Modulation of Wnt Signaling at the Extracellular Level	377
	3.2	Modulation at the Receptor Complex	377
	3.3	Modulation of Signal Transduction	378
	3.4	Modulation of Gene Transcription	379
4	Wnt	Signaling in Myocardial Infarction	379
	4.1	Modulation of Wnts	381
	4.2	Modulation of Wnt Signaling at the Extracellular Level	381
	4.3	Modulation of the Receptor Complex	382
	4.4	Modulation of Signal Transduction	382
	4.5	Modulation of β-Catenin	383
5	Wnt	Signaling and Heart Failure	383
6	Ther	apeutic Interventions in the Wnt Signaling Pathway	384
	6.1	Agents Affecting the Secretion of Wnt Proteins	384
	6.2	Agents Interfering with Wnt Signaling at the Extracellular Level	385
	6.3	Agents Interfering with the β -Catenin Destruction Complex	386
	6.4	GSK3β Inhibition	386
	6.5	Agents Interfering with the Transcriptional Activity of β-Catenin	387
7	Cond	clusion	387
Re	feren	ces	388

V. Stylianidis • K.C.M. Hermans • W.M. Blankesteijn (🖂)

Department of Pharmacology and Toxicology, Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht (CARIM), Maastricht University, P.O. Box 616, 6200 MD Maastricht, The Netherlands e-mail: wm.blankesteijn@maastrichtuniversity.nl

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_56

Abstract

Wnt signaling plays an essential role during development, but is also activated in diseases as diverse as neurodegeneration, osteoporosis, and cancer. Accumulating evidence demonstrates that Wnt signaling is also activated during cardiac remodeling and heart failure. In this chapter, we will provide a brief overview of Wnt signaling in all its complexity. Then we will discuss the evidence for its involvement in the development of cardiac hypertrophy, the wound healing after myocardial infarction (MI) and heart failure. Finally, we will provide an overview of the drugs that are available to target Wnt signaling at different levels of the signaling cascade and the results of these pharmacological interventions in cardiac disease.

Keywords

Cardiac hypertrophy • Cardiac remodeling • Frizzled • Heart failure • Myocardial infarction • Therapeutic target • Wnt Signaling

1 Introduction

1.1 Discovery of Wnt

In the last three decades, the Wnt/frizzled (Wnt/Fzd) signal transduction pathway has evolved from a study object of developmental biologists into a highly complex signaling system relevant to multiple physiological and pathological processes. After the discovery that the *Drosophila* segment polarity gene Wingless and the mouse proto-oncogene Int-1 were encoding homologous glycoproteins, which explains the name Wnt, 19 family members have been identified in the mammalian genome (Clevers 2006). In the meantime, we have learned that Wnts are glycosylated proteins of 350–400 amino acids in size with a conserved pattern of 22–24 cysteine residues. Moreover, palmitoylation of a conserved serine residue by an enzyme named Porcupine is essential for the secretion of Wnt proteins as well as for its interaction with its target (Janda and Garcia 2015).

1.2 Wnt Receptors and Coreceptors

Two decades ago, it became evident that Wnt proteins can act as ligands for proteins of the frizzled family. This family was known to control tissue patterning during *Drosophila* development and turned out to be structurally related to the large family of seven-transmembrane receptors also referred to as G protein-coupled receptors (GPCRs) (Schulte and Bryja 2007). Crystallization studies of the complex of *X*Wnt8 and the extracellular part of its receptor, Fzd8, have revealed an extraordinary interaction pattern where two extensions of the Wnt protein – referred to as thumb and index finger – can bind to two distinct binding sites on the receptor protein (Janda et al. 2012). Depending on the signaling pathway, the receptor

complex further consists of a member of the low-density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein family (LRP5 or LRP6) that serves as a docking site for the intracellular signaling complex (see below) (Joiner et al. 2013).

1.3 Signal Transduction Pathways for Wnt

The Wnt/Fzd receptor complex can activate diverse signaling pathways (Anastas and Moon 2013). The best-studied pathway is the β -catenin-mediated signaling, generally referred to as the "canonical" Wnt signaling pathway (Fig. 1), in which β -catenin serves as the second messenger. Under resting conditions, β -catenin is phosphorylated by a protein complex called the "destruction complex," preparing it for degradation by the ubiquitin proteasome pathway. The destruction complex



Fig. 1 Schematic representation of the β -catenin-mediated or "canonical" Wnt signaling. In the inactive state (*left*), β -catenin is continuously phosphorylated by the destruction complex consisting of glycogen synthase kinase (GSK)3 β , axin, adenomatous polyposis coli protein (APC), and casein kinase 1 (CK1) which results in its degradation. When activated, a receptor complex between Wnt, frizzled, and the lipoprotein receptor-like protein (LRP) 5 or LRP 6 is formed and the disheveled (Dvl) protein is recruited to the plasma membrane. This leads to the dissociation of the destruction complex and accumulation of β -catenin which, when migrated to the nucleus, complexes with TCF/LEF transcription factors and activates gene expression. *DKK* Dickkopf, an endogenous LRP5/LRP6 inhibitor, *sFRP* soluble frizzled-related protein, a soluble Wnt-binding protein



Non-canonical Wnt/Frizzled signaling

Fig. 2 Overview of the planar cell polarity pathway (**a**) and Wnt/Ca²⁺ signaling pathway (**b**). In the planar cell polarity pathway, the small G proteins RhoA and Rac are activated via disheveled (Dvl), resulting in signaling via the ROCK and Jnk signaling pathways. In the Wnt/Ca²⁺ signaling pathway, signaling is via heterotrimeric G proteins that activate phospholipase C (PLC). This induces a rise in intracellular Ca²⁺, leading to activation of calcineurin, calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CamKII), and protein kinase C (PKC)

consists of adenomatous polyposis coli protein, axin, casein kinase 1, and glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3 β). Upon interaction of Wnt with Fzd, LRP5/LRP6, and the intracellular adaptor protein disheveled (Dvl), the destruction complex is recruited to the plasma membrane and disintegrates, preventing the degradation of β -catenin. The second messenger now can enter the nucleus where it can interact with TCF/LEF transcription factors (MacDonald et al. 2009).

Next to β -catenin-mediated signaling, pathways such as the planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway and Ca²⁺ pathway can be activated by Wnt proteins (Fig. 2). The PCP pathway controls cell orientation relative to neighboring cells and involves the activation of small G proteins Rac and Rho by the receptor complex, followed by the activation of Jnk and Rho-kinase pathways (Simons and Mlodzik 2008). Induction of Ca²⁺-dependent signaling involves the activation of the Wnt pathway results in activation of Ca²⁺-dependent enzymes with known relevance for cardiac (patho)physiology such as calcium/calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CamKII), protein kinase C (PKC), and calcineurin (Kuhl et al. 2000).

1.4 Wnt Signaling and Cardiovascular Diseases

Soon after the discovery of the Wnt proteins, it became evident that Wnt signaling can play an important role in the development of cancer. Mutations in components

of the destruction complex can give rise to defective β -catenin degradation, resulting in nuclear accumulation of this second messenger in the nucleus and uncontrolled activation of gene expression (Clevers 2006). In cardiac diseases, however, a reactivation of the fetal gene expression program is observed. Because Wnt signaling plays an important role in the development of the heart, multiple components of this pathway are reexpressed during cardiac remodeling (Hermans and Blankesteijn 2015). Therefore, an activation of the Wnt pathway through increased expression of its components, rather than through mutations, appears to be the mechanism by which Wnt signaling contributes to the control of cardiac remodeling.

In this chapter, we will briefly describe the role of Wnt signaling in cardiac development. Subsequently, we will review the experimental evidence for the activation of Wnt signaling in cardiac hypertrophy, the wound healing response following myocardial infarction (MI) and heart failure. We will finalize this review by providing an overview of the drugs that are currently available for intervention at different levels of the Wnt signaling pathway and the results that are obtained so far with the application of these drug experimental models of cardiac remodeling.

2 Wnt Signaling in Cardiac Development

During embryonic development, the heart is the first organ to be formed. During gastrulation, three germ layers (ectoderm, mesoderm, and endoderm) are formed; the mammalian heart is derived from the mesoderm. Two heart-forming fields are specified in the mesodermal layer: the first heart field which mainly contributes to the formation of the left ventricle and the second heart field from which the right ventricle and outflow tract are derived (Brade et al. 2006). Many genes that are involved in cardiac development are reexpressed during cardiac remodeling (Hermans and Blankesteijn 2015), so a better understanding of the regulation of the developmental process can help to better understand the signaling pathways activated in the adapting heart.

Both canonical and noncanonical Wnt signaling have been shown to play a role in heart development. Although conflicting results have been published about the function of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway during cardiac specification, timedependent application of Wnt8a in zebra fish embryos provided clarity to the issue. The results of these experiments suggest a biphasic role for Wnt/ β -catenin signaling during cardiogenesis, where stimulation of the pathway before gastrulation results in more cardiomyocytes, whereas stimulation after gastrulation attenuates the number of cardiomyocytes (Pahnke et al. 2016). Canonical Wnt signaling also contributes to the formation of the endocardial cushions, which give rise to internal cardiac structures such as the valves (Hurlstone et al. 2003).

Noncanonical Wnt signaling contributes to cardiac development via Wnt11. Several studies indicate that Wnt11 is required for cardiomyocyte differentiation via PKC and JNK signaling (Eisenberg et al. 1997; Pandur et al. 2002). Wnt11 is sufficient to trigger a contractile phenotype, as also observed by the Wnt/ β -catenin

inhibitor DKK1 (Pandur et al. 2002). However, both DKK1 and Wnt11 are known to be canonical Wnt inhibitors (Maye et al. 2004; Weidinger and Moon 2003), suggesting that this effect is not solely due to noncanonical signaling but by suppression of β -catenin-mediated signaling as well.

In the later stages of the cardiogenesis, Wnt signaling can modulate N-cadherin which plays a vital role in cell adhesion and direct cell-cell contact, both necessary to develop a linear heart tube (Radice et al. 1997). Noncanonical Wnt signaling, in particular Wnt11 through involvement of PKC, has been shown to orchestrate N-cadherin expression. In addition, Wnt signaling regulates N-cadherin expression as well as the strength of N-cadherin-mediated cell adhesion in neonatal cardiomyocytes (Fujio et al. 2004; Toyofuku et al. 2000). Finally, there is evidence that Wnt signaling is involved in later phases of heart formation. The development of the cardiac conduction system was found to be under the control of Wnt signaling, as endothelin-1 treatment of looped chicken hearts shows an upregulation of Wnt7a and Wnt11 (Bond et al. 2003). Taken together, Wnt signaling appears to be an important regulator of cardiac development and therefore has to be under tight control, both in time and space during the different stages of heart formation.

3 Wnt Signaling in Cardiac Hypertrophy

Cardiomyocytes are terminally differentiated cells, and their proliferation rate is inadequate when the heart is confronted with an increased workload or injury (Laflamme and Murry 2011). Therefore cardiomyocytes respond to such challenges mainly by hypertrophic growth. Cardiomyocyte hypertrophy can occur in response to physiological stimuli, such as exercise or pregnancy, but also result from pathological conditions such as hypertension or a valvular defect. Generally, volume overload – resulting from, e.g., valve defects – gives rise to eccentric or outward hypertrophy, whereas pressure overload caused by aortic stenosis or hypertension initially results in concentric or inward hypertrophy. When the underlying cause of concentric hypertrophy is left untreated, this will eventually evolve into eccentric remodeling, generally referred to as dilated cardiomyopathy (Opie et al. 2006).

Physiological and pathological hypertrophy are regulated by distinct signaling pathways. Where physiological hypertrophy is mainly initiated by growth factors such as growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor, the main drivers of pathological hypertrophy are neurohumoral factors such as angiotensin II, endothelin-1, and catecholamines (Rohini et al. 2010). These insights have led to several therapeutic interventions, particularly in the renin–angiotensin system and the beta-adrenergic system, to attenuate the progression of pathological hypertrophy. Unfortunately, these interventions are not sufficient to prevent the development of dilated cardiomyopathy and the concomitant deterioration of cardiac function in a significant fraction of the patients. In an attempt to find new therapeutic targets for cardiac hypertrophy, we studied the changes in gene expression in rats exposed to aortic

banding and observed the increased expression of a rat homologue of the *Drosophila* gene Frizzled, now known as rFzd2 (Blankesteijn et al. 1996). Although by that time the function of the frizzled gene product and its position in the hypertrophic signaling cascade were obscure, it was a first indication that what the pathway now known as the Wnt/Fzd signaling cascade is activated in the pathologically stressed heart.

3.1 Modulation of Wnt Signaling at the Extracellular Level

In several studies the role of Wnt modulators, in particular sFRPs, on cardiac hypertrophy has been addressed. Deletion of the sFRP1 gene resulted in a progressive increase in heart weight/body weight ratio in mice that were left to age for 1 year. This was paralleled by attenuated cardiac function and increased cardiac fibrosis. Elevated β -catenin levels were reported as well as the induction of Wnt/ β -catenin target genes, including the aging and senescence marker Wnt16. A decreased sFRP-1 expression could be confirmed in dilated cardiomyopathy patients, supporting a role for this Wnt modulator in preventing age-related cardiac remodeling (Sklepkiewicz et al. 2015). A protective role in hypertrophy development has also been suggested for sFRP2: in mice in which the plasma membrane calcium ATPase 4 (PMCA4) gene was specifically inactivated in cardiac fibroblasts, the induction of cardiac hypertrophy by aortic banding, a common intervention to induce pressure overload hypertrophy, was attenuated. The authors conclude that this effect was mediated via sFRP2, because treatment with sFRP2 neutralizing antibodies could restore the hypertrophic phenotype (Mohamed et al. 2016). Antihypertrophic effects were also reported for sFRP5, using an in vitro model of angiotensin II-induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy (Jin et al. 2015). Although the experimental approaches in these studies were quite different, the results of these studies suggest an antihypertrophic role for sFRPs.

3.2 Modulation at the Receptor Complex

At present, no studies have been published in which a direct intervention at the level of the frizzled protein has been studied in models of cardiac hypertrophy. However, upon binding of Wnt, several proteins are recruited to the receptor complex. One of these proteins is Dvl and the role of this protein in cardiac hypertrophy has been addressed in several studies. In a study from our research group, we observed that mice lacking the Dvl1 gene showed a delayed onset of cardiac hypertrophy upon thoracic constriction (TAC). This was accompanied by an increased activity of GSK3 β and lower levels of β -catenin, which is indicative for attenuated canonical Wnt signaling (van de Schans et al. 2007). Malekar et al. reported the upregulated expression of Dvl1 in rats exposed to TAC. Moreover, these researchers also studied the effect of cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of Dvl1 in mice and observed severe cardiac hypertrophy at three months of age

without any hypertrophy-inducing intervention. This phenotype evolved into overt cardiomyopathy and premature death before 6 months of age. Interestingly, the authors showed an upregulation of both canonical and noncanonical signaling in these mice, suggesting that multiple Wnt signaling pathways contribute to the phenotype (Malekar et al. 2010).

The activity of Dvl proteins can be regulated by interacting with proteins from the Dapper family. Although Dapper proteins generally are considered to inhibit Wnt signaling, Hagenmueller et al. showed that overexpression of Dapper-1 activates canonical Wnt signaling through Dvl2 rather than Dvl1 or Dvl3 (Hagenmueller et al. 2013). This resulted in increased levels of β -catenin, mediating pro-hypertrophic gene expression. On the other hand, the same authors showed that Dapper-1 also plays a role in the induction of cardiac hypertrophy via noncanonical Wnt signaling as induced by Wnt5a overexpression (Hagenmueller et al. 2014). All in all, Dvl proteins appear to be central regulators of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by controlling both canonical and noncanonical Wnt signaling.

3.3 Modulation of Signal Transduction

A key regulator in the canonical Wnt signaling is the serine-threonine kinase GSK3 β , an enzyme that phosphorylates the second messenger β -catenin, targeting it toward degradation. GSK3^β can also phosphorylate other transcription factors including NFAT, thereby preventing its nuclear translocation and activation of the hypertrophic gene expression (Sugden et al. 2008). Exposure of cardiomyocytes to hypertrophic stimuli such as endothelin-1 or insulin-like growth factor 1 results in a rapid inactivation of GSK3 β by phosphorylation at its serine 9 residue. A similar inhibition of GSK3 β activity was observed in rats as early as 4 h after aortic banding. Overexpression of a GSK3ß mutant in which Serine 9 is replaced by alanine prevented the induction of hypertrophy by endothelin-1 and phenylephrine in cultured cardiomyocytes (Haq et al. 2000). Moreover, overexpression of this mutant in mice resulted in an attenuated hypertrophic response to pressure overload and β -adrenergic stimulation (Antos et al. 2002). On the other hand, inhibition of GSK3β by administration of LiCl accelerated the development of pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy in rats (Tateishi et al. 2010). However, chronic GSK3 inhibition in obesity-induced prediabetic rats using the more specific GSK3 inhibitor CHIR118637 resulted in slight pro-hypertrophic effect (Huisamen et al. 2016), a result that cannot easily be reconciled with the previously mentioned studies. Although GSK3ß activation is generally thought to be antihypertrophic, it is also associated with increased apoptosis and fibrosis and decreased contractility of the heart. Therefore, it remains questionable whether interventions at the level of this enzyme can form a viable therapeutic intervention for the hypertrophic heart (Sugden et al. 2008).

3.4 Modulation of Gene Transcription

Activation of the canonical branch of Wnt signaling results in an accumulation of β -catenin, which – when translocated to the nucleus – can serve as a transcription factor for multiple hypertrophy-related genes. In cultured cardiomyocytes, overexpression of β -catenin could induce hypertrophy (Haq et al. 2003), whereas depletion of β -catenin attenuated the hypertrophic response to phenylephrine (Zhang et al. 2009). Exposure to hypertrophic stimuli such as endothelin-1 or phenylephrine also stabilized β -catenin in an in vivo model of cardiac hypertrophy, albeit that the inactivation of GSK3 β in these cases is dependent on protein kinase B rather than on Wnt/frizzled signaling (Haq et al. 2003). On the other hand, TAC-induced increase in heart weight/body weight ratio was attenuated in mice harboring cardiomyocyte-specific β -catenin haploinsufficiency (Qu et al. 2007). Opposite results were reported by Baurand et al., who observed an abolished hypertrophic response to angiotensin II in mice with stabilized cardiac β -catenin but a normal hypertrophic response in β -catenin-depleted hearts (Baurand et al. 2007). The reason for this deviant result is not clear.

4 Wnt Signaling in Myocardial Infarction

Myocardial infarction (MI) is the result of ischemia induced by interrupted blood flow through a branch of the coronary arteries, depriving the cardiomyocytes that depend on this artery for their blood supply from oxygen and nutrients. Prolonged ischemia causes cardiomyocyte death, leading to a wound healing response in the affected areas of the heart. This wound healing consists of different phases: inflammation, the formation of granulation tissue, and the maturation phase in which a scar is formed. The inflammation is triggered by the release of chemokines and cytokines from the damaged cardiomyocytes and starts with the invasion of the infarct area with polymorphonuclear neutrophils (PMNs) starting at 12–16 h post-MI, followed by macrophages (starting at 3 days post-MI). During the inflammatory phase, the infarct area is cleared from necrotic debris (Cleutjens et al. 1999). Granulation tissue starts to form in the infarct area around 1 week after MI and consists of fibroblasts, newly formed blood vessels, and loosely organized extracellular matrix. Under the influence of stretch and cytokines such as transforming growth factor- β (TGF β), the fibroblasts can differentiate into myofibroblasts, a derivative of fibroblasts expressing α -smooth muscle actin. Therefore, myofibroblasts have both contractile and matrix-secreting properties, making them very suitable to produce a compact and strong replacement for the lost cardiomyocytes (van den Borne et al. 2010). Eventually, the number of cells in the infarct area decreases, and the extracellular matrix will mature by extensive cross-linking, resulting in the formation of a stable scar (Daskalopoulos et al. 2012).

There is increasing evidence that Wnt signaling is activated in multiple disease mechanisms activated during the wound healing process following MI. Using a mouse model of MI in which Wnt signaling could be visualized by LacZ expression under Axin-2 promoter, Oerlemans et al. showed activation of Wnt signaling in many cell types including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, and progenitor cells. The activation pattern followed the expression pattern of multiple Wnt/Fzd signaling components, with an increase in the first week after MI and a gradual decrease after the second week. Activated Wnt signaling was also observed in the cardiomyocytes in the border zone (Oerlemans et al. 2010). Similar results were obtained in mice in which the LacZ expression was under the control of a TCF/LEF promoter (Aisagbonhi et al. 2011). These studies show that Wnt signaling is activated in the inflammation, neovascularization, and fibrosis that occur during infarct healing.

Wnt signaling plays a role in inflammatory cell differentiation (Staal et al. 2008). Wnt5a has been identified as a monocyte-derived factor with autocrine and paracrine functions. Its expression is upregulated in human mononuclear cells upon microbial activation of Toll-like receptors, and, via interaction with Fzd5, Wnt5a induces the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, and macrophage inflammatory protein-1. Interestingly, this increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines is the result of activation of noncanonical Wnt signaling via CAMKII and NFAT (Pereira et al. 2008; Blumenthal et al. 2006). Because after MI the innate immune system is activated via Toll-like receptor stimulation (Timmers et al. 2008), a role for Wnt signaling, presumably mediated by Wnt5a, can be anticipated.

The restoration of the blood supply to the infarct area is an essential step in the wound healing process that follows MI. During the neovascularization of the infarct area, sprouts of existing blood vessels are formed by specialized endothelial cells. In a study from our research group, the accumulation of β -catenin in endothelial cells of newly formed blood vessels in the infarct area was observed, suggesting the activation of canonical Wnt signaling in these cells (Blankesteijn et al. 2000). In the meantime, many aspects of the role of Wnt signaling in angiogenesis and neovascularization have been studied. A detailed description would be beyond the scope of this article so we refer to review articles on this subject (Dejana 2010; Blankesteijn and Hermans 2015).

Cardiac fibrosis is a commonly observed process in most cardiac pathologies, including the remodeling process following MI (Daskalopoulos et al. 2012). Three to five days after infarction, a decline of inflammatory signals and a concomitant upregulation of pro-fibrotic signals mark the onset of the reparative phase of the wound healing after MI (Francis Stuart et al. 2016). This phase is characterized by the invasion of the infarct area with fibroblasts. Although these fibroblasts may originate from different sources, a common feature is their differentiation toward a contractile phenotype called myofibroblast during the course of the wound healing process. The cytokine TGF β is known to play a key role in this differentiation process (Hermans et al. 2016). There is increasing evidence that Wnt signaling acts in concert with TGF β signaling in myofibroblast differentiation. Using cultured mouse fibroblasts, Carthy et al. could demonstrate that administration of Wnt3a induced differentiation toward a myofibroblast phenotype by overexpressing TGF β in a β -catenin-dependent manner. Recently, a more complex interaction between Wnt and TGF β signaling was reported by Blyszczuk and colleagues using a mouse

model of autoimmune myocarditis. They showed that activation of Wnt signaling induces the release of TGF β by a β -catenin-dependent mechanism but that TGF β in its turn was capable to stimulate Wnt secretion. These findings suggest that the pathways are strongly intertwined, opening new options for therapeutic intervention (Blyszczuk et al. 2016).

4.1 Modulation of Wnts

The expression of members of the Wnt protein family has been determined in different studies. In all of them, overexpression of Wnt10b was detected (Aisagbonhi et al. 2011; Barandon et al. 2003; Paik et al. 2015), and in some studies, other members, like Wnt2, Wnt4, and Wnt11, were found to be upregulated, whereas the downregulation of Wnt7b was observed. Injection of recombinant Wnt3a protein into the border zone of the infarct area resulted in attenuated cardiac regeneration and an impaired cardiac function due to a decreased renewal of the cardiac side population via an insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-3-mediated mechanism (Oikonomopoulos et al. 2011). In contrast, using mice with cardiomyocyte-specific overexpression of Wnt10b, Paik et al. showed an improved cardiac repair after MI with increased arteriole formation and less fibrosis compared to wild types (Paik et al. 2015). Overexpression of Wnt11 via AAV9mediated gene transfer suppressed the inflammatory response after infarction, reduced fibrosis, improved cardiac function, and prevented mortality (Morishita et al. 2016). These results clearly illustrate the diverse effects of the different members of the Wnt family on the wound healing process post-MI and call for a more detailed analysis of the mode of action of the Wnts.

4.2 Modulation of Wnt Signaling at the Extracellular Level

The role of sFRPs in infarct healing has been studied by different research groups. FrzA, also known as sFRP1, but also sFPR2 and SFRP4 have been reported to be upregulated after MI. The typical expression pattern for all sFPRs is that they reach a peak at 3–7 days post-MI, followed by a gradual decline in the expression to baseline at 14–28 days (Barandon et al. 2003; Kobayashi et al. 2009; He et al. 2010; Matsushima et al. 2010; Askevold et al. 2014). Increased circulating levels of sFRP3 were detected in heart failure patients, and high sFRP3 levels were associated with increased cardiovascular mortality (Askevold et al. 2014). Moreover, a genetic variant in the sFRP1 gene (rs7832767 C > T) was found to be associated with an increase in risk to develop MI (Tao et al. 2016).

In murine models of MI, genetic modulation of the expression of different sFRPs has been reported to affect the wound healing after MI. General overexpression of sFRP1 in mice reduced infarct size and improved cardiac function after MI, with reduced myocyte apoptosis and leukocyte infiltration and increased formation of capillaries and extracellular matrix (Barandon et al. 2003). The anti-inflammatory

effect could be reproduced by transplantation of bone marrow cells overexpressing sFRP1 into wild-type mice that subsequently were subjected to MI (Barandon et al. 2011). Protective effects of sFRP2 and sFRP4 were described by Mirotsou et al. and Matsushima et al., who injected this protein into the infarct area of rats and observed reduced ventricular fibrosis and attenuated adverse remodeling of the left ventricle at 4 weeks post-MI (Matsushima et al. 2010; Mirotsou et al. 2007). Similar beneficial effects on infarct healing were reported in sFRP2 knockout mice, although this effect was attributed to the procollagen C proteinase-activating effect of this sFRP rather than its interference with Wnt signaling (Kobayashi et al. 2009). Recently, the role of sFRP5 in response to cardiac ischemia/reperfusion was studied using sFRP5 knockout mice. These mice showed larger infarcts with stronger inflammatory infiltrates, more cardiomyocyte apoptosis, and reduced cardiac function (Nakamura et al. 2016). Therefore, the general picture that emerges is that most of the sFRPs have a protective effect in the wound healing process following MI, suggesting that an inhibition of Wnt signaling is beneficial for this process.

4.3 Modulation of the Receptor Complex

The first indication of the activation of Wnt/Fzd signaling in the wound healing process after MI came from a study from our research group, where the expression of Fzd2 was studied in infarcted rat hearts. The Fzd2 expression gradually increased till day 7 and then declined to baseline levels at day 28 post-MI. Fzd2 expression co-localized with myofibroblasts migrating into the infarct area, suggestive for a role in migration and alignment (Blankesteijn et al. 1997). A similar expression pattern has been observed for the Dvl1 expression in the infarcted heart (Chen et al. 2004). In the meantime, the overexpression of multiple Fzds, including Fzd1, Fzd2, Fzd5, and Fzd10, and the downregulation of Fzd8 expression have been confirmed by others (Barandon et al. 2003). At present, no studies have been published in which the effect of interventions in these genes on infarct healing was assessed. Injection of DKK2, an antagonist of Wnt signaling that binds to the coreceptor LRP5/LRP6, was shown to be beneficial for infarct healing in a rat model of cardiac ischemia/reperfusion, as it reduced infarct size at 1 week post-MI and improved function at 3 weeks post-MI (Min et al. 2011).

4.4 Modulation of Signal Transduction

No interventions have been reported that specifically target the Wnt signaling complex in non-cardiomyocytes in the infarct area. However, cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of GSK3 β resulted in an attenuated ventricular dilation and an improved cardiac function at 8 weeks post-MI. This effect could mainly be attributed to an increased hypertrophic response of the cardiomyocytes remote from the infarct, rather than an effect on the wound healing in the infarct area (Woulfe et al. 2010).

4.5 Modulation of β-Catenin

In the canonical Wnt signaling pathway, β -catenin acts as a second messenger molecule that – when migrated into the nucleus – can activate the transcription of genes relevant for the cardiac remodeling process. In several studies, the effect of modulation of β -catenin on the wound healing after MI was addressed. Overexpression of a constitutively active form of β -catenin by adenoviral transduction resulted in increased myofibroblast differentiation and proliferation in the infarct area, combined with antiapoptotic and pro-hypertrophic responses in cardiomyocytes in the border zone (Hahn et al. 2006). Knocking out β -catenin in epicardial cells resulted in attenuated fibroblast generation due to a blockade of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, which is dependent on Wnt1/ β -catenin signaling. This indicates that canonical Wnt signaling is necessary for the fibrotic response following MI (Duan et al. 2012). However, Zelarayan et al. reported opposite results in a model of cardiomyocyte-specific β -catenin depletion. In this model, beneficial effects on infarct healing were observed, with improved function, less dilatation, and the presence of cardiac progenitor cells (Zelarayan et al. 2008). The reason behind these contradictory findings still has to be resolved, but it raises doubt about the therapeutic potential of targeting Wnt signaling at the level of β-catenin.

5 Wnt Signaling and Heart Failure

Many cardiovascular conditions, including cardiac hypertrophy and MI, can lead to the development of heart failure. In several studies addressing heart failure in humans, a link with increased levels of sFRPs was observed. Increased mRNA levels of sFRP3 and sFRP4, but not sFRP1 and sFRP2, were observed in failing human hearts and were related to decreased β-catenin levels (Schumann et al. 2000). The increased expression of sFRP3 was recently confirmed by Askevold and colleagues, who also reported that the increased level of sFRP3 in serum of heart failure patients was associated with cardiovascular mortality (Askevold et al. 2014). These observations suggest that Wnt signaling is inhibited in heart failure by the expression of the endogenous Wnt antagonists. It has to be noted, however, that the correlation between sFRP3 levels and the occurrence of a cardiovascular event just failed to reach statistical significance in a 1-year followup of a group of 142 heart failure patients (Motiwala et al. 2014). In contrast, evidence for an activation of canonical Wnt signaling in human as well as murine failing hearts was recently published by Hou et al. In this study, nuclear accumulation of β -catenin and activation of the transcription factor TCF7L2 resulted in the increased expression of c-Myc, a Wnt target gene expressed during cardiac stress (Hou et al. 2016).

6 Therapeutic Interventions in the Wnt Signaling Pathway

Aberrant Wnt signaling has not only been observed in cardiovascular diseases but also in many other conditions such as osteoporosis (Joiner et al. 2013), neurodegenerative diseases (Libro et al. 2016), and cancer (Anastas and Moon 2013). This has generated significant interest in the development of therapeutic agents, preferably small molecules that allow interventions in this pathway in order to modulate the disease process (Daskalopoulos et al. 2013). Due to the complexity of the pathway, interventions can be developed that target the signal transduction cascade at different levels, as depicted in Fig. 3. Here, we will describe the different groups of therapeutic agents that have been developed and subsequently discuss their potential application in the therapy of cardiac remodeling and heart failure.

6.1 Agents Affecting the Secretion of Wnt Proteins

In order to be biologically active, Wnt proteins are extensively modified by palmitoylation and glycosylation. A member of the O-acyltransferases called porcupine is responsible for the palmitoylation of Wnt in the endoplasmic reticulum; this modification is essential for the excretion of Wnt from the cell but also for its interaction with the cysteine-rich domain of Fzds (Langton et al. 2016). Two compounds have been described that can inhibit porcupine, thereby reducing the



Fig. 3 Sites of pharmacological modulation of Wnt/frizzled signaling. The molecular targets of the drugs mentioned in the chapter are schematically represented in this figure

amount of biologically active Wnt that is available. The first one, IWP-2, has been shown to attenuate the improvement of cardiac conduction induced by transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells in cardiac tissue, suggesting a Wnt-dependent paracrine induction of connexin 43 expression (Mureli et al. 2013). For a second porcupine inhibitor, LGK974, no studies have been published in which the compound was tested in cardiac remodeling.

6.2 Agents Interfering with Wnt Signaling at the Extracellular Level

Wnt signaling activity can be regulated by endogenous modulators such as sFRPs. Choosing a similar approach, a Wnt scavenger (OMP-54 F28/ipafricept) was developed consisting of the cysteine-rich domain of Fzd8 fused to the human immunoglobulin Fc domain. Moreover, vantictumab (OMP-18R5), an antibody directed against Fzd7 but having cross-reactivity with Fzd1, Fzd2, Fzd5, and Fzd8, and a selective Fzd10 monoclonal antibody (OTSA101) were developed (Blagodatski et al. 2014). These compounds are currently in clinical trials for cancer therapy but, to our knowledge, have not been tested in cardiovascular diseases.

An alternative approach to modulate Wnt signaling at the level of the receptor complex is by using peptide fragments of Wnt proteins. The research team led by Andersson was the first to demonstrate that this approach can yield both a mimetic [Foxy-5 (Safholm et al. 2006)] and an inhibitor [Box5 (Jenei et al. 2009)] of Wnt5a. These compounds were shown to be effective in models of cancer cell migration but to date no studies are published on applications in the cardiovascular field. Following similar lines, our research group tested several Wnt5a-derived peptides for interference with the Wnt3a-mediated activation of canonical Wnt signaling. This resulted in the identification of UM206, an 11-amino acid peptide containing two cysteine residues. Administration of UM206 to mice in which MI was induced by permanent ligation of the left ascending coronary artery resulted in reduced infarct expansion, increased infarct thickness, and higher myofibroblast numbers in the infarct area. This was accompanied by a marked reduction in mortality due to heart failure, decreased lung weight, and improved cardiac function (Laeremans et al. 2011). Similar improvements in infarct healing were observed when UM206 was administered to a swine model of MI in which myocardial injury was induced by a temporary occlusion of the left circumflex coronary artery followed by reperfusion. Continuous infusion of UM206 for 5 weeks resulted in a significant decrease in infarct mass and halting of the adverse remodeling compared to saline-infused swine. However, this was accompanied by a reduction rather than an increase in myofibroblasts in the infarct area (Uitterdijk et al. 2016).

6.3 Agents Interfering with the β-Catenin Destruction Complex

As discussed before, the cellular β -catenin content is tightly regulated by a protein complex generally referred to as the β -catenin destruction complex. Inhibitors for several components of the destruction complex have been described, including the Dvl inhibitors NSC668036, J01-017a, and 3298-8625, but none of these have been tested in the context of cardiac remodeling. Tankyrase-1 and tankyrase-2 are members of the poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) family and can stimulate the degradation of Axin (Riffell et al. 2012). Multiple tankyrase inhibitors have been described, including IWR-1 and XAV939. These two compounds can inhibit β -catenin-mediated Wnt signaling in stem cells, thereby inducing differentiation toward a cardiomyocyte phenotype in embryonic (Wang et al. 2011) or pluripotent (Weng et al. 2014) stem cells.

Pyrvinium, an FDA-registered antihelminthic compound which – next to other mechanisms – interferes with the β -catenin destruction complex by targeting casein kinase 1 α , has been tested in infarct healing in mice in two independent studies. Saraswati and colleagues reported that a single intramyocardial injection of pyrvinium after induction of MI by coronary artery ligation reduced adverse cardiac remodeling and induced myocyte proliferation in the peri-infarct and remote areas, but did not improve cardiac function (Saraswati et al. 2010). Murakoshi et al. reported that administration of pyrvinium via oral gavage for 14 days post-MI reduced the size of the scar and improved cardiac contractility in a mouse model of MI (Murakoshi et al. 2013). These results underscore that inhibition of canonical Wnt signaling after MI has beneficial effects on the adverse cardiac remodeling by interfering with fibroblast function and stem cell differentiation.

6.4 GSK3 β Inhibition

Several drugs that are frequently used in the clinic have been shown to act as inhibitors of GSK3 β . These drugs include LiCl and valproic acid which are commonly used to treat bipolar disorders. However, as these drugs are likely to have multiple targets besides GSK3 β , they are not suitable to study the role of this particular enzyme in cardiac remodeling. In the meantime, more specific inhibitors of GSK3 β have been introduced, including the compound 6-BIO. This compound was shown to induce proliferation of adult rat cardiomyocytes by activation of canonical Wnt signaling (Tseng et al. 2006). However, as this compound lacks selectivity between GSK3 α and GSK3 β , two GSK3 isoforms with distinct effects on cardiomyocytes, further research with either isoform-specific antibodies or RNAi-interventions is needed to confirm the role of GSK3 β in this context (Lal et al. 2015).

6.5 Agents Interfering with the Transcriptional Activity of β-Catenin

In the nucleus, β -catenin forms a complex with transcription factors from the TCF/LEF family and coactivators such as P300, CBP, and Bcl-9. In many forms of cancer, a mutation in the β -catenin destruction complex induces uncontrolled activation of the signaling transduction pathway, leading to high levels of β -catenin in the nucleus. Therefore, much effort has been made in the field of cancer therapeutics to develop agents that interfere with the interaction of β -catenin and its nuclear partners, in order to inhibit the transcription of Wnt target genes. These target genes play a stimulating role in cell proliferation and migration, thereby contributing to tumor development (Blagodatski et al. 2014).

Because the interaction of β -catenin with TCF/LEF is critical for activation of the transcription of target genes, several compounds (e.g., PNU-74654; iCRT3, iCRT5, and iCRT14; and ethacrynic acid) have been identified that block this interaction (Zhang and Hao 2015). However, to our knowledge, none of these compounds have been tested in a context of adverse cardiac remodeling or heart failure. Inhibition of the β -catenin-mediated gene transcription can also be achieved by targeting the cofactors that form the transcription complex. The small molecule ICG-001, also named PRI-724, inhibits Wnt-induced gene transcription by blocking the interaction between β -catenin and the coactivator CREB-binding protein (CBP). ICG-001 was tested in a rat model of MI, where it was administered during the first 10 days after induction of the infarct. This treatment resulted in a significant improvement of cardiac function at 4 weeks post-MI. This was accompanied by a trend toward reduced infarct expansion and increased expression of genes involved in cardiac regeneration, such as Gdfl5, kit, and Sdf1, in epicardial cells. The authors conclude that inhibition of β -catenin-mediated Wnt signaling may hold promise to improve infarct healing by stimulating epicardial stem cell differentiation (Sasaki et al. 2013). Interestingly, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs such as sulindac and celecoxib can attenuate β -catenin-mediated gene transcription too. Although the precise mode of action is unclear, it appears to be independent from cyclooxygenase inhibition which is the main mode of action of this class of drugs (Gurpinar et al. 2014), and it is unclear how this pleiotropic effect can affect cardiac remodeling.

7 Conclusion

Over the last years, evidence has accumulated that Wnt signaling plays an important role in the control of cardiac development and in the adaptive response of the heart to different challenges. Many studies have been published in which the effects of interventions in Wnt signaling on cardiac remodeling were addressed. However, it has to be noted that in the vast majority of these studies, genetic interventions (either overexpression or inactivation of genes) have been used. Only in a minority of the studies, pharmacological interventions have been used, although from a translational perspective this approach would be favorable. Because of the importance of Wnt signaling in other disease areas, including cancer and bone metabolism disorders, many drugs have been developed that allow interventions at different levels of the signal transduction cascade. Because in cardiac diseases dysregulations rather than mutations in the Wnt signaling pathway are thought to contribute to the maladaptive response, these drugs can facilitate the next step in the exploration of Wnt signaling as a novel therapeutic target for cardiac diseases and help to identify the levels in the signaling cascade that are most suitable for intervention.

References

- Aisagbonhi O, Rai M, Ryzhov S, Atria N, Feoktistov I, Hatzopoulos AK (2011) Experimental myocardial infarction triggers canonical Wnt signaling and endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Dis Model Mech 4(4):469–483
- Anastas JN, Moon RT (2013) WNT signalling pathways as therapeutic targets in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 13(1):11–26
- Antos CL, McKinsey TA, Frey N, Kutschke W, McAnally J, Shelton JM et al (2002) Activated glycogen synthase-3 beta suppresses cardiac hypertrophy in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99 (2):907–912
- Askevold ET, Aukrust P, Nymo SH, Lunde IG, Kaasboll OJ, Aakhus S et al (2014) The cardiokine secreted Frizzled-related protein 3, a modulator of Wnt signalling, in clinical and experimental heart failure. J Intern Med 275(6):621–630
- Barandon L, Couffinhal T, Ezan J, Dufourcq P, Costet P, Alzieu P et al (2003) Reduction of infarct size and prevention of cardiac rupture in transgenic mice overexpressing FrzA. Circulation 108 (18):2282–2289
- Barandon L, Casassus F, Leroux L, Moreau C, Allieres C, Lamaziere JM et al (2011) Secreted frizzled-related protein-1 improves postinfarction scar formation through a modulation of inflammatory response. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 31(11):e80–e87
- Baurand A, Zelarayan L, Betney R, Gehrke C, Dunger S, Noack C et al (2007) Beta-catenin downregulation is required for adaptive cardiac remodeling. Circ Res 100(9):1353–1362
- Blagodatski A, Poteryaev D, Katanaev VL (2014) Targeting the Wnt pathways for therapies. Mol Cell Ther 2:28
- Blankesteijn WM, Hermans KC (2015) Wnt signaling in atherosclerosis. Eur J Pharmacol 763:122-130
- Blankesteijn WM, Essers-Janssen YPG, Ulrich MMW, Smits JFM (1996) Increased expression of a homologue of Drosophila tissue polarity gene 'frizzled' in left ventricular hypertrophy in the rat, as determined by subtractive hybridization. J Mol Cell Cardiol 28:1187–1191
- Blankesteijn WM, Essers-Janssen YP, Verluyten MJ, Daemen MJ, Smits JF (1997) A homologue of Drosophila tissue polarity gene frizzled is expressed in migrating myofibroblasts in the infarcted rat heart. Nat Med 3(5):541–544
- Blankesteijn WM, van Gijn ME, Essers-Janssen YPG, Daemen MJAP, Smits JFM (2000) Betacatenin, an inducer of uncontrolled cell proliferation and migration in malignancies, is localized in the cytoplasm of vascular endothelial cells during neovascularization after myocardial infarction. Am J Pathol 157:877–883
- Blumenthal A, Ehlers S, Lauber J, Buer J, Lange C, Goldmann T et al (2006) The Wingless homolog WNT5A and its receptor Frizzled-5 regulate inflammatory responses of human mononuclear cells induced by microbial stimulation. Blood 108(3):965–973
- Blyszczuk P, Muller-Edenborn B, Valenta T, Osto E, Stellato M, Behnke S et al (2016) Transforming growth factor-beta-dependent Wnt secretion controls myofibroblast formation

and myocardial fibrosis progression in experimental autoimmune myocarditis. Eur Heart J. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw116

- Bond J, Sedmera D, Jourdan J, Zhang Y, Eisenberg CA, Eisenberg LM et al (2003) Wnt11 and Wnt7a are up-regulated in association with differentiation of cardiac conduction cells in vitro and in vivo. Dev Dyn 227(4):536–543
- Brade T, Manner J, Kuhl M (2006) The role of Wnt signalling in cardiac development and tissue remodelling in the mature heart. Cardiovasc Res 72(2):198–209
- Chen L, Wu Q, Guo F, Xia B, Zuo J (2004) Expression of Dishevelled-1 in wound healing after acute myocardial infarction: possible involvement in myofibroblast proliferation and migration. J Cell Mol Med 8(2):257–264
- Cleutjens JPM, Blankesteijn WM, Daemen MJAP, Smits JFM (1999) The infarcted myocardium: simply dead tissue or a lively target for therapeutic interventions. Cardiovasc Res 44:232–241
- Clevers H (2006) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell 127(3):469-480
- Daskalopoulos EP, Janssen BJ, Blankesteijn WM (2012) Myofibroblasts in the infarct area: concepts and challenges. Microsc Microanal 18(1):35–49
- Daskalopoulos EP, Hermans KC, Janssen BJ, Matthijs BW (2013) Targeting the Wnt/frizzled signaling pathway after myocardial infarction: a new tool in the therapeutic toolbox? Trends Cardiovasc Med 23(4):121–127
- Dejana E (2010) The role of wnt signaling in physiological and pathological angiogenesis. Circ Res 107(8):943–952
- Duan J, Gherghe C, Liu D, Hamlett E, Srikantha L, Rodgers L et al (2012) Wnt1/betacatenin injury response activates the epicardium and cardiac fibroblasts to promote cardiac repair. EMBO J 31(2):429–442
- Eisenberg CA, Gourdie RG, Eisenberg LM (1997) Wnt-11 is expressed in early avian mesoderm and required for the differentiation of the quail mesoderm cell line QCE-6. Development 124 (2):525–536
- Francis Stuart SD, De Jesus NM, Lindsey ML, Ripplinger CM (2016) The crossroads of inflammation, fibrosis, and arrhythmia following myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 91:114–122
- Fujio Y, Matsuda T, Oshima Y, Maeda M, Mohri T, Ito T et al (2004) Signals through gp130 upregulate Wnt5a and contribute to cell adhesion in cardiac myocytes. FEBS Lett 573 (1–3):202–206
- Gurpinar E, Grizzle WE, Piazza GA (2014) NSAIDs inhibit tumorigenesis, but how? Clin Cancer Res 20(5):1104–1113
- Hagenmueller M, Riffel JH, Bernhold E, Fan J, Zhang M, Ochs M et al (2013) Dapper-1 induces myocardial remodeling through activation of canonical Wnt signaling in cardiomyocytes. Hypertension 61(6):1177–1183
- Hagenmueller M, Riffel JH, Bernhold E, Fan J, Katus HA, Hardt SE (2014) Dapper-1 is essential for Wnt5a induced cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by regulating the Wnt/PCP pathway. FEBS Lett 588(14):2230–2237
- Hahn JY, Cho HJ, Bae JW, Yuk HS, Kim KI, Park KW et al (2006) Beta-catenin overexpression reduces myocardial infarct size through differential effects on cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 281(41):30979–30989
- Haq S, Choukroun G, Kang ZB, Ranu H, Matsui T, Rosenzweig A et al (2000) Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta is a negative regulator of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. J Cell Biol 151:117–129
- Haq S, Michael A, Andreucci M, Bhattacharya K, Dotto P, Walters B et al (2003) Stabilization of beta-catenin by a Wnt-independent mechanism regulates cardiomyocyte growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100(8):4610–4615
- He W, Zhang L, Ni A, Zhang Z, Mirotsou M, Mao L et al (2010) Exogenously administered secreted frizzled related protein 2 (Sfrp2) reduces fibrosis and improves cardiac function in a rat model of myocardial infarction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107(49):21110–21115
- Hermans KC, Blankesteijn WM (2015) Wnt signaling in cardiac disease. Compr Physiol 5 (3):1183–11209

- Hermans KC, Daskalopoulos EP, Blankesteijn WM (2016) The Janus face of myofibroblasts in the remodeling heart. J Mol Cell Cardiol 91:35–41
- Hou N, Ye B, Li X, Margulies KB, Xu H, Wang X, et al (2016) Transcription factor 7-like 2 mediates canonical Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and c-Myc upregulation in heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 9(6). pii:e003010. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003010
- Huisamen B, Hafver TL, Lumkwana D, Lochner A (2016) The impact of chronic glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibition on remodeling of normal and Pre-diabetic Rat hearts. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 30(3):237–246, Sponsored by the International Society of Cardiovascular Pharmacotherapy
- Hurlstone AF, Haramis AP, Wienholds E, Begthel H, Korving J, Van Eeden F et al (2003) The Wnt/beta-catenin pathway regulates cardiac valve formation. Nature 425(6958):633–637
- Janda CY, Garcia KC (2015) Wnt acylation and its functional implication in Wnt signalling regulation. Biochem Soc Trans 43(2):211–216
- Janda CY, Waghray D, Levin AM, Thomas C, Garcia KC (2012) Structural basis of Wnt recognition by Frizzled. Science 337(6090):59–64
- Jenei V, Sherwood V, Howlin J, Linnskog R, Safholm A, Axelsson L et al (2009) A tbutyloxycarbonyl-modified Wnt5a-derived hexapeptide functions as a potent antagonist of Wnt5a-dependent melanoma cell invasion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106(46):19473–19478
- Jin X, Guo B, Yan J, Yang R, Chang L, Wang Y et al (2015) Angiotensin II increases secreted frizzled- elated protein 5 (sFRP5) expression through AT1 receptor/Rho/ROCK1/JNK signaling in cardiomyocytes. Mol Cell Biochem 408(1–2):215–222
- Joiner DM, Ke J, Zhong Z, Xu HE, Williams BO (2013) LRP5 and LRP6 in development and disease. Trends Endocrinol Metab 24(1):31–39
- Kobayashi K, Luo M, Zhang Y, Wilkes DC, Ge G, Grieskamp T et al (2009) Secreted Frizzledrelated protein 2 is a procollagen C proteinase enhancer with a role in fibrosis associated with myocardial infarction. Nat Cell Biol 11(1):46–55
- Kuhl M, Sheldahl LC, Park M, Miller JR, Moon RT (2000) The Wnt/Ca2+ pathway: a new vertebrate Wnt signaling pathway takes shape. Trends Genet 16:279–283
- Laeremans H, Hackeng TM, van Zandvoort MA, Thijssen VL, Janssen BJ, Ottenheijm HC et al (2011) Blocking of frizzled signaling with a homologous peptide fragment of wnt3a/ wnt5a reduces infarct expansion and prevents the development of heart failure after myocardial infarction. Circulation 124(15):1626–1635
- Laflamme MA, Murry CE (2011) Heart regeneration. Nature 473(7347):326-335
- Lal H, Ahmad F, Woodgett J, Force T (2015) The GSK-3 family as therapeutic target for myocardial diseases. Circ Res 116(1):138-149
- Langton PF, Kakugawa S, Vincent JP (2016) Making, exporting, and modulating Wnts. Trends Cell Biol. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2016.05.011
- Libro R, Bramanti P, Mazzon E (2016) The role of the Wnt canonical signaling in neurodegenerative diseases. Life Sci 158:78–88
- MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X (2009) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell 17(1):9–26
- Malekar P, Hagenmueller M, Anyanwu A, Buss S, Streit MR, Weiss CS et al (2010) Wnt signaling is critical for maladaptive cardiac hypertrophy and accelerates myocardial remodeling. Hypertension 55(4):939–945
- Matsushima K, Suyama T, Takenaka C, Nishishita N, Ikeda K, Ikada Y et al (2010) Secreted frizzled related protein 4 reduces fibrosis scar size and ameliorates cardiac function after ischemic injury. Tissue Eng Part A 16(11):3329–3341
- Maye P, Zheng J, Li L, Wu D (2004) Multiple mechanisms for Wnt11-mediated repression of the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. J Biol Chem 279(23):24659–24665
- Min JK, Park H, Choi HJ, Kim Y, Pyun BJ, Agrawal V et al (2011) The WNT antagonist Dickkopf2 promotes angiogenesis in rodent and human endothelial cells. J Clin Invest 121 (5):1882–1893

- Mirotsou M, Zhang Z, Deb A, Zhang L, Gnecchi M, Noiseux N et al (2007) Secreted frizzled related protein 2 (Sfrp2) is the key Akt-mesenchymal stem cell-released paracrine factor mediating myocardial survival and repair. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104(5):1643–1648
- Mohamed TM, Abou-Leisa R, Stafford N, Maqsood A, Zi M, Prehar S et al (2016) The plasma membrane calcium ATPase 4 signalling in cardiac fibroblasts mediates cardiomyocyte hyper-trophy. Nat Commun 7:11074
- Morishita Y, Kobayashi K, Klyachko E, Jujo K, Maeda K, Losordo DW et al (2016) Wnt11 gene therapy with adeno-associated virus 9 improves recovery from myocardial infarction by modulating the inflammatory response. Sci Rep 6:21705
- Motiwala SR, Szymonifka J, Belcher A, Weiner RB, Baggish AL, Gaggin HK et al (2014) Measurement of novel biomarkers to predict chronic heart failure outcomes and left ventricular remodeling. J Cardiovasc Transl Res 7(2):250–261
- Murakoshi M, Saiki K, Urayama K, Sato TN (2013) An anthelmintic drug, pyrvinium pamoate, thwarts fibrosis and ameliorates myocardial contractile dysfunction in a mouse model of myocardial infarction. PLoS One 8(11), e79374
- Mureli S, Gans CP, Bare DJ, Geenen DL, Kumar NM, Banach K (2013) Mesenchymal stem cells improve cardiac conduction by upregulation of connexin 43 through paracrine signaling. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 304(4):H600–H609
- Nakamura K, Sano S, Fuster JJ, Kikuchi R, Shimizu I, Ohshima K et al (2016) Secreted frizzledrelated protein 5 diminishes cardiac inflammation and protects the heart from ischemia/ reperfusion injury. J Biol Chem 291(6):2566–2575
- Oerlemans MI, Goumans MJ, van Middelaar B, Clevers H, Doevendans PA, Sluijter JP (2010) Active Wnt signaling in response to cardiac injury. Basic Res Cardiol 105(5):631–641
- Oikonomopoulos A, Sereti KI, Conyers F, Bauer M, Liao A, Guan J et al (2011) Wnt signaling exerts an antiproliferative effect on adult cardiac progenitor cells through IGFBP3. Circ Res 109(12):1363–1374
- Opie LH, Commerford PJ, Gersh BJ, Pfeffer MA (2006) Controversies in ventricular remodelling. Lancet 367(9507):356–367
- Pahnke A, Conant G, Huyer LD, Zhao Y, Feric N, Radisic M (2016) The role of Wnt regulation in heart development, cardiac repair and disease: a tissue engineering perspective. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 473(3):698–703
- Paik DT, Rai M, Ryzhov S, Sanders LN, Aisagbonhi O, Funke MJ et al (2015) Wnt10b gain-offunction improves cardiac repair by arteriole formation and attenuation of fibrosis. Circ Res 117(9):804–816
- Pandur P, Lasche M, Eisenberg LM, Kuhl M (2002) Wnt-11 activation of a non-canonical Wnt signalling pathway is required for cardiogenesis. Nature 418(6898):636–641
- Pereira C, Schaer DJ, Bachli EB, Kurrer MO, Schoedon G (2008) Wht5A/CaMKII signaling contributes to the inflammatory response of macrophages and is a target for the antiinflammatory action of activated protein C and interleukin-10. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 28(3):504–510
- Qu J, Zhou J, Yi XP, Dong B, Zheng H, Miller LM et al (2007) Cardiac-specific haploinsufficiency of beta-catenin attenuates cardiac hypertrophy but enhances fetal gene expression in response to aortic constriction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 43(3):319–326
- Radice GL, Rayburn H, Matsunami H, Knudsen KA, Takeichi M, Hynes RO (1997) Developmental defects in mouse embryos lacking N-cadherin. Dev Biol 181(1):64–78
- Riffell JL, Lord CJ, Ashworth A (2012) Tankyrase-targeted therapeutics: expanding opportunities in the PARP family. Nat Rev Drug Discov 11(12):923–936
- Rohini A, Agrawal N, Koyani CN, Singh R (2010) Molecular targets and regulators of cardiac hypertrophy. Pharmacol Res 61(4):269–280
- Safholm A, Leandersson K, Dejmek J, Nielsen CK, Villoutreix BO, Andersson T (2006) A formylated hexapeptide ligand mimics the ability of Wnt-5a to impair migration of human breast epithelial cells. J Biol Chem 281(5):2740–2749

- Saraswati S, Alfaro MP, Thorne CA, Atkinson J, Lee E, Young PP (2010) Pyrvinium, a potent small molecule Wnt inhibitor, promotes wound repair and post-MI cardiac remodeling. PLoS One 5(11), e15521
- Sasaki T, Hwang H, Nguyen C, Kloner RA, Kahn M (2013) The small molecule Wnt signaling modulator ICG-001 improves contractile function in chronically infarcted rat myocardium. PLoS One 8(9), e75010
- Schulte G, Bryja V (2007) The Frizzled family of unconventional G-protein-coupled receptors. Trends Pharmacol Sci 28(10):518–525
- Schumann H, Holtz J, Zerkowski HR, Hatzfeld M (2000) Expression of secreted frizzled related proteins 3 and 4 in human ventricular myocardium correlates with apoptosis related gene expression. Cardiovasc Res 45(3):720–728
- Simons M, Mlodzik M (2008) Planar cell polarity signaling: from fly development to human disease. Annu Rev Genet 42:517–540
- Sklepkiewicz P, Shiomi T, Kaur R, Sun J, Kwon S, Mercer B et al (2015) Loss of secreted frizzledrelated protein-1 leads to deterioration of cardiac function in mice and plays a role in human cardiomyopathy. Circ Heart Fail 8(2):362–372
- Staal FJ, Luis TC, Tiemessen MM (2008) WNT signalling in the immune system: WNT is spreading its wings. Nat Rev Immunol 8(8):581–593
- Sugden PH, Fuller SJ, Weiss SC, Clerk A (2008) Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK3) in the heart: a point of integration in hypertrophic signalling and a therapeutic target? A critical analysis. Br J Pharmacol 153(Suppl 1):S137–S153
- Tao J, Wang YT, Abudoukelimu M, Yang YN, Li XM, Xie X, et al (2016) Association of genetic variations in the Wnt signaling pathway genes with myocardial infarction susceptibility in Chinese Han population. Oncotarget. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.10401
- Tateishi A, Matsushita M, Asai T, Masuda Z, Kuriyama M, Kanki K et al (2010) Effect of inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 on cardiac hypertrophy during acute pressure overload. Gen Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 58(6):265–270
- Timmers L, Sluijter JP, van Keulen JK, Hoefer IE, Nederhoff MG, Goumans MJ et al (2008) Tolllike receptor 4 mediates maladaptive left ventricular remodeling and impairs cardiac function after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 102(2):257–264
- Toyofuku T, Hong Z, Kuzuya T, Tada M, Hori M (2000) Wnt/Frizzled-2 signaling induces aggregation and adhesion among cardiac myocytes by increased cadherin-beta-catenin complex. J Cell Biol 150(1):225–241
- Tseng AS, Engel FB, Keating MT (2006) The GSK-3 inhibitor BIO promotes proliferation in mammalian cardiomyocytes. Chem Biol 13(9):957–963
- Uitterdijk A, Hermans KC, de Wijs-Meijler DP, Daskalopoulos EP, Reiss IK, Duncker DJ et al (2016) UM206, a selective Frizzled antagonist, attenuates adverse remodeling after myocardial infarction in swine. Lab Invest 96(2):168–176
- van de Schans VA, van den Borne SW, Strzelecka AE, Janssen BJ, van der Velden JL, Langen RC et al (2007) Interruption of Wnt signaling attenuates the onset of pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy. Hypertension 49(3):473–480
- van den Borne SW, Diez J, Blankesteijn WM, Verjans J, Hofstra L, Narula J (2010) Myocardial remodeling after infarction: the role of myofibroblasts. Nat Rev Cardiol 7(1):30–37
- Wang H, Hao J, Hong CC (2011) Cardiac induction of embryonic stem cells by a small molecule inhibitor of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. ACS Chem Biol 6(2):192–197
- Weidinger G, Moon RT (2003) When Whts antagonize Whts. J Cell Biol 162(5):753-755
- Weng Z, Kong CW, Ren L, Karakikes I, Geng L, He J et al (2014) A simple, cost-effective but highly efficient system for deriving ventricular cardiomyocytes from human pluripotent stem cells. Stem Cells Dev 23(14):1704–1716
- Woulfe KC, Gao E, Lal H, Harris D, Fan Q, Vagnozzi R et al (2010) Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates post-myocardial infarction remodeling and stress-induced cardiomyocyte proliferation in vivo. Circ Res 106(10):1635–1645

- Zelarayan LC, Noack C, Sekkali B, Kmecova J, Gehrke C, Renger A et al (2008) Beta-catenin downregulation attenuates ischemic cardiac remodeling through enhanced resident precursor cell differentiation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105(50):19762–19767
- Zhang X, Hao J (2015) Development of anticancer agents targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Am J Cancer Res 5(8):2344–2360
- Zhang CG, Jia ZQ, Li BH, Zhang H, Liu YN, Chen P et al (2009) beta-Catenin/TCF/LEF1 can directly regulate phenylephrine-induced cell hypertrophy and Anf transcription in cardiomyocytes. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 390(2):258–262

Gene Therapy in Heart Failure

Anthony S. Fargnoli, Michael G. Katz, Charles R. Bridges, and Roger J. Hajjar

Contents

1	Intro	duction	397
2	Card	iac Gene Therapy Manipulation Strategies	399
	2.1	Target Overexpression Approaches	399
	2.2	Silencing and Blockade Approaches	400
3	The	Molecular Basis of Congestive Heart Failure: Established and Novel Targets	401
	3.1	Excitation–Contraction Coupling	402
	3.2	Targeting the Myofilaments	403
	3.3	Inhibiting Apoptosis	404
	3.4	Desensitization of βAR-Signaling	404
	3.5	Activation of Cardiac Adenyl-Cyclase Expression	405
	3.6	Enhance Regeneration	405
	3.7	Activation of Cytoprotective Mechanisms	406
	3.8	Reverse Established Cardiac Fibrosis	406
4	Card	iac Gene Therapy Vectors: The Evolution	407
	4.1	Non-Viral Vectors	408
	4.2	Viral Vectors	409
5	Rout	e of Administration Methods for Cardiac Gene Delivery	412
	5.1	Direct Myocardial Delivery	412
	5.2	Transvascular Gene Delivery	414
6	Futu	re Perspectives	416
Re	ferend	ces	416

Abstract

Heart failure is a significant burden to the global healthcare system and represents an underserved market for new pharmacologic strategies, especially therapies which can address root cause myocyte dysfunction. Modern drugs, surgeries, and state-of-the-art interventions are costly and do not improve

A.S. Fargnoli (🖂) • M.G. Katz • C.R. Bridges • R.J. Hajjar

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, Cardiovascular Research Center, New York, NY, USA e-mail: anthony.fargnoli@mssm.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_81

survival outcome measures. Gene therapy is an attractive strategy, whereby selected gene targets and their associated regulatory mechanisms can be permanently managed therapeutically in a single treatment. This in theory could be sustainable for the patient's life. Despite the promise, however, gene therapy has numerous challenges that must be addressed together as a treatment plan comprising these key elements: myocyte physiologic target validation, gene target manipulation strategy, vector selection for the correct level of manipulation, and carefully utilizing an efficient delivery route that can be implemented in the clinic to efficiently transfer the therapy within safety limits. This chapter summarizes the key developments in cardiac gene therapy from the perspective of understanding each of these components of the treatment plan. The latest pharmacologic gene targets, gene therapy vectors, delivery routes, and strategies are reviewed.

Keywords

Gene therapy • Gene therapy vectors • Heart failure • Molecular targets • Routes of gene delivery

Abbreviations

AAV	Adeno-associated virus
AC6	Adenyl-cyclase type 6
Akt	Serine-threonine protein kinase
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2 gene
CCN family	Extracellular matrix-associated proteins
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CHF	Congestive heart failure
CVD	Cardiovascular diseases
dATP	Deoxy adenosine triphosphate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
GRK2 G	Protein-coupled receptor kinase 2
LacZ	Intracellular enzyme encoded beta-galactosidase
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MCARD	Molecular cardiac surgery with recirculating delivery
microRNA	Small non-coding RNA
modRNA	Modified RNA
ODN	Antisense oligodeoxynucleotides
P-13	Chromosomally encoded integral outer membrane protein
PLN	Phospholamban
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
S100A1	Calcium-binding protein A1
SERCA2a	Sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase
siRNA	Short interfering RNA

SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
TGF beta	Transforming growth factor beta
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
βARKct	Carboxyl terminus of beta-adrenergic receptor kinase

1 Introduction

Approximately 85 million Americans suffer from acute and chronic cardiovascular diseases (CVD). The associated mortality rates are stark, accounting for at least 33% of all deaths post 2010. This rate is 4.4 times more than cancer related morbidity and growing inline with record levels of obesity and diabetes. The total direct and indirect costs of CVD in the USA are estimated to be \$315.4 billion, which is unsustainable (Go et al. 2013). These statistics clearly demonstrate that CVD are still the leading cause of mortality and morbidity in developed countries despite an increased awareness and focus on preventative measures.

Coronary artery disease is the prime risk factor and direct cause of CVD, prevalent in at least 65–75% of cases (St. John-Sutton et al. 1997). Coronary vessel disease progression typically results in single or successive myocardial infarction events, which permanently alter global function. Despite numerous interventions available to limit the initial postinfarction damage in the acute phase, the downward progression toward the congestive heart failure (CHF) condition is largely inevitable. Through the remodeling disease process strained myocytes are either lost, transition, or remain in a dysfunctional state typically out of sync with viable myocardium.

The CHF condition is the most expensive burden on the global healthcare system featuring accelerating annual costs alone exceeding \$34 billion. The majority of these patients are destined for heart failure status despite significant efforts in accumulated, yet ineffective pharmacological interventions. All clinically available heart failure drugs, devices, and corrective interventional procedures only address secondary symptoms. Consequently, an additional 22 million CHF patients are diagnosed per year with 50% mortality within 5 years, despite cumulative failed therapeutic regimens.

Cardiac transplantation is the best option for end-stage CHF for long-term outcomes; however, more than 35% of patients unfortunately die waiting for a matched donor heart. Even more disturbing, as many as 60,000 patients per year could benefit from a transplant (Frazier and Myers 1998). Thus, given the shortcomings of the best available pharmacologic based therapies and donor hearts, there is a significant unmet need for newer, more efficacious, and more cost-effective treatments for severely afflicted patients.

There are two alternative treatment paradigms to improve long-term outcomes in both the early and late stage of CVD. These two paradigms are either a replacement (i.e., cell therapy) approach or a restorative genetic reprogramming of cells with gene therapy via vector transfer of nucleic acids. Although much more attention has



Fig. 1 Key challenges in cardiac gene therapy

been placed in cellular replacement strategies, these approaches do not address improving contractility function which is essential for increasing survival outcomes in CHF. The focus in late stage management is improving contractility, whereby the opportunity to arrest infarct expansion and global LV remodeling has past. Therefore, the transfer of therapeutic genes for the treatment has emerged as the more attractive strategy given its therapeutic impact on directly enhancing contractility.

The field of cardiovascular gene therapy has generated significant interest in recent times having completed a Phase II placebo controlled clinical trial in a robust heart failure population. A large base of extensive preclinical studies have provided solid proof of concept data indicating gene therapy's clinical potential, whereby the expression of selected transgenes in the myocardium enhances contractility, restores global function, and in some cases completely reverses CHF. Although promising, a number of challenges must be addressed in order to surpass regulatory clearance and ultimately reach the clinic.

The key translational challenges that must be addressed with this new therapeutic class are the following (Fig. 1), which will be extensively covered in the following text:

- 1. The validation of the specific target's genetic manipulation in the heart failure condition including overexpression and knockdown approaches
- 2. Selection of the best vector to manipulate the target that is both safe and results in efficacious expression
- 3. A clinically feasible method of delivery to safely achieve sufficient transfer in the myocardium
- 4. The discovery of novel targets that address root causes of myocyte function at the protein, RNA, and in some cases microRNA level
- 5. Synthesizing the said elements above such that the treatment is safe and effective as well as cost efficient for the healthcare provider.

2 Cardiac Gene Therapy Manipulation Strategies

A number of key gene therapeutic strategies have been investigated for improving outcomes in heart failure patients. The most commonly applied strategy features overexpression of a target gene, which involves either the replacement of a missing or restoring a gene's resultant protein levels. Dysfunctional genomic regulation in the heart can either be due to inherited genetic and or acquired with progressive cardiac disease. A common example of a purely inherited genetic is the X-linked recessive Becker's cardiomyopathy, which is an autosomal recessive gene defect such as those associated with alpha sarcoglycan deficiency. It is important to note that less research has been dedicated to this cause since a very low number of patients suffer from these defects. More commonly, however, ischemic cardiomyopathy induced CHF is characterized by certain genes that are consistently downregulated (e.g., SERCA2a). With the advent of biotechnology via rapid DNA/RNA profiling, these perturbations are readily identified against healthy controls. Moreover, viable mechanisms and interactions are in place but perturbed due to the degradation process secondary to the original infarction events. In the case of heart failure as covered later in this text, there are several key targets that have influential roles in driving contractility, energetics, survival, and structural integrity.

An alternative strategy to manipulating cardiac gene regulation is with gene silencing or blockade, which relates to the inactivation of dominant negative gene function involved in disease etiology or progression (Quarck and Holvoet 2004; Melo et al. 2005). By comparison with overexpression whose sole aim is to achieve a factor fold higher expression level, the degree of necessary efficacious interactions with this class is inherently much more complex since the expressed target must then interact further with subcomponents. Effective silencing often requires overexpression of the silencing element plus sufficient interaction with associated mechanisms of the disease mechanism, which may not be well established. Thus, due to the degree of conflicting interactions, these are much more difficult to execute in large animal model and human cardiovascular systems despite proof of concept in basic science experiments.

2.1 Target Overexpression Approaches

A gene's physiological function may be impaired or downregulated as a result of a mutation or a pathological process. Therefore, the restoration of function through exogenous DNA delivery to replace the deficient gene's action seems quite logical, but challenging to execute in vivo. In this case, full-length or partial cDNA encoding the deficient gene is delivered to the heart using a vector system capable of expressing the therapeutic protein (Quarck and Holvoet 2004). Several steps in the gene overexpression process may be modulated including the transcription, RNA splicing, translation, and posttranslational modification of a protein.

2.2 Silencing and Blockade Approaches

2.2.1 Antisense Oligodeoxynucleotides

Antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (ODN) are used as inhibitors of specific gene expression without any change in function of other genes. Single stranded ODN may be delivered either by direct administration (as a pharmacological agent) or by transfection with a vector encoding the ODN. The ODN binds to the target mRNA transcript and prevents translation. This mechanism of action is based on the presence of two forms of ODN: the RNase H-dependent ODN, which induces the degradation of mRNA, and the steric-blocker ODH, which physically blocks the progression of mRNA translation.

In CVD applications, the antisense ODH approach has been evaluated to prevent restenosis after balloon angioplasty (Quarck et al. 2001). In one study, treatment with antisense ODN directed against VEGF receptors could prevent VEGF-mediated arteriogenesis (Marchand et al. 2002). In another example, the systemic delivery of an antisense ODN induces silencing of miR-208a in the myocytes, thus improving cardiac function and survival in hypertensive-induced heart failure in rats (Montgomery et al. 2011).

2.2.2 Short Interfering

Gene silencing via siRNA technology is a promising strategy with great therapeutic potential despite continued problems with translation into the clinic due to delivery issues. siRNA is a short dsRNA molecule that induces sequence specific posttranscriptional gene modification. This mechanism is called RNA interference (RNAi). Recently, this strategy was used for the treatment of HF and the results showed that the restoration of cardiac function was most likely through the reduction of hypertrophy (Suckau et al. 2009). Once transferred into the cytoplasm, the siRNA incorporates into the nuclease complex, where they then disrupt the translation of the targeted genes. Successful left ventricular intracavitary delivery of DNA/siRNA complexes by means of sonoporation was demonstrated in murine hearts (Tsunoda et al. 2005). The incorporation of siRNA into terminally differentiated adult rat cardiac myocytes using adenovirus has also been reported (Rinne et al. 2006).

Due to sustainability challenges with blockage and silencing approaches, single gene target overexpression continues to dominate in the field since the posttranslational interactions and immune barriers are more lucid. Safe long-term overexpression provides the best possible chance to impact cardiac dysfunction provided sufficient levels of cDNA are present to drive therapeutic protein. siRNA, ODN, and other blockade strategies often have difficulty due to either insufficient delivery or other unknown mechanisms that counteract the intervention at the mRNA level. These strategies, however, are more attractive in angiogenesis applications where it is more desirable for the treatment duration to be short-term for repair. This is in direct contrast with the CHF patient's need in driving contractility.
3 The Molecular Basis of Congestive Heart Failure: Established and Novel Targets

Generally, the accepted clinical definition of CHF is the pathophysiologic state of impaired heart function that can result from any structural or functional cardiac disorder. These individually or compounded impair the ability of the ventricles to work as pump for maintaining metabolic requirements of the body's tissue and organs (Go et al. 2013). CHF is a progressive disease and irrespective of the cause, is accompanied by deterioration of cardiac function. From the pathophysiological molecular perspective, CHF includes alterations in the myocytes gene expression, qualitative changes in cardiac cell types, and composition of extracellular matrix. These alterations compounded eventually lead to structural changes of left ventricle geometry.

CHF can be categorized as systolic or diastolic. Systolic CHF is characterized by a reduction in left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), enlargement of the left ventricle, a reduction in contractility, and pulmonary congestion. In post-myocardial infarction (post-MI), the systolic function is primarily impaired. On the other hand, diastolic CHF with normal LVEF is currently diagnosed in approximately 40–45% of heart failure patients. This type of CHF can mainly be attributed to LV diastolic dysfunction. The contributing factors including impaired LV relaxation, decreased LV distension, and increased LV end-diastolic stiffness.

In the last decade there has been tremendous increase in knowledge concerning the molecular mechanisms underlying both types of heart failure. The most recent developments indicate that the human heart in CHF is subjected to numerous important gene, cell, and organ level molecular changes which include these primary alterations: (1) in excitation–contraction coupling leading to changes in the contractile properties of the myocyte; (2) cytoskeletal proteins such as sarcomeric, membrane-associated, and proteins of the intercalated disc; (3) myosin heavy chain expression; (4) the maladaptive progression of β -adrenergic desensitization; (5) occurrence of hypertrophy, and myocytolysis with myofibrillar degeneration and progressive loss of myofilaments; and (6) abnormal myocardial energetics secondary to mitochondrial dysfunction (Shah and Mann 2011).

These changes in turn cause myocyte loss due to necrosis, apoptosis and autophagy, and alterations in composition of the extracellular matrix including enhanced matrix degradation and myocardial interstitial and perivascular fibrosis (Mann et al. 2012). Pharmacological management of CHF, such as angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, β -adrenergic receptor blockade, calcium-channel blockers, diuretics, and inhibition of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. These have provided benefit to decrease morbidity and mortality. However, this treatment is symptom-oriented and cannot stop the disease progression and reversal CHF to healthy state, thus increasing the value of a gene therapy solution which directly focuses on permanently treating the mechanism. Here we summarize the current state of main existing molecular targets in cardiac gene therapy (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Established and novel genetic targets in heart failure. *SERCA2a* sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase, *S100A1* calcium-binding protein A1, *dATP* deoxy adenosine triphosphate, $\beta ARKct$ carboxyl terminus of beta-adrenergic receptor kinase, *GRK2* G-protein-coupled receptor kinase 2

3.1 Excitation–Contraction Coupling

To understand the molecular defects in heart failure, we need to briefly describe the processes occurring in cardiac excitation–contraction coupling. During the cardiac action potential, Ca^{2+} enters the cell through depolarization-activated Ca^{2+} channels as an inward Ca^{2+} current, which contributes to the action potential plateau. This action lead to triggers Ca^{2+} release from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) via ryanodine receptors located at the SR membrane. This, in turn, allows Ca^{2+} to bind to the myofilament protein troponin C, resulting in sarcomere shortening and muscle contraction. For relaxation to occur, it is necessary to have a decrease in intracellular Ca^{2+} transport out of the cytosol by pathways involving SR Ca^{2+} ATPase, sarcolemmal Na+/Ca²⁺ exchange, sarcolemmal Ca^{2+} ATPase, or mitochondrial Ca^{2+} . (Hajjar et al. 2000).

3.1.1 SERCA2a

Deficient SR Ca²⁺ uptake during myocyte relaxation has been identified in failing hearts from both humans and animals and is associated with a decrease in the expression and activity of the sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase (*SERCA2a*). This protein is a Ca²⁺ ATP-dependent pump of the sarcoplasmic reticulum that has a critical role in Ca²⁺ regulation. The importance of *SERCA2a* in HF has been studies extensively in rodents and large animal models and it was tested in clinical trials. Gene transfer of *SERCA2a* restored the calcium transit and significantly improved contraction and relaxation velocity in all experimental models of heart

failure. The mechanism of improved heart function induced by *SERCA2a* overexpression includes an enhanced SR Ca^{2+} uptake during diastole, increased SR Ca^{2+} content, and more efficient Ca^{2+} efflux during systole. Moreover, *SERCA2a* gene delivery with normalization of intracellular Ca^{2+} prevents mitochondrial dysfunction and decreases energy cost for regulation. This results in the restoration of cardiac energetics by improving mechano-energetic efficiency and by enhancing energy supply (Hajjar et al. 1998). On basis of these promising results, the CUPID 2 clinical trial was designed to assess whether gene transfer with SERCA2a improves outcome in patients with moderate to severe heart failure. CUPID 2 was the largest gene transfer study done in patients with HF so far. However, the results of AAV1/SERCA2a at the dose and delivery mode tested did not support the positive findings seen in a pilot trial (Greenberg et al. 2016).

3.1.2 Phospholamban Inhibition

Phospholamban (PLN) regulates the homeostasis of SR Ca^{2+} , mediating slower cytosolic Ca^{2+} decay in cardiomyocytes, which translates into diastolic relaxation. It is hypothesized that the suppression of the inhibitory effect of PLN is a promising approach to improve cardiac function. Indeed, AAV-mediated overexpression of a mutant form of PLN improved LV function and mitigated adverse remodeling (Tsuji et al. 2009). Silencing of PLN expression after tachycardia-induced CHF in sheep increased ejection fraction and decreased LV end-diastolic area (Kaye et al. 2007).

3.1.3 S100A1

In cardiomyocytes, S100A1 primarily plays a role in increasing SERCA2a activity. This is achieved via diminishing diastolic SR Ca^{2+} leak, reinforcing function of the ryanodine receptors during systole, leading to an overall gain in SR Ca^{2+} cycling. S100A1 regulates SERCA2A/Phospholamban function, resulting in an amplification of SR Ca^{2+} release and uptake as well. The molecular level of S100A1 is reduced at the development of CHF (Most et al. 2007). This confirms that S100A1 may be a promising factor in the treatment of CHF. A study in a postinfarction pig model with CHF revealed improvement in contractility and also restoration of high-energy phosphate homeostasis (Pleger et al. 2011).

3.2 Targeting the Myofilaments

The use of 2-deoxy adenosine triphosphate (dATP) instead of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) as the energy source improves muscle contractility by enhancing crossbridge binding and cycling kinetics (Regnier et al 2004; Nowakowski et al. 2013). It was developed as an approach to elevate dATP in vivo by increasing the expression of the enzyme ribonucleotide reductase. This results in increased levels of 2-deoxy ATP (dATP). It was shown that increasing dATP in intact cardiomyocytes via adenovirus-mediated transfection increased contractile magnitude and kinetics (Moussavi-Harami et al. 2015). dATP can increase contraction

and the rate of crossbridge cycling in cardiac muscle from patients with end-stage heart failure, without retarding relaxation. It was also found that raising cultured rat cardiomyocyte dATP levels to only ~1% by adenoviral vector-mediated overexpression of ribonucleotide reductase under control of the constitutive cytomegalovirus promoter, significantly enhances the magnitude and rate of contraction, as well as the rate of relaxation, without altering intracellular Ca²⁺ transient amplitude (Kolwicz et al. 2016). Based on these results, overexpression of RNR and increased dATP content appear to have significant potential as a therapeutic strategy with the myofilament approach for treating heart failure.

3.3 Inhibiting Apoptosis

3.3.1 Bcl-2

Apoptosis regulates the balance between pro-death and pro-survival cell signals. The Bcl-2 family of proteins has emerged as a key component of the cell death process. Bcl-2 can prevent the opening of mitochondrial transition pores and the resultant release of cytochrome c that directly triggers apoptosis. Also, Bcl-2 can block cytokine-mediated apoptosis via the nuclear factor-kB signaling pathway. In an animal model of HF, group treated with Bcl-2 had superior preservation of LV geometry with less ventricular dilatation and wall thinning. There was also reduced apoptosis compared with the controls (Chatterjee et al. 2002).

3.3.2 Akt, P-I3

The Akt proto-oncogene, a serine/threonine protein kinase, controls multiple responses in the cardiac cells including the ability to inactivate pro-apoptotic proteins like Bad and caspase 9. Act is activated by the products of PI-3 kinase reaction and eventually led to inhibition of cardiac myocytes apoptotic death. Intracoronary delivery of adenoviral construct encoding Akt in small animal models revealed reduced infarct size and protected cardiac myocytes from apoptosis (Miao et al. 2000).

3.4 Desensitization of βAR-Signaling

3.4.1 β**ARKct**

The β AR system is a hallmark signaling pathway for the regulation of cellular communication in cardiac contractility and is therefore an attractive molecular target (Koch et al. 1995). Long-term neuro-hormonal activation in CHF induces the desensitization of β -adrenergic signaling transduction including β -adrenergic receptor (β AR) down regulation, upregulation of GRK2 (β AR kinase), and increased inhibitory G-protein alpha-subunit function (Raake et al. 2008). Extensive research studies revealed that the β AR system includes two main components: β -receptors and the GRK2. GRK2 is a cytosolic enzyme that, upon receptor activation, binds the released G $\beta\gamma$ subunit of activated heterotrimeric G-proteins

at the plasma membrane allowing for phosphorylation of β ARs, which subsequently bind inhibitory proteins called β -arrestins (Brinks et al. 2010). β ARs that are bound to this complex undergo receptor desensitization. Abnormal β AR responsiveness leads to upregulation of sympathetic drive with chronic catechol-amine release that contributes to further cardiac deterioration.

The clinical use of β -blockers in pharmacological management of HF has shown great success by blocking chronic β AR activation. However, β -blockers do not act on the molecular pathways of the CHF. Therefore, gene treatment is much more promising for long-term management. A GRK inhibitor was developed to effectively reverse β AR desensitization permanently via overexpression. It consists of the carboxyl terminus of β ARK, known as β ARKct which directly competes with GRK2. Many studies in preclinical models of CHF have demonstrated that myocardial overexpression with β ARKct reversed ventricular remodeling and lowered sympathetic outflow of catecholamines. This implies that the β ARKct overexpression and targeting GRK2 inhibition are very fruitful therapeutic targets in CHF (Raake et al. 2013).

3.5 Activation of Cardiac Adenyl-Cyclase Expression

Adenyl-cyclase (AC6) regulates the transfer of adenosine triphosphate to cyclic adenosine monophosphate. This sequence initiates many cardiac intracellular and extracellular signaling pathways. CHF is associated with decreased expression and activity of AC6, and a desensitization of β -adrenergic receptors. Cardiac-directed expression of AC6 in genetic animal models of CHF increases impaired LV function, enhances cAMP capacity in response to β AR stimulation, normalizes PKA activity, increases phospholamban phosphorylation, and increases sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) Ca2+ uptake (Tang et al. 2011).

3.6 Enhance Regeneration

CHF results in comparatively large-scale loss of myocardium. As opposed to the theory of the postmitotic organ differentiation, studies in animal models have shown that myocytes can divide and express growth-related genes after myocardial infarction (Bergmann et al. 2009). The evaluation of cardiac cell cycle events, as well as genetic and metabolic fate mapping, have provided new data that CMs are not terminally differentiated cells. Studies performed in the mice and zebrafish suggest that cell turnover during normal conditions and after injury leads to appearance new mononucleated and polynucleated CMs with their proliferative capacity. Also, molecular markers associated with mitosis were described in the presence of human myocardium (Anversa et al. 2002).

Furthermore, it has been proven that the majority of new CMs are derived from preexisting CMs through cell division rather than activation of undifferentiated stem or progenitor cells (Kikuchi et al. 2010). These data altogether demonstrate

that mammalian hearts maintain a regenerative capacity throughout life, providing a rationale for the development of a new direction to restore function after significant myocardial damage. Postnatal mammalian CMs are being studied in two major ways that may be utilized independently or together: exogenous cell transplantation and stimulation of endogenous regenerative processes (Katz et al. 2016a).

3.6.1 Modified RNA

Recently, a new approach to manipulate the gene program of the adult cardiomyocyte has been reported via the generation of chemically modified mRNA (modRNA). The use of modified RNA technology in delivering paracrine factors into a damaged region in the heart has important implications for cardiogenesis, and the pathways that might trigger heart regeneration. It was demonstrated that modRNA is an efficient approach for transient, high level, and localized gene transfer into the heart. Moreover, intramyocardial injection of modRNA encoding human vascular endothelial growth factor-A resulted in the expansion and directed differentiation of endogenous heart progenitors in a murine HF model. VEGF-A/modRNA markedly improved heart function and enhanced long-term survival of recipients. This improvement was in part due to mobilization of epicardial progenitor cells and redirection of their differentiation toward cardiovascular cell types (Zangi et al. 2013).

3.7 Activation of Cytoprotective Mechanisms

Reactive oxygen species and oxidative stress have been implicated in a number of pathological processes that contribute to HF, including vasoconstriction, cardiac hypertrophy, apoptosis, fibrosis, inflammation, and myocardial stunning (Zablocki and Sadoshima 2013). Angiotensin II and norepinephrine, two mediators whose production/release is abnormally upregulated in failing hearts, promote oxidative stress by activating NAD(P)H oxidase and feeding the hydrogen peroxide-generating enzyme mono amino oxidase. The selective VEGFR-1 ligands VEGF-B and PIGF prevent mitochondrial superoxide and cytosolic hydrogen peroxide overproduction in cultured neonatal cardiomyocytes exposed to angiotensin II. Moreover, VEGF-B could mitigate hydrogen peroxide overproduction in cultured neonatal cardiomyocytes exposed to angiotensin and cardiomyocytes exposed to angiotensin in cultured cardiomyocytes exposed to norepinephrine. These results suggest that a mechanism underlying the therapeutic action of VEGF-B, in vivo, might consist of antagonizing the pro-oxidant effects of angiotensin II and norepinephrine (Woitek et al. 2015).

3.8 Reverse Established Cardiac Fibrosis

One of the most important contributors to the development of cardiac fibrosis is the transforming growth factor beta (TGF β 1)-SMAD signaling cascade, which stimulates collagen expression and other downstream profibrotic targets and is

markedly upregulated in HF (Dobaczewski et al. 2011). A growing body of evidence from studies conducted in the heart indicates that CHF-activated TGF β 1-SMAD signaling system is phosphorylated and subsequently translocated to the nucleus to regulate target gene transcription (Rosenkranz 2004).

3.8.1 CCN Family

A group of matricellular proteins known as the CCN family (CCN1 to CCN6) are participated with many cellular functions including TGF β 1-SMAD system (Holbourn et al. 2008). CCN5 was significantly decreased in the myocardium of patients with severe CHF. A study evaluated the effects of adeno-associated virus (AAV)-mediated overexpression of CCN5 on established fibrosis with concomitant cardiac dysfunction. CCN5 was found to reverse fibrosis, as shown by its effects on collagen contents and the cardiac myofibroblasts. CCN5 inhibited endothelial to mesenchymal transition mediated by TGF-beta signaling and transdifferentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts and thus CCN5 can reverse established fibrosis (Jeong et al. 2016).

3.8.2 SERCA2a

In another study it was demonstrated that SERCA2a gene delivery disrupts activation of the TGF β 1/SMAD signaling cascade, inhibiting de novo collagen synthesis and downregulating angiotensin II and its receptor. Moreover, it was found that TGF β 1 signaling genes are dramatically upregulated in CHF in all myocardial regions (Katz et al. 2016b).

4 Cardiac Gene Therapy Vectors: The Evolution

Gene therapy continues researching improvements with delivery, specifically in addressing the rate limiting translational gaps from animal models to clinical applications. Here, a key focus is often placed on host considerations such as anatomical, physiologic, disease, and immune barriers. Mammalian cells were not designed to uptake foreign genetic material, thus the delivery challenge is recognized as the greatest impediment once the target is validated. Choosing the right vector for the intended cardiovascular application is the most important decision, since safe and efficacious therapeutic genetic manipulation is absolutely demanded for successful gene therapy.

The availability of vectors for gene transfer has improved dramatically attributable to both increased available basic science research and the emerging clinical trial data. The ideal vector should have the following characteristics for the intended CVD application: (1) Cardiotrophic, since the myocyte microenvironment contains a disproportional population of endothelial cells, (2) Result in long-term expression (i.e., a must for contractility genes and enough to induce repair in the case of regeneration), (3) Minimize the risk of innate and adaptive immune responses, and (4) Possess a large coding capacity to incorporate the gene and enhancing promoters (Gaffney et al. 2007).



Fig. 3 Vector selection for cardiac gene therapy

The key challenges for a cardiac gene therapy vector are as follows: (1) Escaping the neutralizing effects of specific antibodies and non-specific adsorption to other blood and off target cellular components, (2) Overcoming the endothelial barrier and penetrating the vascular wall for diffusion through the extracellular matrix, and (3) Uptake into the cell at the level of the plasma membrane and efficient trafficking to the nucleus, and (4) Synthesis by the host of the complimentary DNA strand for single stranded delivery vectors followed by transcription and translation of the transgene (Müller et al. 2008). Various vectors have been used to achieve myocardial gene transfer, modified or selected to enhance the probability of overcoming each of these challenges. All vectors can be classified into two main categories, either non-viral, recombinant viral, or engineered hybrid (Fig. 3).

4.1 Non-Viral Vectors

Non-viral vectors are grouped as plasmid DNA, liposome-DNA complexes (lipoplexes), and polymer-DNA complexes (polyplexes). Oligonucleotides are also considered non-viral vectors (Felgner et al. 1997). In 1990, Lin and associates injected plasmid DNA into the left ventricle and demonstrated that the lacZ gene could be introduced and expressed in cardiac myocytes (Lin et al. 1990). Although non-viral vectors have the major advantage of production in large quantities at low cost while at the same time possess fewer toxic or immunological problems, their transfer efficiency is generally poor independent of delivery route (Nabel 1995). Nevertheless, a large number of human cardiac clinical trials are based on plasmidmediated gene transfer investigating angiogenesis in myocardial ischemia (Losordo et al. 1998; Vale et al. 2001; Kastrup et al. 2005). A major advantage of this approach is that it avoids many of the biosafety concerns associated with viral vectors. However, the level of transgene expression and the efficiency of gene transfer (percent of target cells expressing the transgene) are low and expression is restricted to the zone of the injection site. DNA complexes are relatively more efficient, but not at the level of viral vector driven expression (Qin et al. 1998).

Despite significant reformulation efforts with a variety of chemical and biomimetic polymeric strategies, the key problem is that the nucleic acid content typically remains unstable and is often cleared or biologically inactivated following delivery. This is especially the case for transvascular delivery systems which impose significant contact with blood. An additional disadvantage of these vectors is their short biological half-life due to intracellular degradation and non-specific binding (Kizana and Alexander 2003).

The demonstration of plasmid gene transfer opened a new era of cardiovascular therapy. Despite numerous efforts to enhance efficiency through modification, direct myocardial plasmid injection basically remains a proof of concept tool, although there are a growing number of clinical trials employing plasmid gene transfer (Wasala et al. 2011). Despite their attractiveness in terms of cost and better risk/reward profile, the delivery problem becomes clear when comparing the data obtained between in vivo and in vitro efficacy. In most cases the scale and model system data require very large, unrealistic levels of DNA to achieve measurable benefit that cannot be administered clinically.

4.2 Viral Vectors

Since successful cardiac gene therapy for chronic patients demands efficient myocardial transduction long-term, viral vectors are the prime choice due to their unmatched performance. Since 2000, the performance of viral vectors in terms of efficiency has improved significantly due to key investments in basic and preclinical research evaluations. These key investigations have resulted in innovations that have addressed several rate limiting problems including cell specific targeting and at the same time reduced immunogenicity concerns via recombinant tropism selection. Moreover, the growing body of long-term clinical trial safety data has bolstered the case that only viral vectors appear to meet the demands of cardiovascular performance that could be executed in the clinic (Vinge et al. 2008; Hinkel et al. 2011).

Compared to non-viral vectors, viruses simply have an evolutionary advantage in their interactions with the cellular surface receptors, directly leading to more efficient intracellular trafficking of packaged DNA to the nucleus. This is important to note since many constructs can successfully enter the target cell but fail to achieve any expression due to the complex trafficking interactions. Furthermore, their protein capsid protects the message from degradation in lysosomes (Rapti et al. 2011; Ding et al. 2005). Some viral vectors are able to integrate into the host genome, whereas others remain episomal. Integrating viruses result in persistent transgene expression while viruses in episomal form lead to long-term expression in predominantly non-dividing tissues (e.g., adult myocardium) but only transient expression in rapidly dividing tissues (e.g., the hematopoietic system). It should be noted that for some disorders, short-term expression in a relatively small proportion of cells would be sufficient or even desirable (e.g., angiogenesis post-myocardial infarction) whereas other pathologies might require long-term expression (e.g., autosomal recessive cardiomyopathy).

4.2.1 Lentiviruses

These vectors were initially developed for HIV therapy. Lentiviral vectors can infect non-dividing cells, cause long-term expression, and do not typically induce an inflammatory or immune response. The major limitation is the risk for mutagenesis and oncogenesis, thus limiting their desirability for cardiovascular applications (Wasala et al. 2011). The new generation of lentiviruses, containing an mRNA and a nuclear import sequence, have been used for successful myocardial transduction, although expression is usually short-term (Zhao et al. 2002; Bonci et al. 2003). Fleury et al. in a study with rat cardiomyocytes in vivo succeeded in obtaining persistent GFP transfer for up to 10 weeks (Fleury et al. 2003). In another study the transduction efficiency of lentiviral vector-mediated SERCA2 gene transfer was about 40% and the positive physiological effect persisted 6 months later (Niwano et al. 2008).

4.2.2 Adenoviruses

Adenoviral vectors have historically been the most frequently used transfer system in experimental studies. This is attributed to the vector's advantages of the ability to transduce non-dividing cells, ease of manufacture in very high titers, rapid peak onset of transgene expression, and a large transgene cloning capacity. However, their use is limited clinically due to the resultant transient gene expression. In addition, adenoviral vector particles are highly immunogenic and cause inflammatory and toxic reactions in the host. This is due to the fact that the adenovirus stimulates both the innate and adaptive immune systems. Using a rat model, it was confirmed that adenovirus was several orders of magnitude more efficient in transducing myocytes than plasmid DNA expressing the same construct (Guzman et al. 1993). Another study featuring direct intramyocardial injection of replicationdeficient adenovirus demonstrated gene expression in a large animal model. However, the authors noted a robust T-cell-mediated immune response against the vector and limited distribution of the reporter gene (French et al. 1994).

Simultaneously, several groups confirmed the possibility to achieve significant cardiac gene expression after catheter-mediated delivery of adenovirus encoding phospholamban and the β 2-adrenergic receptor (Hajjar et al. 1998; Maurice et al. 1999). Despite sophisticated modifications in an attempt to attenuate the host immune response to the adenovirus, the risk is too high to further advocate the use of this delivery vector for clinical cardiovascular applications of chronic nature.

4.2.3 Adeno-Associated Viruses

The adeno-associated virus (AAV) is a small (20 nm), non-enveloped virus that belongs to the dependovirus genus of the parvovirus family. AAVs have a single stranded DNA genome. The viral genome is approximately 4.7 kb in length, and is composed of two major open-reading frames which encode a Rep (replication) and

Cap (capsid) proteins (Berns and Giraud 1996). For an infection to occur, wildtype AAV requires co-infection with a helper virus such as adenovirus. This allows the viral genome to replicate episomally, and leads to synthesis of the AAV proteins. AAV is one of the smallest viruses, with a capsid mean diameter of 22 nm.

The first AAV2 infectious clone was created in 1982 by Samulski and colleagues (1992). One of the major advantages of AAV vectors is that in multiple animal models and humans, it has been demonstrated that after reaching a steady state level, AAV expression may last for years with an absence of a significant immune response to the transgene (Rivera et al. 2005). Moreover, AAV vectors can be engineered to provide a wide range of cell type tropism with the ability to transduce both dividing and non-dividing cells. Due to their biological properties and advantages over other viral vector systems, AAV has gained great popularity in the last decade in many clinical trials. Seventy-five clinical trials using AAV have been initiated over the past 15 years although only approximately 10% indicated for CVD (Coura Rdos and Nardi 2007).

The process of AAV endocytosis and intracellular trafficking is complex and cannot be underscored in understanding problems with clinical outcomes. Despite the availability and diversity of AAV vectors, several biological barriers appear to limit the effectiveness of AAV mediated gene therapy (Ziello et al. 2010; Coura Rdos and Nardi 2008). Understanding the fundamental basis of these barriers has led to the establishment of methods to improve the efficiency of rAAV-mediated gene delivery. Clarification of the processes by which a virus first enters and traffics through a cell helps to understand the life cycle of the virus and its ability to transduce cardiac muscle. The transport activity of AAV is mainly determined by selective receptor-mediated vesicle transcytosis (Di Pasquale and Chiorini 2006). This intracellular route does not appear to alter the properties of the AAV.

AAV transport to the myocyte's microenvironment can be abrupted by neutralizing antibodies, temperature, and physical and chemical inhibitors through a time and dose-dependent process. In vivo studies have noted that several serotypes of AAV are able to cross vascular endothelium with different efficiencies (Wang et al. 2005). It is known that AAV2 has a relatively poor tropism for vascular cells, although reasonable levels of transduction have been achieved in cardiac myocytes (Melo et al. 2002). Local delivery of AAV2 led to transduction of underlying vascular smooth muscle cells and sequestration of AAV in the extracellar matrix around endothelial cells thus preventing cell binding and entry. The potential of the AAV6 vector for cardiac gene therapy was achieved through the use of VEGF to increase vascular permeability. To date, AAV1, 6, and 9 are considered the best choices for CVD (Gregorovic et al. 2004).

5 Route of Administration Methods for Cardiac Gene Delivery

An important prerequisite for introducing cardiac gene therapy (i.e., following vector/gene construct) into clinical practice is the development of safe and efficient gene delivery techniques. During the last two decades, the field has witnessed the development of several experimental gene delivery strategies with potential therapeutic value for the transition from the preclinical phase to clinical trials. Yet, efforts will need to resolve several problems that exist with delivering sufficient quantities of therapeutic vector in order to establish the efficacious expression profile within safety limits (Katz et al. 2010).

The key challenges with delivery are as follows: sufficient delivery to the myocytes and not collaterals organ systems, improved efficacy in the heart, prevention of injury from the procedure itself, the creation of devices to accommodate the techniques, and avoiding deleterious immune responses. Although cardiac tissue-specific promoters may mitigate collateral organ gene expression, only a true cardiac specific gene delivery method can diminish the biodistribution of vector capsids to extra cardiac organs.

Systemic exposure of vector in the blood can result in unsafe levels of exposure to antigen presenting cells. Antigen presenting cells provide another mechanism to increase the potential for a T-cell-mediated immune response to the vector capsid and or packaged transgene. Ideally, the most optimal gene delivery system should be combined with an appropriate vector, whereby the selections transduce cardiomyocytes but avoid all collateral and immune cells.

Cardiac gene delivery methods can be classified into two main categories: direct or transvascular system approaches. Each of these categories has subsets of particular approaches that range from minimally invasive to very invasive access points (Fig. 4). Direct delivery methods administer vector directly into the cardiac muscle. Typically, this is achieved via intramuscular needle injection or other physical methods that penetrate the heart while depositing vector. On the other hand, the more commonly employed transvascular system approach seeks to leverage the heart's vast network of arterial, venous, and capillary transport system for broad distribution to adjacent cardiac tissue from the site of administration. Here, vector is infused through a designed access point in the coronary anatomy with a specific time interval, pressure, and flow rate. The end goal is to diffuse the vector through the endothelial barriers, where they become bioavailable in the cardiomyocyte compartments.

5.1 Direct Myocardial Delivery

Direct gene delivery methods have been utilized for more than two decades and many authors continue to reference and utilize them in their preclinical cardiac gene therapy studies. Numerous methods have also successfully been translated for use in clinical trials, which range in the degree of invasiveness. The most relevant of



Fig. 4 Routes of administration for cardiac gene delivery

them are usually classified as either an open technique, that is to include the surgical opening of the chest or a closed technique, i.e., transcutaneous or minimally invasive.

5.1.1 Intramyocardial Injection

The majority of successful preclinical studies have involved direct administration of vector via standard needle. This technique allows for the application of a high concentration of vector directly at the target site with excellent specificity and control. Several groups have demonstrated the feasibility of delivering transgenes to the heart via direct intramyocardial injection of plasmid DNA (Acsadi et al. 2002; Buttrick et al. 1992; von Harsdorf et al. 1993). Although these studies have been encouraging because plasmid DNA may be expressed for up to 6 months by cardiomyocytes adjacent to the area of injection, estimates of the number of myocytes that can be transfected in vivo consistently have been as low as 60–100 cells per injection (Acsadi et al. 2002). This low efficiency has made it difficult to measure the physiological effects of gene expression in myocytes, making it unlikely that clinically significant effects will result since there is an ultimate limit to the number of injections that can be performed without permanent injury (von Harsdorf et al. 1993).

The low transduction efficiency of plasmid DNA vectors leads to the search for improved gene transfer efficiency with direct injection of an adenovirus vector. Hearts transfected with an adenovirus vector containing the β -galactosidase gene showed significantly increased β -galactosidase enzymatic activity compared with hearts injected with β -galactosidase plasmid. Unfortunately, the gene expression persisted for only 1 week after injection and it included acute inflammatory response, which the authors considered to be related to the injury produced by

direct injection as well as a cellular immune response against the adenovirus itself (Guzman et al. 1993).

French et al. first demonstrated in a porcine model these important points relevant to needle injection: (1) Direct intramyocardial injection of replicationdeficient adenovirus is 140,000 times more efficient than injection of an equal number of genome copies of recombinant plasmid DNA, (2) The impact of this procedure on cardiac function appears to be negligible provided the number of injections is reasonable and across myocardial surface area, (3) The amount of recombinant protein produced increases with the amount of virus, but plateaus, (4) The expression of recombinant genes following intramyocardial injection is similar in the left and right ventricles; and (5) The percentage of cardiomyocytes expressing β -galactosidase in the needle track adjacent to the injection, but rarely are lacZ positive cells detected farther than 5 mm from any given injection site (French et al. 1994).

Large animal model studies generally report robust expression within weeks 1–4 with a decline in follow-up timepoints. For example, in a canine study using adenovirus encoding chloramphenicol acetyl transferase, peak gene expression was noted at 2 days and decreased by an order of magnitude 14 days after direct single myocardial administration. In this study, there was not significant transduction of distant organs and no documented changes in global or regional LV function (Magovern et al. 1996). However, the feasibility of adenovirus-mediated gene transfer has been limited by the cellular immune response which causes myocardial inflammation and results in transient recombinant gene expression (Barr et al. 1994).

In summary, the direct gene delivery approach was the first among others that helped establish the therapeutic efficacy of cardiac gene therapy. Furthermore, the use of this method in some experimental models resulted in successful therapeutic myocardial angiogenesis, and focal treatment of cardiac arrhythmias through effects on cellular electrophysiology; thus, making this platform widely used. Finally, this approach has been successfully utilized in Phase I/II clinical trials demonstrating its potential therapeutic relevance. This branch of delivery continues to evolve with some new concepts such as liquid jet injection, sonoporation, and electroporation applications being tested in preclinical evaluations.

5.2 Transvascular Gene Delivery

Transvascular delivery approaches are more widely practised due to the high frequency, reliability, and safety of interventional catheter based procedures. Effective therapy demands a gene delivery method capable of globally transducing the myocardium while minimizing the systemic exposure to collateral organs (Hajjar et al. 2000; Donahue et al. 1997). This addresses the key rate limiting problem with direct delivery, where only a high concentration of expression is limited to the injection site. Transvascular applications can result in a more homogenous profile with a greater area of myocardium transduced from the original

infusion site. This paradigm is particularly valid in heart failure gene therapy where most authors agree that gene transfer should be as diffuse and homogeneous as possible to access maximum failing myocardium. Furthermore, a diverse number of configurations without sacrificing the degree of invasiveness are available with modification of the catheter including antegrade (arterial infusion via left/right main branches), retrograde (greater cardiac vein, coronary sinus), and both via concomitant blockage and delivery to increase local perfusion delivery gradients.

Additional transvascular delivery procedures that achieve more robust delivery profiles at the cost of invasiveness include surgical approaches that use cardiopulmonary bypass. Bridges group have pioneered the use of molecular cardiac surgery with recirculating delivery (MCARD) which features complete cardiac isolation of the heart with retrograde delivery to maximize vector transfer to the heart with minimal collateral circulation in the context of open heart surgery (Fargnoli et al. 2013; Katz et al. 2014).

5.2.1 Antegrade Intracoronary Delivery

The most preferred gene delivery route at present involves percutaneous catheter based vector infusion into the coronary arteries. The benefits of this technique include its minimal invasiveness, the possibility of transgene delivery to all four myocardial chambers, and the delivery of vector genomes using endovascular coronary catheterization. Early reports using simple antegrade intracoronary delivery achieved very limited myocardial transduction efficiency (Magovern et al. 1996; Hayase et al. 2005; Kaplitt et al. 1996). The low degree and variability in transduction was due to a number of factors including animal species, biocompatibility of catheter and vector, different pharmacological agents used to permeabilize the vasculature, and vector-related variables such as vector serotype and dose (Ding et al. 2004).

The critical parameters influencing the efficiency of intracoronary perfusion included exposure time, high coronary flow rate, perfusion pressure, the use of crystalloid solution as opposed to whole blood, virus concentration, and temperature (Donahue et al. 1997). Further investigations supported that the most critical variable for intracoronary gene transfer is the short residence time of vector within the coronary circulation of a beating heart (Boekstegers and Kupatt 2004). Increasing perfusion pressure and flow augments myocardial expression perhaps by increasing the fenestration width between capillary endothelial cells, permitting better viral transendothelial transfer and enhancing virus–myocyte interaction (Wright et al. 2001).

5.2.2 Advanced Selective Retrograde Intracoronary and Surgical Approaches

The feasibility of percutaneous retrograde gene delivery by selective pressureregulated retroinfusion of the coronary veins has been demonstrated by Boekstegers et al. This was achieved with a custom device consisting of a pump unit, extracorporeal circuit, and retroinfusion catheter coupled with a suction device. The authors demonstrated advantages of retrograde delivery compared to antegrade and confirmed the results from several groups that blocking the venous outflow and coronary ischemia can significantly increase viral transfection of the myocardium (Boekstegers and Kupatt 2004).

Unlike previous studies that utilized a single-pass perfusion technique, Bridges group was the first to create an isolated "closed loop" recirculating model of vectormediated cardiac gene delivery in the large animal heart using cardiopulmonary bypass with an antegrade delivery approach, allowing for vector recirculation for 20 min. Later, they used CPB with high-pressure retrograde coronary sinus infusion with multiple-pass recirculation of vector through the heart and washed out of the cardiac circuit prior to weaning from CPB, which limited extracardiac gene expression. They were able to show an increase of several orders of magnitude in cardiac marker gene activities compared with controls. Furthermore, there was minimal gene expression in the liver and other collateral organs (Fargnoli et al. 2013; Katz et al. 2014). These results validate this surgical technique as a potentially clinically translatable approach for cardiac gene therapy in carefully selected cardiac surgical patients.

6 Future Perspectives

The outlook for cardiac gene therapy is very bright since robust safety data is now available from numerous Phase I and II trials. A large pool of patients has completed trials without any major adverse events, specifically with the adenoassociated virus and plasmid DNA vectors. The ideal cardiac gene treatment plan, depending on target manipulation strategy, is to safely administer the least amount of product that would result in improved survival outcome for chronic heart failure patients. Currently, efficient delivery remains a key issue as doses are high. Improvements in vector design, medical device based delivery technologies, and genetic discovery are necessary to advance the field toward its goal for first FDA approved treatment.

References

- Acsadi G, Jiao S, Jani A, Duke D, Williams P, Chong W et al (2002) Direct gene transfer and expression into rat heart in vivo. New Biol 3:71–81
- Anversa P, Leri A, Kajstura J, Nadal-Ginard B (2002) Myocyte growth and cardiac repair. J Mol Cell Cardiol 34(2):91–105
- Barr E, Carroll J, Kalynych AM, Tripathy SK, Kozarsky K, Wilson JM et al (1994) Efficient catheter-mediated gene transfer into the heart using replication-defective adenovirus. Gene Ther 1:51–58
- Bergmann O, Bhardwaj RD, Bernard S, Zdunek S, Barnabé-Heider F, Walsh S et al (2009) Evidence for cardiomyocyte renewal in humans. Science 324(5923):98–102
- Berns KI, Giraud C (1996) Biology of adeno-associated virus. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 218:1–23
- Boekstegers P, Kupatt C (2004) Current concepts and applications of coronary venous retroinfusions. Basic Res Cardiol 99:373–381

- Bonci D, Cittadini A, Latronico MV, Borello U, Aycock JK, Drusco A et al (2003) Advanced' generation lentiviruses as efficient vectors for cardiomyocyte gene transduction in vitro and in vivo. Gene Ther 10:630–636
- Brinks H, Boucher M, Gao E, Chuprun JK, Pesant S, Raake PW et al (2010) Level of G proteincoupled receptor kinase-2 determines myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury via pro- and anti-apoptotic mechanisms. Circ Res 107(9):1140–1149
- Buttrick PM, Kass A, Kitsis RN, Kaplan ML, Leinwand LA (1992) Behavior of genes directly injected into the rat heart in vivo. Circ Res 70:193–198
- Chatterjee S, Stewart AS, Bish LT, Jayasankar V, Kim EM, Pirolli T et al (2002) Viral gene transfer of the antiapoptotic factor Bcl-2 protects against chronic postischemic heart failure. Circulation 106(12 Suppl 1):I212–I1217
- Coura Rdos S, Nardi NB (2007) The state of the art of adeno-associated virus-based vectors in gene therapy. Virol J 4:99
- Coura Rdos S, Nardi NB (2008) A role for adeno-associated viral vectors in gene therapy. Gen Mol Biol 31:1–11
- Di Pasquale G, Chiorini JA (2006) AAV transcytosis through barrier epithelia and endothelium. Mol Ther 13:506–516
- Ding Z, Fach C, Sasse A, Gődecke A, Schrader J (2004) A minimally invasive approach for efficient gene delivery to rodent hearts. Gene Ther 11:260–265
- Ding W, Zhang L, Yan Z, Engelhardt JF (2005) Intracellular trafficking of adeno-associated viral vectors. Gene Ther 12:873–880
- Dobaczewski M, Chen W, Frangogiannis NG (2011) Transforming growth factor (TGF)-β signaling in cardiac remodeling. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51(4):600–606
- Donahue JK, Kikkawa K, Johns DC, Marban E, Lawrence JH (1997) Ultrarapid, highly efficient viral gene transfer to the heart. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94:4664–4668
- Fargnoli AS, Katz MG, Yarnall C, Isidro A, Petrov M, Steuerwald N et al (2013) Cardiac surgical delivery of the sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase rescues myocytes in ischemic heart failure. Ann Thorac Surg 96(2):586–595
- Felgner PL, Barenholz Y, Behr JP, Cheng SH, Cullis P, Huang L et al (1997) Nomenclature for synthetic gene delivery systems. Hum Gene Ther 8:511–512
- Fleury S, Simeoni E, Zuppinger C, Deglon N, von Segesser LK, Kappenberger L et al (2003) Multiply attenuated, self-inactivating lentiviral vectors efficiency deliver and express genes for extended periods of time in adult rat cardiomyocytes in vivo. Circulation 197:2375–2382
- Frazier OH, Myers TJ (1998) Surgical therapy for severe heart failure. Curr Probl Cardiol 23:721-768
- French BA, Mazur W, Geske RS, Bolli R (1994) Direct in vivo gene transfer into porcine myocardium using replication-deficient adenoviral vectors. Circulation 90:2414–2424
- Gaffney MM, Hynes SO, Barry F, O'Brien T (2007) Cardiovascular gene therapy: current status and therapeutic potential. Br J Pharmacol 152:175–188
- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB et al (2013) Executive summary: heart disease and stroke statistics--2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 127(1):e6–e245
- Greenberg B, Butler J, Felker GM, Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Desai AS et al (2016) Calcium upregulation by percutaneous administration of gene therapy in patients with cardiac disease (CUPID 2): a randomised, multinational, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 2b trial. Lancet 387(10024):1178–1186
- Gregorovic P, Blankinship MJ, Allen JM, Crawford RW, Meuse L, Miller DG et al (2004) Systemic delivery of genes to striated muscles using adeno-associated viral vectors. Nat Med 10:828–834
- Guzman RJ, Lemarchand P, Crystal RG, Epstein SE, Finkel T (1993) Efficient gene transfer into myocardium by direct injection of adenovirus vectors. Circ Res 73:1202–1207
- Hajjar RJ, Schmidt U, Matsui T, Guerrero JL, Lee KH, Gwathmey JK et al (1998) Modulation of ventricular function through gene transfer in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95:5251–5256

- Hajjar RJ, del Monte F, Matsui T, Rosenzweig A (2000) Prospects for gene therapy for heart failure. Circ Res 86:616–621
- Hayase M, del Monte F, Kawase Y, MacNeill BD, McGregor J, Yoneyama R et al (2005) Catheter-based antegrade intracoronary viral gene delivery with coronary venous blockade. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 288:H2995–H3000
- Hinkel R, Trenkwalder T, Kupatt C (2011) Gene therapy for ischemic heart disease. Expert Opin Biol Ther 11:723–737
- Holbourn KP, Acharya KR, Perbal B (2008) The CCN family of proteins: structure-function relationships. Trends Biochem Sci 33(10):461–473
- Jeong D, Lee MA, Li Y, Yang DK, Kho C, Oh JG et al (2016) Matricellular protein CCN5 reverses established cardiac fibrosis. J Am Coll Cardiol 67(13):1556–1568
- Kaplitt MG, Xiao X, Samulski RJ, Li J, Ojamaa K, Klein IL et al (1996) Long-term gene transfer in porcine myocardium after coronary infusion of an adeno-associated virus vector. Ann Thorac Surg 62:1669–1676
- Kastrup J, Jorgensen E, Rück A, Tägil K, Glogar D, Rusyllo W et al (2005) Direct intramyocardial plasmid VEGF-A165 gene therapy in patients with stable severe angina pectoris. A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study: the Euroinject one trial. J Am Coll Cardiol 45:982–988
- Katz MG, Fargnoli AS, Pritchette LA, Bridges CR (2010) Cardiac gene therapy: optimization of gene delivery techniques in vivo. Hum Gene Ther 21:371–380
- Katz MG, Fargnoli AS, Williams RD, Steuerwald NM, Isidro A, Ivanina AV et al (2014) Safety and efficacy of high-dose adeno-associated virus 9 encoding sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca(2+) adenosine triphosphatase delivered by molecular cardiac surgery with recirculating delivery in ovine ischemic cardiomyopathy. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 148(3):1065–1072
- Katz MG, Brandon-Warner E, Fargnoli AS, Williams RD, Kendle AP, Hajjar RJ et al (2016a) Mitigation of myocardial fibrosis by molecular cardiac surgery-mediated gene overexpression. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 151(4):1191–1200
- Katz MG, Fargnoli AS, Kendle AP, Hajjar RJ, Bridges CR (2016b) The role of microRNAs in cardiac development and regenerative capacity. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 310(5): H528–H541
- Kaye DM, Preovolos A, Marshall T, Byrne M, Hoshijima M, Hajjar RJ et al (2007) Percutaneous cardiac recirculation-mediated gene transfer of an inhibitory phospholamban peptide reverses advanced heart failure in large animals. Am Coll Cardiol 50(3):253–260
- Kikuchi K, Holdway JE, Werdich AA, Anderson RM, Fang Y, Egnaczyk GF et al (2010) Primary contribution to zebrafish heart regeneration by gata4(+) cardiomyocytes. Nature 464 (7288):601–605
- Kizana E, Alexander IE (2003) Cardiac gene therapy: therapeutic potential and current progress. Curr Gene Ther 3:418–451
- Koch WJ, Rockman HA, Samama P, Hamilton RA, Bond RA, Milano CA et al (1995) Cardiac function in mice overexpressing the beta-adrenergic receptor kinase or a beta ARK inhibitor. Science 268(5215):1350–1353
- Kolwicz SC Jr, Odom GL, Nowakowski SG, Moussavi-Harami F, Chen X, Reinecke H et al (2016) AAV6-mediated cardiac-specific overexpression of Ribonucleotide reductase enhances myocardial contractility. Mol Ther 24(2):240–250
- Lin H, Parmacek MS, Morle G, Bolling S, Leiden JM (1990) (1990) Expression of recombinant genes in myocardium in vivo after direct injection of DNA. Circulation 82:2217–2221
- Losordo DW, Vale PR, Symes JF, Dunnington CH, Esakof DD, Maysky M et al (1998) Gene therapy for myocardial angiogenesis: initial clinical results with direct myocardial injection of phVEGF 165 as sole therapy for myocardial ischemia. Circulation 98:2800–2804
- Magovern CJ, Mack CA, Zhang J, Hahn RT, Ko W, Isom OW et al (1996) Direct in vivo gene transfer to canine myocardium using a replication-deficient adenovirus vector. Ann Thorac Surg 62:425–433

- Mann DL, Barger PM, Burkhoff D (2012) Myocardial recovery and the failing heart: myth, magic, or molecular target? J Am Coll Cardiol 60(24):2465–2472
- Marchand GS, Noiseux N, Tanguay J-F, Sirois MG (2002) Blockade of in vivo VEGF-mediated angiogenesis by antisense gene therapy: role of Flk-1 and Flt-1 receptors. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 282:H194–H204
- Maurice JP, Hata JA, Shah AS, White DC, McDonald PH, Dolber PC et al (1999) Enhancement of cardiac function after adenoviral-mediated in vivo intracoronary β2-adrenergic receptor gene delivery. J Clin Invest 104:21–29
- Melo LG, Agraval R, Zhang L, Rezvani M, Mangi AA et al (2002) Gene therapy strategy for longterm myocardial protection using adeno-associated virus-mediated delivery of heme oxygenase gene. Circulation 105:602–607
- Melo LG, Pachori AS, Gnecchi M, Dzau VJ (2005) Genetic therapies for cardiovascular diseases. Trends Mol Med 11:240–250
- Miao W, Luo Z, Kitsis RN, Walsh K (2000) Intracoronary, adenovirus-mediated Akt gene transfer in heart limits infarct size following ischemia-reperfusion injury in vivo. J Mol Cell Cardiol 32 (12):2397–2402
- Montgomery RL, Hullinger TG, Semus HM, Dickinson BA, Seto AG, Lynch JM et al (2011) Therapeutic inhibition of miR-208a improves cardiac function and survival during heart failure. Circulation 124:1537–1547
- Most P, Remppis A, Pleger ST, Katus HA, Koch WJ (2007) S100A1: a novel inotropic regulator of cardiac performance. Transition from molecular physiology to pathophysiological relevance. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 293(2):R568–R577
- Moussavi-Harami F, Razumova MV, Racca AW, Cheng Y, Stempien-Otero A, Regnier M (2015) 2-Deoxy adenosine triphosphate improves contraction in human end-stage heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 79:256–763
- Müller OJ, Ksienzyk J, Katus HA (2008) Gene-therapy delivery strategies in cardiology. Future Cardiol 4:135–150
- Nabel EG (1995) Gene therapy for cardiovascular disease. Circulation 91:541-548
- Niwano K, Arai M, Koitabashi N, Watanabe A, Ikeda Y, Miyoshi H et al (2008) Lentiviral vectormediated SERCA2 gene transfer protects against heart failure and left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction in rats. Mol Ther 16:1002–1004
- Nowakowski SG, Kolwicz SC, Korte FS, Luo Z, Robinson-Hamm JN, Page JL et al (2013) Transgenic overexpression of ribonucleotide reductase improves cardiac performance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(15):6187–6192
- Pleger ST, Shan C, Ksienzyk J, Bekeredjian R, Boekstegers P, Hinkel R et al (2011) Cardiac AAV9-S100A1 gene therapy rescues post-ischemic heart failure in a preclinical large animal model. Sci Transl Med 3(92):92ra64
- Qin L, Pahud DR, Ding Y, Bielinska AU, Kukowska-Latallo JF, Baker JR et al (1998) Efficient transfer of genes into murine cardiac grafts by Starburst polyamidoamine dendrimers. Hum Gene Ther 9:553–560
- Quarck R, Holvoet P (2004) Gene therapy approaches for cardiovascular diseases. Curr Gene Ther 2:207–223
- Quarck R, De Geest B, Stengel D, Mertens A, Lox M, Theilmeier G (2001) Adenovirus-mediated gene transfer of human platelet-activating factor-acetylhydrolase prevents injury-induced neointima formation and reduces spontaneous atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circulation 103:2495–2500
- Raake PW, Hinkel R, Müller S, Delker S, Kreuzpointner R, Kupatt C et al (2008) Cardio-specific long-term gene expression in a porcine model after selective pressure-regulated retroinfusion of adeno-associated viral (AAV) vectors. Gene Ther 15(1):12–17
- Raake PW, Schlegel P, Ksienzyk J, Reinkober J, Barthelmes J, Schinkel S et al (2013) AAV6.β ARKct cardiac gene therapy ameliorates cardiac function and normalizes the catecholaminergic axis in a clinically relevant large animal heart failure model. Eur Heart J 34(19):1437–1447

- Rapti K, Chaanine AH, Hajjar RJ (2011) Targeted gene therapy for the treatment of heart failure. Can J Cardiol 27:265–283
- Regnier M, Martin H, Barsotti RJ, Rivera AJ, Martyn DA, Clemmens E (2004) Cross-bridge versus thin filament contributions to the level and rate of force development in cardiac muscle. Biophys J 87(3):1815–1824
- Rinne A, Littwitz C, Kienitz M-C, Gmerek A, Bösche LI, Pott L (2006) Gene silencing in adult rat cardiac myocytes in vitro by adenovirus-mediated RNA interference. J Muscle Res Cell Motil 27:413–421
- Rivera VM, Gao GP, Grant RL, Schnell MA, Zoltick PW, Rozamus LW et al (2005) Long-term pharmacologically regulated expression of erythropoietin in primates following AAV-mediated gene transfer. Blood 105:1424–1430
- Rosenkranz S (2004) TGF-beta1 and angiotensin networking in cardiac remodeling. Cardiovasc Res 63(3):423-432
- Samulski RJ, Berns KI, Tan M, Muzyczka N (1992) Cloning of adeno-associated virus into pBR322: rescue of intact virus from the recombinant plasmid in human cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 79:2077–2081
- Shah AM, Mann DL (2011) In search of new therapeutic targets and strategies for heart failure: recent advances in basic science. Lancet 378(9792):704–712
- St. John-Sutton M, Pfeffer MA, Moye L, Plappert T, Rouleau JL, Lamas G et al (1997) Cardiovascular death and left ventricular remodeling two years after myocardial infarction: baseline predictors and impact of long-term use of captopril. Circulation 96(10):3294–3299
- Suckau L, Fechner H, Chemaly E, Krohn S, Hadri L, Kockskämper J (2009) Long-term cardiactargeted RNA interference for the treatment of heart failure restores cardiac function and reduces pathological hypertrophy. Circulation 119:1241–1252
- Tang T, Hammond HK, Firth A, Yang Y, Gao MH, Yuan JX et al (2011) Adenylyl cyclase 6 improves calcium uptake and left ventricular function in aged hearts. J Am Coll Cardiol 57 (18):1846–1855
- Tsuji T, Del Monte F, Yoshikawa Y, Abe T, Shimizu J, Nakajima-Takenaka C et al (2009) Rescue of Ca2+ overload-induced left ventricular dysfunction by targeted ablation of phospholamban. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 296(2):H310–H317
- Tsunoda S, Mazda O, Oda Y, Iida Y, Akabame S, Kishida T (2005) Sonoporation using microbubble BR14 promotes pDNA/siRNA transduction to murine heart. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 336:118–127
- Vale PR, Losordo DW, Milliken CE, McDonald MC, Gravelin LM, Curry CM et al (2001) Randomized, single-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study of catheter-based myocardial gene transfer for therapeutic angiogenesis using left ventricular electromechanical mapping in patients with chronic myocardial ischemia. Circulation 103:2138–2143
- Vinge LE, Raake PW, Koch WJ (2008) Gene therapy in heart failure. Circ Res 102:1458–1470
- von Harsdorf R, Schott RJ, Shen YT, Vatner SF, Mahdavi V, Nadal-Ginard B (1993) Gene injection into canine myocardium as a useful model for studying gene expression in the heart of large mammals. Circ Res 72:688–695
- Wang Z, Zhu T, Qiao C, Zhou L, Wang B, Zhang J et al (2005) Adeno-associated virus serotype 8 efficiently delivers genes to muscle and heart. Nat Biotechnol 23:321–328
- Wasala NB, Shin J-H, Duan D (2011) The evolution of heart gene delivery vectors. J Gene Med 13:557–565
- Woitek F, Zentilin L, Hoffman NE, Powers JC, Ottiger I, Parikh S et al (2015) Intracoronary cytoprotective gene therapy: a study of VEGF-B167 in a pre-clinical animal model of dilated cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 66(2):139–153
- Wright MJ, Wightman LML, Latchman DS, Marber MS (2001) In vivo myocardial gene transfer: optimization and evaluation of intracoronary gene delivery in vivo. Gene Ther 8:1833–1839
- Zablocki D, Sadoshima J (2013) Angiotensin II and oxidative stress in the failing heart. Antioxid Redox Signal 19(10):1095–1109

- Zangi L, Lui KO, von Gise A, Ma Q, Ebina W, Ptaszek LM et al (2013) Modified mRNA directs the fate of heart progenitor cells and induces vascular regeneration after myocardial infarction. Nat Biotechnol 31(10):898–907
- Zhao J, Pettigrew GJ, Thomas J, Vandenberg JI, Delriviere L, Bolton EM et al (2002) Lentiviral vectors for delivery of genes into neonatal and adult ventricular cardiac myocytes in vitro and in vivo. Basic Res Cardiol 97:348–358
- Ziello JE, Huang Y, Jovin IS (2010) Cellular endocytosis and gene delivery. Mol Med 16:222-229

Noncoding RNAs in Heart Failure

Seema Dangwal, Katharina Schimmel, Ariana Foinquinos, Ke Xiao, and Thomas Thum

Contents

1	Introduction						
	1.1	ncRNAs: Classification and Characteristics	424				
	1.2	Mechanism of Action	425				
	1.3	ncRNA Therapeutics	426				
2	Bioinformatics: A Valuable Tool in ncRNA Research						
	2.1 Microarray and RNA-Sequencing						
	2.2	Expression Profiling	428				
	2.3	3 Functional Annotation of Noncoding RNAs					
	2.4	Coding Potential and Conservation					
	2.5	Interaction Between Noncoding Transcripts and Other Molecules					
	2.6	2.6 IncRNA-Protein Interactions					
3	ncRNAs: Key Regulators of Heart Failure Pathophysiology						
	3.1	5.1 Heart Failure Due to Acute Myocardial Infarction					
		3.1.1 Arteriosclerosis	431				
		3.1.2 Ischemia	431				
	3.2	Heart Failure Due to Hypertension and Metabolic Disorders	432				
		3.2.1 Cardiac Hypertrophy	432				
		3.2.2 Cardiac Fibrosis	435				
4	4 Conclusion						
Re	4 Aeferences						

Abstract

Heart failure is a major contributor to the healthcare burden and mortality worldwide. Current treatment strategies are able to slow down the transition of healthy heart into the failing one; nevertheless better understanding of the complex genetic regulation of maladaptive remodeling in the failing heart is essential for new drug discovery.

S. Dangwal • K. Schimmel • A. Foinquinos • K. Xiao • T. Thum (🖂)

Institute of Molecular and Translational Therapeutic Strategies, IFBTx, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

e-mail: dangwal.seema@mh-hannover.de; thum.thomas@mh-hannover.de

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_99

Noncoding RNAs are key epigenetic regulators of cardiac gene expression and thus significantly influence cardiac homeostasis and functions.

In this chapter we will discuss characteristics of noncoding RNAs, especially miRNAs, long noncoding RNAs, and circular RNAs, and review recent evidences proving their profound involvement during different stages of heart failure progression. Several open questions still prevent the extensive use of noncoding RNA-modulating therapies in clinics; yet they are becoming an attractive target to define novel regulatory mechanisms in the heart. In-depth study of their interaction with gene networks will refine our current view of heart failure and revolutionize the drug development in coming years.

Keywords

Circular RNA • Heart failure • Long noncoding RNAs • miRNAs • ncRNA therapy

1 Introduction

The first decade of post-genomic era showcased enormous discoveries to highlight key regulatory roles of novel epigenetic modifiers exploiting the high-throughput multiomic tools. Among these modulators, the noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs) represent a diverse class of RNA transcripts with significant association to human pathophysiology (Dangwal and Thum 2014; Thum 2014). Being incapable of encoding proteins, these RNA transcripts were referred to as the dark matter of the genome until recent studies demonstrated their ability to fine-tune the genomic interactions with various environmental factors to maintain hemostasis in a biological organ system. Dysregulation of such regulatory RNA transcripts can therefore disturb the physiological balance of functional protein expression leading to complex pathologies including heart failure, diabetes, and cancer (Beermann et al. 2016; Dangwal and Thum 2014).

Heart failure is one of the largest contributors to human morbidity and mortality. Despite the wide range of available therapeutic options, the prevalence and healthcare costs associated with cardiovascular disorders continue to increase worldwide (Gaziano 2005; Go et al. 2013). Recent advances of heart failure treatment are able to slow down the disease progression to some extent; yet in-depth understanding of novel pathological mechanisms is essential to develop better treatments and novel drugs. In this chapter we overview characteristics, working mechanisms of ncRNAs, and their biological functions with special emphasis on prevalence and progression of heart failure or associated pathologies.

1.1 ncRNAs: Classification and Characteristics

Based on the transcript length ncRNAs can be broadly classified as short or long ncRNAs. Short ncRNAs (<200 nucleotides) mainly comprise much studied, highly conserved microRNAs (miRs/miRNAs). To date, approximately 2000 miRNAs have

been mapped to the human genome and more are expected to be discovered (Beermann et al. 2016; Dangwal and Thum 2014). On the other hand, long ncRNAs (lncRNAs, >200 nucleotides) lack >100 amino acid classical open reading frame and their discovery is still at a preliminary stage (Beermann et al. 2016). LncRNA transcripts account for the major part of the noncoding transcriptome and encompass nearly 30,000 different transcripts in humans. Another classification is based on the linearity of transcripts and can be classified as linear, e.g. miRNAs and lncRNAs, or circular, e.g. circular RNAs (circRNAs). The 3'- and 5'-ends of linear RNA transcripts join together to make a loop during the biogenesis of circRNAs which also confers high stability to these transcripts compared to linear forms (Beermann et al. 2016; Jeck et al. 2013). Due to their high abundance paired with a high phylogenetic conservation, circRNAs possess very attractive characteristics that could potentially be exploited for ncRNA-based therapies. However, their functional importance in the heart represents a widely unexplored territory.

ncRNAs are detectable in most tissues and the body fluids. High-throughput screenings and expression profiling have revealed the stimuli or stress responsiveness and spatiotemporal variations in ncRNA expression. Compared to protein-coding genes, ncRNAs are more tissue specific and show greater variation between tissues (Derrien et al. 2012). When mapped on human genome, some ncRNAs are located in the intergenic or intronic regions while lncRNAs also overlap pseudogenes and as natural antisense transcripts to coding genes (Milligan and Lipovich 2015). Based on the position and direction of transcription in relation to other coding genes, lncRNAs can be classified into several different subtypes, e.g., sense or antisense overlapping, intergenic or intronic, bidirectional, and processed transcripts (Mattick and Rinn 2015; Peschansky and Wahlestedt 2014). Location wise, lncRNAs may exclusively reside in the nucleus but some are cytoplasmic or both nucleic and cytoplasmic. On the other hand, mature miRNAs carrying protein complexes and circRNAs are located in cytoplasm (Beermann et al. 2016).

1.2 Mechanism of Action

MiRNAs carry nucleotide seed sequences that are complementary to binding sites on the 3'-untranslated regions (3'-UTRs) of coding or messenger RNA (mRNA) transcripts (Bartel 2004). This miRNA base-pairing represses gene translation upon binding to mRNAs and thereby regulates vital cellular functions mediated by them. In mammals, such repression of functional protein-coding genes remains modest (Guo et al. 2010); however, roles of specific miRNAs or their families often become prominent under stress indicating their importance as suitable therapeutic targets in human disorders (van Rooij and Olson 2012; van Rooij et al. 2012). Changes in miRNA expression profiles observed during progression of heart disease can affect gene expression in different cellular compartments of heart in a direct or paracrine manner (Bang et al. 2014; Care et al. 2007; Kumarswamy and Thum 2013; Thum et al. 2008; Thum 2012). Compared to miRNAs, lncRNAs act through versatile mechanisms and seem to have a wide range of functions in cellular and developmental processes. Despite the RNA polymerase

II-dependent transcription common to mRNAs, lncRNAs also show distinct characteristics, for instance facilitating their biological functions by forming secondary and tertiary conformations of RNA structures. Recent studies suggest their exceptional ability to regulate bidirectional gene expression at any level by controlling chromatin methylation, histone modifications, mRNA transcription, stability or translation, etc. (Boon et al. 2013; Quiat and Olson 2013; Thum 2012). Moreover, this regulatory impact on gene regulation can be very prominent as the antisense transcription overlaps more than one-fourth of coding genes. The mechanism of circRNAs is mostly unclear but a few are known to have miRNA sponge function as they can carry repetitive complementary miRNA sequences. For instance, CDR1AS/CirS-7 and Hrcr are able to sponge miR-7 and miR-223, respectively (Hansen et al. 2013). However, very few lncRNAs and circRNAs have been characterized in detail.

1.3 ncRNA Therapeutics

Functional modulation of ncRNAs in cardiovascular disease animal models or genetically modified mice has demonstrated their importance and catalyzed research interest towards developing novel ncRNA-based therapeutic strategies (Dangwal and Thum 2014; Quiat and Olson 2013). Unlike conventional drug molecules, miRNAs may target multiple mRNAs simultaneously to influence the translation of a group of genes which often results in a strong impact on common cellular and biological end-point functions (van Rooij and Olson 2012). This is indeed advantageous over conventional drugs due to the least target desensitization. However, the possibility of their off-target effects due to unspecific uptake by various tissues upon systemic delivery may pose limitation to these strategies. Most of these limitations could be minimized using advanced drug delivery techniques, e.g., site-directed drug delivery.

ncRNAs can be delivered in vivo using either nonviral methods or viral infections. Several commercially available oligonucleotide chemistries allow high-affinity interactions with miRNAs activated in pathological states using miRNA interference, i.e., antisense oligonucleotides that bind and block target miRNAs in vivo. Unlike low-molecular-weight small molecules, miRNA inhibitors show rapid and high plasma clearance rates within hours of administration due to high volume of distribution (Geary et al. 2001; Levin 1999). Therefore, most of the miRNA inhibitors are chemically modified to lower the drug clearance by increasing plasma protein binding, conferring stability against enzymatic hydrolysis by nucleases, and enhancing cellular uptake as seen in phosphorothioate backbone modification or cholesterol linkage. A miRNA inhibitor (e.g. antagomir and anti-miRNA) is a small synthetic RNA oligomer that is complementary either to the seed sequence or to the full-length sequence of the specific miRNA. An antagomir contains a cholesterol construct conjugated via a 2'-Omethyl (2'-OMe) group linkage and several phosphorothioate moieties to improve cellular uptake, in vivo stability, and hepatic or other organ uptake (Krutzfeldt et al. 2005). Newly developed antisense oligonucleotides use unconjugated phosphorothioate with different 2' sugar modification via either a 2'-OMe group or a 2'-O-methoxyethyl (2'-MOE) group to increase stability and efficiency (Broderick et al. 2011).

Unlike miRNAs, lncRNAs show fairly low evolutionary conservation along the phylogenic tree and it is therefore challenging to use cross-species experimental disease models to study most of the lncRNA candidates which have been screened from human clinical samples. Nonetheless, lncRNA modification can be carried out using commercially available single-stranded DNA-LNA chimeric antisense oligo-nucleotides "GapmeRs." These oligonucleotides catalyze degradation of target lncRNAs by recruiting RNase H present in the nucleus and cytoplasm and degrade RNA–DNA heteroduplexes (Beermann et al. 2016).

2 Bioinformatics: A Valuable Tool in ncRNA Research

A growing number of noncoding transcripts such as miRNAs, lncRNAs, and circRNAs are suggested to be involved as potential therapeutic targets in cardiac vascular disease. However, due to some intrinsic difficulties such as less conservation, secondary structure effects, and cell type-specific expression profiles, the exact biological and molecular functions of most disease-associated noncoding transcripts remain largely unknown. Bioinformatics approaches including specialized database development, functional prediction, and interactive network construction, as well as utilization of the substantial data generated from high-throughput technologies, are tremendously necessary before and during the wet-lab investigations.

2.1 Microarray and RNA-Sequencing

Microarray has been widely used over decades in medical research to discover human disease-correlated molecules. The basic technical principle behind microarray is the hybridization between nucleotides with complementary base pairs, which also leads to the limitation of this approach that novel transcripts or unannotated transcripts cannot be detected. With the tremendous development of deep sequencing technology and the drop of price in recent years, RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq) has become a new prominent trend improving the genome-wide identification and expression profiling of noncoding RNAs, which has less annotation resources compared to the coding genes. In one of the earliest studies of hypertrophic regulating lncRNA chrf (Wang et al. 2014b), microarrays of miRNAs and lncRNAs were performed in parallel to identify the deregulated transcripts in response to angiotensin II treatment. Another cardiovascular associated lncRNA Bvht (Klattenhoff et al. 2013) was identified by genome-wide screening of expression profiling dataset from RNA-seq. Although there are still lot of disputes about the profiling accuracy and sensitivity of the two most popular platforms, RNA-seq has been suggested to be more efficient detecting low-abundance transcripts in samples from a big range of complexity (Wang et al. 2014a).

2.2 Expression Profiling

The aim of expression profiling is to identify the deregulated genes or transcripts involved in pathological or physiological situations by comparing the output value from high-throughput platforms, such as normalized mapped read count from RNA-seq or signal intensities from microarray. As a well-developed approach, microarray raw data can currently be easily transformed and analyzed by researchers without strong statistical or bioinformatical techniques. Commercial packages such as GeneSpring GX provide pipelines for raw data analysis from Agilent or Affymetrix platform. Free tools with GUI such as BRB-ArrayTools (Simon et al. 2007) and Expander (Shamir et al. 2005) have also been designed for scientists to further explore their own data.

On the other hand, intensive bioinformatics supports or standard pipelines are necessary for precisely processing and analyzing the raw data from various nextgeneration sequencing platforms. As a standard procedure, after quality control the raw reads in FASTQ format are either mapped to a reference genome assembly or ncRNA transcript models using Bowtie2 (Langmead and Salzberg 2012) or BWA (Li and Durbin 2009). The mapping files can then be imported to ncRNA prediction or expression-level quantification tools such as DARIO (Fasold et al. 2011) to make further analysis. However, most tools or pipelines currently available for specific scientific questions such as detection of the alternative splicing events for lncRNAs or circRNAs were written in scripts or only executable from command line (Sun et al. 2015) (Memczak et al. 2013).

2.3 Functional Annotation of Noncoding RNAs

After the determination of noncoding transcripts which are differentially expressed in a case-control study, functional annotation of those candidates is routinely followed to interpret the profiling results; relevant information such as genomic location, neighboring coding genes, and full transcript sequences can be retrieved from general or specific databases. As one of the earliest and most comprehensive databases for miRNAs, Mirbase (Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones 2014) provides integrated information from primary sequences to expression levels as well as links to target prediction tools. In 2016 NONCODE (Zhao et al. 2016) has updated their knowledge-based sequences and functional databases for noncoding transcripts in 16 species except tRNA and rRNA. Although circRNAs represent a comparably new field in the noncoding RNA world, scientists can still find useful information such as splice sites and their genomic background in circBase (Glazar et al. 2014). All the mentioned databases provide annotation tracks integrated to the UCSC genome browser (Speir et al. 2016).

2.4 Coding Potential and Conservation

Unlike miRNAs, that generally only contain 18–22 nucleotides, most lncRNAs are much longer in length and some of them have the potential to code for a protein (Cabili et al. 2011). Till now the Coding Potential Calculator (Kong et al. 2007) and PhyloCSF (Lin et al. 2011) are two of the most cited but distinct algorithms to assess the coding potential for putative noncoding transcripts. The CPC discriminates coding and noncoding sequences by scoring the open reading frame as well as the sequence homology to known proteins across multiple species while PhyloCSF is a comparative genomics method based on statistical phylogenetic model.

In the research field of translational medicine, a highly conserved homologous molecule in the human genome is always desired for any pathological state-associated candidate. As a therapeutic target miRNA is by no means one of the best choices because the mature sequences in one family can be fully conserved or identical in the seed region (Mathelier and Carbone 2013). Exonic circRNAs have also been suggested to be highly conserved between humans and rodents (Jeck et al. 2013). LNCipedia (Volders et al. 2015), a knowledge-based human lncRNA resource, evaluates the genomic locus conservation between human, mouse, and zebra fish. For characterized lncRNAs, another database lncRNAdb (Quek et al. 2015) covering multiple species can be used as a reference for scientists looking for confident homologs of their candidates. It is still a big challenge to find homologs of tissue-specific lncRNA in primary sequence level especially the antisense or intergenic transcripts due to the low expression level and lack of annotations.

Although the primary sequence of *Xist* between human and rodents gives poor overall conservation, the secondary structure was suggested to have more impacts on its molecular functions (Maenner et al. 2010). RNA folding algorithm such as RNAfold and RNAalifold (Gruber et al. 2015) can be used to predict the structure either from a single transcript or multiple sequence alignment.

2.5 Interaction Between Noncoding Transcripts and Other Molecules

Computational prediction of the interactions between noncoding transcripts and other molecules such as mRNA, transcription factors, RNA-binding proteins, or even DNA duplex is efficiently applicable in order to theoretically elucidate the functional potencies for single and multiple candidates. For example, an energy model-based algorithm RNAhybrid (Rehmsmeier et al. 2004) was used to assess the interaction between miR-489 and UTR from putative noncoding candidates in the study of *Chrf.* Triplexator (Buske et al. 2012) was used to predict the triplex target sites and triplex-forming oligonucleotides for MEG3 before the wet-lab triplex assay (Mondal et al. 2015).

2.6 IncRNA-Protein Interactions

Inspired by the CeRNA hypothesis (Salmena et al. 2011) as well as the fast-growing high-throughput sequencing data many ncRNA databases constructed network models to elucidate the interactions between the different RNA classes. Due to the large proportion of uncharacterized noncoding transcripts, functional enrichment analysis of miRNAs or lncRNAs is either based on gene lists from target prediction approaches or from co-expression patterns of coding genes.

3 ncRNAs: Key Regulators of Heart Failure Pathophysiology

Compensatory cardiac remodeling in response to stress is characterized by progressive cellular hypertrophy, which ultimately leads to declined cardiac function clinically known as heart failure. Reversing or slowing the transition to the decompensated state is a major goal of current treatment. A growing body of evidences shed light on the complex molecular mechanisms by which ncRNAs affect the transition to the failing heart (Table 1). In this section, we will discuss the role of ncRNAs as modulators of genetic networks responsible for heart failure progression through various pathological processes such as myocardial ischemia, hypertrophy, and fibrosis.

3.1 Heart Failure Due to Acute Myocardial Infarction

Myocardial infarction is known to be one of the leading causes of heart failure worldwide, and although there are less incidences of premature coronary artery disease in Western countries, acute myocardial infarction remains an important cause of morbidity and mortality. Around two million people die of acute myocardial ischemia per year, of which 500,000 episodes occur in the USA, representing a great socioeconomic burden (Wang et al. 2015; Weir et al. 2006).

Myocardial infarction occurs when atherosclerotic plaques start forming in the major arteries until they block the blood flow, therefore causing acute coronary and other ischemic syndromes. Recent studies suggest that the spleen, the nervous system, the bone marrow, and multiple leukocyte subclasses are interconnected to play key role in the plaque formation (Libby et al. 2016). This hypoxic condition causes cardiomyocyte necrosis and apoptosis and the loss of heart contractility. Consequently, a cascade of immune-inflammatory responses triggers wound healing and repair. At first, these processes occur as an adaptive response to stress but eventually develop into tissue remodeling which causes cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, fibrosis in the remote area, and ventricular dilatation. Cardiac tissue remodeling ultimately leads to heart failure and therefore death of the patient (Li and Maegdefessel 2016; Frantz et al. 2009; Dobaczewski et al. 2010). All of these processes are the outcome of a complex cross talk among different players. During the last decade many noncoding RNAs have been shown to play an important role in the initiation and development of ischemic diseases.

3.1.1 Arteriosclerosis

Arteriosclerosis, and particularly one of its specific forms—atherosclerosis—represents a maladaptive and chronic inflammatory process of the wall of the arteries. It starts with an endothelial injury and subsequent subendothelial lipoprotein retention and flow-mediated inflammatory changes in endothelial cells. These processes are followed by plaque rupture and thrombus formation (Hansson et al. 2015).

Cholesterol homeostasis is a crucial step in atherosclerosis. The imbalance of the ratio between low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol is critical to promote atherosclerosis, and many miRNAs, like miR-223, are associated with the metabolism of this molecule. This miRNA inhibits cholesterol biosynthesis by repressing sterol enzymes 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase 1 and methylsterol monooxygenase 1, and controls the uptake of HDL cholesterol by repressing scavenger receptor BI (Vickers et al. 2014). Another miR that has been shown to play role in the cholesterol levels in blood is miR-122. The inhibition of this miRNA in mice results in reduced cholesterol levels in plasma, increased hepatic fatty-acid oxidation, and a decrease in hepatic fatty-acid and cholesterol synthesis rates (Esau et al. 2006). MiR-33 has also been widely studied in the atherosclerosis process. It regulates HDL biogenesis in the liver and modulates the expression of genes involved in cellular cholesterol transport. It inhibits the expression of the adenosine triphosphate-binding cassette (ABC) transporter, thus attenuating cholesterol efflux to apolipoprotein A1 (Rayner et al. 2010).

On the other hand, many miRNAs have been involved in macrophage foam cell formation, which involves the inflammatory response of macrophages and the stimulation of lipid uptake by oxidized LDL (oxLDL). This is the case for miR-125a, which mediates lipid uptake and decreases the secretion of some inflammatory cytokines in oxLDL-stimulated monocyte-derived macrophages. This same study also showed that miR-146a/b and miR-155 were aberrantly expressed after oxLDL treatment of primary monocytes (Chen et al. 2009). However, for this to happen, arterial endothelial cells (which generally resist attachment of the white blood cells) express adhesion molecules like vascular adhesion molecule-1, intracellular adhesion molecule-1, and E-selectin that capture leukocytes on their surfaces when subjected to stress stimuli such as hyperlipidemia (Libby et al. 2011). One of the major pathways controlling the activation of these adhesive molecules is NF- κ B, and miR-181b has been shown to regulate this pathway, thus playing a key role in atherosclerosis. This miR inhibits proinflammatory genes, influx of macrophages and CD4+ T cells in the vessel wall, and activation of NF- κ B in the vascular endothelium (Sun et al. 2014).

3.1.2 Ischemia

Following the arteriosclerosis and thrombus formation, cardiomyocyte apoptosis is caused by oxidative stress, ischemia, and hypoxic injury and reperfusion (Huang et al. 2016). It has been found that miRNAs play a role in myocytes' adaptation and survival during hypoxia/ischemia (Huang et al. 2016; Cheng et al. 2010; Rane et al. 2009). MiR-199a was reported to be downregulated in cardiomyocytes under hypoxia. This reduction upregulates its target: hypoxia-inducible factor (Hif)-1alpha. Over-expression of this miRNA under hypoxic conditions inhibits Hif-1alpha and its

stabilization of p53 and thus reduces apoptosis (Rane et al. 2009). Another cardioprotective miRNA is miR-451. The miR-451 upregulation attenuates the loss of cardiomyocyte viability and decreases the apoptosis of cardiomyocytes during anoxia/reoxygenation injury by inhibiting high-mobility-group box 1 expression (Xie et al. 2016).

Recent studies have also shown that not only microRNAs but also lncRNAs play a role in myocardial infarction. For example, one of the first lncRNAs to be identified that confers risk of myocardial infarction was myocardial infarction-associated transcript (MIAT) (Ishii et al. 2006). Another cardiac specific lncRNA myosin heavy chain-associated RNA transcript (MHRT) was significantly elevated in the blood from AMI patients compared with the healthy control. This lncRNA was shown to be upregulated in apoptotic cardiomyocytes after treatment with hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (Zhang et al. 2016). These results altogether show that ncRNAs are key players in the origin and development of acute myocardial infarction.

3.2 Heart Failure Due to Hypertension and Metabolic Disorders

Challenged by deteriorating cardiac stress stimuli such as hypertension, ageing, or metabolic disorders, the heart usually compensates by enlargement of both cardiomyocytes (hypertrophy) and extracellular matrix, which organizes the structure of the heart. Excessive accumulation of extracellular matrix, termed fibrosis, results from an increase in both proliferation rates and collagen deposition of resident cardiac fibroblasts. This triggers myocardial stiffness with concomitant alterations in left ventricular filling and relaxation of the heart muscle, a condition known as diastolic heart failure (HF) or heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF). Weakened by the exhausting attempt to compensate, the ventricles eventually dilate, resulting in end-stage systolic HF or heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) (Braunwald 2013).

3.2.1 Cardiac Hypertrophy

Prolonged hypertrophic growth of cardiomyocytes favors progression to end-stage HFrEF, a life-threatening condition, and therefore constitutes a promising therapeutic target (Bisping et al. 2014).

In 2006, miRNAs were found to be deregulated in both rodent and human failing hearts (van Rooij et al. 2006). Due to the small size of miRNAs, deep sequencing currently is the method of choice for such studies, as it allows enhanced specificity by nucleotide-to-nucleotide synthesis. Although a miRNA array was used in the above-mentioned study, this observation laid the foundation of intense research on miRNA-based therapies and diagnostics in cardiovascular diseases in the following years.

Hence, only 1 year later, the first pro-hypertrophic miRNA was discovered (van Rooij et al. 2007). In this study, the first ever miRNA knockout animal in the field of heart failure research was generated. In-detail phenotyping of these miR-208^{-/-} mice revealed diminished adverse hypertrophy, fibrosis, and pathological myosin switching

in response to pressure overload or expression of activated calcineurin, stimuli that both induce cardiac remodeling. Importantly, this miRNA is both cardiac specific and conserved in humans, highlighting its potential translational relevance for heart failure treatment. In line with this, preclinical studies showed that transgenic overexpression of miR-208a in the mouse heart is sufficient to induce pathological hypertrophy as well as arrhythmias (Callis et al. 2009). Subsequently, miR-208a inhibition via a systemic delivery of an antisense oligonucleotide was reported to improve cardiac function and survival in a rat model of hypertension-induced heart failure (Montgomery et al. 2011). Of note, inhibition of cardiac specific miR-208a also leads to resistance to high-fat diet-induced obesity as well as to improved insulin sensitivity and glucose tolerance in mice (Grueter et al. 2012), implying a role of the heart in modulation of whole-body metabolism, and providing first evidence for miR-208a to be a potential therapeutic target also for metabolic disorders.

In parallel to the above-mentioned pioneered study by Eva van Rooij and colleagues. miR-1 levels were reported to be decreased in response to aortic constriction-induced cardiac hypertrophy (Sayed et al. 2007). The same observation was made both in transgenic mice with cardiac overexpression of a constitutively active form of the Akt kinase and in exercised rats, thereby mirroring both pathological and physiological hypertrophy (Care et al. 2007). Of note, muscle-enriched miR-1 belongs to the most abundant miRNAs in the heart (Lagos-Quintana et al. 2002; Rao et al. 2009). Whether miR-1 plays a detrimental or protective role in the heart still remains a matter of debate: Identified growth-related targets suggest an induction of hypertrophy through loss of the repressive influence ("derepression") of miR-1 (Elia et al. 2009; Sayed et al. 2007), and even more importantly, cardiac targeted delivery of miR-1 reverses pressure overloadinduced cardiac hypertrophy in the rat (Karakikes et al. 2013). Conversely, miR-1 also exacerbates arrhythmogenesis in a rat model of myocardial infarction (Yang et al. 2007). However, in the latter study, in vivo gene transfer was achieved by direct injection of synthetic miR-1 through a needle into the myocardium, which causes additional injury to the heart. Thus, methodological issues as well as different heart failure models used might account for the divergent results on this miRNA.

At the same time as miR-1 was discovered, the anti-hypertrophic and muscleenriched miR-133a was studied, for the first time using antagomiR chemistry for miRNA inhibition in vivo (Care et al. 2007). MiR-133a levels were found to be decreased not only in mouse and rat models of pathological as well as exerciseinduced hypertrophy, but also in human hearts of patients displaying hypertrophic cardiomyopathy or atrial dilatation. The latter observation highlights the potential clinical implication of this miRNA. Preclinical studies show that inhibition of this miRNA is sufficient to induce hypertrophy not only in vitro but also in vivo. Interestingly, subsequent studies of miR-133a revealed also an anti-fibrotic nature of this miRNA (see the sect. 3.2.2. Cardiac Fibrosis). A miRNA-based therapeutic strategy using miR-133a would therefore be a replacement therapy to regain its protective effects.

Considering the plethora of common drawbacks of miRNA-replacement therapies, the identification of detrimental miRNAs that can be blocked in the clinical setting would be favorable. Hence, the discovery of the pro-hypertrophic, evolutionarily conserved miR-212/132 family was of great importance (Ucar et al. 2012). Expression levels of this miRNA family are elevated specifically in cardiomyocytes in a murine model of pressure overload and in vitro upon treatment with various hypertrophic stimuli. Moreover, this miR-212/132 family is both sufficient and required for the hypertrophic response in vitro and in vivo. Of note, the pro-autophagic transcription factor FOXO3 was determined to be a direct target of both miR-212 and miR-132. Thus, 212/132 family blocks autophagy in cardiomyocytes, a recycling process that was described as an adaptive response that protects the failing heart from hemodynamic stress (Nakai et al. 2007).

The very first lncRNA with implications in heart failure entered the stage in 2014 with an article published in Circulation Research (Wang et al. 2014b). This study pioneered the field describing *Chrf* (cardiac hypertrophy-related factor), an lncRNA that is induced in vitro in cardiomyocytes after treatment with angiotensin II, in pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy in a murine TAC model as well as in human heart failure samples, underscoring translational relevance. Overexpression of *Chrf* induces hypertrophic responses in vitro and increases cardiomyocyte apoptosis in vivo, whereas knockdown attenuates cardiac hypertrophy in the angiotensin II-induced mouse model of heart failure. Mechanistically, *Chrf* sponges miRNA-489, a miRNA that prevents hypertrophic responses both in vitro and in vivo in response to angiotensin II infusion. However, there is no data available using state-of-the-art knockdown of *Chrf* by GapmeRs chemistry. Moreover, toxicological evaluation would be urgently needed to prevent possible side effects due to targeting this lncRNA.

A research letter published in Nature (Han et al. 2014) uncovered a cluster of antisense lncRNA transcripts from the murine myosin heavy-chain 7 (Myh7) locus designated as myosin heavy-chain-associated RNA transcripts (Myheart, or Mhrt). Cardio-protective role of this cardio-specific lncRNA could be demonstrated in a murine model of pressure overload induced by transverse aortic constriction (TAC). Restoring Mhrt to pre-stress levels by transgenic overexpression leads to inhibition of cardiac hypertrophy and failure. In the healthy heart, Mhrt sequesters Brg1, a chromatin-remodeling factor in the nucleus, preventing it from repression of its target gene Myh6. In contrast, in the hypertrophied heart, stress-induced Mhrt downregulation allows Brg1 to repress Myh6 and activate Myh7, leading to a pathological isoform switch from Myh6 to Myh7. Of note, human MHRT is repressed in hearts of patients with hypertrophic, ischemic, or idiopathic cardiomyopathy, pointing towards a translational relevance of this cardio-protective lncRNA. As for miR-133a, an Mhrt-replacement therapy would be the strategy of choice to translate these findings into clinics. However, there are a plethora of obstacles to be overcome before this route can be taken.

To date, in the most recent publication demonstrating strong therapeutic potential of lncRNAs, *Chast* (cardiac hypertrophy-associated transcript) was identified as a pro-hypertrophic lncRNA in a murine model of pressure overload (TAC) (Viereck et al. 2016). Importantly, inhibition of *Chast*, which was found to be induced after TAC operation specifically in the cardiomyocyte fraction of the heart, prevents or attenuates cardiac remodeling before and after induction of hypertrophy, respectively. Conversely, in vivo overexpression of *Chast* is sufficient to induce hypertrophy in the mouse heart. Mechanistically, *Chast* promotes hypertrophy through its anti-autophagic function. Similar to murine *Chast*, also human *CHAST* drives hypertrophy in vitro and is activated in hypertrophic hearts from patients with aortic stenosis highlighting the clinical relevance of *CHAST* as a potential new therapeutic target for hypertrophy. Careful toxicological evaluation is needed to stratify the risk of an oligonucleotide-based therapy targeting *CHAST*. However, GapmeR-mediated inhibition of *Chast* in hypertrophic mouse hearts did not provoke any significant changes in plasma marker of kidney and liver damage.

The only observation showing therapeutic implication of a circRNA in heart failure stems from a preclinical study published in 2016 in the European Heart Journal (Wang et al. 2016). Here, overexpression of heart-related circRNA (*Hrcr*) ameliorates hypertrophic responses in vitro as well as in vivo in both TAC-operated and isoproterenol-infused mice. Mechanistic insights suggested a sponging function of *Hrcr* of pro-hypertrophic miR-223 resulting in the increase of apoptosis repressor with CARD (ARC) domain in cardiomyocytes.

3.2.2 Cardiac Fibrosis

Since myocardial fibrosis correlates with a higher long-term mortality and persists in patients when medicated following the official guidelines for HF treatment, anti-fibrotic therapeutic strategies are indispensable (Heymans et al. 2015).

The very first miRNA to be identified to control cardiac fibrosis, miR-21, at the same time constitutes the most intensively studied pro-fibrotic miRNA, in regard to fibrosis development not only in the heart but also in the lung and kidney (Bao et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2010; Thum et al. 2008). In a groundbreaking study, miR-21 levels were found to be increased in failing mouse and human hearts (Thum et al. 2008). Importantly, miR-21 is selectively upregulated in the fibroblast fraction of failing hearts of β 1-adrenergic receptor transgenic mice. Inhibition of miR-21 by a specific cholesterol-modified antisense oligonucleotide (antagomir) in a pressure overloadinduced heart failure mouse model ameliorates cardiac function and fibrosis both in a preventive and in a therapeutic study. Mechanistically, miR-21 targets sprouty homolog 1 (Spry1), thereby augmenting fibroblast survival and growth factor secretion. As expected for systemic delivery of oligonucleotide-based therapies, the miR-21 antagomirs were also taken up into other organs. However, liver morphology and function both proved to be normal, thereby showing promising results in a first early toxicological evaluation. Further studies revealed a miR-21-mediated endothelial- and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, thereby adding more layers of complexity to the contribution of this miRNA to fibrosis development (Bronnum et al. 2013; Ghosh et al. 2012; Kumarswamy et al. 2012). Strikingly, miR-21 knockout mice develop fibrosis comparable to wild-type littermates following a plethora of cardiac stresses (Patrick et al. 2010). However, as for the deletion or mutation in any gene, there are also limitations of miR knockout animal models: like genes, also many miRNAs may have redundant roles and biological processes are generally complex, opening up a Pandora's box. Therefore, it does not come as a surprise that many researchers reported different outcomes in genetic deletion and pharmacologic inhibition of the same target. As mentioned above, pharmacologic inhibition of miR-21 proved to be a successful therapeutic strategy to prevent fibrosis in the heart, the lung, and the kidney (Bao et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2010; Thum et al. 2008). Of note, passenger strand of miR-21, miR-21*, is highly enriched in cardiac fibroblast-derived exosomes and induces cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, thus serving as a paracrine signaling mediator (Bang et al. 2014). This finding underscores the functional importance of miRNA passenger strands. For a long time, miRNA passenger strands were thought to be degraded in the cells, as only the guide strand is incorporated into the RNA-induced silencing complex, which guides the miRNA to the 3'-UTR of the target mRNA.

In contrast to miR-21, miR-133a was identified as a cardio-protective miRNA, as described in the sect. 3.2.1. Cardiac Hypertrophy. Although this miRNA is muscle enriched, transgenic overexpression of miR-133a in the heart ameliorates cardiac fibrosis and function but not the hypertrophic response in a pressure overload-induced (Matkovich et al. 2010) as well as in a diabetic mouse model of heart failure (Chen et al. 2014). A direct link between miR-133a and fibrosis could be established by the identification of its targets connective tissue growth factor (CTGF) (Duisters et al. 2009) and collagen $\alpha 1$ (I) chain (Castoldi et al. 2012). Whereas collagen 1 fibers are highly cross-linked and predominate over thinner collagen 3 fibers in adverse fibrosis, CTGF is a regulatory key player in the fibrotic response (Heymans et al. 2015). Importantly, inhibition of CTGF can reverse fibrosis in the heart, the liver, and the lung (Lipson et al. 2012). Therefore it comes as no surprise that a pharmacologic CTGF inhibitor currently is being tested in a phase II clinical trial (http://www.fibrogen.com/clinical_pipeline).

MiR-29, another cardio-protective and well-studied miRNA, was found to be downregulated in response to cardiac stress (van Rooij et al. 2008). Subsequent studies uncovered a plethora of targets involved in fibrosis, such as collagens, matrix metalloproteinases, and leukemia inhibitory factor, insulin-like growth factor 1, and pentraxin 3, thereby explaining the anti-fibrotic nature of this miRNA (Abonnenc et al. 2013). Importantly, restoration of miR-29 to pre-stress levels prevents angio-tensin II-mediated cardiac fibrosis and dysfunction (Zhang et al. 2014). Remarkably, a noninvasive ultrasound-mediated gene transfer of an inducible miR-29 by vector was used in these studies. Conversely, LNA-based inhibition of miR-29 induced the expression of extracellular matrix, preventing angiotensin II-induced dilation of the aorta and rupture of aortic walls in mice (Boon et al. 2011).

Apart from single study showing a decrease of long noncoding RNA-NR024118 upon treatment of cardiac fibroblasts with angiotensin II (Jiang et al. 2015), evidence of fibrosis-associated lncRNAs seems to be sparse. As a matter of fact, the existence of fibroblast-specific lncRNAs with mechanistic function remains to be explored.

		Manipulation/		
ncRNA	Animal model	intervention	Phenotypic outcome	Reference
miR-223	Humans	Overexpression	Inhibits cholesterol biosynthesis	Vickers et al. (2014)
miR-122	Murine model	Inhibition	Reduces cholesterol levels in plasma	Esau et al. (2006)
miR-33	Murine model	Overexpression	Reduces circulating HDL levels	Rayner et al. (2010)
miR- 125-a	Human primary monocytes	Overexpression	Mediates lipid uptake	Chen et al. (2009)
miR- 146a	Murine model	Inhibition	Decreases cardiomyocyte apoptosis under ischemia/hypoxic conditions	Huang et al. (2016)
miR- 181b	Murine model	Overexpression	Inhibits activation of NF-κB in the vascular endothelium	Sun et al. (2014)
miR-208	Murine pressure overload model/ calcineurin activation	miR-208 ^{-/-} KO	Diminished hypertrophy and fibrosis	van Rooij et al. (2007)
miR- 208a	Murine model	CM-specific transgenic overexpression	Pathological hypertrophy and arrhythmias	Callis et al. (2009)
miR- 208a	Rat model of hypertension	Pharmacologic inhibition	Improved cardiac function and survival	Montgomery et al. (2011)
miR-1	Rat model of pressure overload	Cardiac-targeted delivery	Reversal of hypertrophy	Karakikes et al. (2013)
miR-21	Murine model of pressure overload	Pharmacologic inhibition	Prevention and amelioration of cardiac function and fibrosis	Thum et al. (2008)
miR-21	Murine models of cardiac stress	Global KO	No obvious phenotype	Patrick et al. (2010)
miR- 133a	Murine model of pressure overload and diabetes	Cardiac-specific transgenic overexpression	Amelioration of cardiac function and fibrosis	Matkovich et al. (2010), Chen et al. (2014)
miR- 133a	Murine model	Pharmacologic inhibition	Pathological hypertrophy	Care et al. (2007)
miR-29	Murine model of hypertension	Ultrasound-mediated gene transfer of an inducible miR-29b vector	Prevention of cardiac fibrosis and dysfunction	Zhang et al. (2014)
miR-29	Murine model of hypertension	Pharmacologic inhibition	Prevention of dilation of the aorta and rupture of aortic walls	Boon et al. (2011)

Table 1 Preclinical studies on noncoding RNA-based therapeutic strategies for cardiac diseases

(continued)
ncRNA	Animal model	Manipulation/ intervention	Phenotypic outcome	Reference
miR- 132/212	Murine model	CM-specific transgenic overexpression	Pathological hypertrophy	Ucar et al. (2012)
miR- 132/212	Murine model of pressure overload	Global KO	Protection from cardiac hypertrophy	Ucar et al. (2012)
MIAT	Human samples	Overexpression	Confers risk of myocardial infarction	Ishii et al. (2006)
Chrf	Murine model	Overexpression	Increases CM- apoptosis	Wang et al. (2014b)
Chrf	Murine model of hypertension	Knockdown	Attenuation of hypertrophy	Wang et al. (2014b)
Mhrt	Murine model of pressure overload	Transgenic overexpression	Inhibition of hypertrophy and HF	Han et al. (2014)
Chast	Murine model of pressure overload	Pharmacologic inhibition	Prevention and attenuation of cardiac remodelling	Viereck et al. (2016)
Hrcr	Murine model of pressure overload and isoproterenol- infusion	Overexpression	Amelioration of hypertrophy	Wang et al. (2016)

Table 1	(continu	ied)
---------	----------	------

4 Conclusion

Progress in ncRNA research has widened our knowledge of eukaryotic genome diversity and inspired overwhelming enthusiasm to identify novel mechanisms linked to human pathologies. As described in this chapter ncRNAs may serve as potential targets for novel therapeutics; yet their role as diagnostic or prognostic disease biomarkers cannot be overlooked. Early diagnosis is essential for effective patient management and blood biomarkers may provide a quick, effective, and reliable informative tool in clinical settings. Circulating ncRNAs show high level of sensitivity, stability, and specificity due to disease-specific release into the bloodstream. Alterations in plasma or serum concentrations of ncRNAs during disease progression and their correlations deliver an advantage of minimal invasive procedures over tissue biopsies (Vausort et al. 2014). For instance, biomarker potential of several miRNAs, e.g. miR-1, miR-133a, mir-208b, miR-499, and miR-21, is well established in relation to the heart failure pathologies and recent meta-analysis studies have attempted to find the best combination of miRNA biomarkers (Cheng et al. 2014; Yang et al. 2015). Likewise, circulating mitochondrial lncRNA LIPCAR is reported to be a predictor of adverse cardiac remodeling and is associated with survival in heart failure patients (Kumarswamy et al. 2014). Similarly, ANRIL and KCNQ10T1 concentrations in blood can predict left ventricular dysfunction (Vausort et al. 2014). However, the clinical use of circulating ncRNAs as biomarkers still needs further validation to set their basal cutoff levels, measurement reproducibility and method uniformity.

Understanding overall biological significance of a vast variety of newly discovered RNA transcripts is a major challenge to researchers and ncRNAs represent an unexplored mine of potential disease biomarkers and novel drug targets. While miRNA therapy could successfully enter phase II human clinical trials for HIV treatment (Janssen et al. 2013), different therapeutic approaches to modulate lncRNAs or circRNAs in vivo are still in infancy. Several open questions still prevent the use of ncRNA-based therapies in clinics; yet this attractive research area is refining our current view of the human pathologies which will revolutionize the new drug discoveries in coming years.

References

- Abonnenc M, Nabeebaccus AA, Mayr U, Barallobre-Barreiro J, Dong X, Cuello F, Sur S, Drozdov I, Langley SR, Lu R, Stathopoulou K, Didangelos A, Yin X, Zimmermann WH, Shah AM, Zampetaki A, Mayr M (2013) Extracellular matrix secretion by cardiac fibroblasts: role of microRNA-29b and microRNA-30c. Circ Res 113:1138–1147
- Bang C, Batkai S, Dangwal S, Gupta SK, Foinquinos A, Holzmann A, Just A, Remke J, Zimmer K, Zeug A, Ponimaskin E, Schmiedl A, Yin X, Mayr M, Halder R, Fischer A, Engelhardt S, Wei Y, Schober A, Fiedler J, Thum T (2014) Cardiac fibroblast-derived microRNA passenger strand-enriched exosomes mediate cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. J Clin Invest 124:2136–2146
- Bao H, Hu S, Zhang C, Shi S, Qin W, Zeng C, Zen K, Liu Z (2014) Inhibition of miRNA-21 prevents fibrogenic activation in podocytes and tubular cells in IgA nephropathy. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 444:455–460
- Bartel DP (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 116:281-297
- Beermann J, Piccoli MT, Viereck J, Thum T (2016) Non-coding RNAs in development and disease: background, mechanisms, and therapeutic approaches. Physiol Rev 96:1297–1325
- Bisping E, Wakula P, Poteser M, Heinzel FR (2014) Targeting cardiac hypertrophy: toward a causal heart failure therapy. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 64:293–305
- Boon RA, Seeger T, Heydt S, Fischer A, Hergenreider E, Horrevoets AJ, Vinciguerra M, Rosenthal N, Sciacca S, Pilato M, van Heijningen P, Essers J, Brandes RP, Zeiher AM, Dimmeler S (2011) MicroRNA-29 in aortic dilation: implications for aneurysm formation. Circ Res 109:1115–1119
- Boon RA, Iekushi K, Lechner S, Seeger T, Fischer A, Heydt S, Kaluza D, Treguer K, Carmona G, Bonauer A, Horrevoets AJ, Didier N, Girmatsion Z, Biliczki P, Ehrlich JR, Katus HA, Muller OJ, Potente M, Zeiher AM, Hermeking H, Dimmeler S (2013) MicroRNA-34a regulates cardiac ageing and function. Nature 495:107–110 10.1038/nature11919; 10.1038/nature11919
 Braunwald E (2013) Heart failure. JACC Heart Fail 1:1–20
- Broderick JA, Salomon WE, Ryder SP, Aronin N, Zamore PD (2011) Argonaute protein identity and pairing geometry determine cooperativity in mammalian RNA silencing. RNA (New York, NY) 17:1858–1869
- Bronnum H, Andersen DC, Schneider M, Sandberg MB, Eskildsen T, Nielsen SB, Kalluri R, Sheikh SP (2013) miR-21 promotes fibrogenic epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition of epicardial mesothelial cells involving Programmed Cell Death 4 and Sprouty-1. PLoS One 8:e56280
- Buske FA, Bauer DC, Mattick JS, Bailey TL (2012) Triplexator: detecting nucleic acid triple helices in genomic and transcriptomic data. Genome Res 22:1372–1381

- Cabili MN, Trapnell C, Goff L, Koziol M, Tazon-Vega B, Regev A, Rinn JL (2011) Integrative annotation of human large intergenic noncoding RNAs reveals global properties and specific subclasses. Genes Dev 25:1915–1927
- Callis TE, Pandya K, Seok HY, Tang RH, Tatsuguchi M, Huang ZP, Chen JF, Deng Z, Gunn B, Shumate J, Willis MS, Selzman CH, Wang DZ (2009) MicroRNA-208a is a regulator of cardiac hypertrophy and conduction in mice. J Clin Invest 119:2772–2786
- Care A, Catalucci D, Felicetti F, Bonci D, Addario A, Gallo P, Bang ML, Segnalini P, Gu Y, Dalton ND, Elia L, Latronico MV, Hoydal M, Autore C, Russo MA, Dorn GW 2nd, Ellingsen O, Ruiz-Lozano P, Peterson KL, Croce CM, Peschle C, Condorelli G (2007) MicroRNA-133 controls cardiac hypertrophy. Nat Med 13:613–618
- Castoldi G, Di Gioia CR, Bombardi C, Catalucci D, Corradi B, Gualazzi MG, Leopizzi M, Mancini M, Zerbini G, Condorelli G, Stella A (2012) MiR-133a regulates collagen 1A1: potential role of miR-133a in myocardial fibrosis in angiotensin II-dependent hypertension. J Cell Physiol 227:850–856
- Chen T, Huang Z, Wang L, Wang Y, Wu F, Meng S, Wang C (2009) MicroRNA-125a-5p partly regulates the inflammatory response, lipid uptake, and ORP9 expression in oxLDL-stimulated monocyte/macrophages. Cardiovasc Res 83:131–139
- Chen S, Puthanveetil P, Feng B, Matkovich SJ, Dorn GW 2nd, Chakrabarti S (2014) Cardiac miR-133a overexpression prevents early cardiac fibrosis in diabetes. J Cell Mol Med 18:415–421
- Cheng Y, Zhu P, Yang J, Liu X, Dong S, Wang X, Chun B, Zhuang J, Zhang C (2010) Ischaemic preconditioning-regulated miR-21 protects heart against ischaemia/reperfusion injury via antiapoptosis through its target PDCD4. Cardiovasc Res 87:431–439
- Cheng C, Wang Q, You W, Chen M, Xia J (2014) MiRNAs as biomarkers of myocardial infarction: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 9:e88566
- Dangwal S, Thum T (2014) microRNA therapeutics in cardiovascular disease models. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 54:185–203
- Derrien T, Johnson R, Bussotti G, Tanzer A, Djebali S, Tilgner H, Guernec G, Martin D, Merkel A, Knowles DG, Lagarde J, Veeravalli L, Ruan X, Ruan Y, Lassmann T, Carninci P, Brown JB, Lipovich L, Gonzalez JM, Thomas M, Davis CA, Shiekhattar R, Gingeras TR, Hubbard TJ, Notredame C, Harrow J, Guigo R (2012) The GENCODE v7 catalog of human long noncoding RNAs: analysis of their gene structure, evolution, and expression. Genome Res 22:1775–1789
- Dobaczewski M, Gonzalez-Quesada C, Frangogiannis NG (2010) The extracellular matrix as a modulator of the inflammatory and reparative response following myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol 48:504–511
- Duisters RF, Tijsen AJ, Schroen B, Leenders JJ, Lentink V, van der Made I, Herias V, van Leeuwen RE, Schellings MW, Barenbrug P, Maessen JG, Heymans S, Pinto YM, Creemers EE (2009) miR-133 and miR-30 regulate connective tissue growth factor: implications for a role of microRNAs in myocardial matrix remodeling. Circ Res 104:170–178 6p following 178
- Elia L, Contu R, Quintavalle M, Varrone F, Chimenti C, Russo MA, Cimino V, De Marinis L, Frustaci A, Catalucci D, Condorelli G (2009) Reciprocal regulation of microRNA-1 and insulinlike growth factor-1 signal transduction cascade in cardiac and skeletal muscle in physiological and pathological conditions. Circulation 120:2377–2385
- Esau C, Davis S, Murray SF, Yu XX, Pandey SK, Pear M, Watts L, Booten SL, Graham M, McKay R, Subramaniam A, Propp S, Lollo BA, Freier S, Bennett CF, Bhanot S, Monia BP (2006) miR-122 regulation of lipid metabolism revealed by in vivo antisense targeting. Cell Metab 3:87–98
- Fasold M, Langenberger D, Binder H, Stadler PF, Hoffmann S (2011) DARIO: a ncRNA detection and analysis tool for next-generation sequencing experiments. Nucleic Acids Res 39: W112–W117
- Frantz S, Bauersachs J, Ertl G (2009) Post-infarct remodelling: contribution of wound healing and inflammation. Cardiovasc Res 81:474–481

- Gaziano TA (2005) Cardiovascular disease in the developing world and its cost-effective management. Circulation 112:3547–3553
- Geary RS, Watanabe TA, Truong L, Freier S, Lesnik EA, Sioufi NB, Sasmor H, Manoharan M, Levin AA (2001) Pharmacokinetic properties of 2'-O-(2-methoxyethyl)-modified oligonucleotide analogs in rats. J Pharmacol Exp Therapeut 296:890–897
- Ghosh AK, Nagpal V, Covington JW, Michaels MA, Vaughan DE (2012) Molecular basis of cardiac endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EndMT): differential expression of micro-RNAs during EndMT. Cell Signal 24:1031–1036
- Glazar P, Papavasileiou P, Rajewsky N (2014) circBase: a database for circular RNAs. RNA 20: 1666–1670
- Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, Bravata DM, Dai S, Ford ES, Fox CS, Franco S, Fullerton HJ, Gillespie C, Hailpern SM, Heit JA, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Kissela BM, Kittner SJ, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Magid D, Marcus GM, Marelli A, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER, Moy CS, Mussolino ME, Nichol G, Paynter NP, Schreiner PJ, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Turan TN, Virani SS, Wong ND, Woo D, Turner MB (2013) Heart disease and stroke statistics—2013 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 127:e6–e245
- Gruber AR, Bernhart SH, Lorenz R (2015) The ViennaRNA web services. Methods Mol Biol 1269:307–326
- Grueter CE, van Rooij E, Johnson BA, DeLeon SM, Sutherland LB, Qi X, Gautron L, Elmquist JK, Bassel-Duby R, Olson EN (2012) A cardiac microRNA governs systemic energy homeostasis by regulation of MED13. Cell 149:671–683
- Guo H, Ingolia NT, Weissman JS, Bartel DP (2010) Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. Nature 466:835–840
- Han P, Li W, Lin CH, Yang J, Shang C, Nurnberg ST, Jin KK, Xu W, Lin CY, Lin CJ, Xiong Y, Chien HC, Zhou B, Ashley E, Bernstein D, Chen PS, Chen HS, Quertermous T, Chang CP (2014) A long noncoding RNA protects the heart from pathological hypertrophy. Nature 514:102–106
- Hansen TB, Jensen TI, Clausen BH, Bramsen JB, Finsen B, Damgaard CK, Kjems J (2013) Natural RNA circles function as efficient microRNA sponges. Nature 495:384–388
- Hansson GK, Libby P, Tabas I (2015) Inflammation and plaque vulnerability. J Intern Med 278: 483–493
- Heymans S, Gonzalez A, Pizard A, Papageorgiou AP, Lopez-Andres N, Jaisser F, Thum T, Zannad F, Diez J (2015) Searching for new mechanisms of myocardial fibrosis with diagnostic and/or therapeutic potential. Eur J Heart Fail 17:764–771
- Huang W, Tian SS, Hang PZ, Sun C, Guo J, Du ZM (2016) Combination of microRNA-21 and microRNA-146a attenuates cardiac dysfunction and apoptosis during acute myocardial infarction in mice. Mol Ther Nucleic Acids 5:e296
- Ishii N, Ozaki K, Sato H, Mizuno H, Saito S, Takahashi A, Miyamoto Y, Ikegawa S, Kamatani N, Hori M, Saito S, Nakamura Y, Tanaka T (2006) Identification of a novel non-coding RNA, MIAT, that confers risk of myocardial infarction. J Hum Genet 51:1087–1099
- Janssen HL, Reesink HW, Lawitz EJ, Zeuzem S, Rodriguez-Torres M, Patel K, van der Meer AJ, Patick AK, Chen A, Zhou Y, Persson R, King BD, Kauppinen S, Levin AA, Hodges MR (2013) Treatment of HCV Infection by targeting microRNA. N Engl J Med. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1209026
- Jeck WR, Sorrentino JA, Wang K, Slevin MK, Burd CE, Liu J, Marzluff WF, Sharpless NE (2013) Circular RNAs are abundant, conserved, and associated with ALU repeats. RNA 19:141–157
- Jiang X, Zhang F, Ning Q (2015) Losartan reverses the down-expression of long noncoding RNA-NR024118 and Cdkn1c induced by angiotensin II in adult rat cardiac fibroblasts. Pathol Biol (Paris) 63:122–125

- Karakikes I, Chaanine AH, Kang S, Mukete BN, Jeong D, Zhang S, Hajjar RJ, Lebeche D (2013) Therapeutic cardiac-targeted delivery of miR-1 reverses pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy and attenuates pathological remodeling. J Am Heart Assoc 2:e000078
- Klattenhoff CA, Scheuermann JC, Surface LE, Bradley RK, Fields PA, Steinhauser ML, Ding H, Butty VL, Torrey L, Haas S, Abo R, Tabebordbar M, Lee RT, Burge CB, Boyer LA (2013) Braveheart, a long noncoding RNA required for cardiovascular lineage commitment. Cell 152:570–583
- Kong L, Zhang Y, Ye ZQ, Liu XQ, Zhao SQ, Wei L, Gao G (2007) CPC: assess the protein-coding potential of transcripts using sequence features and support vector machine. Nucleic Acids Res 35:W345–W349
- Kozomara A, Griffiths-Jones S (2014) miRBase: annotating high confidence microRNAs using deep sequencing data. Nucleic Acids Res 42:D68–D73
- Krutzfeldt J, Rajewsky N, Braich R, Rajeev KG, Tuschl T, Manoharan M, Stoffel M (2005) Silencing of microRNAs in vivo with "antagomirs". Nature 438:685–689
- Kumarswamy R, Thum T (2013) Non-coding RNAs in cardiac remodeling and heart failure. Circ Res 113:676–689
- Kumarswamy R, Volkmann I, Jazbutyte V, Dangwal S, Park DH, Thum T (2012) Transforming growth factor-beta-induced endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition is partly mediated by microRNA-21. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 32:361–369
- Kumarswamy R, Bauters C, Volkmann I, Maury F, Fetisch J, Holzmann A, Lemesle G, de Groote P, Pinet F, Thum T (2014) Circulating long noncoding RNA, LIPCAR, predicts survival in patients with heart failure. Circ Res 114:1569–1575
- Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Yalcin A, Meyer J, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T (2002) Identification of tissue-specific microRNAs from mouse. Curr Biol 12:735–739
- Langmead B, Salzberg SL (2012) Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. Nat Methods 9:357-359
- Levin AA (1999) A review of the issues in the pharmacokinetics and toxicology of phosphorothioate antisense oligonucleotides. Biochim Biophys Acta 1489:69–84
- Li H, Durbin R (2009) Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. Bioinformatics 25:1754–1760
- Li Y, Maegdefessel L (2016) My heart will go on-beneficial effects of anti-MiR-30 after myocardial infarction. Ann Transl Med 4:144
- Libby P, Ridker PM, Hansson GK (2011) Progress and challenges in translating the biology of atherosclerosis. Nature 473:317–325
- Libby P, Nahrendorf M, Swirski FK (2016) Leukocytes link local and systemic inflammation in ischemic cardiovascular disease: an expanded "cardiovascular continuum". J Am Coll Cardiol 67:1091–1103
- Lin MF, Jungreis I, Kellis M (2011) PhyloCSF: a comparative genomics method to distinguish protein coding and non-coding regions. Bioinformatics 27:i275–i282
- Lipson KE, Wong C, Teng Y, Spong S (2012) CTGF is a central mediator of tissue remodeling and fibrosis and its inhibition can reverse the process of fibrosis. Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair 5:S24
- Liu G, Friggeri A, Yang Y, Milosevic J, Ding Q, Thannickal VJ, Kaminski N, Abraham E (2010) miR-21 mediates fibrogenic activation of pulmonary fibroblasts and lung fibrosis. J Exp Med 207:1589–1597
- Maenner S, Blaud M, Fouillen L, Savoye A, Marchand V, Dubois A, Sanglier-Cianferani S, Van Dorsselaer A, Clerc P, Avner P, Visvikis A, Branlant C (2010) 2-D structure of the A region of Xist RNA and its implication for PRC2 association. PLoS Biol 8:e1000276
- Mathelier A, Carbone A (2013) Large scale chromosomal mapping of human microRNA structural clusters. Nucleic Acids Res 41:4392–4408
- Matkovich SJ, Wang W, Tu Y, Eschenbacher WH, Dorn LE, Condorelli G, Diwan A, Nerbonne JM, Dorn GW 2nd (2010) MicroRNA-133a protects against myocardial fibrosis and modulates electrical repolarization without affecting hypertrophy in pressure-overloaded adult hearts. Circ Res 106:166–175
- Mattick JS, Rinn JL (2015) Discovery and annotation of long noncoding RNAs. Nat Struct Mol Biol 22:5–7

- Memczak S, Jens M, Elefsinioti A, Torti F, Krueger J, Rybak A, Maier L, Mackowiak SD, Gregersen LH, Munschauer M, Loewer A, Ziebold U, Landthaler M, Kocks C, le Noble F, Rajewsky N (2013) Circular RNAs are a large class of animal RNAs with regulatory potency. Nature 495:333–338
- Milligan MJ, Lipovich L (2015) Pseudogene-derived lncRNAs: emerging regulators of gene expression. Front Genet 5:476
- Mondal T, Subhash S, Vaid R, Enroth S, Uday S, Reinius B, Mitra S, Mohammed A, James AR, Hoberg E, Moustakas A, Gyllensten U, Jones SJ, Gustafsson CM, Sims AH, Westerlund F, Gorab E, Kanduri C (2015) MEG3 long noncoding RNA regulates the TGF-beta pathway genes through formation of RNA-DNA triplex structures. Nat Commun 6:7743
- Montgomery RL, Hullinger TG, Semus HM, Dickinson BA, Seto AG, Lynch JM, Stack C, Latimer PA, Olson EN, van Rooij E (2011) Therapeutic inhibition of miR-208a improves cardiac function and survival during heart failure. Circulation 124:1537–1547
- Nakai A, Yamaguchi O, Takeda T, Higuchi Y, Hikoso S, Taniike M, Omiya S, Mizote I, Matsumura Y, Asahi M, Nishida K, Hori M, Mizushima N, Otsu K (2007) The role of autophagy in cardiomyocytes in the basal state and in response to hemodynamic stress. Nat Med 13: 619–624
- Patrick DM, Montgomery RL, Qi X, Obad S, Kauppinen S, Hill JA, van Rooij E, Olson EN (2010) Stress-dependent cardiac remodeling occurs in the absence of microRNA-21 in mice. J Clin Invest 120:3912–3916
- Peschansky VJ, Wahlestedt C (2014) Non-coding RNAs as direct and indirect modulators of epigenetic regulation. Epigenetics 9:3–12
- Quek XC, Thomson DW, Maag JL, Bartonicek N, Signal B, Clark MB, Gloss BS, Dinger ME (2015) lncRNAdb v2.0: expanding the reference database for functional long noncoding RNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 43:D168–D173
- Quiat D, Olson EN (2013) MicroRNAs in cardiovascular disease: from pathogenesis to prevention and treatment. J Clin Invest 123:11–18 10.1172/JCI62876; 10.1172/JCI62876
- Rane S, He M, Sayed D, Vashistha H, Malhotra A, Sadoshima J, Vatner DE, Vatner SF, Abdellatif M (2009) Downregulation of miR-199a derepresses hypoxia-inducible factor-1alpha and Sirtuin 1 and recapitulates hypoxia preconditioning in cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 104:879–886
- Rao PK, Toyama Y, Chiang HR, Gupta S, Bauer M, Medvid R, Reinhardt F, Liao R, Krieger M, Jaenisch R, Lodish HF, Blelloch R (2009) Loss of cardiac microRNA-mediated regulation leads to dilated cardiomyopathy and heart failure. Circ Res 105:585–594
- Rayner KJ, Suarez Y, Davalos A, Parathath S, Fitzgerald ML, Tamehiro N, Fisher EA, Moore KJ, Fernandez-Hernando C (2010) MiR-33 contributes to the regulation of cholesterol homeostasis. Science 328:1570–1573
- Rehmsmeier M, Steffen P, Hochsmann M, Giegerich R (2004) Fast and effective prediction of microRNA/target duplexes. RNA 10:1507–1517
- Salmena L, Poliseno L, Tay Y, Kats L, Pandolfi PP (2011) A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta Stone of a hidden RNA language? Cell 146:353–358
- Sayed D, Hong C, Chen IY, Lypowy J, Abdellatif M (2007) MicroRNAs play an essential role in the development of cardiac hypertrophy. Circ Res 100:416–424
- Shamir R, Maron-Katz A, Tanay A, Linhart C, Steinfeld I, Sharan R, Shiloh Y, Elkon R (2005) EXPANDER—an integrative program suite for microarray data analysis. BMC Bioinformatics 6:232
- Simon R, Lam A, Li M, Ngan M, Menenzes S, Zhao Y (2007) Analysis of gene expression data using BRB-array tools. Cancer Inform 3:11–17
- Speir ML, Zweig AS, Rosenbloom KR, Raney BJ, Paten B, Nejad P, Lee BT, Learned K, Karolchik D, Hinrichs AS, Heitner S, Harte RA, Haeussler M, Guruvadoo L, Fujita PA, Eisenhart C, Diekhans M, Clawson H, Casper J, Barber GP, Haussler D, Kuhn RM, Kent WJ (2016) The UCSC genome browser database: 2016 update. Nucleic Acids Res 44:D717–D725

- Sun X, He S, Wara AK, Icli B, Shvartz E, Tesmenitsky Y, Belkin N, Li D, Blackwell TS, Sukhova GK, Croce K, Feinberg MW (2014) Systemic delivery of microRNA-181b inhibits nuclear factorkappaB activation, vascular inflammation, and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Circ Res 114:32–40
- Sun L, Liu H, Zhang L, Meng J (2015) IncRScan-SVM: a tool for predicting long non-coding RNAs using support vector machine. PLoS One 10:e0139654
- Thum T (2012) MicroRNA therapeutics in cardiovascular medicine. EMBO Mol Med 4:3-14
- Thum T (2014) Noncoding RNAs and myocardial fibrosis. Nat Rev Cardiol 11:655-663
- Thum T, Gross C, Fiedler J, Fischer T, Kissler S, Bussen M, Galuppo P, Just S, Rottbauer W, Frantz S, Castoldi M, Soutschek J, Koteliansky V, Rosenwald A, Basson MA, Licht JD, Pena JT, Rouhanifard SH, Muckenthaler MU, Tuschl T, Martin GR, Bauersachs J, Engelhardt S (2008) MicroRNA-21 contributes to myocardial disease by stimulating MAP kinase signalling in fibroblasts. Nature 456:980–984
- Ucar A, Gupta SK, Fiedler J, Erikci E, Kardasinski M, Batkai S, Dangwal S, Kumarswamy R, Bang C, Holzmann A, Remke J, Caprio M, Jentzsch C, Engelhardt S, Geisendorf S, Glas C, Hofmann TG, Nessling M, Richter K, Schiffer M, Carrier L, Napp LC, Bauersachs J, Chowdhury K, Thum T (2012) The miRNA-212/132 family regulates both cardiac hypertrophy and cardiomyocyte autophagy. Nat Commun 3:1078
- van Rooij E, Olson EN (2012) MicroRNA therapeutics for cardiovascular disease: opportunities and obstacles. Nat Rev 11:860-872
- van Rooij E, Sutherland LB, Liu N, Williams AH, McAnally J, Gerard RD, Richardson JA, Olson EN (2006) A signature pattern of stress-responsive microRNAs that can evoke cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:18255–18260
- van Rooij E, Sutherland LB, Qi X, Richardson JA, Hill J, Olson EN (2007) Control of stressdependent cardiac growth and gene expression by a microRNA. Science 316:575–579
- van Rooij E, Sutherland LB, Thatcher JE, DiMaio JM, Naseem RH, Marshall WS, Hill JA, Olson EN (2008) Dysregulation of microRNAs after myocardial infarction reveals a role of miR-29 in cardiac fibrosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:13027–13032
- van Rooij E, Purcell AL, Levin AA (2012) Developing microRNA therapeutics. Circ Res 110:496–507
- Vausort M, Wagner DR, Devaux Y (2014) Long noncoding RNAs in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Circ Res 115:668–677
- Vickers KC, Landstreet SR, Levin MG, Shoucri BM, Toth CL, Taylor RC, Palmisano BT, Tabet F, Cui HL, Rye KA, Sethupathy P, Remaley AT (2014) MicroRNA-223 coordinates cholesterol homeostasis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:14518–14523
- Viereck J, Kumarswamy R, Foinquinos A, Xiao K, Avramopoulos P, Kunz M, Dittrich M, Maetzig T, Zimmer K, Remke J, Just A, Fendrich J, Scherf K, Bolesani E, Schambach A, Weidemann F, Zweigerdt R, de Windt LJ, Engelhardt S, Dandekar T, Batkai S, Thum T (2016) Long noncoding RNA Chast promotes cardiac remodeling. Sci Transl Med 8:326ra22
- Volders PJ, Verheggen K, Menschaert G, Vandepoele K, Martens L, Vandesompele J, Mestdagh P (2015) An update on LNCipedia: a database for annotated human lncRNA sequences. Nucleic Acids Res 43:4363–4364
- Wang C, Gong B, Bushel PR, Thierry-Mieg J, Thierry-Mieg D, Xu J, Fang H, Hong H, Shen J, Su Z, Meehan J, Li X, Yang L, Li H, Labaj PP, Kreil DP, Megherbi D, Gaj S, Caiment F, van Delft J, Kleinjans J, Scherer A, Devanarayan V, Wang J, Yang Y, Qian HR, Lancashire LJ, Bessarabova M, Nikolsky Y, Furlanello C, Chierici M, Albanese D, Jurman G, Riccadonna S, Filosi M, Visintainer R, Zhang KK, Li J, Hsieh JH, Svoboda DL, Fuscoe JC, Deng Y, Shi L, Paules RS, Auerbach SS, Tong W (2014a) The concordance between RNA-seq and microarray data depends on chemical treatment and transcript abundance. Nat Biotechnol 32:926–932
- Wang K, Liu F, Zhou LY, Long B, Yuan SM, Wang Y, Liu CY, Sun T, Zhang XJ, Li PF (2014b) The long noncoding RNA CHRF regulates cardiac hypertrophy by targeting miR-489. Circ Res 114:1377–1388

- Wang Y, Pan X, Fan Y, Hu X, Liu X, Xiang M, Wang J (2015) Dysregulated expression of microRNAs and mRNAs in myocardial infarction. Am J Transl Res 7:2291–2304
- Wang K, Long B, Liu F, Wang JX, Liu CY, Zhao B, Zhou LY, Sun T, Wang M, Yu T, Gong Y, Liu J, Dong YH, Li N, Li PF (2016) A circular RNA protects the heart from pathological hypertrophy and heart failure by targeting miR-223. Eur Heart J 37(33):2602–2611
- Weir RA, McMurray JJ, Velazquez EJ (2006) Epidemiology of heart failure and left ventricular systolic dysfunction after acute myocardial infarction: prevalence, clinical characteristics, and prognostic importance. Am J Cardiol 97:13F–25F
- Xie J, Hu X, Yi C, Hu G, Zhou X, Jiang H (2016) MicroRNA451 protects against cardiomyocyte anoxia/reoxygenation injury by inhibiting high mobility group box 1 expression. Mol Med Rep 13:5335–5341
- Yang B, Lin H, Xiao J, Lu Y, Luo X, Li B, Zhang Y, Xu C, Bai Y, Wang H, Chen G, Wang Z (2007) The muscle-specific microRNA miR-1 regulates cardiac arrhythmogenic potential by targeting GJA1 and KCNJ2. Nat Med 13:486–491
- Yang W, Shao J, Bai X, Zhang G (2015) Expression of plasma microRNA-1/21/208a/499 in myocardial ischemic reperfusion injury. Cardiology 130:237–241
- Zhang Y, Huang XR, Wei LH, Chung AC, Yu CM, Lan HY (2014) miR-29b as a therapeutic agent for angiotensin II-induced cardiac fibrosis by targeting TGF-beta/Smad3 signaling. Mol Ther 22:974–985
- Zhang J, Gao C, Meng M, Tang H (2016) Long noncoding RNA MHRT protects cardiomyocytes against H2O2-induced apoptosis. Biomol Ther (Seoul) 24:19–24
- Zhao Y, Li H, Fang S, Kang Y, Wu W, Hao Y, Li Z, Bu D, Sun N, Zhang MQ, Chen R (2016) NONCODE 2016: an informative and valuable data source of long non-coding RNAs. Nucleic Acids Res 44:D203–D208

Cardiac Myosin Activation with Gene Therapy Produces Sustained Inotropic Effects and May Treat Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction

Sam L. Teichman, Kassandra S. Thomson, and Michael Regnier

Contents

1	Introduction	448
2	Overview	449
3	dATP Is a More Potent Source of Energy for Myosin Contraction	450
4	Translational Medicine Challenge: Developing a Gene-Delivery System to Increase	
	dATP Specifically in Cardiac Tissue	455
5	Large Animal Model of HF	459
6	Limitations and Future Directions	461
7	Conclusion	462
Re	ferences	462

Abstract

Chronic inotropic therapy is effective for the treatment of heart failure with reduced ejection fraction, but has been limited by adverse long-term safety profiles, development of tolerance, and the need for chronic parenteral administration. A safe and convenient therapeutic agent that produces sustained inotropic effects could improve symptoms, functional capacity, and quality of life. Small amounts of 2-deoxy-adenosine triphosphate (dATP) activate cardiac myosin leading to enhanced contractility in normal and failing heart muscle. Cardiac myosin activation triggers faster myosin crossbridge cycling with

S.L. Teichman (🖂)

K.S. Thomson

Department of Bioengineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

M. Regnier

Department of Bioengineering, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

BEAT Biotherapeutics Corp, 1380 112th Ave., NE, Suite 200, Seattle, WA 98004, USA e-mail: steichman@beatbiotherapeutics.com

Center for Cardiovascular Biology, Institute for Stem Cell and Regenerative Medicine, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, USA

[©] Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_31

greater force generation during each contraction. This paper describes the rationale and results of a translational medicine effort to increase dATP levels using a gene therapy strategy to deliver and upregulate ribonucleotide reductase (R1R2), the enzyme responsible for dATP synthesis, selectively in cardiomyocytes. In small and large animal models of heart failure, a single dose of this gene therapy has led to sustained inotropic effects with a benign safety profile. Further animal studies are appropriate with the goal of testing this agent in patients with heart failure.

Keywords

Cardiac myosin activation • dATP • Gene therapy • Heart failure • Inotropic therapy • Ribonucleotide reductase • Translational medicine

Non-Standard Abbreviations and Acronyms

AAV6-R1	Single AAV6 vector expressing R1 subunit
AAV6-R1.2	Single AAV6 vector expressing R1 & R2 subunits, linked by P2a
AAV6-R2	Single AAV6 vector expressing R2 subunit
AV-R1	Single AV vector expressing R1 subunit
AV-R2	Single AV vector expressing R2 subunit
BB-R12	AAV6 viral vector with a cardiac-specific promoter cTnT455 to
	overexpress R1R2 in the heart
dATP	2-Deoxy-adenosine triphosphate
HF	Heart failure
R1	Rrm1 subunit of ribonucleotide reductase
R1R2	Ribonucleotide reductase
R2	Rrm2 subunit of ribonucleotide reductase
TgRR	Transgenic mouse model overexpressing R1R2

1 Introduction

Chronic heart failure (HF) remains a significant, growing cause of morbidity, hospitalizations, medical costs, and mortality and the condition has been characterized repeatedly as an epidemic (Redfield 2002; Lüscher 2014; Yancy et al. 2013). In patients with moderate-to-severe HF with reduced ejection fraction, decreased cardiac systolic function and compensatory mechanisms are the underlying causes of the clinical manifestations of HF, including the development and worsening of symptoms, declining functional capacity, episodes of decompensation requiring hospitalization, progressive dysfunction, and premature death. Chronic use of inotropic agents acting through the adrenergic system or cyclic AMP has improved symptoms and exercise capacity through an increase in ejection fraction,

but the benefit of these drugs has been limited by problematic long-term safety and tolerance, and by the need for parenteral administration (Cohn et al. 1998; Lowes et al. 2000; Francis et al. 2014). Data from the use of cardiac resynchronization and left ventricular (LV) assist devices suggest that chronic improvement of cardiac function may prevent or reverse the progression of HF (Solomon et al. 2010; Ambardekar and Buttrick 2011).

Recently, gene therapy has been tested for the treatment of HF and offers the promise of durable results after a single exposure through sustained expression of a therapeutic gene. These therapies primarily target improvement of dysfunctional calcium cycling that triggers myosin contractions, either directly or through the adrenergic system and cyclic AMP (Tilemann et al. 2012; Pleger et al. 2013). The three most advanced programs have completed clinical trials, including gene targeting sarcoplasmic/endoplasmic reticulum calcium **ATPase** therapy (SERCA2a) which regulates calcium movement between the cytoplasm and the sarcoplasmic reticulum, stromal cell-derived factor 1 (SDF-1) which is involved in endogenous myocardial repair, and adenylyl-cyclase type 6 (AC6) which catalyzes cyclic AMP formation (Pleger et al. 2013).

A new and promising method of improving cardiac function in HF patients is to target cardiac myosin directly instead of altering calcium regulation within the cardiomyocyte (Teerlink 2009). Cardiac myosin activation triggers faster myosin crossbridge cycling and greater force generation during each contraction. This approach bypasses the adrenergic and cyclic AMP systems, as well as the complex calcium regulation mechanisms. Omecamtiv mecarbil is the only cardiac myosin activating drug currently in development and encouraging clinical results have been reported preliminarily (Malik et al. 2011; Cleland et al. 2011; Greenberg et al. 2015; Teerlink et al. 2016). Omecamtiv is a myocardial ATPase activator that increases LV function independent of calcium levels by prolonging systole without an increase in +dP/dt. However, as a small organic molecule, omecamtiv mecarbil requires chronic repeat administration via injections or oral dosing.

A gene therapy strategy to cardiac myosin activation could represent the intersection between the promise of a single-exposure therapy leading to a durable improvement in cardiac function. Here we review the published work on the development of BB-R12, a novel gene therapy for HF that targets cardiac myosin contraction directly by increasing production of 2-deoxy-adenosine triphosphate (dATP) in cardiomyocytes.

2 Overview

Original observations showed that dATP is a more efficient contractile substrate for myosin than ATP, and we hypothesized that increasing intracellular dATP levels in the myocardium could lead to improved cardiac function. dATP exerts positive inotropic effects on cardiomyocytes as a complementary energy source to ATP via a direct interaction with myosin. dATP increases +dP/dt (with a corresponding increase in -dP/dt) and does not prolong systole. Cellular production of low levels

of dATP occurs normally in mammalian cells by action of ribonucleotide reductase (R1R2), the enzyme that catalyzes the removal of a hydroxyl group from the 2-position on the ribose ring of ADP to produce dADP, which is then rapidly converted to dATP via phosphorylation by creatine kinase. Small amounts of dATP (and other deoxy-NTPs) are normally produced by R1R2 as a substrate for DNA synthesis and repair in replicating cells.

R1R2 has been extensively characterized and consists of two subunits: the larger R1 subunit contains the catalytic site and two allosteric sites that can bind dATP, while the smaller R2 subunit contains the free radical generator. R1R2 is tightly allosterically regulated, with no more than approximately 5% of the ATP pool present as dATP (Caras and Martin 1988; Ahmad and Dealwis 2013). However, since cardiomyocytes are non-replicating cells, the expression of R1R2 is normally markedly downregulated and dATP levels in cardiomyocytes are less than 10% of that in other cells (Korte et al. 2011). dATP concentration can be increased by the overexpression of R1R2, the rate-limiting enzyme in its production, using gene therapy.

BB-R12 is a designed, multi-component gene therapy consisting of a recombinant serotype-6 adeno-associated viral vector (AAV6) that carries a genome containing a human cardiac troponin-specific promoter (cTnT455) linked to a transgene that codes for the human sequences of both the large (R1) and small (R2) subunits of R1R2 to overexpress the enzyme selectively in myocardium. BB-R12 increases dATP levels in cardiomyocytes for the treatment of chronic HF with reduced ejection fraction. Though BB-R12 is nominally a gene therapy, the therapeutic algorithm employed is novel. Rather than correct a genetic or proteomic defect, increased levels of dATP act as a locally produced inotropic small molecule drug treatment for the failing heart. In essence, BB-R12 creates a drug production and delivery system within the heart using gene therapy. Local, intracellular production of dATP may also lower the risk of off-target cardiac or systemic side effects. Based on the initial insight that dATP is a more efficient energy source for muscle contraction, the gene therapy approach of upregulating myocardial R1R2 has progressed from testing in cardiomyocytes and myofibrils to small animal HF models, and most recently to a pilot large animal HF model. The results of these published studies are summarized below. Further testing is underway with the goal of testing this therapy in patients with HF.

3 dATP Is a More Potent Source of Energy for Myosin Contraction

The original pharmacologic insight that 2-dATP is a more potent source of energy for myosin contraction occurred almost 20 years ago. Studies initiated by Dr. Michael Regnier evaluating ATP and ATP analogs (NTPs) for their effects on skeletal muscle contractility provided a detailed analysis of the chemo-mechanical processes of myosin–actin crossbridge cycling that is normally fueled by ATP. These studies showed increased crossbridge cycling rates with dATP compared to



Fig. 1 (a) Relative contraction velocity with different NTP and dNTP substrates (ATP = 1). (b) The effect of 2-deoxy-adenosine triphosphate (dATP) on cardiomyocyte contraction compared to control. (a) and (b) adapted from Regnier et al. (1998a). (b) Effects on force production and stiffness with [2% dATP/98% ATP] compared to 100% ATP (5 mM total) in rat cardiac muscle. Example force trace (pCa 5.6) showing increased force production with transfer from 100% ATP to [2% dATP/98% ATP], and reduction of force after transfer back to 100% ATP solution. (c) and (d) % increases in force production and stiffness of cardiac trabeculae with [2% dATP/98% ATP] at submaximal (pCa 5.6) and maximal (pCa 4.0) calcium levels. (c) and (d) adapted from Korte et al. (2011)

ATP, indicating dATP improved myosin binding with faster detachment of the myosin head from actin, thus making dATP a more effective contractile substrate than ATP (Regnier et al. 1998a; Regnier et al. 1998b; Regnier and Homsher 1998). Only dATP increased force generation compared to ATP, while all other NTPs and dNTPs produced weaker contractions (Fig. 1). Furthermore, dATP increased force generation through an increase in +dP/dt (with a corresponding increase in –dP/dt) and no prolongation of systole (Fig. 1).

Later studies investigating how the chemo-mechanical transduction pathway differs in cardiac muscle showed dATP substitution for ATP in demembranated cardiac trabeculae isolated from adult rats resulted in increased isometric force at all levels of calcium activation. Muscle "stiffness" (an experimental measurement of crossbridge binding) and force were increased similarly with dATP in cardiac muscle, suggesting increased isometric force resulted from increased strong crossbridge binding. In contrast, dATP caused elevated stiffness and force generation in skeletal muscle only at submaximal levels of calcium, demonstrating a myosin-mediated enhancement of contraction that was more potent in cardiac muscle. The substitution of dATP for ATP reversibly increased force production, stiffness, crossbridge cycling, and calcium sensitivity of force in cardiac muscle. In both cardiac and skeletal muscle, contractile kinetics were enhanced with dATP; however, increased maximal force production was only seen in cardiac muscle (Regnier et al. 2000; Regnier et al. 2004).

An experiment in rat cardiac muscle demonstrated that addition of low levels of dATP to the ATP pool at physiological calcium levels resulted in significant increases in force development. Briefly, demembranated rat cardiac trabeculae were exposed to solutions containing 5 mM NTP (either 100% ATP or [2% dATP/98% ATP]) at submaximal (pCa 5.6) and maximal (pCa 4.0) calcium concentrations. Force production at pCa 5.6 was increased by 17% with a solution of [2% dATP/98% ATP] compared to 100% ATP solution. Furthermore, the resultant increase in force was reversible upon transfer back to 100% ATP solution. Stiffness was increased with [2% dATP/98% ATP] compared to 100% ATP at pCa 5.6, indicating that increased force production with dATP is due to increased crossbridge binding. At pCa 4.0, these increases in force production and stiffness were not seen (Fig. 1). This study demonstrated that even small amounts of cellular dATP added to ATP are sufficient to significantly increase contractile force in cardiac tissue by increasing the number of strong crossbridges (Korte et al. 2011). These data, confirmed by the work of others, suggest that the analogy to a "fuel additive" is more appropriate than "higher-octane fuel" (Schoffstall et al. 2006; Schoffstall and Chase 2008; Baker 2011).

Dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM), a prevalent form of HF, is characterized by ventricular dilatation, as well as a loss of systolic function. A widely accepted canine model of naturally occurring DCM was used to evaluate whether dATP could improve contractility in DCM cardiac tissues. When myofibrils isolated from DCM canine hearts were treated with dATP, contractility was significantly increased and function was restored to the control (non-failing) cardiac tissue levels, without affecting relaxation (Cheng et al. 2016).

In order to evaluate the potential for a human therapy, cardiac tissue obtained from patients with end-stage HF was treated ex vivo with dATP to determine whether the same effects would be seen. Adult LV wall tissue was obtained from 16 end-stage HF patients undergoing LV assist device placement or cardiac transplantation. Demembranated tissues were mounted on a custom biomechanical assay platform where stiffness and steady-state isometric force were measured at varying calcium concentrations (pCa) in the presence of varying ratios of ATP:dATP (5 mM total). Cardiac myofibrils isolated from the tissue samples were used to assess the activation and relaxation kinetics with ATP or dATP (2 mM). Contractility of the failing human cardiac muscle was significantly enhanced in the presence of dATP without affecting relaxation kinetics. Isometric force at saturating



Fig. 2 Effects of ATP vs. dATP in ex vivo human cardiac tissue from end-stage HF patients demonstrating dATP increases force produced. (a) Representative isometric force trace of demembranated tissue at pCa 5.6 with ATP or dATP. (b) Force measured at maximal (pCa 4.5) and submaximal calcium concentrations (pCa 5.6) with ATP or dATP. Measurements are mean \pm SEM. **P* < 0.05 by paired student's *t*-test. Adapted from Moussavi-Harami et al. (2015)

calcium levels (pCa 4.5) was increased by 11% with dATP compared to ATP, and increased by 35% at submaximal calcium levels in the range where the heart normally operates. Isometric force was also shown to increase linearly ($R^2 = 0.985$) with increasing dATP content at pCa 5.6. Myofibrils showed a 13% increase in force production and a 44% increase in activation rate with dATP compared to ATP, with no effect on relaxation rates and no prolongation of systole. In agreement with previous studies in rat cardiac tissues, increased force production, calcium sensitivity, crossbridge cycling, and rate of activation at physiological calcium levels were seen with low levels of dATP, resulting in increased force production and more robust contractile kinetics (Fig. 2) (Moussavi-Harami et al. 2015).

The studies of rat, canine, and human tissues ex vivo characterized the increased magnitude and rate of force production with dATP in cardiac muscle. However, the structural basis for improved myosin binding and detachment with dATP in muscle was not yet understood. In order to investigate the underlying chemo-mechanical mechanisms for improved contractility seen with dATP, atom-level differences in pre-powerstroke myosin structure and dynamics with dADP binding were evaluated with molecular dynamics (MD) simulations. Effects of dADP on myosin affinity for actin were measured by an in vitro motility (IVM) assay to validate MD simulation results. A well-characterized myosin structure in the pre-powerstroke state was used as a starting structure for MD simulations. Simulation results showed that binding of dADP in the myosin cleft alters the intramolecular contacts within the nucleotide binding pocket (starting with Phe129) compared to ADP, resulting in a change in both the structure of the binding pocket and the position of the nucleotide within the pocket. This initiates a cascade of altered contacts in the protein structure, causing myosin to undergo global conformational changes towards a conformation seen in strong actin binding states. dADP binding stabilizes a myosin conformation that is more energetically favorable for actin binding (closed cleft conformation) resulting in more exposed polar residues on the actin binding surface of myosin, thus increasing the probability of electrostatic interactions between actin and myosin. MD simulation results were supported by IVM analysis, which indicated that dATP enhances weak binding electrostatic interactions between actin and myosin. These studies suggest that the missing hydroxyl group in dATP modifies the chemo-mechanical interaction of the nucleotide with the binding site on myosin, inducing global conformational changes in the myosin head structure. These changes result in an increased rate and affinity of actin binding. The increased frequency and strength of crossbridge cycling ultimately increase force production in cardiac muscle (Nowakowski et al., 2014, unpublished data) (Nowakowski et al. 2013a).

To evaluate the effects of constitutive upregulation of dATP in vivo, a transgenic mouse model that overexpresses R1R2 (TgRR) was studied. R1R2 levels are typically higher in replicating than in quiescent cells or in post-mitotic differentiated cells such as cardiomyocytes, since deoxynucleotides are needed for DNA synthesis and repair. The development of this animal model therefore initially addressed the challenge of providing heart cells in an intact animal with an adequate supply of dATP. Both in vivo and ex vivo cardiac assessments were conducted, including cardiac function, energetics, tissue morphology, gene expression, and cardiomyocyte contractility. TgRR mice overexpress both the R1 and R2 subunits of R1R2 and wild-type (WT) control transgenic mice were bred similarly to TgRR mice. Results showed that adult TgRR mice have enhanced basal ventricular function in vivo (fractional shortening and ejection fraction), and produce increased contractile force and hemodynamic parameters ex vivo (LV developed pressure, positive and negative maximum LV pressure waves), without exhibiting increased heart rate, cardiac hypertrophy, LV dilation, or adverse cardiac remodeling. Hearts were able to respond to high workload β-adrenergic challenge (dobutamine infusion) and performed similarly to normal hearts during the high workload for 20 min. High-energy phosphocreatine reserves were mildly reduced at baseline (though the levels remained high), but were similar to normal hearts after high workload challenge without affecting cellular ATP levels under normal conditions. No differences in body weight, heart weight, cardiomyocyte size, organization, or fibrosis were seen in hearts from TgRR and WT mice at 3 and 12 months, suggesting no hypertrophy or cardiac remodeling resulted from chronically elevated dATP. This transgenic animal model demonstrated that elevated cardiac function can be maintained over the long-term with R1R2 overexpression without noticeable side effects or structural adaptation of the heart, indicating that long-term upregulation of dATP may be a viable therapeutic mechanism (Nowakowski et al. 2013b).

4 Translational Medicine Challenge: Developing a Gene-Delivery System to Increase dATP Specifically in Cardiac Tissue

The body of work characterizing the effects of dATP on cardiac muscle contractility demonstrates how this ATP analog increases the magnitude and rate of force development. However, chronic administration of dATP directly to the heart is not a viable strategy to achieve long-term therapeutic cardiac effects. The transgenic mouse model demonstrated that sustained systemic overexpression of R1R2 increases basal cardiac function. In order to translate these findings into a viable therapy for cardiac diseases, a method of increasing intracellular dATP specifically in cardiomyocytes was needed and viral vector systems were designed to overexpress R1R2.

The initial in vitro evaluation of viral-mediated overexpression of R1R2 to increase cellular dATP concentration used a delivery system consisting of two separate recombinant adenoviral (AV) vectors that expressed the R1 or R2 subunits separately with a GFP reporter under the cytomegalovirus (CMV) promoter. These vectors were administered simultaneously in equal doses (this treatment is referred to as AV-R1 + AV-R2, Table 1). When cultured rat cardiomyocytes (both adult and neonatal) were transduced with AV-R1+AV-R2, the treatment resulted in increased intracellular dATP content and an increased magnitude of contraction and rate of contraction and relaxation, without affecting calcium transient properties. These results suggest that the increased contractility seen with R1R2 overexpression is due to increased myofilament responsiveness to calcium. Cells treated with AV-R1 + AV-R2 maintained the relative increase in relaxation kinetics at all stimulation frequencies, indicating no impairment of relaxation. Contractile response (defined as fractional shortening/maximal Fura-2 fluorescence) was increased in cells treated with AV-R1 + AV-R2 compared to controls at all stimulation frequencies (Fig. 3a). Measurement of cellular R1, R2, and dATP levels indicated a significant increase in R1 and R2 protein content, and an approximate tenfold increase in dATP over that seen in control cells, equating to approximately

Sequence species	Viral vector	Gene(s) expressed	Vector system design	Treatment name
Rat	AV	R1+GFP	Two separate	AV-R1+AV-R2
Rat	AV	R2+GFP	vectors	
Rat	AAV6	R1	Two separate	Rat AAV6-R1+AAV6-
Rat	AAV6	R2	vectors	R2
Human	AAV6	R1	Two separate	Human AAV6-R1
Human	AAV6	R2	vectors	+AAV6-R2
Human	AAV6	R1-P2A-R2 ^a	Single vector	Human AAV6-R1.2 (BB-R12)

Table 1 Description of viral vector systems

^aP2A is a 20 amino acid peptide linker that enables co-translation of two proteins from a single strand of mRNA and subsequent cleavage of the two proteins



Fig. 3 Effects of AV-R1+AV-R2 treatment on adult rat cardiomyocytes (ARCs). (a) Contractile response of ARCs at different stimulation frequencies. AV-R1+AV-R2 treated cells (*open triangles*) showed significantly greater response to calcium at all frequencies. AV-GFP treated cells (*open circles*); non-transduced cells (*closed circles*). *P < 0.05 compared to non-transduced; †P < 0.05 compared to AV-GFP treated. (b–d) R1R2 protein expression in ARCs after AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVMs). (d) Increased intracellular dATP in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated NRVMs. *P < 0.05 compared to AV-GFP treated to AV-GFP treated intracellular dATP in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVMs). (d) Increased intracellular dATP in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal rat ventricular myocytes (NRVMs). (d) Increased intracellular dATP in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression in AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression (c) AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression (c) AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein expression (c) AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated neonatal ration (c) R2 protein (c) R

1% of the total adenine nucleotide pool (Fig. 3b–d). This study provided the first proof of principle that dATP levels could be increased within cardiomyocytes, and that small elevations of dATP levels enhanced contractility (Korte et al. 2011).

When the AV-R1+AV-R2 system was used analogously to transduce human cells (human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes, hESC-CMs), contractility was again significantly increased (Lundy et al. 2014). To evaluate the therapeutic potential of this delivery system, AV-R1+AV-R2 was used to transduce cardiomyocytes isolated from infarcted adult rat hearts. Contractility of the treated infarcted cardiomyocytes was significantly improved compared to untreated infarct cells with the magnitude and rate of contraction restored to levels comparable to healthy (uninfarcted) cardiomyocytes (Feest et al. 2014).

The transfer of small molecules such as ATP and dATP between cells is facilitated by gap junctions. It was hypothesized that dATP could diffuse through gap junctions between physically coupled cardiomyocytes to enhance the contractility of neighboring cells that were not themselves overexpressing R1R2. To test this hypothesis, the transfer of fluorescein-labeled dATP via gap junctions between AV-R1+AV-R2 transduced and non-transduced (WT) cardiac cells (both rat and human) and the resulting effects on contractility were measured. Rapid transfer of dATP between coupled cells (Fig. 4a, b) was demonstrated, and this effect was blocked when a gap junction inhibitor was introduced. R1R2-overexpressing human cardiomyocytes (hESC-CMs) had significantly larger contraction magnitudes than WT cells (Fig. 4c, d). WT hESC-CMs coupled to AV-R1+AV-R2 treated hESC-CMs also had increased contraction magnitudes and contraction velocity, but showed no significant differences in time to peak contraction or time to 90% relaxation (Fig. 4d). When these R1R2-overexpressing human cardiomyocytes were transplanted into adult rat hearts in vivo, they delivered dATP to the host heart muscle and significantly increased global cardiac performance within 5 days (Fig. 4e) (Lundy et al. 2014).



Fig. 4 R1R2 overexpression increases human embryonic stem cell-derived cardiomyocyte (hESC-CM) contractility and enhances contractility of coupled cardiomyocytes. (**a**) Example of coupled GFP-expressing cell and WT cell. Contractile measurements were made individually on each cell in a doublet, as well as on uncoupled WT cells in culture. (**b**) Representative traces showing increased contractility of AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated cells and coupled WT cells compared to control cells with no prolongation of systole. AV-R1 + AV-R2 treated hESC-CMs showed (**c**) significantly increased magnitude of contraction compared to AV-GFP treated cells, and (**d**) significantly increased maximum contraction velocity without affecting relaxation velocity. **P* < 0.05; *NS* not significant. (**e**) Schematic showing dATP generation in transplanted R1R2-overexpressing cells (dATP "Donor" cells) and the gap junction-mediated transfer of dATP through coupled host cardiomyocytes. Adapted from Lundy et al. (2014)

In order to reduce immune responses to the delivery system relative to AV and achieve long-term expression of R1R2 in the myocardium, adeno-associated virus vector (AAV6) systems were developed that targeted cardiac tissue (Table 1). The next translational therapy was to develop a dual vector system consisting of two separate recombinant AAV6 vectors that express rat sequences of R1 or R2 under the cardiac-specific promoter cTnT455 (a regulatory cassette composed of enhancer and promoter portions of the human cardiac troponin gene (TNNT2)), which would be delivered simultaneously at equal doses (treatment referred to as Rat AAV6-R1 + AAV6-R2). When delivered systemically via intravenous infusion to healthy mice, the resulting R1R2 overexpression increased global cardiac systelic function at all doses (1.5×10^{13} , 4.5×10^{13} , or 1.35×10^{14} total vector genomes (vg)/kg), and the effects persisted for at least 13 weeks post-injection. A larger effect in the high dose group was seen at 1–3 weeks and persisted, suggesting an early dose–response, but by 6 weeks the effect in the lower dose groups had increased to reach the level seen in the high dose group. These results indicate that

the improvements in heart function seen with higher doses of vector-mediated R1R2 overexpression can be achieved with lower doses of the vector over time (Kolwicz et al. 2016). This pattern is consistent with the hypothesis that transduction of fewer cardiomyocytes in the lower dose groups required more time to establish a sufficient concentration gradient for dATP to diffuse from these cells to distal non-transduced cells.

Further translational research led to the development of a single vector system using an AAV6 vector containing a transgene cassette expressing optimized human sequences of both R1 and R2 subunits separated by a protein cleavage site under a single cardiac-specific promoter (cTnT455) (Table 1). This vector system, called BB-R12 (AAV6-R1.2 in this publication, Fig. 5a), was designed to restrict the increase of intracellular R1R2 to cardiac muscle cells. To evaluate this single vector delivery system and determine if the increased cardiac function seen with the dual vector systems used previously could be replicated, BB-R12 was delivered systemically via tail vein injection $(7 \times 10^{13} \text{ vg/kg})$ to healthy adult mice and cardiac function was monitored for 4 weeks and compared to other vector systems as described in Table 1. While significant viral genome uptake was seen in liver and ventricular tissues of treated mice compared to controls (with negligible uptake in the gastrocnemius tissue, Fig. 5b), increased levels of R1 and R2 proteins were only found in ventricular tissue (Fig. 5c), confirming the specificity of the cTnT455 promoter. BB-R12 significantly increased basal cardiac function by ~20–30%.



Fig. 5 BB-R12 vector in healthy mouse tissues. (a) Schematic diagram detailing the BB-R12 (AAV6-R1.2) vector construct containing a cardiac-specific promoter (cTnT455) and human sequences of the R1 (RRM1) and R2 (RRM2) subunits separated by a self-cleaving P2A peptide linker. (b) BB-R12 vector genome biodistribution in healthy mice tissues. qPCR results quantifying the BB-R12 vector genomes/nuclei of liver, heart (ventricle), and gastrocnemius tissues. *Bars* represent the mean \pm SD. (c) R1R2 is selectively overexpressed in cardiac tissue of healthy mice treated with BB-R12. Western blot analysis of control and BB-R12-treated mouse heart (ventricle) and liver tissue, probing for R1, R2, and a loading control (GAPDH). Adapted from Kolwicz et al. (2016)

Responsiveness to high workload challenge (dobutamine infusion) indicated that β -adrenergic signaling remained intact with AAV6 treatment, and responses were similar to those seen in transgenic mice (Kolwicz et al. 2016).

Finally, to determine whether the BB-R12 system was capable of improving in vivo cardiac function in a disease model, BB-R12 $(2.5 \times 10^{13} \text{ vg/kg})$ was injected directly into the adjacent non-infarcted myocardium of adult rats 5 days after myocardial infarction (MI) induced by permanent ligature of the left anterior descending coronary artery. Effects on cardiac function were monitored with echocardiography for 8 weeks post-MI. At 2 weeks post-treatment, fractional shortening remained significantly depressed in the MI group compared to sham controls (uninfarcted). However, by 4 and 8 weeks, cardiac function had recovered in BB-R12 treated rats to levels comparable to the sham control hearts (Kolwicz et al. 2016).

5 Large Animal Model of HF

After characterization in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo in rodent systems and models, the definitive translational evaluation of BB-R12 was to determine whether viralmediated overexpression of R1R2 could increase dATP levels and improve cardiac function in a standard large animal (swine) MI/HF model (Dixon and Spinale 2009; Ishikawa et al. 2012). Yucatan minipigs were screened for AAV6 neutralizing antibodies. Seronegative animals had MI induced by balloon occlusion of the left anterior descending coronary artery. At 2 weeks post-MI, echocardiographic and hemodynamic data confirmed that all groups showed the effects of the induced MI and ensuing HF. Animals were not immunosuppressed and were administered BB-R12 via free-flowing, antegrade intracoronary infusion after onset of HF 2 weeks post-MI (day 0). Doses were 1×10^{13} (high), 5×10^{12} (medium), or 1×10^{12} (low) doses of vector genomes. The cardiovascular responses over the 2 months post-treatment were compared to sham controls (MI + saline). As expected, during the 2-month observation, the sham group showed progression of HF with continued deterioration in LV ejection fraction (LVEF), increased LV end diastolic pressure (LVEDP), and decreased maximum rate of pressure rise (+dP/dt), a parameter of systolic function.

In contrast, animals treated with the high dose of BB-R12 had improved LVEF by 1 month post-treatment, with further improvement after 2 months. Interestingly, the medium dose group showed no response at 1 month, but had significantly increased LVEF by the 2-month time point compared to sham (Figs. 6 and 7a). This is consistent with the hypothesis that fewer transduced cells in the medium dose group required more time for dATP to diffuse from these cells to non-transduced cells and produce a response. Hemodynamic data show that LVEDP and +dP/dt were significantly improved in the high dose groups by 2 months post-treatment, with similar results in -dP/dt, a parameter of early diastolic function (Fig. 7b-d). There was no effect on LV end diastolic diameter, and no differences in blood pressure or heart rate were seen. No humoral or cellular



Fig. 6 BB-R12 effect on LV ejection fraction (LVEF) in swine model of MI/HF. LVEF at each time point in the 2-month study of swine MI/HF for sham (MI + saline) vs. BB-R12 therapy at low, medium, and high doses (n = 4-5 per group). *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01 compared to sham, mixed effects regression model; data represented as mean ± SEM. Adapted from Kadota et al. (2015)



Fig. 7 BB-R12 effect on hemodynamic parameters in swine model of MI/HF. Day 0 (pre-treatment) to Day 56 changes in (a) LVEF, (b) LV end diastolic pressure (LVEDP), (c) +dP/dt, and (d) –dP/dt. Data are mean change \pm SEM. **P* < 0.05. Adapted from Kadota et al. (2015)

immune responses to BB-R12 occurred, and no adverse effects on blood counts, chemistries, or liver enzymes were seen at any time point. At the end of the study, there were no gross or microscopic pathological findings in any organ nor any histopathologic differences in the infarct area. The results of this pilot large animal cardiac pharmacological study of the effects of BB-R12 in an MI/HF swine model extended the findings from rodent pharmacology studies, with safe and sustained increases in global cardiac function observed following a single administration and in a dose-responsive manner (Kadota et al. 2015).

6 Limitations and Future Directions

Data from the studies described above are consistent with the interpretation that elevated dATP levels increase cardiac contractility due to a direct interaction with myosin. dATP increases myosin–actin crossbridge cycling rates causing increased force generation. dATP levels can be increased with a single dose of gene therapy that selectively upregulates R1R2 in transduced cardiomyocytes. dATP can diffuse through gap junctions from a small number of transduced cells into a larger number of neighboring, non-transduced cells amplifying the effect.

However, dATP may exert additional effects via enhancing the functions of other excitation-contraction coupling components that bind ATP, or enhancement of metabolic or mitochondrial energy pathways. Since R1R2 also converts other NTPs into deoxy-NTPs, elevated levels of one or more of these could affect cardiac contractility. A more complete understanding of the mechanisms underlying this approach is desirable, but not essential to evaluating further its therapeutic potential.

Additional studies are warranted to further our understanding of important translational aspects of this technology. These include replication of the pilot swine study findings in a larger study, direct measurements of dATP and R1R2 activity in treated animals, and confirmation of the response in a second large animal experimental model of HF. Further work will assess the durability of the observed response, evaluate the effects on oxygen consumption (both at the sarcomere and, more importantly, the whole-heart level), and further assess the acute and longer-term cardiac and non-cardiac safety profile, in particular the arrhythmic potential.

From a practical perspective, gene therapy may have a valid target and fail due to insufficient transduction efficiency, i.e., too few cells are transduced to produce the desired effects. BB-R12 contains an AAV6 viral vector, which has greater affinity for the heart compared to most other myogenic AAV serotypes (Palomeque et al. 2007; Arnett et al. 2013; Gao et al. 2011). The effect of dATP appears potent, since small increases in dATP can increase cardiac contractility, and the diffusion of dATP from transduced ("factory") cells through gap junctions to neighboring and distal non-transduced cells amplifies the effect. Even though the potency and amplification effects may make BB-R12 less critically dependent upon transduction efficiency, optimization of dose and delivery techniques will increase the likelihood

of observing a beneficial therapeutic response. Antegrade intracoronary infusions produced a favorable effect in pigs, and systemic injections and direct myocardial injections have also been evaluated preliminarily. Before human testing, further animal studies should evaluate antegrade intracoronary infusions with balloon occlusions, as well as retrograde coronary sinus infusions that may increase transduction efficiency.

Lastly, because adeno-associated viruses are endemic, there is antiviral immunity in the human population. The animals in the swine MI–HF study were from a closed herd and were all seronegative. Circulating neutralizing antibodies to AAV6 are present in a large proportion of the human population and the clinical utility of this approach would be limited. However, if the therapeutic utility can be demonstrated in an initial, carefully selected population, then alternative approaches to delivery can be considered. These may include alternative AAV vectors, cell-based therapies, or direct myocardial injections.

7 Conclusion

The observation that dATP activates cardiac myosin in healthy and failing cardiomyocytes has been translated into BB-R12, a gene therapy agent capable of upregulating R1R2 selectively in the heart leading to the local synthesis of dATP. Testing to date suggests that a durable increase in cardiac performance can be produced safely after a single exposure. The approach represents the intersection of the promise of both cardiac myosin activation and gene therapy. The extensive in vitro, ex vivo, and in vivo research into experimental HF described here support further animal studies, and may eventually lead to clinical testing of BB-R12 as a therapy for the many patients with HF due to systolic dysfunction.

Disclosures MR is a scientific founder and equity holder in BEAT Biotherapeutics Corp. SLT is an employee of BEAT Biotherapeutics Corp.

Sources of Funding

Work in MR's laboratory was supported by NIH grants R01 HL061683, R01 HL065497, R01 HL111197, and R21 HL091368.

References

- Ahmad MF, Dealwis CG (2013) The structural basis for the allosteric regulation of ribonucleotide reductase. Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci 117:389–410
- Ambardekar AV, Buttrick PM (2011) Reverse remodeling with left ventricular assist devices: a review of clinical, cellular, and molecular effects. Circ Heart Fail 4(2):224–233
- Arnett AL, Beutler LR, Quintana A et al (2013) Heparin-binding correlates with increased efficiency of AAV1- and AAV6-mediated transduction of striated muscle, but negatively impacts CNS transduction. Gene Ther 20(5):497–503

- Baker AJ (2011) Refueling the heart: using 2-deoxy-ATP to enhance cardiac contractility. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51(6):883–884
- Caras IW, Martin DW (1988) Molecular cloning of the cDNA for a mutant mouse ribonucleotide reductase M1 that produces a dominant mutator phenotype in mammalian cells. Mol Cell Biol 8(7):2698–2704
- Cheng Y, Hogarth KA, O'Sullivan ML, Regnier M, Pyle WG (2016) 2-Deoxyadenosine triphosphate restores the contractile function of cardiac myofibril from adult dogs with naturally occurring dilated cardiomyopathy. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 310(1):H80–H91
- Cleland JG, Teerlink JR, Senior R et al (2011) The effects of the cardiac myosin activator, omecamtiv mecarbil, on cardiac function in systolic heart failure: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover, dose-ranging phase 2 trial. Lancet 378(9792):676–683
- Cohn JN, Goldstein SO, Greenberg BH et al (1998) A dose-dependent increase in mortality with vesnarinone among patients with severe heart failure. Vesnarinone Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med 339(25):1810–1816
- Dixon JA, Spinale FG (2009) Large animal models of heart failure: a critical link in the translation of basic science to clinical practice. Circ Heart Fail 2(3):262–271
- Feest ER, Steven Korte F, Tu AY et al (2014) Thin filament incorporation of an engineered cardiac troponin C variant (L48Q) enhances contractility in intact cardiomyocytes from healthy and infarcted hearts. J Mol Cell Cardiol 72:219–227
- Francis GS, Bartos JA, Adatya S (2014) Inotropes. J Am Coll Cardiol 63(20):2069-2078
- Gao G, Bish LT, Sleeper MM et al (2011) Transendocardial delivery of AAV6 results in highly efficient and global cardiac gene transfer in rhesus macaques. Hum Gene Ther 22(8):979–984
- Greenberg BH, Chou W, Saikali KG et al (2015) Safety and tolerability of omecamtiv mecarbil during exercise in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy and angina. JACC Heart Fail 3 (1):22–29
- Ishikawa K, Tilemann L, Ladage D et al (2012) Cardiac gene therapy in large animals: bridge from bench to bedside. Gene Ther 19(6):670–677
- Kadota S, Carey J, Reinecke H et al (2015) Ribonucleotide reductase-mediated increase in dATP improves cardiac performance via myosin activation in a large animal model of heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 17(8):772–781
- Kolwicz SC, Odom GL, Nowakowski SG et al (2016) AAV6-mediated cardiac-specific overexpression of ribonucleotide reductase enhances myocardial contractility. Mol Ther 24:240–250
- Korte FS, Dai J, Buckley K et al (2011) Upregulation of cardiomyocyte ribonucleotide reductase increases intracellular 2 deoxy-ATP, contractility, and relaxation. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51 (6):894–901
- Lowes BD, Higginbotham M, Petrovich L et al (2000) Low-dose enoximone improves exercise capacity in chronic heart failure. Enoximone Study Group. J Am Coll Cardiol 36(2):501–508
- Lundy SD, Murphy SA, Dupras SK et al (2014) Cell-based delivery of dATP via gap junctions enhances cardiac contractility. J Mol Cell Cardiol 72:350–359
- Lüscher TF (2014) Heart failure: the epidemic of the new century. Eur Heart J 35(48):3389–3390
- Malik FI, Hartman JJ, Elias KA et al (2011) Cardiac myosin activation: a potential therapeutic approach for systolic heart failure. Science 331(6023):1439–1443
- Moussavi-Harami F, Razumova MV, Racca AW, Cheng Y, Stempien-Otero A, Regnier M (2015) 2-Deoxy adenosine triphosphate improves contraction in human end-stage heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 79:256–263
- Nowakowski S, Adamek N, Geeves M et al (2013) 2-Deoxy-ATP alters myosin structure to enhance cross-bridge cycling and improve cardiac function [Abstract]. Presented at Biophysical Society 57th Annual Meeting, 2–6 February 2013, Philadelphia, PA2013
- Nowakowski SG, Kolwicz SC, Korte FS et al (2013b) Transgenic overexpression of ribonucleotide reductase improves cardiac performance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110(15):6187–6192
- Palomeque J, Chemaly ER, Colosi P et al (2007) Efficiency of eight different AAV serotypes in transducing rat myocardium in vivo. Gene Ther 14(13):989–997

- Pleger ST, Brinks H, Ritterhoff J et al (2013) Heart failure gene therapy: the path to clinical practice. Circ Res 113(6):792–809
- Redfield MM (2002) Heart failure—an epidemic of uncertain proportions. N Engl J Med 347 (18):1442–1444
- Regnier M, Homsher E (1998) The effect of ATP analogs on posthydrolytic and force development steps in skinned skeletal muscle fibers. Biophys J 74(6):3059–3071
- Regnier M, Lee DM, Homsher E (1998a) ATP analogs and muscle contraction: mechanics and kinetics of nucleoside triphosphate binding and hydrolysis. Biophys J 74(6):3044–3058
- Regnier M, Martyn DA, Chase PB (1998b) Calcium regulation of tension redevelopment kinetics with 2-deoxy-ATP or low [ATP] in rabbit skeletal muscle. Biophys J 74(4):2005–2015
- Regnier M, Rivera AJ, Chen Y, Chase PB (2000) 2-deoxy-ATP enhances contractility of rat cardiac muscle. Circ Res 86(12):1211–1217
- Regnier M, Martin H, Barsotti RJ, Rivera AJ, Martyn DA, Clemmens E (2004) Cross-bridge versus thin filament contributions to the level and rate of force development in cardiac muscle. Biophys J 87(3):1815–1824
- Schoffstall B, Chase PB (2008) Increased intracellular [dATP] enhances cardiac contraction in embryonic chick cardiomyocytes. J Cell Biochem 104(6):2217–2227
- Schoffstall B, Clark A, Chase PB (2006) Positive inotropic effects of low dATP/ATP ratios on mechanics and kinetics of porcine cardiac muscle. Biophys J 91(6):2216–2226
- Solomon SD, Foster E, Bourgoun M et al (2010) Effect of cardiac resynchronization therapy on reverse remodeling and relation to outcome: multicenter automatic defibrillator implantation trial: cardiac resynchronization therapy. Circulation 122(10):985–992
- Teerlink JR (2009) A novel approach to improve cardiac performance: cardiac myosin activators. Heart Fail Rev 14(4):289–298
- Teerlink JR, Felker GM, McMurry JJV et al (2016) Acute treatment with omecamtiv mecarbil to increase contractility in acute heart failure. The ATOMIC-AHF Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 67:1444–1455
- Tilemann L, Ishikawa K, Weber T, Hajjar RJ (2012) Gene therapy for heart failure. Circ Res 110 (5):777–793
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B et al (2013) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 62(16):e147–e239

Direct Myosin Activation by Omecamtiv Mecarbil for Heart Failure with Reduced Ejection Fraction

Mitchell A. Psotka and John R. Teerlink

Contents

1	Intro	duction	467
2	Cardiac Contractility		468
	2.1	Myocardial Force Production	468
	2.2	Mechanochemical Actin–Myosin Cycle	468
	2.3	Endogenous Regulation of Myosin Activity	470
3	Myo	cardial Contractility	471
	3.1	Inotropy Defined	471
	3.2	Myocardial Energetics of Inotropy	471
	3.3	Mechanisms of Available Inotropic Agents	472
	3.4	Clinical Effects of Available Inotropic Agents	472
4	Ome	camtiv Mecarbil (OM)	474
	4.1	Screening and Optimization	474
	4.2	Omecamtiv Mecarbil Mechanisms of Action	475
	4.3	Omecamtiv Mecarbil in Healthy Animal Models	476
	4.4	Omecamtiv Mecarbil in Animal Models of Heart Failure	476
5	Ome	camtiv Mecarbil Clinical Development Program	478
	5.1	Phase I Clinical Studies	478
	5.2	Phase II Clinical Studies	482
	5.3	Phase III Clinical Trials	486
6	Sum	mary	486
Re	ferend	ces	487

M.A. Psotka

School of Medicine, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA

J.R. Teerlink (🖂)

School of Medicine, University of California San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA Section of Cardiology, 111C, San Francisco Veterans Affairs Medical Center, 4150 Clement St, San Francisco, CA 94121-1545, USA e-mail: john.teerlink@ucsf.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_13

Abstract

Myosin is the indispensable molecular motor that utilizes chemical energy to produce force for contraction within the cardiac myocyte. Myosin activity is gated by intracellular calcium levels which are regulated by multiple upstream signaling cascades that can be altered for clinical utility using inotropic medications. In contrast to clinically available cardiac inotropes, omecamtiv mecarbil is a novel direct myosin activator developed to augment left ventricular systolic function without the undesirable secondary effects of altered calcium homeostasis. Its identification and synthesis followed high-throughput screening of a reconstituted sarcomere, deliberate optimization, exquisite biochemical evaluation, and subsequently promising effects in animal models were demonstrated. Physiologically, it prolonged the duration of left ventricular systole in animal models, healthy adults, and patients with heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) without changing the velocity of pressure development, as assessed in animal models. It has been formulated for both intravenous and oral administration, and in both acute and chronic settings produced similar alterations in the duration of systole associated with beneficial increases in cardiac output, improvements in left ventricular volumes, and reductions in heart rate and often of natriuretic peptides. Small, asymptomatic increases in troponin were also observed in the absence of clinically evident ischemia. Clinically, the question remains as to whether the possible harm of this minimal troponin release is outweighed by the potential benefits of reduced neurohormonal activation, increased stroke volume and cardiac output, and improved ventricular remodeling in patients treated with omecamtiv mecarbil. The resolution of this question is being addressed by a phase III outcomes trial of this potential novel therapy for heart failure.

Keywords

Cardiac output • Heart failure • Myosin activator • Omecamtiv mecarbil • Systolic ejection time

Abbreviations

ACE	Angiotensin-converting enzyme
ARB	Angiotensin receptor blocker
ARNI	Angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitors
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BNP	Brain-type natriuretic peptide
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CO	Cardiac output
dP/dt	Maximal rate of pressure rise during systole
FS	Fractional shortening

HF	Heart failure
HFrEF	Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction
LV	Left ventricle
LVEDP	Left ventricular end-diastolic pressure
LVEDV	Left ventricular end-diastolic volume
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
LVESV	Left ventricular end-systolic volume
MRA	Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists
MVO ₂	Myocardial oxygen consumption
NCX	Sodium-calcium exchanger
ОМ	Omecamtiv mecarbil
PDE	Phosphodiesterase
Pi	Hydrolyzed phosphate
SERCA2a	Sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase 2a
SET	Systolic ejection time
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
SV	Stroke volume

1 Introduction

Decreased cardiac contractility, principally quantified by reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), is the underlying pathologic change responsible for heart failure (HF) with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) and its substantial associated worldwide morbidity and mortality (Yancy et al. 2013; Ponikowski et al. 2016; Mozaffarian et al. 2016; McMurray 2010). Current treatment modalities combat the negative consequences of hemodynamic and neurohormonal compensatory responses to maintain adequate cardiac output (CO) in HFrEF. Evidence-based therapies that improve mortality include β -adrenergic receptor blockers, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB), angiotensin receptor neprilysin inhibitors (ARNI), mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRA), and hydralazine with nitrates, while additional agents including ivabradine and digoxin offer benefits for morbidity without substantial improvements in mortality (Yancy et al. 2016; Psotka and Teerlink 2016). Those agents that improve mortality also typically secondarily increase LVEF, decrease left ventricular end-diastolic volume (LVEDV), and decrease left ventricular end-systolic volume (LVESV), while most agents unable to positively influence mortality typically fail to augment LVEF or improve ventricular dimensions (Kramer et al. 2010). Therapeutics to improve ventricular contractility, addressing an underlying cause of HFrEF, remain conceptually attractive for both the acute and chronic management of HFrEF. Unfortunately, currently available inotropic medications lack evidence of benefit at best and increase mortality at worst (Hasenfuss and Teerlink 2011). This chapter will review the pharmacokinetics, preclinical and clinical efficacy, and safety of the novel smallmolecule direct myosin activator omecamtiv mecarbil (CK-1827452; AMG-423).

Omecamtiv mecarbil (OM) has the potential to fill the widely applicable role of a clinical therapeutic that improves LVEF with concomitant benefits on clinical outcomes, ideally in both acute and chronic HFrEF.

2 Cardiac Contractility

2.1 Myocardial Force Production

Since cardiac myocytes are connected by tight junctions, they form an electrical syncytium over which a wave of depolarization sweeps to locally activate them in unison and produce contractile force (Solaro 2011). The principal unit of cardiac contraction and the critical site of its regulation is the sarcomere. Within the sarcomere, the force-producing unit is cardiac myosin, the molecular motor that utilizes cellular energy from the hydrolysis of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to pull on actin filaments, resulting in myocardial contraction. Myosin functions as a dimeric protein consisting of two light chains and two heavy chains. The latter possesses an ATPase domain responsible for accessing the energy stored as intracellular ATP as well as a binding site for actin for the purpose of translocation (Spudich 1994; Malik et al. 2011). The myocardial sarcomere is composed of interdigitating myosin thick filaments and actin thin filaments with associated troponin and tropomyosin regulatory complexes (Fig. 1). At basal intracellular calcium levels, prior to the influx of calcium through the cell membrane or release from an intracellular membranous system called the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR), tropomyosin complexed with troponins C, I, and T blocks actin-myosin cross-bridge formation. Following myocyte depolarization, increased intracellular calcium binds to troponin C and causes a conformational change in the tropomyosin complex allowing subsequent myosin binding and procession through the mechanochemical cycle.

2.2 Mechanochemical Actin–Myosin Cycle

The myosin mechanochemical cycle couples ATP hydrolysis to mechanical movement of the actin myofilament by approximately 10 nm, generating 3–6 pN of force per myosin head (Spudich 1994, 2014; Liu et al. 2015). It is conceptually useful to start discussion of the myosin cycle at the termination of the previous cycle, when the myosin head has completed mechanical movement yet remains strongly bound to the actin myofilament (Fig. 2). ATP binding to the myosin head rapidly releases post-powerstroke myosin from actin. Myosin hydrolysis of ATP to adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and phosphate (P_i) resets the myosin lever arm to a cocked position prepared for mechanical transduction and allows a weak interaction between the myosin head and actin filament. Release of the hydrolyzed P_i is rate-limiting and occurs concomitantly with transition to a strong interaction between myosin and actin, followed by the force-producing mechanical transduction of the myosin lever arm. The approximately 100-ms cycle completes with the release of ADP whereupon



Fig. 1 Actin and myosin regulatory complex. Increased intracellular calcium binds to troponin C resulting in a conformational change of the tropomyosin–troponin I–troponin T complex on the actin myofilament, exposing the actin so that the myosin head may attach and enter the myosin cross-bridge cycle



Fig. 2 The mechanochemical cycle of actin and myosin, modified from Malik et al. (2011) and Spudich (1994). The mechanochemical cycle begins with release of myosin bound to the actin myofilament by interaction with cytoplasmic adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (1). Hydrolysis of ATP into adenosine diphosphate (ADP) and inorganic phosphate (P_i) cocks the myosin lever arm into the loaded position (2). The myosin–ADP– P_i complex weakly binds to the actin myofilament and scans for an appropriate binding site (3). Concomitant with transition to strong binding of actin, myosin releases the P_i and the myosin lever arm shifts to translocate the actin filament (4). Following movement of the lever arm, ADP is released and the myosin–actin complex awaits the arrival of another ATP molecule

a new ATP rapidly binds to myosin releasing it from the actin myofilament. In cardiac tissue, the physiologic correlates to the myosin cycle are ventricular systole (active cardiac contraction) during which myosin translocates actin, and ventricular diastole (cardiac relaxation and filling) during which myosin is unbound or weakly affiliated with actin awaiting the following cardiac cycle.

2.3 Endogenous Regulation of Myosin Activity

The final common myosin regulatory pathway for a diverse group of endogenous stimuli is the myocyte intracellular calcium concentration during myocardial activation and the calcium sensitivity of the myofibril regulatory apparatus (Solaro 2011; Hasenfuss and Teerlink 2011). When an action potential reaches a myocyte, it causes opening of sarcolemmal calcium channels that transport a small amount of calcium into the cytoplasm. Through calcium-induced calcium release, the small initial calcium current activates additional calcium release through the ryanodine receptors from the internal SR network. Depolarization-induced calcium influx contributes approximately 20% of the intracellular calcium rise while the rest principally comes from the SR. As previously described, as concentrations of intracellular calcium increase, calcium occupies the exchangeable calcium binding sites on troponin C, causing the troponin complex to move tropomyosin, thus exposing actin and facilitating the myosin cycle. Following cell repolarization, calcium is returned to the SR by SERCA2a, a calcium ATPase, and extruded by the sodium-calcium exchange protein NCX and a sarcolemmal calcium ATPase. In the basal state, prior to depolarization, there is not sufficient cytoplasmic calcium to saturate myofilament troponin C, and thus the myosin cycle does not occur. In the event of rapid heart rate, delayed inactivation of the cell membrane calcium channels occurs leading to increased intracellular calcium accumulation to facilitate more rapid sarcomere activation. In this way, there is heart rate- or frequency-dependent increased myocardial contractility.

Extracellular stimuli modify myocyte intracellular calcium fluxes (Teerlink 2009; Solaro 2011). Autonomic nervous system signaling controls the levels of catecholamines and acetylcholine that, respectively, activate or inhibit myocyte membranebound G-protein coupled receptors. Activation of adrenergic G-protein coupled receptor signaling stimulates adenylyl cyclase to transform ATP into cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) that activates protein kinase A (PKA) to phosphorylate a host of downstream molecules. Phosphodiesterase breaks down cAMP and inhibits this activation of PKA. PKA phosphorylation of phospholamban leads to increased calcium uptake into the SR by SERCA2a, increasing both intracellular calcium and the rate of reuptake following contraction in preparation for another cycle. PKA also phosphorylates SR membrane calcium channels which facilitates increased calcium release with depolarization, as well as troponin I which eases calcium-induced troponin C release. These actions in concert augment calcium-mediated activation of the myosin cycle and increase cardiac contractility as well as rapidity of contraction.

Apart from intercellular and intracellular signaling mechanisms previously discussed, length-dependent activation of cross-bridges also increases myocardial contractility (Holubarsch et al. 1996). Increased ventricular preload with concomitant increased precontraction sarcomere length increases contractile strength via the calciumindependent Frank–Starling mechanism. These changes are mediated by a combination of effects on sarcomere regulatory proteins responsible for determining calcium sensitivity. Unfortunately, this mechanism becomes overwhelmed as the heart continues to dilate in severe HFrEF.

3 Myocardial Contractility

3.1 Inotropy Defined

An inotrope is an agent that increases myocardial contractile force and speed. There are several determinants of myocardial contractility that are capable of modulation. The first component is the number of myosin–actin cross-bridges participating during each cycle of systole. Because the force produced by each myosin head is constant, the total force production during contraction is dependent on the number of myosin–actin cross-bridges; more cross-bridges result in a greater force of contraction. The number of cross-bridges depends on the amount of calcium available to bind troponin C, the calcium affinity of the troponin complex, the number of myosin heads ready to undergo actin binding once their binding sites become available, and finally the duration of thin filament activation, which if prolonged can allow additional myosin heads to participate during the same contraction. At the conclusion of systole, the non-force-producing period begins, during which the myosin cross-bridges detach, representing the diastolic period during which ventricular relaxation and coronary artery filling occur.

All currently known inotropic agents alter calcium homeostasis and thus indirectly effect an increase in generated force by myosin by changing the amount of calcium available to bind troponin C (Hasenfuss and Teerlink 2011). Although not critical for augmented contractility, interventions that heighten calcium concentrations or enhance calcium sensitivity also result in increased velocity of force development, quantified by the maximal rate of pressure rise during systole (dP/dt), and also increase lusitropy, or the maximal rate of pressure decline during diastolic relaxation.

3.2 Myocardial Energetics of Inotropy

In the detached state, myosin binds and hydrolyzes ATP but is very slow to release the P_i or ADP. If it does so before binding to the actin filament, then the energy of ATP hydrolysis is wasted. However, if the myosin is able to bind the actin filament during systole, ATP is productively used in a 1:1 ratio by each participating myosin head during a mechanochemical cycle (Hasenfuss and Teerlink 2011). Since only a fraction of available myosin heads normally forms productive cross-bridges during each cycle, the actin-independent ATP turnover by myosin essentially wastes chemical energy without force production. The total energy use by myosin is thus the summation of the two processes; the efficiency of the system depends on the amount of ATP hydrolyzed as part of force production versus independent of actin compared to the quantity of generated force-time integral. In the case of cAMP-augmented contractility, the increased rate of calcium fluxes reduces the attachment time of each cross-bridge cycle. Thus increases in dP/dt and lusitropy occur at the expense of worsened myocardial energetic efficiency. In addition, cAMP-augmented contractility also requires increased energy of ATP-dependent ion pumps in the context of these increased calcium fluxes.

3.3 Mechanisms of Available Inotropic Agents

Currently available inotropic agents for clinical use include adrenergic receptor agonists (dobutamine and dopamine) and phosphodiesterase 3 (PDE) inhibitors (milrinone and enoximone), both of which signal through cAMP and PKA, calcium sensitizers (levosimendan), and sodium-potassium ATPase inhibitors (digitalis) that impair establishment of the sodium gradient utilized by NCX to extrude calcium (Hasenfuss and Teerlink 2011). All of these agents intensify cardiac contractility through their common mediator: intracellular myocardial calcium. Most of these agents inflate energy utilization because calcium extrusion and importation into the SR are an ATPdependent process. They also increase heart rate by aggravating the compensatory mechanisms known to be harmful in HFrEF (Hasenfuss and Teerlink 2011: Haikala et al. 1995; Teerlink 2009). Levosimendan mediates potent vasodilation by activating ATP-dependent potassium channels and may function as a calcium sensitizer at the level of the troponin complex (Haikala et al. 1995; Hasenfuss et al. 1998; Yokoshiki and Sperelakis 2003), though others have suggested that it also has significant PDE-3 inhibitor activity at clinically relevant concentrations (Endoh 2014; Orstavik et al. 2014).

3.4 Clinical Effects of Available Inotropic Agents

The underlying premise of increased contractility for the treatment of HFrEF is intuitive: the central pathophysiologic change thought to be responsible for the syndrome is decreased systolic function, thus improved systolic function should prevent or reverse maladaptive neurohormonal activation and ventricular remodeling, reduce symptoms, and increase survival. In spite of this logic, the fulfillment of this potential benefit has been elusive. Inotropic agents have repeatedly failed to improve clinical outcomes. In the most recent guidelines from the USA and Europe, the use of available non-glycoside inotropic agents may be considered only for the treatment of cardiogenic shock or hypoperfusion associated with acute HF but they are not recommended because their usefulness and efficacy is poorly established. Additionally, they are contraindicated in the absence of cardiogenic shock except in palliative settings due to their negative impact on patient outcomes including increased mortality (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Yancy et al. 2013). Digoxin is the exception; it may be used for patients in sinus rhythm who remain symptomatic despite multiple preferable therapies (ACEi/ ARB/ ARNI, beta-blockers, diuretics, MRA, hydralazine with nitrates, and ivabradine) to decrease hospitalization during or after other agents have been employed, and it may be indicated as second-line therapy for rate control of atrial fibrillation in the setting of HF.

The lack of benefit with these available inotropes may be due to the mechanism by which they augment contractility. The adverse clinical effects of cAMP mediated inotropy have been demonstrated in multiple clinical trials. In the ESCAPE trial, the use of inotropes (primarily dobutamine, milrinone, and dopamine) was associated with increased 6-month all-cause mortality (Elkayam et al. 2007). In OPTIME- CHF, 951 patients with acute HF not in cardiogenic shock (systolic blood pressure > 90 mmHg) were randomized to a 48-h infusion of the PDE inhibitor milrinone or placebo and followed for 60 days (Cuffe et al. 2002). Milrinone was not superior to placebo for the primary endpoint of the proportion of time spent in the hospital, was not associated with substantially improved patient well-being, and produced statistically significantly more adverse events including sustained hypotension and new atrial arrhythmias, with numerically more ventricular arrhythmias, myocardial infarctions, and deaths. In the subset of patients with known coronary artery disease, milrinone therapy increased 60-day mortality (11.6% versus 7.5% for placebo, p = 0.03) (Felker et al. 2003). Use of oral milrinone compared to placebo was investigated in the PROMISE trial, where 1,088 chronic HFrEF stable outpatients were randomized (Packer et al. 1991). Milrinone increased all-cause mortality by 28% as well as increased hospitalizations. Similar results were reported from a meta-analysis of randomized trials of intravenous dobutamine, in which there was a trend towards increased mortality with dobutamine use with odds ratio 1.47 [95% confidence interval (CI) 0.98-2.21, p = 0.06] (Tacon et al. 2012). Finally, the PDE inhibitor vesnarinone demonstrated clear dose-dependent increased mortality in the Vesnarinone trial, which terminated its development as a therapeutic (Cohn et al. 1998).

Clinical results with the calcium sensitizer levosimendan have been similarly disappointing. In the SURVIVE trial, 1,327 patients with acute HF in need of intravenous inotropic support were randomized to levosimendan or dobutamine for at least 24 h (Mebazaa et al. 2007). There was no difference between the groups in the primary outcome of 180-day all-cause mortality, and although levosimendan was associated with a greater decrease in the marker of vascular congestion, brain-type natriuretic peptide (BNP), there was no benefit in terms of patient global assessment. Levosimendan did however increase atrial fibrillation and hypokalemia. In the 700-patient REVIVE trials, intravenous levosimendan for acute HF provided improved symptomatic relief, decreased BNP, and less clinical worsening, however was associated with a numerical elevation in 90-day mortality and statistically significant increases in hypotension, heart rate, episodes of ventricular tachycardia, and atrial fibrillation (Packer et al. 2013).

Although now with a diminished role in the treatment of HFrEF, digoxin was once commonly administered to increase cardiac contractility. It exerts its cardiac function by inhibiting the sodium–potassium ATPase, limiting calcium extrusion by NCX, and thus elevating intramyocyte calcium. The DIG trial randomized 6,800 patients with chronic HFrEF to oral digoxin or placebo and followed them for mean 37 months (The Digitalis Investigation Group 1997). There was no difference in the primary outcome of mortality between the treatment arms, although patients treated with digoxin were hospitalized less for cardiovascular causes or worsening HF than in the placebo arm (risk ratio 0.72, 95% CI 0.66–0.79, p < 0.001). Additional analyses suggested that patients with serum digoxin concentrations of 1.2 ng/mL and higher had a 12% greater absolute mortality rate (Rathore et al. 2003). Digoxin's use in the outpatient arena has been largely replaced by therapeutics with demonstrated mortality benefit, although some have suggested that its role should be expanded to improve symptoms and reduce worsening heart failure (Ambrosy et al. 2014).

4 Omecamtiv Mecarbil (OM)

Omecamtiv mecarbil (OM) represents the first drug candidate in a novel therapeutic class whose mechanism of action is to directly alter the myosin cross-bridge cycle. It specifically acts by increasing the rate of transition of myosin from a weakly bound to a strongly bound state as indicated by an increase in the rate of actin-dependent phosphate release, thus allowing more myosin heads to enter the strongly bound force-producing state during systole. The increased number of myosin cross-bridges augments contractility without altering calcium homeostasis or changing the velocity of pressure development (dP/dt); however, it does increase the duration of systole manifest as an increase in systolic ejection time (SET). In contrast to available inotropes, OM improves cardiac contraction independent of changes in cAMP and calcium transients. Because not all myosin heads participate in each cycle of systole (generally <10% of the available cross-bridges), the addition of more myosin heads enhances myosin-generated force and myocardial contraction (Spudich 2014).

4.1 Screening and Optimization

It was hypothesized that direct activation of the human sarcomere could augment cardiac performance without the adverse effects of known inotropic agents or calcium sensitizers. OM was identified by high-throughput screening of small-molecule compounds in a biochemically reconstituted sarcomere and followed by optimization of candidate molecules for pharmacologic and clinically desirable properties (Malik et al. 2011; Morgan et al. 2010; Malik and Morgan 2011). The reconstituted calciumresponsive sarcomere was composed of polymerized purified bovine actin, with subsequent addition of stoichiometrically appropriate troponin-tropomyosin complexes and the S1 subfragment of type II β-cardiac myosin with ATP and calcium. Increases in measured myosin ATPase signaled small molecules capable of sarcomere activation among approximately 400,000 screened agents. Specificity for cardiac myosin was demonstrated by contrasting these results with a similarly constructed system using skeletal muscle myosin. The identified compounds were highly selective for the cardiac sarcomere, and they were subsequently shown to increase contractility in isolated rat cardiac myocytes with no effect on myocyte calcium fluxes, confirming the original hypothesis (Morgan et al. 2010).

The compounds discovered in the original screen were subsequently modified to allow for intravenous and oral administration by improving stability and aqueous solubility, decreasing protein binding, removing undesirable chemical moieties, increasing potency, and avoiding off-target effects including vasodilation via potassium channel alteration and hepatic enzyme inhibition that would lead to unfavorable drug interactions (Morgan et al. 2010). Systematic iterative optimization of the parent compound addressed these issues while maintaining the targeted effect of myosin activation in the reconstituted sarcomere, isolated cardiomyocytes, and on cardiac function as observed using echocardiography in normal Sprague-Dawley rats. After synthesizing more than 1,700 compounds, the terminal chemical structure of OM (Fig. 3),




also called CK-1827452 and AMG-423, possessed a molecular weight of 401.43 g/ mol, and demonstrated in vitro and in vivo pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties suitable for further evaluation (Malik and Morgan 2011).

4.2 Omecamtiv Mecarbil Mechanisms of Action

OM selectively activates cardiac isoforms of myosin and does so by directly binding to the myosin head and allosterically modulating its progression through the mechanochemical cycle (Malik et al. 2011). In the reconstituted bovine sarcomere, OM accelerated the transition of myosin from the weakly actin-bound to strongly actinbound state measured by release of P_i (Fig. 2, step 4), without changing the rate of subsequent ADP release that determines the amount of time in the strongly actinbound state (Fig. 2, step 5), nor the rate of ATP binding and release of actin (Fig. 2, step 1). These in vitro biochemical findings were corroborated and expanded with porcine myosin by a separate research group (Liu et al. 2015). In this system, OM appeared to shift the equilibrium towards myosin ATP hydrolysis without affecting the rate of hydrolysis (Fig. 2, step 2), in addition to accelerating the rate of P_i release. Because the transition from weak to strong interaction between myosin and actin together with release of P_i is the rate-limiting step in the mechanochemical cycle, OM expedites the entry into the force-production state, expanding the number of myosin heads participating in force production during each cross-bridge cycle. This increases the total contractile impulse generated. Notably, OM decreased the rate of P_i release when actin was removed from the reconstituted bovine system and this was recapitulated in the in vitro porcine system (Liu et al. 2015; Malik et al. 2011). This decrease in actin-independent ATP hydrolysis potentially increases the overall energetic efficiency of the system by diminishing ATP use not associated with mechanical work.

OM exerted its effects independent of known secondary messenger systems including β -adrenergic signaling and calcium homeostasis (Malik et al. 2011). OM demonstrated an additive effect with isoproterenol on fractional shortening (FS) of freshly isolated adult rat cardiac myocytes in the absence of change in the calcium transient, and the OM-augmented contractility was not blocked by treating with the adrenergic antagonist carvedilol. OM can mediate its effect in the presence of these typical inotropic mechanisms because it binds directly to myosin. In the bovine reconstituted in vitro sarcomere, OM bound at a stoichiometry of one molecule of OM for each myosin head. An OM analog with UV-crosslinking identified the binding cleft in close proximity to both the actin-binding and ATP-binding regions of myosin, allowing allosteric modulation of these areas (Malik et al. 2011). On the cellular level, OM increased the contraction duration of freshly isolated adult rat cardiomyocytes without altering the speed of contraction or relaxation compared to untreated cells. OM is thus postulated to mediate its physiologic effect in intact organisms by increasing the number of myosin heads participating during a contractile cycle, thus increasing the time of thin filament activation, resulting in an increase in SET. The overall result is an increase in the overall extent of contractile force produced.

4.3 Omecamtiv Mecarbil in Healthy Animal Models

The OM-induced augmentation of the myosin mechanochemical cycle was demonstrated to have the anticipated consequences in a variety of animal models. OM infusions for 30–60 min to generate plasma concentrations of 100–1,000 ng/mL produced dose-dependent elevations in echocardiographically measured fractional shortening of 10–20% in both Sprague-Dawley rats and beagle dogs (Malik et al. 2011). In normal mongrel dogs with implanted hemodynamic and ultrasonographic sensors, OM as an intravenous bolus of 0.5 mg/kg followed by 0.5 mg/kg/h for 15 min increased fractional shortening, myocardial wall thickening, SET, and stroke volume. OM decreased heart rate without statistically significant changes in CO, dP/dt, mean arterial pressure, left ventricular end-diastolic pressure (LVEDP), or total vascular resistance.

4.4 Omecamtiv Mecarbil in Animal Models of Heart Failure

The conscious mongrel dog with implanted hemodynamic and ultrasonographic sensors was used to investigate the effects of OM in a model of HFrEF. HF was created by ligation of the mid-anterior descending coronary artery followed by 1–2 weeks of recovery, and then 3–4 weeks of rapid ventricular pacing at 240 bpm (Shen et al. 2010). These cardiac insults increased resting heart rate, left atrial pressure, LVEDP, and decreased dP/dt (Shen et al. 2010). Like similarly monitored healthy dogs, OM as an intravenous bolus of 0.5 mg/kg followed by 0.5 mg/kg/h for 15 min increased ventricular wall thickening, FS, and SET, and decreased heart rate, without changes in dP/dt in dogs with HF. However, OM also significantly raised CO (29% versus 1%) and SV (61% versus 10%) substantially more in the HF dogs than in healthy dogs, despite a 17% decrease in heart rate (Malik et al. 2011). When compared with a 10 µg/kg/min dobutamine infusion, a 1 mg/kg bolus of OM demonstrated separate effects on time-dependent elastance during pressure–volume loop monitoring, again clarifying the effects of OM as distinct from those of traditional inotropes.

When OM was administered to the dog model as an intravenous bolus of 0.25 mg/kg followed by 0.25 mg/kg/h for 24 h, similar changes were maintained as with short-term dosing; this included increases of 26% in SET, 22% in cardiac output, and 44% in stroke volume, with coincident decreases of 15% in heart rate, 12% in left atrial pressure, and 16% in LVEDP (Shen et al. 2010). These hemodynamic changes are summarized in Fig. 4. There was no evidence of desensitization with sustained OM infusion, there remained no effect on dP/dt, and in some animals the infusions were continued for 72 h without abatement of physiologic improvements. Myocardial energetics in the live



Fig. 4 Schematic hemodynamic effects of omecamtiv mecarbil on the cardiac left ventricle, adapted from Shen et al. (2010). Omecamtiv mecarbil (*dashed lines*) prolongs the systolic ejection time (SET) compared to untreated ventricles (*solid lines*), thus increasing the duration of elevated left ventricular pressure without changing the velocity of pressure development (dP/dt) or relaxation. Prolonged SET increases aortic blood flow (cardiac output) proportionally

animals were ascertained by measuring myocardial oxygen consumption (MVO₂). OM was associated with no significant change in myocardial MVO₂, confirming the hypothesis that cardiac activity could be enhanced without negatively affecting energetics.

A second model of nonischemic hypertrophied HF in conscious dogs can be induced by placing a Teflon cuff around the ascending aorta to create a 50%-reduced aortic diameter for 1 year (Shen et al. 2010). This model may better approximate the hypertrophied cardiac pathology of many patients with HFrEF. The resultant hypertrophied dog heart is then subjected to 3–4 weeks of rapid ventricular pacing at 240 bpm as in the infarction model above. Like the infarction model, these dogs develop elevated resting heart rate, left atrial pressure, LVEDP, and depressed dP/dt. OM similarly boosted SET and systolic wall thickening, and diminished heart rate and LVEDP in this model, demonstrating the potential for OM to improve cardiac physiology due to multiple etiologies.

An alternative hemodynamically and ultrasonographically monitored postischemic pig model with ischemia induced by approximately 20 min of 11 repetitive left coronary artery occlusions reported unfavorable effects for OM on myocardial energetics (Bakkehaug et al. 2015). This ischemic stunning without infarction produces transiently impaired left ventricular function with mildly decreased dP/dt and SV, although only 90 min of hemodynamic stability has been published (Korvald et al. 2001). Following administration of 0.75 mg/kg OM as a bolus over 10 min then 0.5 mg/kg/h in the 20 min prior to MVO₂ measurement (equivalent to 0.92 mg/kg in 20 min compared to 0.33 mg/kg in 20 min in the previously reported dog studies), there was a linear increase in SET, CO, and LVEF as reported in other model systems. Although there was also a reported decrease in cardiac efficiency with OM compared to baseline in this model with increased MVO₂, the changes in MVO₂ were not compared to untreated ischemic controls at similar time points following ischemia, making this conclusion difficult to support. Furthermore, not only was OM given at three times higher a dose than used in all other systems, using doses without clinical relevance, OM infusion was associated with increases in dP/dt in both healthy and ischemic animals, a finding not corroborated by data from any other animal or human system. These factors and methodological issues, among others not discussed here (Teerlink et al. 2015), limit the ability of this work to currently undermine the extensive data supporting improved myocardial energetics with OM treatment.

5 Omecamtiv Mecarbil Clinical Development Program

Following the extensive in vitro and in vivo preclinical demonstration of beneficial physiologic effects with OM administration, initial clinical studies were performed to pursue its use as a therapeutic. Table 1 contains a summary of the principal results from the main clinical studies examining OM efficacy, tolerability, and safety reported thus far. Phase I trials in healthy participants primarily focused on determining the pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and metabolism of OM when administered orally and intravenously, while phase II investigations have determined optimal dosing as well as provided more insight into its pharmacodynamics and clinical effects.

5.1 Phase I Clinical Studies

The first-in-human study of OM enrolled 34 healthy young men and administered escalating doses in 6-h intravenous infusions with the primary aim to establish the highest tolerated dose, and secondary goals to determine its safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics (Teerlink et al. 2011) (Table 1). OM was formulated as a colorless and clear solution with 50 mmol/L citrate in sterile water, with pH adjusted to 5.0 (Cleland et al. 2011). In this predominantly white population with mean age 27 years, OM infusion was tolerated at a protocol-defined maximal dose of 0.5 mg/kg/h, however many tolerated 0.625 mg/kg/h as well (Teerlink et al. 2011). The mean elimination half-life was 17.1–21.0 h, with clearance 132–207 mL/h/kg, and mean volume of distribution of 3.7-5.2 L/kg. OM caused dose-dependent increases in SET (85 ms increase at the highest dose), FS (8%), SV (15 mL), and LVEF (7%), starting at plasma levels of 100 ng/mL for SET and 200 ng/mL for SV, all with p < 0.0001. The linear correlation between SET and OM plasma concentration was excellent, and plasma levels closely corresponded with FS and LVEF. OM also decreased ventricular dimensions, with changes in echocardiographic diastolic function parameters consistent with increased left atrial contractile function. The dose-limiting effect of symptomatic

Table 1 Reporte	d phase I and phase II clin	ical studies of omec	amtiv mecarbil			
Trial (phase), year(s)	Subjects (n)	Dose (route)	Design	Endpoints	Major outcomes	Reference
NCT01380223 (1), 2005–2006	Young, healthy, 85% white, males in four successive cohorts of eight $(n = 34)$	0.005-1.0 mg/ kg/h for 6 h (IV)	Double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalating, crossover, single- center trial center trial	 Maximum infusion dose tolerated in >8 subjects for 6 h Safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics 	(1) Maximum tolerated infusion 0.5 mg/kg/h (12) Dose-dependent (12) Dose-dependent (12) Dose-dependent ($r^2 = 0.99$), with increased LVEF, FS, and SV. $t_{1/}$ and SV. $t_{1/}$ 2 = 17.1-21.0 h. 2 = 17.1-21.0 h. 2 = 17.1-20.0 h.	Teerlink et al. (2011)
NCT00624442 (II), 2007–2009	Stable, 87% male, 64% ischemic, HFrEF, LVEF \leq 40% or LVEF \leq 30% in cohort 4 ($n = 45$)	Loading 0.125–1.0 mg/ kg/h, maintenance 0.0625–0.5 mg/ kg/h (IV)	Double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalating, crossover, multicenter international trial	 Safety and tolerability for 2, 24, and 72 h (2) Establish tolerated range of pharmacologically active plasma concentrations 	 Cardiac ischemia at plasma concentrations J300 ng/mL Doss-dependent increases in SET, FS, LVEF, SV, and CO; decreased HR, QTc, LVESV, LVEDV, and LVESV, LVEDV, and atanding SBP and DBP 	Cleland et al. (2011)
NCT00682565 (II), 2008	Stable, 80% male, ischemic HFrEF with LVEF $\leq 35\%$ and angina (n = 94)	Loading 24-48 mg/h for 2 h, then maintenance 6-11 mg/h for 18 h (IV)	Double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized, multicenter study	 Safety and tolerability exercise during infusion; proportion stopping ETT due to angina at earlier stage than baseline Duration of (2) Duration of ECG changes 	 Only one patient (receiving placebo) stopped ET rearly due to angina No statistical difference in time to angina, exercise duration, or ischemic ECG changes 	Greenberg et al. (2015)
NCT01786512 ATOMIC- AHF (IIb), 2013–2015	Acute HFrEF, 77% male, 88% white, 62% ischemic, with LVEF \leq 40%, dyspnea, and elevated	Loading 7.5–20 mg/h for 4 h, then maintenance 1.5–4 mg/h for	Double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalating, randomized	 Dyspnea relief by 7-point Likert scale at 6, 24, and 48 h without worsening HF or death (2) Safety and 	 No benefit for dyspnea relief at 6, 24, or 48 h vs. pooled placebo; improved dyspnea in third cohort 	Teerlink et al. (2016a)
						(continued)

ole 1 Rej	
ported	
phase]	
and	
phase	
п	
clinic	
al	
studies	
of	
omecamtiv	
me	

	Reference		Teerlink et al. (2016b)	heart failure
	Major outcomes	vs. paired placebo (2) No benefit for 30-day death or worsening HF, length of stay, or NT-proBNP; increased SET, SBP, decreased HR, and LVESD	 Modified release allowed titration to 50 mg twice daily in 60% of patients 10. Increased SET, SV, and decreased HR, LVESV, LVEDV, and NT-proBNP; asymptomatic small increased troponin at asymptomatic small increased troponin at 0.006 ng/mL with 25–50 mg twice daily 	xercise tolerance test, HF
	Endpoints	tolerability, biomarkers, hospital length of stay, 30-day morbidity, and mortality	 Pharmacokinetics of modified release Safety and tolerability, echocardiographic and biomarker changes over 20 weeks 	electrocardiogram, ETT e
ed)	Design	international multicenter trial	Double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-escalating, randomized, multicenter, international trial	olic blood pressure, ECG
	Dose (route)	44 h (IV)	25 mg twice- daily or PK-guded titration to 50 mg twice daily (oral)	c output, DBP diast
	Subjects (n)	BNP $(n = 613)$	Expansion phase: stable, 83% male, 990% white, HFrEF with LVEF \leq 40%, NT-proBNP ($n = 448$)	uretic peptide, CO cardiac
Table 1 (continu	Trial (phase), year(s)		NCT01300013 COSMIC-HF (11b), 2011–2015	BNP B-type natrii

end-diastolic volume, LVEF left ventricular ejection fraction, LVESD left ventricular end-systolic dimension, LVESV left ventricular end-systolic volume, NT-proBNP N-terminal fragment of prohormone B-type natriuretic peptide, PK pharmacokinetic, QTc corrected electrocardiographic Q-T interval, SBP HFrEF heart failure with reduced ejection fraction, HR heart rate, IV intravenous, LVEDD left ventricular end-diastolic dimension, LVEDV left ventricular systolic blood pressure, SET systolic ejection time, SV stroke volume, $t_{1/2}$ plasma half-life myocardial ischemia was established to occur at plasma concentrations over 1,200 ng/ mL obtained with infusions of 0.75–1.0 mg/kg/h, associated with increases in SET over 110 ms, identifying the likely upper limit of the therapeutic range. In concordance with the extensive attention during development of OM, no off-target adverse effects of the drug were observed.

Additional phase I studies determined the pharmacokinetics of OM as an oral formulation as well as potential drug-drug interactions. A single-center study observed proportional dose responses at lower and higher doses in men and women with single doses and at steady state (Cytokinetics 2008). A single-center, open-label study in healthy males investigated the interaction of a single oral dose of OM with the cytochrome P450 3A4 inhibitors ketoconazole and diltiazem with respect to their genotype of another cytochrome P450 enzyme, 2D6 (Cytokinetics 2008). Based on 2D6 status, subjects were divided by whether they were extensive or poor metabolizers. Ketoconazole lengthened the elimination half-life in the extensive metabolizer group from 22 to 27 h (p < 0.01) by mildly reducing clearance of OM, associated with a 50% increase in the total exposure of OM without a change in the maximal plasma concentration. Diltiazem co-treatment had no effect on the total OM exposure nor the maximal plasma concentration, and only minimally increased the OM half-life from 18 to 20 h. As the maximal plasma dose best correlated with intolerable side effects in the other phase I trials, these data suggest low potential for clinically significant drugdrug interactions with OM.

Bioavailability of immediate-release and modified-release formulations, as well as the effects of coincident food consumption, was ascertained in 65 healthy, 85% male, 72% white, young adults as part of a randomized, open-label, crossover study (Palaparthy et al. 2016). Compared to the immediate-release formulation for which 25 mg of OM produced a maximal concentration of 262 ng/mL after 30 min, the various delayed-release forms produced maximal plasma concentrations of 34-78 ng/ mL occurring 2–10 h after administration. The plasma half-life was similar for all the formulations, ranging from 18 to 21 h. The relative bioavailability of most of the oral formulations was over 75%, and the presence or absence of recent food consumption caused minimal differences in OM pharmacokinetics without altering the total exposure to the drug, changes unlikely to be clinically meaningful. OM was also found to be approximately 82% bound to plasma proteins, and primarily metabolized by decarbamylation with less substantial metabolism by hepatic cytochrome P450 enzymes 3A4 and 2D6 (Palaparthy et al. 2016). Following a single administration of OM, 8% of the unmodified compound was excreted in the urine up to 14 days afterwards suggesting extensive metabolism; however, multiple preclinical and clinical studies have demonstrated returns to normal physiology 24 h following cessation of administration (Teerlink et al. 2011; Palaparthy et al. 2016; Cleland et al. 2011).

5.2 Phase II Clinical Studies

The purpose of phase II clinical studies is to establish the dosing and concentrationresponse relationships for the novel agent as well as safety and tolerability in the intended patient population as both an oral and intravenous agent.

The first intravenous study of OM in patients with HFrEF was a double-blind, placebo-controlled, dose-ranging crossover trial of 45 stably treated patients with LVEF $\leq 40\%$, 64% of whom had ischemic cardiomyopathy (Cleland et al. 2011) (Table 1). These patients were well-treated with over 98% on neurohormonal therapy with ACE inhibitor or ARB and β-adrenergic blockade, 51% were prescribed an MRA, and 18% were on digoxin. They were hemodynamically stable with mean heart rate 69 bpm, systolic blood pressure 121 mmHg, and mean CO 4.4 L/min; however, 51% had ongoing stable angina. In this population as with healthy individuals, OM loaded at 0.125–1.0 mg/kg/h and maintained at infusions of 0.0625–0.5 mg/kg/h for 2, 24, or 72 h, with the goal to keep plasma concentrations under 1,200 ng/mL, produced dose-dependent increases in SET, SV, CO, FS, and LVEF, with decreases in systolic and diastolic ventricular volumes. Shortening of diastolic filling was partially attenuated by the slowed heart rate that occurred with each increased dose of OM. Minimal decreases in blood pressure without orthostatic changes or symptomatic hypotension were noted as well as a decreased heart rate corrected QT interval. The pharmacokinetics of OM administration in these HFrEF patients were similarly linear as healthy patients across these plasma concentrations. SV increased 5-10 mL at plasma concentrations over 200 ng/mL and plateaued at 400 ng/mL, LVEF increased above 300 ng/mL, and improvement in ventricular volumes occurred at 500 ng/mL, but there was no change in NT-proBNP at 24 or 72 h of infusion. The beneficial effects were all apparent for the duration of infusion from 2 to 72 h and there was again no evidence of desensitization to OM.

Adverse events associated with plasma OM concentrations above the targeted limit were noted. One patient experienced an unintended overdose of OM, receiving four times the intended high dose (2.2 mg/kg/h) and developed symptoms of cardiac ischemia after 45 min with electrocardiographic changes, and an increase in troponin to 2.3 ng/mL when his plasma OM level was >1,400 ng/mL. Symptoms resolved rapidly with cessation of the infusion. The other patient with symptoms of ischemia had very low clearance of OM and developed cardiac ischemic symptoms at a plasma OM concentration of >1,300 ng/mL. Otherwise, one additional patient with a baseline BP of 182/116 mmHg had an asymptomatic increase in troponin lasting the duration of the infusion. Overall, these results supported the relative safety and potential impact of OM, as well as its continued development.

Because the dose-limiting adverse effect of OM was myocardial ischemia due to decreased diastolic-filling time with increased SET, its safety and tolerability were assessed in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy and angina (Greenberg et al. 2015) (Table 1). Ninety-five predominantly white male patients with chronic stable ischemic HFrEF, LVEF \leq 35%, and angina were randomized to placebo or intravenous OM bolus 24–48 mg/h for 2 h followed by 6–11 mg/h for 18 h (targeting plasma concentrations of 295 ng/mL or 550 ng/mL). Patients were all able to perform at

least 4 min of an exercise tolerance test (ETT) on both of two attempts prior to the OM infusion, and the safety endpoint was defined by the proportion of patients who stopped the ETT during infusion at a stage earlier than baseline due to angina. There was no difference in the primary endpoint between the groups, as only one patient (in the placebo group) stopped their on-treatment ETT a stage early due to angina. Exercise time increased for all groups, and there were no statistically significant differences in ETT duration or change from baseline ETT duration with OM infusion, though the study was underpowered to detect a difference in these results. Pharmacokinetics of OM were again linear and predictable from data gathered previously in healthy individuals.

Overall adverse events were similar between OM and placebo-treated patients; however, one patient in the OM infusion arm had intolerable angina during his baseline and then on-treatment ETTs and after stabilization with nitroglycerin required percutaneous coronary revascularization of the left anterior descending coronary artery (Greenberg et al. 2015). The maximum plasma concentration in this patient was 651 ng/mL and after PCI the patient developed a troponin elevation to 2.45 ng/mL as well as electrocardiographic changes consistent with myocardial infarction. Two other patients who received OM developed elevated troponin to 0.13 and 1.1 ng/mL without any clinical signs of symptoms of cardiac ischemia. Although relatively few patients were studied, given the rarity of any adverse events during the study, the overall safety of OM in a population prone to inducible ischemia was supported.

The most recently published investigation of OM as an intravenous agent was the study of Acute Treatment with Omecamtiv Mecarbil to Increase Contractility in Acute Heart Failure (ATOMIC-AHF; Table 1) (Teerlink et al. 2016a). This randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, sequential-cohort, international multicenter dose-escalation trial enrolled 613 and treated 606 mostly white male patients hospitalized for acute HF with LVEF \leq 40%, dyspnea, and elevated natriuretic peptides, but not requiring other inotropic agents, in three cohorts. In the three groups, placebo or OM at 7.5, 15, or 20 mg/h over 4 h were infused as a bolus followed by a 44-h infusion of 1.5, 3, or 4 mg/h, respectively. Therapy was started on average 15 h after hospital presentation. The volume infused was 30 mL/h for loading and 6 mL/h for maintenance, which patients received for a total of 48 h. Patients were followed daily during their hospitalization, and then at 1 and 6 months.

Patients achieved mean 48-h plasma concentrations of 148, 311, and 425 ng/mL in the three respective cohorts with concentration-dependent increases in SET and systolic blood pressure, and with decreases in heart rate and left ventricular end-systolic dimensions. ATOMIC-AHF did not demonstrate a difference in its primary outcome of 48-h improvement in dyspnea on a 7-point Likert scale without clinically worsening HF or death in the OM treatment groups compared to the pooled placebo groups. However, there were also significant differences between the cohorts enrolled earlier and later in the trial, with decreasing proportions of nonwhite patients and patients hospitalized for HF within the previous year, as well as increasing enrollment from Eastern Europe and greater baseline troponin concentrations in later cohorts (Teerlink et al. 2016a). Accounting for these differences, a prespecified secondary analysis of the primary endpoint between placebo and OM

treatment within each cohort demonstrated a 41% relative increase in dyspnea relief at 48 h with the highest OM dose (95% CI 2–93%, 14% absolute improvement, p = 0.034), a finding supported by other sensitivity analyses. There were no differences between OM and placebo for secondary endpoints including patient global assessment response, length of hospital stay, total intravenous loop diuretic usage, health resource use, or change in NT-proBNP from baseline. Adverse events were similar, with numerically fewer OM than placebo patients developing renal failure (11.9% versus 17.2%) or supraventricular tachycardias (8.0% versus 1.0%) during the infusions, or requiring all-cause rehospitalization within 30 days afterwards (12.9% versus 15.5%).

Due to the potential adverse effect of OM at plasma concentrations above the targeted therapeutic range, troponin levels were followed closely by a blinded core laboratory (Teerlink et al. 2016a). Although the median 48-h difference from baseline was unchanged at 0.000 ng/mL for the pooled OM groups, it decreased 0.004 ng/mL for the pooled placebo groups, differences that were not statistically significantly different. Importantly, neither the maximum OM plasma concentration nor the induced change in SET predicted the change in troponin from baseline. Overall ATOMIC-AHF provided additional evidence for the tolerability of OM, suggested clinical benefit of improved dyspnea in the high dose group, and supported its potential to demonstrate therapeutic efficacy in an appropriately dosed and powered trial in acute HF.

The Chronic Oral Study of Myosin Activation to Increase Contractility in Heart Failure (COSMIC-HF) investigated the role for chronic oral dosing of OM in the treatment of stable HF in a placebo-controlled, randomized, double-blind, international multicenter, two-part study (Teerlink et al. 2016b). The COSMIC-HF initial dose-escalation phase randomized 96 mostly male patients with stable outpatient HFrEF and LVEF $\leq 40\%$ 1:1:1:1 to placebo or three modified-release oral formulations of OM in two ascending dose cohorts, using either 25 or 50 mg twice daily. Plasma levels were sampled for pharmacokinetics over 35 days and the primary endpoint of evaluation and selection of a single modified-release formulation for further testing in a larger expansion cohort was achieved.

The trial expansion phase utilized 448 mostly white male outpatients with chronic HFrEF, LVEF \leq 40%, with elevated natriuretic peptides and HF symptoms (NYHA II or III). These patients were well-treated with guideline directed medical therapy including ACE inhibitors, ARBs, β -blockers, and MRAs. Patients were randomized 1:1:1 to placebo or the selected formulation of 25 mg of oral OM twice daily, or an oral OM pharmacokinetic-guided dose titration group where 25 mg twice daily could be increased to 50 mg twice daily depending on plasma concentrations after 2 weeks of the lower dosing. Patients received study drug for 20 weeks and were followed for an additional 4 weeks after study drug discontinuation. Of those in the dose titration group, 60% were increased to 50 mg twice daily. This expansion phase documented stable pharmacokinetics of the selected formulation over the extended time period and the secondary endpoints of the trial demonstrated the expected physiologic changes with OM; however, they additionally suggested beneficial morphologic and functional effects of this OM administration scheme.

Compared to placebo, OM increased SET 25 ± 3 ms, SV 4 ± 2 mL, and decreased heart rate approximately 3 bpm by 20 weeks, as anticipated from prior data. OM also caused a statistically significant decrease in NT-proBNP by 970 ± 357 pg/mL that persisted for 4 weeks after discontinuation of study drug. Significant improvements in left ventricular end-diastolic and end-systolic dimensions and volumes were also evident. These changes were progressive from 12 to 20 weeks, with further improvements in LVESV, LVEDV, and NT-proBNP between the 12- and 20-week time points. Patients in the OM pharmacokinetic-guided titration group had a significant improvement in the total symptom score of the Kansas City Cardiomyopathy Questionnaire at 20 weeks with trends in improvements in both frequency and burden of symptoms (Teerlink et al. 2016c). Adverse events were comparable to placebo. Although underpowered to detect a statistically significant difference in outcomes, 2.7% of placebotreated patients versus 1.4% of those receiving OM died during the study. Troponin levels were closely monitored, and there were no independently adjudicated events deemed to be myocardial ischemia or infarction. However, treatment with OM for 20 weeks caused asymptomatic increases in plasma troponin of 0.001 ng/mL with the 25 mg dose, and 0.006 ng/mL in the pharmacokinetic dose titration group. The clinical significance of these increased troponin levels in contrast to the improvements in parameters of cardiac function seen with chronic OM therapy remains unclear.

Throughout these clinical studies, OM has had tolerability and adverse events similar to placebo and no off-target adverse effects. In contrast to currently available inotropes and consistent with its mechanism of action, OM has demonstrated no increase in atrial or ventricular arrhythmias, myocardial ischemia, or hypotension. However, two issues have emerged: the small increase in troponins and the potential to decrease diastolic-filling times. The increased troponin appears to be a small amount and of the magnitude that is evident after vigorous endurance exercise (Shave et al. 2010) and during diurnal variation (Klinkenberg et al. 2014). There is no correlation of the troponin increases with peak OM plasma concentrations or change in SET, and no apparent clinical events. In addition, rather than increasing, as would be consistent with myocardial damage, OM patients had progressively decreasing NTproBNP, as well as heart rate, and favorable ventricular remodeling, making it unlikely that this troponin is due to myocardial damage. While it is possible that other, noninjury, mechanisms (Waldenstrom and Ronquist 2014) may be responsible, they remain undefined. Another issue is the potential of the increased SET to impinge upon diastolic filling resulting in myocardial ischemia. Although it is no longer widely known, prior research has shown that patients with HFrEF have decreased SET by 10–70 ms, correlating with the degree of reduced systolic function (Weissler et al. 1968), such that OM could be viewed as increasing SET towards normal. In the COSMIC-HF study, the pharmacokinetic-guided titration group had a mean increase of 25 ms with 95% confidence intervals of 18–32 ms in SET. For the baseline heart rate of 70 bpm (860 ms cycle length) with an SET of 300 ms, diastole was approximately 560 ms. At 20 weeks, the mean heart rate was approximately 67 bpm (895 ms cycle length) and the SET was on average 325 ms, resulting in a diastolic duration of 570 ms. The exercise treadmill study in patients with HFrEF and angina tested whether these increases in SET would be clinically relevant at higher heart rates and did not find any evidence of increased ischemia. Both of these issues will need to be addressed by a large outcomes trial to fully assess the benefit-to-risk of OM.

The clinical efficacy of OM can only be established in a large phase III outcomes trial. However, the improved dyspnea in the high dose group of ATOMIC-AHF and the improved total symptom score in COSMIC-HF suggest that OM may provide some symptom benefit. The favorable effects on NT-proBNP and ventricular remodeling in COSMIC-HF are also supportive of a possible role in reducing long-term mortality in patients with chronic HFrEF (Kramer et al. 2010; Cleland et al. 2009).

5.3 Phase III Clinical Trials

There have been no completed phase III clinical trials with OM to date. However, the Global Approach to Lowering Adverse Cardiac outcomes Through Improving Contractility in Heart Failure (GALACTIC-HF; NCT02929329) trial is currently enrolling patients. GALACTIC-HF will enroll approximately 8,000 male or female patients, aged 18–85 years with symptomatic (NYHA II–IV) chronic HF on standard of care therapy, LVEF \leq 35%, current or within 1 year HF-related urgent care visit, and elevated natriuretic peptides. Patients will be randomized 1:1 to placebo or to a titrated dose of omecamtiv mecarbil twice daily. The primary endpoint of the trial is the time to cardiovascular death or first heart failure event, and multiple other secondary endpoints will be evaluated.

6 Summary

The novel direct cardiac myosin activator omecamtiv mecarbil (OM) has been formulated with predictable pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics as both an intravenous and oral agent. The OM development program has provided the essential data to determine dosing regimens for treatment of both acute and chronic heart failure. Pharmacologic efficacy has been demonstrated in multiple domains, including a consistent and predictable pharmacodynamic effect (increases in SET), augmented systolic function (increased stroke volume, cardiac output, and ejection fraction; reduced LVESV), reduced LV wall stress (decreased NT-pro-BNP), attenuation of neurohormonal activation (lower heart rate and NT-proBNP), beneficial LV remodeling (reduced LV end-diastolic and end-systolic dimensions and volumes), and symptom improvement at clinically relevant doses (improved dyspnea and KCCQ symptom scores). However, small asymptomatic increases in troponin have been found with acute and chronic OM dosing, and the significance of this finding is currently unknown. In the phase II clinical studies, OM has tolerability and adverse events similar to placebo with no evidence of increased heart rate, supraventricular or ventricular arrhythmias, or hypotension. It has shown no adverse effect on renal function or serum potassium, suggesting that it will have no interference with initiation or titration of current therapies. Given the sum total of the beneficial associations demonstrated with OM, the final determination of the utility of this novel therapeutic for treatment of chronic HFrEF will await the results of the GALACTIC-HF trial.

References

- Ambrosy AP, Butler J, Ahmed A, Vaduganathan M, van Veldhuisen DJ, Colucci WS, Gheorghiade M (2014) The use of digoxin in patients with worsening chronic heart failure: reconsidering an old drug to reduce hospital admissions. J Am Coll Cardiol 63(18):1823–1832. doi:10.1016/j.jacc. 2014.01.051
- Bakkehaug JP, Kildal AB, Engstad ET, Boardman N, Naesheim T, Ronning L, Aasum E, Larsen TS, Myrmel T, How OJ (2015) Myosin activator omecamtiv mecarbil increases myocardial oxygen consumption and impairs cardiac efficiency mediated by resting myosin ATPase activity. Circ Heart Fail 8(4):766–775. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.114.002152
- Cleland JG, McMurray JJ, Kjekshus J, Cornel JH, Dunselman P, Fonseca C, Hjalmarson A, Korewicki J, Lindberg M, Ranjith N, van Veldhuisen DJ, Waagstein F, Wedel H, Wikstrand J, CORONA Study Group (2009) Plasma concentration of amino-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide in chronic heart failure: prediction of cardiovascular events and interaction with the effects of rosuvastatin: a report from CORONA (Controlled Rosuvastatin Multinational Trial in Heart Failure). J Am Coll Cardiol 54(20):1850–1859. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2009.06.041
- Cleland JG, Teerlink JR, Senior R, Nifontov EM, Mc Murray JJ, Lang CC, Tsyrlin VA, Greenberg BH, Mayet J, Francis DP, Shaburishvili T, Monaghan M, Saltzberg M, Neyses L, Wasserman SM, Lee JH, Saikali KG, Clarke CP, Goldman JH, Wolff AA, Malik FI (2011) The effects of the cardiac myosin activator, omecamtiv mecarbil, on cardiac function in systolic heart failure: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover, dose-ranging phase 2 trial. Lancet 378(9792):676–683. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(11)61126-4
- Cohn JN, Goldstein SO, Greenberg BH, Lorell BH, Bourge RC, Jaski BE, Gottlieb SO, McGrew F 3rd, DeMets DL, White BG (1998) A dose-dependent increase in mortality with vesnarinone among patients with severe heart failure. Vesnarinone Trial Investigators. N Engl J Med 339 (25):1810–1816. doi:10.1056/NEJM199812173392503
- Cuffe MS, Califf RM, Adams KF Jr, Benza R, Bourge R, Colucci WS, Massie BM, O'Connor CM, Pina I, Quigg R, Silver MA, Gheorghiade M, Outcomes of a Prospective Trial of Intravenous Milrinone for Exacerbations of Chronic Heart Failure Investigators (2002) Short-term intravenous milrinone for acute exacerbation of chronic heart failure: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 287(12):1541–1547
- Cytokinetics (2008) Cytokinetics provides updates from phase I clinical trials of CK-1827452. Accessed 7 Jan 2017
- Elkayam U, Tasissa G, Binanay C, Stevenson LW, Gheorghiade M, Warnica JW, Young JB, Rayburn BK, Rogers JG, DeMarco T, Leier CV (2007) Use and impact of inotropes and vasodilator therapy in hospitalized patients with severe heart failure. Am Heart J 153(1):98–104. doi:10.1016/ j.ahj.2006.09.005
- Endoh M (2014) Does levosimendan act as Ca2+ sensitizer or PDE3 inhibitor? Br J Pharmacol. doi:10.1111/bph.12649
- Felker GM, Benza RL, Chandler AB, Leimberger JD, Cuffe MS, Califf RM, Gheorghiade M, O'Connor CM, OPTIME-CHF Investigators (2003) Heart failure etiology and response to milrinone in decompensated heart failure: results from the OPTIME-CHF study. J Am Coll Cardiol 41 (6):997–1003
- Greenberg BH, Chou W, Saikali KG, Escandon R, Lee JH, Chen MM, Treshkur T, Megreladze I, Wasserman SM, Eisenberg P, Malik FI, Wolff AA, Shaburishvili T (2015) Safety and tolerability of omecamtiv mecarbil during exercise in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy and angina. JACC Heart Fail 3(1):22–29. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2014.07.009

- Haikala H, Kaivola J, Nissinen E, Wall P, Levijoki J, Linden IB (1995) Cardiac troponin C as a target protein for a novel calcium sensitizing drug, levosimendan. J Mol Cell Cardiol 27(9):1859–1866
- Hasenfuss G, Teerlink JR (2011) Cardiac inotropes: current agents and future directions. Eur Heart J 32(15):1838–1845. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehr026
- Hasenfuss G, Pieske B, Castell M, Kretschmann B, Maier LS, Just H (1998) Influence of the novel inotropic agent levosimendan on isometric tension and calcium cycling in failing human myocardium. Circulation 98(20):2141–2147
- Holubarsch C, Ruf T, Goldstein DJ, Ashton RC, Nickl W, Pieske B, Pioch K, Ludemann J, Wiesner S, Hasenfuss G, Posival H, Just H, Burkhoff D (1996) Existence of the Frank-Starling mechanism in the failing human heart. Investigations on the organ, tissue, and sarcomere levels. Circulation 94 (4):683–689
- Klinkenberg LJ, van Dijk JW, Tan FE, van Loon LJ, van Dieijen-Visser MP, Meex SJ (2014) Circulating cardiac troponin T exhibits a diurnal rhythm. J Am Coll Cardiol 63(17):1788–1795. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2014.01.040
- Korvald C, Elvenes OP, Aghajani E, Myhre ES, Myrmel T (2001) Postischemic mechanoenergetic inefficiency is related to contractile dysfunction and not altered metabolism. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 281(6):H2645–H2653
- Kramer DG, Trikalinos TA, Kent DM, Antonopoulos GV, Konstam MA, Udelson JE (2010) Quantitative evaluation of drug or device effects on ventricular remodeling as predictors of therapeutic effects on mortality in patients with heart failure and reduced ejection fraction: a meta-analytic approach. J Am Coll Cardiol 56(5):392–406. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2010.05.011
- Liu Y, White HD, Belknap B, Winkelmann DA, Forgacs E (2015) Omecamtiv mecarbil modulates the kinetic and motile properties of porcine beta-cardiac myosin. Biochemistry 54(10):1963–1975. doi:10.1021/bi5015166
- Malik FI, Morgan BP (2011) Cardiac myosin activation part 1: from concept to clinic. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51(4):454–461. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2011.05.006
- Malik FI, Hartman JJ, Elias KA, Morgan BP, Rodriguez H, Brejc K, Anderson RL, Sueoka SH, Lee KH, Finer JT, Sakowicz R, Baliga R, Cox DR, Garard M, Godinez G, Kawas R, Kraynack E, Lenzi D, Lu PP, Muci A, Niu C, Qian X, Pierce DW, Pokrovskii M, Suehiro I, Sylvester S, Tochimoto T, Valdez C, Wang W, Katori T, Kass DA, Shen YT, Vatner SF, Morgans DJ (2011) Cardiac myosin activation: a potential therapeutic approach for systolic heart failure. Science 331 (6023):1439–1443. doi:10.1126/science.1200113
- McMurray JJ (2010) Clinical practice. Systolic heart failure. N Engl J Med 362(3):228–238. doi:10. 1056/NEJMcp0909392
- Mebazaa A, Nieminen MS, Packer M, Cohen-Solal A, Kleber FX, Pocock SJ, Thakkar R, Padley RJ, Poder P, Kivikko M, SURVIVE Investigators (2007) Levosimendan vs dobutamine for patients with acute decompensated heart failure: the SURVIVE randomized trial. JAMA 297 (17):1883–1891. doi:10.1001/jama.297.17.1883
- Morgan BP, Muci A, Lu PP, Qian X, Tochimoto T, Smith WW, Garard M, Kraynack E, Collibee S, Suehiro I, Tomasi A, Valdez SC, Wang W, Jiang H, Hartman J, Rodriguez HM, Kawas R, Sylvester S, Elias KA, Godinez G, Lee K, Anderson R, Sueoka S, Xu D, Wang Z, Djordjevic N, Malik FI, Morgans DJ Jr (2010) Discovery of omecamtiv mecarbil the first, selective, small molecule activator of cardiac myosin. ACS Med Chem Lett 1(9):472–477. doi:10.1021/ml100138q
- Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, Das SR, de Ferranti S, Despres JP, Fullerton HJ, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Isasi CR, Jimenez MC, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Liu S, Mackey RH, Magid DJ, McGuire DK, Mohler ER 3rd, Moy CS, Muntner P, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Palaniappan L, Pandey DK, Reeves MJ, Rodriguez CJ, Rosamond W, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Towfighi A, Turan TN, Virani SS, Woo D, Yeh RW, Turner MB, American Heart Association Statistics Committee, Stroke Statistics Subcommittee (2016) Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics-2016 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation 133(4):e38–e60. doi:10.1161/CIR.000000000000350
- Orstavik O, Ata SH, Riise J, Dahl CP, Andersen GO, Levy FO, Skomedal T, Osnes JB, Qvigstad E (2014) Inhibition of phosphodiesterase-3 by levosimendan is sufficient to account for

its inotropic effect in failing human heart. Br J Pharmacol 171(23):5169–5181. doi:10.1111/ bph.12647

- Packer M, Carver JR, Rodeheffer RJ, Ivanhoe RJ, DiBianco R, Zeldis SM, Hendrix GH, Bommer WJ, Elkayam U, Kukin ML et al (1991) Effect of oral milrinone on mortality in severe chronic heart failure. The PROMISE Study Research Group. N Engl J Med 325(21):1468–1475. doi:10. 1056/NEJM199111213252103
- Packer M, Colucci W, Fisher L, Massie BM, Teerlink JR, Young J, Padley RJ, Thakkar R, Delgado-Herrera L, Salon J, Garratt C, Huang B, Sarapohja T, REVIVE Heart Failure Study Group (2013) Effect of levosimendan on the short-term clinical course of patients with acutely decompensated heart failure. JACC Heart Fail 1(2):103–111. doi:10.1016/j.jchf.2012.12.004
- Palaparthy R, Banfield C, Alvarez P, Yan L, Smith B, Johnson J, Monsalvo ML, Malik F (2016) Relative bioavailability, food effect, and safety of the single-dose pharmacokinetics of omecamtiv mecarbil following administration of different modified-release formulations in healthy subjects. Int J Clin Pharmacol Ther 54(3):217–227. doi:10.5414/CP202458
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JG, Coats AJ, Falk V, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GM, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P (2016) 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J 37(27):2129–2200. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehw128
- Psotka MA, Teerlink JR (2016) Ivabradine: role in the chronic heart failure armamentarium. Circulation 133(21):2066–2075. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.115.018094
- Rathore SS, Curtis JP, Wang Y, Bristow MR, Krumholz HM (2003) Association of serum digoxin concentration and outcomes in patients with heart failure. JAMA 289(7):871–878
- Shave R, Baggish A, George K, Wood M, Scharhag J, Whyte G, Gaze D, Thompson PD (2010) Exercise-induced cardiac troponin elevation: evidence, mechanisms, and implications. J Am Coll Cardiol 56(3):169–176. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2010.03.037
- Shen YT, Malik FI, Zhao X, Depre C, Dhar SK, Abarzua P, Morgans DJ, Vatner SF (2010) Improvement of cardiac function by a cardiac myosin activator in conscious dogs with systolic heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 3(4):522–527. doi:10.1161/CIRCHEARTFAILURE.109.930321
- Solaro RJ (2011) Regulation of cardiac contractility. In: Integrated systems physiology: from molecule to function to disease. Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences, San Rafael, CA
- Spudich JA (1994) How molecular motors work. Nature 372(6506):515–518. doi:10.1038/372515a0
- Spudich JA (2014) Hypertrophic and dilated cardiomyopathy: four decades of basic research on muscle lead to potential therapeutic approaches to these devastating genetic diseases. Biophys J 106(6):1236–1249. doi:10.1016/j.bpj.2014.02.011
- Tacon CL, McCaffrey J, Delaney A (2012) Dobutamine for patients with severe heart failure: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Intensive Care Med 38 (3):359–367. doi:10.1007/s00134-011-2435-6
- Teerlink JR (2009) A novel approach to improve cardiac performance: cardiac myosin activators. Heart Fail Rev 14(4):289–298. doi:10.1007/s10741-009-9135-0
- Teerlink JR, Clarke CP, Saikali KG, Lee JH, Chen MM, Escandon RD, Elliott L, Bee R, Habibzadeh MR, Goldman JH, Schiller NB, Malik FI, Wolff AA (2011) Dose-dependent augmentation of cardiac systolic function with the selective cardiac myosin activator, omecamtiv mecarbil: a first-in-man study. Lancet 378(9792):667–675. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(11)61219-1
- Teerlink JR, Malik FI, Kass DA (2015) Letter by Teerlink et al regarding article, "myosin activator omecamtiv mecarbil increases myocardial oxygen consumption and impairs cardiac efficiency mediated by resting myosin ATPase activity". Circ Heart Fail 8(6):1141. doi:10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.115.002492
- Teerlink JR, Felker GM, McMurray JJ, Ponikowski P, Metra M, Filippatos GS, Ezekowitz JA, Dickstein K, Cleland JG, Kim JB, Lei L, Knusel B, Wolff AA, Malik FI, Wasserman SM, ATOMIC-AHF Investigators (2016a) Acute treatment with omecamtiv mecarbil to increase

contractility in acute heart failure: the ATOMIC-AHF study. J Am Coll Cardiol 67(12):1444–1455. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2016.01.031

- Teerlink JR, Felker GM, McMurray JJ, Solomon SD, Adams KF Jr, Cleland JG, Ezekowitz JA, Goudev A, Macdonald P, Metra M, Mitrovic V, Ponikowski P, Serpytis P, Spinar J, Tomcsanyi J, Vandekerckhove HJ, Voors AA, Monsalvo ML, Johnston J, Malik FI, Honarpour N, COSMIC-HF Investigators (2016b) Chronic oral study of myosin activation to increase contractility in heart failure (COSMIC-HF): a phase 2, pharmacokinetic, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet 388(10062):2895–2903. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)32049-9
- Teerlink JR, Felker GM, McMurray JJV, Solomon SD, Kielhorn A, Malik FI, Honarpour N (2016c) The effect of omecamtiv mecarbil on symptoms of heart failure in the chronic oral study of myosin activation to increase contractility in heart failure (COSMIC-HF). J Card Fail 22(8):S10–S11
- The Digitalis Investigation Group (1997) The effect of digoxin on mortality and morbidity in patients with heart failure. N Engl J Med 336(8):525–533. doi:10.1056/NEJM199702203360801
- Waldenstrom A, Ronquist G (2014) Role of exosomes in myocardial remodeling. Circ Res 114 (2):315–324. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.300584
- Weissler AM, Harris WS, Schoenfeld CD (1968) Systolic time intervals in heart failure in man. Circulation 37(2):149–159
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Drazner MH, Fonarow GC, Geraci SA, Horwich T, Januzzi JL, Johnson MR, Kasper EK, Levy WC, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, McMurray JJ, Mitchell JE, Peterson PN, Riegel B, Sam F, Stevenson LW, Tang WH, Tsai EJ, Wilkoff BL (2013) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on practice guidelines. Circulation 128(16):1810–1852. doi:10. 1161/CIR.0b013e31829e8807
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE Jr, Colvin MM, Drazner MH, Filippatos G, Fonarow GC, Givertz MM, Hollenberg SM, Lindenfeld J, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, Peterson PN, Stevenson LW, Westlake C (2016) 2016 ACC/AHA/HFSA focused update on new pharmacological therapy for heart failure: an update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on clinical practice guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. Circulation. doi:10.1161/CIR.000000000000435
- Yokoshiki H, Sperelakis N (2003) Vasodilating mechanisms of levosimendan. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 17(2):111–113

Mitochondrial Therapies in Heart Failure

Albrecht von Hardenberg and Christoph Maack

Contents

1	Introduction	492
2	Mitochondrial Biology and Regulation	493
3	Pathophysiology of Heart Failure: Focus on Mitochondria	495
4	Strategies for Mitochondrial Therapies	498
5	Coenzyme Q ₁₀ Supplementation: Myth or Reality?	499
6	MitoQ	501
7	Szeto-Schiller Peptides (Lead Compound SS-31, Also Known as Elamipretide or	
	Bendavia)	501
8	Iron Supplementation	503
9	Exercise	505
10	Conclusions	506
Refe	erences	506

Abstract

The current therapy for patients with stable systolic heart failure is largely limited to treatments that interfere with neurohormonal activation. Critical pathophysiological hallmarks of heart failure are an energetic deficit and oxidative stress, and both may be the result of mitochondrial dysfunction. This dysfunction is not (only) the result of defect within mitochondria per se, but is in particular traced to defects in intermediary metabolism and of the regulatory interplay between excitation-contraction coupling and mitochondrial energetics, where defects of cytosolic calcium and sodium handling in failing hearts may play important roles. In the past years, several therapies targeting mitochondria have emerged with promising results in preclinical models. Here, we discuss the mechanisms and results of these mitochondria-targeted therapies, but also of

A. von Hardenberg • C. Maack (🖂)

Klinik für Innere Medizin III, Universitätsklinikum des Saarlandes, 66421 Homburg, Germany e-mail: Christoph.maack@uks.eu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_123

interventions that were not primarily thought to target mitochondria but may have important impact on mitochondrial biology as well, such as iron and exercise. Future research should be directed at further delineating the details of mitochondrial dysfunction in patients with heart failure to further optimize these treatments.

Keywords

Calcium • Energetics • Heart failure • Mitochondria • Reactive oxygen species

1 Introduction

The current evidence-based (pharmacological) therapy for heart failure acts by modulation of neurohormonal systems, such as the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone and the sympathetic nervous systems (Ponikowski et al. 2016). Since these therapies are limited by hemodynamic side effects like not only hypotension and brady-cardia, but also electrolyte disturbances or renal dysfunction, there is a need for novel drugs without these disadvantages (Gheorghiade et al. 2016). Mitochondrial therapies are one promising option for such hemodynamically neutral drugs. However, the development of such drugs is challenging, and the most prominent impediments are the lack of specific mitochondrial targets and the difficulties of delivering the respective agent to the mitochondrial compartment (Szeto and Schiller 2011).

Similar as diabetes and neurodegenerative diseases, heart failure is a secondary form of mitochondrial dysfunction. In contrast to primary mitochondrial diseases, secondary dysfunction is acquired and not caused by a primary genetic defect of the mitochondrial synthesis machinery or respiratory chain complexes (Smith et al. 2012). Mitochondria are ubiquitous in mammalian cells, but targeted mitochondrial therapies preferentially act on cells with high mitochondrial content such as cardiac or skeletal myocytes, which comprise ~30-40% of mitochondria. Nevertheless, due to mitochondria's ubiquity, mitochondrial therapies are feasible in many different indications. In general, mitochondrial therapies aim to improve disease burden rather than to achieve complete recovery, since they have an impact on common damaging disease pathways (Smith et al. 2012). As pointed out by Wallace et al. (2010) and McKnight (2010), however, our limited understanding of bioenergetics underlies the so-far disappointing progress in the development of treatments targeting metabolism and mitochondria. Therefore, we should place mitochondrial diseases and their therapeutics into a broader context of organismal and cellular bioenergetics (McKnight 2010; Wallace et al. 2010). Accordingly, a better understanding of intermediate metabolism and redox biology in the cardiovascular system and in particular, of mitochondrial bioenergetics may avoid previous failures such as vitamins, whose lack of benefit in cardiovascular diseases may be related to non-specific targeting and potentially paradoxical effects on redox biology at higher doses (Münzel et al. 2015).

In the following, we will provide an overview of the development and progression of mitochondrial dysfunction in heart failure and introduce different mitochondrial therapy strategies.

2 Mitochondrial Biology and Regulation

The heart consumes about 6 kg of ATP per day for pumping 10 tons of blood through the vascular circulation of the body (Marín-García 2012). Excitationcontraction coupling is the main consumer of ATP in the heart: about 2% of the cellular ATP is consumed per heart beat (Balaban 2002). Such efficient energy utilization was facilitated by the endosymbiosis of an alphaproteobacterium to an eukaryotic progenitor cell 4 billion years ago. The proteobacterium survived until today in form of mitochondria and enables the highly effective way to use oxygen (O_2) to produce ATP from food molecules, increasing the efficiency of glycolysis from 2 to 30 molecules of ATP (Lane and Martin 2010). However, the cost of this increase in efficacy by aerobic bioenergetics is the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), against which a whole battery of anti-oxidative enzymes are installed to prevent oxidative stress. If under pathological conditions, production of ROS overwhelms the anti-oxidative capacity, oxidative stress occurs that may contribute to the development and progression of heart failure (Dai et al. 2011b; Nickel et al. 2015).

Mitochondria have an outer (OMM) and an inner membrane (IMM) (Zick et al. 2009). Invaginations of the IMM form the cristae where the complexes of the respiratory chain assemble to respiratory "supercomplexes" or "respirasomes" (Cogliati et al. 2016; Gu et al. 2016). The cristae formation increases membrane surface and thereby enhances the capacity of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). Therefore, dense cristae formation is typical for mitochondria in highly energy-demanding tissues. Central to the cristae and respirasome formation is cardiolipin (CL), a phospholipid that is uniquely expressed in mitochondria, and in particular, on the IMM (Paradies et al. 2010).

OXPHOS regenerates ATP at the electron transport chain (ETC) (Mitchell and Moyle 1967). NADH and FADH₂, the main products of the Krebs Cycle, deliver electrons to the ETC, inducing sequential redox reactions which induce proton translocation across the IMM, establishing a proton gradient (Δ pH) which together with the electrical gradient ($\Delta \psi_m$) constitutes the proton motive force ($\Delta \mu_H$) (Fig. 1). This $\Delta \mu_H$ is the driving force for ATP production at the F₁F₀-ATP synthase (Balaban 2009). The Krebs cycle is fueled by energetic intermediates primarily from fatty acids as substrates (70%), and to a lesser extent glucose (30%), lactate and amino acids. In principle, however, the metabolic pathways of these different fuels are interwoven to a net of redundancy, variability, and effectiveness (Taegtmeyer 2007).

Cardiac workload and thus ATP consumption changes constantly and requires rapid and efficient adaptation of energy supply to demand. Two major regulators of oxidative phosphorylation are Ca^{2+} and ADP (Maack et al. 2007; Cortassa et al.



Fig. 1 Mechanisms of mitochondrial energetics and their regulation through ADP and Ca²⁺. The points of intervention of mitochondria-targeted therapies (MitoQ, SS-31, iron) are highlighted in *yellow. Nnt* nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase, *Mn-SOD* Mn²⁺-dependent superoxide dismutase, *PRX* peroxiredoxin, *GPX* glutathione peroxidase, *TRX_{r/o}* reduced/oxidized thioredoxin, *GSH/GSSG* reduced/oxidized glutathione, *TR* thioredoxin reductase, *GR* glutathione reductase, *MCU* mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter, *NCLX* mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ (and Li⁺) exchanger, *ANT* adenine nucleotide translocator, *RyR* ryanodine receptor, *SR* sarcoplasmic reticulum, *SERCA*, SR Ca²⁺ ATPase, *Mfn* mitofusin, *IMM* inner mitochondrial membrane, *OMM* outer mitochondrial membrane, $\Delta \mu_H$ proton motive force

2009). When ATP consumption increases, such as during β -adrenergic stimulation, ADP stimulates ATP production at the F₁F₀-ATP synthase, which slightly dissipates $\Delta\mu_{H}$ and accelerates electron flux along the ETC (Brand and Murphy 1987). This increased electron flux oxidizes NADH and FADH₂ (Fig. 1). At the same time, β -adrenergic stimulation increases the amplitude and frequency of cytosolic Ca²⁺ transients, facilitating the accumulation of Ca²⁺ in the mitochondrial matrix, where

 Ca^{2+} stimulates Pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) and rate-limiting dehydrogenases of the Krebs cycle (isocitrate- and α -ketoglutarate dehydrogenases) to increase the rate of NADH and FADH₂ regeneration (Fig. 1). Thus, the balance of ADP-induced acceleration of respiration and Ca²⁺-induced stimulation of the Krebs cycle maintains a constant redox state of NADH/NAD⁺ and FADH₂/FAD and thus, a sufficient electron reserve to generate ATP (Nickel et al. 2013).

Already under physiological conditions, superoxide (O_2^-) is produced at complexes I and III of the ETC, which is rapidly dismutated to H_2O_2 by the Mn^{2+} -dependent superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD) (Fig. 1). H_2O_2 is then eliminated by several enzymes (such as glutathione peroxidase and the thioredoxin/peroxiredoxin system) that require NADPH, which in turn is regenerated by three enzymes that derive their substrates from the Krebs cycle, such as isocitrate dehydrogenase, malic enzyme and the nicotin-amide nucleotide transhydrogenase (Nnt) (Ying 2008) (Fig. 1). Therefore, mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake is not only required to adapt energy supply to demand, but also to regenerate the NADPH-coupled anti-oxidative capacity to prevent excessive emission of H_2O_2 from mitochondria (Kohlhaas et al. 2010).

3 Pathophysiology of Heart Failure: Focus on Mitochondria

In patients with heart failure, an energetic deficit can be detected in vivo, leading to the well-known concept of the heart as an "engine out of fuel" (Neubauer 2007). A reduction of the myocardial phosphocreatine (PCr) to ATP ratio, measured non-invasively by ³¹P-MR spectroscopy, is an indicator of energy shortage predicting an adverse outcome of heart failure patients (Neubauer et al. 1997). Starling et al. (1998) observed an inverse correlation between ATP content and pulmonary wedge pressure. The decline of myocardial ATP was primarily associated with diastolic rather than systolic dysfunction (Starling et al. 1998). Increased energetic demand and/or energetic mismatch (Gorski et al. 2015) are supported by different experimental heart failure models, such as hypertension (Eirin et al. 2014a), pacing (Marín-García et al. 2001), and transaortic constriction (Patten and Hall-Porter 2009).

Two important aspects of the energy starvation concept, however, are presently incompletely resolved. First, the underlying reasons for the energetic deficit are unclear. Several studies ranging from 50 years ago at the National Institutes of Health (NIH) (Chidsey et al. 1966; Sobel et al. 1967) to more recent studies (Cordero-Reyes et al. 2014; Holzem et al. 2016) have suggested that the electron transport chain function per se is not impaired in failing versus nonfailing hearts, although conflicting data exist (Sharov et al. 2000). Instead, substrate metabolism, i.e., the capacities of glycolysis and fatty acid oxidation to provide acetyl-coenzyme A to the Krebs cycle, and also Krebs cycle activity per se – responsible for the production of NADH and FADH₂ from acetyl-coenzyme A, appear to be impaired in failing hearts (Nickel et al. 2013; Cordero-Reyes et al. 2014). Second, it is unclear as to how far the energetic deficit – mostly monitored by decreased PCr levels – actually contributes to the contractile deficit per se and the progression of

heart failure (through induction of maladaptive remodeling), or whether the energetic deficit may rather impair only cardiac function under maximal exertion, as discussed in more detail previously (Nickel et al. 2013). In fact, in mice that are completely deficient of PCr, no impairment of cardiac function at baseline or after myocardial infarction could be observed, while maximal cardiac output in response to β -adrenergic stimulation or the recovery of cardiac function from ischemia was slightly reduced (Lygate et al. 2013). These data argue against a maladaptive role of a deficit of the final currency of energy, i.e., ATP, for cardiac dysfunction. In contrast, the mentioned defects of substrate metabolism may rather result in the accumulation of metabolic intermediates that can become toxic and/or induce maladaptive signaling in their own right (Chatham and Young 2012; Nickel et al. 2013).

One important consequence of the changes in intermediary metabolism is oxidative stress. In patients with heart failure, oxidative stress occurs in the plasma and LV myocardium and correlates with LV dysfunction (Belch et al. 1991; Maack et al. 2003). Increased levels of ROS can deteriorate Ca^{2+} handling (Xu et al. 1997; Zweier and Talukder 2006; Maack et al. 2009), cause arrhythmias (Akar et al. 2005; Wagner et al. 2013), and induce hypertrophic signaling (Ago et al. 2008; Erickson et al. 2008), apoptosis, and necrosis (Halestrap 2005; Biasutto et al. 2016). Ca^{2+} calmodulin kinase II (CaMKII) activation through a ROS-dependent pathway led to increased Ca^{2+} leak of the sarcoplasmic reticulum (Viatchenko-Karpinski et al. 2014). But oxidative stress in cardiac myocytes can be either adaptive (Zhang et al. 2010) or maladaptive (Dai et al. 2011b), depending on its source, timing, and quantity.

Besides NADPH oxidases and other enzymes, one major source of ROS is mitochondria. In a dog model of heart failure, excessive production of O_2^- at complex I is transformed to H₂O₂ and (via the Fenton reaction) hydroxyl radicals (Ide et al. 2000). Besides an increase in ROS production, decreased ROS elimination is another key contributor to mitochondrial oxidative stress (Nickel et al. 2014). In the failing heart, defects in Ca²⁺ homeostasis result in smaller amplitudes and slower velocities of cytosolic Ca²⁺ transients (Bers 2006), which deteriorate mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake to stimulate key enzymes of the Krebs cycle (Kohlhaas and Maack 2013). Furthermore, increased cytosolic Na⁺ concentrations, as observed in heart failure, accelerate mitochondrial Ca²⁺ export via the mitochondrial Na⁺/Ca²⁺ exchanger (Maack et al. 2006; Liu and O'Rourke 2008) (Fig. 1). Under physiological conditions, microdomains between the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) and mitochondria mediate efficient mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake (Kohlhaas and Maack 2013). During systole, very high Ca^{2+} concentrations in the immediate vicinity of the ryanodine receptors (RyRs) of the SR in close juxtaposition to mitochondria and the mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uniporter (MCU) allow uptake of Ca²⁺ into mitochondria despite the relatively low affinity of the MCU for Ca^{2+} (Kohlhaas and Maack 2013). These microdomains are controlled by tethering proteins between the SR and mitochondria, among which mitofusin (Mfn) 1, located on the OMM, and Mfn2, located on both the OMM and the SR, play important roles (de Brito and Scorrano 2008; Chen et al. 2012). In animal models of heart failure, decreased expression of Mfn1 and Mfn2 may deteriorate the well-organized spatial pattern of mitochondria within cardiac myocytes, but potentially also the SR-mitochondrial Ca^{2+} microdomain (Goh et al. 2016; Maack 2016). Finally, the open probability of the MCU is reduced in mitochondria from human failing hearts (Michels et al. 2009).

Together, these data indicate that in heart failure, decreased mitochondrial Ca²⁺ uptake during cardiac workload transitions impairs the Ca²⁺-induced stimulation of the Krebs cycle and thereby, the regeneration of NADH and NADPH, required for energy production and the anti-oxidative capacity (Nickel et al. 2014). One important consequence of this energy supply-and-demand mismatch is oxidation of NADH, which favors the reverse mode of the mitochondrial nicotinamide nucleotide transhydrogenase (Nnt) during elevated cardiac workload, which oxidizes NADPH and therefore dissipates the anti-oxidative capacity (Nickel et al. 2015). The depleted NADPH-coupled anti-oxidative capacity is then overwhelmed by ROS production by NADH-coupled respiration at the ETC. This imbalance appears to be a core mechanism of oxidative stress during pressure-overload induced heart failure, since in animals that lack a functional Nnt, no oxidative stress and less systolic dysfunction or premature death occurred (Nickel et al. 2015).

According to the concept of "redox-optimized ROS balance" (R-ORB), Aon et al. (2010) proposed that "mitochondria have been evolutionarily optimized to maximize energy output while keeping ROS overflow to a minimum by operating in an intermediate redox state" (Aon et al. 2010). This implies that the optimal condition for cardiac mitochondria is when extreme oxidation, as outlined above, or reduction of the mitochondrial redox state (such as during ischemia) is avoided. The R-ORB concept proposes that under highly reduced conditions, high ROS production at the ETC overwhelms the anti-oxidative capacity. However, considering that the working heart constantly produces ADP, which physiologically accelerates respiration and thereby oxidizes the respiratory chain, increased oxidative stress in heart failure is unlikely due to a pure net increase of ROS production, but rather due to diminished ROS scavenging capacity (Nickel et al. 2015).

Oxidative stress leads to a vicious circle by exacerbating the energy supply and demand mismatch (Kohlhaas and Maack 2011). Mitochondria are in the center of the scene, since they contain typical targets of oxidative damage like iron sulfur clusters, unsaturated fatty acids, and densely packed proteins and mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) that are all essential to mitochondrial function (Murphy 2009). The proximity of ROS production to the components of the ETC including cardiolipin makes them most vulnerable to oxidative damage (Lesnefsky and Hoppel 2008). Therefore, oxidative stress directly affects enzyme function of ETC complexes and leads to peroxidation of cardiolipin due to the high content of unsaturated fatty acids (Paradies et al. 2010). Peroxidation of cardiolipin impairs cristae formation and disrupts the respirasome and the detachment of cytochrome c, a mobile electron carrier in the IMM (Szeto 2014). The net result of these changes is a reduced ATP synthesis and a further increase in electron slippage to oxygen, therefore setting up a feed-forward cycle of ROS-induced ROS production (Zorov et al. 2006). Furthermore, mtDNA is associated with the IMM and vulnerable to oxidative damage by

missing protective histones. Damage of mtDNA further leads to reduced ETC activity and exacerbating the feed-forward cycle of ROS production (Ide et al. 2001; Hebert et al. 2010).

4 Strategies for Mitochondrial Therapies

Initial attempts to improve the outcome of patients with cardiovascular risk and/or disease were performed with the supplementation of vitamins C and E, however, these attempts were not successful (Yusuf et al. 2000). One reason for this failure is that these anti-oxidants do not achieve sufficiently high concentrations within mitochondria (Münzel et al. 2015; Murphy 2016). Furthermore, depending on its concentration, duration, and sources, ROS can also serve physiological signaling roles (Jones and Sies 2015). In this context, the concept of "mitohormesis" promotes ROS-induced health benefits depending on exposure time and concentration (Ristow 2014). For instance, the application of vitamins C and E in healthy young men prevented the health benefits of exercise, in particular on insulin signaling (Ristow et al. 2009). Furthermore, antioxidants prevent myocardial protection provided by "preconditioning" episodes of brief ischemia/reperfusion (Baines et al. 1997; Kaeffer et al. 1997; Vanden Hoek et al. 1998). To some extent, these data conflict with the classical free radical theory of aging (Liochev 2013).

Therefore, other strategies were employed to target anti-oxidants more specifically to those compartments where ROS are thought to produce most damage, i.e., to mitochondria. The principles of such mitochondrial therapies have been reviewed in more detail previously (Smith et al. 2012). Here, we will briefly review the concepts and (if available) clinical results of different mitochondrial therapies – and therapies that affect mitochondria – in the context of heart failure. One approach is to target drugs specifically to mitochondria by coupling a pharmacon to the cation triphenylphosphonium (TPP⁺), whose lipophilicity allows the passage across the cell and mitochondrial membranes, and its negative charge facilitates the Nernst's distribution law to accumulate in the negatively charged mitochondrial matrix. The most prominent example of this strategy is MitoQ, where a ubiquinone derivative is coupled to TPP⁺ (Kelso et al. 2001).

Ubiquinone is synonymous to coenzyme Q, which is a physiological component of the ETC and functions as an electron carrier. In patients with heart failure, decreased levels of coenzyme Q correlated with the severity of the disease and could be slightly increased by conventional oral coenzyme Q supplementation (Folkers et al. 1985). In fact, a recent clinical trial observed that oral coenzyme Q supplementation was associated with improved morbidity and mortality in patients with heart failure (Mortensen et al. 2014). As an electron acceptor, coenzyme Q can also function as an anti-oxidant, and since it is unclear to what extent nonconjugated coenzyme Q is really taken up by mitochondria, the rationale of the development of MitoQ was therefore the coupling of coenzyme Q (ubiquinone) to TPP⁺, forming MitoQ (Smith et al. 2012). Initially considered a similar class of drugs as MitoQ (Smith et al. 2012), the Szeto-Schiller peptides comprise of alternating aromatic and basic amino acid residues, where the aromatic residues were thought to allow the passage across membranes, and the positive charge attracting the molecule to the mitochondrial matrix and finally, the dimethyltyrosine residue providing anti-oxidative properties (Zhao et al. 2004). However, more recent data suggest that SS-31, the most promising candidate of this family, does not have direct anti-oxidative effects (Brown et al. 2014), but binds to cardiolipin, an essential phospholipid of the IMM (Szeto 2014). This interaction with SS-31 protects cardiolipin from oxidation and dysfunction, preventing disassembly of the ETC supercomplexes and thereby, energetic deficit and mitochondrial ROS production (Szeto et al. 2001; Szeto 2014).

Another important catalytic factor in mitochondria is iron, which participates in numerous iron-sulfur (Fe/S) clusters of the ETC and the Krebs cycle. In patients with heart failure, iron deficiency predicts adverse outcome (Jankowska et al. 2010), and in human failing myocardium, decreased iron levels are associated with decreased respiratory capacity (Melenovsky et al. 2016). Intravenous iron application improves functional status and exercise capacity in heart failure patients (Jankowska et al. 2016), and it may be assumed that this is primarily the result of improved mitochondrial function, although this is not entirely proven and also it is unclear whether this is an effect on cardiac and/or skeletal muscles (Stugiewicz et al. 2016).

Finally, physical exercise improves symptoms and quality of life in patients with heart failure, and this effect may be (at least to some extent) related to an improvement of mitochondrial biogenesis. We discuss these aspects in more detail in the following passages.

5 Coenzyme Q₁₀ Supplementation: Myth or Reality?

Coenzyme Q₁₀, also known as ubiquinone, coenzyme Q and ubiquinol (reduced form), is a crucial component of the electron transport chain by transporting electrons from complex I, II and the electron transfer flavoproteins to complex IV (Schwarz et al. 2014). Therefore, Q_{10} undergoes cyclic oxidation-reduction. The molecular structure is related to vitamin k, where "Q" connotates the quinone-, and "10" the 10-isoprene group as the molecular structure found in humans. Ubiquinones are ubiquitous in most mammalian cells, and particularly in organs with the highest energy demand, such as the heart (Crane 2007). The cyclic oxidationreduction rate is slower than the rate of cytochrome c, but this is compensated by 10 times higher coenzyme Q_{10} concentrations than that of other carriers (Klingenberg 2010). Accordingly, depleting coenzyme Q_{10} concentrations in heart mitochondria can slow mitochondrial respiration, while replenishing Q_{10} accelerates respiration (Redfearn and Burgos 1966). Preclinical data suggest that Q₁₀ has a critical role in ATP production, is a potent anti-inflammatory agent, and may improve endothelial function (Sharma et al. 2016). In fact, besides mitochondria, coenzyme Q_{10} is also found in other cellular membranes where it controls

the function of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), whose uncoupling upon coenzyme Q_{10} depletion can make it an additional source for ROS and thereby, shifts the nitroso-redox balance towards oxidation (Mugoni et al. 2013).

Under physiological conditions, \sim 50% of coenzyme Q₁₀ is ingested, while the other half is synthesized endogenously through the mevalonate pathway, which is blocked by statins (Bentinger et al. 2007; Crane 2007). Therefore, treatment of patients with cardiovascular risk and/or disease with statins is associated with decreased coenzyme Q_{10} levels (Banach et al. 2015). In patients with heart failure, decreased levels of coenzyme Q_{10} correlated with the severity of disease (Mortensen et al. 1990; Mortensen 2015). As a mechanism of decrease in coenzyme Q_{10} concentrations, lipid oxidation was suggested as a consequence of oxidative stress (Forsmark-Andrée et al. 1997). Coenzyme Q₁₀ was initially described as an independent predictor of mortality in 236 patients with heart failure (Molyneux et al. 2008). A pre-specified analysis of the much larger CORONA study, however, could not confirm this (McMurray et al. 2010). In CORONA, rosuvastatin did not reduce the primary endpoint of death from cardiovascular causes, nonfatal myocardial infarction, or nonfatal stroke in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy (Kjekshus et al. 2007). In these patients, rosuvastatin reduced coenzyme Q_{10} , but even in patients with a low baseline coenzyme Q₁₀, rosuvastatin treatment was not associated with a worse outcome (McMurray et al. 2010). Accordingly, reduced coenzyme Q_{10} was not an independent prognostic variable in heart failure (McMurray et al. 2010). Together, these data call into question a causal role of the coenzyme Q10 deficit in patients with heart failure, with or without statin treatment.

As an established mitochondrial therapy, coenzyme Q_{10} cures a defect in Q_{10} biosynthesis by a permanent dietary Q_{10} supplementation. This is an exception to the mostly (therapeutically) orphaned group of primary mitochondrial diseases (Rötig et al. 2000; Montini et al. 2008). In cardiovascular diseases, however, coenzyme Q_{10} supplementation has been pursued without firm evidence of benefit for several decades. While a meta-analysis of several rather small trials indicated that coenzyme Q₁₀ may improve LV ejection fraction, additional well-designed studies were required to assess the effect of coenzyme Q on the outcome of these patients (Fotino et al. 2013). In the recent Q-SYMBIO trial, coenzyme Q_{10} was tested against placebo in 420 patients with systolic heart failure, and indeed, coenzyme Q_{10} improved symptoms and substantially reduced major adverse cardiovascular events (Mortensen et al. 2014). However, since the study was underpowered to prove a benefit in this population, the issue whether coenzyme Q_{10} supplementation really improves outcome and symptoms in heart failure is not fully settled (Ezekowitz 2014), and coenzyme Q10 is not even mentioned in the most recent guidelines on the treatment of heart failure (Ponikowski et al. 2016).

6 MitoQ

Mito Q is a mitochondrial targeted antioxidant, where a ubiquinone moiety is linked by a 10-carbon alkyl chain to the cation triphenylphosphonium (TPP⁺), which takes advantage of the electrochemical gradient (150–180 mV) across the IMM. Therefore, compounds coupled to TTP⁺ are several hundred-fold higher concentrated in mitochondria (Murphy 2016). The ubiquinol moiety of MitoQ is an antioxidant running through a redox cycle via oxidation by ROS to an ubiquinone and reduction by complex II back to ubiquinol (James et al. 2007).

MitoQ can be administered orally, which is safe in rodents (Rodriguez-Cuenca et al. 2010). Preclinical studies show protection against oxidative damage. Feeding MitoQ to rats reduced cell death and mitochondrial damage and thereby improved cardiac function after ischemia-reperfusion of Langendorff-perfused hearts (Adlam et al. 2005). In a spontaneously hypertensive rat model of heart failure, administration of the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ protects against the development of hypertension, improves endothelial function, and reduces cardiac hypertrophy (Graham et al. 2009). The favorable outcome may also be attributed to the reduction in blood pressure and improvement in endothelial function observed in the MitoQ group (Bayeva et al. 2013). Moreover, MitoQ protected against anthracycline-(Chandran et al. 2009), endotoxin- (Supinski et al. 2009), and cocaine-induced cardiotoxicities (Vergeade et al. 2010).

These positive preclinical data led to the assessment of MitoQ in a human phase II trial in Parkinson's disease (PD), the PROTECT trial (NCT00329056) which showed safety, but no difference between MitoQ and placebo on any measure of PD progression (Carlisle et al. 2015). A second small trial with MitoQ was performed on patients with chronic hepatitis C virus (the CLEAR trial; NCT00433108), in which MitoQ significantly decreased liver damage in patients with chronic HCV infection (Gane et al. 2010). Despite these favorable clinical data that also confirmed safety of MitoQ, the drug has not been tested yet in clinical trials on patients with cardiovascular diseases.

7 Szeto-Schiller Peptides (Lead Compound SS-31, Also Known as Elamipretide or Bendavia)

The discovery of the Szeto-Schiller (SS) peptides was serendipity while Hazel Szeto and Peter Schiller were working on a family of dermorphins. SS peptides are a new class of compounds that selectively accumulate 1,000- to 5,000-fold in the inner mitochondrial membrane (IMM) compared to the cytosolic compartment. The mitochondrial uptake does not depend on the mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi_m$), which may be of advantage in conditions in which $\Delta \Psi_m$ is (partly) dissipated, such as ischemia or heart failure.

The central mechanism of action of SS-31 is binding selectively to cardiolipin via electrostatic and hydrophobic interactions. SS-31 protects cardiolipin from damage by oxidative stress (Zhao et al. 2004; Szeto 2014) and thereby maintains

proper function of the respiratory chain, avoiding aberrant slippage of electrons to O_2 to produce superoxide anion radical (O_2^-). Furthermore, SS-31 prevents cardiolipin from converting cytochrome c into a peroxidase while protecting its electron carrying function (Szeto and Schiller 2011; Szeto 2014). Usually, peptides are unsuitable drugs mainly due to rapid degradation through peptidases and their inability to cross cellular membranes. However, SS peptides are water soluble due to their cationic character. After administration, SS-31 is rapidly distributed to highly perfused organs, including the heart, kidney, lung, and brain (Szeto 2008). The enzymatic degradation is low and stable even after 2 h of incubation in whole blood (Szeto et al. 2001).

In mice, a 4-week infusion of angiotensin II induces mitochondrial oxidative stress, myocardial hypertrophy, fibrosis and diastolic heart failure, and SS-31, but not the non-specific antioxidant N-acetyl cysteine ameliorated these parameters (Dai et al. 2011a). In mice with trans-aortic constriction, the afterload-induced increase in oxidative stress is caused by the reversal of the mitochondrial transhydrogenase, provoking elevated mitochondrial ROS emission which then causes necrosis, LV dysfunction, and premature death (Nickel et al. 2015). In this model, application of SS-31 prevented the afterload-induced increase in necrosis after 3 days and premature death over 6 weeks (Nickel et al. 2015). In a porcine renovascular hypertension model, SS-31 improved diastolic function and oxygenation and reversed myocardial tissue damage after renal angioplasty and stenting (Eirin et al. 2014b). In a dog model of systolic heart failure, SS-31 not only improved systolic function in the long term (i.e., after 3 months of treatment), but also in the short-term: A 48-h treatment with SS-31 increased LVEF and stroke volume and decreased end-systolic volume, with no changes of heart rate or systemic vascular resistance (Sabbah et al. 2016).

The promising preclinical data and its pharmacokinetic profile warranted further clinical testing in patients with cardiovascular diseases. Since April 2016, the international nonproprietary name of SS-31 is Elamipretide (ELA-, no meaning; MI-, mitochondrial; PR-, protection; TIDE, stem of every peptide and glycopeptide; www.stealthbth.com). Elamipretide entered into clinical development with a for-profit commercial sponsor (Stealth Biotherapeutials Inc., Newton, MA, USA) in 2010. The first clinical phase II trial with Elamipretide to reduce the ischemia-reperfusion injury among subjects with first-time anterior STEMI who underwent successful PCI, intracoronary administration of Elamipretide was safe and well tolerated. However, in this single-dose study, the treatment with Elamipretide was not associated with a decrease in myocardial infarct size as assessed by AUC0 – 72 of CK-MB, but some hypothesis-generating positive signals on LV function were noted (Gibson et al. 2015).

This spurred the launch of a clinical programme comprising three phase II trials on patients with heart failure. The first trial evaluates the effects of 4 weeks' treatment with subcutaneous Elamipretide on LV function in subjects with stable heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF) by comparing the delta in E/e' at rest and during submaximal exercise between the Elamipretide and placebo groups (NCT02814097). A second phase II trial evaluates the cardiac and renal effects of short-term treatment with Elamipretide in patients hospitalized with congestion due to heart failure. The primary outcome measures the change in NT-proBNP between baseline and day 8/early discharge (NCT02914665). A third phase II trial examines the effect of multiple subcutaneous injections of Elamipretide on various measures of heart function in patients with chronic heart failure with a reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF). The primary outcome measures are the change from baseline in left ventricular end systolic volume (LV ESV) assessed by cardiac MRI (NCT02788747). The first results of these heart failure trails are expected for February 2017.

8 Iron Supplementation

Iron is not only required for oxygen transport via hemoglobin and oxygen storage by myoglobin, but is also essential in cellular bioenergetics. Iron is either embedded into a heme molecule or an iron-sulfur (Fe/S) cluster. The biogenesis of Fe/S clusters is a highly complex and coordinated process in living cells (Hentze et al. 2010). Their main purpose is electron transfer by switching between oxidative states as part of the complexes of the mitochondrial ETC (Lill 2009). Furthermore, Fe/S clusters play an important role for the function of various Krebs cycle enzymes, such as aconitase.

Both iron deficiency and iron overload can negatively affect human health (Abbaspour et al. 2014). Due to the importance of iron in tissues with high metabolic demand like the heart, the balance between iron deficiency and overload requires precise regulatory control. As a reactive metal, free iron catalyzes production of highly toxic hydroxyl radicals via the Fenton reaction (Eaton and Qian 2002). In the context of chronic iron overload during hemochromatosis, ironcatalyzed ROS can induce heart failure in addition to liver failure and type II diabetes (Gao et al. 2010; Dixon and Stockwell 2013). Also in patients with β-thalassemia, myocardial iron overload resulting from chronic and excess hemolysis can induce heart failure that is ameliorated by iron chelators (Tanner et al. 2007; Kremastinos et al. 2010). Deficiency of frataxin, a regulator of mitochondrial iron homeostasis, has similar effects in Friedreich's ataxia: Patients develop a mitochondrial iron overload combined with mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative damage (Whitnall et al. 2008; Payne 2011). Furthermore, doxorubicin induces mitochondrial iron accumulation and thereby contributes to ROS-mediated cardiotoxicity (Ichikawa et al. 2014). Finally, during ischemia/reperfusion injury, upregulation of the mitochondrial iron exporter decreased mitochondrial iron content and protected against ischemia/reperfusion damage in mice (Chang et al. 2016).

On the other hand, in patients with chronic heart failure, serum iron deficiency (ID) is quite prevalent, affecting roughly one third of all heart failure patients, and is associated with decreased exercise capacity and adverse outcome independent of ID-associated anemia (Jankowska et al. 2010; von Haehling et al. 2015). These clinical observations and pathophysiological considerations fostered the development of efficient therapies to refill the depleted iron stores in patients with

heart failure. Ferric carboxymaltose is an intravenous drug in which a ferric hydroxide core is stabilized by a carbohydrate shell, allowing for controlled delivery of high amounts of iron to target tissues (Lyseng-Williamson and Keating 2009). In fact, intravenous iron supplementation over 24 weeks improved the 6-min walk distance, functional status and well-being and reduced hospitalizations of patients with systolic heart failure (Anker et al. 2009; Ponikowski et al. 2015; Jankowska et al. 2016). In contrast, no effects on total or cardiovascular mortality were noticed so far (Jankowska et al. 2016). Therefore, the application of intravenous iron has received a class IIa, A recommendation in the recent ESC Guide-lines on the treatment of heart failure (Ponikowski et al. 2015).

It is presently unresolved, however, whether the beneficial effects of iron are mediated by improvement of cardiac or skeletal muscle function, or both (Stugiewicz et al. 2016). In fact, the impact of serum ID on mitochondrial iron content in failing hearts is presently unclear. In a rat model of experimental iron deficiency, the activities of various ETC complexes and mitochondrial respiration were reduced (Blayney et al. 1976). In patients with heart failure, the total myocardial iron content is reduced (Maeder et al. 2011; Leszek et al. 2012; Haddad et al. 2016; Melenovsky et al. 2016). However, myocardial iron content did not correlate with serum iron, serum transferrin saturation or the severity of the disease in a cohort of 33 patients with systolic heart failure and a mean of LVEF 22% (Leszek et al. 2012, 2015). In those failing hearts in which myocardial iron content was decreased, the activity of respiratory chain complexes was preserved, while the activity or protein expression of aconitase, citrate synthase, and anti-oxidative enzymes was reduced (Melenovsky et al. 2016). Importantly, in a study that differentiated between cytosolic and mitochondrial iron contents, mitochondrial iron was actually increased, while cytosolic iron was reduced (Khechaduri et al. 2013). In mitochondria, iron is integrated in heme molecules which in turn are integrated into the ETC complexes or Krebs cycle enzymes. The mitochondrial heme content was also increased in human failing hearts, and in cell systems, increased heme expression was associated with higher production of ROS (Khechaduri et al. 2013). Together, although most studies show that in human failing hearts, the *total* iron content is reduced, this decrease may not occur in mitochondria (Khechaduri et al. 2013) and appears unrelated to serum iron status (Leszek et al. 2012), severity of the disease (Leszek et al. 2015) or the activity of respiratory chain complexes (Melenovsky et al. 2016).

Cells take up iron bound to transferrin via transferrin receptor 1 (Trf1), which in turn is under the control of iron-regulatory proteins (Irp) 1 and 2 (Hentze et al. 2010). In human failing hearts, Irp activity and Trf1 expression are downregulated (Maeder et al. 2011; Haddad et al. 2016). In mice with cardiomyocyte-specific deletion of both Irp1 and Irp2, myocardial iron stores and Trf1 expression were reduced, and this decreased PCr/ATP ratios and decreased the maximal inotropic response to β -adrenergic stimulation in vivo (Haddad et al. 2016). These energetic defects were related to decreased complex I activities in the LV myocardium and decreased maximal respiration in isolated cardiac myocytes of Irp1/2-deficient mice. Furthermore, after myocardial infarction, the development of LV hypertrophy

and systolic dysfunction was aggravated in mice with cardiomyocyte-specific ID (Haddad et al. 2016). These defects could be restored by systemic application of ferric carboxymaltose, suggesting that in patients with heart failure, iron supplementation may improve cardiac function. However, before translating these experimental results to the human situation, one needs to consider that – as mentioned above – in human heart failure, iron content was not reduced in cardiac mitochondria (Khechaduri et al. 2013), and decreased total myocardial iron content was not associated with serum ID (Leszek et al. 2012) or decreased myocardial ETC activity (Melenovsky et al. 2016). Nevertheless, the study by Haddad et al. (2016) sheds some new light onto cardiac myocyte iron metabolism and supports the notion that therapeutic iron may improve cardiac function of patients with heart failure.

Together, while it is clear that serum ID predicts an adverse outcome and ferric carboxymaltose improves symptoms and quality of life in patients with heart failure, these effects are presumably related to improving skeletal muscle function (Stugiewicz et al. 2016) and potentially also of cardiac function (Haddad et al. 2016). Nevertheless, more research is needed to further elucidate the impact and regulation of iron in cardiac mitochondria.

9 Exercise

Physical exercise appears to be a systemic and genuinely mitochondrial therapeutic strategy. In fact, our growing understanding of the regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis and function also helps to understand how exercise may have positive impacts on health through improving mitochondrial function (Safdar et al. 2011; Picard et al. 2016). In fact, even small improvements in physical fitness are associated with a significantly lowered risk of death (Erikssen et al. 1998). One central molecular hub for several exercise-associated signaling pathways, and in particular, for mitochondrial biogenesis in skeletal and myocardial muscle is the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma co-activator (PGC-1a) (Handschin and Spiegelman 2008; Safdar et al. 2011). PGC-1 α regulates the coordinated expression of key mitochondrial proteins of the respiratory chain and the Krebs cycle (Scarpulla 2008; Ventura-Clapier et al. 2008). Furthermore, the levels of PGC-1 α expression correlate with OXPHOS capacity, and in patients with heart failure, myocardial PGC-1 α expression is decreased (Garnier et al. 2003; Sebastiani et al. 2007). During physical exercise, ROS activate PGC-1 α (and several other signaling pathways) which in turn increases the expression of antioxidative enzymes (St-Pierre et al. 2006). In fact, the application of non-selective antioxidants such as vitamins C and E can attenuate endurance training-induced and ROS-mediated enhancements in antioxidant capacity, mitochondrial biogenesis, cellular defence mechanisms, and insulin sensitivity (Ristow et al. 2009). This may further explain the observation that vitamin supplementation (as a non-targeted anti-oxidative intervention) did not have any positive impact on the cardiovascular outcome of patients at risk (Yusuf et al. 2000; Münzel et al. 2015).

In the HF Action trial on patients with systolic heart failure, exercise improved quality of life and self-reported health status (Flynn et al. 2009). After adjustment for highly prognostic predictors of the primary end point, exercise training was associated with modest significant reductions for both all-cause mortality or hospitalization and cardiovascular mortality or heart failure hospitalization (O'Connor et al. 2009). Also in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), exercise training improved exercise capacity (peak oxygen consumption), quality of life and diastolic function (Edelmann et al. 2011; Fukuta et al. 2014; Nolte et al. 2015). The comparison of high intensity interval training versus moderate intensity continuous training showed equal effect in improving quality of life and functional capacity in HF patients (Benda et al. 2015; Ulbrich et al. 2016). Therefore, the current ESC Guidelines recommend exercise training for the treatment of heart failure to improve quality of life and reduce hospitalizations (Ponikowski et al. 2016).

10 Conclusions

A precise understanding of pathophysiological mechanisms affecting mitochondrial function and metabolism in heart failure is key to design efficient drugs that may improve mitochondrial function. While iron therapy and exercise are already recommended in the current ESC Guidelines for the treatment of heart failure, novel drugs such as MitoQ and SS-31 are still under preclinical and clinical investigation and may be promising additions to our current armament of neurohormonal interventions.

Acknowledgments The research of C. Maack was and is supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG; Heisenberg Programm; SFB-894; Ma 2528/7-1), Deutsche Herzstiftung (Margret Elisabeth Strauß-Projektförderung) and Corona-Stiftung.

References

- Abbaspour N, Hurrell R, Kelishadi R (2014) Review on iron and its importance for human health. J Res Med Sci 19:164–174
- Adlam VJ, Harrison JC, Porteous CM, James AM, Smith RAJ, Murphy MP, Sammut IA (2005) Targeting an antioxidant to mitochondria decreases cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. FASEB J 19:1088–1095
- Ago T, Liu T, Zhai P, Chen W, Li H, Molkentin JD, Vatner SF, Sadoshima J (2008) A redoxdependent pathway for regulating class II HDACs and cardiac hypertrophy. Cell 133:978–993
- Akar FG, Aon MA, Tomaselli GF, O'Rourke B (2005) The mitochondrial origin of postischemic arrhythmias. J Clin Invest 115:3527–3535
- Anker SD, Comin Colet J, Filippatos G, Willenheimer R, Dickstein K, Drexler H, Luscher TF, Bart B, Banasiak W, Niegowska J, Kirwan B-A, Mori C, von Eisenhart RB, Pocock SJ, Poole-Wilson PA, Ponikowski P (2009) Ferric carboxymaltose in patients with heart failure and iron deficiency. N Engl J Med 361:2436–2448

- Aon MA, Cortassa S, O'Rourke B (2010) Redox-optimized ROS balance: a unifying hypothesis. Biochim Biophys Acta 1797:865–877
- Baines CP, Goto M, Downey JM (1997) Oxygen radicals released during ischemic preconditioning contribute to cardioprotection in the rabbit myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 29: 207–216
- Balaban R (2002) Cardiac energy metabolism homeostasis: role of cytosolic calcium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 34:1259–1271
- Balaban RS (2009) Domestication of the cardiac mitochondrion for energy conversion. J Mol Cell Cardiol 46:832–841
- Banach M, Serban C, Ursoniu S, Rysz J, Muntner P, Toth PP, Jones SR, Rizzo M, Glasser SP, Watts GF, Blumenthal RS, Lip GYH, Mikhailidis DP, Sahebkar A, Group LaBPM-aCL (2015) Statin therapy and plasma coenzyme Q10 concentrations – a systematic review and metaanalysis of placebo-controlled trials. Pharmacol Res 99:329–336
- Bayeva M, Gheorghiade M, Ardehali H (2013) Mitochondria as a therapeutic target in heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 61:599–610
- Belch JJ, Bridges AB, Scott N, Chopra M (1991) Oxygen free radicals and congestive heart failure. Heart 65:245–248
- Benda NMM, Seeger JPH, Stevens GGCF, Hijmans-Kersten BTP, van Dijk APJ, Bellersen L, Lamfers EJP, Hopman MTE, Thijssen DHJ (2015) Effects of high-intensity interval training versus continuous training on physical fitness, cardiovascular function and quality of life in heart failure patients. PLoS One 10:e0141256
- Bentinger M, Brismar K, Dallner G (2007) The antioxidant role of coenzyme Q. Mitochondrion 7: S41–S50
- Bers DM (2006) Altered cardiac myocyte Ca regulation in heart failure. Physiology (Bethesda) 21:380–387
- Biasutto L, Azzolini M, Szabò I, Zoratti M (2016) The mitochondrial permeability transition pore in AD 2016: an update. Biochim Biophys Acta 1863:2515–2530
- Blayney L, Bailey-Wood R, Jacobs A, Henderson A, Muir J (1976) The effects of iron deficiency on the respiratory function and cytochrome content of rat heart mitochondria. Circ Res 39: 744–748
- Brand MD, Murphy MP (1987) Control of electron flux through the respiratory chain in mitochondria and cells. Biol Rev 62:141–193
- Brown DA, Hale SL, Baines CP, del Rio CL, Hamlin RL, Yueyama Y, Kijtawornat A, Yeh ST, Frasier CR, Stewart LM, Moukdar F, Shaikh SR, Fisher-Wellman KH, Neufer PD, Kloner RA (2014) Reduction of early reperfusion injury with the mitochondria-targeting peptide bendavia. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 19:121–132
- Carlisle JB, Danjoux G, Kerr K, Snowden C, Swart M (2015) Validation of long-term survival prediction for scheduled abdominal aortic aneurysm repair with an independent calculator using only pre-operative variables. Anaesthesia 70:654–665
- Chandran K, Aggarwal D, Migrino RQ, Joseph J, McAllister D, Konorev EA, Antholine WE, Zielonka J, Srinivasan S, Avadhani NG, Kalyanaraman B (2009) Doxorubicin inactivates myocardial cytochrome c oxidase in rats: cardioprotection by Mito-Q. Biophys J 96: 1388–1398
- Chang HC, Wu R, Shang M, Sato T, Chen C, Shapiro JS, Liu T, Thakur A, Sawicki KT, Prasad SV, Ardehali H (2016) Reduction in mitochondrial iron alleviates cardiac damage during injury. EMBO Mol Med 8:247–267
- Chatham JC, Young ME (2012) Metabolic remodeling in the hypertrophic heart: fuel for thought. Circ Res 111:666–668
- Chen Y, Csordas G, Jowdy C, Schneider TG, Csordas N, Wang W, Liu Y, Kohlhaas M, Meiser M, Bergem S, Nerbonne JM, Dorn GW 2nd, Maack C (2012) Mitofusin 2-containing mitochondrial-reticular microdomains direct rapid cardiomyocyte bioenergetic responses via interorganelle Ca2+ crosstalk. Circ Res 111:863–875
- Chidsey CA, Weinbach EC, Pool PE, Morrow AG (1966) Biochemical studies of energy production in the failing human heart. J Clin Invest 45:40–50

- Cogliati S, Calvo E, Loureiro M, Guaras AM, Nieto-Arellano R, Garcia-Poyatos C, Ezkurdia I, Mercader N, Vázquez J, Enríquez JA (2016) Mechanism of super-assembly of respiratory complexes III and IV. Nature 539:579–582
- Cordero-Reyes AM, Gupte AA, Youker KA, Loebe M, Hsueh WA, Torre-Amione G, Taegtmeyer H, Hamilton DJ (2014) Freshly isolated mitochondria from failing human hearts exhibit preserved respiratory function. J Mol Cell Cardiol 68:98–105
- Cortassa S, O'Rourke B, Winslow RL, Aon MA (2009) Control and regulation of mitochondrial energetics in an integrated model of cardiomyocyte function. Biophys J 96:2466–2478
- Crane FL (2007) Discovery of ubiquinone (coenzyme Q) and an overview of function. Mitochondrion 7:S2–S7
- Dai D-F, Chen T, Szeto H, Nieves-Cintrón M, Kutyavin V, Santana LF, Rabinovitch PS (2011a) Mitochondrial targeted antioxidant peptide ameliorates hypertensive cardiomyopathy. JAC 58:73–82
- Dai D-F, Johnson SC, Villarin JJ, Chin MT, Nieves-Cintrón M, Chen T, Marcinek DJ, Dorn GW, Kang YJ, Prolla TA, Santana LF, Rabinovitch PS (2011b) Mitochondrial oxidative stress mediates angiotensin II-induced cardiac hypertrophy and Galphaq overexpression-induced heart failure. Circ Res 108:837–846
- de Brito OM, Scorrano L (2008) Mitofusin 2 tethers endoplasmic reticulum to mitochondria. Nature 456:605–610
- Dixon SJ, Stockwell BR (2013) The role of iron and reactive oxygen species in cell death. Nat Chem Biol 10:9–17
- Eaton JW, Qian M (2002) Molecular bases of cellular iron toxicity. Free Radic Biol Med 32: 833–840
- Edelmann F, Gelbrich G, Düngen H-D, Fröhling S, Wachter R, Stahrenberg R, Binder L, Töpper A, Lashki DJ, Schwarz S, Herrmann-Lingen C, Löffler M, Hasenfuss G, Halle M, Pieske B (2011) Exercise training improves exercise capacity and diastolic function in patients with heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: results of the ex-DHF (exercise training in diastolic heart failure) pilot study. J Am Coll Cardiol 58:1780–1791
- Eirin A, Lerman A, Lerman LO (2014a) Mitochondrial injury and dysfunction in hypertensioninduced cardiac damage. Eur Heart J 35:3258–3266
- Eirin A, Williams BJ, Ebrahimi B, Zhang X, Crane JA, Lerman A, Textor SC, Lerman LO (2014b) Mitochondrial targeted peptides attenuate residual myocardial damage after reversal of experimental renovascular hypertension. J Hypertens 32:154–165
- Erickson JR, Joiner M-IA, Guan X, Kutschke W, Yang J, Oddis CV, Bartlett RK, Lowe JS, O'Donnell SE, Aykin-Burns N, Zimmerman MC, Zimmerman K, Ham A-JL, Weiss RM, Spitz DR, Shea MA, Colbran RJ, Mohler PJ, Anderson ME (2008) A dynamic pathway for calcium-independent activation of CaMKII by methionine oxidation. Cell 133:462–474
- Erikssen G, Liestøl K, Bjørnholt J, Thaulow E, Sandvik L, Erikssen J (1998) Changes in physical fitness and changes in mortality. Lancet 352:759–762
- Ezekowitz JA (2014) Time to energize coenzyme Q10 for patients with heart failure? JACC Heart Fail 2:650–652
- Flynn KE, Piña IL, Whellan DJ et al (2009) Effects of exercise training on health status in patients with chronic heart failure: Hf-action randomized controlled trial. JAMA 301:1451–1459
- Folkers K, Wolaniuk J, Simonsen R, Morishita M, Vadhanavikit S (1985) Biochemical rationale and the cardiac response of patients with muscle disease to therapy with coenzyme Q10. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 82:4513–4516
- Forsmark-Andrée P, Lee CP, Dallner G, Ernster L (1997) Lipid peroxidation and changes in the ubiquinone content and the respiratory chain enzymes of submitochondrial particles. Free Radic Biol Med 22:391–400
- Fotino AD, Thompson-Paul AM, Bazzano LA (2013) Effect of coenzyme Q(1)(0) supplementation on heart failure: a meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 97:268–275
- Fukuta H, Goto T, Wakami K, Ohte N (2014) Effects of drug and exercise intervention on functional capacity and quality of life in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Prev Cardiol 23:78–85

- Gane EJ, Weilert F, Orr DW, Keogh GF, Gibson M, Lockhart MM, Frampton CM, Taylor KM, Smith RAJ, Murphy MP (2010) The mitochondria-targeted anti-oxidant mitoquinone decreases liver damage in a phase II study of hepatitis C patients. Liver Int 30:1019–1026
- Gao X, Qian M, Campian JL, Marshall J, Zhou Z, Roberts AM, Kang YJ, Prabhu SD, Sun XF, Eaton JW (2010) Mitochondrial dysfunction may explain the cardiomyopathy of chronic iron overload. Free Radic Biol Med 49:401–407
- Garnier A, Fortin D, Delomenie C, Momken I, Veksler V, Ventura-Clapier R (2003) Depressed mitochondrial transcription factors and oxidative capacity in rat failing cardiac and skeletal muscles. J Physiol 551:491–501
- Gheorghiade M, Larson CJ, Shah SJ, Greene SJ, Cleland JGF, Colucci WS, Dunnmon P, Epstein SE, Kim RJ, Parsey RV, Stockbridge N, Carr J, Dinh W, Krahn T, Kramer F, Wahlander K, Deckelbaum LI, Crandall D, Okada S, Senni M, Sikora S, Sabbah HN, Butler J (2016) Developing new treatments for heart failure: focus on the heart. Circ Heart Fail 9:e002727
- Gibson CM, Giugliano RP, Kloner RA, Bode C, Tendera M, Janosi A, Merkely B, Godlewski J, Halaby R, Korjian S, Daaboul Y, Chakrabarti AK, Spielman K, Neal BJ, Weaver WD (2015) EMBRACE STEMI study: a phase 2a trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of intravenous MTP-131 on reperfusion injury in patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J 37:1296–1303
- Goh KY, Qu J, Hong H, Liu T, Dell'Italia LJ, Wu Y, O'Rourke B, Zhou L (2016) Impaired mitochondrial network excitability in failing guinea-pig cardiomyocytes. Cardiovasc Res 109: 79–89
- Gorski PA, Ceholski DK, Hajjar RJ (2015) Altered myocardial calcium cycling and energetics in heart failure a rational approach for disease treatment. Cell Metab 21:183–194
- Graham D, Huynh NN, Hamilton CA, Beattie E, Smith RAJ, Cochemé HM, Murphy MP, Dominiczak AF (2009) Mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ10 improves endothelial function and attenuates cardiac hypertrophy. Hypertension 54:322–328
- Gu J, Wu M, Guo R, Yan K, Lei J, Gao N, Yang M (2016) The architecture of the mammalian respirasome. Curr Probl Cardiol 537:639–643
- Haddad S, Wang Y, Galy B, Korf-Klingebiel M, Hirsch V, Baru AM, Rostami F, Reboll MR, Heineke J, Flögel U, Groos S, Renner A, Toischer K, Zimmermann F, Engeli S, Jordan J, Bauersachs J, Hentze MW, Wollert KC, Kempf T (2016) Iron-regulatory proteins secure iron availability in cardiomyocytes to prevent heart failure. Eur Heart J. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehw333
- Halestrap A (2005) Biochemistry: a pore way to die. Nature 434:578-579
- Handschin C, Spiegelman BM (2008) The role of exercise and PGC1alpha in inflammation and chronic disease. Nature 454:463–469
- Hebert SL, Lanza IR, Nair KS (2010) Mitochondrial DNA alterations and reduced mitochondrial function in aging. Mech Ageing Dev 131:451–462
- Hentze MW, Muckenthaler MU, Galy B, Camaschella C (2010) Two to tango: regulation of mammalian iron metabolism. Cell 142:24–38
- Holzem KM, Vinnakota KC, Ravikumar VK, Madden EJ, Ewald GA, Dikranian K, Beard DA, Efimov IR (2016) Mitochondrial structure and function are not different between nonfailing donor and end-stage failing human hearts. FASEB J 30:2698–2707
- Ichikawa Y, Ghanefar M, Bayeva M, Wu R, Khechaduri A, Naga Prasad SV, Mutharasan RK, Naik TJ, Ardehali H (2014) Cardiotoxicity of doxorubicin is mediated through mitochondrial iron accumulation. J Clin Invest 124:617–630
- Ide T, Tsutsui H, Kinugawa S, Suematsu N, Hayashidani S, Ichikawa K, Utsumi H, Machida Y, Egashira K, Takeshita A (2000) Direct evidence for increased hydroxyl radicals originating from superoxide in the failing myocardium. Circ Res 86:152–157
- Ide T, Tsutsui H, Hayashidani S, Kang D, Suematsu N, Nakamura K-i, Utsumi H, Hamasaki N, Takeshita A (2001) Mitochondrial DNA damage and dysfunction associated with oxidative stress in failing hearts after myocardial infarction. Circ Res 88:529–535

- James AM, Sharpley MS, Manas A-RB, Frerman FE, Hirst J, Smith RAJ, Murphy MP (2007) Interaction of the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ with phospholipid bilayers and ubiquinone oxidoreductases. J Biol Chem 282:14708–14718
- Jankowska EA, Rozentryt P, Witkowska A, Nowak J, Hartmann O, Ponikowska B, Borodulin-Nadzieja L, Banasiak W, Polonski L, Filippatos G, McMurray JJV, Anker SD, Ponikowski P (2010) Iron deficiency: an ominous sign in patients with systolic chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 31:1872–1880
- Jankowska EA, Tkaczyszyn M, Suchocki T, Drozd M, von Haehling S, Doehner W, Banasiak W, Filippatos G, Anker SD, Ponikowski P (2016) Effects of intravenous iron therapy in irondeficient patients with systolic heart failure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Heart Fail 18:786–795
- Jones DP, Sies H (2015) The redox code. Antioxid Redox Signal 23:734-746
- Kaeffer N, Richard V, Thuillez C (1997) Delayed coronary endothelial protection 24 hours after preconditioning: role of free radicals. Circulation 96:2311–2316
- Kelso GF, Porteous CM, Coulter CV, Hughes G, Porteous WK, Ledgerwood EC, Smith RA, Murphy MP (2001) Selective targeting of a redox-active ubiquinone to mitochondria within cells: antioxidant and antiapoptotic properties. J Biol Chem 276:4588–4596
- Khechaduri A, Bayeva M, Chang H-C, Ardehali H (2013) Heme levels are increased in human failing hearts. J Am Coll Cardiol 61:1884–1893
- Kjekshus J, Apetrei E, Barrios V, Böhm M, Cleland JGF, Cornel JH, Dunselman P, Fonseca C, Goudev A, Grande P, Gullestad L, Hjalmarson Å, Hradec J, Jánosi A, Kamenský G, Komajda M, Korewicki J, Kuusi T, Mach F, Mareev V, McMurray JJV, Ranjith N, Schaufelberger M, Vanhaecke J, van Veldhuisen DJ, Waagstein F, Wedel H, Wikstrand J (2007) Rosuvastatin in older patients with systolic heart failure. N Engl J Med 357:2248–2261
- Klingenberg M (2010) Wanderings in bioenergetics and biomembranes. Biochim Biophys Acta 1797:5–6
- Kohlhaas M, Maack C (2011) Interplay of defective excitation-contraction coupling, energy starvation, and oxidative stress in heart failure. Trends Cardiovasc Med 21:69–73
- Kohlhaas M, Maack C (2013) Calcium release microdomains and mitochondria. Cardiovasc Res 98:259–268
- Kohlhaas M, Liu T, Knopp A, Zeller T, Ong MF, Böhm M, O'Rourke B, Maack C (2010) Elevated cytosolic Na+ increases mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species in failing cardiac myocytes. Circulation 121:1606–1613
- Kremastinos DT, Farmakis D, Aessopos A, Hahalis G, Hamodraka E, Tsiapras D, Keren A (2010) β-thalassemia cardiomyopathy. History, present considerations, and future perspectives. Circ Heart Fail 3:451–458
- Lane N, Martin W (2010) The energetics of genome complexity. Nature 467:929-934
- Lesnefsky EJ, Hoppel CL (2008) Cardiolipin as an oxidative target in cardiac mitochondria in the aged rat. Biomed Biochim Acta Bioenerg 1777:1020–1027
- Leszek P, Sochanowicz B, Szperl M, Kolsut P, Brzóska K, Piotrowski W, Rywik TM, Danko B, Polkowska-Motrenko H, Różański JM, Kruszewski M (2012) Myocardial iron homeostasis in advanced chronic heart failure patients. Int J Cardiol 159:47–52
- Leszek P, Sochanowicz B, Brzóska K, Danko B, Kraj L, Kuśmierczyk M, Piotrowski W, Sobieszczańska-Małek M, Rywik TM, Polkowska-Motrenko H, Kruszewski M (2015) Does myocardial iron load determine the severity of heart insufficiency? Int J Cardiol 182:191–193

Lill R (2009) Function and biogenesis of iron-sulphur proteins. Curr Probl Cardiol 460:831-838

- Liochev SI (2013) Reactive oxygen species and the free radical theory of aging. Free Radic Biol Med 60:1–4
- Liu T, O'Rourke B (2008) Enhancing mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake in myocytes from failing hearts restores energy supply and demand matching. Circ Res 103:279–288
- Lygate CA, Aksentijevic D, Dawson D, Ten Hove M, Phillips D, de Bono JP, Medway DJ, Sebag-Montefiore LM, Hunyor I, Channon K, Clarke K, Zervou S, Watkins H, Balaban R, Neubauer S (2013) Living without creatine: unchanged exercise capacity and response to chronic myocardial infarction in creatine-deficient mice. Circ Res 112:945–955
- Lyseng-Williamson KA, Keating GM (2009) Ferric carboxymaltose. Drugs 69:739-756
Maack C (2016) Orphaned mitochondria in heart failure. Cardiovasc Res 109:6-8

- Maack C, Cortassa S, Aon MA, Ganesan AN, Liu T, O'Rourke B (2006) Elevated cytosolic Na+ decreases mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake during excitation-contraction coupling and impairs energetic adaptation in cardiac myocytes. Circ Res 99:172–182
- Maack C, O'Rourke B, O'Rourke B (2007) Excitation-contraction coupling and mitochondrial energetics. Basic Res Cardiol 102:369–392
- Maack C, Dabew ER, Hohl M, Schafers HJ, Bohm M (2009) Endogenous activation of mitochondrial KATP channels protects human failing myocardium from hydroxyl radical-induced stunning. Circ Res 105:811–817
- Maack C, Kartes T, Kilter H, Schäfers H-J, Nickenig G, Böhm M, Laufs U (2003) Oxygen free radical release in human failing myocardium is associated with increased activity of rac1-GTPase and represents a target for statin treatment. Circulation 108:1567–1574
- Maeder MT, Khammy O, dos Remedios C, Kaye DM (2011) Myocardial and systemic iron depletion in heart failure: implications for anemia accompanying heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 58:474–480
- Marín-García J (2012) Mitochondria and their role in cardiovascular disease. Springer, Boston
- Marín-García J, Goldenthal MJ, Moe GW (2001) Abnormal cardiac and skeletal muscle mitochondrial function in pacing-induced cardiac failure. Cardiovasc Res 52:103–110
- McKnight SL (2010) On getting there from here. Science 330:1338-1339
- McMurray JJV, Dunselman P, Wedel H, Cleland JGF, Lindberg M, Hjalmarson A, Kjekshus J, Waagstein F, Apetrei E, Barrios V, Böhm M, Kamenský G, Komajda M, Mareev V, Wikstrand J, Group CS (2010) Coenzyme Q10, rosuvastatin, and clinical outcomes in heart failure: a pre-specified substudy of CORONA (controlled rosuvastatin multinational study in heart failure). J Am Coll Cardiol 56:1196–1204
- Melenovsky V, Petrak J, Mracek T, Benes J, Borlaug BA, Nuskova H, Pluhacek T, Spatenka J, Kovalcikova J, Drahota Z, Kautzner J, Pirk J, Houstek J (2016) Myocardial iron content and mitochondrial function in human heart failure: a direct tissue analysis. Eur J Heart Fail. doi:10.1002/ejhf.640
- Michels G, Khan IF, Endres-Becker J, Rottlaender D, Herzig S, Ruhparwar A, Wahlers T, Hoppe UC (2009) Regulation of the human cardiac mitochondrial Ca2+ uptake by 2 different voltagegated Ca2+ channels. Circulation 119:2435–2443
- Mitchell P, Moyle J (1967) Chemiosmotic hypothesis of oxidative phosphorylation. Curr Probl Cardiol 213:137–139
- Molyneux SL, Florkowski CM, George PM, Pilbrow AP, Frampton CM, Lever M, Richards AM (2008) Coenzyme Q10. J Am Coll Cardiol 52:1435–1441
- Montini G, Malaventura C, Salviati L (2008) Early coenzyme Q10 supplementation in primary coenzyme Q10 deficiency. N Engl J Med 358:2849–2850
- Mortensen SA (2015) Coenzyme Q10: will this natural substance become a guideline-directed adjunctive therapy in heart failure? JACC Heart Fail 3:270–271
- Mortensen SA, Vadhanavikit S, Muratsu K, Folkers K (1990) Coenzyme Q10: clinical benefits with biochemical correlates suggesting a scientific breakthrough in the management of chronic heart failure. Free Radic Biol Med 12:155–162
- Mortensen SA, Rosenfeldt F, Kumar A, Dolliner P, Filipiak KJ, Pella D, Alehagen U, Steurer G, Littarru GP (2014) The effect of coenzyme Q10 on Morbidity and mortality in chronic heart failure: results from Q-SYMBIO: a randomized double-blind trial. JACC Heart Fail 2:641–649
- Mugoni V, Postel R, Catanzaro V, De Luca E, Turco E, Digilio G, Silengo L, Murphy Michael P, Medana C, Stainier Didier YR, Bakkers J, Santoro MM (2013) Ubiad1 is an antioxidant enzyme that regulates eNOS activity by CoQ10 synthesis. Cell 152:504–518
- Münzel T, Gori T, Keaney JF Jr, Maack C, Daiber A (2015) Pathophysiological role of oxidative stress in systolic and diastolic heart failure and its therapeutic implications. Eur Heart J 36:2555–2564
- Murphy MP (2009) How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. Biochem J 417:1-13
- Murphy MP (2016) Understanding and preventing mitochondrial oxidative damage. Biochem Soc Trans 44:1219–1226

Neubauer S (2007) The failing heart - an engine out of fuel. N Engl J Med 356:1140-1151

- Neubauer S, Horn M, Cramer M, Harre K, Newell JB, Peters W, Pabst T, Ertl G, Hahn D, Ingwall JS, Kochsiek K (1997) Myocardial phosphocreatine-to-ATP ratio is a predictor of mortality in patients with dilated cardiomyopathy. Circulation 96:2190–2196
- Nickel A, Löffler J, Maack C (2013) Myocardial energetics in heart failure. Basic Res Cardiol 108: 358
- Nickel A, Kohlhaas M, Maack C (2014) Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species production and elimination. J Mol Cell Cardiol 73C:26–33
- Nickel AG, von Hardenberg A, Hohl M, Löffler JR, Kohlhaas M, Becker J, Reil J-C, Kazakov A, Bonnekoh J, Stadelmaier M, Puhl S-L, Wagner M, Bogeski I, Cortassa S, Kappl R, Pasieka B, Lafontaine M, Lancaster CRD, Blacker TS, Hall AR, Duchen MR, Kästner L, Lipp P, Zeller T, Müller C, Knopp A, Laufs U, Böhm M, Hoth M, Maack C (2015) Reversal of mitochondrial transhydrogenase causes oxidative stress in heart failure. Cell Metab 22:472–484
- Nolte K, Herrmann-Lingen C, Wachter R (2015) Effects of exercise training on different quality of life dimensions in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: the Ex-DHF-P trial. Eur J Prev Cardiol 22:582–593
- O'Connor CM, Whellan DJ, Lee KL et al (2009) Efficacy and safety of exercise training in patients with chronic heart failure: Hf-action randomized controlled trial. JAMA 301:1439–1450
- Paradies G, Petrosillo G, Paradies V, Ruggiero FM (2010) Oxidative stress, mitochondrial bioenergetics, and cardiolipin in aging. Free Radic Biol Med 48:1286–1295
- Patten RD, Hall-Porter MR (2009) Small animal models of heart failure: development of novel therapies, past and present. Circ Heart Fail 2:138–144
- Payne RM (2011) The heart in Friedreich's ataxia: basic findings and clinical implications. Prog Pediatr Cardiol 31:103–109
- Picard M, Wallace DC, Burelle Y (2016) The rise of mitochondria in medicine. Mitochondrion 30: 105–116
- Ponikowski P, van Veldhuisen DJ, Comin Colet J, Ertl G, Komajda M, Mareev V, McDonagh T, Parkhomenko A, Tavazzi L, Levesque V, Mori C, Roubert B, Filippatos G, Ruschitzka F, Anker SD (2015) Beneficial effects of long-term intravenous iron therapy with ferric carboxymaltose in patients with symptomatic heart failure and iron deficiency. Eur Heart J 36:657–668
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Falk V, González-Juanatey JR, Harjola V-P, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GMC, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P, Filippatos G, McMurray JJV, Aboyans V, Achenbach S, Agewall S, Al-Attar N, Atherton JJ, Bauersachs J, John Camm A, Carerj S, Ceconi C, Coca A, Elliott P, Erol Ç, Ezekowitz J, Fernández-Golfín C, Fitzsimons D, Guazzi M, Guenoun M, Hasenfuss G, Hindricks G, Hoes AW, Iung B, Jaarsma T, Kirchhof P, Knuuti J, Kolh P, Konstantinides S, Lainscak M, Lancellotti P, Lip GYH, Maisano F, Mueller C, Petrie MC, Piepoli MF, Priori SG, Torbicki A, Tsutsui H, van Veldhuisen DJ, Windecker S, Yancy C, Zamorano JL, Zamorano JL, Aboyans V, Achenbach S, Agewall S, Badimon L, Barón-Esquivias G, Baumgartner H, Bax JJ, Bueno H, Carerj S, Dean V, Erol Ç, Fitzsimons D, Gaemperli O, Kirchhof P, Kolh P, Lancellotti P, Lip GYH, Nihoyannopoulos P, Piepoli MF, Ponikowski P, Roffi M, Torbicki A, Vaz Carneiro A, Windecker S, Sisakian HS, Isayev E, Kurlianskaya A, Mullens W, Tokmakova M, Agathangelou P, Melenovsky V, Wiggers H, Hassanein M, Uuetoa T, Lommi J, Kostovska ES, Juillière Y, Aladashvili A, Luchner A, Chrysohoou C, Nyolczas N, Thorgeirsson G, Marc Weinstein J, Di Lenarda A, Aidargaliyeva N, Bajraktari G, Beishenkulov M, Kamzola G, Abdel-Massih T, Čelutkienė J, Noppe S, Cassar A, Vataman E, Abir-Khalil S, van Pol P, Mo R, Straburzyńska-Migaj E, Fonseca C, Chioncel O, Shlyakhto E, Otasevic P, Goncalvesová E, Lainscak M, Díaz Molina B, Schaufelberger M, Suter T, Yılmaz MB, Voronkov L, Davies C (2016) 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 37:2129–2200
- Redfearn ER, Burgos J (1966) Ubiquinone (coenzyme Q) and the respiratory chain. Nature 209: 711–713

- Ristow M (2014) Unraveling the truth about antioxidants: mitohormesis explains ROS-induced health benefits. Nat Med 20:709–711
- Ristow M, Zarse K, Oberbach A, Klöting N, Birringer M, Kiehntopf M, Stumvoll M, Kahn CR, Blüher M (2009) Antioxidants prevent health-promoting effects of physical exercise in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci 106:8665–8670
- Rodriguez-Cuenca S, Cocheme HM, Logan A (2010) Consequences of long-term oral administration of the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ to wild-type mice. Free Radic Biol Med 48: 161–172
- Rötig A, Appelkvist E-L, Geromel V, Chretien D, Kadhom N, Edery P, Lebideau M, Dallner G, Munnich A, Ernster L, Rustin P (2000) Quinone-responsive multiple respiratory-chain dysfunction due to widespread coenzyme Q10 deficiency. Lancet 356:391–395
- Sabbah HN, Gupta RC, Kohli S, Wang M, Hachem S, Zhang K (2016) Chronic therapy with elamipretide (MTP-131), a novel mitochondria-targeting peptide, improves left ventricular and mitochondrial function in dogs with advanced heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 9:e002206
- Safdar A, Little JP, Stokl AJ, Hettinga BP, Akhtar M, Tarnopolsky MA (2011) Exercise increases mitochondrial PGC-1alpha content and promotes nuclear-mitochondrial cross-talk to coordinate mitochondrial biogenesis. J Biol Chem 286:10605–10617
- Scarpulla RC (2008) Transcriptional paradigms in mammalian mitochondrial biogenesis and function. Physiol Rev 88:611-638
- Schwarz K, Siddiqi N, Singh S, Neil CJ, Dawson DK, Frenneaux MP (2014) The breathing heart mitochondrial respiratory chain dysfunction in cardiac disease. Int J Cardiol 171:134–143
- Sebastiani M, Giordano C, Nediani C, Travaglini C, Borchi E, Zani M, Feccia M, Mancini M, Petrozza V, Cossarizza A, Gallo P, Taylor RW, d'Amati G (2007) Induction of mitochondrial biogenesis is a maladaptive mechanism in mitochondrial cardiomyopathies. J Am Coll Cardiol 50:1362–1369
- Sharma A, Fonarow GC, Butler J, Ezekowitz JA, Felker GM (2016) Coenzyme Q10 and heart failure: a state-of-the-art review. Circ Heart Fail 9:e002639
- Sharov VG, Todor AV, Silverman N, Goldstein S, Sabbah HN (2000) Abnormal mitochondrial respiration in failed human myocardium. J Mol Cell Cardiol 32:2361–2367
- Smith RA, Hartley RC, Cocheme HM, Murphy MP (2012) Mitochondrial pharmacology. Trends Pharmacol Sci 33:341–352
- Sobel BE, Spann JF, Pool PE, Sonnenblick EH, Braunwald E (1967) Normal oxidative phosphorylation in mitochondria from the failing heart. Circ Res 21:355–364
- Starling RC, Starling RC, Hammer DF, Hammer DF, Altschuld RA, Altschuld RA (1998) Human myocardial ATP content and in vivo contractile function. Mol Cell Biochem 180:171–177
- St-Pierre J, Drori S, Uldry M, Silvaggi JM, Rhee J, Jäger S, Handschin C, Zheng K, Lin J, Yang W, Simon DK, Bachoo R, Spiegelman BM (2006) Suppression of reactive oxygen species and neurodegeneration by the PGC-1 transcriptional coactivators. Cell 127:397–408
- Stugiewicz M, Tkaczyszyn M, Kasztura M, Banasiak W, Ponikowski P, Jankowska EA (2016) The influence of iron deficiency on the functioning of skeletal muscles: experimental evidence and clinical implications. Eur J Heart Fail 18:762–773
- Supinski GS, Murphy MP, Callahan LA (2009) MitoQ administration prevents endotoxin-induced cardiac dysfunction. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 297:R1095–R1102
- Szeto HH (2008) Mitochondria-targeted cytoprotective peptides for ischemia-reperfusion injury. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:601–620
- Szeto HH (2014) First-in-class cardiolipin-protective compound as a therapeutic agent to restore mitochondrial bioenergetics. Br J Pharmacol 171:2029–2050
- Szeto HH, Schiller PW (2011) Novel therapies targeting inner mitochondrial membrane from discovery to clinical development. Pharm Res 28:2669–2679
- Szeto HH, Lovelace JL, Fridland G, Soong Y (2001) In vivo pharmacokinetics of selective μ-opioid peptide agonists. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 298:57–61

- Taegtmeyer H (2007) Fueling the heart: multiple roles for cardiac metabolism. Springer, London, pp 1157–1175
- Tanner MA, Galanello R, Dessi C, Smith GC, Westwood MA, Agus A, Roughton M, Assomull R, Nair SV, Walker JM, Pennell DJ (2007) A randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial of the effect of combined therapy with deferoxamine and deferiprone on myocardial iron in thalassemia major using cardiovascular magnetic resonance. Circulation 115:1876–1884
- Ulbrich AZ, Angarten VG, Netto AS, Sties SW (2016) Comparative effects of high intensity interval training versus moderate intensity continuous training on quality of life in patients with heart failure: study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Clin Trials Regul Sci Cardiol 13: 21–28
- Vanden Hoek TL, Becker LB, Shao Z, Li C, Schumacker PT (1998) Reactive oxygen species released from mitochondria during brief hypoxia induce preconditioning in cardiomyocytes. J Biol Chem 273:18092–18098
- Ventura-Clapier R, Garnier A, Veksler V (2008) Transcriptional control of mitochondrial biogenesis: the central role of PGC-1α. Cardiovasc Res 79(2):208–217
- Vergeade A, Mulder P, Vendeville-Dehaudt C, Estour F, Fortin D, Ventura-Clapier R, Thuillez C, Monteil C (2010) Mitochondrial impairment contributes to cocaine-induced cardiac dysfunction: prevention by the targeted antioxidant MitoQ. Free Radic Biol Med 49:748–756
- Viatchenko-Karpinski S, Kornyeyev D, El-Bizri N, Budas G, Fan P, Jiang Z, Yang J, Anderson ME, Shryock JC, Chang C-P, Belardinelli L, Yao L (2014) Intracellular Na+ overload causes oxidation of CaMKII and leads to Ca2+ mishandling in isolated ventricular myocytes. J Mol Cell Cardiol 76:247–256
- von Haehling S, Jankowska EA, van Veldhuisen DJ, Ponikowski P, Anker SD (2015) Iron deficiency and cardiovascular disease. Nat Rev Cardiol 12:659–669
- Wagner S, Rokita AG, Anderson ME, Maier LS (2013) Redox regulation of sodium and calcium handling. Antioxid Redox Signal 18:1063–1077
- Wallace DC, Fan W, Procaccio V (2010) Mitochondrial energetics and therapeutics. Annu Rev Pathol 5:297–348
- Whitnall M, Suryo Rahmanto Y, Sutak R, Xu X, Becker EM, Mikhael MR, Ponka P, Richardson DR (2008) The MCK mouse heart model of Friedreich's ataxia: alterations in iron-regulated proteins and cardiac hypertrophy are limited by iron chelation. Proc Natl Acad Sci 105: 9757–9762
- Xu KY, Zweier JL, Becker LC (1997) Hydroxyl radical inhibits sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca2 +-ATPase function by direct attack on the ATP binding site. Circ Res 80:76–81
- Ying W (2008) NAD +/NADH and NADP +/NADPH in Cellular Functions and Cell Death: Regulation and Biological Consequences. Antioxid Redox Signal 10:179–206
- Yusuf S, Dagenais G, Pogue J, Bosch J, Sleight P (2000) Vitamin E supplementation and cardiovascular events in high-risk patients. The Heart Outcomes Prevention Evaluation Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 342:154–160
- Zhang M, Zhang M, Brewer AC, Brewer AC, Schroder K, Schröder K, Santos CXC, Santos CXC, Grieve DJ, Grieve DJ, Wang M, Wang M, Anilkumar N, Anilkumar N, Yu B, Yu B, Dong X, Dong X, Walker SJ, Walker SJ, Brandes RP, Brandes RP, Shah AM, Shah AM (2010) NADPH oxidase-4 mediates protection against chronic load-induced stress in mouse hearts by enhancing angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci 107:18121–18126
- Zhao K, Zhao G-M, Wu D, Soong Y, Birk AV, Schiller PW, Szeto HH (2004) Cell-permeable peptide antioxidants targeted to inner mitochondrial membrane inhibit mitochondrial swelling, oxidative cell death, and reperfusion injury. J Biol Chem 279:34682–34690
- Zick M, Rabl R, Reichert AS (2009) Cristae formation-linking ultrastructure and function of mitochondria. Biochim Biophys Acta 1793:5–19
- Zorov DB, Juhaszova M, Sollott SJ (2006) Mitochondrial ROS-induced ROS release: an update and review. Biochim Biophys Acta 1757:509–517
- Zweier JL, Talukder MA (2006) The role of oxidants and free radicals in reperfusion injury. Cardiovasc Res 70:181–190

Anticoagulation Therapy and NOACs in Heart Failure

Isac Thomas, Jorge EncisoSilva, Michelle Schlueter, and Barry Greenberg

Contents

Introduction	516
Thrombosis and Embolism in HF	517
Prior Clinical Trials of Conventional Antithrombotic Therapy in HF	519
NOACs for AF	520
NOACs for VTE	524
Impact of Heart Failure in NOAC Trials in AF	525
NOACs for HF with Sinus Rhythm: Potential for Benefit?	529
Conclusion	530
ferences	531
	Introduction Thrombosis and Embolism in HF Prior Clinical Trials of Conventional Antithrombotic Therapy in HF NOACs for AF NOACs for VTE Impact of Heart Failure in NOAC Trials in AF NOACs for HF with Sinus Rhythm: Potential for Benefit? Conclusion ferences

Abstract

Current evidence indicates that heart failure (HF) confers a hyper-coagulable state that is associated with adverse events including stroke, systemic embolism, and mortality. This may be due to the elevated levels of pro-thrombotic and pro-inflammatory cytokines that are seen in patients with acute and chronic HF. Left ventricular wall motion abnormalities in patients with systolic dysfunction predispose to local thrombosis due to blood stasis as does atrial fibrillation (AF) which leads to blood stasis in regions of the atria. The high risk of thromboemboli in HF patients with AF has resulted in the use anticoagulation therapy to prevent the occurrence of catastrophic events. There is evidence, however, that the pro-inflammatory, pro-thrombotic state that exists in HF puts patients who are in sinus rhythm at risk. The novel oral anticoagulants (NOACs)

The authors "Isac Thomas" and "Jorge EncisoSilva" equally contributed to this work.

I. Thomas • J. EncisoSilva • M. Schlueter • B. Greenberg (🖂)

Cardiology Division, Department of Medicine, University of California, San Diego, 9444 Medical Center Drive, La Jolla, CA 92034-7411, USA

e-mail: bgreenberg@ucsd.edu

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2016_126

have been shown in RCT to have at least equivalent efficacy in reducing stroke as warfarin while exposing patients to a lower risk of bleeding. The fact that the NOACs don't require routine monitoring to assure that patients remain within the therapeutic range and have relatively simple dosing requirements and a safer risk profile makes them attractive substitutes to warfarin in HF patients with atrial fibrillation and other conditions (e.g. deep venous thrombosis). Post hoc analyses from a subset of HF patients from the RCTs in AF patients have demonstrated similar findings as were reported in the entire populations that were included in the trials. As a result, NOACS are commonly used now in HF patients with AF. For HF patients with reduced ejection fraction in sinus rhythm, the use of warfarin in randomized clinical trials (RCT) to reduce stroke has been disappointing and associated with increase bleeding risk when compared to aspirin. The advantages of the NOACs over warfarin, however, raise the question of whether they might improve outcomes in HF patients who are in sinus rhythm. The currently ongoing COMMANDER-HF trial has been designed to address this issue. In this chapter we review evidence of existence of a prothombotic state in HF, the pharmacodynamics and clinical trials of the NOACs and the outcomes from NOAC substudies in the HF subgroup. We also discuss the rationale for using anticoagulation in HF independent of arrhythmia burden.

Keywords

Atrial fibrillation • Bleeding • Heart failure • Novel oral anticoagulant • Randomized clinical trials • Stroke • Thrombosis

1 Introduction

Heart failure (HF) is an important and growing cause of morbidity and mortality in both the United States and around the world. The overall costs of caring for HF patients are enormous, related in large part to the frequency of hospitalization in this population (Rosamond et al. 2007). Although currently recommended therapies have improved outcomes, there is a pressing need for novel treatment strategies. As the worldwide prevalence of HF increases, this need will become even more apparent (De Lorenzo et al. 2003). There is evidence suggesting that HF confers a hypercoagulable state (De Lorenzo et al. 2003; Lip and Gibbs 1999) and many HF complications may be the result of a pro-thrombotic state. Thus, antithrombotic therapies may be of potential benefit in the HF population.

In considering the use of antithrombotic therapy in HF patients, the potential benefits must be weighed against associated bleeding risks. In the past, such discussions focused on the relative risk benefit ratio of warfarin and anti-platelet agents. With the advent of novel oral anticoagulants (NOACs) – among them direct thrombin and factor Xa inhibitors (Fig. 1) – several agents are now available that have demonstrated equivalent, and, in some cases, superior stroke and bleeding outcomes when compared to warfarin in treating patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation (AF) (Connolly and Ezekowitz 2009; Patel et al. 2011; Granger et al. 2011; Giugliano et al. 2013). In patients with venous thromboembolism (VTE),



Fig. 1 Simplified coagulation cascade with site of novel oral anticoagulant activity

NOACs have been shown to have equivalent efficacy and lower risks of bleeding compared to warfarin (Schulman et al. 2014; Agnelli et al. 2013; Hokusai et al. 2013; Prins et al. 2013). An appealing aspect of NOACs is that they do not require frequent laboratory monitoring and dose adjustment as is common with the use of warfarin.

Information about the impact of thrombosis on HF outcomes (Zannad et al. 2013) and evidence of the safety and efficacy of NOACs has resulted in renewed interest in utilizing antithrombotic therapies in the HF population. In fact, NOACs are already frequently utilized in HF patients owing to the high prevalence of AF and VTE (Beemath et al. 2006; De Ferrari et al. 2007). The focus of this chapter is to review the rationale for NOACs in HF patients, their current use in this population, and potential new directions for antithrombotic therapy.

2 Thrombosis and Embolism in HF

Several lines of evidence link HF with a hypercoaguable state (Zannad et al. 2013). High levels of circulating markers of fibrin generation, fibrinolysis, and platelet activation have been described in HF patients (Yamamoto et al. 1995; O'Connor et al. 1999; Jafri et al. 1993).

HF has been associated with increases in pro-inflammatory cytokines that may contribute to a prothrombotic mileu (Levine et al. 1990; Marcucci et al. 2006;

Rauchhaus et al. 2000). Markers of endothelial dysfunction (von Willebrand factor and thrombomodulin) and activation (e-selectin) are elevated in HF, and these may predispose to leukocyte adhesion, inflammation, and thrombosis (Chong et al. 2006).

Stagnation of blood flow in dyskinetic regions of the heart accentuated by abnormalities of the endocardial surface may also predispose to local thrombosis (Fukuchi et al. 2001; Schoner et al. 2015). For instance, patients with HF with reduced ejection fraction are at risk for the development of left ventricular thrombi owing to stasis of blood in hypokinetic or akinetic regions of the left ventricle (LV). When these LV thrombi break loose into the systemic circulation, they can have catastrophic results. For this reason, systemic anticoagulation is recommended for patients with LV thrombus, and is often prescribed to those at high risk of developing LV thrombi, such as following anterior MI with apical akinesis or dyskinesis (Vandvik et al. 2012; O'Gara et al. 2013).

HF patients are known to be at increased risk for additional forms of thrombosis and embolism including atrial thrombosis and embolic stroke in the setting of atrial fibrillation, deep venous thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolus (PE), and ischemic stroke, all of which contribute to poor outcomes. In addition, coronary thrombosis can result in the onset and progression of HF. Although relatively low rates (2-4%) of fatal and nonfatal myocardial infarction (MI) are reported in clinical trials of HF, the true rate of MI is likely underestimated (Zannad et al. 2013). In patients with sudden cardiac death, acute coronary events, including acute coronary syndrome (ACS) and coronary embolism, are frequent but often go unrecognized (Uretsky et al. 2000). Furthermore, troponin (Tn) elevations in the blood occur in HF patients and they have been associated with poor outcomes (Horwich et al. 2003; Peacock et al. 2008). Although increases in levels of this biomarker of myocardial injury could be due to a variety of causes (e.g. myocardial oxygen supply-demand mismatch, effects of inflammatory mediators, reactive oxygen species) coronary micro-thrombosis is also a potential contributor to Tn release.

Atrial fibrillation is highly prevalent in patients with HF, and may be more common in those patients with preserved rather than reduced ejection fraction (Lubitz et al. 2010). The diagnosis of AF confers a substantial impact on morbidity and mortality in HF patients secondary to a variety of clinical sequelae, including systemic thromboembolism (Benjamin et al. 1998; Chugh et al. 2001). The presence of AF has traditionally been linked to stroke through the stasis of blood leading to thrombus formation in a dilated left atrium and hypocontractile left atrial appendage, with additional evidence suggesting AF confers an independent pro-thrombotic effect (Chugh et al. 2001; Hart and Halperin 2001). As a result, risk-based antithrombotic therapy is the standard recommendation for stroke prophylaxis, when tolerated (January et al. 2014).

Venous thromboembolism in the form of DVT is common in HF patients, particularly those hospitalized for an episode of decompensation (Beemath et al. 2006), and can lead to PE which further complicate the clinical course. Heart failure is an independent risk factor for VTE, and its presence conveys a two- to threefold

increased risk (Samama 2000). The occurrence of PE has been associated with an increased risk of death or re-hospitalization in HF patients (Darze et al. 2007), and there is evidence that the frequency of PE in HF patients may be underestimated as one series of patients with idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy noted that 39% had PEs at autopsy (Roberts et al. 1987).

Ischemic stroke is also common in HF patients. In one cohort study, HF was associated with a 17-fold increase in the risk of stroke compared to the general population (Witt et al. 2006). This is likely due in part to shared risk factors of stroke and HF, such as diabetes and hypertension, as well as the associations of HF with AF, LV thrombus, and hypercoagulability (Haeusler et al. 2011).

3 Prior Clinical Trials of Conventional Antithrombotic Therapy in HF

Despite evidence of a hypercoaguable state in HF patients, randomized controlled trials of antithrombotic therapy in this population have thus far failed to demonstrate an overall clinical benefit. The Heart Failure Long-Term Antithrombotic Study (HELAS) and Warfarin Aspirin Study in Heart Failure (WASH) studies included patients in normal sinus rhythm with HF and an LV ejection fraction (LVEF) less than 35% (Cleland et al. 2004; Cokkinos et al. 2006). In HELAS, patients with a history of MI were randomized to warfarin or aspirin, and patients with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy were randomized to warfarin or placebo. In WASH, patients were randomized to aspirin, warfarin, or no therapy. Antithrombotic therapy was not associated with improved outcomes compared to controls in either study. However, both trials were small (197 patients in HELAS and 279 patients in WASH) and underpowered. The Warfarin and Antiplatelet Therapy in Chronic Heart Failure (WATCH) trial randomized HF patients with an LV ejection fraction of less than 35% to aspirin, clopidogrel, or warfarin therapy (Massie et al. 2009). Trial enrolment was terminated at 1,587 out of a planned 4,500 patients due to slow enrollment. There were no differences in the primary endpoint of the composite outcome of all-cause mortality, nonfatal MI, and non-fatal stroke among the treatment arms. However, warfarin was associated with fewer strokes than aspirin and clopidogrel, and fewer hospitalizations for worsening heart failure than aspirin. These benefits were offset by significantly higher risk of major hemorrhages in patients in the warfarin arm compared to those in the aspirin arm.

The largest trial of antithrombotic therapy in HF to date is the Warfarin vs. Aspirin in patients with Reduced Cardiac Ejection Fraction (WARCEF) trial (Homma et al. 2012). In WARCEF, 2,305 patients with LVEF less than 35% were randomized to warfarin plus placebo or aspirin plus placebo. The primary outcome was time to first event in a composite endpoint of ischemic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage, or death from any cause. The secondary outcome was time to first event in a composite endpoint of the primary outcome was time to first event in a composite endpoint of the primary outcome was time to first event in a composite endpoint of the primary outcome plus MI or hospitalization for HF. There were no significant differences in the primary and secondary outcomes between the two arms. However, warfarin was associated with

a significantly decreased risk of stroke compared to aspirin (hazard ratio 0.52; 95% confidence interval 0.33–0.82), and no significant difference in the risk of intracranial and intracerebral hemorrhage. The rate of major hemorrhage was higher with warfarin compared to aspirin (1.78 events per 100 patient-years vs. 0.87 per 100 - patient-years), largely driven by more frequent occurrence of major gastrointestinal bleeding.

Overall, the benefits of warfarin in these trials were offset by bleeding complications associated with this drug. The findings of the clinical trials using warfarin, however, raise the possibility that NOACs, with favorable safety profiles and relative simplicity of use, could provide a more favorable risk to benefit ratio in HF patients than warfarin therapy.

4 NOACs for AF

In randomized controlled trials and meta-analyses, warfarin has demonstrated efficacy in preventing stroke in patients with AF, particularly those with clinical features correlating with a higher stroke risk (Philip et al. 1990; McBride et al. 1994; Hart et al. 2007). Warfarin has also demonstrated superiority over aspirin in preventing stroke (van Walraven et al. 2002). However, the risk of bleeding complications, including intracranial and gastrointestinal hemorrhage, limits its application in those with an increased risk of clinically significant bleeding. Moreover, even with the frequent laboratory monitoring that is required to achieve and maintain a therapeutic dose of warfarin, patients receiving warfarin may have sub-therapeutic international normalized ratios (INRs) for substantial periods of time, with out of therapeutic range values increasing their risk for thromboembolism (when levels are too low) or bleeding (when they are too high) (Nelson et al. 2015a, b; Schein et al. 2016).

Until recently, warfarin has been the standard anticoagulant therapy for AF patients at a high risk of stroke. Several NOACs – among them dabigatran, rivaroxaban, apixaban, and edoxaban – have been developed to overcome the limitations of warfarin and other vitamin K antagonists. Key characteristics of these agents are summarized in Table 1. Their rapid onset of action and lack of necessity for routine coagulation monitoring has allowed them to have a wider therapeutic application. Evidence supporting their equivalent and/or superior efficacy to warfarin in the prevention of stroke and systemic embolism (SSE) has been demonstrated in a series of clinical trials comparing the NOACs to warfarin in patients with non-valvular AF. A discussion of these agents in patients with non-valvular AF follows below.

Dabigatran The Randomized Evaluation of Long Term Anticoagulant Therapy (RE-LY) study included 18,113 patients with AF randomized to warfarin vs. double blinded treatment with either dabigatran 150 or 110 mg BID. The study was designed to assess the non-inferiority of the two doses of dabigitran to warfarin for the primary outcome of stroke or systemic embolism (SSE). The primary

	0			
Mechanism of	Dabigatran	Rivaroxaban	Apixaban	Edoxaban
action	Direct thrombin inhibitor	Factor Xa inhibitor	Factor Xa inhibitor	Factor Xa inhibitor
Bioavailability	3-7%	80–100% (10 mg dose) 76% (20 mg, decreased without food)	50%	62%
$T_{\rm max}$ (h)	1–2 h	2-4 h	3-4 h	1–2 h
Protein binding	35%	92–95%	87%	55%
Volume of distribution $(V_{\rm d})$	50-70 1	501	211	1071
T% (half-life)	12–17 h (27 h in severe renal impairment)	5-9 h (13 h, elderly)	12 h	10–14 h
Excretion	Renal (80% unchanged)	Renal (36% unchanged)	Renal (27% unchanged)	Renal (35% unchanged)
Metabolism	Conjugation	Oxidation (CYP3A4/5, CYP2J2) and hydrolysis	Oxidation (CYP3A4 > CYP1A2, CYP2C8, CYP 2C9, CYP2C19, CYP212)	Minimal (hydrolysis, conjugation and oxidation by CYP3A4)
Dosing (non-valvular atrial fibrillation)	150 mg BID (75 mg BID in CrCl 15–30 ml/min)	20 mg daily (15 mg daily in CrCl 15–50 ml/min)	5 mg BID (2.5 mg BID if meets 2 of 3 criteria: age \geq 80, Scr \geq 1.5 and/or weight \leq 60 kg)	60 mg daily if CrCl 51–95 ml/ min (30 mg daily if CrCl 15–50 ml/min)
Dosing (venous thromboembolism)	150 mg BID in CrCl >30 ml/min	15 mg BID \times 21 days, then 20 mg daily \ge 30 ml/min	10 mg BID \times 7 days, then 5 mg BID	60 mg daily (30 mg daily if CrCl 15–50 ml/min or weight \leq 60 kg)
Reversal agent	Idarucizumab (Praxbind) Dose: 5 gm IV $\times 1$	None approved	None approved	None approved
Major drug interactions	p-GP inhibitors ^a and inducers ^b	Dual p-GP inhibitors and strong CYP3A inhibitors ^c ; dual p-GP inducers and strong 3A4 inducers ^d	Dual p-GP inhibitors and strong CYP3A inhibitors ^c ; dual p-GP inducers and strong 3A4 inducers ^d	p-GP inhibitors ^a and inducers ^b
		- - -	-	

Table 1 Novel oral anticoagulants characteristics (Hull and Gersh 2015; Gomez-Outes et al. 2015)

^aE.g., verapamil, quinidine, azithromycin, clarithromycin, erythromycin, oral itraconazole, or oral ketoconazole ^bE.g., rifampin ^cE.g., ketoconazole, itraconazole, ritonavir, indinavir, conivaptan, clarithromycin ^dE.g., carbamezapine, phenytoin, rifampin, St. John's wort

outcome results demonstrated non-inferiority for both doses of dabigitran and superiority with the 150 mg dose (34% relative risk reduction vs. warfarin and 27% relative risk reduction vs. 110 mg dose). Rates of hemorrhagic stroke were lower for both dabigatran doses compared to warfarin (0.12% per year-110 mg; 0.10% per year-150 mg; 0.38% per year-warfarin), as well as a decrease in intracranial hemorrhage (ICH) events (0.23% per year-110 mg; 0.30% per year-150 mg; 0.74% per year-warfarin, p < 0.001) (Connolly and Ezekowitz 2009). Rates of life threatening bleeding, major or minor bleeding were higher with warfarin compared to both doses; however a higher rate of major gastrointestinal bleeding was noted with the 150 mg dose than with warfarin. Dosing of dabigatran is renally eliminated and those with severely impaired kidney function (creatinine clearance [CrCl] <30 ml/min) were excluded from the RE-LY study. However, the FDA has approved a dose of 75 mg twice daily for AF patients with CrCl of 15–30 ml/min (Lehr et al. 2012).

Rivaroxaban The Rivaroxaban Once Daily Oral Direct Factor Xa Inhibition Compared With Vitamin K Antagonism for Prevention of Stroke and Embolism Trial in Atrial Fibrillation (ROCKET-AF) included 14,264 patients with a higher stroke risk (CHADS2 score ≥ 2). The primary outcome was non-inferiority of rivaroxaban to warfarin for the primary endpoint of SSE. The results confirmed that rivaroxaban was non-inferior to warfarin (1.7% per year vs. 2.2% per year; HR 0.79 95%, CI 0.66–0.96; p < 0.001 for non-inferiority). The safety outcome for major and non-major clinically relevant bleeding events was not different (14.9% vs. 14.5% per year; HR 1.03, 95% CI 0.96–1.11; p = 0.44) but there was less fatal bleeding (0.2% vs. 0.5%, p = 0.003) and ICH (0.5% vs. 0.7%, p = 0.02) with rivaroxaban (Patel et al. 2011). Dosing for rivaroxaban is outlined in the table. As with other NOACS, rivaroxaban clearance decreases as renal dysfunction becomes more severe, thus dose adjustment is recommended as rivaroxaban exposure can increase by approximately 52–64% in moderate (CrCl 30–49 ml/min) and severe renal impairment (<30 ml/min) (Kubitza et al. 2010).

Apixaban The Apixaban for the Prevention of Stroke in Subjects With Atrial Fibrillation (ARISTOTLE) double-blind non-inferiority trial enrolled 18,201 patients with AF and at least one additional risk factor for stroke. The primary outcome was ischemic or hemorrhagic stroke or systemic embolism. Patients were treated with apixaban (5 mg twice daily) or warfarin (target INR 2.0–3.0). Apixaban was superior to warfarin regarding the primary outcome of SSE (HR 0.79, 95% CI 0.66–0.95; p = 0.01 for superiority) after a median 1.8-year follow-up. Apixaban was also associated with lower rate of major bleeding including intracranial bleeding (HR 0.69, 95% CI 0.60–0.80; p < 0.001) and lower rate of death from any cause (HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.80–0.99; p = 0.047). As with other NOACs, caution should be taken when using apixaban especially in high-risk populations such as elderly patients with several comorbidities as decline in renal function overtime may increase bleeding events. As summarized in the table, dose

adjustment is recommended in those with renal function <50 ml/min due to high risk of major bleeding (Hijazi et al. 2016).

Edoxaban This selective inhibitor of factor Xa was assessed in the Effective aNticoaGulation with factor xA next GEneration in Atrial Fibrillation (ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48) study, a multicenter double-blind trial comparing edoxaban 30 and 60 mg to warfarin in 21,105 AF patients who were at moderate-to-high risk for thromboembolism. The results of ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48 showed edoxaban to be non-inferior compared to warfarin with respect to the primary efficacy end point of SSE, in both high and low doses [1.5% events per year for warfarin, 1.18% events per year for high-dose edoxaban (HR 0.79, 97.5% CI 0.63–0.99; p < 0.001 for on-inferiority) and 1.61% events per year for low-dose edoxaban (HR 1.07, 97.5% CI, 0.87–1.31; p = 0.005 for non-inferiority]. Annualized hemorrhagic stroke rate was 0.47%, 0.26%, and 0.16% for warfarin, high dose and low dose edoxaban, respectively. Major bleeding occurred less frequently with both edoxaban doses compared to warfarin (2.75% patients per year – high dose, 1.61% patients per year - low dose vs. 3.43% patients per year - warfarin) with hazard ratios favoring edoxaban use (high dose HR 0.8; 95% CI, 0.71–0.91; p < 0.001 and low dose HR 0.47; 95% CI 0.41–0.55; p < 0.001). Overall major bleeding, intracranial bleeding, and gastrointestinal bleeding occurred less frequently with the lower dose use compared to the other groups. Gastrointestinal bleeding was seen more frequently with higher dose use compared to warfarin. The primary net clinical outcomes of death from any cause, SSE, or major bleeding were significant less with both edoxaban regimens compared to warfarin (6.79% low dose, 7.26% high dose and 8.11% warfarin). Dosing recommendations are provided in the table.

NOAC Reversal A primary concern regarding the use of NOACs is the lack of availability of an agent to rapidly reverse their anti-coagulant effect when emergent situations arise. Recently, a new monoclonal antibody fragment reversing agent, idarucizumab, has been developed to reverse the effects of dagibitran. The use of idarucizumab was studied in the prospective multicenter RE-VERSE AD (A Study of the RE-VERSal Effects of Idarucizumab on Active Dabigatran) trial. This study included 90 patients who developed serious bleeding or required urgent surgery while being treated with dagibitran. The median percentage reversal of the anticoagulation effect was 100%, showing efficacy for complete reversal of anticoagulation. A total of 21 patients suffered an adverse event, which included 5 thrombotic events and 18 deaths. The latter were proposed to be the result of the severity of illness of the -population enrolled in this study, which had a mean age of 76.7 years, and a substantial burden of comorbidities, including 35% with intracranial bleeding on study entry. The FDA approved idarucizumab in October 2015 for the treatment of patients treated with dabigatran when reversal of the anticoagulant effects is needed for emergency surgery/urgent procedures, or in lifethreatening or uncontrolled bleeding (Pollack et al. 2015).

A novel antidote to factor Xa inhibitors that acts as a human factor Xa decoy protein has been developed and studied in an open label prospective multicenter trial. The ANNEXA-4 trial of Andexanet Alfa (andexanet) included 67 patients with a mean age of 77 years who had acute major bleeding within 18 h of receiving a factor Xa inhibitor (included apixaban, rivaroxaban, edoxaban, or enoxaparin only). Patients received a low or high dose depending on the type of Xa inhibitor received. The 30-day outcomes assessed were anti-Xa factor activity and hemostasis achieved 12 h after andexanet infusion. A relative decrease of anti-Xa factor activity was more pronounced with apixaban than other Xa inhibitors. Clinical hemostatic efficacy was achieved in 79% of the patients. A total 12 patients suffered a thrombotic event (1 with acute MI, 5 with stroke, 7 with DVT, and 1 with PE) and rate of death was 6% at 45 days. Of note was the fact that 34% of patients in this cohort had a history of HF (Connolly et al. 2016). Andexanet Alfa is currently under FDA review and if approved could be used as an antidote for factor Xa inhibitors.

5 NOACs for VTE

Additional randomized clinical trials have explored the use of NOACs in other thrombotic states (Schellong 2015). The RE-COVER and RE-COVER II trials were randomized non-inferiority clinical trials evaluating the efficacy and safety of dabigatran 150 mg twice daily vs. warfarin on recurrent symptomatic, confirmed VTE and related deaths at 6 months. Secondary end points included symptomatic DVT, symptomatic non-fatal PE, VTE-related death, and all cause death (Schulman et al. 2009, 2014). For both studies the results showed that dabigatran was comparable to warfarin for the primary and secondary outcomes (2.4% vs. 2.2% based on pool analysis). The pooled analysis data of both trials showed a statistically significant reduction in major bleeding events with dabigitran and comparable clinically relevant non-major bleeding events.

Two randomized open-label clinical trials in more than 8,281 patients assessed the efficacy and safety of rivaroxaban for the treatment of DVT, PE, and extended risk reduction for DVT and PE. The results of these studies showed that rivaroxaban is non-inferior to warfarin (EINSTEIN-DVT trial, 2.1% vs. 3%; HR 0.68, 95% CI 0.44–1.04; p < 0.001 for non-inferiority; EINSTEIN-PE trial, 2.1% vs. 1.8%; HR 1.12, 95% CI 0.75–1.68; p = 0.003). Similar to other NOAC trials, rivaroxaban showed rates comparable to warfarin in the safety endpoints of major bleeding or non-major clinically relevant bleeding (EINSTEIN-DVT 8.1% for both groups; HR 0.97, 95% CI 0.76–1.22; p = 0.77. EINSTEIN-PE 10.3% vs. 11.4%; HR 0.90, 95% CI 0.76–1.07; p = 0.23) (EINSTEIN Investigators et al. 2010; EINSTEIN–PE Investigators et al. 2012).

Apixaban has been studied in acute VTE including symptomatic proximal DVT or PE (with or without DVT). In a randomized, double-blind study of apixaban 10 mg twice daily for 7 days followed by 5 mg daily for 6 months compared to conventional therapy (enoxaparin followed by warfarin), the primary outcome for recurrent VTE or death was non-inferior compared to warfarin (2.3% vs. 2.7%; RR 0.84, 95% CI 0.60–1.18; p < 0.001 for non-inferiority). The safety outcome of major bleeding and clinically relevant non-major bleeding occurred less frequently

in the apixaban group compared to the warfarin group (4.3% vs. 9.7%; RR 0.44, 95% CI 0.36–0.55; p < 0.001) (Agnelli et al. 2013).

Edoxaban was studied as a treatment for symptomatic VTE. In a randomized non-inferiority study of 4,921 patients with DVT and 3,319 with PE, 60 mg (or 30 mg in patients with a CrCl of 30–50 ml/min or a body weight of 60 kg or less) of daily edoxaban was non-inferior to warfarin for the primary outcome of recurrent VTE and 3.2% vs. 3.5%; HR 0.89, 95% CI 0.7–1.13; p < 0.001 for non-inferiority. Major bleeding or clinically relevant non-major bleeding was less in edoxaban than in warfarin treated patients (8.5% vs. 10.3%; HR 0.81, 95% CI 0.71–0.94; p = 0.004 for superiority) (Hokusai et al. 2013).

6 Impact of Heart Failure in NOAC Trials in AF

Heart failure is a strong predictor for AF development with increasing prevalence as worsening NYHA class ensues (AF is present in almost 30% of NYHA III-IV and up to 50% of NYHA IV) (Maisel and Stevenson 2003).

Furthermore, HF patients are at increased risk for stroke, thromboembolism, and death especially in those with a higher CHA_2DS_2 -VAS_c Score (Melgaard et al. 2015). Several secondary analyses of the NOAC trials in AF evaluating the subset of patients with HF have provided insights into the efficacy of NOACs in this higher risk population. These secondary analyses defined HF as the presence of symptoms of HF, an LVEF of <40%, or both. Although the original trials were not powered for any definitive conclusion regarding NOAC vs. warfarin in HF, the overall effects of NOACS in HF patients with AF showed similar treatment efficacy and safety for the primary outcomes of SSE and major bleeding. The benefits of these agents were comparable between AF patients with HF and without HF regardless of the dosing regimen. The clinical characteristics of the patients evaluated and the major efficacy and safety outcomes are summarized in Tables 2 and 3.

In RE-LY, 27% of the overall study cohort was comprised of HF patients, defined as those patients having NYHA class \geq II symptoms and LVEF \leq 40% in the last 6 months before randomization. All HF patients experienced a lower annual SSE rate with either dose of dabigatran administered in the trial in comparison to warfarin [1.92% per year for warfarin, 1.90% per year for dabigatran 110 mg (HR 0.99, 95% CI 0.69–1.42) and 1.44% per year for dabigatran 150 mg (HR 0.75, 95% CI 0.51–1.10)]. Importantly, HF patients on either dose of dabigatran had lower major bleeding, ICH, or total bleeding episodes compared to warfarin. No interaction between treatment effect of either dose of dabigatran and the presence or absence of HF was noted.

In ROCKET-AF, the prevalence of heart failure in the study population was 63.7%. Patients with HF had similar number of SSE events than non-HF patients. After adjustment of baseline variables, rivaroxaban had similar efficacy outcomes for SSE compared to warfarin regardless of the presence or absence of HF (HF: HR 0.91, 95% CI 0.74–1.13 vs. Non-HF: HR 0.84, 95% CI 0.65–1.09; p = 0.62). The risk of major or non-major bleeding was similar to warfarin (HF: HR 1.06, 95% CI

Tr. 1	DE LV (1.1		ROCKET-AF	ARISTOTLE
Irial	RE-LY (dabigati	ran)	(rivaroxaban)	(apixaban)
Dose	110 mg	150 mg	20 mg	5 mg BID
HF	Left ventricular	ejection fraction	Clinical HF or	Symptomatic HF
definition	of less than 40%	, New York	left ventricular	within 3 months; LVSD
entry	Heart Associatio	n class II or	EF <40%	with EF $\leq 40\%$
criteria	higher heart-failu	are symptoms		
	within 6 months screening	before		
Number	1,641	1,640	4,530	2,736
$\mathrm{EF} < 40\%$	427 (44%)	429 (44%)	1,043 (33.3)	2,736 (100%)
CHADS2	2.6 ± 1.1	2.7 ± 1.2	3.7 (0.9)	2.22 (1.20)
ICD/CRT	NR	NR	148 (3.6)	304 (5.1)
SBP	127.3	127.3	130 (120–140)	126 (114–138)
(mmHg)	(109.9–144.7)	(109.9–144.7)		
HR BPM	76.1	76.1	77 (68–86)	NR
	(61–91.2)	(61–91.2)		
ASA	NR	NR	1,373 (30.3)	938 (34)
ARB/ACEI	1,296 (79)	1,314 (80)	2,792 (61.6)	2,205 (81)
Beta	1,118 (68.1)	1,155 (70.4)	3,113 (68.7)	2,043 (75)
blocker				
Digitalis	NR	NR	2,023 (44.7)	1,299 (47)
Diuretic	1,182 (72.0)	1,189 (72.5)	3,235 (71.4)	1,992 (73)
Amiodarone	NR	NR	NR	415 (15)
Statin	NR	NR	NR	1,184 (43)
MRA	NR	NR	NR	62 (2)
NT-proBNP	$1,450 \pm 1,399$	$1,640 \pm 2,417$	NR	NR
(pg/mLe)				
Warfarin	NR	NR	2,658 (58.7)	1,656 (61)

 Table 2
 NOAC heart failure substudy baseline characteristics

NR not reported in substudy

0.96–1.16 vs. Non-HF: HR 1.05, 95% CI 0.93–1.18; p = 0.92). A trend towards risk reduction of hemorrhagic stroke in HF patients with rivaroxaban was noted (van Diepen et al. 2013).

In ARISTOTLE, there was information about HF status and left ventricular systolic dysfunction (LVSD) in 14,671 patients. In a subgroup analysis, these patients were divided into three groups: (1) No HF and no LVSD; (2) HF preserved LV systolic function (HFPEF), and (3) LVSD with/without symptomatic HF. Only 22% of preserved EF group and 13% of the LVSD group had reported symptomatic HF. The adjusted rates of SSE, although not statistically significant across the three groups, were higher for LVSD and HFPEF patients compared to no HF/no LVSD groups (1.39, 1.52, and 1.37 per 100 patient-year follow up, respectively). The rates for major or clinically relevant non-major bleeding were also not statistically different across the three groups (5.53, 5.37, and 4.88 per 100 patient-years for LVSD, HFPEF, and no HF/LVSD,

	ישיוורמי	y and salvy	outcoutto III	pauvine wi					
			ROCKET-	-AF				ENGAGE AF-TIM	Į
	RE-LY (d	labigatran)	(rivaroxab	an)	ARISTOTLE (api	xaban)		48 (edoxaban)	
Agent	Dabigatra	u	Rivaroxab	an	Apixaban				
Study year	2013		2013		2013			2016	
<i>(u)</i>	HF (4 904)	No HF (13 209)	HF (9 033)	No HF (5 138)	LVSD (2,736)	HFPEF (3,207)	No LVSD/No HF (8 728)	HF (1,801) NYHA III-IV	No HF (5 926)
Follow up (years)	2	(1.94	(nation)	5			2.8	(n= 4.2)
Event rate (n)	% per yea	u	100 patien	it-year	100 patient-years			% per year	
Efficacy outcome									
Stroke or	1.75	1.35	1.99	2.32	1.39 (67)	1.52 (89)	1.37 (224)	2 (92)	1.66 (267)
systemic embolism	(164)	(355)	(343)	(232)					
HR (95% CI),	1.08 (0.89	<u>)-1.31).</u>	0.94 (0.78	-1.13).	1.01	1.11		1.45 (1.12–1.88).	0.004
<i>p</i> value	0.46		0.51		(0.77-1.33), 0.71	(0.87 - 1.42), 0.71			
Safety outcome	_				_		_	-	
Major bleeding	320 (3.42)	842 (3.19)	14.12 (1,766)	15.73 (1,158)	3.09 (135)	2.55 (134)	2.50 (372)	2.83 (104)	3.31 (430)
HR (95% CI),	0.96 (0.83	3-1.10),	1.00 (0.92	-1.08),	1.23	1.02		1.31 (1.06–1.65),	0.002
<i>p</i> value	0.53		0.99		(1.01–1.50), 0.11	(0.84–1.24), 0.11			
Intracranial bleeding	35 (0.37)	120 (0.46)	0.53 (74)	0.77 (65)	0.45 (20)	0.45 (24)	0.60 (90)	0.61 (23)	0.68 (90)
HR (95% CI),	0.72 (0.49	<u>P-1.06).</u>	0.84 (0.58	-1.22).	0.75	0.75		1.48 (0.93–2.37).	0.07
<i>p</i> value	0.10		0.36		(0.46–1.22), 0.30	(0.48–1.18), 0.30			
									(continued)

Table 3 Rates of major efficacy and safety outcomes in patients with and without heart failure (HF)

Table 3 (continued	()								
			ROCKET-	-AF				ENGAGE AF-TIN	V
	RE-LY (c	labigatran)	(rivaroxab	an)	ARISTOTLE (api	ixaban)		48 (edoxaban)	
Agent	Dabigatra	u	Rivaroxab	an	Apixaban				
Study year	2013		2013		2013			2016	
Cardiovascular outc	come ^a								
Vascular death	4.69	1.67	3.53	1.75	NR			5.43 (257)	2 (332)
	(439)	(441)	(009)	(176)					
HR (95% CI),	2.26 (1.96	5-2.61),	1.65 (1.37	-1.98),				3.18 (265–3.8), <	0.001
<i>p</i> value	< 0.0001		< 0.0001						
All cause death	NR		5.26	3.37	7.07 (348)	4.32 (258)	2.40 (400)	6.45 (305)	3.20 (532)
			(879)	(335)					
HR (95% CI),			1.34 (1.17	-1.55)	2.96	1.81		2.43 (2.08–2.83) <	<0.001
<i>p</i> value			< 0.0001		(2.57–3.42)	(1.55–2.11)			
					<0.0001	< 0.0001			
Hospitalization	2,098	5,102	NR		5.99 (274)	3.24 (185)	1.12 (189)	15.47 (591)	9.77
	(22.41)	(19.35)							(1,397)
HR (95% CI),	1.13 (1.07	7-1.20)			5.07	2.77		1.83 (1.64–2.04) <	<0.001
<i>p</i> value	< 0.0001				(4.21 - 6.11)	(2.26 - 3.40)			
					< 0.0001	< 0.0001			
	1 1 1 1 1	1 U.J.	•	H	Í				

CI confidence interval, HF heart failure, HR hazard ratio (HF vs. no HF) ^aAll outcomes adjusted for baseline variables

respectively). There was no evidence of treatment heterogeneity according to LV function or HF status, with equivalent efficacy across all groups (McMurray et al. 2013).

In an ENGAGE-AF TIMI 48 substudy, 58% of 14,071 patients studied were found to have a history of HF, with 13% of them being classified as having severe HF, defined as NYHA III-IV. Among patients with severe HF, the rate per year of SSE was higher compared to non-HF patients (2.00% vs. 1.66%, p = 0.012). After adjustment for baseline characteristics, SSE was still higher in those with mild and severe HF (HR 1.19 and HF 1.45 vs. Non-HF). HF patients also had higher risk of major bleeding (HR 1.31, 95% CI 1.05–1.65; p = 0.02) including fatal bleeding and gastrointestinal bleeding. The overall outcomes for efficacy of edoxaban in preventing an SSE compared with warfarin were similar among patients with and without HF (edoxaban vs. warfarin: No-HF: HR 0.87, 95% CI 0.69–1.11; NYHA class I–II: HR 0.88, 95% CI 0.69–1.12; NYHA class III–IV: HR 0.83, 95% CI 0.55–1.25; *p*-interaction =0.97) (Magnani et al. 2016).

A meta-analysis of these four main trials demonstrated that in all patients with HF and AF on a single or high dose NOAC regimen reduced the risk of SSE by 14% compared to warfarin with an OR 0.86 (95% CI, 0.76–0.98). Additionally single and/or high dose NOAC regimen had a 24% reduction in major bleeding with an OR 0.76 (95% CI, 0.67–0.86). HF patients with AF on NOACs had a 41% lower risk of ICH compared with those without HF (OR 0.59, 95% CI 0.40–0.87) (Xiong et al. 2015).

7 NOACs for HF with Sinus Rhythm: Potential for Benefit?

Given the evidence linking HF to a prothrombotic state, it is not surprising that HF patients in sinus rhythm are at increased risk for thromboembolic events. In clinical trials of HF patients, the annual incidence of ischemic strokes was observed to be 0.6–2.3% and total thromboembolic events to be 1.5–2.3% with greater risk as EF declines (de Peuter et al. 2009). Two recent HF trials, the Controlled Rosuvastatin in Multinational Trial Heart Failure (CORONA) and the Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Insufficienza cardiaca-Heart Failure trial (GISSI-HF), have analyzed risk factors for stroke in 9,585 HF patients (3,531 had AF and 6,054 had no AF). The stroke rate per 100 HF patient-years was 4.7% for AF vs. 3.4% for no AF. The investigators identified age, NYHA class (III and IV), insulin-dependent diabetes, body mass index, NT pro BNP, and previous stroke as predictors for stroke in those without AF. Using a risk-score based on the predictors, HF patients without AF in the third tertile had a rate of stroke similar to AF patients with no anticoagulation (2.0% per year vs. 2.2% per year, respectively) (Abdul-Rahim et al. 2015).

While clinical trials of conventional antithrombotic therapies for HF patients failed to demonstrate a net clinical benefit, the advent of NOACs and their demonstrated safety and efficacy in AF and VTE trials have led to a renewed interest in utilizing anticoagulants to improve outcomes in HF patients in sinus rhythm. In the ATLAS ACS 2-TIMI 51 trial, 15,526 patients within 7 days of a hospital admission for ACS were randomized to twice daily 2.5 or 5 mg doses of

rivaroxaban or placebo for a maximum follow-up of 31 months. Rivaroxaban was associated with a reduction for the composite primary outcome of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction, and stroke (HR compared to placebo, 0.84; 95% confidence interval [CI], 0.74–0.96; p = 0.008) (Mega et al. 2012). A subgroup analysis showed that patients having HF at the time of their ACS, rivaroxaban 2.5 mg twice daily reduced the primary outcome of cardiovascular death, MI or stroke (18.6% placebo vs. 11.6% rivaroxaban, p < 0.001) and reduced all cause death (11.1% placebo vs. 5.3%, rivaroxaban p < 0.001). The findings from this study support the notion that anticoagulation in patients with acute HF may have an impact on outcomes.

The findings from the ATLAS ACS 2-TIMI 51 trial provided rationale for a randomized clinical trial assessing HF patients in sinus rhythm for the risk of stroke and/or other cardiovascular events in HF patients. The COMMANDER HF trial is a randomized double-blinded placebo-controlled, event-driven trial of ~5,000 patients that will assess rivaroxaban 2.5 mg twice daily compared to placebo in patients with HF with reduced EF (EF $\leq 40\%$) with significant CAD and in sinus rhythm. Patients are enrolled into the study after an episode of acute HF exacerbation within the last 30 days (Zannad et al. 2015). The primary efficacy outcome is a composite of fatal bleeding or bleeding into a critical space with potential permanent disability, bleeding events requiring hospitalization, or major bleeding events according to International Society on Thrombosis and Hemostasis bleeding criteria (Schulman and Kearon 2005).

8 Conclusion

Heart failure patients with AF are a high-risk group for stroke and systemic embolism. This population requires effective anticoagulation approaches to minimize morbidity. Results of clinical trials carried out over the past decade indicate that NOACs are an efficient and safe alternative to warfarin to treat patients with AF and HF. The results of secondary analyses of NOAC trials in AF demonstrate, on balance, similar efficacy and safety in HF patients. Given evidence that HF is associated with a prothrombotic state, the use of NOACs in HF patients in sinus rhythm may be of potential benefit. Although there is some data suggesting that anticoagulation can improve outcomes in HF patients in sinus rhythm, well-designed randomized clinical trials are needed to determine if this is the case. The ongoing COMMANDER-HF trial is designed to determine the effects of low dose rivaroxiban on morbidity and mortality in this population, and the results of this study are eagerly awaited as they well open a door for future applications of NOACs.

References

- Abdul-Rahim AH, Perez AC, Fulton RL, Jhund PS, Latini R, Tognoni G, Wikstrand J, Kjekshus J, Lip GY, Maggioni AP, Tavazzi L, Lees KR, McMurray JJ (2015) Risk of stroke in chronic heart failure patients without atrial fibrillation: analysis of the controlled rosuvastatin in multinational trial heart failure (CORONA) and the Gruppo Italiano per lo Studio della Sopravvivenza nell'Insufficienza Cardiaca-Heart Failure (GISSI-HF) trials. Circulation 131:1486–1494. discussion 1494
- Agnelli G, Buller HR, Cohen A, Curto M, Gallus AS, Johnson M, Masiukiewicz U, Pak R, Thompson J, Raskob GE, Weitz JI, AMPLIFY Investigators (2013) Oral apixaban for the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 369:799–808
- Beemath A, Stein PD, Skaf E, Al Sibae MR, Alesh I (2006) Risk of venous thromboembolism in patients hospitalized with heart failure. Am J Cardiol 98:793–795
- Benjamin EJ, Wolf PA, D'Agostino RB, Silbershatz H, Kannel WB, Levy D (1998) Impact of atrial fibrillation on the risk of death: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 98:946–952
- Chong AY, Freestone B, Patel J, Lim HS, Hughes E, Blann AD, Lip GY (2006) Endothelial activation, dysfunction, and damage in congestive heart failure and the relation to brain natriuretic peptide and outcomes. Am J Cardiol 97:671–675
- Chugh SS, Blackshear JL, Shen WK, Hammill SC, Gersh BJ (2001) Epidemiology and natural history of atrial fibrillation: clinical implications. J Am Coll Cardiol 37:371–378
- Cleland JG, Findlay I, Jafri S, Sutton G, Falk R, Bulpitt C, Prentice C, Ford I, Trainer A, Poole-Wilson PA (2004) The Warfarin/Aspirin Study in Heart failure (WASH): a randomized trial comparing antithrombotic strategies for patients with heart failure. Am Heart J 148:157–164
- Cokkinos DV, Haralabopoulos GC, Kostis JB, Toutouzas PK (2006) Efficacy of antithrombotic therapy in chronic heart failure: the HELAS study. Eur J Heart Fail 8:428–432
- Connolly SJ, Ezekowitz MD, Yusuf S, Eikelboom J, Oldgren J, Parekh A, Pogue J, Reilly PA, Themeles E, Varrone J, Wang S, Alings M, Xavier D, Zhu J, Diaz R, Lewis BS, Darius H, Diener HC, Joyner CD, Wallentin L, RE-LY Steering Committee and Investigators (2009) Dabigatran versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 361:1139–1151
- Connolly SJ, Milling TJ Jr, Eikelboom JW, Gibson CM, Curnutte JT, Gold A, Bronson MD, Lu G, Conley PB, Verhamme P, Schmidt J, Middeldorp S, Cohen AT, Beyer-Westendorf J, Albaladejo P, Lopez-Sendon J, Goodman S, Leeds J, Wiens BL, Siegal DM, Zotova E, Meeks B, Nakamya J, Lim WT, Crowther M, ANNEXA-4 Investigators (2016) Andexanet alfa for acute major bleeding associated with factor Xa inhibitors. N Engl J Med 375:1131–1141
- Darze ES, Latado AL, Guimaraes AG, Guedes RA, Santos AB, de Moura SS, Passos LC (2007) Acute pulmonary embolism is an independent predictor of adverse events in severe decompensated heart failure patients. Chest 131:1838–1843
- De Ferrari GM, Klersy C, Ferrero P, Fantoni C, Salerno-Uriarte D, Manca L, Devecchi P, Molon G, Revera M, Curnis A, Sarzi Braga S, Accardi F, Salerno-Uriarte JA (2007) Atrial fibrillation in heart failure patients: prevalence in daily practice and effect on the severity of symptoms. Data from the ALPHA study registry. Eur J Heart Fail 9:502–509
- De Lorenzo F, Saba N, Kakkar VV (2003) Blood coagulation in patients with chronic heart failure: evidence for hypercoagulable state and potential for pharmacological intervention. Drugs 63:565–576
- de Peuter OR, Kok WE, Torp-Pedersen C, Buller HR, Kamphuisen PW (2009) Systolic heart failure: a prothrombotic state. Semin Thromb Hemost 35:497–504
- EINSTEIN Investigators, Bauersachs R, Berkowitz SD, Brenner B, Buller HR, Decousus H, Gallus AS, Lensing AW, Misselwitz F, Prins MH, Raskob GE, Segers A, Verhamme P, Wells P, Agnelli G, Bounameaux H, Cohen A, Davidson BL, Piovella F, Schellong S (2010) Oral rivaroxaban for symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 363:2499–2510
- EINSTEIN-PE Investigators, Buller HR, Prins MH, Lensin AW, Decousus H, Jacobson BF, Minar E, Chlumsky J, Verhamme P, Wells P, Agnelli G, Cohen A, Berkowitz SD,

Bounameaux H, Davidson BL, Misselwitz F, Gallus AS, Raskob GE, Schellong S, Segers A (2012) Oral rivaroxaban for the treatment of symptomatic pulmonary embolism. N Engl J Med 366:1287–1297

- Fukuchi M, Watanabe J, Kumagai K, Katori Y, Baba S, Fukuda K, Yagi T, Iguchi A, Yokoyama H, Miura M, Kagaya Y, Sato S, Tabayashi K, Shirato K (2001) Increased von Willebrand factor in the endocardium as a local predisposing factor for thrombogenesis in overloaded human atrial appendage. J Am Coll Cardiol 37:1436–1442
- Giugliano RP, Ruff CT, Braunwald E, Murphy SA, Wiviott SD, Halperin JL, Waldo AL, Ezekowitz MD, Weitz JI, Spinar J, Ruzyllo W, Ruda M, Koretsune Y, Betcher J, Shi M, Grip LT, Patel SP, Patel I, Hanyok JJ, Mercuri M, Antman EM, Investigators EA-T (2013) Edoxaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 369:2093–2104
- Gomez-Outes A, Suarez-Gea ML, Lecumberri R, Terleira-Fernandez AI, Vargas-Castrillon E (2015) Direct-acting oral anticoagulants: pharmacology, indications, management, and future perspectives. Eur J Haematol 95:389–404
- Granger CB, Alexander JH, McMurray JJ, Lopes RD, Hylek EM, Hanna M, Al-Khalidi HR, Ansell J, Atar D, Avezum A, Bahit MC, Diaz R, Easton JD, Ezekowitz JA, Flaker G, Garcia D, Geraldes M, Gersh BJ, Golitsyn S, Goto S, Hermosillo AG, Hohnloser SH, Horowitz J, Mohan P, Jansky P, Lewis BS, Lopez-Sendon JL, Pais P, Parkhomenko A, Verheugt FW, Zhu J, Wallentin L, ARISTOTLE Committees and Investigators (2011) Apixaban versus warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 365:981–992
- Haeusler KG, Laufs U, Endres M (2011) Chronic heart failure and ischemic stroke. Stroke 42:2977–2982
- Hart RG, Halperin JL (2001) Atrial fibrillation and stroke: concepts and controversies. Stroke 32:803-808
- Hart RG, Pearce LA, Aguilar MI (2007) Meta-analysis: antithrombotic therapy to prevent stroke in patients who have nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Ann Intern Med 146:857–867
- Hijazi Z, Hohnloser SH, Andersson U, Alexander JH, Hanna M, Keltai M, Parkhomenko A, Lopez-Sendon JL, Lopes RD, Siegbahn A, Granger CB, Wallentin L (2016) Efficacy and safety of apixaban compared with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation in relation to renal function over time: insights from the ARISTOTLE randomized clinical trial. JAMA Cardiol 1:451–460
- Hokusai VTEI, Buller HR, Decousus H, Grosso MA, Mercuri M, Middeldorp S, Prins MH, Raskob GE, Schellong SM, Schwocho L, Segers A, Shi M, Verhamme P, Wells P (2013) Edoxaban versus warfarin for the treatment of symptomatic venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 369:1406–1415
- Homma S, Thompson JL, Pullicino PM, Levin B, Freudenberger RS, Teerlink JR, Ammon SE, Graham S, Sacco RL, Mann DL, Mohr JP, Massie BM, Labovitz AJ, Anker SD, Lok DJ, Ponikowski P, Estol CJ, Lip GY, Di Tullio MR, Sanford AR, Mejia V, Gabriel AP, del Valle ML, Buchsbaum R (2012) Warfarin and aspirin in patients with heart failure and sinus rhythm. N Engl J Med 366:1859–1869
- Horwich TB, Patel J, MacLellan WR, Fonarow GC (2003) Cardiac troponin I is associated with impaired hemodynamics, progressive left ventricular dysfunction, and increased mortality rates in advanced heart failure. Circulation 108:833–838
- Hull RD, Gersh MH (2015) The current landscape of treatment options for venous thromboenbolism: a focus on novel oral anticoagulants. Curr Med Res Opin 31:197–210
- Jafri SM, Ozawa T, Mammen E, Levine TB, Johnson C, Goldstein S (1993) Platelet function, thrombin and fibrinolytic activity in patients with heart failure. Eur Heart J 14:205–212
- January CT, Wann LS, Alpert JS, Calkins H, Cigarroa JE, Cleveland JC Jr, Conti JB, Ellinor PT, Ezekowitz MD, Field ME, Murray KT, Sacco RL, Stevenson WG, Tchou PJ, Tracy CM, Yancy CW (2014) 2014 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol 64:e1–76

- Kubitza D, Becka M, Mueck W, Halabi A, Maatouk H, Klause N, Lufft V, Wand DD, Philipp T, Bruck H (2010) Effects of renal impairment on the pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and safety of rivaroxaban, an oral, direct Factor Xa inhibitor. Br J Clin Pharmacol 70:703–712
- Lehr T, Haertter S, Liesenfeld KH, Staab A, Clemens A, Reilly PA, Friedman J (2012) Dabigatran etexilate in atrial fibrillation patients with severe renal impairment: dose identification using pharmacokinetic modeling and simulation. J Clin Pharmacol 52:1373–1378
- Levine B, Kalman J, Mayer L, Fillit HM, Packer M (1990) Elevated circulating levels of tumor necrosis factor in severe chronic heart failure. N Engl J Med 323:236–241
- Lip GY, Gibbs CR (1999) Does heart failure confer a hypercoagulable state? Virchow's triad revisited. J Am Coll Cardiol 33:1424–1426
- Lubitz SA, Benjamin EJ, Ellinor PT (2010) Atrial fibrillation in congestive heart failure. Heart Fail Clin 6:187–200
- Magnani G, Giugliano RP, Ruff CT, Murphy SA, Nordio F, Metra M, Moccetti T, Mitrovic V, Shi M, Mercuri M, Antman EM, Braunwald E (2016) Efficacy and safety of edoxaban compared with warfarin in patients with atrial fibrillation and heart failure: insights from ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48. Eur J Heart Fail 18:1153–1161
- Maisel WH, Stevenson LW (2003) Atrial fibrillation in heart failure: epidemiology, pathophysiology, and rationale for therapy. Am J Cardiol 91:2D–8D
- Marcucci R, Gori AM, Giannotti F, Baldi M, Verdiani V, Del Pace S, Nozzoli C, Abbate R (2006) Markers of hypercoagulability and inflammation predict mortality in patients with heart failure. J Thromb Haemost 4:1017–1022
- Massie BM, Collins JF, Ammon SE, Armstrong PW, Cleland JG, Ezekowitz M, Jafri SM, Krol WF, O'Connor CM, Schulman KA, Teo K, Warren SR (2009) Randomized trial of warfarin, aspirin, and clopidogrel in patients with chronic heart failure: the Warfarin and Antiplatelet Therapy in Chronic Heart Failure (WATCH) trial. Circulation 119:1616–1624
- McBride R; on behalf of the Stroke Prevention in Atrial Fibrillation Investigators (1994) Warfarin versus aspirin for prevention of thromboembolism in atrial fibrillation: stroke prevention in atrial fibrillation II study. Lancet 343:687–691
- McMurray JJ, Ezekowitz JA, Lewis BS, Gersh BJ, van Diepen S, Amerena J, Bartunek J, Commerford P, Oh BH, Harjola VP, Al-Khatib SM, Hanna M, Alexander JH, Lopes RD, Wojdyla DM, Wallentin L, Granger CB, ARISTOTLE Committees and Investigators (2013) Left ventricular systolic dysfunction, heart failure, and the risk of stroke and systemic embolism in patients with atrial fibrillation: insights from the ARISTOTLE trial. Circ Heart Fail 6:451–460
- Mega JL, Braunwald E, Wiviott SD, Bassand JP, Bhatt DL, Bode C, Burton P, Cohen M, Cook-Bruns N, Fox KA, Goto S, Murphy SA, Plotnikov AN, Schneider D, Sun X, Verheugt FW, Gibson CM, Investigators AAT (2012) Rivaroxaban in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med 366:9–19
- Melgaard L, Gorst-Rasmussen A, Lane DA, Rasmussen LH, Larsen TB, Lip GY (2015) Assessment of the CHA2DS2-VASc score in predicting ischemic stroke, thromboembolism, and death in patients with heart failure with and without atrial fibrillation. JAMA 314:1030–1038
- Nelson WW, Wang L, Baser O, Damaraju CV, Schein JR (2015a) Out-of-range INR values and outcomes among new warfarin patients with non-valvular atrial fibrillation. Int J Clin Pharm 37:53–59
- Nelson WW, Desai S, Damaraju CV, Lu L, Fields LE, Wildgoose P, Schein JR (2015b) International normalized ratio stability in warfarin-experienced patients with nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs 15:205–211
- O'Connor CM, Gurbel PA, Serebruany VL (1999) Usefulness of soluble and surface-bound P-selectin in detecting heightened platelet activity in patients with congestive heart failure. Am J Cardiol 83:1345–1349
- O'Gara PT, Kushner FG, Ascheim DD, Casey DE Jr, Chung MK, de Lemos JA, Ettinger SM, Fang JC, Fesmire FM, Franklin BA, Granger CB, Krumholz HM, Linderbaum JA, Morrow DA, Newby LK, Ornato JP, Ou N, Radford MJ, Tamis-Holland JE, Tommaso CL, Tracy CM, Woo

YJ, Zhao DX, Anderson JL, Jacobs AK, Halperin JL, Albert NM, Brindis RG, Creager MA, DeMets D, Guyton RA, Hochman JS, Kovacs RJ, Kushner FG, Ohman EM, Stevenson WG, Yancy CW (2013) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of ST-elevation myocardial infarction: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. Circulation 127:e362–e425

- Patel MR, Mahaffey KW, Garg J, Pan G, Singer DE, Hacke W, Breithardt G, Halperin JL, Hankey GJ, Piccini JP, Becker RC, Nessel CC, Paolini JF, Berkowitz SD, Fox KA, Califf RM, Investigators RA (2011) Rivaroxaban versus warfarin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation. N Engl J Med 365:883–891
- Peacock WF, De Marco T, Fonarow GC, Diercks D, Wynne J, Apple FS, Wu AH (2008) Cardiac troponin and outcome in acute heart failure. N Engl J Med 358:2117–2126
- Philip J; on behalf of The Boston Area Anticoagulation Trial for Atrial Fibrillation Investigators (1990) The effect of low-dose warfarin on the risk of stroke in patients with nonrheumatic atrial fibrillation. The Boston Area Anticoagulation Trial for Atrial Fibrillation Investigators. N Engl J Med 323:1505–1511
- Pollack CV Jr, Reilly PA, Eikelboom J, Glund S, Verhamme P, Bernstein RA, Dubiel R, Huisman MV, Hylek EM, Kamphuisen PW, Kreuzer J, Levy JH, Sellke FW, Stangier J, Steiner T, Wang B, Kam CW, Weitz JI (2015) Idarucizumab for dabigatran reversal. N Engl J Med 373:511–520
- Prins MH, Lensing AW, Bauersachs R, van Bellen B, Bounameaux H, Brighton TA, Cohen AT, Davidson BL, Decousus H, Raskob GE, Berkowitz SD, Wells PS, Investigators E (2013) Oral rivaroxaban versus standard therapy for the treatment of symptomatic venous thromboen lism: a pooled analysis of the EINSTEIN-DVT and PE randomized studies. Thromb J 11:21
- Rauchhaus M, Doehner W, Francis DP, Davos C, Kemp M, Liebenthal C, Niebauer J, Hooper J, Volk HD, Coats AJ, Anker SD (2000) Plasma cytokine parameters and mortality in patients with chronic heart failure. Circulation 102:3060–3067
- Roberts WC, Siegel RJ, McManus BM (1987) Idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy: analysis of 152 necropsy patients. Am J Cardiol 60:1340–1355
- Rosamond W, Flegal K, Friday G, Furie K, Go A, Greenlund K, Haase N, Ho M, Howard V, Kissela B, Kittner S, Lloyd-Jones D, McDermott M, Meigs J, Moy C, Nichol G, O'Donnell CJ, Roger V, Rumsfeld J, Sorlie P, Steinberger J, Thom T, Wasserthiel-Smoller S, Hong Y (2007) Committee ftAHAS and Subcommittee SS. Heart Disease and Stroke Statistics—2007 Update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Circulation 115:e69–e171
- Samama MM (2000) An epidemiologic study of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis in medical outpatients: the Sirius study. Arch Intern Med 160:3415–3420
- Schein JR, White CM, Nelson WW, Kluger J, Mearns ES, Coleman CI (2016) Vitamin K antagonist use: evidence of the difficulty of achieving and maintaining target INR range and subsequent consequences. Thromb J. 14:14
- Schellong SM (2015) Dabigatran for the treatment of venous thromboembolism. Expert Rev Hematol 8:413–425
- Schoner A, Tyrrell C, Wu M, Gelow JM, Hayes AA, Lindner JR, Thornburg KL, Hasan W (2015) Endocardial endothelial dysfunction progressively disrupts initially anti then pro-thrombotic pathways in heart failure mice. PLoS One 10:e0142940
- Schulman S, Kearon C (2005) Definition of major bleeding in clinical investigations of antihemostatic medicinal products in non-surgical patients. J Thromb Haemost 3:692–694
- Schulman S, Kearon C, Kakkar AK, Mismetti P, Schellong S, Eriksson H, Baanstra D, Schnee J, Goldhaber SZ, Group R-CS (2009) Dabigatran versus warfarin in the treatment of acute venous thromboembolism. N Engl J Med 361:2342–2352
- Schulman S, Kakkar AK, Goldhaber SZ, Schellong S, Eriksson H, Mismetti P, Christiansen AV, Friedman J, Le Maulf F, Peter N, Kearon C, Investigators R-CIT (2014) Treatment of acute venous thromboembolism with dabigatran or warfarin and pooled analysis. Circulation 129:764–772

- Uretsky BF, Thygesen K, Armstrong PW, Cleland JG, Horowitz JD, Massie BM, Packer M, Poole-Wilson PA, Ryden L (2000) Acute coronary findings at autopsy in heart failure patients with sudden death: results from the assessment of treatment with lisinopril and survival (ATLAS) trial. Circulation 102:611–616
- van Diepen S, Hellkamp AS, Patel MR, Becker RC, Breithardt G, Hacke W, Halperin JL, Hankey GJ, Nessel CC, Singer DE, Berkowitz SD, Califf RM, Fox KA, Mahaffey KW (2013) Efficacy and safety of rivaroxaban in patients with heart failure and nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: insights from ROCKET AF. Circ Heart Fail 6:740–747
- van Walraven C, Hart RG, Singer DE, Laupacis A, Connolly S, Petersen P, Koudstaal PJ, Chang Y, Hellemons B (2002) Oral anticoagulants vs aspirin in nonvalvular atrial fibrillation: an individual patient meta-analysis. JAMA 288:2441–2448
- Vandvik PO, Lincoff AM, Gore JM, Gutterman DD, Sonnenberg FA, Alonso-Coello P, Akl EA, Lansberg MG, Guyatt GH, Spencer FA (2012) Primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease: antithrombotic therapy and prevention of thrombosis, 9th ed: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines. Chest 141:e637S– e668S
- Witt BJ, Brown RD Jr, Jacobsen SJ, Weston SA, Ballman KV, Meverden RA, Roger VL (2006) Ischemic stroke after heart failure: a community-based study. Am Heart J 152:102–109
- Xiong Q, Lau YC, Senoo K, Lane DA, Hong K, Lip GY (2015) Non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants (NOACs) in patients with concomitant atrial fibrillation and heart failure: a systemic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials. Eur J Heart Fail 17:1192–1200
- Yamamoto K, Ikeda U, Furuhashi K, Irokawa M, Nakayama T, Shimada K (1995) The coagulation system is activated in idiopathic cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol 25:1634–1640
- Zannad F, Stough WG, Regnault V, Gheorghiade M, Deliargyris E, Gibson CM, Agewall S, Berkowitz SD, Burton P, Calvo G, Goldstein S, Verheugt FW, Koglin J, O'Connor CM (2013) Is thrombosis a contributor to heart failure pathophysiology? Possible mechanisms, therapeutic opportunities, and clinical investigation challenges. Int J Cardiol 167:1772–1782
- Zannad F, Greenberg B, Cleland JG, Gheorghiade M, van Veldhuisen DJ, Mehra MR, Anker SD, Byra WM, Fu M, Mills RM (2015) Rationale and design of a randomized, double-blind, eventdriven, multicentre study comparing the efficacy and safety of oral rivaroxaban with placebo for reducing the risk of death, myocardial infarction or stroke in subjects with heart failure and significant coronary artery disease following an exacerbation of heart failure: the COM-MANDER HF trial. Eur J Heart Fail 17:735–742

Role of Hyperkalemia in Heart Failure and the Therapeutic Use of Potassium Binders

Chaudhry M.S. Sarwar, Aditi A. Bhagat, Stefan D. Anker, and Javed Butler

Contents

1	Introduction of Hyperkalemia	538
	1.1 Definition and Diagnosis	538
	1.2 Epidemiology and Risk	539
2	Potassium Homeostasis Under Physiologic Conditions	539
	2.1 Regulation of Potassium by RAAS	540
3	Mechanism of Hyperkalemia in Heart Failure	540
4	Magnesium Homeostasis	542
5	Causes of Hyperkalemia	542
6	Hyperkalemia Affects Optimization of RAASi Therapy	544
7	Management of Hyperkalemia	544
8	Clinical Perspective	545
	8.1 Use of RAASi in CKD	546
9	Use of Potassium Binding Resins in Treatment of Hyperkalemia	546
	9.1 Sodium Polystyrene Sulfonate (SPS)	546
	9.2 Novel Therapies for Hyperkalemia	546
10	Effect of Patiromer and ZS-9 on Aldosterone and Blood Pressure	554
	10.1 Aldosterone	554
	10.2 Blood Pressure	554
11	Chronic Use for Prevention of Hyperkalemia	555
12	Hyperkalemia: State of the New Treatments	555
13	Conclusion	556
Fund	ding Source	556
Con	flict of Interest, Disclosures, and Relationship with Industry	556
Refe	erences	556

C.M.S. Sarwar • A.A. Bhagat • J. Butler (🖂)

Cardiology Division, Stony Brook University, Stony Brook, NY, USA e-mail: javed.butler@stonybrookmedicine.edu

S.D. Anker

Innovative Clinical Trials, Department of Cardiology and Pneumology, University Medical Center Göttingen (UMG), Göttingen, Germany

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2017

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_25

Abstract

Hyperkalemia can be a life-threatening disorder, especially for at-risk patients with heart failure, chronic kidney disease, with diabetes, and patients on certain drugs like renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system antagonists and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists. There are limited therapeutic options available for hyperkalemia, and they have narrow effectiveness because of their unfavorable side effects profile in long-term and high cost utilization requiring inpatient care. Patiromersorbitex calcium and sodium zirconium cyclosilicate are novel potassium-lowering compounds for the treatment and prevention of hyperkalemia in at-risk population. These therapeutic agents have shown encouraging results in early phase II and phase III clinical trials. However, there is need to further study their efficacy and safety in heart failure population in order to establish their clinical use. The focus of this chapter will be to promote better understanding of potassium homeostasis in heart failure patients and the mechanistic overview of novel drugs, with emphasis on heart failure population.

Keywords

Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors • Angiotensin receptor blockers • Chronic kidney disease • Heart failure • Hyperkalemia • Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist • Patiromer • Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors and sodium polystyrene sulfonate • Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate

Approximately 26 million people globally have heart failure (HF) (Ponikowski et al. 2014). By virtue of their disease, comorbidities, and medical therapy, these patients are at risk for hyperkalemia, which is a frequent disorder in these patients. Its incidence is up to 10% in hospitalized patients while 75% of these cases are due to medications. Hyperkalemia can potentiate the already elevated risk of arrhythmias in heart failure patients. Heart failure patients have a high prevalence of chronic kidney disease, which further heightens the risk of hyperkalemia, especially when using renin-angiotensinaldosterone system inhibitors (RASSi). The current treatment for acute hyperkalemia may not be tolerated for chronic or preventive purposes. Recent randomized clinical studies on two novel drugs for hyperkalemia, namely patiromer and sodium zirconium cyclosilicate, have shown favorable data to treat and prevent high serum potassium levels on a more chronic basis. This has caused increased interest in the treatment of hyperkalemia as well as the potential use of RAASi in intolerant patients.

1 Introduction of Hyperkalemia

1.1 Definition and Diagnosis

Serum potassium level higher than 5.0 mmol/L is defined as hyperkalemia (An et al. 2012). Hyperkalemia signs or symptoms include weakness, fatigue, nausea, chest pain, shortness of breath, and paralysis. However, most patients with hyperkalemia

are asymptomatic. Hyperkalemia is usually discovered through routine blood screening and once diagnosed, additional investigations such as electrocardiograms are performed to determine the severity.

1.2 Epidemiology and Risk

Among hospitalized patients for any cause, the prevalence of hyperkalemia has been estimated at 1-10% (Acker et al. 1998). Patients with chronic medical conditions such as chronic kidney disease (CKD), heart failure (HF), diabetes mellitus, and those using renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors (RAASi) are at 2–3 times higher risk for developing hyperkalemia (Jain et al. 2012; McMurray et al. 2012; Yancy et al. 2013a, b). With the rise in the aging population, there is an increase in the number of patients with CKD and HF. Therefore, there is an increase in the number of patients who are utilizing RAASi and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRA). Hyperkalemia can be a life-threatening condition due to an increased risk for arrhythmias (An et al. 2012; Khanagavi et al. 2014). Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi), angiotensin receptor blockers (ARBs), and mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRAs) all have proven benefit in patients who are also at high risk for hyperkalemia (Juurlink et al. 2004). Hyperkalemia secondary to these conditions and therapies leads to intolerance or suboptimal dosages of RAASi and MRA. The discontinuation of RAASi due to hyperkalemia represents an unfavorable clinical compromise. Importantly, many clinical trials have excluded patients with advanced CKD and hyperkalemia or at risk for hyperkalemia, leaving behind a critical evidence gap in pharmacotherapy for these high-risk patients.

2 Potassium Homeostasis Under Physiologic Conditions

Potassium is freely filtered by the renal glomeruli and is predominantly regulated by the kidneys, which under normal circumstances have a substantial capacity to excrete potassium without clinically significant hyperkalemia (Fig. 1). Under physiologic conditions, the kidneys are responsible for excreting 90% of the potassium that is consumed daily (Rabelink et al. 1990). Most of the potassium is absorbed in the proximal tubule and loop of Henle, while only 10% reaches the distal tubule (Gumz et al. 2015; Palmer 2004). If potassium is in excess in the serum, it is secreted into the tubular lumen by the principal cells present in the renal collecting duct. Potassium excretion is also mediated by the luminal membrane potassium channels that respond to the electrochemical gradient generated by the basolateral membrane Na-K-ATPase pump and a luminal membrane sodium channel.



Fig. 1 Potassium homeostasis. Kidneys tend to maintain the potassium levels and regulate its excretion and reabsorption

2.1 Regulation of Potassium by RAAS

Serum potassium concentration and RAAS regulate the secretion of aldosterone. Renin is secreted by the juxtaglomerular cells present in the afferent arterioles in response to low renal perfusion pressures and stimulates the conversion of angiotensin I, derived from angiotensinogen in the liver, to angiotensin II by angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) (Fig. 2). Angiotensin II stimulates the zona glomerulosa in the adrenal glands to release aldosterone. Aldosterone regulates the secretion of potassium in the collecting duct and sodium concentration in the distal tubule (Palmer 2004). In addition, high serum potassium directly stimulates aldosterone to excrete potassium from the distal tubules and leads to decreased serum potassium levels (Young et al. 1984; Pratt et al. 1989).

3 Mechanism of Hyperkalemia in Heart Failure

Under physiologic conditions, serum aldosterone concentration varies inversely with the delivery of sodium to the distal nephron so that potassium excretion remains independent of changes in the extracellular fluid volume (Rabelink et al. 1990; Palmer 2004; Gumz et al. 2015). However, in HF, increased aldosterone causes increased absorption of sodium in the proximal tubules resulting in its



Fig. 2 Activation of renin angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS)

decreased delivery to the distal nephrons and thus decreased potassium excretion. The use of RAASi in the presence of tubulointerstitial renal disease increases the risk of hyperkalemia by developing resistance to already reduced aldosterone levels (Young et al. 1984; Palmer 2004). Many of the diseases that affect tubular function also impair the release of renin and result in hyporeninemic hypoaldosteronism and impaired tubular function (Palmer 2004).

Renal hypoperfusion in HF leads to renin elevation and stimulates the synthesis of aldosterone, causing the excretion of potassium while high potassium concentrations can directly inhibit RAAS (Dargie 1990). ACEis block the stimulatory effect of angiotensin II on aldosterone secretion, while ARBs prevent angiotensin II from binding to its adrenal receptors (Dargie 1990). In addition, both of these drugs may interfere with angiotensin I production locally within the adrenal glands (Shier et al. 1989). RAASi such as ACEis, ARBs, MRAs, and direct renin inhibitors are associated with an increased risk of hyperkalemia, particularly when administered in combination (Takaichi et al. 2007).

Hyperkalemia can also develop secondary to decreased delivery of sodium to the distal nephron, aldosterone deficiency, and abnormal functioning of the cortical collecting tubule. Hence, these abnormalities can result from the effects of other drugs, underlying disease, or commonly combination of both. These mechanisms are explained below:

 Decreased delivery of sodium to the distal nephron tubule: In normal circumstances, serum aldosterone concentration varies inversely with the delivery of sodium to the distal nephron so that potassium excretion remains independent of changes in extracellular fluid volume. However, in HF, the increased aldosterone causes increased absorption of sodium in the proximal tubules resulting in its decreased delivery to the distal nephrons. Despite the increased concentration of aldosterone, the decreased sodium availability results in decreased potassium excretion (Na^{+/}K⁺ pump). In this setting, these drugs may also cause the serum creatinine concentration to rise due to the reduction in intraglomerular pressure that is no longer offset by an increase in glomerular perfusion.

- Decreased aldosterone levels: The use of RAASi in heart failure reduces the aldosterone concentration, but RAASi are often not sufficient to impair the excretion of potassium in most cases. The development of hyperkalemia due to decreased aldosterone levels is usually seen before the administration of RAASi.
- 3. Adrenal cortical dysfunction: The use of RAASi in the presence of tubulointerstitial renal disease increases the risk of hyperkalemia by developing resistance to already reduced aldosterone levels. Many of the diseases that affect tubular function also impair the release of renin. As a result, hyporeninemic hypoaldosteronism and impaired tubular function may coexist (Palmer 2002, 2004).

4 Magnesium Homeostasis

The role of magnesium and its pathophysiology in heart failure remains less well studied when compared to other electrolyte abnormalities. However, it is established that early and effective correction of magnesium disturbances is favorable in HF subjects (Douban 1996, p. 398).

In decompensated HF, an excess catecholamine release can significantly influence the trans-cellular magnesium shift. Furthermore, hypomagnesaemia in HF stems from reduced dietary intake, impaired absorption of micronutrients due to intestinal edema, altered distribution of the ion, and renal losses. Respiratory alkalosis may produce a decrease in serum magnesium due to the shift of magnesium into the intracellular compartment. In animal models, magnesium deficiency leads to the development of mitochondrial alterations with calcium accumulation, cell death, and multifocal myocardial necrosis. Hypomagnesaemia seems to have vasoconstrictor properties secondary to the inhibition of prostaglandin-induced relaxation and to the enhancement of the activity of the vasoconstrictor neurohormones through alterations in calcium uptake. In addition, magnesium depletion is a feature of diuretic therapy but there is a paucity of published data concerning the relationship between magnesium and the activity of the reninangiotensin system in HF (Dargie 1990, p. 399).

5 Causes of Hyperkalemia

Some etiologies of hyperkalemia include the following (see Figs. 3 and 4):

- 1. Hormonal disorders, for example: Addison's disease, hyporeninemic hypoaldosteronism.
- Chronic conditions, for example: Diabetes mellitus, CKD, and diseases with cell membrane instability that can cause intra- and extracellular potassium shifts (Bramlage et al. 2016; Packham and Kosiborod 2016).



Fig. 3 Relationship of hyperkalemia in heart failure patients as renal function declines. Impaired renal function increases the risk of hyperkalemia in both placebo and MRA-treated patients. *WRF* worsening renal function, *eGFR* estimated glomerular filtration rate. Adapted and modified from: Go AS, et al. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:1296–1130



Fig. 4 Relation of chronic kidney disease with the prevalence of heart failure and diabetes mellitus. Prevalence of HF and diabetes mellitus may increase the risk of hyperkalemia based on disease and concomitant therapies. eGFR estimated glomerular filtration rate, N sample size. Adapted and modified from: Go AS, et al. N Engl J Med. 2004;351:1296–1130

- 3. Medications, for example: RAASi, MRA, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, diuretics, and heparin. MRAs or RAASi increase the risk of hyperkalemia (Yancy et al. 2013a, b). The use of ACEi is attributed to the development of hyperkalemia in 10–38% of hospitalized patients (Acker et al. 1998; Ahuja et al. 2000) while hyperkalemia develops in up to 10% of the outpatient population within 1 year of prescribing RAASi (Reardon and Macpherson 1998). Patients with renal insufficiency or diabetes are at higher risk of hyperkalemia (Palmer 2004).
- 4. Excess dietary intake of foods high in potassium or sodium supplements that contain high potassium content can also cause hyperkalemia (Aaron and Sanders 2013; Go et al. 2004; Vardeny et al. 2012).

6 Hyperkalemia Affects Optimization of RAASi Therapy

RAASi therapy (ACEi, ARBs, and MRAs) improves survival and decreases hospitalization in high-risk heart failure patients. However, in clinical practice, these drugs are often discontinued or dosages are decreased to suboptimal levels due to hyperkalemia. RAAS is implicated in cardio-renal syndrome (both types 1 and 2). These patients develop diuretic resistance due to sodium retention, which has led to the increased use of continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis. However, this form of dialysis often leads to hyperkalemia, which in turn leads to the discontinuation or suboptimal dosing of RAASi therapy.

In the PARADIGM-HF trial, despite renal function, potassium-based eligibility criteria, and a run-in period, about 15% of patients in both the LCZ696 and enalapril arms developed hyperkalemia (McMurray et al. 2014). In the Randomized Aldactone Evaluation Study (RALES) trial, the beneficial effect of spironolactone continued in the treatment group versus placebo group despite higher potassium levels in the treatment group (4.54 \pm 0.49 versus 4.28 \pm 0.50 mmol/L; P < 0.001), but there was higher mortality risk observed when potassium levels increased above 5.5 mmol/L in the spironolactone group (Vardeny et al. 2014). This beneficial effect of spironolactone compared to placebo was maintained at all levels of hyper- or hypokalemia showing a U-shaped relationship between potassium levels and mortality. The use of spironolactone increased post RALES trial, but hospitalizations attributed to hyperkalemia also increased from 2.4/1.000 in 1994 to 11/1,000 patients in 2001 (P < 0.001) (Juurlink et al. 2004). Additionally, the rate of in-hospital hyperkalemia-associated death in HF patients also increased from 0.10/ 1,000 patients in 1994 to 0.39/1,000 in 2001 (P < 0.001) (Juurlink et al. 2004). This data reflects the importance of hyperkalemia while optimizing the RAASi dose and the need to carefully monitor the potassium levels (Sarwar et al. 2016).

7 Management of Hyperkalemia

In general, the management of hyperkalemia depends on the severity and etiology as summarized below and in Table 1;

- 1. *Emergent*: In the presence of electrocardiographic changes (for example: peaked T-waves, short QT interval, wide QRS complex) and/or potassium levels above 7.0 mmol/L regardless of electrocardiographic changes, intravenous calcium is administered to patients to prevent arrhythmias (Weisberg 2008). In addition, insulin and beta-2 adrenoceptor agonists are used to rapidly lower serum potassium levels by redistributing potassium from the extracellular to intracellular space. However, this is a temporizing measure (Palmer 2004).
- Intermediate: In patients with poor kidney function or unresponsive to other treatments, dialysis can be used. Sodium bicarbonate is an effective strategy to minimize increases in the potassium concentration in patients with CKD and metabolic acidosis (Wilmer et al. 2003). Loop diuretics also lower potassium by

Severity	Treatment	Goal
Emergent	Calcium gluconate	Cellular membrane stabilization
	Insulin	Intracellular potassium shift
	Beta-adrenoreceptor agonists	Intracellular potassium shift
Intermediate	Dialysis	Potassium removal from body
	Loop diuretics	Potassium removal from body
	Thiazide diuretics	Potassium removal from body
	Sodium bicarbonate in patient with	Intracellular potassium shift
	metabolic acidosis	
Maintenance	Review of medication list and	Target potassium balance between
	dietary supplements	intake/production and excretion
	Low potassium diet	
	Reduce renin angiotensin-	
	converting enzyme inhibitors dose	
	Stop offending medications	
	Potassium binding resins	

Table 1 Treatment options for hyperkalemia

increasing the delivery of sodium to the collecting duct and increasing the excretion of potassium (Palmer 2004).

3. *Maintenance*: Several measures can be taken including dietary potassium intake restriction, dose reduction, administration on an every-other-day basis, or complete discontinuation of the drugs that impair potassium excretion (Palmer 2004). The decision is made after reviewing all dietary and herbal supplements in addition to salt substitutes. Potassium binding resins can also be used. However, until recently, the only approved ion-exchange resin was sodium polystyrene sulfonate, which was not well tolerated and may have caused colonic necrosis and intestinal injury (Sterns et al. 2010). Patiromer has recently been approved for use, expanding the few options of therapies available for the management of these patients. However, chronic therapy targeting prevention of hyperkalemia and subsequent optimization of RAASi needs further studies.

8 Clinical Perspective

The risk of hyperkalemia in HF patients is increased in the presence of CKD. In the Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE), over 60% (n = 105,388) of patients had kidney disease (Adams et al. 2005). The prevalence of hyperkalemia in CKD patients can be up to 20% and is associated with increased mortality, major adverse cardiovascular events, and discontinuation of RAASi therapy (Luo et al. 2016). The use of RAASi in high-risk patients with cardiovascular disease, myocardial infarction, HF, diabetes, and CKD can improve outcomes. However, most trials excluded patients with moderate or severe CKD, which is common in HF patients – especially at an advanced stage (Butler and Givertz 2014). Recent development of effective and safe potassium binders may allow the assessment of RAASi in this high-risk patient population.

8.1 Use of RAASi in CKD

Since the use of novel potassium binders is still in the early clinical stages, the following considerations are important in RAASi therapy in patients with CKD:

- 1. Potassium supplements or salt substitutes containing potassium need to be discontinued or used with close monitoring, if needed.
- 2. Using low doses of both RAASi and MRA may be more beneficial over using a high dose of one drug and not using the second class of drugs altogether. Although optimal doses of ACEi and ARB are associated with better outcomes in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) (Packer et al. 1999; Konstam et al. 2009), low doses of RAASi are better than not using these drugs altogether.
- 3. With declining renal function, the risk of hyperkalemia and the rate of worsening renal function need to be monitored. At present, there are no specific guidelines but it is suggested that ACEi or ARB doses may be reduced or stopped temporarily or even permanently with eGFR less than 15–30 mL/min, while they can be used in dialysis patients with careful monitoring. Currently, MRAs are contraindicated in patients with eGRF <30 mL/min. However, it is advised that these decisions be individualized, as there is no consensus and limited evidence is available in such situations.

9 Use of Potassium Binding Resins in Treatment of Hyperkalemia

9.1 Sodium Polystyrene Sulfonate (SPS)

Sodium polystyrene sulfonate (SPS) was the first potassium binding resin approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 1958. It is an organic compound that exchanges electrolytes, including potassium for sodium, in the gastrointestinal tract. It is often combined with sorbitol to enhance its delivery to the GI tract and avoid constipation. Due to its adverse side effect profile, sodium polystyrene sulfonate has significant limitations for chronic use and has not been evaluated in large randomized trials (Kessler et al. 2011; Harel et al. 2013; Yuan et al. 2013). In addition to gastrointestinal side effects that include severe and even fatal gastrointestinal complications, its use in HF is limited as it may worsen edema by exchanging sodium for potassium ions (Nepal et al. 2010).

9.2 Novel Therapies for Hyperkalemia

Patiromer (patiromersorbitex calcium/RLY5016) and sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (ZS-9) are two new promising potassium-lowering compounds (Table 2).

	Sodium polystyrene	Patiromersorbitex calcium	Sodium zirconium
FDA approval	Approved as Kayexalate	Approved as Veltassa	Under review
Structure	Benzene, diethenyl- polymer, with ethenylbenzene, sulfonated, sodium salt, organic polymer	100 μm bead, organic polymer	Octahedral, micropore ring 3 Å diameter, inorganic crystal
Mechanism of action	Binds Na ⁺ , K ⁺ , Ca ²⁺ , or Mg ² High selectivity for Ca ⁺² (Stavros et al. 2014) Works mostly in colon (Stavros et al. 2014)	Binds Na ⁺ , K ⁺ , Ca ²⁺ , or Mg ² Works mostly in colon (Stavros et al. 2014)	Selectivity for K ⁺ Works in entire GI tract (Stavros et al. 2014)
Administration	15–60 g, up to 4 times daily (Bashour et al. 1975)	21–35 g, twice daily, oral (Weir et al. 2015b)	5–15 g, once daily, oral (Packham et al. 2015)
Storage temperature	Room temperature (Sterns et al. 2010)	2–8°C (Weir et al. 2015b)	Room temperature (Packham et al. 2015)
Efficacy			
Normalize serum K ⁺	Variable and not known	1 week (mean) (Weir et al. 2015b)	2.2 h (mean) (Kosiborod et al. 2014)
Normokalemia maintained	Variable and not known	52 weeks (so far known) (Bakris et al. 2015)	52 weeks (so far known) (FDA 2014)
Safety			
Edema	Not known	None	1.3% (14 days) (Packham et al. 2015), 7.9% (28 days) (Kosiborod et al. 2014)
Worsening of CKD	Not known	6.3% (over 52 weeks) (Bakris et al. 2015)	Not known
Mild-to-moderate GI AE	Variable (Lepage et al. 2015)	15% (52 weeks) (Bakris et al. 2015)	5.3% (open-label phase) (Kosiborod et al. 2014) 1.8% (maintenance phase) (Kosiborod et al. 2014)
AE	1	1	
Severe GI AE	Colonic necrosis: case reports (Sterns et al. 2010; Watson et al. 2010)	None	None
Hypomagnesemia	Reported (Bashour et al. 1975)	7.2–24% (Pitt et al. 2011; Bakris et al. 2015; Weir et al. 2015b)	None

 Table 2
 Comparison of sodium polystyrene sulfonate (SPS), patiromersorbitex calcium (RLY5016), and sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (ZS-9)
	Sodium polystyrene sulfonate	Patiromersorbitex calcium	Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate
Hypokalemia/ increased QTc	Reported (Einbinder et al. 2015)	3-5.6% (Bakris et al. 2015; Pitt et al. 2015)	0–11% (Kosiborod et al. 2014), dose dependent
Calcium	Reported hypercalcemia (Bashour et al. 1975)	Possible hypocalcemia (Allon and Shanklin 1996), rare	None
Phosphosphate	Not known	None to minimal (Pitt et al. 2011, 2015)	None

Table 2 (continued)

FDA US Food and Drug Administration, Na^+ sodium ion, Ca^{2+} calcium ion, Mg^2 magnesium ion, K^+ potassium ion, Å angstrom unit, *GI* gastrointestinal, *AE* adverse events, *CKD* chronic kidney disease, *QTc* QT interval

9.2.1 Patiromer

Patiromer is a non-absorbed polymer that was recently approved for clinical use by the FDA that is designed to bind potassium in the gastrointestinal tract and reduce serum potassium levels. It was developed to have greater potassium binding ability than SPS by using calcium instead of sodium as the exchange cation. It is fully ionized for ion exchange at the physiological pH in the colon, where the potassium ion concentration is highest. Its properties are further described below:

Structure

Patiromer is comprised of a polymer anion and calcium-sorbitol counterion (RLY5016S) (Fig. 5). However, unlike SPS, the sorbitol amount in patiromer is 5–10 times less and does not induce diarrhea. Patiromer is a synthetic carboxylic acid compound made as a 100 μ m bead (lower molecular weight than SPS) with optimized flow and viscosity properties. It is made in a high-yield 2-step process with polymerization followed by hydrolysis (Li et al. 2016). This process forms an emulsion; the organic component forms spheres containing the monomer, which forms cross-links to make a polymer. Due to its lower pKa, patiromer is acidic and thus allows it to sustain its potassium binding capacity at the physiologic pH of the small and large intestines (Li et al. 2016, p. 397).

Mechanism of Action

Patiromer is administered twice daily and promotes ionization of the polymeric potassium-binding moiety under pH conditions present along the full length of the gastrointestinal tract, but predominantly in the colon (Sterns et al. 2010). As a result of this structure, patiromer exchanges monovalent (sodium ion-Na⁺) and divalent (calcium ion-Ca²⁺, magnesium ion-Mg²⁺) cations throughout the length of the gastrointestinal tract, preferentially binding potassium in the colon where its concentration is substantially higher than that of Na⁺, Ca²⁺, or Mg²⁺ (Fordtran and Locklear 1966). Increased potassium secretion in the colon through big-potassium channels represents an adaptive response to hyperkalemia, leading to the net effect



Fig. 5 Chemical structure of patiromer. http://www.relypsa.com/veltassa/prescribing-information/

of a reduction in serum potassium (Sorensen et al. 2010). Patiromer particles are too large to be absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract. Studies using quantitative wholebody autoradiography on rats treated with ¹⁴C-RLY5016 did not detect any radiolabeled patiromer-polymer outside the GI tract.

Efficacy

The Study Evaluating the Efficacy and Safety of Patiromer for the Treatment of Hyperkalemia (OPAL-HK) included 237 CKD patients with potassium levels ranging from 5.1 to 6.4 mmol/L who were on RAASi (Weir et al. 2015b). The study consisted of two phases: a 4-week phase in which patients received patiromer 4.2 or 8.4 g twice a day followed by an 8-week withdrawal phase in which patients were randomized to continue the initial dose or switched to placebo. Seventy-six percent of patients achieved normal potassium levels in 4 weeks. During the withdrawal phase, the incidence of hyperkalemia was 15% in the treatment arm and 60% in the placebo group. The Patiromer in the Treatment of Hyperkalemia in Patients With Hypertension and Diabetic Nephropathy (AMETHYST-DN) (Bakris et al. 2015) was a multicenter, open-label, dose-ranging, randomized trial with a total of 306 patients with diabetes mellitus, CKD (estimated glomerular filtration rate, 15 to $<60 \text{ mL/min}/1.73 \text{ m}^2$) and serum potassium levels above 5.0 mmol/L. All patients received RAASi prior to and during study treatment. Treatment with patiromer in both the mild and moderate hyperkalemia groups resulted in reduction in potassium levels at 4 weeks and was maintained at 52 weeks. It is important to note that patients in both the OPAL-HK and AMETHYST-DN trials were able to maintain RAASi therapy.

Efficacy Trials in Heart Failure

A subgroup analysis in the OPAL-HK trial studied the effects of patiromer in HF patients (Pitt et al. 2015). Of the 102 patients in the first 4 weeks, 76% patients achieved serum potassium levels ranging from 3.8 to 5.0 mmol/L. In the second withdrawal phase, hyperkalemia occurred in 52% (n = 22) of the patients on placebo and 8% (n = 27) of patients on patiromer (P < 0.001). The Evaluation of Patiromer in Heart Failure Patients (PEARL-HF) trial studied patiromer in patients with chronic HF (Pitt et al. 2011). Patients either had estimated glomerular filtration rate of <60 mL/min or had a history of hyperkalemia resulting in the discontinuation of a RAASi. A total of 155 patients were started on 25 mg/day of spironolactone and were randomized to double-blinded treatment with 30 g/day of patiromer or placebo for 4 weeks. At 4 weeks, the patiromer treatment group had significantly lower potassium levels (7.3% vs. 24.5%, P = 0.015) and was more likely to have spironolactone increased to 50 mg/day (91% vs. 74%, P = 0.019).

Safety and Tolerability

Patiromer is not absorbed by the gastrointestinal tract and therefore has a safer side effect profile. In addition, the uniform spherical shape, bead size, and low swelling ratio may contribute to the improved tolerability of patiromer. In the OPAL-HK trial the most common adverse side effect was constipation (11%) followed by diarrhea (8%), hypomagnesemia (8%), and hypokalemia (3%). Magnesium replacement therapy was initiated in 4% of patients during the initial phase. In the withdrawal phase, constipation, diarrhea, and nausea (4% each) were the most commonly reported gastrointestinal events with patiromer while none of these events occurred in the placebo group (Pitt et al. 2015). Hypomagnesemia is reported in clinical trials studying patiromer, but there are no significant neuromuscular or cardiac abnormalities noted with treatment (Pitt et al. 2011; Bakris et al. 2015; Weir et al. 2015b; Fulton n.d.).

In the PEARL-HF trial, the most common adverse events were gastrointestinal (12%, n = 21: flatulence, diarrhea, constipation, or vomiting) (Pitt et al. 2011). When patiromer is used as preventive therapy, hypokalemia is an important concern in HF patients. In the PEARL-HF trial, hypokalemia (<3.5 mmol/L) was present in 6% of patients on patiromer versus 0% of placebo patients (P = 0.094) (Pitt et al. 2011). In addition, hypomagnesemia (<1.8 mg/dL) was observed in 24% of patients in the treatment group versus 2.1% of patients in the placebo group. Adverse events resulting in patient withdrawal were similar in both groups (Pitt et al. 2011).

Interaction with Other Drugs

In vitro studies showed patiromer binding greater than 30% in 14 of the 28 drugs tested. The following is a list of drugs and the extent of interaction with patiromer:

- 30–50% binding to: clopidogrel, furosemide, metformin, warfarin, metoprolol, verapamil, and lithium.
- >50% binding to: amlodipine, cinacalcet, ciprofloxacin, levothyroxine, quinidine, thiamine, and trimethoprim (Department of Health and Human Services 2015).
- 30% reduction in availability of valsartan and rosiglitazone in preclinical coadministration studies in rats (Pitt et al. 2011).

However, the Phase 1 open label three-way crossover randomized trial conducted per FDA recommendations on 12 of 14 drugs tested in healthy patients showed (1) no clinically meaningful reduction in absorption and no impact on peak concentration (C_{max}) of lithium, trimethoprim, verapamil, and warfarin; (2) no clinically meaningful reduction in absorption with some reduction in C_{max} of amlodipine, cinacalcet, clopidogrel, furosemide, and metoprolol; and (3) reduced absorption and C_{max} of ciprofloxacin, levothyroxine, and metformin. Quinidine and thiamine were not tested (http://www.investor.relypsa.com/releasedetail.cfm? releaseid=951581).

9.2.2 Sodium Zirconium Cyclosilicate (ZS-9)

ZS-9 is an inorganic, orally administered, potassium-binding compound that has recently been investigated in Phase II and III clinical trials. It is under review by the FDA for approval for clinical use.

Structure

The structure of ZS-9 is composed of octahedrally and tetrahedrally oxygen linked zirconium (Zr) and silicon atoms (Fig. 6). Zirconium has very low toxicity and has been known to selectively extract ammonium from cation mixtures. ZS-9 is administered once daily and was developed after the modification of the Zr molecule so that it would resemble the physiologic potassium ion channel. It selectively captures potassium by filtering ions based on diameter. This is accomplished by the use of a selectivity filter (Fulton n.d.). To pass through the channel, the potassium ion must shed its hydration sphere to allow interaction with the carbonyl oxygen in the channel. Sodium and potassium would both fit in the ZS-9 structure ring but after shedding their hydration shells, only potassium fits in the ZS-9 pore (Stavros et al. 2014) (Fig. 7). The average size of the pore is approximately 3 Å.

Mechanism of Action

ZS-9 is not absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract due to its insoluble properties and is available as free-floating, odorless, tasteless, white crystalline powder. Unlike sodium polystyrene sulfonate, ZS-9 is an inorganic compound that specifically traps monovalent cations (potassium and ammonium) rather than divalent cations (for example: Ca^{2+} and Mg^{2+}). Since it is not systemically absorbed, the risk of systemic toxicity is low (Kosiborod et al. 2014; Ash et al. 2015; Packham et al. 2015). The potassium exchange capacity of ZS-9 was studied using a simulated gastrointestinal



Fig. 6 ZS-9 pore detail with a potassium ion (**a**), a sodium ion (**b**), and a calcium ion (**c**). The specificity for the potassium is likely due to the size and binding sites of the pores. Adapted from: Stavros S, et al. PloS one. 2014;9:e114686



Fig. 7 Physiologic potassium channel and its selectivity to K^+ . After shedding the water coat, the K^+ is able to pass through the channel while Na⁺ is not, by the virtue of its small size and inability to interact with the oxygen atoms. Adapted from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0114686. g002

tract medium with varying concentrations of ZS-9 and medium pH (Stavros et al. 2014). In simulated gastric fluid (pH ~1.2), there is an observed initial drop in potassium concentration that reverses soon afterwards. In the small intestine (pH ~4.5), there is an immediate uptake of potassium followed by a small release

with equilibrium reached in about 20 min. In the large intestine (pH 6.8), there is a rapid uptake of potassium during the first 10 min followed by slower but continuous uptake over the next hour with no further increase thereafter. It was also observed that the binding capacity of ZS-9 increased proportionally with increasing concentrations of the drug, ranging between 0.5 and 50 mg/ml. These results concluded that in environments mimicking the human gastrointestinal tract, ZS-9 led to potassium equilibrium relatively quickly (less than 20 min) (Stavros et al. 2014). After shedding its water coat, magnesium has a diameter of 1.44 which is not sufficient to capture the oxygen bonds of ZS-9 (Paula et al. 1996; Stavros et al. 2014).

Efficacy

ZS-9 led to a dose-dependent reduction in serum potassium levels over 14 days, including at 48 h in the ZS-003 trial (Packham et al. 2015). In another short-term phase II study by Ash et al., even lower doses of ZS-9 showed favorable results with significant reductions in potassium levels (Ash et al. 2015).

The Hyperkalemia Randomized Intervention Multi-Dose ZS-9 Maintenance Clinical Trial (HARMONIZE) (Kosiborod et al. 2014) enrolled ambulatory patients with hyperkalemia (>5.1 mmol/L). In the first 48 h, patients (n = 258) received 10 g of ZS-9 3 times a day, which resulted in the reduction of potassium levels from 5.6 to 4.5 mmol/L. The median time to normalization was 2.2 h. Normokalemia was achieved in 84% of patients within 24 h and 98% of patients within 48 h. This was followed by the maintenance phase, where patients who achieved normokalemia were randomized to receive ZS-9 5 g (n = 45), ZS-9 10 g (n = 51), ZS-9 15 g (n = 56), or placebo (n = 85) daily for 28 days. Maintenance of normokalemia was observed with once daily doses of ZS-9 at 5, 10, and 15 g with serum potassium levels of 4.8, 4.5, and 4.4 mmol/L, respectively versus placebo (5.1 mmol/L). The trial also illustrated that patients with higher baseline potassium levels experienced greater absolute reduction after ZS-9 treatment.

Efficacy in Heart Failure

A subgroup population analysis of heart failure patients (n = 94) from the HAR-MONIZE trial showed that all three doses of ZS-9 (5, 10, and 15 g) were effective in lowering and maintaining normal potassium levels with similar safety profile, including patients on RAASi therapy (Anker et al. 2015).

Safety and Tolerability

In the ZS-003 trial, the rate of adverse events was similar in the ZS-9 group (12.9%) and placebo group (10.8%), with diarrhea being the most common side effect in both groups (1.7% in ZS-9 vs. 2.2% in placebo). In the HARMONIZE trial, adverse events occurred in 53%, 29%, and 44% of patients receiving ZS-9 doses of 5 g, 10 g, and 15 g, respectively, versus a 32% adverse events occurrence in patients receiving the placebo. Edema was more common in the Zs-9 15 g group. Gastrointestinal side effects in the Zs-9 group occurred at similar rates in the placebo group

(7%, 2%, 9% for 5 g, 10 g, and 15 g groups, respectively, vs 14% placebo) (Ash et al. 2015).

10 Effect of Patiromer and ZS-9 on Aldosterone and Blood Pressure

10.1 Aldosterone

In HF pathophysiology, renal hypoperfusion activates the RAAS system which increases norepinephrine (NE) and angiotensin II, causing vasoconstriction and release of aldosterone through α -adrenergic and angiotensin II type 1 receptors (Holtz 1993). Salt and water retention is stimulated along with renal potassium excretion and activation of the sympathetic nervous system (Sobotka et al. 2012). RAASi inhibit aldosterone resulting in decreased potassium excretion (Palmer 2004; Urso et al. 2015). Weir et al. (2015a) analyzed the effect of patiromer on serum aldosterone levels in patients with CKD in the OPAL-HK trial. Patiromer utilization for 4 weeks and 8 weeks resulted in a reduction in plasma aldosterone levels and uriner aldosterone to creatinine ratio. Similarly, a reduction in systolic and diastolic blood pressures and urinary albumin to creatinine ratio was also observed. Data from the HARMONIZE trial showed a 30% reduction in serum aldosterone with ZS9 after 28 days of treatment. This improvement in laboratory data needs to be studied further in a clinical setting and its importance needs to be established in regards to clinical outcomes.

10.2 Blood Pressure

A subgroup analysis on a cohort of 79 out of 306 patients with diabetic kidney disease and resistant hypertension (defined as systolic blood pressure [SBP] >140 mmHg on four or more classes of antihypertensive drugs) who were treated with patiromer for hyperkalemia and continued on RAASi therapy for 52 weeks showed a decrease in systolic and diastolic blood pressures of -18 ± 17 mmHg/ -9.0 ± 13 mmHg, respectively (Epstein et al. 2016). The interim analysis of 711 patients enrolled in an ongoing ZS-9 study (ZS005) to evaluate the long-term (52 weeks) efficacy and safety of ZS-9 showed hypertension in 7% (48 out of 684) of patients (Tumlin 2015). Hence, treating hyperkalemia with patiromer in addition to maintenance of RAASi therapy may improve blood pressure control. In a post hoc analysis of OPAL-HK data in patients with CKD, hypertension and on diuretics, it was determined that the efficacy of patiromer was not compromised in this population (Weir 2017, p. 396). Further prospective data on patiromer is needed to further evaluate its clinical benefit on blood pressure in addition to hyperkalemia, especially when used chronically and preventively.

11 Chronic Use for Prevention of Hyperkalemia

The treatment of acute hyperkalemia is well recognized. It is equally important to develop chronic preventive treatments that can be used both by previously hyperkalemic patients and in those who are at risk of developing hyperkalemia. The utility of this approach will require long-term data on the safety of these compounds as well as the efficacy of such an approach to optimize RAASi utilization. This will require both clinical outcome and quality of life data that compares patients' willingness to continue therapy versus using other approaches, such as dietary potassium restriction in patients already on low carbohydrate and low sodium diets. In addition, the risk of rebound hyperkalemia in HF patients optimized on RAASi who are noncompliant with preventive hyperkalemic agents or abruptly discontinue therapy needs to be studied.

12 Hyperkalemia: State of the New Treatments

Further data on the safety of these new drugs needs to be considered. Additionally, this will provide an opportunity to study those groups of patients who were excluded from clinical trials due to hyperkalemia. Though subgroup analysis of HF patients supported the ability of these agents to continue RAASi, further trials to evaluate the up-titration of RAASi to optimal dosing regimens in HF are needed (Anker et al. 2015). Based on these evidence gaps, the following areas for future research are proposed:

- (a) Prevention of hyperkalemia and the ability to optimize RAASi. It is unknown if this is possible even if hyperkalemia is prevented since patients may still be intolerant of optimal doses of RAASi due to hypotension or worsening renal function.
- (b) Broadening the use of RAASi to patients with eGFR <30 mL/min, who have generally been excluded from previous trials. These patients may benefit more from RAASi due to higher risk but it is not known. Additionally, in this highrisk group the efficacy of novel binders may be different.
- (c) Assessing higher doses of RAASi than previously used, e.g., high dose in the setting of acute HF.
- (d) Cost-effectiveness data that may include impact of novel agents on length of stay in the hospital, admission to the intensive care unit, and need for rescue emergent treatment (such as death, arrhythmias, dialysis, and other emergent measures).
- (e) Patient demographics, including genetics and ethnicity. Outcome data is required through trials and more importantly through easy to conduct observational studies in the inpatient and outpatient setting.
- (f) These evidence gaps would likely require large-scale morbidity and mortality trials in the long term. However, short-term safety and tolerability trials would be more practical if the newer potassium lowering agents reduced hyperkalemia, rendering

the use of RAASi to improve outcomes in high-risk populations where it has not yet been tested.

13 Conclusion

The current HF guidelines recommend that MRAs should not be used in patients with eGFR less than 30 mL/min or serum potassium levels greater than 5.0 mmol/L (McMurray et al. 2012; Yancy et al. 2013a, b). This leads to the exclusion of a significant group of patients (18–40%) with HFrEF who are not prescribed MRAs (Maggioni et al. 2013; Tebbe et al. 2014). Similarly, the use of ACEi or ARB is only seen in 55–63% of patients with CKD in primary care patients. However, there is a lack of literature quantifying the role of hyperkalemia that results in decreased utilization of RAASi in this population (Mold et al. 2014). The promising initial results shown by patiromer and ZS-9 may impact this paradigm favorably. Although both compounds have demonstrated positive short-term and longer-term efficacy and tolerability, the long-term optimization of RAASi with the use of potassium binders needs to be evaluated, especially when compared to the standard of care treatment.

It is evident that there is need for treatment for both acute and chronic hyperkalemia, especially in the high-risk population with renal impairment and heart failure. If the development of newer agents like patiromer and ZS-9 is established by long-term safety and efficacy data, it may bring a positive paradigm shift to the management of hyperkalemia.

Funding Source

None.

Conflict of Interest, Disclosures, and Relationship with Industry

CS and AAB report no disclosures. JB reports receiving research support from the National Institutes of Health, and European Union, and serve as a consultant to Amgen, Astra Zeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Cardiocell, CVRx, Luitpold, Novartis, Relypsa, and ZS Pharma. S.D.A. has received honoraria from, and has been a consultant to ThermoFisher Scientific, Cardiorentis, Bayer HealthCare AG, ZS Pharma, Relypsa, Novartis Pharma AG, and Vifor Pharma.

References

Aaron KJ, Sanders PW (2013) Role of dietary salt and potassium intake in cardiovascular health and disease: a review of the evidence. Mayo Clin Proc 88(9):987–995

- Acker CG et al (1998) Hyperkalemia in hospitalized patients: causes, adequacy of treatment, and results of an attempt to improve physician compliance with published therapy guidelines. Arch Intern Med 158(8):917–924
- Adams KF Jr et al (2005) Characteristics and outcomes of patients hospitalized for heart failure in the United States: rationale, design, and preliminary observations from the first 100,000 cases in the Acute Decompensated Heart Failure National Registry (ADHERE). Am Heart J 149 (2):209–216
- Ahuja TS et al (2000) Predictors of the development of hyperkalemia in patients using angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. Am J Nephrol 20(4):268–272
- Allon M, Shanklin N (1996) Effect of bicarbonate administration on plasma potassium in dialysis patients: interactions with insulin and albuterol. Am J Kidney Dis 28(4):508–514
- An JN et al (2012) Severe hyperkalemia requiring hospitalization: predictors of mortality. Crit Care 16(6):R225
- Anker SD et al (2015) Maintenance of serum potassium with sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (ZS-9) in heart failure patients: results from a phase 3 randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. Eur J Heart Fail 17(10):1050–1056
- Ash SR et al (2015) A phase 2 study on the treatment of hyperkalemia in patients with chronic kidney disease suggests that the selective potassium trap, ZS-9, is safe and efficient. Kidney Int 88(2):404–411
- Bakris GL et al (2015) Effect of patiromer on serum potassium level in patients with hyperkalemia and diabetic kidney disease: the AMETHYST-DN randomized clinical trial. JAMA 314 (2):151–161
- Bashour TT et al (1975) Complete heart block with normal QRS duration occurring distal to the his bundle in acute inferior myocardial infarction. J Electrocardiol 8(2):185–190
- Bramlage P et al (2016) Non-steroidal mineralocorticoid receptor antagonism for the treatment of cardiovascular and renal disease. Eur J Heart Fail 18(1):28–37
- Butler J, Givertz MM (2014) Response to sexton: inhibiting the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in patients with heart failure and renal dysfunction: common sense or nonsense? Circ Heart Fail 7(3):537–540
- Dargie HJ (1990) Interrelation of electrolytes and renin-angiotensin system in congestive heart failure. Am J Cardiol 65(10):28E–32E. Discussion 52E
- Department of Health and Human Services, P. H. S., Food and Drug Administration (2015) Risk assessment and risk mitigation review. Center for Drug Evaluation and Research
- Douban S, Brodsky MA, Whang DD, Whang R (1996) Significance of magnesium in congestive heart failure. Am Heart J 132(3):664–671
- Einbinder Y et al (2015) Sodium polystyrene sulfonate is it truly effective treatment for hyperkalemia? Clin Nephrol 83(1):71–72
- Epstein M, Mayo M, Garza D, Zawadzki R, Berman L, Wilson DJ, Bakris G (2016) Strategy for improved blood pressure (BP) control in resistant hypertension (RH) with diabetic kidney disease (DKD). Poster number 313. Presented at the National Kidney Foundation Meeting, May 2016. http://ww3.aievolution.com/nkf1601/index.cfm?do=abs.viewAbs&src=ext&abs= 1101
- FDA (2014) Open-label safety & efficacy of ZS (sodium zirconium cyclosilicate)10g qd to extend study ZS-004 in hyperkalemia. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02107092?term= sodium+zirconium&rank=2. Accessed 17 Dec 2015
- Fordtran JS, Locklear TW (1966) Ionic constituents and osmolality of gastric and small-intestinal fluids after eating. Am J Dig Dis 11(7):503–521
- Fulton T (n.d.) Lecture on "Diffusion and transport across cell membranes". http://biochemistry. ucsf.edu/programs/ptf/prologue
- Go AS et al (2004) Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med 351(13):1296–1305
- Gumz ML et al (2015) An integrated view of potassium homeostasis. N Engl J Med 373 (18):1787–1788

- Harel Z et al (2013) Gastrointestinal adverse events with sodium polystyrene sulfonate (kayexalate) use: a systematic review. Am J Med 126(3):264.e269–224
- Holtz J (1993) Pathophysiology of heart failure and the renin-angiotensin-system. Basic Res Cardiol 88(Suppl 1):183-201
- Jain N et al (2012) Predictors of hyperkalemia and death in patients with cardiac and renal disease. Am J Cardiol 109(10):1510–1513
- Juurlink DN et al (2004) Rates of hyperkalemia after publication of the randomized Aldactone evaluation study. N Engl J Med 351(6):543–551
- Kessler C et al (2011) The use of sodium polystyrene sulfonate in the inpatient management of hyperkalemia. J Hosp Med 6(3):136–140
- Khanagavi J et al (2014) Hyperkalemia among hospitalized patients and association between duration of hyperkalemia and outcomes. Arch Med Sci 10(2):251–257
- Konstam MA et al (2009) Effects of high-dose versus low-dose losartan on clinical outcomes in patients with heart failure (HEAAL study): a randomised, double-blind trial. Lancet 374 (9704):1840–1848
- Kosiborod M et al (2014) Effect of sodium zirconium cyclosilicate on potassium lowering for 28 days among outpatients with hyperkalemia: the HARMONIZE randomized clinical trial. JAMA 312(21):2223–2233
- Lepage L et al (2015) Randomized clinical trial of sodium polystyrene sulfonate for the treatment of mild hyperkalemia in CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 10(12):2136–2142
- Li L et al (2016) Mechanism of action and pharmacology of patiromer, a Nonabsorbed crosslinked polymer that lowers serum potassium concentration in patients with hyperkalemia. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther 21(5):456–465
- Luo J et al (2016) Association between serum potassium and outcomes in patients with reduced kidney function. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 11(1):90–100
- Maggioni AP et al (2013) Are hospitalized or ambulatory patients with heart failure treated in accordance with European Society of Cardiology guidelines? Evidence from 12,440 patients of the ESC Heart Failure Long-Term Registry. Eur J Heart Fail 15(10):1173–1184
- McMurray JJ et al (2012) ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012: the task force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012 of the European Society of Cardiology. Developed in collaboration with the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur J Heart Fail 14(8):803–869
- McMurray JJ et al (2014) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med 371(11):993–1004
- Mold JW et al (2014) Leveraging practice-based research networks to accelerate implementation and diffusion of chronic kidney disease guidelines in primary care practices: a prospective cohort study. Implement Sci 9:169
- Nepal M et al (2010) Hypernatremia in a patient treated with sodium polystyrene sulfonate. Int J Nephrol Renovasc Dis 3:141–143
- Packer M et al (1999) Comparative effects of low and high doses of the angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor, lisinopril, on morbidity and mortality in chronic heart failure. ATLAS Study Group. Circulation 100(23):2312–2318
- Packham DK, Kosiborod M (2016) Potential new agents for the management of hyperkalemia. Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. 16(1):19–31
- Packham DK et al (2015) Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate in hyperkalemia. N Engl J Med 372 (3):222–231
- Palmer BF (2002) Renal dysfunction complicating the treatment of hypertension. N Engl J Med 347(16):1256–1261
- Palmer BF (2004) Managing hyperkalemia caused by inhibitors of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system. N Engl J Med 351(6):585–592
- Paula S et al (1996) Permeation of protons, potassium ions, and small polar molecules through phospholipid bilayers as a function of membrane thickness. Biophys J 70(1):339–348

- Pitt B et al (2011) Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of RLY5016, a polymeric potassium binder, in a double-blind, placebo-controlled study in patients with chronic heart failure (the PEARL-HF) trial. Eur Heart J 32(7):820–828
- Pitt B et al (2015) Effect of patiromer on reducing serum potassium and preventing recurrent hyperkalaemia in patients with heart failure and chronic kidney disease on RAAS inhibitors. Eur J Heart Fail 17(10):1057–1065
- Ponikowski P, Anker SD, AlHabib KF et al (2014) Heart failure: preventing disease and death worldwide. ESC Heart Failure 1:4–25
- Pratt JH et al (1989) Evidence that angiotensin-II and potassium collaborate to increase cytosolic calcium and stimulate the secretion of aldosterone. Endocrinology 125(5):2463–2469
- Rabelink TJ et al (1990) Early and late adjustment to potassium loading in humans. Kidney Int 38 (5):942–947
- Reardon LC, Macpherson DS (1998) Hyperkalemia in outpatients using angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors. How much should we worry? Arch Intern Med 158(1):26–32
- Sarwar CM et al (2016) Hyperkalemia in heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 68(14):1575-1589
- Shier DN et al (1989) Production of renin, angiotensin II, and aldosterone by adrenal explant cultures: response to potassium and converting enzyme inhibition. Endocrinology 125 (1):486–491
- Sobotka PA et al (2012) The role of renal denervation in the treatment of heart failure. Curr Cardiol Rep 14(3):285–292
- Sorensen MV et al (2010) Colonic potassium handling. Pflugers Arch 459(5):645-656
- Stavros F et al (2014) Characterization of structure and function of ZS-9, a K+ selective ion trap. PLoS One 9(12):e114686
- Sterns RH et al (2010) Ion-exchange resins for the treatment of hyperkalemia: are they safe and effective? J Am Soc Nephrol 21(5):733–735
- Takaichi K et al (2007) Analysis of factors causing hyperkalemia. Intern Med 46(12):823-829
- Tebbe U et al (2014) Registry in Germany focusing on level-specific and evidence-based decision finding in the treatment of heart failure: REFLECT-HF. Clin Res Cardiol 103(8):665–673
- Tumlin JA (2015) Long-term (52-week) efficacy and safety of ZS-9 in the treatment of hyperkalemia: interim results from a phase 3 open-label, multi-center, multi-dose maintenance study. Kidney Week, Nov 2015
- Urso C et al (2015) Acid-base and electrolyte abnormalities in heart failure: pathophysiology and implications. Heart Fail Rev 20(4):493–503
- Vardeny O et al (2012) Influence of baseline and worsening renal function on efficacy of spironolactone in patients with severe heart failure: insights from RALES (randomized Aldactone evaluation study). J Am Coll Cardiol 60(20):2082–2089
- Vardeny O et al (2014) Incidence, predictors, and outcomes related to hypo- and hyperkalemia in patients with severe heart failure treated with a mineralocorticoid receptor antagonist. Circ Heart Fail 7(4):573–579
- Watson M et al (2010) Damned if you do, damned if you don't: potassium binding resins in hyperkalemia. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 5(10):1723–1726
- Weir M, Bakris G, Gross C, Mayo M, Garza D, Stasiv Y, Yuan J, Berman L, Williams G (2015a) Abstract P602: Patiromer decreased aldosterone, urine albumin/creatinine ratio, and blood pressure in patients with chronic kidney disease and hyperkalemia on RAAS Inhibitors: results from OPAL-HK. Hypertension 66:AP602. Originally published November 3, 2015. http:// hyper.ahajournals.org/content/66/Suppl_1/AP602?related-urls=yes&legid=hypertensionaha% 3B66%2FSuppl_1%2FAP602
- Weir MR et al (2015b) Patiromer in patients with kidney disease and hyperkalemia receiving RAAS inhibitors. N Engl J Med 372(3):211–221
- Weir MR, Mayo MR, Garza D, Arthur SA, Berman L, Bushinsky D, Wilson DJ, Epstein M (2017) Effectiveness of atiromer in the treatment of hyperkalemia in chronic kidney disease patients with hypertension on diuretics. J Hypertens. doi:10.1097/HJH.000000000001278
- Weisberg LS (2008) Management of severe hyperkalemia. Crit Care Med 36(12):3246–3251

- Wilmer WA et al (2003) Management of glomerular proteinuria: a commentary. J Am Soc Nephrol 14(12):3217–3232
- Yancy CW et al (2013a) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol 62(16):e147–e239
- Yancy CW et al (2013b) 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure: executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines. Circulation 128(16):1810–1852
- Young DB et al (1984) Multiplicative interaction between angiotensin II and K concentration in stimulation of aldosterone. Am J Phys 247(3 Pt 1):E328–E335
- Yuan CM et al (2013) Incidence of sodium polystyrene sulfonate-associated colonic necrosis. Am J Med 126(9):e13

Iron Deficiency Treatment in Patients with Heart Failure

Ewa A. Jankowska, Marcin Drozd, and Piotr Ponikowski

Contents

1	Introduction	562
2	Significance of Iron for Human Physiology	562
3	Pathogenesis of Iron Deficiency in Heart Failure	563
4	Assessment of Iron Deficiency Based on Circulating Biomarkers	564
5	Prevalence of Iron Deficiency in Heart Failure	566
6	Clinical and Prognostic Consequences of Iron Deficiency in Heart Failure	566
7	Benefits of Intravenous Iron Supplementation in Heart Failure	567
8	Conclusions and Clinical Perspectives	569
Fu	nding	569
Co	onflict of Interest	570
Re	ferences	570

Abstract

Iron deficiency (ID) is one of the major risk factors for disability and mortality worldwide, and it was identified as a common and ominous comorbidity in patients with heart failure (HF), both with and without anaemia. Based on two clinical trials (FAIR-HF and CONFIRM-HF) and other epidemiological evidence, ID has been recognized as an important therapeutic target in symptomatic patients with HF and LVEF \leq 45%.

E.A. Jankowska (🖂) • M. Drozd

Laboratory for Applied Research on Cardiovascular System, Department of Heart Diseases, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

P. Ponikowski

Cardiology Department, Centre for Heart Diseases, Military Hospital, Wroclaw, Poland Department of Heart Diseases, Wroclaw Medical University, Wroclaw, Poland

© Springer International Publishing AG 2017

J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,

Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/164_2017_30

Cardiology Department, Centre for Heart Diseases, Military Hospital, Wroclaw, Poland e-mail: ewa.jankowska@umed.wroc.pl

Intravenous iron supplementation has been demonstrated to be safe and effective for iron repletion and related with an improvement in clinical status, exercise capacity, and quality of life. Ongoing trials are testing the hypothesis that such a therapy may also reduce the risk of HF hospitalizations and cardiovascular death.

Keywords

Ferric carboxymaltose • Ferritin • Heart failure • Hepcidin • Intravenous iron • Iron deficiency • Iron therapy • Transferrin saturation soluble transferrin receptor

1 Introduction

Iron deficiency (ID) is one of the leading risk factors for disability and mortality worldwide, affecting an estimated 2 billion people (Zimmermann et al. 2007). The prevalence of ID in different populations varies according to host factors including age, gender, as well as some physiological, pathological, environmental factors, and socioeconomic conditions (Zimmermann et al. 2007; Andrews 1999; Clark 2009; McLean et al. 2009; Lundström 1994).

ID reflected as iron deficiency anaemia accompanies many chronic diseases most often associated with chronic inflammation, autoimmune disease (particularly in rheumatoid arthritis), kidney disease, or neoplastic process.

It needs to emphasize that ID can exist with or without anaemia. Although untreated ID can result in anaemia as a consequence of more advanced and longer lasting ID, ID itself reveals several clinical unfavourable effects. In recent decades, heart failure (HF) has been identified as a disease which is commonly accompanied by ID, both with and without anaemia (Anker et al. 2009a; Ponikowski et al. 2015). Moreover, ID occurring in patients with HF has been identified as an important therapeutic target (Ponikowski et al. 2016; Drozd et al. 2016).

2 Significance of Iron for Human Physiology

Iron is a biologically critical element for almost all living entities, ranging from organella, through cells, tissues, up to whole organisms, as it participates in a wide variety of metabolic processes, including oxygen transport (as haemoglobin component), oxygen storage (as myoglobin component), ribonucleic acid synthesis, and electron transport (Andrews 1999; Kell 2008; Fairbanks and Beutler 2001; Hower et al. 2009; Rouault and Tong 2005; Beard 2001; Carrondo 2003; Cairo et al. 2006; Dunn et al. 2007).

Iron exists in two oxidative states as bivalent ferrous (Fe²⁺) and trivalent ferric (Fe³⁺) iron, and these states can be changed in metabolic reactions. Iron is necessary for the formation of haem enzymes and other iron-containing enzymes like flaviniron enzymes, transferrin, and ferritin involved in electron transfer and oxidation– reductions (Hurrell 1997; McDowell 2003). However, as iron can form free radicals, its concentration in body tissues must be tightly regulated because in excessive amounts, it can lead to tissue damage. Human beings are unable to excrete iron actively, so its concentration in the body must be regulated predominantly at the site of iron absorption (Zimmermann et al. 2007).

Almost two-thirds of the body iron is found in the haemoglobin present in circulating erythrocytes, 25% is contained in a readily mobilizable iron store, and the remaining 15% is bound to myoglobin in muscle tissue and in a variety of enzymes involved in the oxidative metabolism and many other cell functions (Institute of Medicine 2001; Stugiewicz et al. 2016). Iron is important not only for haematopoietic system (mainly erythron, but not only), but having in mind that ID leads to mitochondrial dysfunction, there is growing evidence that preserved intracellular iron status is needed for optimal functioning of tissues of high energy demand, such as skeletal muscle tissue (Stugiewicz et al. 2016; Haddad et al. 2016).

3 Pathogenesis of Iron Deficiency in Heart Failure

In general, the origin of ID is related with reduced iron intake, increased iron losses, and/or the abnormal iron distribution when it is functionally not available for body (Fairbanks and Beutler 2001).

There is scarce evidence that ID in HF partially results from inadequate diet iron intake (Hughes et al. 2012; Lourenço et al. 2009), low bioavailability of iron, or handicapped gastrointestinal absorption (also as a consequence of intestinal interstitial oedema, the use of drugs lowering gastric pH such as omeprazole or other H2 receptor antagonists, and the use of drugs reducing iron absorption such as calcium, tannins, oxalates, phytate, and phosphates) (Hallberg and Hulthén 2000; González-Costello and Comín-Colet 2010). Patients with HF demonstrate reduced iron intake in their diet (Hughes et al. 2012; Lourenço et al. 2009), but its significance in the development of overt ID seen in circulating biomarkers has not been shown yet. Iron loss may be increased in the course of gastrointestinal disorders (peptic ulcer, esophagitis, gastritis, and duodenitis), menstrual blood loss, excessive blood sampling, to name but a few (Fairbanks and Beutler 2001). Moreover, there is no direct relationship between the prevalence of ID and the use of anticoagulants or/and antiplatelet drugs in patients with HF (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010). Importantly, although anticipated, all aforementioned pathomechanisms have not been confirmed to be present in patients with HF, hence still remain hypothetical.

It has been established that inflammatory state characterizing several chronic diseases (including HF) is considered to be responsible for impaired iron absorption, recycling, and release from body stores (Kell 2008; Wessling-Resnick 2010; Balla et al. 2007). It has been anticipated that the pathogenesis of ID in the course of HF resembles the pathomechanisms (related directly with inflammatory status) seen in the course of chronic kidney disease (CKD). Patients with CKD demonstrate mainly the so-called functional ID, namely due to inflammation and related high circulating hepcidin iron is present in the body but trapped in reticuloendothelial cells and therefore not available for metabolic needs (Weber et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2013a; Nemeth and Ganz 2006; Nicolas et al. 2002; Silvestri 2013). Importantly, in some observational prospective studies, one recruiting patients with stable HF, the second one performed among acute HF patients, there were no direct relationships between parameters reflecting iron status and circulating inflammatory biomarkers (Jankowska et al. 2013b, 2014). Moreover, patients with HF both in chronic (Jankowska et al. 2013b) and acute settings (Jankowska et al. 2014) demonstrate extremely low (but not high) circulating hepcidin, which suggests that ID seen in the course HF is the consequence of depleted iron stores in the body (the so-called absolute ID).

4 Assessment of Iron Deficiency Based on Circulating Biomarkers

Bone marrow aspiration is the most accurate method to assess iron status (Moreno Chulilla et al. 2009; Goddard et al. 2011; Gale et al. 1963; Pasricha et al. 2010; Goodnough et al. 2010), but this examination is invasive, not widely available, and unsuitable to assess ID in the clinical practice. Actually, laboratory blood tests based on circulating iron biomarkers are indirect but acceptable methods to diagnose and monitor ID (Fairbanks and Beutler 2001).

Ferritin is one of the most useful laboratory measures of iron status (Mei et al. 2005). It reflects the body iron stores. Ferritin level $<100 \ \mu g/L$ is considered to reflect an absolute ID in HF. Ferritin values are proportionally lowered when iron stores are more depleted in the body. In a general population, the cut-off of serum ferritin to diagnose absolute ID is usually 30 $\mu g/L$, (Goodnough et al. 2010; Koulaouzidis et al. 2009), although lower values (i.e. 12–15 $\mu g/L$) have also been applied (Ali et al. 1978; WHO 2011).

Ferritin is also an acute-phase protein. Therefore, in healthy individuals, ferritin is directly proportionally related to the amount of body iron stores; however, its values increase in case of concomitant acute or chronic inflammation (Umbreit 2005). Also, its values are unreliable in patients with malignancy, hyperthyroidism, liver disease, or heavy alcohol intake (Umbreit 2005). Therefore, in such clinical scenarios, the interpretation of circulating ferritin needs to be very critical.

Hepcidin is considered as the major regulator of iron metabolism and a part of an innate immune response (Kemna et al. 2008; Handelman and Levin 2008; Nemeth and Ganz 2009; Franchini et al. 2010; Viatte and Vaulont 2009; Babitt and Lin 2010). It is a very conservative polypeptide produced by hepatocytes. Hepcidin synthesis by hepatocytes is precisely regulated in order to optimize and synchronize iron metabolism and/or antimicrobial response (Kemna et al. 2010; Viatte and Vaulont 2009; Babitt and Levin 2008; Nemeth and Ganz 2009; Franchini et al. 2010; Viatte and Vaulont 2009; Babitt and Levin 2008; Nemeth and Ganz 2009; Franchini et al. 2010; Viatte and Vaulont 2009; Babitt and Lin 2010). Major and independent stimuli decreasing hepcidin expression in the liver and its release into the circulation are: depleted iron stores, hypoxia, and ineffective erythropoiesis, whereas inflammation/infection produces the opposite effect.

Hepcidin correlates with iron stores more precisely than ferritin, particularly low circulating hepcidin reflects depleted iron stores, even in the presence of concomitant inflammation. Circulating hepcidin causes the reduced expression of proteins

involved in transmembrane iron import to enterocytes and also an internalization of ferroportin, the only protein able to export intracellular iron (Kemna et al. 2008; Handelman and Levin 2008; Nemeth and Ganz 2009; Franchini et al. 2010; Viatte and Vaulont 2009; Babitt and Lin 2010; Hentze et al. 2010). Hence, hepcidin blocks intestinal absorption of iron (contributing to absolute ID) and diverts iron from the circulation into the reticuloendothelial system, resulting in iron depletion in target tissues (leading to functional ID) (Nemeth and Ganz 2009; Franchini et al. 2010; Viatte and Vaulont 2009; Babitt and Lin 2010; Hentze et al. 2010).

The measurement of circulating hepcidin is challenging and not standardized yet, hence until now its assessment is used only for research purposes. Another parameter used for clinical assessment of iron status is transferrin saturation (Tsat) (Pasricha et al. 2010; Goodnough et al. 2010; Wish 2006; Briggs et al. 2009). It is calculated as a ratio of serum iron and circulating iron bound to transferrin (TIBC, total iron binding capacity) expressed in percentage (%). This inexpensive and easily available index reflects roughly the amount of iron available for cellular metabolism (Jankowska et al. 2013a). Tsat <20% is used for the diagnosis of depleted iron available for target cells, and this cut-off is applied in both a general population and patients with chronic diseases accompanied by low-grade inflammation (e.g. HF).

Soluble transferrin receptor (sTfR) is a relatively novel iron biomarker already used by haematologists for diagnosis of ID-related anaemia; however, it should be emphasized that regardless of haemoglobin level high sTfR reflects insufficient intracellular iron availability for metabolic needs (red). TfR is the major transmembrane molecule which facilitates an iron influx to the cell. In case of deficient iron within cells, its membrane expression as an adaptive response is increased, and excessive particles are shed to the circulation. What is important, level of circulating sTfR is not substantially affected by acute-phase response and/or inflammation (Cook 2005).

The commonly accepted criteria for detecting ID in patients with HF are serum ferritin <100 μ g/l (identifying absolute ID), or serum ferritin 100–299 μ g/l in combination with Tsat <20% (identifying functional ID) (Anker et al. 2009a, b; Jankowska et al. 2013a). It should be emphasized that neither serum iron nor serum transferrin (or TIBC) alone is reliable and sufficient for the assessment of iron status in patients with HF. The aforementioned definition of ID has already been used in two major clinical trials in patients with symptomatic HF, where ID was supplemented with intravenous ferric carboxymaltose (FCM) (Anker et al. 2009a; Ponikowski et al. 2015).

There are also attempts to apply novel iron biomarkers in order to improve the accuracy of the definition of ID in the clinical setting of HF. Recently, we have proposed a new pathophysiological definition of ID based on the combined assessment of low serum hepcidin (reflecting depleted iron stores) and sTfR (unmet metabolic needs regarding intracellular iron amount) (Jankowska et al. 2013b, 2014).

The 2016 ESC/HFA guidelines on HF management, as following 2012 ESC/HFA guidelines, emphasize the need to screen all patients with HF for the presence of ID based on serum ferritin and Tsat, regardless of haemoglobin level in order to detect reversible/treatable causes of HF and comorbidities interfering with HF (Ponikowski et al. 2016; McMurray et al. 2012).

5 Prevalence of Iron Deficiency in Heart Failure

ID constitutes a frequent comorbidity in patients with HF. So far, only Nanas et al. investigated the prevalence of ID based on the direct assessment of iron stores in bone marrow and reported ID in anaemic, decompensated HF patients to be approximately 73% (Nanas et al. 2006). Severely depleted iron stores assessed directly in bone marrow tissue have also been demonstrated in half of patients with multivessel coronary artery disease undergoing elective CABG (approx. 50% of them had LV systolic dysfunction as well) (Jankowska et al. 2015).

The prevalence of ID in patients with HF using standard definition ranges from 33 to 74% (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010, 2014; Parikh et al. 2011; Comín-Colet et al. 2013; Kasner et al. 2013; Rangel et al. 2014; Yeo et al. 2014; Schou et al. 2015; Ebner et al. 2016; Núñez et al. 2016a; Enjuanes et al. 2016; Okonko et al. 2011). ID is more prevalent in anaemic (43–78%) vs. non-anaemic subjects (15–65%) (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010, 2014; Parikh et al. 2011; Rangel et al. 2014; Yeo et al. 2014; Yeo et al. 2014; Okonko et al. 2011), and those with decompensated (65–74%) (Jankowska et al. 2014; Nanas et al. 2006; Núñez et al. 2016a; Cohen-Solal et al. 2014) vs. stable HF (34–65%) (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010; Parikh et al. 2011; Comín-Colet et al. 2013; Kasner et al. 2013; Rangel et al. 2014; Yeo et al. 2014; Schou et al. 2015; Ebner et al. 2016; Enjuanes et al. 2016; Okonko et al. 2011; de Silva et al. 2006; Belmar Vega et al. 2016; Przybylowski et al. 2016).

The majority of data on the prevalence of ID in HF comes from European HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) cohorts (Jankowska et al. 2010; Rangel et al. 2014; Schou et al. 2015; Okonko et al. 2011; de Silva et al. 2006); however, few data on patients with both reduced and preserved LVEF have shown similar percentages of iron-deficient enrolees (Klip et al. 2013; Comín-Colet et al. 2013). Importantly, in one study regarding multi-ethnic Southeast Asian population of patients with HF, the prevalence of ID was higher than in the European cohorts (Yeo et al. 2014). Besides anaemia (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010), the following characteristics can be considered as factors associated with the higher prevalence of ID in patients with HF: female sex (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010; Cohen-Solal et al. 2014), advanced NYHA class (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010), higher N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-pro-BNP) (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010), and higher high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hsCRP) (Jankowska et al. 2010).

6 Clinical and Prognostic Consequences of Iron Deficiency in Heart Failure

In patients with HFrEF, the presence of ID is accompanied by impaired aerobic capacity as reflected by lower peak oxygen consumption (peak VO_2), higher ventilatory response to exercise (VE-VCO₂ slope) (Ebner et al. 2016; Okonko et al. 2011; Jankowska et al. 2011), and shorter 6-min walking test (6-MWT) distance (Ebner et al. 2016). Importantly, in patients with HFrEF, the impact of ID on both peak VO_2

and VE-VCO₂ slope is independent of and much stronger than the effect of anaemia alone (Jankowska et al. 2011).

Similar relationships have been reported in patients with HFpEF (Klip et al. 2013; Comín-Colet et al. 2013; Yeo et al. 2014; Núñez et al. 2016a; Enjuanes et al. 2016). Nunez et al. have shown that in these patients low Tsat and ferritin correlate with impaired functional capacity as assessed in cardiopulmonary exercise test (CPX) (Núñez et al. 2016a). Importantly, in one study including both HFrEF and HFpEF patients, the 6-MWT distance was also decreased in subjects with ID vs. without ID (Enjuanes et al. 2016).

The presence of ID is also associated with decreased health-related quality of life (HRQoL) as assessed using Minnesota Living with Heart Failure Questionnaire (MLHFQ) (Comín-Colet et al. 2013; Enjuanes et al. 2014).

In patients with both HFrEF and HFpEF, concomitant ID predicts increased longterm all-cause mortality independently of the presence of anaemia (Klip et al. 2013; Jankowska et al. 2010, 2014; Okonko et al. 2011) or ethnicity (Yeo et al. 2014).

In patients hospitalized for acute HF, ID increases the risk for re-hospitalization within 30 days after discharge (Núñez et al. 2016b), and the risk for combined allcause death or non-fatal cardiovascular event (hospitalization for congestive HF, acute coronary syndrome, severe arrhythmia, or stroke) (Rangel et al. 2014), as well as combined death or heart transplantation (Jankowska et al. 2010).

7 Benefits of Intravenous Iron Supplementation in Heart Failure

Although it might be expected that iron-deficient patients with HF may benefit from oral iron supplementation, it should be emphasized that there is no evidence that such a therapeutic approach efficiently replenishes body iron stores. In the recently presented prospective, randomized clinical trial (IRON-OUT), polysaccharide iron complex (150 mg twice daily for 16 weeks) as compared to placebo had a little (if any) effect on circulating ferritin and Tsat in replacing iron stores, and improved neither peak VO2, a 6-MWT distance, oxygen kinetics, ventilatory efficiency, or quality of life in symptomatic patients with HFrEF (Lewis et al. 2016a, b). There is no available evidence to recommend oral iron supplementation in symptomatic patients with HF.

It should be emphasized that previously used parenteral iron preparations were toxic, generated a lot of non-transferrin bound iron, induced oxidative stress, and led to frequent adverse events, such as: hypotension, nausea, vomiting, abdominal and lower back pain, peripheral oedema, and a metallic taste (Silvestri 2013; Heath et al. 1932; Goetsch et al. 1946; Evans et al. 2007). These side-effects have been circumvented due to the introduction of compounds containing iron in a core surrounded by a carbohydrate shell (Macdougall 2009). Until now, only five new parental iron formulations have been studied in patients with HF. Iron sucrose was used in seven studies (136 treated patients in total) (Bolger et al. 2006; Toblli et al. 2007, 2015; Okonko et al. 2008; Usmanov et al. 2008; Terrovitis et al. 2012; Beck-Da-Silva et al. 2013). Iron dextran, iron isomaltose, and ferric gluconate were used

only in small single-centre non-comparative studies with only 40, 20, and 13 treated patients, respectively (Gaber et al. 2012; Kaminsky et al. 2016; Hildebrandt et al. 2010; Reed et al. 2015). FCM was used in two multi-centre, randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind trials (454 treated patients in total) (Ponikowski et al. 2015).

In the FAIR-HF trial, 304 ambulatory patients with symptomatic HF,LVEF <40% (NYHA II) or <45% (NYHA III) and ID (defined as serum ferritin <100 ng/mL or ferritin 100–300 ng/mL with Tsat <20%) with haemoglobin between 9.5 and 13.5 g/ dL were randomized in a 2:1 ratio to receive i.v. FCM or i.v. saline. In this trial, the Ganzoni formula (Ganzoni 1970) was used to calculate the required cumulative FCM dose, namely the cumulative iron deficit $[mg] = bodyweight [kg] \times (target haemo$ globin – actual haemoglobin) $[g/dL] \times 2.4$ + iron storage depot [mg]. In patients weighing <35 and ±35 kg, the target haemoglobin should be 13 and 15 g/dL, respectively, and the iron storage depot should be 15 mg/kg and 500 mg, respectively (Anker et al. 2009a, b). The dosing frequency was 200 mg of FCM weekly until iron repletion was achieved (the correction phase) and then every 4 weeks during the maintenance phase, which started at week 8 or week 12, depending on the required ironrepletion dose. Primary endpoints were self-reported PGA at week 24 and NYHA class at week 24, adjusted for baseline NYHA class (Anker et al. 2009b), both of which improved in patients treated with FCM as compared to those receiving saline. The improvement in these parameters was found in both anaemic and non-anaemic patients, even though the clinical improvement in non-anaemic patients was not associated with an increase in haemoglobin level (Filippatos et al. 2013). Iron supplementation with FCM resulted also in an increase in the 6-MWT distance and qualityof-life scores (Anker et al. 2009a).

In the CONFIRM-HF trial, ambulatory patients with HF in NYHA class II-III with LVEF <45%, BNP >100 pg/mL, or NT-proBNP >400 pg/mL with ID (defined as in the FAIR-HF study) and haemoglobin level <15 g/dL were randomized 1:1 to treatment with i.v. FCM or i.v. saline. FCM was administered in a single dose as an undiluted bolus injection of up to 1,000 mg according to a fixed scheme based on the subject's weight and haemoglobin value at screening and administered at weeks 0 and 6. Further FCM doses were administered at weeks 12, 24, and 36 if ID was still present (Ponikowski et al. 2014), but importantly more than 75% of treated patients required a maximum of two doses (Ponikowski et al. 2015). This new dosage pattern appeared to be convergent with a total iron dose administered in patients recruited in the FAIR-HF trial (Filippatos et al. 2013). Treatment with FCM increased the 6-MWT distance at week 24 (the primary endpoint). The treatment effect of FCM was consistent in all clinical subgroups and was sustained to week 52. Throughout the study, an improvement in NYHA class, PGA, quality of life, and fatigue score in patients treated with FCM was demonstrated with a statistical significance confirmed from week 24 onwards. Treatment with FCM was associated with a reduction in the risk of hospitalizations for worsening HF at week 52 (Ponikowski et al. 2015).

In other small studies with other intravenous iron preparations in patients with HFrEF, the following advantageous effects of such a therapy were found: an increase in LVEF, a reduction in LVSD, LVDD, LVPW, IVS thickness, left ventricular mass index, left ventricular end systolic volume, an improvement in S', E', a

decline in E/E', a reduction in peak systolic strain rate (Bolger et al. 2006; Toblli et al. 2007; Okonko et al. 2008; Usmanov et al. 2008; Gaber et al. 2012) as well as a reduction in plasma NT-proBNP and CRP (Toblli et al. 2007).

Several meta-analyses regarding iron therapy in patients with HF and ID have been published (Kapoor et al. 2013; Avni et al. 2012; Desai et al. 2010; Qian et al. 2016; Jankowska et al. 2016). The most recent one compiled the results of five trials performed among HF patients with LVEF \leq 45% (509 patients received i.v. iron preparations as compared with 342 controls), with at least a single-blind randomization, and without a concomitant therapy with any erythropoiesis-stimulating agent [139]. The performed meta-analysis has demonstrated that i.v. iron supplementation reduces the risk of urgent HF hospitalization, the risk of combined endpoint of allcause death or cardiovascular hospitalization, and the risk of combined cardiovascular death or hospitalization for HF worsening, but without the impact on either allcause or cardiovascular mortality (which might be due to a limited number of reported events and short follow-up) [139]. Additionally, it has been shown that i.v. iron supplementation improves exercise capacity, alleviates HF symptoms, and improves quality of life assessed using questionnaires either specific for HF or those reflecting patients' general medical condition [139].

8 Conclusions and Clinical Perspectives

The recent 2016 ESC/HFA guidelines on HF management (Ponikowski et al. 2016) emphasize the need to screen all patients with HF for the presence of ID based on serum ferritin and Tsat (using the aforementioned definition), regardless of haemo-globin level in order to detect reversible/treatable causes of HF and comorbidities interfering with HF (Ponikowski et al. 2016; McMurray et al. 2012). Intravenous iron supplementation should be started in symptomatic patients with ID and HFrEF in order to alleviate HF symptoms and improve exercise capacity and quality of life (Anker et al. 2009a; Ponikowski et al. 2015). Only i.v. route of iron supplementation has been demonstrated to be safe and effective for iron repletion in these patients. Oral iron supplementation is not effective in this group of patients and cannot be recommended.

Additionally, in order to verify if iron repletion improves outcomes, morbidity, and mortality, trials have already been launched in a population of patients with acute HF (www.clinicaltrial.gov: AFFIRM-AHF, NCT02937454) (www.clinicaltrial.gov: IRONMEN, NCT02642562) and with chronic HF (www.clinicaltrial.gov: FAIR-HF2, NCT03036462).

Funding

This research was financially supported by the National Science Centre (Krakow, Poland) grant allocated on the basis of the decision number DEC-2012/05/E/NZ5/ 00590.

Conflict of Interest

Wroclaw Medical University received an unrestricted grant from Vifor Pharma. M.D. reports personal fees from Fresenius. E.A.J. reports personal fees from Vifor Pharma and AMGEN.

References

- Ali MA, Luxton AW, Walker WH (1978) Serum ferritin concentration and bone marrow iron stores: a prospective study. Can Med Assoc J 118:945–946
- Andrews NC (1999) Disorders of iron metabolism. N Engl J Med 341:1986-1995
- Anker SD, Comin Colet J, Filippatos G, Willenheimer R, Dickstein K, Drexler H, Lüscher TF, Bart B, Banasiak W, Niegowska J, Kirwan B, Mori C, von Eisenhart Rothe B, Pocock SJ, Poole-Wilson PA, Ponikowski P (2009a) Ferric carboxymaltose in patients with heart failure and iron deficiency. N Engl J Med 361:2436–2448
- Anker SD, Colet JC, Filippatos G, Willenheimer R, Dickstein K, Drexler H, Lüscher TF, Mori C, von Eisenhart Rothe B, Pocock S, Poole-Wilson PA, Ponikowski P (2009b) FAIR-HF committees and investigators. Rationale and design of Ferinject assessment in patients with IRon deficiency and chronic Heart Failure (FAIR-HF) study: a randomized, placebo-controlled study of intravenous iron supplementation in patients with and without anaemia. Eur J Heart Fail 11:1084–1091
- Avni T, Leibovici L, Gafter-Gvili A (2012) Iron supplementation for the treatment of chronic heart failure and iron deficiency: systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Heart Fail 14:423–429
- Babitt JL, Lin HY (2010) Molecular mechanisms of hepcidin regulation: implications for the anemia of CKD. Am J Kidney Dis 55:726–741
- Balla J, Jeney V, Varga Z, Komódi E, Nagy E, Balla G (2007) Iron homeostasis in chronic inflammation. Acta Physiol Hung 94:95–106
- Beard J (2001) Iron biology in immune function, muscle metabolism and neuronal functioning. J Nutr 131:697S-700S. discussion 700S-701S
- Beck-Da-Silva L, Piardi D, Soder S, Rohde LE, Pereira-Barretto AC, De Albuquerque D, Bocchi E, Vilas-Boas F, Moura LZ, Montera MW, Rassi S, Clausell N (2013) IRON-HF study: a randomized trial to assess the effects of iron in heart failure patients with anemia. Int J Cardiol 168:3439–3442
- Belmar Vega L, de Francisco A, Albines Fiestas Z, Serrano Soto M, Kislikova M, Seras Mozas M, García Unzueta M, Arias Rodríguez M (2016) Iron deficiency in patients with congestive heart failure: a medical practice that requires greater attention. Nefrología 36:249–254
- Bolger AP, Bartlett FR, Penston HS, O'Leary J, Pollock N, Kaprielian R, Chapman CM (2006) Intravenous iron alone for the treatment of anemia in patients with chronic heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 48:1225–1227
- Briggs C, Mellors I, Roderick A, Ward A, O'Malley C, Barker J, De La Salle B, McTaggart P, Hyde K, MacHin SJ (2009) Quality counts: new parameters in blood cell counting. Int J Lab Hematol 31:277–297
- Cairo G, Bernuzzi F, Recalcati S (2006) A precious metal: iron, an essential nutrient for all cells. Genes Nutr 1:25–39
- Carrondo MA (2003) Ferritins, iron uptake and storage from the bacterioferritin viewpoint. EMBO J 22:1959–1968
- Clark SF (2009) Iron deficiency anemia: diagnosis and management. Curr Opin Gastroenterol 25:122–128
- Cohen-Solal A, Damy T, Terbah M, Kerebel S, Baguet JP, Hanon O, Zannad F, Laperche T, Leclercq C, Concas V, Duvillié L, Darné B, Anker S, Mebazaa A (2014) High prevalence of iron deficiency in patients with acute decompensated heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 16:984–991

- Comín-Colet J, Enjuanes C, González G, Torrens A, Cladellas M, Meroño O, Ribas N, Ruiz S, Gómez M, Verdú JM, Bruguera J (2013) Iron deficiency is a key determinant of health-related quality of life in patients with chronic heart failure regardless of anaemia status. Eur J Heart Fail 15:1164–1172
- Cook JD (2005) Diagnosis and management of iron-deficiency anaemia. Best Pract Res Clin Haematol 18:319–332
- Desai A, Lewis E, Solomon S, McMurray JJV, Pfeffer M (2010) Impact of erythropoiesis-stimulating agents on morbidity and mortality in patients with heart failure: an updated, post-TREAT metaanalysis. Eur J Heart Fail 12:936–942
- Drozd M, Jankowska EA, Banasiak W et al (2016) Am J Cardiovasc Drugs. doi: 10.1007/s40256-016-0211-2
- Dunn LL, Rahmanto YS, Richardson DR (2007) Iron uptake and metabolism in the new millennium. Trends Cell Biol 17:93–100
- Ebner N, Jankowska EA, Ponikowski P, Lainscak M, Elsner S, Sliziuk V, Steinbeck L, Kube J, Bekfani T, Scherbakov N, Valentova M, Sandek A, Doehner W, Springer J, Anker SD, Von Haehling S (2016) The impact of iron deficiency and anaemia on exercise capacity and outcomes in patients with chronic heart failure. Results from the studies investigating co-morbidities aggravating heart failure. Int J Cardiol 205:6–12
- Enjuanes C, Klip IT, Bruguera J, Cladellas M, Ponikowski P, Banasiak W, van Veldhuisen DJ, van der Meer P, Jankowska EA, Comín-Colet J (2014) Iron deficiency and health-related quality of life in chronic heart failure: results from a multicenter European study. Int J Cardiol 174:268–275
- Enjuanes C, Bruguera J, Grau M, Cladellas M, Gonzalez G, Meroño O, Moliner-Borja P, Verdú JM, Farré N, Comín-Colet J (2016) Iron status in chronic heart failure: impact on symptoms, functional class and submaximal exercise capacity. Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed) 69:247–255
- Evans RW, Rafique R, Zarea A, Rapisarda C, Cammack R, Evans PJ, Porter JB, Hider RC (2007) Nature of non-transferrin-bound iron: studies on iron citrate complexes and thalassemic sera. J Biol Inorg Chem 13:57–74
- Fairbanks V, Beutler E (2001) Iron deficiency. In: Beutler E (ed) Williams hematology. McGraw-Hill, New York, NY, pp 295–304. 447–450
- Filippatos G, Farmakis D, Colet JC, Dickstein K, Lüscher TF, Willenheimer R, Parissis J, Gaudesius G, Mori C, Rothe BVE, Greenlaw N, Ford I, Ponikowski P, Anker SD (2013) Intravenous ferric carboxymaltose in iron-deficient chronic heart failure patients with and without anaemia: a subanalysis of the FAIR-HF trial. Eur J Heart Fail 15:1267–1276
- Franchini M, Montagnana M, Lippi G (2010) Hepcidin and iron metabolism: from laboratory to clinical implications. Clin Chim Acta 411:1565–1569
- Gaber R, Kotb NA, Ghazy M, Nagy HM, Salama M, Elhendy A (2012) Tissue Doppler and strain rate imaging detect improvement of myocardial function in iron deficient patients with congestive heart failure after iron replacement therapy. Echocardiography 29:13–18
- Gale E, Torrance J, Bothwell T (1963) The quantitative estimation of total iron stores in human bone marrow. J Clin Invest 42:1076–1082
- Ganzoni AM (1970) Intravenous iron-dextran: therapeutic and experimental possibilities. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 100:301–303
- Goddard AF, James MW, McIntyre AS, Scott BB, British Society of Gastroenterology (2011) Guidelines for the management of iron deficiency anaemia. Gut 60:1309–1316
- Goetsch AT, Moore CV, Minnich V (1946) Observations on the effect of massive doses of iron given intravenously to patients with hypochromic anemia. J Lab Clin Med 31:466
- González-Costello J, Comín-Colet J (2010) Iron deficiency and anaemia in heart failure: understanding the FAIR-HF trial. Eur J Heart Fail 12:1159–1162
- Goodnough LT, Nemeth E, Ganz T (2010) Detection, evaluation, and management of iron-restricted erythropoiesis. Blood 116:4754–4761
- Haddad S, Wang Y, Galy B, Korf-Klingebiel M, Hirsch V, Baru AM, Rostami F, Reboll MR, Heineke J, Flögel U, Groos S, Renner A, Toischer K, Zimmermann F, Engeli S, Jordan J, Bauersachs J, Hentze MW, Wollert KC, Kempf T (2016) Iron-regulatory proteins secure iron availability in cardiomyocytes to prevent heart failure. Eur Heart J 38(5):362–372. doi:10. 1093/eurheartj/ehw333

- Hallberg L, Hulthén L (2000) Prediction of dietary iron absorption: an algorithm for calculating absorption and bioavailability of dietary iron. Am J Clin Nutr 71:1147–1160
- Handelman GJ, Levin NW (2008) Iron and anemia in human biology: a review of mechanisms. Heart Fail Rev 13:393–404
- Heath CW, Strauss MB, Castle WB (1932) Quantitative aspects of rion deficiency in hypochromic anemia: (the parenteral administration of iron). J Clin Invest 11:1293–1312
- Hentze MW, Muckenthaler MU, Galy B, Camaschella C (2010) Two to tango: regulation of mammalian iron metabolism. Cell 142:24–38
- Hildebrandt PR, Bruun NE, Nielsen OW, Pantev E, Shiva F, Videbæk L, Wikström G, Thomsen LL (2010) Effects of administration of iron isomaltoside 1000 in patients with chronic heart failure. A pilot study. Transfusion Altern Transfusion Med 11:131–137
- Hower V, Mendes P, Torti FM, Laubenbacher R, Akman S, Shulaev V, Torti SV (2009) A general map of iron metabolism and tissue-specific subnetworks. Mol Biosyst 5:422–443
- Hughes CM, Woodside JV, McGartland C, Roberts MJ, Nicholls DP, McKeown PP (2012) Nutritional intake and oxidative stress in chronic heart failure. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 22:376–382
- Hurrell RF (1997) Bioavailability of iron. Eur J Clin Nutr 51(Suppl 1):S4-S8
- Institute of Medicine (2001) Dietary reference intakes: vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc. J Am Diet Assoc 101:294–301
- Jankowska EA, Rozentryt P, Witkowska A, Nowak J, Hartmann O, Ponikowska B, Borodulin-Nadzieja L, Banasiak W, Polonski L, Filippatos G, McMurray JJV, Anker SD, Ponikowski P (2010) Iron deficiency: an ominous sign in patients with systolic chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 31:1872–1880
- Jankowska EA, Rozentryt P, Witkowska A, Nowak J, Hartmann O, Ponikowska B, Borodulin-Nadzieja L, Von Haehling S, Doehner W, Banasiak W, Polonski L, Filippatos G, Anker SD, Ponikowski P (2011) Iron deficiency predicts impaired exercise capacity in patients with systolic chronic heart failure. J Card Fail 17:899–906
- Jankowska EA, Von Haehling S, Anker SD, MacDougall IC, Ponikowski P (2013a) Iron deficiency and heart failure: diagnostic dilemmas and therapeutic perspectives. Eur Heart J 34:816–826
- Jankowska EA, Malyszko J, Ardehali H, Koc-Zorawska E, Banasiak W, von Haehling S, Macdougall IC, Weiss G, McMurray JJV, Anker SD, Gheorghiade M, Ponikowski P (2013b) Iron status in patients with chronic heart failure. Eur Heart J 34:827–834
- Jankowska EA, Kasztura M, Sokolski M, Bronisz M, Nawrocka S, Ole kowska-Florek W, Zymli ski R, Biegus J, Siwo owski P, Banasiak W, Anker SD, Filippatos G, Cleland JGF, Ponikowski P (2014) Iron deficiency defined as depleted iron stores accompanied by unmet cellular iron requirements identifies patients at the highest risk of death after an episode of acute heart failure. Eur Heart J 35:2468–2476
- Jankowska EA, Wojtas K, Kasztura M, Mazur G, Butrym A, Kalicinska E, Rybinska I, Skiba J, Von Haehling S, Doehner W, Anker SD, Banasiak W, Cleland JGF, Ponikowski P (2015) Bone marrow iron depletion is common in patients with coronary artery disease. Int J Cardiol 182:517–522
- Jankowska EA, Tkaczyszyn M, Suchocki T, Drozd M, von Haehling S, Doehner W, Banasiak W, Filippatos G, Anker SD, Ponikowski P (2016) Effects of intravenous iron therapy in irondeficient patients with systolic heart failure: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Eur J Heart Fail 18:786–795
- Kaminsky BM, Pogue KT, Hanigan S, Koelling TM, Dorsch MP (2016) Effects of total dose infusion of iron intravenously in patients with acute heart failure and anemia (hemoglobin ≪ 13 g/dl). Am J Cardiol 117:1942–1946
- Kapoor M, Schleinitz MD, Gemignani A, Wu W-C (2013) Outcomes of patients with chronic heart failure and iron deficiency treated with intravenous iron: a meta-analysis. Cardiovasc Hematol Disord Drug Targets 13:35–44
- Kasner M, Aleksandrov AS, Westermann D, Lassner D, Gross M, Von Haehling S, Anker SD, Schultheiss HP, Tschöpe C (2013) Functional iron deficiency and diastolic function in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Int J Cardiol 168:4652–4657

- Kell DB (2008) Iron behaving badly: inappropriate iron chelation as a major contributor to the aetiology of vascular and other progressive inflammatory and degenerative diseases. BMC Med Genomics 2:2
- Kemna EHJM, Tjalsma H, Willems HL, Swinkels DW (2008) Hepcidin: from discovery to differential diagnosis. Haematologica 93:90–97
- Klip IT, Comin-Colet J, Voors AA, Ponikowski P, Enjuanes C, Banasiak W, Lok DJ, Rosentryt P, Torrens A, Polonski L, Van Veldhuisen DJ, Van Der Meer P, Jankowska EA (2013) Iron deficiency in chronic heart failure: an international pooled analysis. Am Heart J 165:575–582.e3
- Koulaouzidis A, Said E, Cottier R, Saeed AA (2009) Soluble transferrin receptors and iron deficiency, a step beyond ferritin. A systematic review. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis 18:345–352
- Lewis GD, Semigran MJ, Givertz MM, Malhotra R, Anstrom KJ, Hernandez AF, Shah MR, Braunwald E (2016a) Oral iron therapy for heart failure with reduced ejection fraction: design and rationale for oral iron repletion effects on oxygen uptake in heart failure. Circ Heart Fail 9: e000345
- Lewis GD et al (2016b) Oral iron repletion effects on oxygen uptake in heart failure (IRONOUT). In: Presented at: American Heart Association Scientific Sessions 2016. November 15, 2016. New Orleans, LA
- Lourenço BH, Vieira LP, Macedo A, Nakasato M, Marucci Mde FN, Bocchi EA (2009) Nutritional status and adequacy of energy and nutrient intakes among heart failure patients. Arq Bras Cardiol 93:541–548
- Lundström U (1994) Iron deficiency anaemia. Gut 35:864-865
- Macdougall IC (2009) Evolution of iv iron compounds over the last century. J Ren Care 35(Suppl 2):8–13
- McDowell LR (2003) Minerals in animal and human nutrition, 2nd edn. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 660
- McLean E, Cogswell M, Egli I, Wojdyla D, de Benoist B (2009) Worldwide prevalence of anaemia, WHO vitamin and mineral nutrition information system, 1993-2005. Public Health Nutr 12:444–454
- McMurray JJV, Adamopoulos S, Anker SD, Auricchio A, Böhm M, Dickstein K, Falk V, Filippatos G, Fonseca C, Gomez-Sanchez MA, Jaarsma T, Køber L, Lip GYH, Maggioni AP, Parkhomenko A, Pieske BM, Popescu BA, Rønnevik PK, Rutten FH, Schwitter J, Seferovic P, Stepinska J, Trindade PT, Voors AA, Zannad F, Zeiher A (2012) ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure 2012. Eur Heart J 33:1787–1847
- Mei Z, Cogswell ME, Parvanta I, Lynch S, Beard JL, Stoltzfus RJ, Grummer-Strawn LM (2005) Hemoglobin and ferritin are currently the most efficient indicators of population response to iron interventions: an analysis of nine randomized controlled trials. J Nutr 135:1974–1980
- Moreno Chulilla JA, Romero Colás MS, Gutiérrez Martín M (2009) Classification of anemia for gastroenterologists. World J Gastroenterol 15:4627–4637
- Nanas JN, Matsouka C, Karageorgopoulos D, Leonti A, Tsolakis E, Drakos SG, Tsagalou EP, Maroulidis GD, Alexopoulos GP, Kanakakis JE, Anastasiou-Nana MI (2006) Etiology of anemia in patients with advanced heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 48:2485–2489
- Nemeth E, Ganz T (2006) Regulation of iron metabolism by hepcidin. Annu Rev Nutr 26:323–342
- Nemeth E, Ganz T (2009) The role of hepcidin in iron metabolism. Acta Haematol 122:78–86
- Nicolas G, Bennoun M, Porteu A, Mativet S, Beaumont C, Grandchamp B, Sirito M, Sawadogo M, Kahn A, Vaulont S (2002) Severe iron deficiency anemia in transgenic mice expressing liver hepcidin. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:4596–4601
- Núñez J, Domínguez E, Ramón JM, Núñez E, Sanchis J, Santas E, Heredia R, González J, Miñana G, López L, Chorro FJ, Palau P (2016a) Iron deficiency and functional capacity in patients with advanced heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. Int J Cardiol 207:365–367
- Núñez J, Comín-Colet J, Miñana G, Núñez E, Santas E, Mollar A, Valero E, García-Blas S, Cardells I, Bodí V, Chorro FJ, Sanchis J (2016b) Iron deficiency and risk of early readmission following a hospitalization for acute heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 18:798–802

- Okonko DO, Grzeslo A, Witkowski T, Mandal AKJ, Slater RM, Roughton M, Foldes G, Thum T, Majda J, Banasiak W, Missouris CG, Poole-Wilson PA, Anker SD, Ponikowski P (2008) Effect of intravenous iron sucrose on exercise tolerance in anemic and nonanemic patients with symptomatic chronic heart failure and iron deficiency. J Am Coll Cardiol 51:103–112
- Okonko DO, Mandal AKJ, Missouris CG, Poole-Wilson PA (2011) Disordered iron homeostasis in chronic heart failure: prevalence, predictors, and relation to anemia, exercise capacity, and survival. J Am Coll Cardiol 58:1241–1251
- Parikh A, Natarajan S, Lipsitz SR, Katz SD (2011) Iron deficiency in community-dwelling US adults with self-reported heart failure in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III: prevalence and associations with anemia and inflammation. Circ Heart Fail 4:599–606
- Pasricha S-RS, Flecknoe-Brown SC, Allen KJ, Gibson PR, McMahon LP, Olynyk JK, Roger SD, Savoia HF, Tampi R, Thomson AR, Wood EM, Robinson KL (2010) Diagnosis and management of iron deficiency anaemia: a clinical update. Med J Aust 193:525–532
- Ponikowski P, van Veldhuisen DJ, Comin-Colet J, Ertl G, Komajda M, Mareev V, McDonagh TA, Parkhomenko A, Tavazzi L, Levesque V, Mori C, Roubert B, Filippatos G, Ruschitzka F, Anker SD (2014) Rationale and design of the CONFIRM-HF study: a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study to assess the effects of intravenous ferric carboxymaltose on functional capacity in patients with chronic heart failure and iron deficiency. ESC Heart Fail 1:52–58
- Ponikowski P, van Veldhuisen DJ, Comin-Colet J, Ertl G, Komajda M, Mareev V, McDonagh T, Parkhomenko A, Tavazzi L, Levesque V, Mori C, Roubert B, Filippatos G, Ruschitzka F, Anker SD (2015) Beneficial effects of long-term intravenous iron therapy with ferric carboxymaltose in patients with symptomatic heart failure and iron deficiency. Eur Heart J 36:657–668
- Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Falk V, González-Juanatey JR, Harjola V-P, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GMC, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P (2016) 2016 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. Eur J Heart Fail 18:891–975
- Przybylowski P, Wasilewski G, Golabek K, Bachorzewska-Gajewska H, Dobrzycki S, Koc-Zorawska E, Malyszko J (2016) Absolute and functional iron deficiency is a common finding in patients with heart failure and after heart transplantation. Transplant Proc 48:173–176
- Qian C, Wei B, Ding J, Wu H, Wang Y (2016) The efficacy and safety of iron supplementation in patients with heart failure and iron deficiency: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can J Cardiol 32:151–159
- Rangel I, Gonçalves A, de Sousa C, Leite S, Campelo M, Martins E, Amorim S, Moura B, Silva Cardoso J, Maciel MJ (2014) Iron deficiency status irrespective of anemia: a predictor of unfavorable outcome in chronic heart failure patients. Cardiology 128:320–326
- Reed BN, Blair EA, Thudium EM, Waters SB, Sueta CA, Jensen BC, Rodgers JE (2015) Effects of an accelerated intravenous iron regimen in hospitalized patients with advanced heart failure and iron deficiency. Pharmacotherapy 35:64–71
- Rouault TA, Tong W-H (2005) Iron-sulphur cluster biogenesis and mitochondrial iron homeostasis. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 6:345–351
- Schou M, Bosselmann H, Gaborit F, Iversen K, Goetze JP, Soletomas G, Rasmussen J, Kistorp C, Kober L, Gustafsson F, Tonder N (2015) Iron deficiency: prevalence and relation to cardiovascular biomarkers in heart failure outpatients. Int J Cardiol 195:143–148
- de Silva R, Rigby AS, Witte KK, Nikitin NP, Tin L, Goode K, Bhandari S, Clark AL, Cleland JGF (2006) Anemia, renal dysfunction, and their interaction in patients with chronic heart failure. Am J Cardiol 98:391–398
- Silvestri L (2013) Inhibiting the hepcidin inhibitor for treatment of iron overload. Blood 121:1068–1069
- Stugiewicz M, Tkaczyszyn M, Kasztura M, Banasiak W, Ponikowski P, Jankowska EA (2016) The influence of iron deficiency on the functioning of skeletal muscles: experimental evidence and clinical implications. Eur J Heart Fail 18:762–773
- Terrovitis JV, Kaldara E, Ntalianis A, Sventzouri S, Kapelios C, Barbarousi D, Matsouka C, Nanas JN (2012) Intravenous iron alone is equally effective with the combination of iron and erythropoietin for the treatment of iron-deficiency anemia in advanced heart failure. J Am Coll Cardiol 60:2255–2256

- Toblli JE, Lombraña A, Duarte P, Di Gennaro F (2007) Intravenous iron reduces NT-pro-brain natriuretic peptide in anemic patients with chronic heart failure and renal insufficiency. J Am Coll Cardiol 50:1657–1665
- Toblli JE, Di Gennaro F, Rivas C (2015) Changes in echocardiographic parameters in iron deficiency patients with heart failure and chronic kidney disease treated with intravenous iron. Heart Lung Circ 24:686–695
- Umbreit J (2005) Iron deficiency: a concise review. Am J Hematol 78:225-231
- Usmanov RI, Zueva EB, Silverberg DS, Shaked M (2008) Intravenous iron without erythropoietin for the treatment of iron deficiency anemia in patients with moderate to severe congestive heart failure and chronic kidney insufficiency. J Nephrol 21:236–242
- Viatte L, Vaulont S (2009) Hepcidin, the iron watcher. Biochimie 91:1223-1228
- Weber CS, Beck-Da-Silva L, Goldraich LA, Biolo A, Clausell N (2013) Anemia in heart failure: association of hepcidin levels to iron deficiency in stable outpatients. Acta Haematol 129:55–61
- Wessling-Resnick M (2010) Iron homeostasis and the inflammatory response. Annu Rev Nutr 30:105–122
- WHO (2011) Serum ferritin concentrations for the assessment of iron status and iron deficiency in populations. Vitamin and mineral nutrition information system. WHO, Geneva, pp 1–5
- Wish JB (2006) Assessing iron status: beyond serum ferritin and transferrin saturation. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol 1:S4–S8
- Yeo TJ, Yeo PSD, Ching-Chiew Wong R, Ong HY, Leong KTG, Jaufeerally F, Sim D, Santhanakrishnan R, Lim SL, MY Chan M, Chai P, Low AF, Ling LH, Ng TP, Richards AM, Lam CSP (2014) Iron deficiency in a multi-ethnic Asian population with and without heart failure: prevalence, clinical correlates, functional significance and prognosis. Eur J Heart Fail 16:1125–1132
- Zimmermann MB, Hurrell RF, CDC, Nestel P, Lynch S, Asobayire F, Adou P, Davidsson L, Cook J, Hurrell R, White K, WHO/UNICEF/UNU, DeMaeyer E, Adiels-Tegman M, Heath A, Fairweather-Tait S, Scholl T, Hercberg S, Preziosi P, Galan P, Shayeghi M, Latunde-Dada G, Oakhill J, Al. E, Qiu A, Jansen M, Sakaris A, Al. E, Gunshin H, Mackenzie B, Berger U, Al. E, McKie A, Barrow D, Latunde-Dada G, Al. E, Donovan A, Lima C, Pinkus J, Al. E, Collins J, Franck C, Kowdley K, Ghishan F, Ganz T, Nemeth E, Tuttle M, Powelson J, Al. E, Nicolas G, Chauvet C, Viatte L, Al. E, Nemeth E, Valore E, Territo M, Schiller G, Lichtenstein A, Ganz T, Knutson M, Vafa M, Haile D, Wessling-Resnick M, Skikne B, Flowers C, Cook J, Robb A, Wessling-Resnick M, Hintze K, Theil E, Clarke S, Vasanthakumar A, Anderson S, Al. E, Collins J, Umbreit J, Wang R, Li C, Xu X, Al. E, Fomon S, Medicine I of, FAO/WHO, Zimmermann M, Chaouki N, Hurrell R, Hurrell R, Moy R, Pizarro F, Yip R, Dallman P, Olivares M, Hertrampf E, Walter T, Yip R, Binkin N, Flashood L, Trowbridge F, Harvey L, Armah C, Dainty J, Al. E, Looker A, Dallman P, Carroll M, Gunter E, Johnson C, Bothwell T, Charlton R, Cook J, Finch C, Cooper E, Bundy D, Crompton D, Nesheim M, Larocque R, Casapia M, Gotuzzo E, Gyorkos T, Bungiro R, Cappello M, Stoltzfus R, Chwaya H, Tielsch J, Al. E, Atukorala T, Silva L de, Dechering W, Dassenaeike T, Perera R, Torlesse H, Hodges M, Christian P, Khatry S, West K, Champagne E, Rashid M, Cranney A, Zarkadas M, Al. E, Dube C, Rostom A, Sy R, Al. E, Cardenas V, Mulla Z, Ortiz M, Graham D, Sarker S, Davidsson L, Mahmud H, Al. E, Horton S, Ross J, Baltussen R, Knai C, Sharan M, Brabin B, Hakimi M, Pelletier D, Brabin B, Premji Z, Verhoeff F, Khan K, Wojdyla D, Say L, Gulmezoglu A, Look P Van, Lozoff B, Andraca I De, Castillo M, Smith J, Walter T, Pino P, Grantham-McGregor S, Ani C, Sachdev H, Gera T, Nestel P, Beard J, Silva A de, Atukorala S, Weerasinghe I, Ahluwalia N, Sachdev H, Gera T, Nestel P, Zimmermann M, Adou P, Torresani T, Al. E, Zimmermann M, Wegmueller R, Zeder C, Al. E, Hess S, Zimmermann M, Arnold M, Langhans W, Hurrell R, Munoz E, Rosado J, Lopez P, Furr H, Allen L, Wieringa F, Dijkhuizen M, West C, Thurnham D, Muhilal, Meer J Van der, Zimmermann M, Muthayya S, Moretti D, Kurpad A, Hurrell R, Haas J, Brownlie T, Horton S, Levin C, Brownlie T, Utermohlen V, Hinton P, Al. E, Brutsaert T, Hernandez-Cordero S, Rivera J, Al. E, Ullrich C, Wu A, Armsby C, Al. E, Mast A, Binder M, Lu Q, Al. E, Metzgeroth G, Adelberger V, Dorn-Beineke A, Al. E, Zimmermann M, Molinari L,

Staubli F, Al. E, Cook J, Mei Z, Cogswell M, Parvanta I, Al. E, Finch C, Bellotti V, Stray S, Al. E, Skikne B, Flowers C, Cook J, Verhoef H, West C, Ndeto P, Burema J, Beguin Y, Kok F, Menendez C, Quinto L, Kahigwa E, Al. E, Cook J, Flowers C, Skikne B, Rimon E, Levy S, Sapir A, Al, E, Moretti D, Zimmermann M, Muthavya S, Al, E, Cook J, Boy E, Flowers C, Mdel CD, Wieringa F, Dijkhuizen M, West C, Northrop-Clewes C, Muhilal, Baillie F, Morrison A, Fergus I, Cavalli-Sforza T, Berger J, Smitasiri S, Viteri F, Cogswell M, Parvanta I, Ickes L, Yip R, Brittenham G, Siega-Riz A, Hartzema A, Turnbull C, Thorp J, McDonald T, Cogswell M, Oppenheimer S, Gera T, Sachdev H, Sazawal S, Black R, Ramsan M, Al. E, Carter J, Loolpapit M, Lema O, Tome J, Nagelkerke N, Watkins W, English M, Snow R, Tielsch J, Khatry S, Stoltzfus R, Al. E. WHO, WHO, FAO, Laxminaravan R, Mills A, Breman J, Al, E, Owen A, Owen G, Olsson K, Vaisanen M, Konar J, Bruce A, Hallberg L, Hulthen L, Milman N, Byg K, Ovesen L, Kirchhoff M, Jurgensen K, Milman N, Byg K, Ovesen L, Kirchhoff M, Jurgensen K, Zimmermann M, Winichagoon P, Gowachirapant S, Al. E, Thuy P van, Berger J, Davidsson L, Al. E, Stuijvenberg M van, Smuts C, Wolmarans P, Lombard C, Dhansay M, Zimmermann M, Zeder C, Chaouki N, Saad A, Torresani T, Hurrell R, Wegmuller R, Camara F, Zimmermann M, Adou P, Hurrell R, Hurrell R, Lynch S, Bothwell T, Al. E, Hurrell R, Bothwell T, Cook J, Force ST, Al. E, Swain J, Newman S, Hunt J, Nestel P, Nalubola R, Sivakaneshan R, Wickramasinghe A, Atukorala S, Wickramanayake T, Hertrampf E, Faber M, Kvalsvig J, Lombard C, Benade A, Initiative FF, Viteri F, Garcia-Ibanez R, Torun B, Ballot D, MacPhail A, Bothwell T, Gillooly M, Mayet F, Huo J, Sun J, Miao H, Al. E, Andag'o P, Osendarp S, Ayah R, Al. E, Bothwell T, MacPhail A, Organization WH, Safety IP on C, Fidler M, Walczyk T, Davidsson L, Al. E, Hertrampf E, Olivares M, Pizzaro F, Walter T, Perez-Exposito A, Villalpando S, Rivera J, Griffin I, Abrams S, Briend A, Solomons N, Nestel P, Briend A, Benoist B de, Al. E, Zlotkin S, Arthur P, Schauer C, Antwi K, Yeung G, Piekarz A, Welch R, House W, Beebe S, Cheng Z, Frossard E, Bucher M, Mächler F, Mozafar A, Hurrell R, Haas J, Beard J, Murray-Kolb L, Mundo A del, Felix A, Gregorio G, Genc Y, Humphries J, Lyons G, Graham R, Nestel P, Bouis H, Meenakshi J, Pfeiffer W, Hurrell R, Reddy M, Cook J, Donangelo C, Woodhouse L, King S, Al. E, Raboy V, Tuntawiroon M, Sritongkul N, Rossander-Hulten L, Al. E, Hallberg L, Brune M, Rossander L, Zimmermann M, Hurrell R, Lonnerdal B, Goto F, Yoshihara T, Shigemoto N, Toki S, Takaiwa F, Lucca P, Hurrell R, Potrykus I, Samuelsen A, Martin R, Mok D, Mok M, Nemeth E, Rivera S, Gabayan V, Al. E (2007) Nutritional iron deficiency. Lancet 370, 511-520

Index

A

- AC. See Adenylate cyclase (AC)
- ACEI. See Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI)
- Adenosine, 179, 180, 182-184, 191, 196-198
- Adenosine A1 receptor, 179–183, 186, 190–198
- Adenylate cyclase (AC), 180, 181, 185, 186, 192, 193, 251
- Adrenergic receptor, 207, 472
- AF. See Atrial fibrillation (AF)
- Allogeneic, 332-334, 338, 339, 342-346
- Anemia, 22, 24, 29, 37–39, 47, 49, 52, 503 Angiogenesis, 348, 357, 359, 362–365, 380,
- 400, 408, 409, 414
- Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEI), 6–9, 19, 26, 29, 55, 70, 81, 83, 86, 88, 91, 93, 111–120, 123, 124, 126, 127, 136, 137, 140, 141, 146–149, 154, 157, 158, 169, 171, 173, 193, 275, 288, 290–292, 296, 297, 309, 401, 467, 472, 482, 484, 526, 539–541, 543–546, 556
- Angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB), 5–7, 9, 19, 26, 29, 81, 83, 111, 113–120, 123–127, 135, 137, 141, 144, 146, 149, 154, 157, 233, 275, 288, 290–292, 296, 297, 467, 472, 482, 484, 526, 539, 541, 544, 546, 556
- Animal models of human disease, 234, 285, 399, 476–478, 496
- ARB. See Angiotensin receptor blockers (ARB)
- Arginine vasopressin (AVP), 93, 310–313, 316, 317, 319–322, 324, 325
- Atrial fibrillation (AF), 3, 8, 20, 22, 23, 26, 40, 54, 94, 122, 125, 148, 155, 158, 170, 173, 239, 291, 292, 472, 473, 516–530
- AVP. See Arginine vasopressin (AVP)

В

- Basic science research, 399, 407
- Biomarkers, 45, 69, 70, 72, 79–97, 139, 142,
 - 143, 152, 216, 239, 438, 439, 480, 518, 563–565
- Bleeding, 516, 517, 520, 522-527, 529, 530

С

- Calcium, 111, 120, 180, 185, 190, 193–195, 198, 212, 213, 228, 251–253, 257, 260–262, 279, 284, 357, 402, 449, 451–453, 455, 456, 468–475, 542, 544, 545, 547, 548, 552, 563
- Cardiac hypertrophy, 216, 233, 237, 255, 256, 276, 280–282, 285, 375–379, 383, 432–436, 438, 454, 501
- Cardiac myosin activation, 447-462
- Cardiac output (CO), 3, 111, 172, 191, 196, 228, 231, 232, 238, 256, 259, 274, 313, 317, 324, 325, 467, 476–480, 482, 486, 496
- Cardiac remodeling, 83, 89, 209, 216, 217, 232, 255, 274, 276, 310, 371–388, 430, 433, 434, 438, 454
- Cardiovascular (CV), 2, 3, 5, 7–10, 25, 45, 46, 48, 54, 55, 69–71, 73, 74, 80, 86, 88, 90, 92, 93, 95, 97, 111, 117, 118, 121, 127, 136–138, 140, 146, 148–152, 154, 155, 158, 169, 184–189, 207–212, 216, 217, 227–235, 237, 239–241, 262, 274, 276, 278, 283, 290–292, 295–298, 318–320, 340, 347, 362, 374–375, 383–385, 397–399, 407, 409, 410, 424, 426, 427, 432, 459, 473, 486, 492, 498, 500–502, 504–506, 528, 530, 545, 567, 569
- Cardiovascular mortality, 43, 45, 48, 55, 69, 70, 74, 86, 122, 168, 381, 383, 504, 506, 569
- © Springer International Publishing AG 2017
- J. Bauersachs et al. (eds.), Heart Failure,
- Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology 243, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-59659-4

- Catecholamines, 55, 87, 115, 180, 193, 198, 206–208, 214, 376, 405, 542
- cGMP. See Cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP)
- Chronic heart failure, 21, 23, 36, 37, 48, 68–70, 76, 77, 112, 124, 153, 170, 173, 207, 216, 227, 250, 348, 416, 448, 486, 503
- Chronic kidney disease (CKD), 3, 38, 51, 52, 91, 156, 239, 274–276, 283, 284, 292, 293, 296, 298, 539, 542–549, 554, 556, 563
- Cinaciguat, 234-236
- Circular RNA, 425
- CKD. See Chronic kidney disease (CKD)
- CO. See Cardiac output (CO)
- Cognitive dysfunction, 37, 39-41
- Comorbidities, 2, 8, 20–25, 35–58, 82, 86, 87, 91, 92, 94, 97, 127, 154, 171–172, 194, 227, 230–234, 241, 260, 274, 281, 522, 523, 565, 566, 569
- Copeptin, 85, 93, 310-311, 320, 321
- CV. See Cardiovascular (CV)
- Cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP), 8, 9, 138, 142–145, 211, 212, 214, 215, 227–236, 250–252, 258–264
- Cyclic nucleotides, 228, 250-252, 262, 263

D

- Deoxy adenosine triphosphate (dATP), 402–404, 449–459, 461, 462
- Diabetes mellitus (DM), 2, 23, 26, 37, 42–46, 51, 115, 118, 153, 168, 171, 184, 185, 227, 231, 235, 239, 256, 274, 293, 296, 297, 542, 543, 549
- Diagnosis, 3, 16, 17, 20, 37, 41, 42, 54, 80, 81, 85, 94, 139, 153, 438, 518, 538–539, 565
- DM. See Diabetes mellitus (DM)
- Drug safety, 77, 118, 122, 145, 155–156, 158, 159, 171–172, 189, 315, 524, 555
- Drug-therapy, 5, 8, 43, 46, 69, 88, 89, 92, 217, 315, 473, 519, 520, 524

Е

- Energetics, 182, 186, 188, 191–192, 194, 199, 399, 401, 403, 453, 454, 471, 475–478, 493–495, 499, 504
- Epidemiology, 15–30, 37–39, 41, 42, 47, 51, 53, 58, 539

Eplerenone, 7, 29, 119, 120, 126, 275, 276, 283–298

F

- Ferric carboxymaltose (FCM), 48, 49, 504, 565, 568 Ferritin, 47, 49, 92, 562, 564, 565, 567–569 Finerenone, 7, 275, 282, 284–290, 292–298
- Frizzled, 372, 373, 377, 379, 384
- Funny channel, 111, 121

G

- Gene therapy, 38, 395-416, 447-462
- Gene therapy vectors, 407-411
- Growth factors/cytokines, 92, 231, 379-381
- Guidelines, 2–8, 10, 20–22, 25, 43, 46, 109–127, 168, 173, 293, 297, 435, 472, 500, 546, 556, 565, 569

Η

- Heart failure (HF), 2–3, 15–30, 35–58, 70, 71, 73–74, 79–97, 109–127, 133–159, 170, 172–173, 177–199, 207, 225–241, 250, 261–264, 271–298, 307–325, 329–349, 355–365, 371–388, 395–416, 423–439, 447–462, 465–487, 491–506, 515–530, 537–556, 561–570
- Heart failure management, 3, 16, 21, 80–82, 97, 146, 171, 292, 405, 569
- Heart failure statistics, 2, 473
- Heart failure trials, 69, 74
- Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF), 3–6, 8–10, 20, 21, 27, 30, 42, 45–47, 52, 68, 81, 93–97, 110, 125–127, 136, 146, 147, 157, 159, 173, 187, 190–193, 197, 213, 215, 216, 227, 231–234, 238, 240, 260, 261, 263, 285, 291–292, 356, 357, 432, 502, 506, 567

Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF), 2–10, 20, 21, 30, 38, 42, 44–46, 48, 49, 52, 54, 56, 58, 68, 81–84, 86–97, 110, 112–114, 116–119, 121–126, 136, 137, 142, 144–148, 150, 158, 159, 187, 189–193, 196, 227, 228, 232–234, 238–241, 274, 275, 290–298, 432, 467, 468, 470, 472, 473, 476, 477, 479, 480, 482, 484–487, 503, 546, 556, 566–569

- Heart rate, 8–10, 22, 23, 27–29, 44, 46–48, 72, 76, 113, 121, 124, 168, 169, 172, 173, 183, 184, 189, 190, 193, 216, 238, 251, 313, 325, 454, 459, 470, 472, 476, 477, 480, 482, 483, 485, 486, 502, 526
- Hematinic deficiencies, 65,
- Hepcidin, 38, 39, 47, 49, 563-565
- HF. See Heart failure (HF)
- HFpEF. See Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction (HFpEF)
- HFrEF. See Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF)
- Hospitalizations, 2, 3, 6–10, 16–21, 25, 40, 42–46, 48, 55, 68–71, 73–75, 83–85, 89, 90, 92, 94–96, 112, 114, 116–122, 125, 127, 136, 140, 146–151, 154, 155, 158, 168–173, 227, 239, 240, 255, 274, 290, 291, 295, 296, 309, 310, 314, 318, 320, 323, 448, 472, 473, 483, 504, 506, 516, 519, 528, 530, 544, 567–569
- Hyperkalemia, 37, 50, 51, 115, 118, 155, 157, 274, 275, 283, 284, 288, 290–293, 296, 297, 537–556
- Hypertrophy, 4, 87, 93, 94, 115, 198, 209, 211–217, 232, 233, 235, 237, 252–256, 258, 260–263, 276, 280–282, 285, 289, 291, 356, 360, 375–379, 383, 401, 406, 430, 432–438, 454, 501, 502, 504

I

Inflammation, 22, 37, 38, 41, 47, 49, 52, 85, 86, 88, 95, 96, 113, 137, 196, 215, 230–232, 263, 277, 278, 347, 348, 363, 379, 380, 406, 414, 518, 562–565

- Inotropic therapy, 86
- Intravenous (iv), 10, 74, 86, 116, 137, 151, 184, 187, 257, 325, 344, 346–349, 457, 473, 474, 476, 478, 480, 482–484, 499, 504, 544
- Intravenous iron, 47-49, 499, 504, 567-569
- Iron deficiency, 37, 38, 47–49, 92, 499, 503, 561–570
- Iron therapy, 47-49, 506, 569

L

Long noncoding RNAs, 436

Μ

- Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), 329–349, 385
- MI. See Myocardial infarction (MI)
- Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRAs), 6–8, 81, 83, 87, 111, 115–120, 126, 127, 154, 158, 173, 271–298, 309, 467, 472, 482, 484, 539, 541, 543, 544, 546, 556
- miRNAs, 93, 424–433, 435, 438
- Mitochondria, 191, 194, 492–499, 501, 504, 505
- Molecular targets, 384, 401, 404
- MRAs. See Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRAs)
- MSCs. See Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)
- Myocardial infarction (MI), 2, 7, 44, 88, 112, 114, 115, 117, 118, 127, 144, 149, 155, 159, 186, 187, 232, 237, 253, 258, 263, 280, 281, 285, 290–292, 331, 348, 359, 363, 364, 375, 379–383, 385–387, 397, 430–433, 459–462, 473, 483, 496, 500, 504, 518, 519, 524, 530, 545 Myocardium, 138, 172, 190, 212, 215, 229, 235, 251, 252, 258, 261, 263, 346, 348, 349, 356, 358, 359, 362, 363, 365, 397, 398, 405, 407, 409,
 - 414–416, 433, 449, 450, 457, 459, 496, 499, 504
- Myosin activator, 467, 486

Ν

- Natriuretic peptides (NP), 7, 9, 82–84, 86, 90, 92, 94–95, 118, 125, 136–142, 229, 251,
 - 258, 263, 320, 483, 484, 486
- ncRNA therapy, 425 Neladenoson, 183, 189
- Negrilusia (NED) 7,70
- Neprilysin (NEP), 7, 70, 82, 84, 118, 139–142, 144, 147, 152, 156
- Nitric oxide (NO), 8, 9, 115, 116, 120, 198, 210–215, 217, 227–230, 232–236, 241, 251, 258, 260, 261, 263, 281
- Novel oral anticoagulant (NOACs), 515–530
- NP. See Natriuretic peptides (NP)

0

Omecamtiv mecarbil, 449, 465-487

Р

- PARADIGM-HF. See Prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to Determine Impact on Global Mortality and Morbidity in Heart Failure (PARADIGM-HF)
- Patiromer, 50, 51, 538, 545, 546, 548–551, 554, 556
- Phosphodiesterases (PDE), 145, 228, 249–264, 470
- PKA. See Protein kinase A (PKA)
- PKG. See Protein kinase G (PKG)
- Prognosis, 3, 40, 46, 51, 52, 58, 70, 83, 86, 88, 91, 233, 309, 311
- Prospective comparison of ARNI with ACEI to Determine Impact on Global Mortality and Morbidity in Heart Failure (PARADIGM-HF), 5, 7, 84, 86, 117, 118, 136, 145–150, 152–157, 544
- Protein kinase A (PKA), 181, 208, 210, 251–253, 257, 258, 263, 405, 470, 472
- Protein kinase G (PKG), 228, 231, 232, 235

R

- Randomized clinical trials (RCTs), 8, 16, 38, 43, 45–48, 137, 297, 332, 333, 343, 344, 346, 524, 530, 567
- RASSi. See Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors (RASSi)
- RCTs. See Randomized clinical trials (RCTs)
- Reactive oxygen species (ROS), 185, 191, 193, 227–228, 230, 278, 279, 348, 406, 493, 496–503, 505, 518
- Registries, 3, 16, 21-26, 29, 76
- Regulatory, 67–77, 236, 251, 258, 262, 264, 278, 312, 332, 398, 424, 426, 436, 457, 469, 470, 503
- Remodeling, 45, 69, 70, 74, 83, 86, 87, 89–91, 97, 115, 138, 158, 182, 188, 192, 194, 207, 209, 213–217, 230, 232, 233, 250, 261, 274, 276, 279–281, 284, 310, 317, 348, 371–388, 397, 398, 403, 405, 430, 433, 434, 438, 454, 472, 485, 486, 496
- Renal failure, 40, 197, 233, 274, 484
- Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system inhibitors (RASSi), 539
- Ribonucleotide reductase (R1R2), 403, 404, 450, 454–459, 461, 462
- Riociguat, 233, 237-239, 241
- ROS. See Reactive oxygen species (ROS)
- Routes of gene delivery, 412-416
- R1R2. See Ribonucleotide reductase (R1R2)

S

- Sacubitril/valsartan, 5, 7, 84, 117, 118, 121, 133–159, 190
- Screening, 40–42, 53, 80, 81, 97, 156, 157, 183, 235, 284, 425, 427, 474–475, 539, 568
- SDB. See Sleep-disordered breathing (SDB)
- SET. See Systolic ejection time (SET)
- sGC. See Soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC)
- sGC activator, 215, 225-241
- sGC stimulator, 9, 225-241
- Sinoatrial node, 8, 168
- Sleep apnea, 53, 55, 56
- Sleep-disordered breathing (SDB), 37, 53-58
- Sodium polystyrene sulfonate (SPS), 546–548, 551
- Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (ZS-9), 50, 51, 546, 547, 551–554, 556
- Soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC), 9, 211, 215, 225–241, 251
- Soluble transferrin receptor (sTfR), 565
- Spironolactone, 7, 9, 29, 50, 51, 87, 95, 96, 119, 127, 275, 276, 280, 282, 283, 285–294, 544, 550
- SPS. See Sodium polystyrene sulfonate (SPS)
- Stage C, 81, 110-113, 116, 123, 125, 126
- Stem cells, 329-349, 364-365, 385-387
- sTfR. See Soluble transferrin receptor (sTfR)
- Stroke, 44, 76, 88, 127, 149, 155, 173, 188, 196, 233, 238, 241, 500, 516, 518–520, 522–526, 529, 530, 567
- Systolic ejection time (SET), 474, 476-486

Т

- Therapeutic target, 37, 58, 191, 192, 228, 259, 263, 376, 388, 405, 425, 427, 429, 433, 435
- Therapy, 3, 5–10, 17, 20, 21, 23, 37–40, 43, 46–53, 55–58, 68, 69, 74, 76, 83–92, 94, 95, 97, 110, 112–113, 116, 119, 122–127, 136, 137, 139, 140, 148, 150, 154, 155, 158, 168, 173, 183, 185, 188–190, 193, 194, 198, 199, 205–217, 227, 232, 237, 239, 257, 259, 260, 264, 275, 297, 309, 311, 314–318, 329–349, 362, 364, 365, 384, 385, 395–416, 425, 432–435, 439, 447–462, 467, 472, 473, 483–486, 491–506, 515–530, 538, 539, 542–555, 568, 569
- Thrombosis, 517–519
- Transferrin saturation (Tsat), 47, 92, 504, 565, 567–569

Translational medicine, 429, 455–459 Tsat. *See* Transferrin saturation (Tsat)

V

Vasopressin receptor antagonist (VRA), 310, 313, 315, 316, 321–325 Vericiguat, 9, 228, 232, 237–241 VRA. *See* Vasopressin receptor antagonist (VRA)

W

Wnt Signaling, 371-388

Z

ZS-9. See Sodium zirconium cyclosilicate (ZS-9)